Climate Change, Health, and Equity: A Guide For Local Health Departments



PUBLIC



Authors

Linda Rudolph, MD, MPH Catherine Harrison, RN, MPH Laura Buckley, MPH Savannah North, MPH

Contributors

Heather Kuiper, PhD, MPH Zachariah Baker, JD Neil Maizlish, PhD, MPH Elsie Moore, MPH

Acknowledgements

"Climate Change, Health, and Equity: A Guide for Local Health Departments" is a product of the Public Health Institute Center for Climate Change and Health. "Climate Change, Health, and Equity: A Guide for Local Health Departments" was developed under Agreement #16-11001 with the California Department of Public Health Office of Health Equity and with funding from the American Public Health Association. Additional support was provided by The Kresge Foundation. This guide was designed by Amy Weiher at Weiher Creative, Inc. and was edited by Ann Greenberger at Greenline Editing.

The authors wish to give special appreciation to the local health departments that have worked to integrate climate change into their work, and shared their experiences with the authors. Their work has inspired us to help others become more engaged in this urgent and critical issue.

A special thanks to our reviewers:

Charles Benjamin Beard, MS, PhD *Centers for Disease Control and Prevention*

Andrew Deckert, MD, MPH Public Health Officer, Shasta County

Natasha DeJarnett, PhD, MPH American Public Health Association

Kathy Dervin, MPH Consultant

Lori Dorfman, DrPH, MPH Berkeley Media Studies Group

Dorette English, MA *California Department of Public Health*

Solange Gould, DrPH, MPH *California Department of Public Health* Chelsea Gridley-Smith, PhD National Association of City and County Health Officials

Linda Helland, MPH California Department of Public Health

Travers Ichinoise, MS Orange County Health Care Agency

Paige Knappenberger, MA Climate Nexus

Justin Malan, MS California Conference of the Directors of Environmental Health

Meredith Milet, MPH *California Department of Public Health*

Connie Mitchell, MD, MPH *California Department of Public Health* **Olubukolami Musa, MPH** *American Public Health Association*

Kate Robb, MSPH American Public Health Association

Shubhayu Saha, PhD Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Paul Schramm, MPH, MS Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Jason Vargo, PhD, MPH California Department of Public Health

Matthew Willis, MD, MPH Public Health Officer, Marin County

Dan Woo, MPH, MS California Department of Public Health

Copyright Information

[®] Copyright Public Health Institute and American Public Health Association 2018. You are encouraged to copy and distribute the material in this document for educational and noncommercial purposes provided that the material is accompanied by an acknowledgment line. All other rights are reserved.

Suggested Citation

Rudolph, L., Harrison, C., Buckley, L. & North, S. (2018). *Climate Change, Health, and Equity: A Guide for Local Health Departments*. Oakland, CA and Washington D.C., Public Health Institute and American Public Health Association.

Contact Information

For more information, please contact climatehealthconnect@phi.org

Preface

The health of Americans faces two great challenges: climate change and health inequities.

Climate change affects the health of every community. Beyond its direct health impacts (such as heat illness), climate change increases food insecurity, worsens air pollution, reduces our access to clean water, displaces people from their homes, and causes widespread social and economic disruption. Dr. Jim Yong Kim, President of the World Bank, said that climate change "threatens our fragile existence on this planet."

Health inequities and climate change are deeply interconnected. Climate change acts as a threat multiplier, exacerbating poverty, environmental degradation, and political instability. Like health inequities, climate change is a problem rooted in the structures, systems, and values of our society and economy. Eliminating health inequities and resolving climate change requires an intersectoral and transformational approach.

Many climate solutions offer huge health benefits. In fact, many strategies to reduce climate pollution are the same strategies that we must implement to reduce health inequities.

Climate change is a public health emergency: The health and well-being—and possibly the very survival—of the communities we serve is in danger, as witnessed by the increased occurrence of disastrous wildfires and extreme weather events. Our actions now (or lack thereof) will affect the magnitude of climate impacts and the extent to which our communities thrive in the face of climate change and recover in the aftermath of climate-related disasters.

Climate change is a global phenomenon, but people and communities at the local and regional level experience its consequences. Local public health departments have a critical role in addressing this urgent threat, just as they have done in facing other emergent threats to the health of the public, and a responsibility to expand public health practice to address climate change.

We can do what public health has done for so many other threats: educate and inform, develop and use the scientific evidence, partner with community organizations and sister agencies, advocate for policy and systems change, and take on the powerful interests that put profits over people and impede the transformational change needed to achieve equity and a healthy climate for all. We hope this Guide will be useful to every local health department striving to address climate change, health, and equity as joined and urgent issues.

Augel B

Georges C. Benjamin, MD Executive Director American Public Health Association

Contents

Introduction	1
1.1 Local Health Departments: Essential to Effective Response to Clima	te Change2
Health Equity and Climate Change	4
2.1 Fundamentals of Health Equity and Climate Change	
2.2 Climate Vulnerability and Resilience	
2.3 Race, Ethnicity, and Climate Change	8
2.4 Community Climate Resilience	
2.5 What LHDs Can Do: Health Equity and Climate Resilience	10
Climate Change 101	13
3.1 What Is Climate Change?	
3.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions Cause Climate Change ⁵	
3.3 Human Activities Cause Climate Change	
3.4 Environmental Impacts of Climate Change	
3.5 Climate Change in the United States	19
Health Impacts of Climate Change	21
4.1 Extreme Heat	
4.2 Drought.	
4.3 Wildfires	
4.4 Air Quality	
4.5 Allergens	
4.6 Sea Level Rise	
4.7 Storms and Flooding	62
4.8 Nutrition and Food Security	

The Health Benefits of Climate Action	77
 5.1 Transportation 5.2 Energy and Fossil Fuels 5.3 Agriculture and Food Systems 5.4 Urban Greening and Green Infrastructure 5.5 Unintended Harms of Climate Action. 	
Public Health Programs and Climate Change	105
6.1 Maternal, Child, Adolescent, and Family Health6.2 Infectious and Communicable Disease Control6.3 Environmental Health Services6.4 Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention and Control6.5 Public Health Emergency Preparedness6.6 Clinical Services and Health Care Systems	
Public Health Functions	190
 7.1 Assessment and Surveillance for Climate Change and Health 7.2 Community Engagement 7.3 Intersectoral Collaboration 7.4 Organizational Capacity 7.5 Greening Local Health Departments 	
Climate and Health Communications	234
Conclusion	254

Appendix	255
Appendix 1: Development of Climate, Health, and Equity Framework	255
Appendix 2: Additional Climate and Health Frameworks	259
Appendix 3: Climate Impacts on Communities of Color	261
Appendix 4: Types of Greenhouse Gas Emissions	289
Appendix 5: Climate and Health Considerations for Clinical Care Providers	290
Appendix 6: Personal Actions to Confront Climate Change	299
Citations	301

CLIMATE CHANGE, HEALTH, AND EQUITY: A GUIDE FOR LOCAL HEALTH DEPARTMENTS



Local public health departments (LHDs) across the United States are working proactively to address health inequities, an endeavor that requires intentional change in public health practice. While the services that public health provides to individuals in communities remain vitally important, local health departments are broadening their scope to support systems change across the many sectors that shape community environments (such as transportation and land use, agriculture and food, and criminal justice systems) and the economic, physical, and social conditions in which we live, work, learn, and play. LHDs are also beginning to address the historical and structural determinants of health (such as racism, power, and disenfranchisement) that have led to and reinforce persistent inequities.

Now, public health needs to apply this expanded scope to climate change. Our actions now will determine the magnitude of future impacts, how quickly they occur, and the extent to which our communities can thrive in the face of climate change.

Key Messages about Public Health and Climate Change

Climate change and health inequities are the defining public health issues of our time, and they are inextricably interconnected.

- 1. Climate change disproportionately impacts the health of low-income communities and communities of color. The same physical, social, economic, and services environments that are associated with poor health outcomes for low-income communities and communities of color also increase exposure and vulnerability to the health impacts of climate change. People in low-income communities and communities of color generally experience greater burdens from pre-existing health conditions which increase susceptibility to climate-related health threats. These communities are often historically disenfranchised, lacking the political and economic power and voice to ensure that decision makers take their perspectives, needs, and ideas fully into account. This lack of power contributes to health inequities and constrains the ability of low-income communities and communities of color from building climate resilience and to contributing fully to climate change solutions.
- 2. Climate change and health inequities share the same root causes. The same systems (e.g. transportation, food and agriculture, energy) that are major sources of climate pollution also shape the living conditions that comprise the social determinants of health. These systems are shaped by current and historical forces that include structural racism and the persistent lack of social, political, and economic power of low-income communities and communities of color.
- **3.** Addressing climate change and health inequities requires transformational change in our systems and communities. Many climate solutions offer tremendous health benefits and opportunities to promote greater equity, which are vital to increasing climate resilience. But to assure that all Americans have opportunities for health requires that we preserve a healthy planet. We cannot have healthy people without healthy places, and we cannot have healthy places without a healthy planet.

1.1 Local Health Departments: Essential to Effective Response to Climate Change

Core public health values affirm that "humans have a right to the resources necessary for health," and that "people and their physical environment are interdependent."¹ Climate change threatens the fundamentals that sustain life and health—fresh water, food, clean air, shelter, and security. Everyone (and everywhere) is affected, although climate change exacerbates local and global inequities. We must address climate change to fulfill the very definition of public health: "what we, as a society, do collectively to assure the conditions for people to be healthy."²

LHDs have a professional and ethical responsibility to address the climate crisis. The role of LHDs is to apply the same foundational public health tools and approaches that are used to address any emergent health crisis, grounded in core public health values such as equity, prevention, and preparedness.

Why Local Health Departments?

- There is ample evidence and scientific consensus that climate change is happening now, is largely due to human activities, and is amenable to action to slow its pace and reduce its impacts. Failure to act on climate change now risks catastrophic consequences for the health and well-being of people around the world and even more so for future generations.
- LHDs are on the front lines and see the impacts of climate change on communities as the changes are happening. A 2008 national survey found that nearly 70% of U.S. local health officials believed that their jurisdiction had already experienced climate change, and that number is surely higher today.³
- LHDs are the only local government entity with a duty to protect health and provide a trusted and credible voice. They can help policymakers and the public understand the breadth of climate health impacts, and the urgent need for climate action. By linking health equity and climate change, public health leaders can show how transformative changes can protect people and build healthy and equitable communities in the era of climate change.
- LHDs work in and have deep connections to the communities that are most impacted by climate change. LHDs can support genuine participation of community members in decisions about how local governments respond to climate change.
- While it's true that most LHDs currently have limited capacity, expertise, or funding to work on climate change, the magnitude of the public health threat requires engagement now. Public health has a long history of confronting emerging problems despite limited resources.
- LHDs have a proven track record of succeeding against powerful forces to protect health from complex threats (e.g. success in tobacco control and auto safety). These successes rest in part on public health's commitment to confront cultural, economic, political, structural, and corporate forces that shape the environments that determine health. With similar commitment and effort, LHDs can play a powerful role in addressing climate change and its impacts on health.

Every local health department is different in size, structure, geographic location, community and political context, and capacity, and there is no "one size fits all" approach to the integration of climate change into LHD practice.

This Guide connects what we know about climate impacts and climate solutions with the work of LHDs, and provides examples of how LHDs can put climate change into public health practice. The Guide is neither a stepby-step "how to" nor a comprehensive catalog of how to address climate change. It is intentionally redundant so that readers can access information from various entry points based on their roles and interests. We hope the Guide will help you integrate climate change into the public health practice of your LHD.

Health Equity and Climate Change

2.1 Fundamentals of Health Equity and Climate Change

It is hard to overstate the connections between climate change, health, and equity. The following framework (Figure 2.1.1) outlines these critical connections. See Appendices <u>1</u> and <u>2</u> for other foundational frameworks including the <u>Healthy Communities Framework</u>, <u>A Public Health Framework for Reducing Health Inequities</u>, and others—that have informed action on climate change, health and equity.

- *The root causes and upstream drivers of climate change and health inequities are often the same:* Our energy, transportation, land use, housing, planning, food and agriculture, and socioeconomic systems are at once key contributors to climate pollution and key shapers of community living conditions. The powerful institutions largely responsible for constructing these systems influence and are influenced by social inequities such as class and race.
- The health risks and impacts of climate change are not equally or fairly distributed across people, communities or nations. The impacts of climate change on health are significantly moderated by individual and community vulnerability and resilience. Two critical components of climate vulnerability are pre-existing health status and living conditions. In the United States, these factors are shaped by economics and the distribution of money, power, social policies and politics at the global, national, state and local levels.¹ They differ by place, race, and income, as a result of inequities in the distribution of money and power, historical disinvestment in some communities, discriminatory practices and policies over time, structural racism, higher pollution burdens, and lesser access to resources for health. Therefore, low-income communities and communities of color are disproportionately affected by the health impacts of climate change.
- *Climate change exacerbates existing health and social inequities.* Climate change worsens environmental conditions (e.g., ozone pollution) associated with chronic illness and injury and causes social and economic dislocations that most impact disadvantaged communities.
- Interventions that act on upstream shared systemic causes can most effectively address both climate change and health inequities. Interventions to address climate change and health inequities range from upstream structural, policies, and systems changes to downstream treatment, rehabilitation, and disaster recovery efforts. Interventions along the entire spectrum are needed to protect and promote health in the era of climate change. However, upstream solutions have the greatest benefits, providing primary prevention and promoting healthy, equitable, sustainable, and resilient communities.⁷
- *Building political and economic power and voice are essential components of climate resilience.* Especially for historically disenfranchised low-income communities and communities of color, power imbalances have allowed the perpetuation of unhealthy living conditions associated with health inequities and climate vulnerability. The lack of power and voice constrains the ability of communities to respond to climate change impacts and contribute local knowledge to climate solutions. Building community power is required to transform systems to foster health.

Health Equity: Some Definitions

Health equity means that everyone has a fair and just opportunity to be as healthy as possible. This requires removing obstacles to health such as poverty, discrimination, and their consequences, including powerlessness and lack of access to good jobs with fair pay, quality education and housing, safe environments, and health care.²

Systems, social and structural inequities, and institutional power impact our environment, living conditions, behavior, and how we function as a society.

- **Systems**³ are a collection of parts—physical structures, people, and organizations—that interact to provide an important function. Farms, farmers, packing plants, food inspectors, restaurants, and truckers all play a role in our food system. Social and structural inequities and powerful institutions interact to shape the systems that determine living conditions, human impacts on the climate, other environmental impacts, and health outcomes.
- Social and Structural Inequities⁴ refers to the historical disenfranchisement and unequal distributions of power, money, and resources that are often associated with class, race, ethnicity, place, immigration status, gender, and sexual orientation. These inequities are perpetuated by hierarchies in power through mechanisms rooted in key institutions and processes.⁵
- Institutional Powers⁶ and authorities (such as corporations, governments, school systems, and large NGOs) make decisions that impact the physical environment and shape the societal distribution of health-promoting resources and opportunities (e.g. parks, grocery stores, education, childcare, medical care, jobs). People in institutions and their decisions and actions are influenced by social values and mores that perpetuate inequities.

Figure 2.1.1: Climate Change and Health



Climate Change, Health, and Equity: A Framework for Action

HEALTH EQUITY AND CLIMATE CHANGE

Intergenerational Equity

"We have been mortgaging the health of future generations to realize economic and development gains in the present."

The Rockefeller Foundation–Lancet Commission on Planetary Health

The actions of one generation affect the conditions of those that follow; climate change makes this more pressing than ever. Intergenerational equity means that fundamental rights and interests of future generations must be treated with equal value as the rights and interests of those living today. To ensure the survival and well-being of future generations we must sustain the most basic of earth's resources—clean water, clean air, healthy soil, and climatic stability.

Young people are establishing a legal framework for achieving intergenerational equity. Juliana v. U.S. is a youth-filed constitutional climate lawsuit asserting that government actions that cause climate change violate the youngest generation's constitutional rights to life, liberty, and property, as well as fail to protect essential public trust resources. Judges have upheld the case against efforts by the Obama and Trump Administrations to dismiss it.^{8,9}

Global Climate Inequities: Responsibility and Burden

The smallest and least developed countries often bear the most harmful burden of climate change, although they have contributed the least to the problem. Industrialized nations are responsible for the majority of climate pollution. From 1850 to 2011, the United States, European Union, China, Russian Federation, and Japan emitted two-thirds of the global CO₂ emissions, and the United States was responsible for 27% of global greenhouse gas emissions (GHGE). China has emerged as the world's largest climate polluter. However, the United States ranks in eleventh place for per capita GHGE at 16.5 metric tons per capita¹⁰—more than three times the global average. China ranks 42nd (7.5 metric tons per capita) and India ranks 127th (1.7 metric tons per capita).¹¹

The World Health Organization estimates that 99% of the disease burden from climate change occurs in developing countries, 88% of which occurs in children under five.¹² From January 1980 through July 2013 there were 2.52 million deaths globally due to climaterelated disasters, 51% of which occurred in the 49 least developed countries.¹³

2.2 Climate Vulnerability and Resilience

Climate Vulnerability

Climate vulnerability is the degree to which people or communities are at risk of experiencing the negative impacts of climate change.¹⁴ It is often tightly coupled with health and social inequities. Key components in climate vulnerability include exposure, sensitivity to threats, and capacity to adapt and respond.¹⁵ See Table 1 for more details.

Table 2.2 COMPONENTS OF CLIMATE VULNERABILITY

Exposure to climate threats

- Geography and the nature of climate change impact particular locations differently.
 - Low-lying coastal communities are at greater risk of coastal flooding from sea level rise and tidal storm surges than communities at higher altitudes.
 - People living in flood plains are at higher risk of flooding with extreme precipitation.
 - Communities on or below steep hillsides are at risk of mudslides/landslides during extreme weather events.
 - Those living at the wilderness-urban interface are at higher risk of wildfires.
- Occupations can increase exposure to climate risks.
 - Outdoor workers such as agricultural, landscape, and construction workers are at greater risk of exposure to extreme heat.
 - First responders are at increased risk of death or injury during extreme events such as hurricanes or wildfires.

Sensitivity and susceptibility to climate threats

- Individual characteristics may increase susceptibility to climate risks. For example, older individuals and children have increased susceptibility to heat stress.
- Pre-existing health conditions and baseline prevalence of climate-sensitive diseases. (Differences in rates of these conditions and diseases often reflect health inequities.)
 - Those with asthma or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) are at greater risk of respiratory illness from increased ozone, wildfire smoke, and increased pollen.
 - People with obesity, diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and mental illness are more susceptible to heat impacts.
 - Immunosuppression increases the risk of climate-related infectious disease.
- The baseline status of environmental quality intersects with climate impacts and subsequent health outcomes. For example, people living in areas with high baseline levels of air pollution are more vulnerable to increased ozone levels due to rising temperatures.

Capacity to adapt to and respond to climate threats

- Differential access to resources, which means that low-income individuals, households, and communities are less likely to
 - afford air conditioning to reduce heat risk, or to cope with rising food prices related to climate impacts on agriculture;
 - have insurance or financial resources to rebuild or relocate after an extreme weather event; or
 - enjoy the resources required to build infrastructure that promotes climate resilience and adaptation.
- Conditions of the built environment, such as
 - aging water and sewage infrastructure that leave some communities more prone to severe flooding and potential for water contamination;
 - few trees and parks in some neighborhoods increases risk from heat.
- Socially mediated capacity to reduce risk and to prepare and respond effectively.
- Disinvestment in public health and emergency response infrastructure and safety net resources limits the capacity for preparedness and response.
- Variable levels of social cohesion which reduces health impacts of climate change and builds social and political will to invest in climate action.

2.3 Race, Ethnicity, and Climate Change

Each of the subsections below have an Appendix with additional information about the effects of climate change on the health of the populations discussed (see <u>Appendix 3</u>).

African Americans

African American communities have lower income, less education, and poorer health status than non-Hispanic White communities overall, largely due to the legacy of slavery and historical discriminatory practices in housing, education, employment, and healthcare.¹⁶ These inequities contribute to greater vulnerability to climate impacts.

- African Americans are more likely to live in neighborhoods with few trees and more heat-trapping pavement.¹⁷ The rate of heat-related deaths in African Americans is 150–200% greater than that for non-Hispanic Whites.¹⁸
- African Americans have a 36% higher rate of asthma incidents and are 3 times more likely to die or visit the emergency room from asthma-related complication than non-Hispanic Whites.¹⁹
- One out of five of African American families live in poverty, compared to one out of fifteen White families. During an extreme weather event, these households have a smaller cushion against property damage or injuries, further complicated by lack of access to medical care and insurance.²⁰

Native Americans and Alaska Natives

Historical policies, such as colonization and genocide, the Indian Removal Act of 1830, and residential schools for Native American children have led to present-day social and health inequities in Native American and Alaskan Native communities, including loss of traditional lifestyles, persistent poverty, substandard health services, and lack of access to electricity, running water, and communication technologies.^{21,22}

- Traditional Native Americans and Alaska Natives (NA/AN) diets and subsistence hunting and fishing are at risk due to climate change.^{23,24}
- NA/AN communities lack access to clean, potable drinking water at higher rates than others.²⁵ Warmer water temperatures may exacerbate already-high rates of diarrhea-associated hospitalizations for Native American and Alaskan Native children.²⁶

Latinos/Hispanics/Latinx

The three terms "Latinos" "Hispanics" "Latinx" are used here, but in the remainder of the document, "Latinos" will be used for ease of use. Latino communities have lower income, less education, and poorer health status than non-Hispanic White communities overall, largely due to historical discriminatory practices in housing, education, employment, and healthcare.²⁷

- Nearly 1 in 2 Latinos live in counties with poor air quality. Latino children are twice as likely to die from asthma as non-Latino whites, and Latino children living in areas with high levels of air pollution have a heightened risk of developing Type 2 diabetes.^{28,29,30}
- Over 1.8 million Latinos live within a half-mile radius of oil and gas development.³¹

Native Hawaiians and Pacific Islanders

Historical practices such as colonization and trade, the aggregation of census and health data, and a history of military testing have led to present-day social and health inequities that increase climate-related health risks in Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander communities.³²

- Scientists project that by 2100, Hawai'i and some Pacific islands will experience about 1ft-2.5ft higher sea-level rise when compared to global averages.³³
- A higher proportion of Pacific Islanders in the United States live in counties with pollution exceeding the federal air quality standards when compared with Asians and other racial groups.³⁴
 - Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander communities experience high rates of asthma, expected to worsen as climate change worsens air quality.³⁵

2.4 Community Climate Resilience

Climate resilience is "the capacity of a community to anticipate, plan for and mitigate the risks— and seize the opportunities—associated with environmental and social change" brought about by climate change.³⁶

Earlier definitions framed resilience as the ability to "bounce back" from a stress or shock, possibly to unhealthful and inequitable conditions.³⁷ "Bouncing back" resilience might allocate resources to maintain the status quo or make marginal changes that do not fundamentally reduce vulnerabilities across the whole of a community. "Bouncing forward" resilience is characterized by greater openness and adaptability; it strives to see climate change as an opportunity to change social, economic, and political structures to promote equity and sustainability and to invest in systems changes that promote health and well-being.³⁸

The characteristics of vulnerability and resilience may coexist at the same time. For example, a neighborhood may be exposed to high levels of air pollution but also have a strong local food system and a high-quality community clinic. Improving the underlying health status and structural and system determinants of health is one of the most effective strategies to build climate resilience. See examples below of how LHDs can advance health equity and build community climate resilience.

2.5 What LHDs Can Do: Health Equity and Climate Resilience

A climate-resilient community:³⁹

- Is committed to the transformative change required to build a healthy, equitable, and sustainable community.
- Takes action to build individual and collective capacity to respond proactively to and influence social, economic, and environmental change.
- Nurtures diversity, respects the experience and knowledge of all community members, and proactively engages all segments of a community in understanding and responding to change.
- Is organized in a way that provides capacity to recognize and act on problems and to learn from experience.
- Fosters social cohesion and collaboration across networks through bonding, bridging, and linking.
- Builds community capitals including economic, social, built, political, and environmental capitals.
- Supports investment in physical infrastructures and services that meet the needs of all residents.
- Recognizes the value of environmental resources and works to protect, enhance, and maintain them.

Building resilience to climate change and addressing social and health inequities requires addressing the systemic causes of these challenges through collaboration and shared decision-making with impacted communities, community-based organizations, and other stakeholders across sectors. Below is a set of recommended actions LHDs can take to advance health equity and climate resilience within their current programs. For additional actions by climate impacts and LHD programs and functions see Sections <u>4</u>, <u>6</u>, and <u>7</u> respectively. For a comprehensive review of LHD action to advance health equity see Human Impact Partners <u>Health Equity Guide</u>.⁴⁰

Assessment and Surveillance

- Include health and social inequities and vulnerabilities in climate and health vulnerability assessments.
- Improve data about vulnerable populations and health and social inequities and use it in planning and prioritization for climate and health programming.
 - Acknowledge missing data and data limitations that may limit ability to assess particular sub-groups.
- Highlight the most striking inequalities in data and publications and the root causes of these inequalities to provide clear, consistent, and widespread messages to decision makers, affected communities, partners, and the general public about the existence of and need to address health inequities.
- Use community-based participatory research or "citizen science" or "community science" and qualitative methods (e.g., surveys, interviews, focus groups) to identify indicators for climate and health vulnerability assessments and in data collection and interpretation.
 - Multnomah County Health Department (Oregon) contracted with a community-based organization, Coalition of Communities of Color and Portland State University Planning Department to create a climate and health tool and <u>interactive map</u> to inform LHD action and guide future jurisdiction investments. Community members were instrumental in selecting indicators included in the tool. See Section <u>7.1—Surveillance</u>.

Intersectoral Collaboration

- Build awareness of the connection between the social determinants of health, and the shared systems that create inequities and contribute to climate change with partner government agencies and elected officials. Advance a narrative that emphasizes the climate change, health, and equity nexus and the solutions that confer climate, health, and equity benefits.
- In collaboration with other agencies, include equity in assessments, research, and policy and program decisions to examine the climate, health, and equity impacts of proposed policies, projects, and programs.
- In collaboration with other jurisdiction agencies and intersectoral partners advance policies and programs that address the underlying determinants of health and inequities in access to resources and infrastructure.
 - Promote urban agriculture and local food systems (e.g. community gardens).
 - Prioritize infrastructure investments to improve climate resilience and heath equity in historically neglected communities (e.g. active transportation infrastructure, public parks and green space).
- Include climate, health, and equity language and data in jurisdiction plans, budgets, and assessments.
 - As part of the city's 2018 One New York Plan, the NYC Department of Health and Mental Hygiene worked collaboratively with other city agencies to include public health and health equity in the city's planning up until 2040, including for the city's transportation and food systems.⁴¹
- Work across sectors to agree upon common language related to climate change, health, and equity. See Section <u>7.3—Collaboration</u>.

Community Engagement and Education

- Conduct a scan to assess potential interest in the issue of climate change, health, and equity including both current and potentially new partners.
- Conduct outreach to local Environmental Justice (EJ) groups, Community-based Organizations (CBOs), and community leaders to begin conversations regarding their interest and activities related to climate change, health, and equity.
 - Los Angeles County Department of Public Health contracted with a local EJ organization, Communities for a Better Environment, to conduct a workshop to gather community input on LADPH's extreme heat response plan. Community recommendations will be compiled and included in the response plan.
- Make an effort to meet potential CBO or community partners where they are and to develop an understanding of their current priorities, concerns and challenges, membership and constituency, strengths and resources, and level of interest in climate change and health equity.
- See Section <u>7.2—Engagement</u> and Section <u>8—Communications</u>.
 - The New Orleans Health Department partnered with Gulf Coast Center for Law & Policy to host community meetings to assess knowledge of the city's extreme weather response protocol, communicate impacts of climate change on health, identify community health service needs, and cultivate trust while prioritizing community action steps that address the intersection of climate and health.
- Recognize and acknowledge the inherent power dynamics between community members and government employees, people of color and White people, and people with different educational and socioeconomic backgrounds. Provide space and processes, such as agreed on ground rules for meetings and opportunities for one-on-one conversations, to address those dynamics.
- Identify strategies to build community capacity as you partner with CBOs and community members and leaders.
- Include community members in decision-making processes regarding LHD programs and investments.
- Establish fair and supportive mechanisms for participation when requesting CBO or community member participation in meetings or other partnership activities.
- Collaborate with CBOs and community members and leaders to develop culturally and linguistically appropriate materials for public information and dissemination and use an array of channels to ensure information reaches all members of the community.

Climate Change 101

Climate scientists are supplying a wealth of evidence about what is happening to the earth's climate and what it portends for our local environments, while other disciplines are identifying and developing effective interventions. Evidence-based public health practice requires that public health professionals apply evidence developed by epidemiologists, clinical researchers, and scientists across a broad range of other disciplines. You don't need to be a climate scientist to address the health risks of climate change or the health benefits of climate action. Our job is to draw on the science and apply it in public health practice.

97% of climate scientists agree that climate change is happening now and there is scientific consensus that is driven by human activity.¹

Climate Change: One symptom of planetary health

While climate change is the greatest health challenge of our time, it is one of many disruptions to what is known as planetary health. Planetary health asserts that the scale and nature of human activity, including population growth, is pushing the limits of all the planet's resources to the brink of habitability. Human exploitation and consumption of Earth's resources are causing fundamental changes in the planet's biophysical processes, which include climate change, but also widespread pollution of air, water, and soils; rapid biodiversity loss; altering of carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus cycles; pervasive changes in land use and land cover; and scarcity of resources critical to sustaining life, such as water and arable land.

"Each of these interacts with the others in complex ways, altering the quality of the air we breathe, the water we have access to, and the food we can produce. Rapidly changing environmental conditions also alter our exposures to infectious diseases and natural hazards such as heat waves, droughts, floods, fires, and tropical storms. These... ultimately affect every dimension of our health and wellbeing, including nutritional outcomes, infectious disease, non-¬communicable disease, displacement and conflict, and mental health outcomes...We need to expand the realm of public health to include how we manage our planet's natural systems: the types of cities we construct, how we produce energy, how we feed ourselves, and how well we protect our marine and terrestrial biodiversity. In the context of planetary health, the boundaries between public health and nearly every other facet of human activity become more porous. In short, we need a new paradigm."

Dr. Samuel Myers, November 2017⁴

3.1 What Is Climate Change?

- **Weather** is the temperature, humidity, precipitation, cloudiness, and wind that we experience in the atmosphere at a given time in a specific location. Weather forecasts are generally accurate over days to weeks. Climate is the average weather over a long time period (30–50 years) in a region.
- **Climate variability** refers to natural variation in climate that occurs over months to decades. El Niño, which changes temperature, rain, and wind patterns in many regions over about 2–7 years, is an example of natural climate variability. **Climate change** is a systematic change in the long-term state of the climate over multiple decades or longer.²

Climate scientists use statistical tests to ascertain that observed changes in climate are not within the range of natural variability. The 2017 Fourth National Climate Assessment states that "there are no alternative explanations supported by the evidence that are either credible or that can contribute more than marginally to the observed patterns."³

3.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions Cause Climate Change⁵

Climate change is caused by a change in the earth's energy balance. The earth is gaining energy as the atmosphere increasingly stores more of the sun's energy than it radiates or reflects back into space.

Since the Industrial Revolution started over 200 years ago, human activities have added very large quantities of greenhouse gases (GHG), also called climate pollutants, into Earth's atmosphere through the burning of fossil fuels (e.g., coal, oil, gas). These <u>GHG act like a greenhouse</u> to trap the sun's energy and heat, rather than letting it reflect back into space.⁶ Without these GHG the earth's atmosphere would be too cold for life, but when the concentration of GHG is too high, too much heat is trapped, and the earth's temperature rises outside the range of natural variability.

Carbon dioxide (CO₂) is the primary GHG from human activities—accounting for 81.6% of all U.S. GHGE in 2016—and is responsible for the greatest amount of warming to date.⁷ The main human activity that emits CO₂ is the combustion of fossil fuels (coal, natural gas, and oil) for electricity production, transportation and industrial processes that together account for more than 80% of the CO₂ released into the atmosphere.⁸ Our planet has not experienced CO₂ levels as high as now since approximately 3.5 million years ago when Earth was about 2.3°C warmer and sea levels 33–65 feet higher (Figure 3.2.1).⁹ CO₂ has a long half-life, so the "climate effects of CO₂ released into the atmosphere will persist for tens, if not hundreds, of thousands of years into the future."¹⁰





Other important GHG such as methane, nitrous oxide, black carbon, and various fluorinated gases are emitted in smaller quantities than CO₂, but they trap more heat in the atmosphere than CO₂ traps.¹² The ability to trap heat is measured as Global Warming Potential (GWP). As the most common and abundant greenhouse gas, CO₂ has a GWP of 1; all other GHG warming potentials are compared to it. Fluorinated gases, for example, have GWPs thousands of times greater than CO₂, meaning that pound-for-pound, these gases have a much stronger impact on climate change than CO₂.¹³ (See <u>Appendix 4</u> for a summary table of GHGE in the United States, their main sources, and their GWP and half-life in the atmosphere.) GHGE come from a variety of sources, but major sources include transportation, agriculture, and energy production (Figure 3.2.2).

Figure 3.2.2: Percentage of U.S. GHGE by Economic Sector, 2016¹⁴



CLIMATE CHANGE 101

Short-Lived Climate Pollutants

Greenhouse gases with a high global warming potential but a short lifetime in the atmosphere are called "shortlived climate pollutants" (SLCP), or "super-pollutants". Key SLCP include methane, black carbon, and some fluorinated gases. Because of the combination of a short half-life and high GWP, the climate change impacts of the SLCP are "front-loaded"—more of the impacts from SLCP occur sooner, while the full weight of impacts from CO₂ will be felt later. Methane, for example, comprises 10% of total U.S. GHGE and primarily comes from animal agriculture, food decomposition, and the extraction, distribution, and use of natural gas.¹⁵

Reducing emissions of short-lived climate pollutants may "buy time" while we make the transition away from carbon-polluting systems. Cutting global levels of SLCP significantly by 2030 will:¹⁶

- cut global warming in half, or 0.6°C, by 2050 and by 1.4°C by 2100;
- prevent 2.4 million premature deaths globally each year.

The Carbon Budget and the Urgency of Climate Action

For many years, there was a scientific consensus that holding global average temperature increases of 2°C (3.6°F) above pre-industrial levels would be "safe," meaning that although climate impacts would be significant, they would be manageable. However, far worse impacts of warming are occurring at a current average global temperature increase of 1.1°C (2°F) than had been anticipated. There is now great concern that if greenhouse gas emissions continue unabated, the Earth's temperature will rise about 4°C (2.7°F) by the end of the century with potentially catastrophic consequences for life on earth. In 2015, nearly 200 nations agreed in the Paris Agreement that the risks of catastrophic climate change are significantly reduced if we can keep global temperatures from rising more than 1.5°C (2.7°F).

Because GHG persist in the atmosphere for many years, the magnitude of warming and other climate impacts is not determined by emissions in any one year or from any one source, but rather by the total GHG in the atmosphere produced cumulatively and globally over time.¹⁸ Scientists can calculate how much warming will result from different cumulative amounts of GHG in the atmosphere.

The "carbon budget" is the amount of carbon dioxide that can be emitted and still have a reasonable chance of remaining below a particular rise in global temperature. To remain below a 1.5°C rise, total global emissions cannot exceed 240 billion tons of carbon from now forward. This is our current "carbon budget."¹⁹ Despite growing research into technological solutions to capture and remove CO_2 levels in the atmosphere, there is currently no known safe and effective way to remove emitted greenhouse gases from the atmosphere on a global scale. Reducing greenhouse gas emissions is thus the only known effective way to prevent using up our carbon budget. The longer we wait to reduce carbon pollution, the more drastic the action that will be required to remain within our carbon budget.

Runaway climate change: Climate scientists are concerned that some climate impacts may take on a life of their own, through positive feedback loops or surpassing of tipping points. For example, <u>collapse of the West Antarctic</u> <u>Ice Sheet</u> could lead to very rapid sea level rise, or melting of permafrost could lead to large releases of methane that would further increase warming through a positive feedback loop. Likewise, the whiteness of ice gives it high reflectivity, especially compared to the dark ocean water. As Artic ice melts, less heat is reflected by ice, more is absorbed by the ocean, leading to further warming and rising of sea levels.¹⁷

3.3 Human Activities Cause Climate Change

While GHGE are the proximate cause of climate change, the production and release of these gases into the atmosphere is primarily the result of human activity, embedded in key systems such as energy, transportation, agriculture, and our consumption-driven economy. These systems are also key contributors to health outcomes and health inequities (See Sections <u>2—Health Equity</u> and <u>4—Health Impacts</u>). For example:

- Transportation systems determine how people and goods get from place to place, affecting physical activity, traffic injuries, air pollution, and GHGE. Fuel prices, pedestrian and bicycle infrastructure, and access to public transit influence driving behavior. Transportation systems impact access to jobs and services, and the loss of farmland and habitat.²⁰
 - \circ $\;$ The transportation sector contributed 28% of all U.S. GHG emissions in 2016.
 - Transportation is one of the fastest-growing sources of domestic GHGE and accounts for nearly half of the increase in total U.S. emissions since 1990.²²
 - On-road vehicles were responsible for the vast majority (83%) of transportation-related GHGE; passenger cars and light-duty trucks contribute 60% of these emissions.²³
- Agriculture and food systems determine the cost of and access to different kinds of food and nutrition; what crops are grown, and how; water usage, soil health and depletion; deforestation, and biodiversity loss. Industrialized animal production generates methane from livestock manure, antibiotic resistance from the overuse of antibiotics to increase animal growth, and water contamination from the excessive application of nitrogen fertilizers and pesticides. Corn and soy subsidies reduce meat prices and increase meat consumption.
 - Agriculture was responsible for 9% of total U.S. GHGE in 2016, 52% of methane emissions, and 84% of nitrous oxide release.²⁴
 - When fertilizer use, refrigeration, transportation, and land use changes, such as deforestation and soil depletion, are taken into account, our food and agriculture systems account for about one third of global GHGE.²⁵
- Energy systems provide for heating, lighting, and cooking, but the incomplete combustion of carbon also produces significant air pollution (e.g. from indoor cook stoves in poor countries, and from coal-fired power plants around the world). An estimated seven million deaths are associated with air pollution every year—one in eight of total global deaths.²⁶ Coal and uranium miners are at very high risk of occupational illness and injury, and mining often causes irreparable damage to water sources and natural habitats.^{27,28}

- Electricity production contributes 28% of U.S. GHGE.²⁹
- Electricity generated from renewables releases about 1/20th the GHGE of coal over the full life cycle.³⁰ Switching from fossil fuels to clean, renewable energy is a critical path to the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions.
- Economic systems distribute, allocate and determine access to wealth and resources, foster or alleviate wealth inequities, offer access to livelihoods and employment, and—in concert with social value systems—determine how much value we place on consumption of goods and/or non-marketable resources such as clean air, clean water, and open space.

3.4 Environmental Impacts of Climate Change

Climate change is causing five critical global environmental changes:³¹

- Warming temperature of the earth's surface and the oceans: The earth has warmed at a rate of 0.13°C per decade since 1957, almost twice as fast as its rate of warming during the previous century.
- Changes in the global 'hydrologic' (water) cycle: Over the past century there have been distinct geographical changes in total annual precipitation, with some areas experiencing severe and long-term drought and others experiencing increased annual precipitation. The frequency and intensity of storms increases as the atmosphere warms and is able to hold more water vapor.
- **Declining glaciers and snowpack:** Across the globe, nearly all glaciers are decreasing in area, volume and mass. One billion people living in river watersheds fed by glaciers and snowmelt may be impacted by early spring runoff and flooding and diminished water flows in late summer.
- Sea level rise: Warmer water expands, so as oceans warm the increased volume of water is causing sea level rise. Melting glaciers and snowpack also contribute to rising seas.
- **Ocean acidification:** Oceans absorb about 25% of emitted CO₂ from the atmosphere, leading to acidification of seawater.

Economic Toll – of Climate Change

The health, social and economic costs of climate change are likely to be enormous. One recent study linked temperature rise to economic impacts on agriculture, crime, coastal storms, energy, and human mortality. Nationally, every 1°C (1.8°F) rise in average temperatures could cost 1.2% of gross domestic product and could raise death rates by 5.4 per 100,000. If unabated, climate change could cause damages that cost the poorest third of U.S. counties up to 20% of their income.³² Another study estimated the health costs of just six climate-related events at \$14 billion.³³ In 2017 alone, the U.S. experienced 16 billion dollar climate-related disasters ranging from wildfires to tropical cyclones to crop freezes.³⁴ The rising costs of climate-related damages to infrastructure and economic productivity are likely to have ripple effects on funding for health and social needs. In contrast, a global assessment that monetized the health co-benefits of climate mitigation found that the value of avoided mortality averaged \$50-\$380 per ton of carbon dioxide, which far exceeds projected abatement costs.35

These global changes result in what we experience as changes in our local weather and climate.

- Greater variability, with "hotter hots," "drier dries," and "wetter wets"
- Higher average temperatures and longer frost-free seasons
- Longer wildfire seasons and more intense wildfires
- Loss of snowpack and earlier spring runoff
- Recurrent coastal flooding with high tides and storm surges
- Worsening air quality: Higher temperatures increase production of ozone (a key contributor to smog) and pollen, as well as increasing the risk of wildfires
- Longer pollen seasons and more pollen production

3.5 Climate Change in the United States

Various regions of the U.S. will experience climate change differently. Figures 3.5.1 and 3.5.2 show climate change in the U.S. and its effect on weather-related events and temperatures.³⁶ For a more comprehensive view, see the <u>Fourth National Climate Assessment</u>.³⁷

Figure 3.5.1: Climate Change Across the United States³⁸



Figure 3.5.2: Observed Changes in Temperature and Precipitation in the United States Due to Climate Change (1991–2012 compared to 1901–1960)³⁹



Observed U.S. Temperature Change

Every community is experiencing the impacts of climate change, albeit in different ways. These impacts will worsen as GHG accumulate in the atmosphere. To protect health, we must act to both reduce GHGE and prepare for the impacts of climate change.

Health Impacts of Climate Change

Climate change threatens the fundamentals that sustain life and health—fresh water, food, clean air, shelter, and security—and thus threatens the health and possibly the very survival of the communities that local health departments serve. Climate change is a global phenomenon, but it is people and communities at the local level that experience its consequences. Climate change exacerbates local and global health inequities because some people and communities bear an unfair burden of these health harms, including low-income communities, communities of color, native and tribal communities, the very young and very old, and those with chronic illnesses. This Section provides an overview of the health impacts of climate change.



APHA, Climate Nexus 2016

4.1 Extreme Heat

The CDC defines extreme heat as "summertime temperatures that are substantially hotter and/or more humid than average for that location at that time of year."¹ Climate change increases extreme heat exposure.

Climate Change Worsens Extreme Heat

- Seventeen of the country's eighteen warmest years on record have occurred since 2001.²
- In 2017, periods of extreme heat broke state records throughout the summer and fall. Every state had an annual average temperature that was warmer than usual.³ Arizona, Georgia, New Mexico, North Carolina, and South Carolina had the warmest year on record.⁴ There has been a dramatic increase in hot night-time temperatures in the U.S., reducing critical hours of relief during heat waves.⁵
- Different regions of the U.S. are expected to see varying levels of temperature increase due to climate change; average temperature is projected to increase by 3–5°F by the mid-2030s and 2.8–10.8°F by the end of the century.⁶ See Figure 4.1.1.

Figure 4.1.1: Projected change in average surface air temperature from 2071 to 2099 relative to 1970–1999 temperatures under a scenario that assumes substantial reductions in GHGE (B1) and a higher emissions scenario that assumes continued increases in global GHGE (A2)⁷



HOW CLIMATE CHANGE AFFECTS YOUR HEALTH



APHA, Climate Nexus 2016

Health Impacts of Extreme Heat

Heat already causes more deaths than any other natural disaster.8

- From 1999–2010, 7,415 people died from heat-related illness in the U.S., an average of 618 per year.⁹ Extreme heat results in excess death and illness through heat stroke, heat exhaustion, and exacerbation of chronic illness. In addition, heat exposure triggers multiple physiological mechanisms that cause damage to the brain, heart, intestines, kidneys, liver, lungs, and pancreas.¹⁰
- Increased ozone levels from extreme heat exacerbate asthma, respiratory disease, and cardiovascular disease.¹¹
- Heat stress and associated dehydration can exacerbate renal disease and may be linked to new epidemics of chronic kidney disease.¹²
- Exposure to extreme heat impacts mental health through increased incidence of disease, death, violence, aggression, suicide and higher rates of admission for those with a psychiatric condition. Persons with mental illness may have triple the risk of death during a heat wave.¹³ In the U.S., there is an association between periods of extreme heat and increased rates of violent crimes in cities.¹⁴
- Some medications are sensitive to heat and may lose effectiveness or cause harmful side effects when exposed to heat.¹⁵ Other medications alter individual tolerance to extreme heat, increasing the risk of heat illness.¹⁶
- Heat waves contribute to crop and livestock loss, resulting in rising food prices and increased food insecurity.^{17,18}

Extreme Heat and Health Equity

- **Urban heat islands:** Low income and communities of color are more likely to be located in "urban heat islands"—dense urban areas with fewer trees, less green space, more buildings, higher energy use, and more impervious asphalt and concrete. These characteristics create urban heat islands where nighttime temperatures may be as much as 22°F higher than surrounding areas. These vulnerabilities often map onto areas of historical residential segregation.¹⁹
- **Race and ethnicity:** As of 2013, African Americans were 52% more likely, Asian Americans 32% more likely, and Hispanics 21% more likely to live in heat vulnerable areas of the U.S. compared with non-Hispanic Whites.²⁰
- **Rural communities:** The risk of heat-related mortality may be about 3% higher in rural areas when compared to urban areas, potentially linked with less access to health care services, greater proportions of elderly people, many outdoor occupations, fewer media to share heat information, and less access to air conditioning and transportation.²¹
- Working conditions: Outdoor farmworkers are at greater risk of exposure to extreme heat, and from 1992–2006, heat-related deaths were 20 times higher among crop workers than the general U.S. population.²² Occupational heat stress and chronic dehydration may lead to chronic kidney disease in outdoor workers.²³

Cooling Centers in Maricopa County, Arizona

In 2005, 35 individuals died over a 9-day period of extreme heat in Maricopa County.²⁹ MCDPH partnered with the Arizona Department of Health Services and Arizona State University to evaluate community access to and perceptions of cooling centers by surveying facility visitors and managers and observing use during an extreme heat event.

There are 58 private and public cooling centers in Maricopa County—locations that are airconditioned or cooled and have been designated as a site individuals can go to during heat events.³⁰ The evaluation found that many cooling centers were open only on weekdays, primarily in community centers, senior centers, and religious institutions without clear or visible signs notifying the public of the availability of a cooling center.³¹ Eighty-four percent of visitors were unemployed, 33% had no permanent residence, and 11% of those who indicated a permanent residence had no air conditioning at their place of living.³²

Maricopa County subsequently developed a Heat Relief Regional Network—a partnership of municipalities, nonprofit organizations, and faith-based organizations—to mitigate heat health risks. The Network maintains a list of cooling centers and services on available maps and hosts trainings on heat illness prevention for facility managers.³³

- **Social isolation:** Social, cultural, and linguistic isolation are all risk factors for heat illness.²⁴ In the European heat wave of 2003, elders living alone had the highest mortality rates.²⁵
- **Physical or cognitive impairments:** Limited mobility increases the risk of isolation, and the ability to move to a cooler location. Cognitive impairment may limit the ability to recognize risk or seek assistance during an extreme heat event.
- **Age:** The very young and the elderly are less able to sense and adapt to changes in temperature, due to limitations in body temperature regulation.
- **Chronic Illness:** Those with conditions such as obesity, diabetes or renal, cardiovascular and respiratory diseases are at higher risk of heat illness, including exacerbation of complications related to their underlying illness.²⁶
- **Air Conditioning Access:** A 2005 study found that African American households had 5.3% higher heatrelated mortality rate than White households, and had half the access to central AC.²⁷
- **Evolving Extreme Heat Geography:** People living in some regions of the U.S., such as coastal communities, may be especially vulnerable to extreme heat because they are not currently acclimatized to increased temperatures but will experience increased high heat days.²⁸

World Health Organization's Core Elements of Heat–Health Action Plans⁴³

- 1. Agreement on a lead body to coordinate a multi-purpose collaborative mechanism between bodies and institutions and to direct the response if an emergency occurs.
- 2. Accurate and timely alert systems.
- 3. A heat-related health information plan (what is communicated, to whom and when).
- 4. A reduction in indoor heat exposure, including medium- and short-term strategies and advice on how to keep indoor temperatures low during heat episodes.
- 5. Particular care for vulnerable population groups.
- 6. Preparedness of the health- and social-care systems (staff training and planning, appropriate health care and the physical environment).
- 7. Long-term urban planning to address building design and energy and transport policies that will ultimately reduce heat exposure.
- 8. Real-time surveillance and evaluation.

What Local Health Departments Can Do

See Sections <u>6—Programs</u> and <u>7—Functions</u>

Assessment and Surveillance

- Conduct a heat vulnerability assessment for your jurisdiction:
 - Use available data to identify and map vulnerable populations, neighborhoods with characteristics that increase temperatures, and the location and availability of cooling centers.
 - Share this information with partners including health care providers and institutions, community based organizations, schools, emergency management agencies, and social services agencies.
 - Share this information with residents and community-based organizations to foster awareness of heat illness prevention and to elicit suggestions for steps the community and local agencies might take to address heat vulnerability.
 - Use the heat vulnerability assessment to demonstrate the need for preferential greening in tree and park poor neighborhoods, urban heat islands, and areas with high numbers of people with individual or household risk factors for heat illness.
- Initiate heat illness syndromic surveillance and partner with local health care facilities to implement reporting on heat-related illness (See the Section <u>7.1—Surveillance</u>).

Intersectoral Collaboration

Collaborate with parks, public works, sustainability offices, and community groups to support and fund the expansion of green space and green infrastructure that reduces ambient temperatures and provides access to cooler spaces, including tree canopy, parks, water features, and urban streams.

- Ensure preferential planting of less allergenic trees and plants.³⁴
- Implement cool and green roofs programs and support related rebates for homes and businesses.³⁵

Following are example recommendations for intragency initiatives to combat heat:

- Provide shading for transit stops, bike lanes, and sidewalks; provide access to cooling buses by working with transit agencies and public works.³⁶
- Collaborate with law enforcement and emergency services to train police and first responders to recognize heat-related illness in vulnerable populations and ensure that heat response plan includes strategies to reach homebound individuals.
- Ensure that local codes require facilities such as assisted-living establishments monitor and automate aircooling systems to remain within comfortable temperatures in all living and communal areas.³⁷
- Establish relationships with local OSHA officials and employers to ensure that outdoor workers and others vulnerable to heat are informed, and that employers are aware of their responsibilities to prevent occupational heat-related illness, especially providing plenty of drinking water, shaded cool areas, and extended breaks for workers.³⁸ Adjust work schedules to reduce physical demands during the hottest times of day.³⁹
- Use home visits to assess housing conditions and vulnerability of household members, provide heat health information, and make referrals to social service agencies and programs that provide financial support (rebates, bill-paying subsidies) for services that could prevent heat-related illness (air conditioning, tree planting, weatherization).
 - Work with utilities and other agencies to inform residents about and ensure enforcement of "disconnection rules" that prohibit electricity cut-offs.⁴⁰
 - Connect clients and communities to resources for financial support in coping with heat, such as Low-Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP).⁴¹
- Work with housing and social service agencies to integrate extreme heat assessments and education into home visiting programs.

Prepare for Extreme Heat Events

Implement early warning systems for extreme heat events by collaborating with local weather forecasters to use a standard terminology for heat health and agree on the threshold used. In addition, consider the following:

- Broadcast extreme heat conditions with information on preventing heat illness, checking on neighbors and family members, and access to cooling centers.
- Set up a phone line and webpage in multiple languages with information on cooling centers and heat illness prevention. Ask the media to publicize these outlets.



Extreme Heat Warning in Death Valley Graeme Maclean, 2014

Outdoor Farmworkers Andrew Reding, 2012

- Contact local facilities that serve vulnerable populations (e.g. nursing homes, senior centers, schools and child care providers, homeless services) to ensure protocols for extreme heat are in place and facilities are prepared for activation.
- Establish and evaluate cooling centers to assess the availability of cooling centers and cool sites in your jurisdiction. Ensure there is adequate outreach to communities and vulnerable populations informing them of facilities and cooling sites open during extreme heat events.
 - Work with public agencies and local businesses to make more air conditioned spaces available for extended hours during extreme heat events and make sure that cooling site facilities have adequate power to continue air conditioning.
 - Survey visitors and facility managers of cooling centers to evaluate services, utilization, capacity, and accessibility, including via public transit.⁴²

Community Engagement and Education

Integrate climate change in materials and media messages for the public to increase awareness that climate change is a health issue. Here is an advisory from a webpage warning of extreme heat and health issues:

Extreme Heat

Original: Hot and humid summer weather can cause heat illness and even death. More Americans die from heat waves than all other natural disasters combined.⁴⁴

Modified: Hot and humid summer weather can cause heat illness and even death. *As climate change causes increasing temperatures around the world, our area can expect to experience more heat events like this.* More Americans die from heat waves than all other natural disasters combined.
- Conduct public awareness campaigns in multiple languages and via various media to educate communities about strategies to reduce neighborhood heat and prevention of heat illness. See the CDC's <u>Tips for Preventing Heat Illness</u> for more information.⁴⁵
- Inform clients to check with their doctor about medications that increase the risk of heat illness (e.g. psychotropic medications, diuretics, tranquilizers, some medications for Parkinson's disease) and whether prescribed medications (e.g. insulin) may lose effectiveness if exposed to high temperatures. See Polk County, Iowa's <u>medications and heat handout</u> for an example.⁴⁶
- Educate local clinicians on the health impacts of heat and how they can protect patients and community health during extreme heat, and provide materials for patient waiting rooms. See <u>A Physician's Guide on</u> <u>Climate Change, Health and Equity</u>.

For More Information

- <u>CDC Extreme Heat Preparedness</u>:
 - <u>English site and materials</u>
 - <u>Spanish site and materials</u>
- <u>US EPA Heat Island Effect Website</u>
- <u>US Climate and Health Assessment</u>, Chapter 2: Temperature-Related Death and Illness
- <u>APHA and CDC's Extreme Heat Can Impact Our Health in Many Ways</u>

From Surveillance Addition to Engagement: Maricopa County Department of Public Health

Maricopa County Department of Public Health (MCDPH) engaged with diverse partners to host a series of workshops, Bridging Climate Change and Public Health, elevating the health and equity impacts of climate change for numerous partners.

Maricopa County might be considered "heat central" in the U.S. Phoenix, the largest city in the county, has an average of 110 days with temperatures over 100°F and 19 days over 110°F. Average daily temperatures in the Southwest are projected to rise 2.5–8°F by 2100. Maricopa County Department of Public Health (MCDPH) conducts surveillance of heat illness, including syndromic surveillance. From 2006 to 2014, Maricopa County experienced 691 heat-associated deaths. A 2015 rapid epidemiologic assessment of households revealed that although 95% of residents have central air conditioning, high electricity and maintenance costs prevent many from using it.

MCDPH maintains public cooling centers and hydration stations throughout heat season, and partners with community organizations to promote their use and warn the public about heat risks. Although the 2015 <u>Maricopa</u> <u>County Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan</u> identified the likelihood of increased intensity and duration of extreme heat days due to climate change, MCDPH did not refer to climate change in its public communications on heat.

MCDPH recognized that the homebound population is exceptionally vulnerable to extreme heat, and in early 2016 launched a project to assess their needs. In partnership with the Area Agency on Aging, the City of Phoenix Home Delivered Meals program, Arizona State University (ASU), and Maricopa County Human Services Department, MCDPH created a survey that was distributed to homebound individuals by meal delivery staff. Of the 1300 surveys distributed, 472 people responded. The survey identified the need to increase awareness of heat-related services, simplify the process for obtaining services, and make transportation to cooling centers more accessible for homebound individuals.

From Surveillance to Community Engagement

In November 2016, MCDPH convened a wide array of stakeholders for the first "Bridging Climate Change and Public Health" summit. MCDPH presented the results of the homebound survey and information on impacts of climate change on extreme heat and health. With 45 participating organizations, it set the stage for further discussion about collaborative efforts to address the challenges of climate change. Staff found a very high level of receptivity to the discussion. "Most importantly, we no longer hesitate to use the term climate change—it has proven to be much more acceptable in our community than we had anticipated."

Following a second summit in May 2017, MCDPH convened stakeholders to develop a formal <u>Bridging Climate Change and Public</u> <u>Health Strategic Plan</u> for Maricopa County. In a series of three meetings, community partners identified five strategic directions, including:

- Celebrate incremental success and climate and health champions.
- Promote community awareness and public education about climate and health.
- Foster environmental and climate action for a healthier community.
- Coordinate research and collaborative efforts to catalyze change.
- Develop a strategic and targeted communication plan.

Future Work

MCPDH has received funding from the Arizona Department of Health Services Building Resilience Against Climate Effects (BRACE) program that will be used to implement the first Strategic Plan action step. Celebrating Success and Champions, will recognize Climate and Health Champions—local youth, citizens, schools, organizations, or businesses that are implementing sustainable solutions and/or ecofriendly practices or policies that promote health in the face of climate change. MCDPH sees the recognition of positive action as one more way to spread awareness about climate and health in Maricopa County.

Learn More

- <u>Bridging Climate Change and Public</u> <u>Health Strategic Plan</u>
- <u>Bridging Climate Change and</u>
 <u>Public Health</u>
- Maricopa County Heat Surveillance

Key Action Steps:



- Conduct surveillance on climate-related health impacts.
- Identify a vulnerable population of focus and work with diverse partners to more effectively reach that population, including assessing climate-related health needs.
- Utilize surveillance results to engage the public on climate and health.
- Host a summit or workshop to talk about climate, health, and equity connections; provide a structure for community and stakeholder input to identify actions to protect health.
- Develop a Climate and Health Strategic Plan with other local agencies and stakeholders.

4.2 Drought

Climate Change Increases Drought Frequency and Intensity

Drought is a deficiency of rainfall over a period of time, resulting in a water shortage for some activity, group, or environmental sector.¹ Climate change is increasing the frequency, severity, and duration of droughts: A NASA analysis found that, with current greenhouse gas emission trends, the Southwest and Central Plains of the U.S. have an 80% likelihood of megadroughts that could last decades between the years 2050 and 2099 (Figure 4.2.1).²

- With emissions cuts, the chance of megadroughts in these regions decreases to 60%.³
- While the U.S. Dust Bowl in the 1930s lasted a decade, NASA analyses have found that future droughts throughout the U.S. may last at least 30 to 35 years, resulting in the driest periods of these regions in the last 1,000 years.^{4,5}
- Water consumption and withdrawal of water from surface and underground water aquifers is increasing, and leading to greater pressure on limited water resources.⁶

Figure 4.2.1: Soil moisture 30 cm below ground projected through 2095 for high emissions scenario RCP 8.⁷





2013 Drought in Texas Bob Nichols, USDA, 2013

Extensive Tree Die-Off in Sierra National Forest Wildland Urban Interface U.S. Forest Service, Pacific Southwest Region 5, 2016

Health Impacts of Drought

People need water to drink, cook, grow food, and for sanitation and hygiene. Severe drought may reduce water access (including through strict conservation measures) so that water for these purposes is limited. Drought can cause these health risks:

- Lower crop yields and increased crop loss contribute to rising food prices and amplify food insecurity, associated with increased risk of chronic diseases.⁸
- The affects of drought on physical health, food security, economic livelihood, social stability, and forced migration can have serious mental health impacts.⁹
- Drought can increase the concentration of industrial chemicals, heavy metals, and agriculture runoff contaminants in groundwater, increasing the risk of toxic exposure if communities increase reliance on groundwater sources as surface water diminishes.
- As communities draw on groundwater, land sinking puts infrastructure like roads, aqueducts and levees at risk of permanent damage.¹⁰
- Drought increases over-pumping of groundwater that contributes to seawater intrusion and increased groundwater salinity¹¹ (See Section <u>4.6—Sea Level Rise</u>).
- Dry vegetation and increased heat from drought are associated with more frequent wildfires, which have widespread health impacts (See Section <u>4.3—Wildfires</u>).¹²
- Drought increases the risk of infectious and vector-borne disease. The risk of Valley Fever increases as soil dries out and dust is dispersed in the air.¹³ Due to increased household water collection during drought, increased pools of stagnant water in storm water and sewer pipes can bring mosquitoes closer to human populations and increase vector-borne disease transmission.¹⁴ As animals seek water, they and the insects they host may move closer to where people live, increasing the likelihood of human exposures (See Section <u>6.2—Infectious Disease</u>).¹⁵
- Due to crop loss and lower yields, drought can cause displacement and mass migration for agriculture workers. By 1940, the Dust Bowl had forced 2.5 million people out of the Plains states.¹⁶

Drought and Health Equity

- **Poverty:** Those with limited financial resources are vulnerable to food and water insecurity from rising food and water prices associated with drought and crop loss.¹⁷
- **Agricultural Workers:** Farmers and communities are more vulnerable to the adverse economic impacts of drought, and to the mental health impacts.¹⁸
- **Rural Communities:** Poor rural communities are disproportionately reliant on small water systems or private drinking water wells, and thus at increased risk of water shortages or exposure to contaminated well water.¹⁹
- **Tribal Communities:** Native communities are already facing impacts of long-term drought on their agriculture and livestock, springs, medicinal and culturally important plants, and drinking water supplies.²⁰ Native communities are more likely to lack access to clean, potable drinking water than other groups in the U.S.²¹
- **Chronic Illness:** Lack of safe drinking water can exacerbate pre-existing renal disease.²² Food insecurity is associated with higher risks of chronic illness such as diabetes and hypertension (See Section <u>4.8—Food</u> <u>Security</u>).
- **Race and Ethnicity:** African American and Filipino populations are at increased risk of contracting dustrelated Coccidioidomycosis (Valley fever).²³ Eighty percent of U.S. farmworkers identify as Hispanic, and this group is more vulnerable to economic impacts of extended periods of drought.²⁴

What Local Health Departments Can Do

See Sections <u>6—Programs</u> and <u>7—Functions</u>

Assessment and Surveillance

- Work with water utilities and other agencies to conduct a drought vulnerability assessment.³³
 - Assess climate impacts on likelihood of drought, the projected impact on agriculture/farming, inventory of well owners, community water sources, water pricing, and water insecurity.
 - Identify vulnerable populations and community assets.
 - Monitor water price increases and assess impacts on low-income residents.
 - Scale mosquito monitoring to correspond to changes in precipitation and identify where nesting sites may proliferate due to drought.
 - Increase groundwater and surface water quality monitoring during drought for increased concentration of contaminants and increased salinity in areas at risk of saltwater incursion.
- Survey households using the Community Assessment for Public Health Emergency Response (CASPER) methodology to understand the drought's impact on household water use, water access, conservation behaviors, hygiene, work, budgets, and health to plan programming and response to needs of your jurisdiction (See Section 7.1—Surveillance).³⁴
- Enhance monitoring of water quality and contamination during drought.³⁵

LHD Spotlight: Understanding the Impacts of Drought in Tulare County, CA²⁵

Tulare County, California is a rural agricultural community in California's San Joaquin Valley and may be a harbinger of what increased drought looks like. As the worst California drought in recorded history lingered on, private wells in Tulare County started to run dry. By November 2015, 1,308 wells had run dry, affecting over 6,000 residents.²⁶

- Thousands of agricultural workers lost their jobs as thousands of acres of farmland were fallowed.
- Local food banks and other services were overwhelmed.
- Local emergency rooms reported a 25% increase in respiratory disease visits.²⁷
- The community saw a rise in illnesses such as West Nile Virus and Valley Fever and twice the statewide rate of diarrheal disease in 2013.^{28,29}
- Throughout the county, there were rising levels of stress, anxiety, depression, and other mental health concerns.³⁰

To better understand how the drought was impacting communities within its jurisdiction, the Tulare County Health and Human Services (TCHHS) Agency partnered with the California Department of Public Health's Division of Environmental and Occupational Disease Control to survey residents using the Community Assessment for Public Health Emergency Response (CASPER) methodology. TCHHS representatives went door-to-door within clustered regions of the county to gather responses to a survey assessing 1) household demographics, 2) drought knowledge and practices, 3) water access and use, 4) conservation practices, 5) related employment and health impacts, and 6) emergency communication preferences.³¹ This informed TCHHS about vulnerable communities in their jurisdiction and how to improve drought-related communications.

Many of the residents surveyed were undocumented and were thus afraid to report that their taps had run dry, providing TCHHS with vital information on vulnerability within the community to improve their outreach efforts. In some communities, a third of the households requested Spanish for emergency communications. These <u>surveys</u> highlighted potential entry points for programmatic action, such as improving conservation behaviors or ensuring better hygiene practices.³²

Intersectoral Collaboration

- Work with local water agencies/suppliers to develop protocols to ensure that water price increases do not lead to water shutoffs that impact health and well-being.
- Work with local water agencies and suppliers to prepare community drinking water delivery plans to supplement drinking and hygiene supplies in vulnerable areas.³⁶ Provide alternate water supplies, including hauled water and bottled water.
- Collaborate with parks and recreation, public works, and community groups to support rain water catchment and grey water reuse.

- Educate community members about safe and healthy water conservation.
- Ensure water from community rain barrels is clearly marked for non-potable uses and ensure individuals installing home rainwater systems are informed about safe usage.
- Promote the use of screens and other mosquito deterrents for water storage vesicles to prevent the spread of mosquito-borne illness.
- Work with local water agencies to assess permit requests for new wells or requests to dig existing wells deeper to prevent additional draws on local water resources in drought prone areas.³⁷
- Support improvement of existing water systems to ensure adequacy of access to safe and clean drinking water, such as: establishing connections to adjacent public water system, replacing or rehabilitating wells, increasing access to temporary treatment systems.

Prepare for Droughts

- Prepare for an influx of public health service requests with prolonged drought.³⁸ Anticipate extra resources for vector control.
- Collaborate across agencies and community groups to build support for initiatives that protect ever more precious water from contamination (e.g. nitrate contamination policies, reducing pesticide use) to reduce the likelihood of enhanced contamination.³⁹

Community Engagement and Education

• Integrate mentions of climate change in materials and media messages for the public, to increase public awareness that climate change is a health issue. Opportunities include public health alerts, health advisory announcements, and educational materials and campaigns related to drought. For example:

<u>Drought</u>

Original: Drought can cause significant mental health impacts on residents, especially in rural communities that depend upon farming and ranching as a basis of economic support. Risk of stress, depression, suicide, and substance abuse may increase during a drought.⁴⁰

Modified: Drought can cause significant mental health impacts on residents, especially in rural communities that depend upon farming and ranching as a basis of economic support. Risk of stress, depression, suicide, and substance abuse may increase during a drought. California *is likely to experience extended periods of drought in coming decades due to climate change*.

- Conduct public awareness campaigns—in multiple languages and via various media—and educate clients and communities on the rising risks of drought due to climate change, health risks associated drought, and how to prevent them, including:
 - Use language-appropriate outreach to inform residents of available drought assistance, including behavioral health, public health, and food assistance services.⁴¹

- Disseminate information on water conservation during routine facilities inspections and home visits.⁴²
- Communicate the importance of hand hygiene and educate clients on alternatives that can be used when water is limited.⁴³
- Discuss how prolonged drought may increase West Nile Virus incidence and how to avoid transmission: use of insect repellent, clothing, window screens, destruction of breeding habitat, avoiding outdoors during peak hours.
- Educate communities on Valley Fever and how to avoid transmission: avoiding areas and activities with high dust exposure (construction or dusty fields, gardening, etc.), staying indoors with windows closed on windy and dusty days, and ensuring good indoor air filtration.
- Educate communities about how to access and wear respirators, such as an N95 mask if activities in areas with poor air quality cannot be avoided.
- Discuss the social and psychological impacts of drought and refer clients to mental health services.
- Provide well owners with information on testing wells more frequently during drought when there is less water to dilute contaminants.^{44,45}
- Educate local clinicians on the health impacts of drought and how they can best protect patient and community health during droughts. For more information see <u>A Physician's Guide on Climate Change</u>, <u>Health and Equity</u>.

For More Information

- <u>Preparing for the Health Effects of Drought: A Resource Guide for Public Health Professionals</u>
- <u>CDC Drought and Health site</u>
- <u>When Every Drop Counts: Protecting Public Health During Drought Conditions, A Guide for Public Health</u> <u>Professionals</u>
- <u>Health effects of drought: A systematic review of the evidence</u>
- <u>NACCHO's How Local Health Departments can Assist in Response to the California Drought</u>
- US Climate and Health Assessment, Chapter 4: Extreme Events
- <u>APHA and CDC factsheet on extreme rainfall, drought, climate change, and health</u>



N-95 Mask Fit Testing by Alamosa County Public Health Alamosa County Public Health, 2010

Firefighters During Idaho Wildfire U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2012

4.3 Wildfires

Climate Change Increases Wildfire Risk

Climate change causes higher temperatures, earlier snowmelt, and drier conditions that increase the frequency, intensity and duration of wildfires, as well as the length of wildfire seasons in the U.S.¹

- Wildfire seasons are expected to be longer and stronger across the U.S. by 2050.² High fire years are likely to occur 2–4 times per decade by 2050, instead of once per decade, as was the average before 2010.³
- Increasing development at the wildland-urban interface places more homes and people at risk. In 2015, a USDA study assessed vulnerability in "wildland/urban interface" and found almost one-third of the U.S. population lived in the most vulnerable areas to wildfires.⁴
- Warmer temperatures and precipitation changes associated with climate changes are contributing to growth in bark beetle populations, leading to millions of dead trees across Western forests.⁵ Unhealthy forests may contribute to more intense wildfires.⁶

Wildfires Worsen Climate Change

Wildfires contribute to global warming by releasing massive amounts of carbon into the atmosphere and reducing the amount of forest available to sequester carbon.⁷ Up to 3% of annual U.S. greenhouse gas emissions come from wildfires.⁸ Western forests are important carbon sinks, capturing 20–40% of U.S. carbon emissions.⁹ The EPA estimates that U.S. wildfires emitted around 164.1 million metric tons of carbon dioxide in 2015, growing substantially from previous years, and accounting for 2% of the country's annual CO₂ emissions.¹⁰

Health Impacts of Wildfires

• Wildfires are a major source of particulate matter (PM).^{18,19} PM exposure increases the risk of cardiovascular disease and respiratory illnesses, and wildfires increase the risk of premature death, exacerbated asthma, bronchitis, chest pain, and negative birth outcomes from PM exposure.²⁰

- Wildfire smoke can travel long distances and affect the health of people far downwind of the fire. Smoke from the 2002 wildfires in Quebec caused a 30-fold increase in PM2.5 in Baltimore, MD, which is nearly 1,000 miles downwind,²¹ and pollutants from a 2004 Alaska wildfire were found in Europe.²² Air quality in surrounding regions can also remain poor for weeks.²³
- Wildfires also increase exposure to carbon monoxide, ground level ozone and toxic chemicals released from burning building materials or used to fight the fire.²⁴
- Indoor air quality is impacted as smoke penetrates into homes, which is where the majority of exposure to wildfire particulate matter occurs for individuals sheltering in place.²⁵
- Wildfires cause immediate harm through burns, traumatic injury, smoke inhalation, and heat stress; wildland firefighters are at particularly high risk.^{26,27}
- Soil erosion and runoff from wildfires can contaminate water supplies far downstream from the fire site, negatively impacting the quality, quantity, and availability of safe freshwater supplies.²⁸
- Wildfires can leave soils damaged and vulnerable to extreme erosion, which can lead to dangerous flooding and mudslides if heavy rains impact the area after the fire.²⁹

Western Wildfires in 2017

- Wildfires burned 9,781,062 acres across the U.S., the 3rd largest acreage burned in a year in U.S. records, killing 54 people and costing over \$18 billion in damage.^{11,12}
- In Montana, a total of 2,420 fires burned 1.4 million acres, surpassing the previous record set in 2012 for the most area burned in the state for over 100 years.¹³
- In the fall, dozens of wildfires across the Pacific Northwest blanketed the region in thick smoke, creating states of emergencies in many areas.¹⁴
- There were 7,117 fires in California that burned 505,956 acres, more than double the previous five-year average (202,786 acres).¹⁵
- Five of the twenty most destructive wildfires in California history occurred in 2017.¹⁶
- Fires across Southern California in December burnt away vegetation, leaving soils vulnerable to flooding and erosion. In January 2018, heavy rains in these areas led to dangerous flooding and mudslides that killed more than 20 people.¹⁷
- Wildfires burn everything in their path, including dangerous chemicals (e.g. in pesticides, propane, gasoline, plastic, and paint) that can burn down to ash with very high concentrations of any toxic components.³⁰ Clean-up workers may be at highest risk of exposure.
- Wildfires stress health care and public health systems, including skilled nursing facilities, with evacuations, increased medical visits, and the need for emergency response resources.
- The stress, displacement, and loss of home and community associated with wildfires can cause significant mental health problems, including anxiety, depression, and PTSD.³¹

Wildfires and Health Equity

- **Age:** The very young and the very old are more sensitive to the air quality impacts of wildfires. For children, their developing respiratory systems make them vulnerable to long-term impacts of wildfire smoke, particulates, and ground level ozone.
- **Place:** Communities and households at the wildland-urban interface where human-built environments are adjacent to areas of wildland vegetation are at greater risk of wildfires.³²
- **Socioeconomic Status:** Low-income households are less likely to have disaster insurance and have fewer resources to cope with or rebound from home and property loss or temporary displacement.
- **Race and Ethnicity:** African Americans have higher rates of asthma and cardiovascular disease that increase sensitivity to the health effects of smoke.
- **Tribal Communities:** Native American and Alaska Native populations living near forested regions are at increased risk of displacement, smoke-exposure, injury, and property loss, especially if more populated areas are prioritized for fire management response.³³
- **Legal Status:** Undocumented families are not eligible for FEMA assistance and even those who are eligible may fear applying. Immigrants may also have concerns about accessing evacuation shelters and other relief services due to inadequate cultural and linguistic competency of service providers, and undocumented immigrants may fear legal repercussions of seeking services.³⁴
- **Emergency Responders:** Firefighters, health care personnel and emergency responders are at increased risk for injury, death, and respiratory impacts of wildfires, as well as mental health affects due to trauma. Wildfire fire fighters are exposed to safety hazards, including burns, electrocution, ash, slips, trips and falls, falling trees, rocks, and vehicle accidents.^{35,36}
- **Outdoor Workers:** Other outdoor workers (farmworkers, utility workers) are at risk for respiratory effects of smoke and pollution.³⁷
- **Underlying Health Conditions and Status:** Individuals with pre-existing cardiac or respiratory disease are at risk of disease exacerbations due to wildfire smoke. The emergency conditions created by wildfires disrupt individuals' ability to adequately manage their health conditions.
 - People with disabilities (mobility, sensory, cognitive) may be at greater risk of injury or death during evacuations from wildfires.

What Local Health Departments Can Do

See Sections <u>6—Programs</u> and <u>7—Functions</u>

Assessment and Surveillance

Assess which neighborhoods and what critical infrastructure are vulnerable to wildfires. Wildfires can cause health problems in communities well downwind of a fire and air quality can remain poor for weeks.³⁸

The EPA Community Health Vulnerability Index for wildfires includes: asthma prevalence in children and adults, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, hypertension, diabetes, obesity, percent of population 65 years of age and older, and indicators of socioeconomic status.³⁹ Researchers recently mapped social vulnerability and biophysical

vulnerability to identify communities at risk in the coterminous U.S., areas with high wildfire potential had, on average, *lower* social vulnerability to wildfires.

- Collaborate with local fire departments and forest services to identify areas vulnerable to wildfire.
- Work with local air quality control agencies to ensure that plans are in place for adequate monitoring of wildfire smoke, both at fixed stations and through low cost, portable monitors for rapid and localized monitoring as fires and winds shift.
- The data from these indices can be used alongside modeled air quality forecast data generated to develop maps of communities with vulnerable populations.
- Partner with local health care partners and facilities to develop systems for syndromic surveillance of smoke-related illness, and implement at the onset of a wildfire in your region or if smoke from afar is creating poor air quality (See Section <u>7.1—Surveillance</u>).
- After a wildfire, survey households using the Community Assessment for Public Health Emergency Response (CASPER) methodolog⁴⁰ (See Section <u>7.1—Surveillance</u>).

Intersectoral Collaboration

Collaborate with community-based organizations to inform vulnerable communities about climate impact projections for wildfire, and engage community residents in preparedness efforts. In addition, work with:

- Zoning departments to support land use policies that reduce development at the urban-wild land interface.⁴¹
- Building and code enforcement for strengthening building codes to ensure flame resistance for buildings in wildfire-prone areas.⁴²
- Local forest service to support smart forestry management, e.g. controlled burns and thinning to manage overcrowded forests, which are more susceptible to wildfires.⁴³
- Fire and air quality agencies to deploy air monitors that send information from the ground to satellites, which transmit real time data to web tools so people can remain informed about smoke levels and air quality during a wildfire.⁴⁴
- Social services and health providers to provide HEPA filters to individuals at high risk for smoke-related illness, as smoke can penetrate homes during wildfires.⁴⁵
- Local tribes to ensure Native communities know where shelters are located and how to access services following a wildfire.

Prepare for Wildfire Emergencies

Preparation for wildfire emergencies requires attention to what should happen before, during and after a wildfire event:

- Work with emergency management agencies to engage residents in neighborhood trainings including instructions on how to respond if a fire encroaches their property.
- Prepare evacuation and displacement plans. Include plans for shelters that are equipped to provide clean air, especially for vulnerable populations.

HEALTH IMPACTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE

- Establish and exercise plans to ensure that all community members receive information about evacuation orders and the location of shelters
- Plan for provision of fitted respirators and masks (P100 or N95)—and how to use them—for those in smoke-laden areas.
- When deciding on potential closures, consider pollutant levels inside schools and businesses and how they are likely to compare to those in homes—in some cases, schools may be safer for children.⁴⁶
- Consider strategies to provide home air filtration (e.g. HEPA filters) for high risk individuals.⁴⁷
- Coordinate with pharmacies to allow prescription refills for critical medications without renewed contact with physicians during emergencies.⁴⁸

Be ready to provide information and support after a wildfire:

- Connect clients and communities with evacuation and relief centers and financial resources to help cope after wildfires. Vulnerable communities and undocumented individuals and others may be hesitant to access services. For an example of assistance for undocumented families after a wildfire, see the <u>Undocufund site</u>.⁴⁹
- Work with social services and mental health agencies to assure access to mental health services, including for children.
- Provide guidelines for safely inspecting and reentering properties⁵⁰, and make this information readily available in emergency shelters, online, through media, in multiple languages, etc. Include information on health hazards associated with fire retardants and toxic ash, and about the potential for food contamination.⁵¹

Community Engagement and Education

Find opportunities to integrate mentions of climate change in materials and media messages for the public whenever relevant, to increase public awareness that climate change is a health issue. Opportunities include public health alerts, health advisory announcements, and educational materials and campaigns related to wildfires.

Wildfires

Original: Droughts and dry conditions throughout various times of the year increase the risk for wildfires. Careless use of fire in highly wooded areas can also dramatically increase the chance of a wildfire, which can then quickly spread across trees and dry brush and threaten homes and businesses that are in vicinity.⁵²

Modified: Droughts and dry conditions throughout various times of the year increase the risk for wildfires. *Wildfires are increasing in intensity in our area due to climate change.* Careless use of fire in highly wooded areas can also dramatically increase the chance of a wildfire, which can then quickly spread across trees and dry brush and threaten homes and businesses that are in vicinity.

- Provide guidelines, in multiple languages and via various media, on how to reduce smoke exposure including the following example recommendations:⁵³
 - Close up homes and buildings by shutting windows and doors
 - Set air conditioners to "re-circulate" settings to prevent smoky outside air from being drawn into the building
 - Use air cleaners and HEPA filters
 - Avoid vacuuming or other activities that can disperse dust
 - Reduce physical activity and drink plenty of fluids
 - Check the AirNow website (www.airnow.gov) for updated air quality information throughout the day as smoke patterns change due to wind and other conditions
 - Wear appropriate respirators and masks (P100 or N95) properly when outside or in smoke-laden areas and contact local emergency relief services for fitted respirators if needed.
- For clients and community groups in areas at greater risk of wildfire (e.g. in the WUI)
 - Educate clients about maintaining a "defensible" space clear of brush and trees.
 - Advise clients to create a personal and family emergency plan in case of evacuation from wildfire.
 - Create informational materials for parents and guardians of young children on the additional risks children face during and after a wildfire with information to protect them against smoke inhalation, chemical exposures, and other hazards.⁵⁴
 - Provide air quality notifications after a wildfire and urge communities to limit outdoor exposure in times of heavy smoke pollution.

Educate local clinicians on the health impacts of wildfires and how they can best protect patient and community health during wildfires. For more information see <u>*A Physician's Guide on Climate Change, Health and Equity.*</u>

For More Information

- <u>Oregon Health Authority Wildfires and Smoke Page</u> (includes patient care guides)
- <u>Washington Department of Health Wildfire Smoke page</u>
- <u>Centers for Disease Control Wildfire Emergency Response page</u>
- EPA's Air Monitoring Toolbox

4.4 Air Quality

"The risks from air pollution are now far greater than previously thought or understood, particularly for heart disease and strokes... evidence signals the need for concerted action to clean up the air we all breathe."

Dr. Maria Neira, Director, WHO Department for Public Health, Environmental and Social Determinants of Health¹

Climate Change Worsens Air Quality

- Climate change makes it difficult to attain national air quality standards for ground-level ozone, a major component of smog, because climate change is causing higher temperatures, which increase ozone formation, and increasing the frequency of stagnation events that create the worst ozone episodes.
 - Increased ozone levels due to climate change could result in thousands of additional illnesses and deaths per year in coming decades.²
- Climate change is increasing the frequency and intensity of wildfires, which can spread pollution and particulate matter over large distances, increasing the risk of premature deaths and respiratory and cardiovascular disease risks (See Section <u>4.3—Wildfires</u>).³
- As droughts increase in frequency and severity due to climate change, increased dust levels from dried soil worsens air quality.
- Climate change also impacts indoor air quality, as intensified storms and flooding lead to excess moisture and mold production.
- Air conditioner use increases with higher temperatures and more extreme heat days, causing increases in air pollution from fossil fuel based electricity production.

Air Pollution and Health

There are 133.9 million people in the U.S. exposed to unhealthy levels of air pollution, and 41% of people in the U.S. live in counties with unhealthy levels of ozone or particulate matter.⁴

- Poor air quality exacerbates existing respiratory illness including asthma.⁵
- Increased ozone levels due to climate change could result in thousands of additional illnesses and deaths per year in coming decades.⁶
- Air pollution exposure is associated with higher risks of cardiovascular disease and lung cancer, and may be related to both low birth weight and preterm birth.^{7,8}
- Poor air quality limits physical activity, which is important for cardiovascular and bone health, obesity prevention, and mental health.
- Mold exposure from flooding and excess indoor moisture is associated with upper respiratory tract symptoms, cough, and wheeze, and can exacerbate asthma.⁹

HOW CLIMATE CHANGE AFFECTS YOUR HEALTH



APHA, Climate Nexus 2016

Air Quality and Health Equity

- **Poverty:** Low-income households and communities of color are more likely to have neighborhood characteristics that increase exposure to climate change-related air pollution, such as proximity to roadways and polluting industries, lack of green space, and urban heat islands.
 - Those living in areas with a median household income of \$20,000 or less experience rates of emergency room visits and hospitalizations for asthma that are four times higher than those in areas with a median income greater than \$100,000.¹⁰
 - Low-income households, people of color, and non-English speaking and foreign-born persons are more likely to live near busy roadways, and therefore face worse air quality.
 - Lack of adequate coverage and health care can result in poorly managed disease for those with respiratory or cardiovascular illness.
- **Race and Ethnicity:** In the U.S., 11.2% of African Americans are currently diagnosed with asthma, (compared to 7.7% of Whites) and have an ED visit rate for asthma three times higher than Whites.¹¹ Nearly 1 in 2 Latinos live in counties frequently violating clean air and ozone standards, exacerbating air quality issues, and Latino children are twice as likely to die from asthma as non-Latino Whites.^{12,13}
- **Age:** Children are particularly sensitive as their respiratory systems are developing and air pollution can cause permanent damage.
- **Chronic Illness:** Individuals with pre-existing chronic conditions, such as asthma, other respiratory disease, and cardiovascular disease, are at greater risk of disease exacerbation due to air pollution.
- **Health Insurance:** Lack of adequate coverage and health care can result in poorly managed disease for those with respiratory or cardiovascular illness.
- **Outdoor Work:** Outdoor workers—particularly those engaged in strenuous physical activity—may face higher risks due to air pollution.^{14,15}

What Local Health Departments Can Do

See Sections <u>6—Programs</u> and <u>7—Functions</u>

Assessment and Surveillance

Identify and collect data to map air quality and identify key sources of air pollution. Collaborate with community based organizations and "community scientists" to use portable air quality monitors to learn about air quality in the community and enhance air quality monitoring. See the <u>EPA Air Sensor Toolbox</u> (See Section <u>7.1</u>—<u>Surveillance</u>).¹⁶

Intersectoral Collaboration

Work with local and regional air quality agencies:

• Support strong air quality plans that tackle both air pollution and greenhouse gas emissions, for example through providing health data and communications support.¹⁷

- Develop an emergency and early warning system for communities at highest risk for increasing episodes of poor air quality with climate change:
 - Collaborate with environmental justice and other community groups to plan the warning system.
 - Prepare text and social media alerts in multiple languages to warn vulnerable individuals that air pollution levels are high so they can reduce their exposure and ensure they have needed medication.¹⁸
- Work with the air district and local community-based organizations to deploy inexpensive real-time air monitors that will provide online data on regional air pollution levels and more detailed information about air pollution "hot spots."
- Support and encourage city and county efforts to increase energy efficiency and renewable energy. Advocate for programs to allow lower-income homeowners and renters to benefit from rooftop solar and energy efficiency programs.
- Work with local and regional transportation and planning agencies to reduce transportation-related pollution, including from goods movement (See Section <u>5.1—Transportation</u>).
 - Promotion of energy efficiency in both new and existing buildings.
 - Promotion of the switch from natural gas to electricity for space and water heating in buildings.
 - Expansion of urban heat island reduction and air quality improvement strategies such as tree planting and other urban greening, cool roofs, and cool pavements.
- Collaborate with parks, public works, and community-based organizations to increase the number and diversity of less allergenic trees planted in your jurisdiction and improve other urban heat island reduction strategies, to reduce local air pollution and heat-related ozone increases (See Section <u>5.4</u>—<u>Urban Greening</u>).
- Work with local schools and school districts to reduce traffic-related air pollution exposure near schools:¹⁹
 - Adopt anti-idling policies for school buses, passenger vehicles and delivery trucks.
 - Site new schools away from traffic and in locations that enhance opportunities for biking, walking, and taking public transit to school
 - Plant trees to reduce air pollution and provide shaded places for students to be active and socialize, and consider use of trees and vegetation as barriers between schools and busy roadways.
 - Upgrade filtration systems used in classrooms.
 - Locate air intakes away from pollution sources
- Implement policies in your department (and encourage your jurisdiction to do the same across agencies) that reduce vehicle-miles-travelled for field staff and reduce automobile commuting for all staff (See Section <u>5.1—Transportation</u>).

Prepare for the Air Quality Impacts of Climate Change

- Develop an emergency and early warning system for communities at highest risk for increasing episodes of poor air quality with climate change:
 - Collaborate with environmental justice and other community groups to plan the warning system.
 - Prepare text and social media alerts in multiple languages to warn vulnerable individuals that air pollution levels are high so they can reduce their exposure and ensure they have needed medication.²⁰
 - Messages should include clear instructions to reduce exposure (i.e. stay indoors and limit physical activity).
 - Collaborate with local media sources to broadcast information on where the public can go for air quality-related information; broadcast air quality conditions, information to reduce impacts and related illness exacerbation, and encouragement to check on vulnerable neighbors and family members.
- Prepare plans for clean air shelters and disseminate information about clean air shelters to individuals who are at high risk of serious health complications from extended periods of poor air quality.

Community Engagement and Education

Look for opportunities to integrate mentions of climate change in materials and media messages for the public whenever relevant, to increase public awareness that climate change is a health issue. Opportunities include public health alerts, health advisory announcements, and educational materials and campaigns related to air quality. For example:

Air Quality

Original: Air pollution comes from a variety sources, including industrial sources, transportation, farming practices and even natural sources. Air quality on any given day is also impacted by a complex set of factors involving the weather and how pollutants interact with each other in the atmosphere.²¹

Modified: Air pollution comes from a variety sources, including industrial sources, transportation, farming practices and even natural sources. Air quality on any given day is also impacted by a complex set of factors involving the weather and how pollutants interact with each other in the atmosphere, *and by climate change that is causing more pollen and more very hot days that increase air pollution*.

- Conduct public awareness campaigns in multiple languages and via various media and educate clients on the rising risks of poor air quality due to climate change.
- Encourage walking and biking on less busy roadways—even a block away from busiest roadways has less pollution.²²
- Advise clients with asthma or other respiratory illness to check the <u>Air Quality Index</u> every day for unsafe ozone and particulate levels. Talk to clients about adjusting their activities and recreation when air quality is bad. For clients who smoke, encourage them to quit and provide resource support.
- Educate local clinicians on the health impacts of climate change and air quality and how they can best protect patient and community health during bad air days. For more information see <u>A Physician's Guide</u> on <u>Climate Change, Health and Equity</u>. Encourage clinicians to have <u>posters</u> in their facilities regarding climate change and asthma in children and adults.

For More Information

- American Lung Association State of the Air Report
- EPA Clean Power Plan site and Factsheet
- <u>Sneezing and Wheezing—NRDC report on climate change, allergies, asthma and air quality</u>
- <u>US Climate and Health Assessment, Chapter 3: Air Quality Impacts</u>
- <u>APHA and CDC fact sheet on air quality and climate change</u>

Interagency Collaboration: Multnomah County Health Department

Multnomah County Health Department (MCHD) in Oregon has a long-term focus on equity and a history of working with community-based organizations on place-based health initiatives, and with the regional land use and transportation planning organization and other agencies on climate adaptation. Many of MCHDs community partners work in environmental justice communities that are disproportionately vulnerable to climate health impacts.

In early 2016, MCHD built on an existing partnership with the Coalition of Communities of Color (CCC) to launch the Healthy Environments Data Indicator Project (HEDIP), in collaboration with Portland State University Planning Department. The project grew out of a request to improve community capacity to work with MCHD in designing health and environmental data collection, analysis, and tools of greater use to the community.

HEDIP created a climate and health tool that uses an interactive story board to display a series of brief narratives that accompany county maps of 20 indicators in four vulnerability domains: 1) demographics, 2) socioeconomic status, 3) existing health burden, and 4) air pollution from point sources. The indicators were also combined into a single score that was used to rank and map climate and health vulnerability for each of the 171 Multnomah County census tracts. CCC provided input into indicator selection and display. In a facilitated training with four CCC climate and environmental justice member organizations, MCDH reviewed the HEDIP findings and discussed the use of data to support policy and systems change.

Key Action Steps:



- Establish partnerships with local CBOs that represent communities that bear a disproportionate burden of climate and/or environmental impacts. (See Section <u>7.2—Engagement</u>)
- Seek input from community partners on indicators, and share data and information to build CBO capacity to understand and use data to engage in local planning and policy advocacy.
- Translate climate and health vulnerability assessments into accessible, understandable formats.
- Use data to inform local and state policymakers about health vulnerabilities relevant to policy.



CCC developed and piloted two community-led climate and health workshops that covered climate, health, and justice concepts, and used the HEDIP tool to educate policy makers about the importance of addressing the needs of disadvantaged communities in state climate policy. These conversations informed the discussion of a proposed "Healthy Climate Bill" (SB1574) that would create a carbon trading market linked with GHGE reduction goals, and direct a portion of carbon auction revenues to projects that benefit disadvantaged communities. HEDIP served to illustrate a potential mechanism to identify disadvantaged communities.

During this time, MCDH, CCC, and other stakeholders identified air pollution as a key priority. Further analysis by MCDH determined that transportation-related pollution and residential wood smoke burning contributed more pollution than point sources in Multnomah County. These analyses—with other HEDIP data—informed development of neighborhood climate and health profiles and policy briefs, and were used by MCDH to provide input into Multnomah County's analyses of 30 state legislative bills.

Future Work and Lessons Learned

MCHD continues to translate data into action, using the Integrated Transport and Health Impact Modeling Tool (ITHIM) to inform the Regional Transportation Plan (See Section <u>7.1—Surveillance</u>). MCHD is now an active participant in an interdepartmental workgroup convened by the County Office of Sustainability to update and implement the county's climate action plan, and is providing technical assistance on the use of HEDIP climate vulnerability maps. For example, Transportation and Emergency Management are using the maps to inform planning efforts.

Learn More

<u>Multnomah County Climate Vulnerability Maps</u>



4.5 Allergens

Climate change affects the start, duration, and intensity of global pollen seasons, and causes increases in other air pollutants and respiratory illnesses that exacerbate asthma¹

Climate Change Increases Allergen Exposures

• Increasing temperatures lead to earlier and longer pollen and allergy seasons, due to more frost-free days and earlier and longer flowering seasons. Since 1995, the season for ragweed pollen—one of the most common outdoor allergens—has lengthened by over 20 days in some parts of the U.S. (See Figure 4.5.1)²

Figure 4.5.1: Change in Ragweed Pollen Season, 1995–2015³



- Higher carbon dioxide levels and more winter precipitation cause greater plant growth, resulting in increased pollen production and potency.⁴ This will increase the allergenicity of trees commonly found across the U.S.
 - Annual birch pollen production and peak values are expected to be 1.3–2.3 times higher from 2020–2100.⁵

- Exposure to allergy-inducing molds the allergencity of which can also increase with higher CO₂ levels—may increase as more frequent and severe extreme storms lead to more flooding.⁶
- Higher temperatures increase production of ozone, which sensitizes the respiratory tract to allergens.⁷
- Carbon dioxide enhances production of the chemical (urushiol) in poison ivy and poison oak that causes contact dermatitis; carbon dioxide also increases the spread in growth of these allergenic plants.

Health Impacts of Allergens

Hay fever, asthma, and eczema are the three major allergic diseases associated with exposure to pollens from trees, weeds, grasses, molds, and other indoor allergens.⁸ Nearly 40% of urban populations and close to 25% of rural populations in the U.S. are sensitive to outdoor allergens.⁹ The prevalence of hay fever in the U.S. rose from 10% in 1970 to 30% in 2000.¹⁰ Allergies are a significant contributor to work and school absence and the 6th most costly chronic disease in the U.S., with healthcare expenditures of about \$21 billion annually.¹¹

Allergens and Health Equity

- **Housing:** Poor housing construction and maintenance can increase exposure to pollen or mold.¹²
- **Poverty:** People living in poverty may lack health insurance coverage for allergy management. Low-income communities and households have fewer resources for home rehabilitation to prevent mold growth following flooding.¹³

Climate Change Impacts on Asthma and Allergies

Three main exposures affect asthma and allergies: pollution, pollen, and mold.



Ambient Air Pollution

Climate change increases the amount of airborne pollutants in the environment. Ambient pollutants include particulate matter, carbon monoxide, oxides of nitrogen, and volatile organic compounds. When sunlight combines with oxides of nitrogen and volatile organic compounds, increased ozone levels result. People with asthma are more susceptible to the effects of ozone and also have increased responses to allergens after ozone exposure. In addition to asthma, it is important to note that these exposures are associated with adverse cardiovascular effects.

Pollen

Longer warm seasons result in longer pollen seasons and, therefore, longer allergy seasons. Higher temperatures, changes in precipitation, increased carbon dioxide levels, and changes in plant growth patterns all contribute to a longer and more intense allergy season. For example, higher carbon dioxide levels increase pollen levels and pollen potency. Longer and more intense pollen seasons have negative effects on the respiratory system, especially among those with allergies or asthma. This is particularly true of ragweed season.

Mold

Mold growth is related to increased storms, precipitation, flooding, temperatures, and humidity. Mold is a hazard that can harm our health by decreasing the air guality in home, school, and work environments. Mold can cause respiratory irritation and is a common trigger for asthma and allergies. Reactions to mold exposures are an especially troublesome problem for people with asthma or weakened immune systems.

This document is made possible by assumption of understanding between the American Public Heith Association and conAmerica.

- **Race and Ethnicity:** African Americans tend to have higher rates of allergic sensitization compared to Whites.¹⁴
- Working Conditions: Outdoor workers face increased exposure to pollen and to allergenic plants. Lowwage workers without paid sick leave face job and economic loss if required to miss work due to allergies or asthma.¹⁵
- Asthma or other Chronic Respiratory Illness: Exposure to aeroallergens can trigger asthma symptoms.¹⁶
- Air Pollution: Ozone causes airway sensitization, so people living in areas with high ozone levels may be at higher risk.¹⁷

What Local Health Departments Can Do

See Sections <u>6—Programs</u> and <u>7—Functions</u>

Assessment and Surveillance

- Collaborate with other agencies and organizations to improve pollen monitoring in your jurisdiction.¹⁸
- Prepare an online forum for community scientists in your jurisdiction to report the timing of pollen production in their neighborhood. This data can then be cross-referenced with data on tree cover and air quality to identify vulnerable areas.¹⁹

Intersectoral Collaboration

Collaborate with public works, parks and recreation, urban forestry, planning, and community based organizations—including local botanic gardens, arboretums, and horticultural societies—to establish policies for preferential planting of less allergenic trees and plants, and for planting a variety of trees so that people are at less risk of an allergic response to a particular pollen.²⁰ Consult with allergy specialists and work with public works and local tree-planting groups to ensure that allergenicity is a tree-selection consideration.

- Many cities favor planting of male trees to avoid tree-litter on sidewalks, but it is male trees that produce pollen.²¹
- Consider a pollen control ordinance (as in Las Vegas, Albuquerque, Tucson) to prohibit planting or sale of highly allergenic plants.²²
- Support policies that reduce air pollution, which exacerbates respiratory illnesses and the impacts of allergens. Ozone, the key pollutant associated with climate change, may be the major driver of pollutant/ pollen interactions.²³

Community Engagement and Education

Look for opportunities to integrate mentions of climate change in materials and media messages for the public whenever relevant, to increase public awareness that climate change is a health issue. Opportunities include public health alerts, health advisory announcements, and educational materials and campaigns related to allergens. For example:

Pollen

Original: Ragweed pollen is dominant in the fall and blooms from Mid-July to September.²⁴

Modified: Ragweed pollen is dominant in the fall and blooms from Mid-July to September. *Rising temperatures associated with climate change can lead to longer and more severe ragweed seasons*.

- Educate clients and communities—in multiple languages and via various media—on the rising risks of allergens, and how to minimize exposures, reduce allergy symptoms, and manage asthma.
 - Check pollen levels frequently—individuals can sign up for free alerts at <u>National Allergy</u> <u>BureauTM</u>.
 - For clients with asthma, <u>check ozone levels</u>.
 - For individuals with allergies: The best times to be outdoors are when pollen levels are lower, typically on rainy, cloudy, and windless days. Keep windows closed during allergy season to prevent pollen from drifting inside; drive with car windows closed. Shower after time outdoors, to remove pollen that can collect on your skin, clothes, and hair.
- Provide opportunities for community scientists to participate in pollen and asthma monitoring. For example, Louisville's Asthmapolis project tracks asthma attacks using a mobile network of smart inhalers; city staff are mapping attacks to see correlations with tree cover, air quality, and heat islands.²⁵
- Use home visits to educate clients about allergens, mold prevention, and climate change, and to assess housing conditions. Provide referrals to low-income weatherization services (e.g. better sealing of windows).
- Educate local clinicians about climate change and allergies and how they can best protect patient and community health. See <u>A Physician's Guide on Climate Change, Health and Equity</u>. Encourage local clinicians to put up <u>posters</u> in their facilities regarding the impact of climate change on allergies.

For More Information

- <u>American Academy of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology</u>
- EPA report on climate change and allergens
- <u>US Climate and Health Assessment, Chapter 3: Air Quality Impacts</u>
- <u>Sneezing and Wheezing—NRDC report on climate change, allergies, asthma and air quality</u>
- <u>APHA and ecoAmerica's fact sheet on climate change, allergies, and health</u>

4.6 Sea Level Rise

Climate Change Increases the Risk of Sea Level Rise and Related Flooding

- Globally, under moderate emissions scenarios, sea levels are expected to rise 0.3–0.6 feet by 2030, 0.5–1.2ft by 2050, and 1.0–4.3ft by 2100.¹ The rate of sea level rise is now greater than in at least the last 2,800 years.
- Sea level rise in the U.S. will vary along the country's coastlines:² Under all scenarios, the Northeast and Gulf of Mexico coastlines are expected to see greater sea level rise than the global averages, while the Pacific Northwest and Alaska are expected to see less under low and moderate sea level rise scenarios.
- Rising sea levels in the U.S. will increase the frequency and extent of coastal flooding with hurricanes, Nor'easters, and other coastal storms.

Health Impacts of Sea Level Rise

Health risks associated with rising sea levels include:

- Increased risk of waterborne illness, vector born disease, and indoor mold growth^{3,4} (See Section <u>4.7</u>—<u>Storms and Flooding</u>).
- Displacement of communities living in coastal areas, increasing their risk of related mental health problems.
- Increased salinity of groundwater basins and well water:
 - Higher salinity in drinking water has been associated with increased blood pressure and kidney disease, and higher risk of preeclampsia.^{5,6,7}
 - Reduced crop yields in agricultural areas, impacting food security.⁸
 - Changes in the growth of microorganisms and vectors that use water as breeding grounds, with potential impacts on waterborne and vector borne illness.⁹
- Impacts on hazardous material sites, with risk of community exposure to toxic materials.¹⁰
- Inundation of coastal wastewater and water treatment facilities in the event of storms and storm surge.¹¹
- Ground, surface and drinking water contamination from inundation of septic systems, especially in rural areas.¹²
- Impacts on coastal tourism through damage to beachfront property and beaches, with significant economic and job losses.¹³

Sea Level Rise and Health Equity

- Geography: Populations that reside in coastal areas are most impacted by sea level rise.
- **Poverty:** Low-income households are less likely to have disaster insurance, less able to recover from flooding and property loss associated with sea level rise, and have fewer resources to relocate.¹⁴
 - Residents of areas with failing public waste and water infrastructure, lack of protective barriers (e.g. seawalls), and poor public transit are more vulnerable to flooding and may face evacuation challenges.

- Low-income communities and households lack funds for adaptation responses, such as elevating roads or costly remodels to elevate homes, which could lessen the risk of displacement and its associated health impacts.¹⁵
- Communities with poor housing quality and building ventilation are at increased risk of indoor air pollution from excess moisture and vector borne disease due to lack of window screens.
- Low-income communities are disproportionately impacted by food and water price increases due to sea level rise impacts on drinking water and crop yield.
- **Gentrification and displacement:** As flooding from sea level rise becomes more common, wealthier homeowners are moving to higher ground, displacing lower income communities that have historically been redlined from beachfront neighborhoods.¹⁶
- **Tribal Communities:** Indigenous communities that practice subsistence farming and fishing are particularly vulnerable to the impacts of sea level rise—including saline intrusion—on crops and freshwater ecosystems, and of fisheries collapse.¹⁷ Coastal inundation also threatens important indigenous cultural and archaeological resources.¹⁸
 - 98% of Isle de Jean Charles—the home of a Biloxi-Chitimacha-Choctaw community off the coast of Louisiana—has been lost to sea level rise. Tribal leaders are working with local organizations to create community-based resettlement strategies that emphasize community cohesion and traditions, youth engagement, and sharing experience with other coastal communities facing similar challenges.¹⁹
- **Chronic Illness:** Individuals with illnesses such as asthma or other respiratory conditions are more vulnerable to indoor air pollution and mold illness from excess moisture or flooding.²⁰
- **Individuals with Disabilities:** Cognitive, hearing, physical, and mobility impairments may impede safe evacuation during flooding events.²¹

What Local Health Departments Can Do

See Sections <u>6—Programs</u> and <u>7—Functions</u>

Assessment and Surveillance

Collaborate with other agencies to understand projections for sea level rise, saltwater intrusion, and flooding due to groundwater inundation and storm surges. Work with local emergency management, public works, water agencies and coastal conservation agencies and organizations to develop maps of flood-prone coastal areas and at-risk critical infrastructure in your jurisdiction. Visit these websites:

- NOAA's Sea Level Rise Viewer²²
- <u>FEMA flood maps</u> (Note that many of FEMA's maps underestimate flood risk as they are based on historical flooding and do not incorporate sea level rise projections)^{23,24}

Identify at-risk populations: Social vulnerability indicators for sea level rise include poverty, gender, race and ethnicity, age, disabilities, housing, and transit/transportation access.²⁵ See the sea level rise vulnerability assessment conducted by the Florida Health Innovation Institute.

Intersectoral Collaboration

- Coordinate with other agencies to fully understand and be ready to implement the flood emergency response plan.
- Parks, Public Works, Emergency Management, and community groups to implement a green infrastructure plan to reduce storm water runoff and flooding risks and to protect waterways and sewage lines from debris and pollutants (See Section <u>5.4—Urban Greening</u>)
- community based organizations and planning agencies in most vulnerable neighborhoods to develop long-range planning for sea level rise
- Planning and Public Works to assess road infrastructure and ascertain the need for planning to reroute or elevate critical roads (e.g. those providing access to a hospital, power plant, etc.)
- vector control agencies to plan for enhanced mosquito monitoring following flooding and with rising ground water and sea level rise
- local tribes to ensure Native American communities access shelter and services following flooding and in light of sea level rise, including "managed retreat" and antidisplacement measures to protect people now living on higher ground



Flood damage on December 22, 2010 in downtown Laguna Beach, California. Rodenberg Photography / Shutterstock.com



Water coming over the streets in Kemah during Hurricane Harvey Cire notrevo / Shutterstock.com

- local water agencies to monitor permit requests for new or deeper wells and limit excessive draws on local groundwater basins that increase vulnerability to salt water intrusion²⁶
- local emergency management, public works, planning, fish and wildlife, and coastal conservation agencies, and community based organizations to protect reefs, sand, coastal wetlands restoration, and other natural barriers that reduce erosion and protect coastal areas from storm surges.

Prepare for Storm Surge and Flooding Related to Sea Level Rise

See Section <u>4.7—Storms and Flooding</u> and Section <u>6.5—Preparedness</u>

- Prepare and exercise a coastal flooding, storm surge, and sea level rise contingency plan in coordination with agencies that manage critical waste and water infrastructure and with health care facilities at risk of flooding.
- Ensure evacuation and shelter plans address the needs of vulnerable populations.

Community Engagement and Education

Look for opportunities to integrate climate change in materials and media messages for the public to increase public awareness that climate change is a health issue. Opportunities include public health alerts and advisories and educational materials related to sea level rise. For example:

<u>Seawater</u>

Original: Some coastal wells in Washington are now unusable because of seawater intrusion. This is particularly true in coastal areas where high population growth has placed increased demands on groundwater supplies.²⁷

Modified: Some coastal wells in Washington are now unusable because of seawater intrusion, *which is associated with sea level rise due to climate change*. This is particularly true in coastal areas where high population growth has placed increased demands on groundwater supplies.

- Develop and implement a plan for community engagement and participation in sea level rise vulnerability assessments and planning.²⁸ Folly Beach, South Carolina included community input from vulnerable neighborhoods in preparing the city's Sea Level Rise Adaptation Report.²
- Conduct public awareness campaigns—in multiple languages and via various media—and educate clients and communities on risks related to rising sea levels, and how to stay safe and healthy during and after extreme flooding events.
- Engage residents in community science initiatives such as the Urban Tides Community Science Initiative.
- Develop resources to explain how to properly address in-home dampness and flooding, tenant and landlord responsibilities, and how to select a professional contractor. See the Extreme Storms and Flooding section for more details.³⁰
- Advise community members to create a personal and family emergency plan in case of evacuation from flooding and connect them with resources to cope with displacement.
- Educate local clinicians on the health impacts of sea level and how they can best protect patient and community health in the face of sea level rise and coastal flooding. For more information see <u>A</u> *Physician's Guide on Climate Change, Health and Equity.*

For More Information

- NOAA's Sea Level Rise Viewer
- <u>APHA and CDC factsheet on flooding, climate change, and health</u>

A Framework for Action: San Francisco Department of Public Health

The San Francisco Department of Public Health (SFDPH) launched its <u>Climate & Health Program</u> in 2010 with funding from the <u>CDC's Climate Ready</u>. <u>States and Cities Initiative</u>. The first step in the <u>BRACE</u> <u>framework</u> is to anticipate climate impacts and assess vulnerability. SFDPH completed assessments for extreme heat events (2013) and <u>flooding and</u> <u>extreme storms</u> (2016), a <u>climate and health profile</u> exploring the major health impacts of climate change, preparedness plans for extreme heat and storm/ flooding emergencies, and a health co-benefits analysis of the county's climate action plan.

To assess public health preparedness, Climate and Health program (CHP) staff surveyed SFDPH leadership to better understand perceptions of climate impacts and capacity to implement adaptations, reviewed SFDPH strategic planning documents to identify opportunities for departmental action, and assessed climate vulnerability of SFDPH facilities.

From Assessment to Action

In 2017, CHP shifted from assessment to action with the release of its <u>Climate and Health Adaptation</u> <u>Framework</u>. The Framework provides "a starting



San Francisco's Climate and Health Adaptation Framework 2017

an Francisco Department of Public Health

point to engage San Francisco's diverse City and community stakeholders in designing solutions that reduce health disparities and climate health impacts... a tool to begin conversations about how best to adapt to the health impacts of climate change." It includes the prior vulnerability assessments, indicators of climate risk, an overview of SFDPHs capacity to address climate and health, and proposed strategies and activities to reduce risk and promote health equity in the era of climate change.

The Framework outlines over 70 interventions, including working with other city departments to develop an in-building leak audit program for low-income homes, and evaluating the effectiveness of public information services in extreme weather events. Equity is a guiding principle in the work of SFDPH, and the Framework explicitly addresses the disproportionate burden of climate and health impacts on low-income communities and communities of color.



Future Work and Lessons Learned

SFDPH is developing a Climate and Health Outreach Plan to increase engagement with residents and community based organizations to prioritize adaptation strategies that respond to the concerns of vulnerable communities. Climate and health champions have been identified across SFDPH programs, and SFDPH is bringing their expertise into efforts to improve collaboration with twelve City departments. One proposal is the development of a unified climate and health message for use across multiple City climate initiatives.

Former climate and health program director, Cyndy Comerford shared, "the most successful partnerships have been with organizations and city departments that share our view that climate change is a systems issue, connected to transportation, food, energy, health care systems, and beyond."

Learn More

- San Francisco's Climate and Health Adaptation Framework: 2017
- San Francisco Climate Change & Health Program
- San Francisco Department of Public Health
- San Francisco County CalBRACE Climate and Health Profile

Key Action Steps:



- Conduct a climate and health vulnerability assessment that can form the foundation for a climate and health profile, preparedness plans, community engagement strategies, and recommendations for action.
- Work with LHD program and agency partners to establish a strategic plan to address climate change, health, and equity.
- Use the plan to advance community engagement in prioritizing action on climate, health, and equity.

4.7 Storms and Flooding

Climate Change Increases the Risk of Extreme Storms and Flooding

Extreme precipitation events occur when the air is almost completely saturated, which can occur more quickly at higher temperatures, so extreme evens are likely to increase in intensity by about 6% to 7% for each degree Celsius of temperature increase.¹

- As the U.S. has many geographic regions, future changes in seasonal average precipitation will be variable depending on season and geography. Overall, high-latitude regions are projected to become wetter, subtropical areas drier, but there is significant uncertainty regarding the U.S. middle latitudes.²
- The number of extreme precipitation events is expected to increase by two to three times historical averages in every U.S. region by 2100, with the highest increases expected in the Northeast.³
- Due to climate change, global precipitation patterns are likely to become more variable into the future, with extremes becoming more extreme, which can lead to additional vulnerability. ⁴

Health Impacts of Extreme Precipitation

- Extreme storms directly cause injury and death due to trauma and drowning.
 - Although the official count due to Hurricane Maria is 64 fatalities in Puerto Rico, some analysts place the actual number at over 4,000.⁵
- Extreme storms and flooding can disrupt medical care, particularly for those with chronic illness. Three days after Hurricane Maria, only 3 hospitals on Puerto Rico were functioning, and 40% were still running on generator power two months after the storm.⁶ Two major hospitals were evacuated during Super Storm Sandy, and several were not yet fully operational a year after the storm.
 - A third of deaths after Hurricane Maria were attributed to delayed or interrupted health care, and many residents reported inability to access medications and lack of electricity for respiratory equipment.⁷
- Extreme storms can disrupt critical infrastructure, including electricity, sanitation, water treatment, food refrigeration, communications systems, and transportation.⁸ Months after Hurricane Maria, close to 50% of homes on Puerto Rico were still without power, nearly 50% of the island's sewage treatment plants did not have electricity to operate, and over 300,000 Puerto Ricans still lacked access to clean water.^{9,10,11,12}
- Mold exposure and related mold illness post-flooding may increase due to excess indoor moisture and is associated with upper respiratory tract symptoms, cough, and wheeze, and can exacerbate asthma.¹³
- Water-borne illness risks increase due to exposure to sewage or water treatment systems overflow, or skin wounds and fungal infections from exposure to flood waters.¹⁴
- Heavy rainfall is frequently followed by a proliferation of mosquitos, increasing the risk of vector-borne illnesses particularly in warmer climates.¹⁵
- Flooding from storms can contaminate ground and surface water resources with runoff from hazardous and superfund sites.¹⁶

- Use of diesel generators during power outages can impact air quality. Improper use of generators in enclosed spaces caused 15 deaths due to carbon monoxide poisoning after Hurricane Sandy.¹⁷
- Extreme precipitation can lead to erosion and dangerous mudslides, increasing risk of injury and death, as seen in Montecito, CA when heavy precipitation caused destructive mudslides and over 20 fatalities in January 2018, following the largest wildfire in California history that charred much of the area's soil in December 2017.¹⁸
- Extreme precipitation and flooding cause displacement—which poses risks associated with injury, exposure to contaminated floodwaters, and loss of medications—and property loss.¹⁹ An estimated 1.5 million fled their homes after Hurricane Katrina, and some estimate that hundreds of thousands were never able to return.²⁰ Damage to the Oroville Dam following severe rains caused the evacuation of over 100,000 people for two days.²¹

Extreme Precipitation and Health Equity

- Failing and Aging Public Infrastructure: Lack of investment in secure transportation or protective barriers leaves residents vulnerable to flooding and poses barriers for evacuation. Inadequate or failing water treatment and sewage systems—especially combined sewer overflow systems increase the risk of contamination after floods and storms.
- **Poverty:** Low-income communities are disproportionately underinsured for extreme weather events and often lack access to emergency credit to recuperate from property loss. As climate change increases the frequency and severity of extreme weather

Extreme Storms – and Mental Health: Hurricane Katrina

Exposure to extreme weather events, such as floods, hurricanes and wildfires, is associated with a range of mental health impacts, including post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), depression, anxiety and suicide, increased rates of substance abuse, and interpersonal violence.²² Mental health impacts persisted long after Hurricane Katrina and its immediate aftermath were over.

- In some impacted areas, prevalence of PTSD rose from 15% a few months after the hurricane to 21% a year later. During the same timeframe, the proportion of people with suicidal thoughts more than doubled: from 2.8% to 6.4%.²³
- Veterans with preexisting mental illness were 6.8 times more likely to develop additional mental illness after the disaster, as compared to those without a preexisting mental condition.²⁴
- Hope abounds: One study found that two-thirds of those who experienced increased rates of PTSD and psychosis one year after the storm no longer displayed symptoms of psychological distress three years afterwards, while some others even reported "post-traumatic growth," or the feeling that surviving the hurricane made them stronger. These findings suggest the importance of long-term support for survivors of climate change-related disasters.²⁵

HOW CLIMATE CHANGE AFFECTS YOUR HEALTH



APHA, Climate Nexus 2016
events, insurance prices will rise and continue to move further out of reach for low-income individuals and communities.²⁶ Four out of 5 homes damaged by Hurricane Harvey lacked flood insurance.²⁷

- **Homelessness:** Homeless people often occupy areas near creeks or rivers, making them more vulnerable to storms and floods.²⁸
- **Substandard Housing:** Poor housing quality and ventilation increase the risk of indoor air pollution and most from excess moisture.
- **Legal Status:** Undocumented families are not eligible for FEMA assistance and even those who are eligible may fear applying. Immigrants may also have concerns about accessing evacuation shelters and other relief services due to inadequate cultural and linguistic competency of service providers, and undocumented immigrants may fear legal repercussions of seeking services.²⁹
- **Chronic illness:** Extreme storms can interrupt treatment for chronic illnesses due to displacement, power outages, stressed health systems, and high-demand for medical supplies.^{30,31}
- **Individuals with Disabilities:** People with disabilities have high rates of illness, injuries, or death during extreme events, as cognitive, hearing, physical, and mobility impairments may impede safe evacuation.
 - Emergency information and instructions are not always accessible for those with disabilities that affect communication, and individuals with disabilities can have challenges communicating their needs in an emergency or evacuation situation.^{32,33}
 - Power outages can impair electrically powered medical equipment and elevators, preventing some from evacuating or leaving them without necessary treatments.³⁴

"When patients with cardiac health issues face evacuation due to flooding, fire or other natural disasters, a spike in stress and anxiety levels may be only the beginning. For sudden, jarring, life-changing events—like that of Hurricane Harvey in Texas and Louisiana this past week—can markedly disrupt months or years of steady treatment and control of heart disease and other conditions."

American Heart Association³⁵

- **Race and Ethnicity:** African Americans households faced slower recovery from Hurricane Katrina compared to comparable white households, and recent studies have revealed higher rates of mental illness among Hurricane Katrina survivors who were African American, low-income, and between the ages of 18 and 34, especially single mothers.^{36,37}
- Age: Almost half of the deaths resulting from Hurricane Katrina were people over the age of 75, and over 10% of total deaths occurred in nursing homes.³⁸
- Women and Children: Extreme storms, flooding, and related stress can negatively impact pregnancies and disrupt related care, while children are susceptible to severe mental health impacts³⁹ Globally, women are injured and die more often from extreme events.⁴⁰

San Francisco Department of Public Health⁴⁴

The San Francisco Department of Public Health (SFDPH) conducted a flood health vulnerability assessment in order to focus resources on and design interventions for vulnerable populations. SFDPH included indicators on socioeconomic and demographic, exposure to flooding, pre-existing health conditions, and housing quality (see the table below). To obtain data, the department used results from the American Community Survey and from other local agencies, such as the San Francisco Public Utilities Commission, California Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, the 2015 San Francisco Homeless Count, the San Francisco Police Department, and the San Francisco Fire Department.

Indicators ⁴⁵
Age: Percent of residents who identify as under 18 and over 65
Percent of residents who do not identify as white
Percent of residents below 200% of the federal poverty rate
Percent of residents over 25 with at least a high school degree
Percent of households with adults who do not speak English
Percent of land in 100-year flood plain with 36in of sea level rise
Percent of land projected to have over 6in of precipitation during a 100-year storm
Minimum Elevation
Adult hospitalization rate due to diabetes
Adult hospitalization rate due to asthma
Adult hospitalization rate due to schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders
Percent of residents who report a physical disability
Homeless population, per 1000 residents
Annual housing violations, per 1000 residents
Percent of residents who report living alone

66



LHD Spotlight continued

What Local Health Departments Can Do

See Sections 6—Programs and 7—Functions

Assessment and Surveillance

- Collaborate with local emergency management, public works, and other agencies to collect and share data to conduct a flood vulnerability assessment:
 - identify flood-prone areas and areas in need of updated infrastructure to reduce flood risk. 0
 - 0 identify critical infrastructure vulnerable to floods and storm surges.
 - identify neighborhoods with social vulnerability to floods. Social vulnerability indicators used 0 in one index created specifically for hurricanes included poverty, gender, race and ethnicity, age, and disabilities.41
- FEMA offers flood maps searchable by specific addresses, though flooding from Hurricane Harvey demonstrates that many of these maps are out of date.42,43

Intersectoral Collaboration

- Collaborate with other agencies to ensure that your jurisdictions' hazard mitigation and response plans incorporate climate impact projections for storm surge and precipitation and adequately address flooding from extreme storms and/or storm surge.⁴⁶ Coordinate with other agencies to fully understand and be ready to implement the flood emergency response plan.
- Collaborate with Parks, Public Works, Emergency Management, and community groups to develop and implement a green infrastructure plan to reduce storm water runoff and flooding risks and to protect waterways and sewage lines from debris and pollutants (See Section <u>7.5—Greening</u>).



Flooding in Minot, North Dakota DVIDS, 2011

- Collaborate with community-based organizations to inform vulnerable communities about climate impact projections for storm surge, precipitation and flooding, and engage community residents in flood resilience and preparedness.
- Work with local organizations and health care institutions to implement a voluntary registry for those with physical, mental, and sensory disabilities to preauthorize emergency response personnel to enter their homes during search-and-rescue operations.⁴⁷
- Collaborate with vector control agencies to assure availability of increased mosquito monitoring following extreme precipitation and flood events.
- Work with local tribes to ensure Native communities know where shelters are located and how to access services following flooding and extreme storms.

Prepare for Extreme Storms and Flooding

- Develop a flood warning alert system for areas at risk:
 - Prepare boil water orders and other alerts in multiple languages so they are ready to issue to various media outlets and through text alerts and/or social media.
 - If landslides or debris flows have occurred previously in your jurisdiction, prepare messaging and resources for communities to prepare for a potential future event.⁴⁸
 - Evaluate use and effectiveness of public information services during and after extreme weather events.⁴⁹

- Prepare plans for shelters with backup power sources and ensure the needs of vulnerable populations are taken into consideration; disseminate shelter information to at risk groups including older adults, pregnant women, those with chronic illness who require medications, and low income communities.⁵⁰
 - Ensure all shelters and emergency centers are accessible to and comfortable for individuals with physical and mental disabilities.
 - Connect individuals with local shelters that provide safe spaces, especially for LGBTQ individuals who are at higher risk of harassment and assault.
 - Prepare <u>information sheets</u> for families in shelters on the potential for health outcomes from flooding and mental health impacts from stress and displacement, including how to find services.
 - Ensure local wastewater treatment facilities that may be vulnerable to flooding have prepared response plans.
 - Work with social services and mental health agencies to assure access to mental health services.
- Collaborate with health care facilities and systems to increase flood resilience and plan for extreme storm and flooding events.
 - Develop a plan for how medical care will continue if flooding impacts health care facilities. For example, coordinate with pharmacies to allow refill prescriptions for people with chronic illness, even if unable to contact the prescribing physician, during emergencies.⁵¹
 - Advocate for integration of design features in new health facilities that foster resiliency to flooding, for example:⁵²
 - Elevation of first floor above projected flood elevation and placement of critical patient care functions above first floor
 - Placement of all critical mechanical/electrical infrastructure on the roof and/or above flood elevations
 - Use of green roofs to reduce storm water discharge
- Assure that chronically ill patients, their communities, and their providers have contingency plans during and after disasters.⁵³
- Make sure evacuation strategies address the needs of all members of the community, including those without access to automobiles, non-English speakers, and people with disabilities.

Community Engagement and Education

Look for opportunities to integrate mentions of climate change in materials and media messages for the public whenever relevant, to increase public awareness that climate change is a health issue. Opportunities include public health alerts, health advisory announcements, and educational materials and campaigns related to storms and flooding. For example:

Flood Advisory

Original: Heavy rain causes floodwaters to rise and pool on streets and throughout neighborhoods. In these situations, be aware of the following...⁵⁴

Modified: Heavy rain causes floodwaters to rise and pool on streets and throughout neighborhoods. *As climate change increases the potential for more intense storms and related flooding, we need to be even more prepared.* In these situations, be aware of the following...

- Conduct public awareness campaigns—in multiple languages and via various media—and educate clients and communities on the rising risks of extreme weather due to climate change, health risks, and how to stay safe and healthy during and after extreme events.
- Advise clients to create a personal and family emergency plan in case of evacuation from an extreme storm or flooding. Educate clients about the potential for flooding following wildfires and discuss the potential need for flood insurance.⁵⁵
- Develop resources to explain how to properly address in-home dampness and flooding, tenant and landlord responsibilities, and how to select a professional contractor.⁵⁶ Use home visits to provide guidelines for reentering homes after flooding:⁵⁷
 - Remind individuals to NEVER turn power on or off or use an electric tool or appliance while standing in water.
 - Provide information about the risks of sewage contamination and mold for individuals whose homes are flooded,
 - Educate individuals on indoor air quality concerns following flooding. Provide information on mold prevention and treatment options, including preventing mold by washing surfaces with water and detergent and wearing an N95 mask while treating mold.⁵⁸
 - Provide safety guidelines for drying out and cleaning flooded homes
- Educate local clinicians on the health impacts of extreme storm events and how they can best protect patient and community health during storms and flooding. For more information see <u>A Physician's Guide</u> on <u>Climate Change, Health and Equity</u>.



Seawater Inundation Following Hurricane Ike on the Bolivar Peninsula, Texas NOAA, 2008

For More Information

- EPA's Flood Resilience Checklist
- <u>CDC Flood information</u>
 - <u>Cleanup, Mold, Landslides and Mudslides</u>
- FDA Food and Water Safety during floods (English, Spanish)
- EPA Green Infrastructure and Managing Flood Risk information
- <u>US Climate and Health Assessment, Chapter 4: Extreme Events</u>
- <u>APHA and CDC factsheet on flooding, climate change, and health</u>
- <u>APHA, American Psychological Association, and ecoAmerica factsheet on climate change and mental</u> <u>health</u>

4.8 Nutrition and Food Security

Food security is "access by all people at all times to enough food for an active, healthy life."¹ It requires that a stable, nutritious food supply is available and accessible to all communities to nourish themselves.

Climate Change Threatens Food Security^{2,3}

- Crop yields are reduced by extreme heat, drought, and extreme weather events, all of which are increasing in frequency and severity due to climate change.⁴ Warmer temperatures also cause higher ground-level ozone concentrations that cause millions of tons of crop losses each year.⁵ Warmer temperatures are leading to fewer "chill hours", required for production of avocados, nuts, and tree fruits.⁶
- Higher temperatures and drought associated with climate change can cause heat stress and illness in livestock, reducing milk and egg production.⁷
- Declining fish yields due to overfishing and ocean dead zones are further impacted by ocean acidification from with rising carbon dioxide levels.
- Warmer temperatures increase the growth of *Salmonella, Camphylobacter, Rotavirus*, and various *Vibrio*, and harmful algal blooms, increasing the risk of food contamination.⁸
- Increased atmospheric CO₂ reduces the nutritional value of crops such as barley, sorghum, soy, wheat and rice by reducing their protein and micronutrientscontent.⁹
- Extreme weather events can disrupt transportation of food products, disrupting food supply chains and increasing loss due to spoilage.¹⁰
- The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) estimates that global food production will decrease by 2% per decade, while global food demand increases by 14% per decade.¹¹ Climate change has increased the number of malnourished children by 7–20% globally.¹²

Agricultural Systems Drive Climate Change

See Section <u>5.3—Agriculture</u>

- In 2016, agriculture contributed about 9% of the country's total greenhouse gas emissions¹³ (See Figure 4.8.1).
- When fertilizer use, refrigeration, transportation, and land use changes are taken into account, our food and agriculture systems account for about a third of all global GHGE.¹⁴ The typical American meal includes ingredients from at least five other countries, contributing to transportation GHGE, especially if food is shipped by air.¹⁵
- Expansion of agricultural lands can lead to deforestation and soil degradation, removing important carbon sinks.¹⁶



Figure 4.8.1: Annual Greenhouse Gas Emissions Per Capita Associated with U.S. Food Production in 2010 (kg CO_2 -eqis kilograms of carbon dioxide equivalents)¹⁷

Health Impacts of Food Insecurity²²

Food insecurity includes under-consumption (of nutrients, fruits, vegetables, and protein in developing nations) and overconsumption of low-cost, high-calorie, low-nutrient foods. Under-consumption negatively impacts development and diminishes physical capacity.²³ Over-consumption is a major contributor to development of chronic diseases such as obesity, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes.

- In 2014, 37.9% of adults and 20.6% of adolescents in the U.S. were obese.²⁴
- About 1 in every 4 deaths in the U.S. is the result of heart disease (approximately 610,000 people annually).²⁵

Food Waste¹⁸

Forty percent of food produced in the United States goes uneaten. That's 62.5 million tons of food. Households generate 43% of all food waste. Meanwhile, there were 42.2 million people, including 13.1 million children, who did not have enough food in 2015.¹⁹ In landfills, these organic materials are broken down by bacteria to produce methane, a potent greenhouse gas (GHG).²⁰ Diversion of food waste from the landfill to better uses, including safe food donation, addresses two critical health issues—food insecurity and climate change.²¹

- 9.4 percent of the U.S. population (30.3 million people) has diabetes, and 84.1 million have prediabetes.²⁶
- Overconsumption of red and processed meat is associated with increased risk of heart disease, stroke, Type 2 diabetes, certain cancers, and premature death.²⁷
- Good nutrition is essential to healthy pregnancy, nursing and newborn outcomes.



Pigs in a Concentrated Animal Feeding Operation (CAFO) USGS, 2005

Organic Farm in California Public Domain

Food Security and Health Equity

- **Poverty:** Low-income people have less ability to absorb rising food prices and may be forced to choose between food and other necessities. Food insecurity is associated with higher risks for diabetes and hypertension.²⁸
- **Food Deserts:** According to 2000 data, 13.5 million people in the U.S. have low access to a supermarket, 82 % of whom live in urban areas.²⁹ In these areas, the impacts of climate change on food security and health are further exacerbated by lack of access to healthy foods.
- Race and Ethnicity: Food insecurity is more common in people of color and those living in poverty. According to the USDA, 12.3% of U.S. households were food insecure in 2016: 22.5% of African American households, 18.5% of Hispanic households, 10.7% of other, non-Hispanic households, while only 9.3% of White households.³⁰ As of the 2014 National Agricultural Workers Survey, 80% of U.S. farmworkers identify as Hispanic and only 53% had work authorization, leaving many members of this community vulnerable to economic impacts of climate change on U.S. agriculture.³¹
- **Tribal Communities:** Many indigenous communities practice hunting, subsistence farming and fishing, and are thus vulnerable to climate change impacts on local game, farming and aquatic habitats. Rising sea levels will also threaten freshwater and saltwater fishing habitats for many indigenous coastal communities.³²
- **Occupation:** Agricultural workers are often undocumented and poorly paid, and at risk of climate-related illness. Declines in crop yields result in job and economic losses for agricultural workers and farming communities. Warmer temperatures are expanding the territory of certain crop pests, leading to higher use of toxic herbicides and pesticides and associated risks of pesticide-related illness.³³ Farmworkers engage in heavy labor even during extreme heat. Repeated dehydration may be the cause of epidemic chronic kidney disease of unknown etiology in agricultural communities around the world.³⁴
- **Pregnant Women:** Nutrition is essential to healthy pregnancy, nursing and newborn outcomes; poor nutrition is associated low birth weight and other adverse outcomes.³⁵

What Local Health Departments Can Do

See Sections <u>6—Programs</u> and <u>7—Functions</u>

Intersectoral Collaboration

- Collaborate with agencies, schools, and local institutions (e.g. hospitals) to support adoption of food procurement policies that healthy food systems.
- Work with planning, public works, agricultural agencies, regional farmers and land trusts, and community organizations:
 - Promote urban and peri-urban agriculture and agricultural land conservation.
 - Establish farmers markets, including allowance of SNAP EBT, and support other farm-to-fork programs
- Collaborate with planning agencies to ensure the local General Plan includes food access considerations, and promote zoning that supports farmers markets, healthy food retail outlets, and community gardens.³⁶
- Partner with schools and school districts:
 - Develop programs to reduce meat served in school meals—e.g. "Meatless Mondays"
 - Support and encourage prevention of food waste and composting of food waste in school cafeterias
 - Establish school gardens
 - Work with local farmers, agricultural commissioners, and community organizations to establish and expand farm to school programs
 - Integrate climate change into lessons about nutrition
- Collaborate with academic agricultural researchers and local agricultural organizations to educate growers and agricultural operations about agriculture-climate change-health connections.
- Provide health data and considerations to support advocacy for subsidies for fruits and vegetable farming and for reduced federal subsidies for commodity crops.
- Collaborate across public health and environmental health programs to reduce food waste and improve safe surplus food donation.
 - Train environmental health specialists on climate change, food waste, and food insecurity using, for example, the Safe Surplus Food Donation Best Management Practices.³⁷
 - Disseminate information on food waste reduction—for example the Safe Surplus Food Donation Toolkit—during routine food facilities inspections.³⁸
 - Integrate education about date labels and food waste into WIC and NEOP materials and outreach/ education programs. See the Save the Food Campaign.³⁹
 - Work with local food policy councils, businesses, and Environmental Health to reduce food waste and increase surplus food donation to local nonprofit hunger relief organizations.

Community Engagement and Education

Look for opportunities to integrate climate change in materials and media messages for the public whenever relevant, to increase public awareness that climate change is a health issue. Opportunities include public health alerts and advisories and educational materials related to food and nutrition.

Community Health Needs Assessment

Original: While most report little or no difficulty, 17.4% of Metro Area adults report that it is "very" or "somewhat" difficult for them to access affordable, fresh fruits and vegetables.⁴⁰

Modified: While most report little or no difficulty, 17.4% of Metro Area adults report that it is "very" or "somewhat" difficult for them to access affordable, fresh fruits and vegetables,. *This is a growing concern as climate change impacts local agriculture and may increase food insecurity.*

- Educate communities, stakeholders, and policy makers about the impact of climate change on food security and nutrition and actions with climate and health benefits.
 - Educate communities on the food-climate change connection, and on the climate and health benefits of reduced meat consumption and sustainable local food systems (urban farms, farmers markets, community gardens, organic food)
 - Encourage clients and community residents to reduce meat consumption and increase consumption of fruits and vegetables; buy locally and sustainably produced food and develop backyard and community gardens, and reduce food waste at home and when eating out.
- Educate food handlers about climate change-related increased risk of food contamination and how to maintain hygiene in food preparation under conditions of extreme heat and water shortages.
- Educate health care providers on the health impacts of climate change and food systems and how to protect patient and community health. See <u>*A Physician's Guide on Climate Change, Health and Equity.*</u>

For More Information

- <u>Re-Fed: Reducing Food Waste</u>
- <u>USDA's Creative Solutions to Ending School Food Waste</u>
- Feeding America's Map the Meal Gap resource
- NRDC's Save the Food Campaign
- Equitable Development Toolkit: Local Food Procurement
- Sample Policy: Los Angeles Good Food Purchasing Policy
- <u>US Climate and Health Assessment, Chapter 7: Food Safety, Nutrition, and Distribution</u>
- <u>Aligning Food System Policies to Advance Public Health</u>

The Health Benefits of Climate Action

Taking action to address climate change can have significant health benefits that present important opportunities for addressing key public health issues. These health benefits are often referred to as "cobenefits." "Cobenefits are the public health (or other) benefits associated with GHGE reductions, independent of reductions to global warming."¹ Cobenefits provide a framework for intersectoral partnerships and increased support for climate mitigation.

5.1 Transportation

Transportation systems determine how people and goods get from place to place, and impact access to jobs, school, and essential services and resources. Today's transportation system causes injury and illness from air pollution, motor vehicle collisions, sedentary behavior, noise, and stress. Current land use, transportation, and housing patterns have increased our dependence on automobiles. Historical investments in road infrastructure and inadequate investments in public transit and bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure have resulted in a vehicle-centric transportation system that will require investment and behavior change to become a healthy and climate-friendly transportation system.

Key Messages

- Transportation is the largest source of GHGE in the U.S., accounting for 28.5% of emissions.
- Low-income families spend more of their income on transportation, have more exposure to vehicle pollution, and are at higher risk of injury and death due to collisions.
- Car-dependent land use, housing and transportation patterns increase sedentary lifestyles, increasing premature mortality and many chronic disease risks.
- Reduced car use is a priority, yielding significant health and climate benefits, such as increased physical activity and reduced emissions.
- Reduce transportation-related emissions through low and zero emission vehicles, low carbon fuels, and clean freight, also reduces respiratory and cardiovascular disease

Transportation and Climate Change

The transportation sector is now the largest (and fastest growing) source of U.S. GHGs; in 2016, it caused 28.5% of all U.S. GHG emissions.² The majority (82.7%) of U.S. transportation-related GHG emissions are attributable to cars, light-duty trucks, and heavy-duty freight vehicles.³ Other GHGE sources include cement production and roadway impacts on deforestation.⁴

TRANSPORTATION AND DESIGN Impacts on Climate Change and Health



Driving releases harmful pollutants into the environment. People both inside and outside the vehicle are exposed.

CLIMATE IMPACTS: Increases Traffic, Increases Pollution

HEALTH IMPACTS: Decreases physical activity

Increases chronic disease risk Worsens existing chronic disease

MASS/PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION

Many people can be transported at once via mass transit, reducing vehicles on roads. This form of transportation also encourages walking between stops and destinations.

Reduces Traffic, Reduces Pollution

HEALTH IMPACTS: Increases physical activity (slightly) Increases safety, Decreases stress Increases social Interaction



Walking, biking, and rolling to the places we need to go is termed active transportation. People who have options to reach their destinations without driving can have more active lifestyles. Active lifestyles promote healthier lives.

CLIMATE IMPACTS: Reduces Traffic, Reduces Pollution

HEALTH IMPACTS: Increases physical activity, Decreases chronic disease risk, Decreases stress, Increases social Interaction



APHA, American College of Sports Medicine, Climate for Health, ecoAmerica 2017

Transportation and Health

Too little physical activity is associated with heart disease, stroke, diabetes, obesity, osteoporosis, depression and all-cause mortality. As of 2017, only one-third of people in the U.S. regularly achieved recommended moderate physical activity levels.⁵ Exposure to traffic related air pollutants increases the risk for heart disease, asthma and other respiratory disease, cancer, premature death, adverse birth outcomes, diabetes, and affects lung and brain development in children.⁶ Motor vehicles crashes are the top cause of injury, disability, and death in the U.S. for 5–24 year olds.⁷ Long commutes and traffic increase stress and isolation from family and community.⁸ Pavement contributes to urban heat islands (See Section <u>5.4—Urban Greening</u>).⁹

Transportation and Health Equity

Low-income individuals and people of color are more likely to live near busy roadways and face disproportionate impacts of motor vehicle pollution.^{10,11} Low-income people, people of color and children face greater risk of death and injury due to motor vehicle crashes.^{12,13} Low-income families often have few low-cost transportation options, and almost 30% of their income goes to transportation.¹⁴

Reducing Transport-Related Climate Pollution and Improving Health

One of the best ways to improve our health and reduce climate pollution is to spend less time driving cars and more time using "active transportation"—walking, biking, and using public transit. Modest shifts in travel mode from car travel to active transportation provide big reductions in chronic disease.

- Nearly 28% of all trips in urban areas are less than one mile, easy bicycling distance.¹⁵
- Walking, biking, and public transit must be safe to ensure that expanding active transportation doesn't lead to more injuries. In 2015, approximately 18% of automobile crash fatalities included pedestrians and bicyclists.¹⁶
- "Complete Streets" make streets friendly for all users; better road and sidewalk design, segregated bike lanes, lighting, shade, and bike parking make biking and walking safer and more pleasant.¹⁷
- Programs such as "Safe Routes to School" allow parents to feel that children can safely use active transportation to get to school.¹⁸

Due to the high cost of driving, low-income people are more frequent users of active transportation. Better service, safety, affordability, and accessibility allows low-income people, youth, seniors and the disabled better access to resources and opportunities. Free or discounted public transit fees for students also increase school attendance and decrease contact with the juvenile justice system.¹⁹

Zero-emission vehicles and hybrid low carbon vehicles reduce air pollution and climate pollution. Zeroemission vehicles (battery electric and hydrogen fuel cell) produce zero tailpipe smog-forming or greenhouse gas emissions. Using today's average U.S. electricity mix of renewable and non-renewable resources, an electric car will cut harmful carbon pollution by about half compared to the average new vehicle.²⁰

Low carbon fuel standards and automobile fuel efficiency standards reduce air pollution and climate pollution. The EPA's Low Carbon Fuel Standards Program 2017–2025 model year light-duty vehicles are projected to save approximately 2 billion metric tons of GHGs over the lifetimes of the vehicles; however, in May 2018, the EPA proposed a roll back on these cleaner car standards.^{21,22}



Traffic Jam in NYC joiseyshowaa, 2011

Active Transportation Myleen Hollero

What Local Health Departments Can Do

Local health departments can play a critical role in moving toward a healthy, equitable, and climate-friendly transportation system.

Assessment and Surveillance

See Section 7.1—Surveillance

- Implement walkability and bikeability assessments, noting sidewalk width, shared and protected bike
 lanes, crosswalks and walk signs, aesthetics and shading, and connectivity and accessibility of sidewalks
 and bike routes.²³ Multiple tools are available to assess streetscape design and walkability, including the
 <u>Microscale Audit of Pedestrian Streetscapes-Mini Tool</u>.²⁴
- Conduct health assessments to identify health benefits and potential health harms of transportation policies and programs proposed during the development of city and county Climate Action Plans, General and Specific Plans, Regional Transportation Plans, Bike and Pedestrian Master Plans, and others.
 - The Clackamas County Public Health Division in Oregon partnered with the county's Department of Transportation and Development to conduct a Health Impact Assessment, which prompted the agencies to recommend that the county build more sidewalks, improve lighting along paths, and enhance safety mechanisms at cross-walks.²⁵
- Use available data to show the health impacts of transportation in your community, including the disproportionate impacts on children, low-income communities, and people of color.
- Use the Integrated Transport and Health Impacts Model (ITHIM) to quantify the health benefits and harms of different transportation planning scenarios or mobility goals and vehicle miles traveled reduction targets.²⁶
- Assess the health impacts and benefits of shifts in transportation technology and infrastructure, including shifts from gas and diesel motor vehicles and trucks to low or zero emission vehicles and anti-idling ordinances.²⁷

Intersectoral Collaboration

See Section 7.3—Collaboration

Collaborate with planners, zoning, transportation agencies, and school districts to support:^{28,29}

- Active transportation programs and infrastructure, including Complete Streets, safe routes to school, bike lanes, bike shares, segregated bike lanes, safe pedestrian sidewalks, traffic calming, and signage, lighting and shading on biking and walking paths.
 - In Alexandria, VA, the health department was part of a cross-agency partnership to implement a 58-step action plan to expand Safe Routes to School and eliminate all traffic-related fatalities and serious injuries by 2028.³⁰
 - In Helena, Montana, the local public health department collaborated with parks, public transit, and other community stakeholders to improve access to the trail system, creating a free trolley system for youth to access trails, pools, parks, libraries, and other activities.³¹
- Investments in transit infrastructure, maintenance, and access, including reduced transit fares/passes for students and low-income people.
- School siting in walkable, bikeable, transit-friendly locations.

Work with local planning, housing, transportation, and community development agencies and community- based organizations to support policies that encourage density and mixed land use to allow more people to live closer to jobs, schools, services, and parks, including infill and transit-oriented development.

- Anti-displacement measures and affordable housing are critical to ensure that low-income residents are not displaced through gentrification, as "smart growth" and new amenities may increase property values.³²
- Promote inclusion of trees, parks and green space, and space for community gardens.

Provide health evidence and data to support:

- Lower speed limits.
- Strengthening of low carbon fuel standards and vehicle efficiency standards.
- Strategies to increase the use of electric vehicles such as electrification infrastructure and financial incentives, including mechanisms that allow low-income populations to benefit from electric vehicle ownership, such as enhanced rebates and charging stations in multi-unit housing.³³

Community Engagement and Education

See Sections <u>7.2—Engagement</u> and <u>8—Communications</u>

- Educate communities on the health and climate <u>benefits of active transport</u> and provide resources regarding local bike share programs and bike lanes, walking paths, and public transit.³⁴
- Inform local decision makers about the connections among transportation, climate change, health, and equity.
- Promote pedestrian and bicycle safety

- Provide opportunities for community residents—especially youth and seniors—to conduct walkability assessments.
 - In 2007, the Iowa Department of Public Health developed a tool for local health departments across the state to use in assessing the walkability of their communities. Thirteen communities utilized the tool, and many of these communities went on to engage city officials on improving active transport infrastructure.³⁵
- Support community based organizations that advocate for active transportation

For More Information:

- Healthy, Equitable Transportation Policy: Recommendations and Research³⁶
- <u>Getting Involved in Transportation Planning</u>³⁷
- <u>APHA's at the Intersection of Public Health and Transportation³⁸</u>
- <u>APHA, American College of Sports Medicine, and ecoAmerica: Changing Climate through Healthy</u> <u>Community Design and Transportation factsheet</u>
- <u>APHA's Transportation and Health Case Studies</u>³⁹
- CDC, USDOT, and APHA's Transportation and Health Tool⁴⁰
- Partnering with Metropolitan Planning Organizations to Advance Healthy Communities⁴¹
- U.S. Climate and Health Alliance's State Policy Initiative, Transportation Resources⁴²



Coal Transport in Wyoming Kimon Berl, 2009

Children Learning About Solar Panels, Reno, Nevada Jessica Reeder/BlackRockSolar (CC BY 2.0)

5.2 Energy and Fossil Fuels

Electricity generation is responsible for 28% of U.S. greenhouse gas emissions (GHGE), almost all of which is associated with the burning of dirty fossil fuels (Figure 5.2.1).¹ Fossil fuels—coal, oil, and gas—are fuels that were formed when prehistoric plants and animals died and were gradually buried by layers of rock.² As of 2017, coal provides 30.1% of U.S. electricity, although its use is declining due to the cheap cost of natural gas.³ A significant reduction in our reliance on fossil fuels for transportation, electricity, heating and other uses of energy is vital to make progress in fighting climate change.

Key Messages

- Switching from coal combustion and other fossil fuels to clean, safe, renewable energy—like wind, solar and hydroelectric—is essential for our health and for the climate.
- Energy efficiency and clean renewable energy have substantial benefits for health, including reductions in asthma and other respiratory disease, cardiovascular disease and premature deaths.
- Energy production is the largest source of climate pollution in the U.S., responsible for nearly 1/3 of greenhouse gas emissions.
- Coal-fired power plants release 3.5 million tons of CO₂ per year, the most significant climate pollutant.
- Energy production is a major source of air, water, and soil pollution, and harms our health.
- Air pollution from burning coal causes over 13,000 deaths and 20,000 heart attacks in the U.S. each year.
- Increased energy efficiency (in homes, offices, and industry) allows us to meet our energy needs at lower cost and with less climate and air pollution.

4,500 4,000 3,500 3,000 petroleum and other 2,500 renewables nuclear 2,000 natural das Coal 1,500 1,000 500 Ò 1980 1990 2000 1960 1970 2010 1950 Note: Electricity generation from utility-scale facilities

U.S. electricity generation by major energy source, 1950-2017

Figure 5.2.1: Types of fuels used in electricity production

billion kilowatthours

Energy and Climate Change

Coal

Coal combustion is a major source of GHGE and of toxic air pollutants.⁴ Coal produces more carbon dioxide per unit of energy than any other energy source, producing nearly 68% of CO₂ from U.S. electricity production but only 30% of electricity.^{5,6} Coal mining releases methane—a potent short-lived climate pollutant with a global warming potential far higher than that of CO_2 —and contaminates land, water, and soil in nearby communities.⁷

Oil

Oil well exploration, offshore oil platform, and oil well production operations and refinery processes result in significant CO₂ and methane emissions.^{8,9,10} Transporting oil by truck, rail, or marine vessels also results in significant CO₂ emissions.¹¹

Natural Gas

Natural gas has been proposed as a "bridge fuel," producing significantly lower CO₂ emissions than coal.¹² But recent findings suggest that the methane released during the lifecycle of natural gas use may have a climate impact even greater than that of coal. Methane is a potent short-lived climate pollutant with a global warming potential far higher than that of CO₂.^{13,14} In 2011, leaks from high pressure natural gas pipelines resulted in emissions equivalent to 33.3 million metric tons of CO₂ (or the CO₂ emissions from 6-7 millions cars.¹⁵



The Aliso Canyon Gas Leak

In October 2015, the largest methane leak in U.S. history occurred at the Aliso Canyon natural gas storage facility in Los Angeles County, California, releasing over 100,000 metric tons of methane. Thousands of families were evacuated from their homes, and many nearby residents suffered from symptoms such as nausea and headaches that the Los Angeles County Department of Public Health (LADPH) linked to exposure to high levels of mercaptans—odorants used in natural gas.

Researchers at the University of Southern California School of Medicine have raised concern about exposures to contaminants and byproducts such as hydrogen sulfide, benzene, and other volatile organic compounds.

Renewable Energy

Across their life cycles, renewable energy sources produce significantly less greenhouse gases than fossil fuels. A study of new renewable energy resources implemented across the U.S. in 2013 found that these additions resulted in emissions reduced by 59 million metric tons of CO_2 equivalent and \$0.7 billion to \$6.3 billion in benefits for that year.¹⁷

Other Considerations

Globally, oil, gas, and mineral extraction account for an estimated 7% of deforestation in the subtropics, which releases stored CO_2 and removes an important global carbon sink.^{18,19}

Use of fossil fuel reserves must be limited to stay within 2°C warming

In order to have at least a 50% chance of staying within 2°C of global warming above pre-industrial levels, cumulative carbon emissions between 2011and 2050 need to be limited to 1,100 gigatonnes of carbon dioxide (Gt CO_2 ,). The emissions embedded in available fossil fuel reserves are around three times that amount. A recent study demonstrates that, "globally, a third of oil reserves, half of gas reserves and over 80% of current coal reserves should remain unused from 2010 to 2050 in order to meet a target of 2°C."

Energy and Health

A switch from dirty fossil fuels to renewable energy will result in significant reductions in illness and deaths.²¹ The U.S. Department of Energy's National Renewable Energy Laboratory found that states that reduced fossil fuel energy production through new renewable energy systems saw health benefits and savings.²² The full life cycles of these fuels includes extraction, processing, storage, transportation and use, each with significant climate, health, and equity impacts.

Coal

- Coal mining can cause significant water contamination and mudslides.^{23,24}
- Coal miners suffer from debilitating occupational hazards, such as black lung disease, injuries and fatalities.^{25,26}
- Coal is generally uncovered when stored or transported, resulting in significant increases in the concentrations of fine airborne particulates within 25 miles of the storage site or transportation line. Processing coal for export or use also creates coal dust.²⁷
- Coal air pollution is also associated with heart disease, asthma, and chronic lung disease, with the greatest impacts on children, the elderly, low-income communities, people of color, and communities downwind of power plants.^{28,29,30,31}
- Burning coal to produce electricity releases tons of toxic chemicals into the air, including nitrogen oxides, sulfur oxides and particulate matter (PM).³² Coal power plants are the largest single source of mercury that pollutes waterways and contaminates the fish we eat. It is a potent neurotoxin that can cause developmental problems and learning disabilities, particularly in fetuses and young children.³³
- The cumulative health costs of coal-based electricity in the U.S. have been estimated to fall between \$62 billion and \$523 billion annually.³⁴

Hydraulic fracturing—"Fracking"

As reservoirs of oil and gas continue to deplete, producers have turned to "unconventional" extraction methods such as hydraulic fracturing to tap reserves trapped in deep shale rock formations. Fracking releases significantly more methane than conventional extraction. The process requires huge quantities of water, which may enter surface and groundwater. Improper disposal of fracking water and inadequate treatment of wastewater can contaminate water used for drinking and crop irrigation. Workers at these sites are potentially exposed to chemicals in fracking fluids and high levels of crystalline silica



Fracking Wells, Pipelines, and Roads Deteriorating the Landscape Simon Frasier University, 2006

in frack sand. Unconventional extraction processes can destabilize geologic formations causing sinkholes and earthquakes. Sites are often constructed in previously unexploited environments, introducing air quality, toxics, and noise concerns for surrounding communities from industrial activity, construction, and diesel transport emissions.

Drilling and fracking involves over 900 products containing over 600 chemicals, few of which have been fully characterized from a toxicological perspective. Physicians for Social Responsibility and Concerned Health Professionals of New York released a Compendium that summarizes hundreds of studies on the health impacts of unconventional oil and gas extraction, ranging from air and water quality issues to worker health, noise, earthquakes, and radioactive releases.

Other Energy Sources

- Natural gas extraction, storage, and transport emit methane, large concentrations of which may displace oxygen, causing dizziness, weakness, nausea, and vomiting.³⁵
 - In the past 30 years there have been approximately 9,000 'significant' pipeline-related incidents across the U.S. with resultant 548 deaths, 2,576 injuries, and approximately \$8.5 billion in financial damages³⁶
 - Underground storage of natural gas presents risks of explosions, fires, routine toxic air-pollutant emissions, and leaks.³⁷
 - Gas extraction, storage, and combustion may also release benzene, which has been associated with leukemia, and other volatile organic compounds, which contribute to the formation ground-level ozone (smog).^{38,39}
- Oil production processes release cancer-causing and smog-forming chemicals and particulate matter including diesel exhaust and silica dust.⁴⁵
 - People living in fence-line communities near oil and gas drilling sites have higher risks for cancer, increased asthma attacks and other respiratory problems, and emerging evidence of increased risks of adverse reproductive and neurodevelopmental outcomes.^{46,47}
 - In 2010, oil refineries reported approximately 22,000 tons of hazardous air pollution to the Environmental Protection Agency.⁴⁸
- The use of nuclear power poses a very small risk of accidental releases of radiation, though accidental releases could be catastrophic.⁴⁹ Nuclear workers face risks from chronic low-level radiation exposure, with attendant cancer risks, and uranium miners have a high risk of lung cancer.⁵⁰

Energy and Health Equity

The greatest impacts of energy-related air pollution affect children, the elderly, low-income communities, people of color and communities downwind of power plants.

- Coal power plants are disproportionately located in low-income communities and communities of color; nearly six million African Americans live within three miles of a coal-fired power plant.^{65,66}
- Over 1 million African Americans live in counties that face a cancer risk above EPA's level of concern from toxins emitted by natural gas facilities.⁶⁷
- For many low-income families, "fuel poverty" due to high energy costs means choosing between paying for energy to cook, heat, or cool homes, versus other essential necessities such as food.⁶⁸
- Fuel poverty is associated with increased risk for cold-related illness, and use of unsafe heat sources that can cause carbon monoxide poisoning or fires.⁶⁹ Globally, lack of access to energy leads to 3.8 million premature deaths associated with household air pollution from burning solid fuels and kerosene for cooking.⁷⁰
- Concerns about high-energy costs may reduce the use of air conditioning during heat waves, increasing the risk of heat illness and deaths among low-income families. 18% of households below the poverty line do not have air conditioning).⁷¹

Health and Emerging Electricity Technologies

A transition to clean energy brings significant climate and health benefits because greenhouse gas emissions across the life cycle of renewables are far less than those from fossil fuels.^{52,53}

However, the potential health risks of emerging electricity technologies should not be ignored.

- Solar Photovoltaics
 - o Exposures to toxic dust and chemicals during material extraction and manufacturing stages, much of which occurs outside of the U.S.⁵⁴
 - o Disposal of solar photovoltaics (also likely to be offshored) may pose toxics exposure risks; research into safe and sustainable recycling and disposal is needed.⁵⁵
- Wind
 - o Current data does not support a causal relationship between wind turbine noise, infrasound, and vibration—symptoms common to reports of "wind turbine syndrome."
 - o Wind turbine noise exposure has been associated with sleep disruption and annoyance.
- Biomass
 - o Long-distance transport of biomass feedstocks entails diesel emissions related to goods movement that may be avoided with small, distributed systems.⁵⁷
 - o Alternative fates of feedstock—e.g. wildfire, open burning, or landfills—may be associated with health risks such as smoke exposure and displacement.⁵⁸
 - o Emissions from the energy conversion process pose health risks that have been inadequately characterized.⁵⁹
- Geothermal
 - o Occupational exposures to hydrogen sulfide are of concern.⁶⁰
 - o Leaks from liquid and solid waste streams may cause water contamination.⁶¹
- Storage Technologies
 - o Electrochemical battery storage systems require use of rare and potentially hazardous materials that pose both chemical and fire risks throughout their life cycle.⁶²

Emerging electricity generating and storage systems employ a myriad of workers across technology life cycles; more work is needed to ensure that these jobs are healthy and safe, provide career development, and pay living wages.⁶³

Utility scale facilities may offer community economic development opportunities, but these should not detract from efforts to reduce related air pollutant emissions, particularly in communities already burdened with poor air quality.⁶⁴

Just Transition

In order to equitably transition to decrease the country's reliance on fossil fuels, there must be policies for a "just transition" for workers currently employed in the fossil fuel industry.

"A just transition brings together workers, communities, employers and government in social dialogue to drive the concrete plans, policies and investments needed for a fast and fair transformation. It focuses on jobs, livelihoods and ensuring that no one is left behind as we race to reduce emissions, protect the climate and advance social and economic justice."⁷²

Strategies include investments to retain and create good jobs, modernizing industry, apprenticeship, education, training programs for renewable energy jobs, and providing assistance for any workers and families who may be adversely affected.⁷³ Chicago IBEW Local 134 is building a renewable energy training facility for IBEW electricians across the U.S. to train for jobs in the new green economy. The site will have wind, photovoltaic, building automation, and smart metering facilities and training programs.⁷⁴

Reducing Reliance on Fossil Fuel Energy

Switching from fossil fuels to clean, renewable energy is a critical path to the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions. Electricity generated from renewables releases about 1/20th the GHGE of coal over the full life cycle.⁷⁵ Advances in renewable energy technology have made renewable energy ever more cost-competitive and increased market shares.⁷⁶

- In 2016, renewable electricity accounted for 67% of U.S. electricity capacity additions, growing from 64% in 2015, and coal-fired plants accounts for 80% of facility closures.⁷⁷
 - U.S. wind energy increased by more than 11%, and U.S. solar energy increased by 52% in 2016.78

Energy efficiency and energy conservation are important for tackling climate change. They reduce the need for energy production and thus reduce GHGEs and air pollution, helping to reduce the health and climate impacts mentioned above.^{79,80,81}

- Energy efficiency also reduces energy costs and saves money, a benefit especially for those on fixed or low incomes.^{82,83}
- Programs are available to ensure that energy efficiency upgrades are available to those who need them the most: <u>Low Income Home Energy Efficiency Plan (LIHEAP)</u> and the <u>Weatherization Assistance</u> <u>Program (WAP)</u>.^{84,85}
- Key strategies for energy efficiency include zero net energy homes and commercial buildings; industry adoption of energy efficiency; deployment of energy-efficient appliances and light bulbs; strengthened energy efficiency standards for buildings and appliances.
 - Energy efficiency measures that tighten the building envelope need to ensure adequate ventilation to maintain healthy indoor air quality.

What Local Health Departments Can Do

Assessment and Surveillance

See Section <u>7.1—Surveillance</u>

Provide data, mapping, and analysis that layers health and social vulnerability information with information about current or projected air and water pollution related to fossil fuel use and production.

Conduct health impact assessments of proposals for new or expanded fossil fuel extraction, processing, storage, and transportation in your jurisdiction.

- The New York Department of Health conducted a review of high volume hydraulic fracturing that bolstered the Governor's decision to ban fracking throughout the state.⁸⁶
- Green River District Health Department in Kentucky completed an HIA on three proposed coal gasification plants to inform the community and policy makers on how job creation benefits compared to potential health impacts, including on low-income communities and other vulnerable populations.^{87,88}

Assess the health and safety risks of oil and gas extraction, processing, storage and transportation in your jurisdiction.

• Assess potential impacts of "beneficial reuse" of oil field produced water for the irrigation of food crops, watering livestock and recharging aquifers.⁸⁹

Analyze the health benefits of local and regional proposals to increase energy efficiency and shift to renewable energy, for example in city or county Climate Action Plans.

• A collaborative HIA by the Massachusetts Department of Public Health and Pioneer Valley Planning Commission assessed health impacts of implementing energy efficiency in municipal buildings.⁹⁰

Interagency Collaboration

See Section <u>7.3—Collaboration</u>

Provide relevant health data to inform communities and policymakers about the health impacts of local policies and standards that:

- Encourage increased energy efficiency and shift to clean renewable energy
 - Local community choice energy initiatives allow cities and counties the to aggregate energy demand, negotiate with suppliers, purchase more green power, reduce the cost of electricity, and provide power from local sources.⁹¹
- Reduce climate and air pollutants from electricity production, including methane leakage from natural gas.
- Limit expansion of fossil fuel based energy production.
- Increase access to information about the chemicals used in fracking or the transport of oil and coal.
- Establish a health and safety buffer zone between oil and gas facilities and sensitive "receptors" such as homes, childcare, clinics.

Encourage schools, health care systems, and local governments to purchase or install renewable energy, and connect them with resources on energy efficiency and renewables.^{92,93,94,95}

• Health care systems can join Health Care Without Harm's Health Care Climate Challenge.⁹⁶

Partner with housing, code enforcement, and home visiting agencies to improve access to measures that reduce climate vulnerability and increase energy efficiency, such as weatherization and energy assistance.

Work with emergency management agencies and local utilities to ensure no electricity shutoffs during heat waves.

Collaborate with local planners and community-based organizations to expand low-income energy retrofitting and weatherization programs, and to integrate healthy home components into those programs.

• King County, WA increased ventilation, moisture and mold control, carpet replacement, and plumbing repairs in homes visited by community health workers after adding a weatherization component to training.⁹⁷

Partner with schools, community college districts, unions, and local trade organizations and green industries to develop green job apprenticeship and pipeline programs.

• The Oakland, CA Green Jobs Corps provides green jobs training for young adults facing barriers to employment.⁹⁸

Collaborate with OSHA to address occupational health risks across the fossil fuel life cycle.

Community Engagement and Education

See Section <u>7.2—Engagement</u>

Share information about the health harms of dirty fossil fuel energy from coal, oil, and natural gas and the health benefits of clean energy with colleagues, clients, policymakers, and community.

Support community based organizations seeking a just transition to a low carbon economy, including engagement through HIAs on fossil fuel facilities and projects.

Provide referrals to services for energy efficiency and/or assistance (LIHEAP) and weatherization services and information on funding sources during home visits.

Implement community warning systems if there is a risk of release of toxic substances from oil and gas facilities, such as in Contra Costa County, CA.⁹⁹

For More Information:

- <u>Energy and Human Health</u>¹⁰⁰
- <u>The National Renewable Energy Laboratory's Retrospective Analysis of Renewable Energy Benefits in</u> <u>the U.S. 101</u>
- U.S. Department of Energy's Energy Efficiency Resources¹⁰²
- U.S. Climate and Health Alliance's State Policy Initiative, <u>Renewable Energy</u> and <u>Energy Efficiency</u>^{103,104}

5.3 Agriculture and Food Systems

Food and agriculture systems have significant impacts on climate change, the environment, and our health. Our food and agriculture systems account for approximately one-third of all U.S. GHG emissions and are driving increased consumption foods associated with chronic illness.^{1,2,3}



- Industrial agricultural practices are also associated with antibiotic resistance, water contamination, pesticide illness, and topsoil loss.^{12,13,14}
- Climate change will reduce worldwide food production through adverse impacts on crop yields and fisheries.¹⁵ This will increase food insecurity and associated risks of chronic illness and under-nutrition.

Agriculture and Climate Change

In 2016, agriculture was responsible for 8.6% of U.S. total GHG emissions, including 36% of the country's methane emissions.¹⁶

- Factoring in fertilizer use, food refrigeration, food transport, and agriculture-related deforestation and soil depletion, food and agriculture systems account for about one- third of all U.S. GHG emissions.¹⁷
- Food production and processing account for 17% of U.S. fossil fuel use.¹⁸ In the food industry, food production accounts for 83% of carbon emissions.¹⁹
- Nitrogen fertilizer accounts for ~80% of U.S. nitrous oxide emissions.²⁰



Cows feeding in large cowshed Official / Shutterstock.com

Urban Farming in San Francisco VitusKonter, 2010

- 40% of food (valued at \$165 billion) is wasted annually, and the 30 million tons of food that goes to landfills releases 23% of U.S. methane emissions.²¹
- Destroying rainforests for cattle feed is eliminating carbon reservoirs and watersheds.²²
- 1 kg beef equates to roughly the same GHGE emissions as 160 highway miles in a mid-size car.^{23,24}

Climate change is adversely impacting agriculture and food production (See Section <u>4.8—Food Security</u>).

- Extreme heat, drought, and precipitation and higher ozone levels decrease crop yields.^{25,26,27}
- Higher temperatures and drought reduce milk and egg production.²⁸
- Warmer temperatures increase the risk of food contamination.²⁹
- Increased atmospheric CO₂ reduces the protein and micronutrient content of key crops.³⁰
- Extreme weather events can disrupt food transportation and supply chains.³¹
- Global food production will decrease by an estimated 2% per decade due to climate change, while global food demand increases by 14% per decade.³²
 - Climate change has increased the number of malnourished children by 7–20% globally.³³

Agriculture and Health

Poor diet and nutrition are leading causes of illness and death, increasing diabetes, obesity, cardiovascular disease, and cancer.³⁴

- Only 1 in 10 U.S. adults eat the recommended amount of fruit and vegetables per day^{35,36}
- Access to healthy affordable food is limited for low-income households and communities, exacerbating health inequities.^{37,38}
- U.S. consumption of meat, high-fat, high-salt foods, and sugar has radically increased over several decades, driven by corn and soy subsidies.^{39,40}

- Industrial agricultural practices are associated with antibiotic resistance, water contamination, and pesticide-related impacts.^{41,42,43}
 - Nitrogen fertilizers and animal waste contaminate groundwater with nitrates, which is associated with "blue baby" syndrome.^{44,45,46}
 - Pesticides cause acute illness in farmworkers and their children, increasing cancer, reproductive defects, and neurological and cognitive deficits.⁴⁷
- Environmental and crop degradation from climate change and industrial agriculture increases risk for food insecurity, chronic illness and under-nutrition.⁴⁸

Climate Change, Meat Consumption, and Health

Meat consumption in the U.S. has doubled over the last century. Diets heavy in red and processed meat have been linked to higher rates of heart disease, stroke, Type 2 diabetes, obesity, certain cancers, and earlier death.⁴⁹

Meat production, processing, distribution and retailing accounts for 9% of U.S. and 15% of global GHG.⁵⁰ Animal agriculture accounts for 42% of agricultural emissions in the U.S.; worldwide, livestock accounts for between 14.5 percent and 18 percent of human-induced GHGE.⁵¹ A recent study found that there is an 8-fold difference in GHGE associated with vegetarian and meat-based individual diets, 72% of which is due to increased beef intake.⁵²

Industrial animal farming practices have devastating environmental impacts. Communities surrounding concentrated animal feeding operations (CAFOs)—frequently low-income communities and communities of color—often have poor air quality with high levels of hydrogen sulfide and ammonia and increased rates of asthma, respiratory illness, depression, and anxiety.⁵³ These operations are also associated with local water contamination from excessive nutrient runoff, antibiotics, and microbial pathogens.⁵⁴ CAFO antibiotic use accounts for 70% of U.S. antibiotics use and is a key contributor to increasing antibiotic resistance.^{55,56,57} A third of global arable land is used to grow animal feed, accounting for nearly 70% of the world's deforestation⁵⁸ In the U.S., crops such as corn and soybeans receive tens of billions of dollars in subsidies. The vast majority of these crops are used for feed in livestock operations.⁵⁹

Reducing meat consumption and eating a more plant-based diet could:60

- Reduce global mortality from chronic disease by 6–10%.
- Reduce food-related greenhouse gas emissions by 29–70%.
- Save \$1–31 trillion overall by improving diets.

Agriculture and Health Equity

Climate impacts will exacerbate lack of access to and affordability of safe water and fresh produce for many low-income families and communities of color.⁶¹

- Food insecurity increases as food prices rise; pushing low-income households to choose cheaper, lownutrient, processed foods associated with higher risks for diabetes, hypertension and obesity.^{62,63}
- Food insecurity is more common in people of color. In 2016, 12.3% of U.S. households were food insecure: 22.5% of Black households and 18.5% of Hispanic households versus 9.3% of White households.⁶⁴

Agricultural workers are at high risk for climate-related health impacts, such as heat illness and vector borne disease.⁶⁵

Declines in food production result in significant job and economic losses in farming communities.

• 80% of U.S. farmworkers identify as Hispanic and just over half are documented, leaving many members of this community especially vulnerable to economic and health impacts of climate change.⁶⁶

Indigenous communities that practice traditional hunting, subsistence farming and fishing are vulnerable to climate change impacts on game, farming and aquatic habitats, particularly in coastal communities where rising sea level threatens fishing habitats.⁶⁷

Reducing Food-Related Climate Pollution and Improving Health

Improvements in food production and distribution, reduced food waste and eating less meat will reduce climate and environmental pollution and improve health.

- The use of available sustainable agricultural practices (e.g. better crop management, reduced fertilizer use, soil and degraded land restoration, improved manure management, increased water efficiency) could reduce agricultural GHGE by 5–14%, while increasing soil productivity and carbon storage and reducing soil erosion and water contamination.^{68,69,70,71,72}
- Eating less meat and more fruits and vegetables would decrease greenhouse gas emissions and yield substantial health benefits.^{73,74,75,76,77}
- Reductions in the use of pesticides and antibiotics would reduce pesticide related illness and water contamination, improve worker safety, and decrease antibiotic resistance.⁷⁸
- Sustainable local food systems can reduce the use of fossil fuels in food transport, processing, packaging, and storage, increase access to healthy fruits and vegetables; build social capital, and improve mental health.⁷⁹ (See Figure 5.3.1)

Figure 5.3.1: Los Angeles Food Policy Council's Good Food for All Agenda⁸⁰



What Local Health Departments Can Do

Public health has a critical role in building healthy, equitable, sustainable, and climate resilient communities.

Assessment and Surveillance

See Section 7.1—Surveillance

Assess and map food insecurity and local/regional food system assets in your community. See: <u>CX3</u>⁸¹, Map the Meal Gap⁸², <u>Local Food System Asset Mapping⁸³</u>, and <u>Healthier Food Retail: Beginning the Assessment Process in Your State or Community.⁸⁴</u>

• Boulder, Larimer, and Weld Counties (CO) collaborated to assess local food systems in their rural regions, including marketing of agricultural products, shopping habits, food distribution, access to food, and nutrition assistance programs, and community gardens.⁸⁵

Intersectoral Collaboration

See Section 7.3—Collaboration

Collaborate with Environmental Health, Planning, agricultural agencies, school districts, businesses, institutions such as hospitals, and community-based organizations to support local and sustainable food systems, including:

- Expansion of community and school gardens, urban and peri-urban agriculture, farmer's markets, mobile fruit and vegetable vending, "farm-to-fork" programs, food hubs, and conservation of regional agricultural lands.
 - Prince George Public Health in Maryland started a farmer's market, collaborating with local parks, businesses, and media outlets to procure space and grants to cover vendors' liability insurance and WIC certification.⁸⁶
- Removal of legal and zoning barriers and promotion of incentives for businesses and organizations growing and selling healthy foods.⁸⁷
- Preservation of agricultural land and natural habitats.
- Sustainable agricultural practices such as water conservation, better management of livestock production, and practices that reduce soil degradation and the use of fossil fuel based inputs such as pesticides and synthetic fertilizers (e.g. a fee on nitrogen fertilizers).^{88,89,90,91}
- Reduction of federal subsidies for commodity crops (e.g. corn and soy) and increase in subsidies for production of healthy and sustainably grown foods.

Collaborate across departments and with other agencies and community organizations to increase access to affordable healthy foods.

- Expand the use of SNAP EBT and financial incentives at farmer's market coupons or mobile fruit and vegetable vendors.⁹²
 - In Kent County, Michigan, the health department supported the local YMCA in creating a "Veggie Van" to provide urban neighborhoods in Grand Rapids year-round, daily access to fruits and vegetables from local farmers, sold at reduced prices. The Veggie Van accepts EBT, SNAP, WIC, and Senior Project Fresh/Market FRESH benefits.⁹³

Encourage local health care providers and pharmacies to establish healthy food prescription programs that refer people to community resources to support healthy eating.⁹⁴

Encourage procurement of healthy and local foods by institutions such as hospitals, schools, businesses, and government agencies.⁹⁵ The Kentucky Department of Public Health created the "Better Bites" programs at three state department cafeterias to offer healthy, local meal options and smaller portion sizes, along with related trainings and educational resource.⁹⁶

Reduce food waste and food insecurity by promoting surplus food diversion and gleaning programs in collaboration with community groups.⁹⁷

- Increase donations of healthy and usable food from hospitals, restaurants, and groceries to food banks and pantries.⁹⁸
- Train Environmental Health Specialists on climate change, food waste, and food insecurity. Adapt and disseminate the Safe Surplus Food Donation Best Management Practices and the Safe Surplus Food Donation Toolkit for food facilities during normal routine inspections

Collaborate with Agricultural Extension and local agricultural organizations to educate growers and agricultural operations about agriculture-climate change-health connections.

Community Engagement and Education

See Section 7.2—Engagement

Inform the public and local decision-makers about the connections among food systems, food waste, climate change, health, and equity.

Conduct campaigns and programs with schools, businesses, agencies, and communities to reduce consumption of meat, processed foods, and sugar-sweetened beverages— for example "<u>Meatless Mondays</u>" and "<u>Rethink Your</u> <u>Drink</u>"—and to reduce food waste.^{99,100}

Work with community groups and stakeholders to implement and support a Food Policy Council.¹⁰¹

• The Cleveland Department of Public Health worked collaboratively with diverse stakeholders to create the Cleveland-Cuyahoga County Food Policy Coalition to build a just, equitable, healthy and sustainable food system through policy change and capacity building.¹⁰²

Train youth and community members to collect neighborhood level data on food quality, availability and affordability in low-income communities, using a tool such as CX3.¹⁰³

- Support use of data to inform policy makers and institutions about opportunities to improve local food system and healthy food access.
- Look for opportunities to integrate climate change into nutrition education, information on food insecurity, and materials that address meat consumption and food waste reduction.
 - San Luis Obisbo, CA integrated climate change education into its OutsideIn SLO nutrition materials.¹⁰⁴

For More Information:

- <u>Climate Impacts on Food Systems</u>¹⁰⁵
- <u>Sustainable Agriculture and Healthy Food Systems: A Resource Guide for Planners¹⁰⁶</u>
- Los Angeles Food Council's Good Food for All Report¹⁰⁷

5.4 Urban Greening and Green Infrastructure

Urban heat islands are areas in cities with many buildings, lots of dark surfaces such as pavement and asphalt, and fewer trees, parks, and green space.¹ In these "urban heat islands," daytime temperatures are on average 1-6°F higher than in surrounding more suburban and rural areas. Nighttime temperatures can be as much as 22°F higher as the heat is gradually released from buildings and pavement.² Climate change is projected to increase average summer temperatures and cause more frequent, more severe, and longer heat waves, worsening the effects of urban heat islands and increasing the risks of heat illness and deaths.³

Urban greening refers to strategies that increase trees, parks, gardens, agriculture, forests, and other green and natural space in urban areas, and green infrastructure uses vegetation, soils, and natural processes to manage and create healthier urban environments. Urban greening and green infrastructure can increase resilience to extreme heat and natural disasters while reducing other impacts of climate change, such as flooding, storm surges, and sea level rise.⁴

Key Messages

- The health risks of heat, air pollution and flooding are increasing as climate change brings warmer temperatures, more extreme weather events and sea level rise.
- These risks are greatest in "urban heat islands" and in places with aging infrastructure or where natural protections have been weakened.
- Urban greening reduces the risk of heat illness and flooding, lowers energy costs and improves health.
- Green spaces provide places to be physically active and improve our overall well-being.
- Trees sequester carbon dioxide, improve air quality, capture rainwater and replenish groundwater.

Green Infrastructure and Gray Infrastructure

Gray Infrastructure

Gray infrastructure refers to man-made structures such as storm sewers, levees, seawalls and detention ponds designed to move water or protect developed areas from flooding.⁵ These structures—often made of concrete— may increase water runoff, as surface water is unable to be filtered through soil.⁶ Increased runoff contributes to flooding during extreme rain events, and can increase the concentration of pollutants in runoff.⁷ Gray infrastructure retains heat from the air, contributing to the urban heat island effect and increasing nighttime air temperatures (Figure 5.4.1).⁸

Green Infrastructure

Green infrastructure includes: tree planting, rain barrels and rain gardens, green street design with permeable pavements and bioswales (sections or sidewalks or curbs with vegetation that allow natural treatment of runoff water), ecosystem restoration and green roofs.^{9,10,11} Green infrastructure:

- Provide more green and cool space, and reduce the risk of flooding.
- Increase resilience to extreme heat and natural disasters while reducing other impacts of climate change, such as flooding, storm surges, and sea level rise
- Reduce sewer overflows during storms, recharge groundwater aquifers water by allowing rainwater to soak into the ground, and reduce the energy needed to treat and move wastewater.^{12,13,14}

Figure 5.4.1: Green Infrastructure Rain Garden¹⁵ (left) and Grey Infrastructure¹⁶ (right)



Urban Greening, Green Infrastructure, and Climate Change

Urban greening reduces urban heat islands and decreases the risk of heat illness by lowering surface and air temperatures.^{17,18,19}

- Shaded surfaces, from trees and other plants, may be 20–45°F cooler than unshaded surfaces;²⁰ A vegetated "green roof" surface can be cooler than the surrounding air, whereas conventional rooftop surfaces can exceed ambient air temperatures by up to 90°F.²¹
- Warm weather increases in energy demand for air conditioning, increasing the chance of electricity brown-outs.²² Shade cools buildings and can decrease air conditionings costs by 20%.^{23,24,25}
- Plants and vegetative growth can protect fragile coastal areas, mitigate sea level rise, and improve water quality and aquatic habitats.²⁶
- Trees sequester carbon dioxide (sequestering an estimated 95.5 million metric tons of carbon dioxide in 2006).²⁷



Urban Garden in Detroit Kate Gardiner, 2012

Farmers Market John Tornow, 2010

Urban Greening, Green Infrastructure, and Health

People living in urban heat islands are at greater risk of heat-related illness.²⁸ Green infrastructure could reduce temperatures by 0.5–0.7°C.²⁹ A 0.5°C reduction in the maximum and minimum temperatures results in a 50% reduction in heat-related mortality.³⁰

- Urban areas experience greater air pollution and more negative health impacts during hot summer months.³¹ Higher temperatures lead to higher levels of ozone, with increased risks for asthma and heart attacks.³²
- Trees clean the air by removing harmful pollutants associated with asthma and cardiovascular disease, such as ozone, nitrogen dioxide, and particulate matter.³³
- Parks provide places for physical activity and social connection, and community gardens increase access to healthy foods (See Section <u>4.8—Food Security</u>).^{34,35}
- Access to green space lowers stress, and even speeds up recovery times in hospitalized patients.^{37,38}
- Trees and greenery have been associated with reduction in crime and increases in property value.³⁹

Urban Greening, Green Infrastructure, and Health Equity

People of color and low-income families are more likely to live in areas with fewer trees, parks and green spaces and are thus more likely to be exposed to the heat risks of urban heat islands.⁴⁰

- People living in poverty are less able to afford the costs of air conditioning, making other heat adaptation strategies such as greening even more important.
- Accessible parks have been associated with greater physical activity, relaxation, social interaction, and improved quality of life in communities, especially in low-income communities and communities of color.^{41,42,43}
- Without intentional strategies to ensure equitable access to greening and green space for all, neighborhood greening may contribute to gentrification and displacement of lower-income residents.⁴⁴
What Can Local Health Departments Do

Public health professionals and health agencies have a critical role in building healthy, equitable, sustainable, and climate resilient communities.

Assessment and Surveillance

See Section <u>7.1—Surveillance</u>

Collaborate with parks and public works agencies and community-based organizations to map park access and to use tools such as <u>i-Tree</u> to assess tree canopy and the benefits of planting more trees. (See Figure 5.4.2)^{45,46}

Figure 5.4.2: Map of Park Access for Children of Color Living in Poverty in Orange County⁴⁷



Conduct an assessment of the relationship between access to parks and health.

• The Los Angeles County Department of Public Health assessed park access per capita in relation to premature mortality from various health outcomes. Areas with less park space had higher rates of premature mortality from cardiovascular disease, diabetes, higher prevalence of childhood obesity, and greater economic hardship compared to communities with more park space per capita. African Americans and Latinos were also more likely than Asians and Whites to live in communities with less park access.⁴⁸ See the <u>CDC's Parks and Trails Health Impact Assessment Toolkit</u>.⁴⁹

Intersectoral Collaboration

See Section 7.3—Collaboration

Collaborate with planning, parks, transportation, public works agencies and school districts to promote local policies that:

- Increase parks and tree canopy especially in tree-poor and park-poor low-income communities. Consider tree fire resistance, pollen production, and drought resistance.
- Use trees to provide shade for school yards, parking lots, parks, and walking and bike paths
- Restore and surface urban streams and rivers.⁵⁰

Collaborate with parks, school districts, police, and community partners to improve programming in parks—especially those located in neighborhoods with high levels of violence or social isolation.⁵¹

• The Los Angeles County Department of Public Health documented significant benefits following implementation of the Parks After Dark program, including increased physical activity, improved social cohesion, and decreased violent crime.⁵²

Work with public works to promote and develop "green streets", particularly in tandem with development of Complete Streets that promote walking and biking.⁵³

• The Miami-Dade Health Department collaborated with the local Parks, Recreation and Open Spaces Department to create an Open Space Master Plan that builds a connected and equitable system of open spaces that encourage exercise, such as parks, natural areas, and cultural amenities linked by greenways, blueways, bike paths, and trails.⁵⁴

Collaborate with local health care providers and parks agencies to start a "Parks Prescription" program.^{55,56} The D.C. Department of Health and the D.C. Parks and Recreation Department provided neighborhood-specific resources on park access to primary care physicians for distribution to patients.⁵⁷

Encourage community colleges and job training agencies to create apprenticeship programs that teach skills used to restore and create urban green spaces in low-income communities.⁵⁸

Community Engagement and Education

See Section <u>7.2—Engagement</u>

- Educate communities on the health and climate benefits of local parks and green space and provide clients with resources regarding local parks and related activities and events.
- Engage residents in mapping park access and tree canopy, and support community initiatives to expand access to trees, parks, and green space.
- Survey community members to assess their experience of local parks to understand their needs and how local park use could be improved.⁵⁹
- Inform the public and local decision makers about the connections among green space, climate change, health, and equity.

For More Information

- Reducing Urban Heat Islands: Compendium of Strategies, Trees and Vegetation⁶⁰
- Quantifying the Greenhouse Gas Benefits of Urban Parks⁶¹
- The Value of Green Infrastructure for Urban Climate Adaptation⁶²
- <u>CDC's Parks, Trails, and Health Workbook: A Tool for Planners, Parks and Recreational Professionals,</u> <u>and Health Practitioners</u>⁶³
- ChangeLab Solution's Community Gardens for Public Health⁶⁴

5.5 Unintended Harms of Climate Action

Some climate mitigation and adaptation strategies have potentially adverse consequences on health and/or health equity. For example:

- Market mechanisms such as cap and trade or carbon taxes can, if poorly designed, lead to adverse impacts on low-income communities and communities of color, such as perpetuation of exposure of fence-line communities to stationary air pollution sources.^{1,2}
- Large scale production of first-generation biofuels (e.g. corn ethanol) led to increases in the price of corn went up and in land use for commodity crops versus subsistence farming and other agriculture.³
- Groundwater withdrawal may increase significantly in response to drought, with consequences that may further limit water options in a prolonged drought, including:
 - increased concentration of drinking water contaminants.⁴
 - saline intrusion into coastal aquifers, increasing treatment costs and limiting usable water reserves.⁵
 - land subsidence, associated with significant damage in parts of California, Texas and Florida in recent decades.⁶
- Gentrification: as neighborhood amenities such as trees, parks, and bike-pedestrian infrastructure are enhanced, home values and rental prices increase, leading to the displacement of people of color and low-income families who may have been in the neighborhood for years.⁷
- Encouraging walking and biking without concomitant enforcement of traffic safety laws and street design protections, can inadvertently place pedestrians and cyclists at greater risk of injury and death.⁸
- Prioritization of clean car strategies to the exclusion of efforts to reduce vehicle miles traveled fails to optimize health and climate benefits.⁹ Clean cars provide critically important reductions in GHGE and air pollution, but do little to address the adverse impacts of motor vehicle use on physical activity, injuries, and unsustainable land use.
- Air conditioning is energy and cost intensive, increases street level heat, and with widespread use can cause brownouts.¹⁰

What Local Health Departments Can Do

Assessment and Surveillance

See Section <u>7.1—Surveillance</u>

Assess the health and equity impacts of proposed climate policies and programs, and their implementation.^{11,12}

Intersectoral Collaboration

See Section 7.3—Collaboration

Collaborate with housing, planning, economic development agencies and CBOs to ensure that anti-displacement measures and affordable housing are integrated into planning for "smart growth" and transit-oriented development where amenities may increase property values, such as bike/pedestrian infrastructure and greening.¹³

Collaborate with local planning and office of sustainability to integrate health and equity into the development of climate action plans to optimize benefits.

Community Engagement and Education

See Section 7.2— Engagement

Support community based organizations to build capacity and ensure strong community voice and participation in the development of climate policies and programs.

• In Richmond, CA, Urban Habitat, a local organization, partnered with other groups to raise awareness of the city's Climate Action Plan, creating climate justice curriculums and trainings for community members and improving mechanisms for their input to be included in the plan and future environmental and sustainability measures.¹⁴



Public Health Programs and Climate Change

6.1 Maternal, Child, Adolescent, and Family Health

"The social foundations of children's mental and physical health are threatened by the specter of far-reaching effects of unchecked climate change, including community and global instability, mass migrations, and increased conflict. Given this knowledge, failure to take prompt, substantive action would be an act of injustice to all children. A paradigm shift in production and consumption of energy is both a necessity and an opportunity for major innovation, job creation, and significant, immediate associated health benefits."

– American Academy of Pediatrics, 2015¹

Key Messages

Why Climate Change Matters for Maternal, Child, Adolescent, and Family Health

Climate change impacts on agriculture, built environments, family stability, and economic systems have adverse impacts on nutrition, physical activity, safety and security, financial security, and social cohesion. Thus, climate change makes it more difficult to promote healthy behaviors, healthy development, and healthy families and communities. Many climate solutions, including actions to promote clean air and healthy food and transportation options, offer significant Maternal, Child, Adolescent and Family Health (MCAH) benefits, including actions to promote clean air and healthy food and transportation stop promote clean air and healthy food and transportation stop promote clean air and healthy benefits, including actions to promote clean air and healthy food and transportation stop promote clean air and healthy benefits, including actions to promote clean air and healthy food and transportation stop promote clean air and healthy food and transportation stop promote clean air and healthy benefits, including actions to promote clean air and healthy food and transportation stop promote clean air and healthy food and transportation stop promote clean air and healthy food and transportation stop promote clean air and healthy food and transportation options. (See Section 5—Health Benefits)

- Infants, children, adolescents and perinatal women are among the most vulnerable to the health impacts of climate change, due to factors such as biological sensitivity, exposure, and adaptive capacity related to perinatal or age-related stages of development. Climate impacts, such as extreme heat and increased ozone levels, directly impact maternal, child, and adolescent health.
- Protecting children against harm and providing all children with opportunities for health are core goals of MCAH. As trusted, credible messengers who are knowledgeable about and committed to the wellbeing of children and families, MCAH professionals are uniquely positioned to enhance public and policymaker understanding about the impacts of climate change on women, children, and families, and to increase motivation for climate action.

Key Messages

What Local Health Departments Can Do

MCAH programs can integrate climate change into existing work and foster consideration of MCAH needs into the climate-related work of other agencies in their jurisdictions. MCAH programs can:

- Assess and map community vulnerabilities for climate-related MCAH impacts and enhance surveillance of climate-related diseases.
- Collaborate with agencies in other sectors such as schools, housing, public works, and parks to support policies and implement programs that reduce the risk of exposure to extreme heat, poor air quality, and infectious agents and vectors, and reduce climate pollution.
- Work with LHD Public Health Emergency Preparedness programs and emergency management agencies to ensure that MCAH populations are protected during extreme weather events.
- Inform the public and policy makers about the connections between MCAH and climate change, and the health and health equity benefits of climate action.
- Inform health care providers and patients about how climate change impacts MCAH and how to promote health in the era of climate change, including through using their voice to support climate solutions.

Climate Vulnerability in Maternal, Child, and Adolescent Populations

Pregnant women, infants, children and youth face greater vulnerability to climate change impacts due to their distinct biologically based sensitivities, exposures, and limited adaptive capacity.²

Biological sensitivity and susceptibility³

- Physiologic and immunologic changes in pregnancy make pregnant women more susceptible to climaterelated health impacts of heat, air pollution and infectious diseases.⁴
- Innate physiological, anatomical, and developmentally based behavioral differences make infants and children more vulnerable to climate impacts.
 - Children take in proportionally larger amounts of air, water and food, relative to their body weight and face higher risks for illness related to heat, ozone, toxic particulate air pollution, and zoonotic, water, and food-borne illnesses.^{5,6,7,8,9,10,11,12,13}
 - Children's small size, dependency and cognitive development increase their risk for injury, illness, death, adverse mental health consequences, and separation from caregivers following extreme events.^{14,15,16}

Greater exposures due to behaviors and environments

• Children are more likely to be active outdoors, increasing their exposure to climate impacts such as air and water pollution, allergens, vector-borne diseases, and extreme heat.

Limited adaptive capacity

• Children are less able to respond to hazards. They cannot independently evacuate in an extreme weather event or provide cooling on extreme heat days. Climate disasters also disrupt community resources on which children depend, such as schools.^{17,18}

How Climate Change Impacts Maternal, Child, and Adolescent Health

Pregnant Women, Fetuses and Infants

- Extreme heat increases the risk of preterm birth, low birth weight, and infant mortality.¹⁹
- Drought and floods are associated with:
 - Impaired access to safe and reliable water for drinking and sanitation, increasing risk of dehydration, preterm labor, and low birth weight²⁰
 - Increased risk for waterborne gastrointestinal illness, which is associated with adverse pregnancy outcomes including spontaneous abortion and preterm birth²¹
 - Exposure to infectious agents, toxic pollutants, and mold. Exposure to mold or dampness during infancy is associated with persistent asthma through adolescence²²
 - Psychological stress, increasing risk of adverse outcomes, anemia, eclampsia, spontaneous abortion²³

New Orleans Department of Health Responds to Zika^{27,28}

Beginning in May 2015, Brazil experienced a dramatic increase in cases of microcephaly. Investigators concluded that the cause was Zika virus, transmitted by the *Aedes aegypti* mosquito. Prenatal exposure to Zika also causes hearing loss, delayed growth and eye defects.

Climate change contributes to changing mosquito distributions due to changes in precipitation and temperature, and *A. aegypti* is now found in many parts of the U.S., increasing the risks of a Zika outbreak if a traveler returned to the country with Zika. Like many other LHDs, the New Orleans Health Department (NOHD) responded quickly. Mosquito and Termite Control Board and NOHD brought clinicians, environmental specialists, and politicians together to develop a Comprehensive Zika Virus Plan that included a citywide education campaign on Zika and mosquito control, enhanced mosquito surveillance and collection for Zika testing, and case management and response. Pregnant women and clinicians received specific guidance on symptom recognition and screening for Zika, and a phone line provided information and referrals. When a pregnant woman returned to New Orleans with Zika infection, NOHD kicked into high gear. A door-to-door campaign provided neighborhood residents with information about how to protect against mosquito bites. Code enforcement and other city agencies did inspections to find and remove any debris or small water collectors. Plans are in place for additional enhanced mosquito control—such as aerial and ground spraying and more intensive property inspections—should there be any confirmed case of local transmission of Zika.

- Air quality: Rising temperatures cause increased groundlevel ozone levels. Exposure to ozone and particulate matter is associated with increased risk for low-birth weight babies and infant mortality.²⁴
- Injury and violence: Domestic violence increases during both pregnancy and extreme heat events and with rising temperatures, placing women and fetuses at heightened risk for injury, death and adverse birth outcomes.^{25,26}

Children and Adolescents²⁹

• Heat: Children are particularly vulnerable to heat stress, especially under age one. Heat illness is the leading cause of death and disability among high school athletes. About 120,000 U.S. children farm laborers are at risk for heat illness.



Children harvest an aubergine in Tainan, Taiwan Michael Bish (CC BY-NC-ND 2.0)

- Air Quality:
 - Warmer temperatures increase ozone levels; climate change is also increasing stagnation events that create the worst ozone episodes.³⁰
 - Children are at greater risk from higher ozone levels due to higher respiratory rates and more time spent outdoors. Ozone has been associated with increased risk of asthma and ED admissions and pediatric ICU stays for asthma.
 - Smoke from wildfires—laden with fine particulate matter (PM_{2.5})—spreads over long distances, and is associated with increased risks of premature deaths, ED visits, and hospitalizations.³¹
 - Warming climates increase the length and intensity of the allergy season.³²
- Infectious Disease: Climate change is increasing the risk of vector-borne diseases such as West Nile Virus and Lyme disease. Reported cases of Lyme disease are most common in 5–9 year old boys.³³
- Food Security: Over 13 million children in the U.S. were food insecure in 2016.³⁴ Climate change threatens crop yields and other food production, food price increases, and higher levels of food insecurity³⁵ (See Section <u>4.8—Food Security</u>).
- Extreme weather events:
 - Children are at risk of illness, injury or death, separation from or loss of caregivers, and mental health consequences following extreme weather disasters, which are increasing in frequency and severity due to climate change. Following Hurricanes Katrina and Rita, more than 5000 children were separated from their families.³⁶
 - Flooding and extreme precipitation increase the risk for indoor mold exposure and related respiratory disease, and for diarrheal disease due to waterborne pathogens.
 - Children and youth are at higher risk for severe mental health consequences after extreme events, and experience high rates of PTSD symptoms after natural disasters such as hurricanes and floods.³⁷ When climate change exacerbates poverty and disrupts families and neighborhoods, it heightens impact on teen physical and mental health, behavior, and risky sexual behavior.^{38,39}

Disruption of school and community resources due to climate disasters impacts children's physical, mental and academic development. Children displaced from Hurricane Katrina demonstrated worse academic performance, school attendance, behavioral issues and mental health. Children need an estimated 4–6 months to recover academically following school displacement from severe weather events.⁴⁰

Climate Change and Children: A Global Snapshot

Climate change may cause an additional 25.2 million malnourished children if temperatures increase 3–4°C, primarily due to crop yield reductions.^{41,42} Rising CO₂ levels are associated with reductions in micronutrient content of staple crops like rice and wheat.⁴³

1.5 million children die from diarrheal disease annually, a number projected to increase significantly due to climate change.^{44,45}

Lack of electricity is associated with worse health and educational outcomes.⁴⁶ Approximately 3 billion people use solid cooking fuels and kerosene in open fires or inefficient stoves.⁴⁷ Exposure to household air pollution approximately doubles the risk for childhood pneumonia and is responsible for 45% of all pneumonia deaths in children under 5.⁴⁸ A transition from fossil fuels to clean renewable energy for cooking and lighting will significantly improve health, economic, and educational outcomes, especially in low- and middle-income countries.⁴⁹

Providing women and families with access to reproductive health services is a proven approach to improving the socioeconomic status of women and children, reducing the strain on the environment, and conserving resources. Universal access to contraception and empowerment of women are two of the most cost-effective ways to address both unsustainable population growth and climate change.⁵⁰

"Conclusive evidence has demonstrated that that climate change is having a dramatic impact on the lives of people around the world. Representing physicians dedicated to the whole well-being of women—including their safety, security, and access to quality care—the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists recognizes that climate change is an urgent women's health concern as well as a major public health challenge. We call on our national and international leaders to act to curb greenhouse gas emissions and limit further climate destabilization. Without guestion, climate change has a disproportionate effect on global women's health, as it broadens existing gender-based health disparities. The effects of climate change—such as food and water insecurity, civil conflicts, extreme weather events, spread of disease, and more—put women in affected regions at elevated risk of disease, malnutrition, sexual violence, poor mental health, lack of reproductive control, negative obstetric outcomes, and death. This also has an impact on future generations, with the rate of lowbirth weight infants increasing in regions impacted by the effects of climate change, and with the erosion of the health care infrastructure needed to support healthy women and healthy families. Moreover, as the effects of climate change continue to threaten the well-being of women across the globe, we ask that government and public health agencies take steps to ensure the protection of women's health services and human rights."

The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, 2016⁵¹

MCAH, Climate Change, and Equity

Pregnant women, infants, children and youth face greater vulnerability to climate change impacts as a result of their distinct biologically-based sensitivities, exposures, and limited adaptive capacity.^{45,46} Due to the intersection of race, poverty and chronic illness, low-income families and women and babies of color are at yet higher risk of the negative health impacts of climate change.

Women of color are already at higher risk of adverse pregnancy and newborn health outcomes

- The infant mortality rates for African American and Native American women are significantly higher than those for non-Hispanic Whites.^{47,48}
- African-American women are more likely to be diagnosed with pre-pregnancy diabetes and hypertension.⁴⁹
- Uninsured, rural, American Indian/Alaska Native, and other women of color are more likely to receive late or no pre-natal care.⁵⁰

Children in low-income households and children of color already face a disproportionate burden of disease and pollution relative to children in wealthier households and White children.⁵¹

- Black children are two times as likely to be hospitalized for asthma, four times as likely to die from asthma, and two times more likely to die from diabetes relative to White children.^{52,53}
- Puerto Rican children are twice as likely to have asthma, as compared to non-Hispanic whites.⁵⁴
- Children in neighborhoods with high levels of poverty visit the emergency room and are hospitalized for asthma at rates four times higher than those in wealthier areas.⁵⁵
- Latino children living in areas with high levels of air pollution have a heightened risk of developing Type 2 diabetes.⁵⁶

Extreme Heat

- Low income and communities of color are more likely to be located in "urban heat islands" where nighttime temperatures may be as much as 22°F higher than surrounding areas. These areas often map onto areas of historical residential segregation.⁵⁷
- Low-income families report that the utility costs of operating and maintaining an air conditioner are a major barrier to staying cool during extreme heat.⁵⁸
- There may be as many as 500,000 employed child agricultural workers under age 18 in the U.S, at particularly high risk of heat illness and dehydration.⁵⁹ Eighty percent of U.S. farmworkers identify as Hispanic.⁶⁰

Drought⁶¹

- Low-income families are more vulnerable to food and water insecurity from rising food and water prices associated with drought and crop loss.⁶²
- Agricultural communities are more vulnerable to the adverse economic impacts of drought, and to the mental health impacts.⁶³

MCAH, Climate Change, and Equity continued

• Low-income rural communities are disproportionately reliant on small water systems or private drinking water wells, at increased risk of water shortages or exposure to contaminated well water; Native American communities are more likely to lack access to clean, potable drinking water than other groups in the U.S.^{64,65}

Flooding and Extreme Weather Events

- Low-income households are less likely to have disaster insurance, less able to recover from property loss associated with extreme events, and have fewer resources to relocate.⁶⁶
- Undocumented families are not eligible for FEMA assistance and even those who are eligible may fear applying. Immigrants may also have concerns about accessing evacuation shelters and other relief services due to inadequate cultural and linguistic competency of service providers, and undocumented immigrants may fear legal repercussions of seeking services.⁶⁷
- Extreme weather can interrupt treatment for asthma and other chronic illnesses due to displacement, power outages, stressed health systems, and high-demand for medical supplies.^{68,69}
- People with disabilities have high rates of illness, injuries, or death during extreme events, as cognitive, hearing, physical, and mobility impairments may impede safe evacuation.⁷⁰
- Low-income families are more likely to live in poor housing conditions, which can increase exposure to mold following flooding and extreme weather events.⁷¹
- Homeless children may occupy areas near creeks or rivers, making them more vulnerable to storms and floods.⁷²

Infectious disease73

- Low-income families are more likely to live in blighted neighborhoods and sub-standard housing, placing them at increased exposure to vectors and higher risk of vector-borne disease due to lack of A/C conditioning and poor screening in houses or apartment buildings.⁷⁴
- Native American and Alaska Native communities more frequently lack access to clean, potable drinking water.⁷⁵ Warmer water temperatures may exacerbate already-high rates of diarrheaassociated hospitalizations for Native American and Alaskan Native children.⁷⁶

Air Quality^{77,78}

- Low-income households, people of color, and non-English speaking and foreign-born persons are more likely to live near busy roadways, and therefore face worse air quality.
- Nearly 1 in 2 Latinos live in counties frequently violating clean air and ozone standards, exacerbating air quality issues, and Latino children are twice as likely to die from asthma as non-Latino Whites.⁷⁹

continued on next page

MCAH, Climate Change, and Equity continued

• Thirty-nine percent of the people living near coal-fired power plants are people of color; seventy-eight percent of African Americans live within 30 miles of a coal-fired power plant and a million African Americans live within half a mile of oil and gas operations.^{80,81}

Wildfire

- Communities and households at the wildland-urban interface where human-built environments are adjacent to areas of wildland vegetation are at greater risk of wildfires.⁸²
- Native American and Alaska Native populations living near forested regions are at increased risk of displacement, smoke-exposure, injury, and property loss, especially if more populated areas are prioritized for fire management response.⁸³
- Children with asthma are at risk of disease exacerbations due to wildfire smoke and the emergency conditions created by wildfires disrupt ability to adequately manage asthma.

Food insecurity^{84,85}

- People of color and those living in poverty face higher rates of food insecurity.
 - o 22.5% of African American households and 18.5% of Hispanic households are food insecure, compared to 9.3% of White households.⁸⁶
- Women and children in indigenous communities that rely more on subsistence farming and fishing are more vulnerable to climate change impacts on game, farming, and aquatic habitats.⁸⁷

Mental health⁸⁸

• African Americans suffered higher rates of adverse mental health outcomes following Hurricane Katrina, with low-income individuals and people between the ages of 18 and 34 especially single mothers—at particularly high risk.^{89,90}

What Local Health Departments Can Do

Assessment and Surveillance

See Section <u>7.1—Surveillance</u>

Integrate climate and health risks into MCAH assessments:

- Identify and map areas with large populations of children ages 0–5.
- Map prevalence of tree canopy, parks and green space and impervious surfaces near schools and childcare facilities to assess heat risk.
- Map busy roadways and stationary pollution sources and assess proximity to schools and childcare facilities to evaluate air pollution exposure.
- Identify neighborhoods at risk for vector-borne disease related to poor housing conditions and blight.

Climate Change Impacts on Children's Health

EXTREME WEATHER: Climate change increases the amount and severity of storms. Extreme weather can impact sanitation and sewer systems. This increases the risk of water-re lated and gastrointestinal illnesses. Children are especially susceptible to such conditions due to their developing im mune systems. Injury and mental health impacts are also common among children exposed to extreme weather.

EXTREME HEAT: Climate change is increasing the frequency and intensity of extreme heat events. Children are less able than adults to regulate their body temperature. Thus, they are more vulnerable to changes in temperature. Compared to adults, extreme tempera tures have led to more heat-related illnesses and deaths among children, especially infants.

VECTOR-BORNE DISEASE: Insects and rodents that carry viruses respond quickly to changes in temperature and moisture, which can increase their growth and duration. Children are at risk for vector-borne illnesses due to their increased outdoor activity. They are also susceptible due to their developing immune systems. Lyme disease, hantavirus, dengue fever, and Zika virus are among the climate-related vector-borne diseases that pose a heavy health burden on children.

POOR AIR QUALITY: Climate change extends the warm season and lengthens pollen season. It also increases the amount of airborne pollutants in the environment. Pollutants and pollen can have chronic impacts on children's respiratory health, triggering allergies and asthma.

FOOD INSECURITY Given changes in the weather due to climate change, Gastroir crops will be affected by droughts and flooding. Climate change also alters the nutrient quality of food. Together, these impacts could reduce access to food and nutrients. Poor nutrition can result in devel opmental delays and adverse health outcomes for infants and children.

APHA, American Academy of Pediatrics, Climate for Health, ecoAmerica 2017

Intersectoral Collaboration

- Work with housing, planning, building, home-visiting, sanitation and code enforcement agencies to identify and address climate-related risks. For example remove standing water in vacant properties, and encourage addition of window screens in rental properties and apartment buildings.
- Collaborate with agricultural agencies, local food policy councils, schools, and local businesses and community-based organizations (CBOs) to build healthier, more sustainable and resilient local food systems (See Section <u>5.3—Agriculture</u>).
 - Support community and school gardens, urban agriculture, and acceptance of SNAP EBT and WIC at farmer's markets.
 - Promote food waste reduction (See Section <u>6.3—Environmental</u> <u>Health</u>).
- Collaborate with transportation, planning, parks and recreation agencies and schools to increase opportunities for safe active transportation, especially for children and youth, including Safe Routes to School, walking school buses, Complete Streets, traffic calming and speed reduction, and lighting and shading on sidewalks and bike paths. Support reduced transit fares or free bus passes for students and youth (See Sections <u>5.1—Transportation</u> and <u>5.4—Urban Greening</u>.).
- Collaborate with parks, planning, and community-based organizations to expand tree canopy, urban greening, and park access and programming, especially for youth and children.

sorde

LHD Spotlight: School Health

Schools, school districts, and school health programs are uniquely positioned to reduce the health impacts of climate change and to reduce greenhouse gas emissions through policies and programs to promote active transportation, energy efficiency, and local food procurement. LHDs— in providing information and advice on student and schools health issues, and as school health providers—can encourage climate-friendly school practices and promote and protect student health in the era of climate change.

- Provide information to schools, community colleges and PTAs about the climate-child health connection.
 - Encourage integration of climate change into <u>school curricula</u>.⁵⁴
 - Provide opportunities for students and families to participate in "community science" initiatives, such as temperature monitoring through <u>iSeeChange</u>.⁵⁵
 - Integrate green jobs planning and preparation into <u>youth career development and</u> <u>training</u>, such as retrofitting buildings to increase energy efficiency or installing renewable energy infrastructure.⁵⁶
- Work with schools, districts, PTAs, and school health and athletic programs to protect students from climate-related impacts
 - Ensure that training and protocols are in place to prevent heat-related illness.
 - A 2018 Indiana law requires school coaches to undergo training for heat-related medical issues.⁵⁷
 - Connect school districts with emergency management agencies to ensure schools personnel participate in emergency management planning including for family support and academic continuity post-disaster.
- Encourage schools and school districts to implement policies and practices that promote health and address climate change, including:
 - Active transportation for school children, youth and school staff (e.g. <u>Safe Routes to</u> <u>School; bicycle safety and maintenance classes; and incentives for school employees</u> to use active transportation (See Section <u>5.1 – Transportation</u>).^{58,59,60}
 - Clean energy procurement and school energy efficiency measures⁶¹
 - Healthy and sustainable food for school meals, including farm to school programs, school gardens, and reduction in meat consumption (See Section <u>5.3 Agriculture</u>).^{62,63}
 - Many schools have implemented Meatless Monday programs, see the <u>Meatless</u> <u>Monday Implementation Guide⁶⁴</u>
 - Food waste reduction through programs such as <u>StopWaste⁶⁵</u> or <u>SavetheFood</u>⁶⁶

Additional Resources

- Green Schools Alliance⁶⁷ and Green Schools Initiative⁶⁸
- <u>Sustainable Jersey for Schools</u>⁶⁹—model online initiative for health, climate, and sustainability



Indigenous Day Native March to Transition to 100% Renewable Energy. Backbone Campaign, 2016

School Gardening Program Amanda Lucidon, 2016

- The Minneapolis Department of Health and Family Support partnered with the city's Park and Recreation Board to create and implement programming in parks located in neighborhoods with high levels of violence, with staff going door-to-door in the surrounding neighborhoods to discuss the resident's experiences and needs.⁵²
- Work with schools to integrate climate change into curricula, and encourage schools and childcare providers to provide information and resources to parents and students about climate change and the health benefits of climate solutions, for example on local food systems, food waste reduction, and active transportation.
- Work with schools, camps, and childcare providers to ensure plans are in place related to heat, air quality, waterborne and vector-borne disease and wildfire risks to children and adolescents.
- Work with home-visiting agencies and other health care providers to refer clients for energy assistance (LIHEAP), weatherization, tree planting, and healthy home interventions to address mold remediation and safety violations.⁵³
- Collaborate with healthcare providers and systems to (See Section <u>6.6—Clinical Services</u>):
 - Inform patients about climate risks.
 - Incorporate knowledge of climate impacts into patient care.
 - Make referrals for climate-related services.
 - Serve as "climate and health champions" to educate community residents and decision makers about climate health impacts and support climate actions with health benefits.
 - Work to reduce the carbon footprint of health care facilities.
 - Ensure that health care systems are able to function during and after climate disasters.

Preparing and Planning for Extreme Weather Events and Population Displacement

Work with Public Health Emergency Preparedness programs to ensure that protocols are in place to provide shelter and assistance for MCAH populations in the event of climate-related disasters (See Section <u>6.5—Preparedness</u>).

- Ensure safe and welcoming places for all types of families and for children and youth in evacuation centers.
- <u>Prepare for and respond to the needs</u> of pregnant and postpartum women, including post-disaster reproductive health assessments.^{70,71}
- Integrate family reunification and educational continuity strategies into disaster planning.
- Encourage pediatric and women's health care providers and pediatric mental health specialists to participate in Medical Reserve Corps and emergency response.
- Advise healthcare providers to monitor vaccine cold chain management during extreme heat events.

Adolescent Health and Positive Youth Development

Positive Youth Development involves social, emotional, and skills training to promote prosocial norms and develop youth capacity for improved decision-making, communication, self-sufficiency, and self-determination, and fosters bonding with peers and responsible adults.^{85,86} PYD often involves community services—an opportunity for youth to engage on climate change that will impact them throughout their lives. Collaborate with youth community services programs to engage youth on climate and health issues, including through peer education and participation in climate action campaigns. See for example:

- <u>SustainUS⁸⁷</u>
- Youth Action on Climate Change⁸⁸
- <u>iMatter⁸⁹</u>
- Our Children's Trust.⁹⁰
- Engage in recovery planning to promote rebuilding that supports families and child health and development, e.g. active transportation, parks, and complete neighborhoods.

Community Engagement and Education

Work with community organizations to engage families and youth in public campaigns, school and community initiatives.

- Make information accessible to all
 - Provide information in all languages relevant in your community.
 - Make the information culturally appropriate.
 - Use multiple formats (print, radio, television, social media) and outlets (community events and meetings, worship services, and other venues).
 - Use low-literacy formats.
 - Address the needs of those with communication impairments.

- Support families and youth organizations to get involved through community science initiatives and actions with health and climate benefits, for example:
 - Energy conservation campaigns such as "<u>Turn It Off</u>"⁷² or "<u>Switch Off</u>"⁷³ or campaigns to reduce meat consumption "<u>Meatless Mondays</u>"⁷⁴ or "<u>Rethink Your Drink</u>"⁷⁵ for reduction of sugarsweetened beverages.
 - Local community science projects that engage and educate community members, such as the Chicago Botanic Garden <u>BudBurst</u> project that "brings together researchers, educators, gardeners, and citizen scientists" to learn how plants are affected by climate change.⁷⁶
- Provide information to parents, youth, and caregivers, about how to protect against climate-related health impacts:
 - Check the <u>Air Quality Index</u> (AQI) for unsafe ozone and particulate levels during hot days and if wildfire smoke is present.⁷⁷
 - Prepare an emergency response plan for any extreme event.
 - CDC—<u>Emergency Preparedness for Expectant and New Parents</u>⁷⁸
 - American Academy of Pediatrics—<u>Children and Disasters</u>⁷⁹
 - Ready.gov—<u>English</u>⁸⁰ and <u>Spanish</u>⁸¹
 - Advise parents and childbearing age women on climate-related infectious disease risks and appropriate precautions.
 - Take special care when <u>preparing food in hot weather</u>, and when eating outdoors without proper refrigeration for food.⁸²
 - Wear long sleeves and pants and insect repellent when outdoors near mosquito and tick habitats. Check for ticks after visits to grassy or forested areas. Use screens on windows and door at home to keep insects out.
 - Recognize the symptoms of Lyme disease, Zika, and other infectious or vector-borne diseases.⁸³
 - Check with your provider before <u>traveling to areas that may pose a Zika risk</u> if pregnant or considering pregnancy.⁸⁴
 - Make the climate-health connection in education materials for patients, trainings for staff, and media messages whenever relevant, to increase public awareness that climate change is a health issue (See Section <u>8—Communications</u>).
 - Include climate and health information and messages in patient education and clinic materials on topics including Zika and other VBD, nutrition, water quality, air quality and heat.
 - Use <u>Climate and Health posters</u>⁹¹
 - Include climate and health information in various <u>program educational</u> and training activities and in home visits.⁹²

- Convene a public workshop or symposium on the issue, or partner with the PTA or school district to organize a workshop for parents focused on climate change and children's health.
- Organize grand rounds for MCAH health care providers on the connections between climate change and the health of women, children, and adolescents.
- Integrate climate change messaging in routine program messaging, including health advisories, educational materials, and social media messages.

Nutrition

Original: Local food is fresher and tastes better than food shipped long distances from other states or countries. Fresher food is more nutritious.⁹³

Modified: Local food is fresher, tastes better, and *causes less climate pollution* than food shipped long distances from other states or countries. Fresher food is more nutritious and *better for the environment*.

Original: Community gardens are a great way to learn about life and stay healthy too. Not only does gardening provide tasty, healthy foods, it teaches responsibility and patience.⁹⁴

Modified: Community gardens are a great way to learn about life and stay healthy too. Not only does local gardening provide tasty, healthy foods, *it teaches responsibility and it reduces climate pollution*.

Emergency Preparedness

Original: Houston, Hurricane Season starts in 9 days. Now is time to prepare: Make a Plan, Build a Kit, Stay Informed, Know Your Neighbors.⁹⁵

Modified: Houston, Hurricane Season starts in 9 days. *Climate change is increasing the frequency and severity of extreme storms.* Now is time to prepare: Make a Plan, Build a Kit, Stay Informed, Know Your Neighbors.

Heat and Children

Original: It is easy to get distracted. Look before you lock.⁹⁶

Modified: It is never safe to leave a baby in the car when it's warm outside, and climate change is making hot days more common. It is easy to get distracted. Never leave a baby alone in a hot car. Look before you lock.

Original: Babies and young children can become ill during very hot weather. Their health can be seriously affected by dehydration and need to drink plenty of fluids to avoid becoming dehydrated.⁹⁷

Modified: Babies and young children can become ill during very hot weather, *which is becoming more frequent due to climate change.* Their health can be seriously affected by dehydration and need to drink plenty of fluids to avoid becoming dehydrated.

Physical Activity

Original: Keep the kids active and safe this summer! Pima County's Natural Resources, Parks and Recreation Department is offering online registration for its summer swim lessons.⁹⁸

Modified: *Our summers are getting hotter due to climate change.* Keep the kids active and safe this summer! Pima County's Natural Resources, Parks and Recreation Department is offering online registration for summer swim lessons.

Original: Walking, biking, and skateboarding are good for our physical and mental health.

Modified: Walking, biking, and skateboarding are good for our physical and mental health and *create less air and climate pollution*.

Raising Awareness About Climate Change: San Luis Obispo Department of Public Health

The San Luis Obispo County Department of Public Health (SLO-PHD) launched their climate change and health communication campaign—*OutsideIn SLO: We Take Health and Climate Change Personally*—in 2014, in collaboration with the California Department of Public Health (CDPH).

Integrating climate change into other LHD programs

First, staff from health department programs (Public Health Nursing, Emergency Preparedness, and Environmental Health) were trained about the health impacts of climate change. Because women and children are particularly vulnerable to climate change, the SLO-PHD Health Promotion Division partnered with the Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) to produce a climate change curriculum that could be integrated into WIC classes. The 20-minute class, taught in English and Spanish by a dietician or public health educator, reached about 1400 families in 2014–2015 and over 1000 families in 2016. Although SLO-PHD attempted to evaluate whether the class impacted behavior, the response rate was too low to reach a firm conclusion.

"We asked if the WIC clients thought climate change was an issue. They weren't surprised about it and they were very accepting of the information. We found that Latinos were more aware and more knowledgeable going into it than the White population—most likely because of the drought. Many of the Latino families here have relatives in the Central Valley so they were dealing with layoffs, with drought, with no water in their homes, with food prices going up, and so it wasn't like, 'Oh, now we are going to talk about some random topic in our nutrition class.'"

> Kathleen Karle, Division Manager—Health Promotion, San Luis Obispo County Department of Public Health

SLO-PHD also worked with a marketing firm to develop fact sheets on energy efficiency, climate-friendly travel, and eating locally grown fruits and vegetables. Distribution channels included farmer's markets, community meetings, social media, and radio advertisements. In Summer 2017, SLO-PHD partnered with CDPH to host webinars on communicating climate change as a public health issue. The <u>webinar series</u> explored climate change and health storytelling, adaptation planning, health equity, and developing curricula.

SLO-PHD is now integrating climate change into its reviews of the potential health impacts of projects under review by the county Planning department. The <u>Healthy Communities Work Group</u>, addresses the health and climate benefits (or risks) of the projects.



"We talked to a lot of staff who saw climate change as an issue but at first had a harder time connecting it to health. Once we started the conversation, they were totally on board with looking at the health co-benefits and integrated messaging."

> Morgan Feld, Community Wellness Health Education Specialist

Lessons and Next Steps

While senior management is very supportive of the OutsideIn SLO campaign, limited funding and no dedicated staff person make it difficult to expand this work. But a core group of committed staff continue to view their work through a climate and health lens, and now plan to incorporate climate and health education into school health classes. SLO-PHD found that staff training and messages that focus on health benefits of climate action make it both feasible and fruitful to integrate climate change into existing public health work.

Learn More

<u>CDPH's SLO case story and NACCHO Stories from</u> <u>the Field</u>

San Luis Obispo OutsideIn SLO

<u>San Luis Obispo "Communicating Climate Change as a</u> <u>Public Health Issue" webinar</u>

San Luis Obispo CalBRACE Climate and Health Profile

Kev Action Steps:



- Develop climate change, health, and equity training curriculum for LHD staff.
- Develop climate and health educational materials, including fact sheets, for the general public.
- Integrate climate change impacts and actions into established public health curricula and programs.
- Incorporate climate and health considerations in intersectoral collaboration.

6.2 Infectious and Communicable Disease Control

Controlling the spread of infectious disease is one of the most basic functions of public health, and a core mandate of local health departments. Climate change increases infectious disease risks and impacts population immunity and susceptibility to illness. Understanding climate impacts, their implications for the occurrence of infectious diseases, and population vulnerabilities will help LHD Communicable Disease Control programs prepare for climate-related infectious disease threats.

"...the incidence of most infectious diseases varies by season and geography—and that's related to climate. So it makes sense to consider climate change as a possible contributor to many changes in the regional incidence of many communicable diseases. We need to be alert to that possibility, and prepared for it."

Matt Willis, MD, MPH, Health Officer, Marin County, California

Key Messages

Why Infectious and Communicable Disease Control Should Care

- Vector, food, water, and air-borne infectious disease risks are all impacted by climate change through multiple pathways, including increases in air and water temperature, the occurrence of extreme weather events, and human responses to climate change, such as migration.
- Climate change also impacts immunity and susceptibility to illness, as populations become more vulnerable to food insecurity, chronic illness, and health system disruptions due to extreme weather events.¹ Individual characteristics and social and economic inequities place some individuals and communities at greater risk than others for infectious disease. Outdoor work, substandard and crowded housing, neighborhood blight, and outdated and failing infrastructure increase vulnerability. Indigenous communities reliant on aquatic food harvesting and homeless and displaced populations are also at higher risk.

What Infectious and Communicable Disease Control Can Do

- Enhance vector-borne and infectious disease surveillance systems—through adjustment of location, frequency, and methodologies—to address changes in infectious disease risk levels and characteristics.
- Develop infectious disease prevention and rapid response plans to reduce the risk of epidemics associated with extreme weather events or in response to case reports, for example of Zika.
- Collaborate with agencies in other sectors such as housing and public works to reduce the risks of exposure to infectious agents and vectors.
- Provide information to health care providers, community residents, and decision makers about the increasing risks of climate-sensitive infectious diseases and measures to protect against them.



HOW CLIMATE CHANGE AFFECTS YOUR HEALTH

APHA, Climate Nexus 2016

How Climate Change Impacts Infectious and Communicable Disease Control

Climate change is increasing the risk of infectious disease, including vector, food, water, and airborne diseases.

Vector-borne Disease and Climate Change

Climate change is causing warmer temperatures, changes in precipitation, and sea level rise that impact the habitat distribution, seasonality, mating and reproduction cycles, and competence of disease-carrying mosquitos, ticks, and mice, increasing the risks of exposure to disease in some areas.²

- Drought can bring mosquitos in closer contact with humans by forcing them to move toward domestic water sources due to water scarcity and reducing rain-fed "wash out" of their underground habitats.
- From 2004 to 2016 there was a 300% increase in reportable vector-borne disease in the U.S., including a 2-fold increase in reported tick-borne diseases.³
- Sea level rise causes shifts in population densities, agricultural practices, water use, housing conditions, and vector reservoirs, which could increase vector-borne disease (VBD) in impacted areas.⁴
- Climate-driven human behaviors can augment VBD spread and exposure, e.g. inadequate window screening, water storage in open outdoor containers, and poor swimming pool maintenance.
- Climate change may alter Hantavirus (HPS) transmission risk; deer mice—the main vector—proliferate when vegetation grows after high precipitation, but come into proximity with humans as they seek water during drought.⁵

Foodborne Disease and Climate Change

There are an estimated 48 million cases of foodborne illness in the U.S. each year, with over 120,000 hospitalizations and nearly 3,000 deaths.⁶

- Higher ambient temperatures increase the replication cycle of foodborne pathogens such as salmonella, campylobacter, or E.coli, increasing disease risk.⁷ Warm weather encourages outdoor eating and picnics, with risk of leaving food unrefrigerated for too long.⁸
- Onsite container refrigeration, truck-trailer refrigeration, cold storage, and food retail display cases are all susceptible to heat stress and power outages; a breach in temperature control can increase contamination.⁹
- Increasing drought can also increase the risk for foodborne illness, as water for basic sanitation becomes scarcer.¹⁰
- Higher temperatures and water-logged pastures following extreme storms may lead to increased indoor housing of livestock, which could increase zoonotic exposures for workers, proliferation of antibiotic resistant bacteria, and food and water contamination.^{11,12}
- Heavy rainfall may increase risk of contamination of irrigation water or produce.¹³

Waterborne Disease and Climate Change

- There are an estimated 12 to 19 million endemic cases of waterborne illness in the U.S. each year, 50% of which are associated with extreme rainfall (See Section <u>4.7—Storms and Flooding</u>).¹⁴
- Flooding of water and sewage treatment facilities increases the risk of waterborne disease.¹⁵



Colorful anti Zika poster decorates the sidewalk during a campaign in Ipanema. lazyllama / Shutterstock.com



Mosquito Spray Fairfax County/flickr.com

- Heavy rainfall can overwhelm "combined" sewer systems (collecting both sewage and storm water runoff) with release of untreated waste into surrounding water bodies.¹⁶
- Warmer water temperatures, in both ocean and freshwater sources:
 - Allow for greater proliferation of microorganisms that can cause serious gastrointestinal illness.¹⁷
 - Foster the growth of harmful algal blooms (HAB), associated with exposure to dangerous, potentially fatal, toxins. Algal growth also increases with higher CO₂ levels.^{18,19}
 - In summer of 2015, an unprecedented HAB stretched from Alaska to the California coast, leading to extensive fisheries shutdowns to prevent exposure to algae-produced domoic acid, which can cause life-threatening Amnesic Shellfish Poisoning if consumed.²⁰
 - Recent studies have found that harmful algal blooms contribute significantly to methane emissions, further contributing to global climate change.²¹

Airborne Illness and Climate Change

Wind, especially in conjunction with dust, can increase concentrations of airborne bacteria, viruses, and fungi.^{22,23} High temperatures and drought increase soil dry-out and dust, which in arid areas like U.S. Southwest can carry *Coccidioides immitis* fungal spores that can cause Valley Fever when inhaled.²⁴

• California experienced a fivefold increase in Valley Fever cases between 2000–2011, and in Arizona in 2018, the total number of recorded cases as of March was 2,461, compared to 1,360 over the same period in 2017.^{25,26}

Climate Change, Infectious Disease, and Health Equity

- **Occupation:** Farm workers and other outdoor laborers are at greater risk for exposure to vector- and airborne illness.²⁷
- Housing and Neighborhood Conditions: Lack of window and door screens can increase exposure to vector-borne disease. Poor neighborhoods have more mosquitos because they have more abandoned properties and more trash that pools water to harbor mosquito larvae.²⁸
- **Poor Infrastructure:** People living in neighborhoods with aging water and sewer infrastructure may be at greater risk of sewer overflows and water-borne disease after flooding.²⁹
- **Race and Ethnicity:** African Americans and Filipinos are at higher risk of illness following exposure to Coccidioidomycosis.³⁰
- **Indigenous Communities:** Communities with greater reliance on traditional food resources, such as shellfish, are at higher risk due to the increase in pathogens associated with rising ocean temperatures.³¹
- **Insurance Status:** Those without insurance are at greater risk of delaying care or receiving insufficient health care.³²
- Chronic Illness: Those with compromised immune systems are more susceptible to infectious diseases.³³
- **Displaced Populations:** People displaced by climate change and extreme weather events are at higher risk due to crowded and poor quality living conditions, and limited healthcare access.³⁴

What Local Health Departments Can Do

Local health departments' infectious disease control strategies need to evolve to address the shifts in disease dynamics associated with climate change.³⁵ This will require: 1) assessment and surveillance, 2) preparedness and planning for extreme events and related displacement, 3) collaboration with other departments and agencies, and 4) increased outreach and education for the public and health professionals. Recommendations for specific infectious disease categories follow the general recommendations below.

Across Programs

Assessment and Surveillance

Surveillance is critical for the identification and control of climate-sensitive infectious diseases and the factors contributing to their spread.³⁶ Current vector-borne and infectious disease surveillance systems may be enhanced to ensure adequacy in the era of climate change. For example, vector monitoring may change as habitats and distribution of tick, mosquito and rodent species shift in seasonality, geographic range, and concentration due to climate change (See Section <u>7.1—Surveillance</u>).

Assessment

Work with your LHD epidemiology and surveillance staff, local climate scientists, vector control agencies, and others to identify populations vulnerable to climate-sensitive infectious disease, including:

- Baseline demographic and socioeconomic data
- Baseline incidence of climate-sensitive infectious diseases
- Baseline prevalence of vectors and reservoirs
- Nature and magnitude of travel and immigration patterns
- Climate risks for your jurisdiction
- Neighborhoods at higher risk for flooding, sea level rise, heat
- Neighborhoods at risk due to housing conditions, blight, sewage and storm water overflow
- Risks associated with land use and land cover (e.g. grazing near recreational waters, wetlands)
- Households using private or very small system wells
- Indigenous populations at risk due to reliance on local food sources (e.g. shellfish harvest)

Surveillance

- Modify surveillance, enhance data analysis, and prepare for case response and investigation based on anticipated changes in infectious disease risk.
- Enhance syndromic surveillance in hospital emergency departments to include febrile illness.
- Forecast disease outbreaks: Combine environmental data, meteorological forecasts, and information on disease incidence to develop models that can forecast high risk of disease and information for early warning systems.^{37,38}

Intersectoral Collaboration

Look for opportunities to work across departments to address the impacts of climate change on infectious diseases and to ensure that actions prioritize low-income communities and vulnerable populations. For example, housing, sanitation, and public works agencies can implement strategies to reduce standing water that provides breeding habitat for mosquitos; environmental health agencies can educate food retail workers on strategies to reduce food-borne illness risks with rising temperatures; housing, building, and zoning agencies, can address factors in the built environment that impact vector habitat, such as rain water harvest systems, abandoned swimming pools, outdoor tire sales, or window screens.

Work with health care providers and facilities to ensure recognition and reporting of climate-related infectious diseases:

- Educate providers on anticipated climate impacts, the connection to infectious disease, screening, diagnosis, and treatment of climate-sensitive diseases.
- Emphasize the importance of reporting new cases of climate-sensitive infectious illness or any unusual occurrences or patterns of illness to the LHD.
- Provide patient education materials for distribution through provider offices.

Preparing for Extreme Weather Events and Population Displacement

Climate change will increase the risk of extreme events throughout the country, whether through extended periods of extreme heat, prolonged droughts, or the intensification of storms and flooding. Communicable disease risk after natural disasters is associated most closely with the extent of population displacement and the characteristics of the communities displaced.³⁹ Access to safe drinking water, food, and healthcare will impact potential transmission following displacement, as will interrupted waste management services, limited shelter for displaced populations, the underlying health status of the population affected, and underlying rates of disease transmission.^{40,41}

- Public outreach: Proactively plan for potential challenges pertaining to outreach, language and cultural barriers, legal status (immigration status, age, guardianship/vulnerable adults), and risky occupational situations.
 - Prepare working drafts of public education/alerts/communications for distribution during extreme events (e.g. boil water orders, flood water precautions).
 - Establish an accessible information hotline for residents with multiple language options.
 - Ensure messaging regarding infectious disease prevention following a disaster is broadcast on local TV and radio stations in multiple languages and is accessible for people with disabilities.
- Educate providers about infectious disease risks associated with climate change and with climate-related extreme weather events. For example, inform providers about increased risk of infection in people with direct contact with floodwaters.⁴²
- Work with Public Health Emergency Preparedness (PHEP) to ensure availability of sanitation facilities, hand washing facilities with soap and water, operation procedures and operator training, community outreach and education in case of extreme weather events that disrupt water supplies and sanitation systems. See CDC's <u>Potential Sanitation Solutions during an Emergency Response</u>.⁴³
- Work with your PHEP program to ensure that plans are in place for immunizations for evacuees and displaced persons following a climate-related disaster.
 - See the CDC's recommendations on <u>immunizations</u> following natural disasters and extreme weather.⁴⁴
 - Inform Medical Reserve Corps of recommendations for <u>tetanus and HepB vaccines</u> for disaster responders.⁴⁵
 - Develop protocols for onsite tuberculosis screening, immunization and/or treatment following extreme events (e.g. in evacuation shelters).
 - Prepare for enhanced medication and vaccine cold chain monitoring and protection as extreme events and heat will potentially disrupt electricity production for proper refrigeration.
 - Ensure providers <u>safely store vaccines</u> (and other medications) in the case of a power outage.⁴⁶
- Keep policies and permissions up-to-date (e.g. with regards to quarantine, triaging and housing of displaced populations).

Community Engagement and Education

- Engage communities through participation in "community science" programs that address climaterelated infectious disease risks. For example, researchers in Texas established a citizen science program to monitor distribution and infection prevalence of the "kissing bugs" that transmit the parasite that causes Chagas disease.⁴⁷ In Southeast Alaska, the Sitka Tribe's <u>Southeast Alaska Tribal Ocean Research</u> (SEATOR) program monitors for harmful algal species whose toxins can accumulate in shellfish.⁴⁸
- Work with community organizations throughout the development and distribution of outreach and educational materials to ensure that all residents receive information about infectious disease risks:
 - Use multiple formats (e.g. print, radio, television, social media) and outlets (e.g. community events and meetings, worship services, and other venues) See<u>Climate Change and Lyme Disease</u>.⁴⁹
 - Provide information in all languages relevant in your community, use low-literacy formats, and address the needs of those with communication impairments. See <u>HealthReach</u> for materials in many languages.⁵⁰

Vector-Borne Illness

Assessment and Surveillance

Consider changes in the frequency or location of surveillance to detect changes in the presence of diseasecarrying vectors and vector-borne disease in animal hosts.⁵¹ Surveillance for different mosquito species may require changes in trapping location, time of day, and trap type.

- Notify vector control or your state health department of identification of mosquitoes tentatively identified as *Aedes aegypti* or *Aedes albopictus*; send specimens to confirm identification.⁵²
- Work with housing and code enforcement agencies to acquire data on vacant and blighted properties to identify and map vulnerable neighborhoods for targeted education and vector habitat control.⁵³
- Assess projected burden of vector-borne disease using current surveillance data and climate projections, using VBD models and decision support tools.⁵⁴
- Prepare a plan for follow-up of suspected and confirmed cases of dengue, chikungunya, or Zika infection:
 - Rapid notification to the local vector control agency to launch targeted mosquito surveillance and control activities.⁵⁵
 - Case follow-up and management protocols.
 - Protocols and responsibilities for sharing information about human cases of dengue, chikungunya, and Zika.

Intersectoral Collaboration

Collaborate with public works, housing, zoning, and building agencies to upgrade codes and enforcement

- Require screens on home doors and windows, including rental properties and multi-family housing.
- Ensure that rain water collection systems include adequate screening.

Train building inspectors, sanitation workers, code enforcement workers and others to look for even small amounts of standing water to prevent vector reproduction.

• In August 2016, following the announcement of several locally transmitted Zika cases, Miami-Dade County Department of Health collaborated with city sanitation workers who flushed standing water, sprayed streets with 250-degree water, and removed trash to eliminate potential breeding sites.⁵⁶

Work with parks and recreation and water departments to implement strategies (e.g. tree planting) to reduce water temperature and standing water in parks and recreation areas to reduce vectors.⁵⁷

Work with vector and animal control agencies:

- Prepare for the introduction and spread of mosquito species that may be new to your jurisdiction (e.g. *Aedes Aegypti*).⁵⁸
- Conduct enhanced monitoring of *Aedes* and *Culex* mosquitoes, dead birds and sentinel chickens after extreme precipitation and flooding and during drought.⁵⁹
- Collaborate on an outreach plan that can be implemented at the first detection of invasive *Aedes* mosquitoes.⁶⁰

For LHD home visit programs, support Public Health Nursing and Maternal Child Health to integrate patient education and assessment of vector-borne disease risks into home visits (e.g. window and door screens, standing water), along with referrals for code enforcement and weatherization services.

LHD Spotlight: ______ Tulsa City-County Health Department

With increasing temperatures and changing precipitation patterns in the region, the Tulsa City-County Health Department in Oklahoma was concerned about the spread of *Aedes aegypti* mosquitos, known to transmit Dengue, Chikungunya, Zika, and Yellow Fever viruses. The department's Environmental Health Services (EHS) team wanted to enhance its program to proactively monitor for local *Aedes aegypti* and to educate the community about vector control and VBD.

Adam Austin, Environmental Specialist for the Tulsa City-County Health Department, commented: "We didn't realize when we started how steep the learning curve would be—not only did we have to learn how to use new traps, but it took some time to learn when and where to place the traps to yield the best information. This mosquito just does not behave the same way as the mosquitos we've mainly been concerned about in the past."⁶¹

Once the department developed a monitoring protocol, they created maps of the distribution of *Aedes aegypti* in the region, measuring against variables like locations of standing water, soil type, seasonal flooding, and economic hardship quartiles. They worked with the city to consider new standards for screens on windows/doors and enforce existing screen requirements and prohibition of the sale of tires (notorious mosquito breeding receptacles) within 300 feet of residential properties, as well as consideration of a new requirement that tires stored outdoors be covered.

Community Engagement and Education

Integrate climate change into routine informational materials.

Zika

Original: Residents of the Rio Grande Valley should remain on alert for Zika and take precautions even during winter months because it often stays warm enough for mosquito activity to continue through the winter.⁶²

Modified: Residents of the Rio Grande Valley should remain on alert for Zika and take precautions even during winter months. As *climate change is causing milder winters*, mosquito activity is more likely to continue through the winter.

Foodborne Illness

Assessment and Surveillance

Consider implementation of syndromic surveillance for food-borne illness during heat waves or following significant power outages.

Intersectoral Collaboration

Environmental Health

- Work with food facility inspectors to ensure that food handlers and preparers are informed about climaterelated risks of food-borne illness.
- Increase frequency of retail food inspections (and incorporate education addressing heightened risk of food-borne illness with higher temperatures).
- Monitor water temperature in areas of seafood and shellfish harvest.
- Monitor seafood and shellfish for *Vibrio* bacteria with high water and ambient air temperatures.

Community Engagement and Education

Integrate climate change into public information.

Foodborne Illness

Original: Due to factors including warmer temperatures, foodborne illness increases in summer. Stay healthy and safe during warmer months by following these food safety recommendations.⁶³

Modified: Foodborne illness increases in summer due to factors including warmer temperatures, *and climate change is making temperatures even warmer*. Stay healthy and safe during warmer months by following these food safety recommendations.

Waterborne Illness

Assessment and Surveillance

Assess the need for increased frequency and more locations for monitoring of water quality.

• Consider implementation of syndromic surveillance for water-borne disease following extreme precipitation and flooding.

Map outlet sites for combined sewer and storm water systems to identify neighborhoods at risk due to extreme precipitation and flooding events.

Intersectoral Collaboration

Advocate for building codes that encourage the use of gray water, and work with Environmental Health and building inspectors to ensure prevention of cross-contamination in water sources used for drinking or vegetable garden irrigation.

Support parks and public works to build swales and rain gardens, and plant more trees near waterways to prevent flooding and runoff and reduce water temperature (See Section <u>5.4—Urban Greening</u>).⁶⁴

Work with local and regional water quality control districts, water utilities, and watershed managers:65

- Assess water quality monitoring protocols and potential need for enhancement.
- Strengthen regulations and enforcement to prevent water contamination.

Encourage planning, public works and building permit agencies to require the use of permeable material in new paved areas to prevent flooding and runoff.⁶⁶

Preparing for Extreme Weather Events and Population Displacement

Support the regional Water Board and Environmental Health to plan for alternative water sources for drinking and hygiene following flooding or extreme precipitation.

Community Engagement and Education

Engage residents in community science programs, for example to increase monitoring for harmful algal bloom through collection of cyanobacteria and toxin data. See the <u>Eel River Recovery Project</u>⁶⁸

Integrate climate change into educational messages about waterborne illness.

Harmful Algal Blooms

Original: When conditions are favorable (such as an increase in water temperature and available nutrients) algae can produce algal blooms⁶⁷

Modified: When conditions are favorable (such as an increase in water temperature and available nutrients) algae can produce algal blooms. *Warming temperatures and waters due to climate change are increasing the likelihood of these favorable conditions for blooms*.

132

Airborne Illness

Assessment and Surveillance

Partner with health care providers in endemic areas to report all Valley Fever cases, especially during and following periods of drought.

Intersectoral Collaboration

Collaborate with County Agricultural Commissioners and local growers and construction businesses to implement safety training in multiple languages and low literacy formats for agricultural and construction workers to prevent Cocci exposure and Valley Fever infections.

Work with local air quality control districts and occupational safety and health agencies to increase outreach on measures to reduce dust.

In Valley Fever endemic areas, collaborate with local fire agencies to inform wildland firefighters about prevention of coccidiodomycosis.69

Provide employers in Valley Fever endemic areas with information about reducing risk, and employer requirements to reduce dust exposure and report Valley Fever cases.⁷⁰ See Preventing Work-Related Coccidioidomycosis

(Valley Fever).⁷¹

Community Engagement and Education

Conduct outreach and provide linguistically and culturally appropriate information about Valley Fever to outdoor workers in endemic areas. See this Valley Fever handout in Spanish.⁷²

For More Information

CDC Infectious Disease Sites:

- Valley Fever⁷³
- West Nile Virus⁷⁴ •
- Dengue Fever⁷⁵
- Lyme Disease⁷⁶ •
- Zika77

6.3 Environmental Health Services

Public Environmental Health (PEH) agencies are responsible for addressing food, water, recreational health, hazardous materials, solid waste and waste management, indoor and outdoor air quality, housing, noise, body art, medical waste, and emergency preparedness. Environmental Health Specialists may be licensed to inspect and enforce laws at restaurants and markets, temporary food facilities, food warehouses, licensed housing and swimming pools at apartments and condominiums, pet food stores, theaters, and self-service laundries. PEH agencies handle sanitation complaints and educate the public about protecting against environmental health risks. Local PEH programs often work closely with agencies that address air quality and vector control.

Key Messages

Why Public Environmental Health Should Care

- Virtually every area in which local public environmental health programs (PEH) are involved is impacted by climate change, including water, air, food, housing, and waste infrastructure.
- Climate change exacerbates many of the environmental risks that PEH endeavors to reduce and control. PEH agencies are uniquely positioned to help minimize the risks associated with climate change, and in several areas, your PEH routine activities and emerging responsibilities can help mitigate climate change by reducing greenhouse gas emissions from various sources.

What Public Environmental Health Can Do

- Enhance surveillance and laboratory capacity to address changes in food and waterborne illness risk.
- Collaborate with agencies in other sectors such as parks, public works, and local air quality management districts to manage climate-related risks and impacts.
- Augment regulatory practices in order to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and climate related risks.
- Work with Public Health Emergency Preparedness to include environmental health concerns in emergency response and recovery planning.
- Inform the regulated community, partner agencies, and community residents about the increasing risks of climate-related food and waterborne illness and measures to protect against them.

Environmental Justice

"Environmental justice is the right of all people and communities to live, work, and play in a clean and safe environment"

– Environmental Health Coalition

Environmental justice calls for:1

- recognition of and a halt to imposition of disproportionate environmental harm on low income communities and communities of color
- opportunity for full inclusion of community residents in decisions that affect their communities
- striving to achieve, environmentally healthy and economically sustainable communities.

Communities of color and low-income communities are disproportionately impacted by environmental hazards, including air pollution and other toxics exposures, living with a cumulative environmental burden that stems from a legacy of land use, planning, and infrastructure investment decisions that have placed them in harm's way due to proximity to transportation infrastructure, industrial facilities, hazardous waste sites, and industrialized agricultural operations. Historical disenfranchisement, lack of social and economic power, environmental racism, and the policies and activities of governments, corporations, and other institutions contributed to this burden.²

These risks are exacerbated by climate change, leading to the "Climate Gap"—"disproportionate and unequal implications of climate change and climate change mitigation" for "people of color and the poor."³ For example, people of color and low income people often live in neighborhoods with higher levels of air pollution, have higher asthma rates and are more impacted by rising ozone levels due to warmer temperatures.^{4,5}

Through proactive engagement with disadvantaged communities, PEH can better integrate equity considerations into PEH practice and help to both redress environmental injustice and build climate resilience.

How Climate Change Impacts Public Environmental Health

Food Safety and Climate Change

See Section <u>4.8—Food Security</u>

- Higher ambient temperatures increase the replication cycle of food-borne pathogens such as salmonella, campylobacter, or *E. coli*, increasing disease risk.
- Extreme weather events can prevent transportation of food products, disrupt food supply chains, increase loss due to spoilage, and increase risk of breaches at any stage of the food cold chain, with resultant food contamination.
- Reduced access to water for basic sanitation during drought may increase the risk of food-borne illness.⁶

Vector Control and Climate Change

See Section <u>6.3—Infectious Disease</u>

Climate change is causing warmer temperatures and precipitation changes that

- impact the habitat, geographical range, and mating cycles of disease-carrying mosquitoes and ticks;^{7,8}
- foster earlier seasonal onset and longer seasons for vector borne disease transmission;^{9,10}
- accelerate pathogens and mosquito reproduction, shorten disease incubation time in mosquitoes; and¹¹
- increase droughts that may create stagnant water (e.g. poorly flushed sewers) that breeds mosquitos.^{12,13}

Water Access and Quality and Climate Change

Rising sea levels (especially coupled with drought) can result in significant salt-water intrusion, rendering fresh water undrinkable without significant treatment and reducing access to safe drinking water.¹⁴

Severe drought may reduce water access and limit water for sanitation and hygiene.

Drought increases the concentration of harmful contaminants in ground and surface waters, such as industrial chemicals, heavy metals, and nitrates from fertilizers.

- Increased reliance on groundwater during drought may increase toxics exposure.
- Land subsidence puts infrastructure like roads and levees at risk of permanent damage.¹⁵

Climate change increases the risk of illness related to recreational water use.

- Increased sea and freshwater temperatures increase frequency and severity of toxic Harmful Algal Blooms (HAB) associated with respiratory, gastrointestinal and neurological problems.¹⁶
- Increased water temperatures are associated with more growth of virulent strains of *Vibrio* bacteria (e.g. V. cholerae).¹⁷

In many poor, rural communities access to clean, safe drinking water is already tenuous, further threatened by drought.

- Every year from 1982 to 2018, 3–10% of water systems in the U.S. were in violation of federal Safe Drinking Water Act health standards.¹⁸
 - In 2015, 21 million Americans were likely drinking from unsafe water sources.¹⁹
 - The most U.S. violations clustered in Oklahoma and West Texas.²⁰
- For communities reliant on groundwater for drinking water, contamination has far-reaching health impacts.²¹

Solid Waste and Climate Change

Extreme weather events associated with climate change may damage solid waste infrastructure and disrupt road and rail waste transport. Coastal flooding and erosion due to sea level rise threaten low-lying coastal waste facilities.

Housing and Climate Change

Flooding increases mold associated with asthma and allergies. Increased average temperatures and extreme weather events may drive rodents closer to people, increasing risk of rodent-borne pathogens.²²
Hazardous Waste and Climate Change

- Extreme precipitation, storms, and flooding increase the risk of hazardous waste leakages from storage sites and associated exposure to hazardous materials.²³
 - Flooding after Hurricane Harvey caused spills at one of Houston's dirtiest Superfund toxic waste sites, a former petroleum industry waste processing plant.²⁴
- Extreme storms and flooding may cause the emergency shutdown of refineries and chemical manufacturing facilities, often associated with flaring and toxic emissions.²⁵
 - During Hurricane Harvey, ExxonMobil reported damages to two of its refineries, causing the release of hazardous materials.²⁶
- Wildfires can result in release of toxics when materials are burned, resulting in soil and water contamination.

Air Quality and Climate Change

See Section <u>4.4—Air Quality</u>

Many regions in the U.S. have a serious problem with particulate matter and ozone pollution; climate change makes it more difficult to attain clean air standards.^{27,28}

- Higher temperatures increase ozone and stagnation events create the worst ozone episodes.²⁹
- Greater frequency and intensity of wildfires increases exposure to smoke laden with fine particulate matter (PM_{2.5}). Wildfire smoke spreads over long distances and is associated with increased risks for respiratory and cardiovascular disease.³⁰
- Drought is increasing in frequency and severity and causes higher dust levels, causing respiratory irritation and exposure to dust-borne fungal spores.

What Local Health Departments Can Do

Across Programs

Assessment and Surveillance

Surveillance is critical for the identification and control of climate-sensitive environmental health outcomes. Even states and jurisdiction with sophisticated vector-borne and infectious disease surveillance systems need to consider enhancement to ensure adequacy in the era of climate change.

- Monitoring for vectors must be adapted as vector habitats and distribution of tick, mosquito and rodent species shift in seasonality, geographic range, and concentration due to climate change.
 - Work with Communicable Disease programs and Vector Control agencies to assess whether enhanced surveillance is required.
 - Train PEH staff to identify and report sources of standing water that breeds mosquitos.

Intersectoral Collaboration

PEH often review new development permitting and associated Environmental Impact Reports (EIR). Providing a health lens in land use, transportation, and housing planning and in climate action planning brings significant community health benefits. Reach out to enhance PEH collaboration with city and county planning, public works, Regional Water Boards, Vector Control Agencies, and Air Districts.

Regulatory Activities

The role of PEH agencies in permitting and inspecting facilities provides a prime opportunity to integrate climate and health education and surveillance across facilities and with diverse populations.

Preparing for Extreme Weather Events and Population Displacement

Strategies to ensure PEH health and safety during climate-related disasters include:

- Work with your Public Health Emergency Preparedness program to ensure that plans are in place to minimize impacts on food, water, and waste systems during a climate-related disaster.
- Develop communication channels and materials to ensure the public is informed about how to protect people from illness during climate-related extreme weather events. Make sure all materials are available in languages used in the community.

Community Engagement and Education

Work with community partners to develop plans for disseminating information about PEH risks and responses that use communication channels and language that will reach all community members.

Coordinate with "community science" programs to provide opportunities for residents to monitor climate-related risks and impacts using new, accessible and portable monitoring technologies. Examples of projects include:

- NASA <u>Harmful Algal Bloom tracking</u> program³¹
- Texas A&M <u>Chagas disease monitoring³²</u>
- <u>Unmask My City</u> air monitoring project and campaign³³

Look for opportunities to integrate mentions of climate change in materials and media messages for the public whenever relevant, to increase public awareness that climate change is a health issue. Opportunities include public health alerts, health advisory announcements, and educational materials and campaigns related to public environmental health.

Make information accessible to all

- Provide information in all languages relevant in your community.
- Make the information culturally appropriate.
- Use multiple formats (print, radio, television, social media) and outlets (community events and meetings, worship services, and other venues).
- Use low-literacy formats.
- Address the needs of those with communication impairments.

Food Safety

See Sections <u>4.8—Food Security</u> and <u>5.3—Agriculture</u>

Assessment and Surveillance

Increase the frequency of retail food inspections, incorporating education about temperature and food safety.

Conduct active surveillance of food-borne illnesses. See for example the <u>CDC FoodNet program</u>.³⁴

Intersectoral Collaboration

Collaborate with local agencies to support sustainable, local food systems.



An urban farm in Chicago Linda from Chicago, USA - New crops, CC BY 2.0

- Increase permitting of urban farms and community gardens.
- Support zoning changes that facilitate urban farms, community gardens, and mobile vending of fruits and vegetables.
- Engage with local educational agencies, hospitals, universities, and large food facilities to increase local food procurement programs to support sustainable local food systems.
- Collaborate with local agricultural organizations and extension programs to educate growers and agricultural operations about agriculture-climate change-health connections.
- Advocate for subsidies for fruits and vegetable farming.
- Collaborate broadly to reduce food waste and improve safe surplus food donation.
 - Train all Environmental Health Specialists on climate change, food waste, and safe food recovery and food insecurity. Adapt and disseminate the Safe <u>Surplus Food Donation Best Management</u> <u>Practices</u> and <u>Toolkit</u>.^{35,36}
- Encourage local electeds to set food waste and recovery goals.

Regulatory Activities

Increase frequency of retail food inspections and provide materials about liability protections and benefits of diverting surplus wholesome food from the waste stream to local nonprofit hunger relief agencies.

Update temporary food facility permitting to include a requirement for arrangements with a nonprofit hunger relief agency to recover surplus edible food following events.

Preparing for Extreme Weather Events and Population Displacement

Establish protocols for minimizing risks associated with disruptions in food cold chains due to extreme events, power outages, or transportation problems.

Plan for disruptions in food supply chains.

— LHD Spotlight: — Partnerships to Reduce Food Waste

In 2016 the California Conference of Directors of Environmental Health, the Public Health Institute, and local PEH programs developed a <u>Climate Resilience, Equity, and Food Waste</u> <u>Reduction</u> training curriculum for Environmental Health Specialists (EHS). The curriculum covered the nexus of climate change, food systems and food waste, food insecurity and health equity, and the role of EHS in educating the public and ultimately reducing GHGE associated with food and organic waste breaking down in the landfill. The collaborative team also developed these documents: <u>Safe Surplus Food Donation Best Management Practices: Guidance for Environmental</u> <u>Health Departments</u> and <u>Safe Surplus Food Donation Toolkit: Guidance for Food Facilities</u>.

- Over 850 EHS were trained across 52 of the 62 state jurisdictions in 30 trainings.
- Many departments adopted the recommended best management programs outlined in the training sessions, including;
 - Appointing a Safe Surplus Food Donation liaison in Food Program to answer questions and provide guidance regarding surplus food donation
 - Posting informational materials on PEH website.
 - Collaborating with local CBO and other agencies to establish a food recovery workgroup.

Community Engagement and Education

Support community-based organizations that are working to build healthy and sustainable local food systems.

• See for examples: <u>Models and Best Practices-Urban Agriculture</u>³⁷

Collaborate to inform residents about the climate-food-health connection.

- Ask businesses and community organizations to share and display educational materials about food safety and food waste, such as USDA's <u>Be Food Safe</u> Campaign, information on food safety following a power outage, or resources from the <u>Save the Food Campaign</u>.^{38,39}
- Encourage programs such as Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) and Nutrition Education and Obesity Prevention (NEOP) programs to integrate education about date labels and food waste into materials and education.

Look for opportunities to integrate mentions of climate change in materials and media messages for the public whenever relevant, to increase public awareness that climate change is a health issue. Opportunities include public health alerts, health advisory announcements, and educational materials and campaigns related to food safety.

Vector Control

See Section <u>6.2—Infectious Disease</u>

Assessment and Surveillance

Change the frequency or location of monitoring and surveillance programs to detect changes in the geographic range or incidence of vectors and vector-borne diseases.⁴⁰

- Plan enhanced surveillance during droughts and after flooding and storm surge events.
- Target communities at risk due to housing conditions, lack of access to water, or other infrastructure considerations.

Share disease and vector surveillance data with other LHDs to detect patterns larger than a single jurisdiction.

Develop early warning systems to alert residents of forecast increases in tick or mosquito activity.

Combine data of environmental change, social and demographic determinants, and health system capacity to create a predictive model for disease outbreaks for early warning systems.⁴¹

Intersectoral Collaboration

Collaborate with preparedness, communicable disease, and vector control to ensure plans to adequately monitor for the introduction and spread of mosquito species new to your jurisdiction (e.g. *Aedes Aegypti*).

• Prepare an outreach plan for implementation at the first detection of invasive Aedes mosquitoes.

Ask animal control agencies to report unusual disease patterns or increased incidence of wildlife/human contact.

Work with housing, zoning, building, and public works agencies to reduce vector-borne disease risk:

- Require screens on windows throughout mosquito season to prevent transmission (including for renters).
- Require businesses that sell tires and other mosquito breeding receptacles keep them inside or covered (e.g. with awning).
- Increase code enforcement to reduce vector habitat on abandoned or blighted properties.

Work with Communicable Disease and vector control to prepare a plan for suspected and confirmed cases of Dengue, Chikungunya, or Zika infection, including:

- rapid notification to the local vector control agency.⁴²
- case follow-up and management protocols.
- protocols and responsibilities for sharing information about human cases of Dengue, Chikungunya, and Zika.

Regulatory Activities

Develop protocols to inspect for and address vector breeding habitat during routine inspections.

• Ensure proper installation of screening on rainwater harvest/catchment systems.

Preparing for Extreme Weather Events and Population Displacement

Establish (and exercise) plans to respond to detection of invasive mosquito species and/or cases of mosquitorelated illness such as Dengue or Zika, e.g. house-to-house education, inspection for standing water.

Community Engagement and Education

Engage residents in identifying and mapping vacant and abandoned buildings to target inspections and improve code enforcement to remediate vector habitat.

• The Detroit Blight Removal Task Force partnered with several community-based organizations to collaborate with city residents to use a mobile application, "Blexting," to survey and map all of the abandoned and blighted properties across the city. Community scientists took photos of the properties and answered a series of standardized questions about each property.⁴³

Partner with parks and vector control agencies and community-based organizations in community science projects that enhance tick and mosquito surveillance.

• The San Mateo County Mosquito and Vector Control District and county Parks department conducts events that engage community residents in tick collection and mosquito surveillance. During one event, community scientists were provided basic training for tick collection and tick bite prevention, and then participated in tick collection along 12 miles of trails in the area.⁴⁴

Increase public outreach based on changing vector patterns, including education during on-site inspection of housing and other facilities.

Look for opportunities to integrate mentions of climate change in materials and media messages for the public whenever relevant, to increase public awareness that climate change is a health issue. Opportunities include public health alerts, health advisory announcements, and educational materials and campaigns related to vector control. For example:

Mosquitos

Original: Reduce the number of mosquitoes inside your home by patching, repairing or replacing screens with holes or screens that don't fit tightly to the door or window frame. If your outside doors are ever propped open, make sure there is a screen door and that it remains closed.⁴⁵

Modified: Reduce the number of mosquitoes inside your home by patching, repairing or replacing screens with holes or screens that don't fit tightly to the door or window frame. *Climate change is altering mosquito habitat ranges and breeding patterns, which may bring them closer to your home...*

142

Water Access and Quality

Assessment and Surveillance

Ensure monitoring of water temperature and prompt cessation of seafood and shellfish harvesting when temperatures are high, to prevent Vibrio-related illness.⁴⁶

Establish protocols for increased monitoring of water quality after flooding and during prolonged drought conditions.

Increase frequency of monitoring for harmful algal blooms/toxins with warmer temperatures in beach waters and recreational water bodies.

Assess water security (e.g. likelihood of drought, projected impact on drinking water, water for agriculture/livestock, inventory of wells); map populations vulnerable to water insecurity.



Algal Bloom Warning, Marion Lake, KS, US Dr. Jennifer L. Graham, U.S. Geological Survey

Intersectoral Collaboration

Coordinate with planning, housing, building and public works agencies to increase use of permeable pavements and safe rainwater harvesting systems,

Collaborate with regional water agencies to plan for alternative water sources for drinking and hygiene following flooding and drought.

Collaborate with water districts and water utilities to increase public support and plan for "indirect potable reuse" projects that replenish groundwater with recycled wastewater.

• Orange County, CA expects to process and pump 130 million gallons of wastewater into groundwater basins per day. Orange County Water District has projected that the wastewater treatment project will eventually supply water to 2.4 million people, meeting approximately 40% of the county's water needs.⁴⁷

Work with parks and public works agencies to implement strategies (e.g. planting trees, permeable surfaces) to reduce water temperature and standing water in public areas.

Coordinate with parks and water agencies to inform the public and policy makers on climate change and water quality issues.

Regulatory Activities

Increase permitting of water conservation methods such as rainwater harvesting/catchment systems, on-site grey water reuse.

During routine inspections of pools and spas educate owners about the risk of mosquito breeding in poorly maintained swimming pools, spas, or backyard ponds.

Preparing for Extreme Weather Events and Population Displacement

Prepare and translate materials in advance to inform the public about how to protect from contaminated water or obtain adequate water supplies, including *Boil Water* and *Do Not Drink* orders.

During flooding events or prolonged drought encourage well users to use alternative drinking water (i.e. bottled water) while testing the water for bacteria, nitrates, arsenic, and other contaminants and treating as needed.

• Following the wildfires in Sonoma County in 2017, a <u>Do Not Boil, Do Not Drink</u> order was issued due to benzene contamination in the water.⁴⁸

Develop strategies to provide emergency or supplemental water sources (e.g. agreements for purchase/provision of bottled water, locations to store and distribute it, agreements with water suppliers and haulers).

Identify, support, and implement long-term water conservation strategies, in partnership with regional water districts and community partners.

Community Engagement and Education

Engage community residents in community science projects.

- Support projects to monitor water bodies for harmful algal blooms. See <u>CyanoTracker</u> for an example of HAB monitoring.⁴⁹
- Partner with CBOs to conduct community-based projects to revitalize streams and waterways.
 - The <u>Morrison Creek Revitalization Project</u> in South Sacramento, CA is a "collaborative community-based urban stream revitalization project," which aims to transform a stretch of local creek into a naturalized and attractive waterway, improving active transportation and neighborhood connectivity.⁵⁰

Support community based organizations that are educating about and advocating for clean water. See, for example, the network of <u>Waterkeepers</u>.⁵¹

- The <u>Environmental Justice Coalition of Water</u> worked to secure passage of California AB 685 Human Right to Water.⁵²
- <u>Black Mesa Water Coalition</u> works to stop overuse of and prevent coal contamination of the Navajo Aquifer.⁵³

Look for opportunities to integrate mentions of climate change in materials and media messages for the public whenever relevant, to increase public awareness that climate change is a health issue. Opportunities include public health alerts, health advisory announcements, and educational materials and campaigns related to water safety. For example:

Harmful Algal Blooms

Original: *Public advised to avoid water contact:* High levels of toxic algae have been found in X water body. A harmful algal bloom of Microcystis aeruginosa is occurring in the water body. This type of blue-green algae produces a toxin that can cause rashes and other illness. The Virginia Department of Health is warning citizens to stay out of the water and to keep their pets and children out as well. Due to low body weight, children and pets are at greater risk of severe illness if the water is ingested. Harmful algal blooms occur when warm water and nutrients combine to make conditions favorable for blue-green algae growth.⁵⁴

Modified: Harmful algal blooms occur when warm water and nutrients combine to make conditions favorable for blue-green algae growth. *These conditions are occurring more frequently because climate change is causing warmer water temperatures.*"

Solid Waste

Assessment and Surveillance

Assess local landfill and waste management sites' vulnerability to projected climate impacts (flooding, sea level rise).

Assess potential public health risks associated with compromised solid waste management facilities, including water and refuse management in the case of extreme weather events.

Conduct health impact assessments (HIA) - in collaboration with community stakeholders - to assess the potential health benefits and adverse impacts of proposed biogas, anaerobic digesters, and other waste-to-energy (WTE) projects.

• Portland Metro conducted a rapid HIA on a proposed waste-to-energy project that would divert waste from the local landfill to an alternate facility. The rapid HIA illustrated that while there were negligible differences in the potential health impacts of either type of facility, the WTE project would generate 10 times the energy than the methane-to-energy production from the landfill. It was recommended that more in-depth research be conducted to assess the longer-term environmental and equity impacts of WTE.⁵⁵

Intersectoral Collaboration

Collaborate with local waste and recycling agencies, public works, waste haulers and community organizations to support and facilitate organic waste diversion efforts, for example through community composting workshops.

• In partnership with Denver Recycles, Denver Urban Gardens hosts <u>free public composting workshops</u> regularly throughout the spring and summer.⁵⁶

Regulatory Activities

In alignment with state organic waste diversion mandates, support diversion of organic waste and food waste to other recycling facilities, such as composting facilities or anaerobic digesters.

• In California in 2014, Governor Brown signed AB 1826, which aims to reduce the amount of organic waste being sent to the landfill. The mandate outlines that business or multi-family dwellings that generate a certain amount of waste must recycle organic waste.⁵⁷

• In the City of Seattle in 2014, the city passed a council bill that all commercial establishments must divert food and paper waste to organics recycling facilities.⁵⁸

Work with water, planning, and building agencies to explore expanded permitting of "eco-toilets"—composting and urine-diverting toilets. Massachusetts's law, for example, explicitly allows the use of composting toilets.⁵⁹

Decrease barriers associated with organic waste diversion.

• Promote siting of community gardens, community composting operations, and large-scale composting facilities and anaerobic digesters.

Educate and collaborate with other agencies and sectors to increase safe and appropriate distribution of biosolids on open land, including consideration of odors and proximity to homes and communities.

Preparing for Extreme Weather Events and Population Displacement

Establish solid waste disposal and management protocols for extreme weather events, for example in evacuation sites or in the event of compromise of solid waste disposal sites and transport

Integrate projected climate impacts and climate preparedness into:

- current solid waste management protocols (e.g. assess risks of combined sewer overflow)
- siting and approval of solid waste facilities

Community Engagement and Education

Increase public education regarding the benefits of organic waste diversion.

Look for opportunities to integrate mentions of climate change in materials and media messages for the public whenever relevant, to increase public awareness that climate change is a health issue. Opportunities include public health alerts, health advisory announcements, and educational materials and campaigns related to solid waste.

Housing

Intersectoral Collaboration

Coordinate with public health nursing, maternal and child health, communicable disease to integrate assessments and referrals to address mosquito protection (e.g. screening, standing water) and rodent control.

Regulatory Activities

Integrate inspection for window screening and vector habitat into routine multi-unit housing inspections.

During inspections of farmworker housing, assess ventilation, air conditioning, screening, and access to safe drinking water.

During inspections of organized homeless encampments assess sanitation, and potential risks associated with climate-related events (e.g. extreme heat, flooding, storms).

Preparing for Extreme Weather Events and Population Displacement

Work with PHEP and emergency management agencies to ensure adequate sanitation, drinking water, and vector and rodent control in evacuation shelters.

Connect with community-based organizations and social service agencies to ensure inhabitants of organized homeless encampments are aware of resources in the event of a climate-related emergency.

Community Engagement and Education

Support community organizations that are endeavoring to improve housing conditions that will increase resilience to climate change impacts and improve health and social cohesion.

Learn more about <u>Community-Based Housing Strategies</u>.⁶⁰

Look for opportunities to integrate mentions of climate change in materials and media messages for the public whenever relevant, to increase public awareness that climate change is a health issue. Opportunities include public health alerts, health advisory announcements, and educational materials and campaigns related to housing. For example:

Flooding and Mold

Original: Mold can create serious health problems for residents recovering from the severe storms and flooding...⁶¹

Modified: *Climate change is increasing the frequency of severe storms and flooding.* Mold can create serious health problems for residents recovering from the severe storms and flooding...

Hazardous Waste

Assessment and Surveillance

Map hazardous waste sites and establish protocols for monitoring for release of toxics following extreme weather events, floods, and wildfires.

Intersectoral Collaboration

Collaborate with environmental protection agencies and facility operators to assure that climate projections and related risks are being assessed and planned for.

Regulatory Activities

Consider projected climate impacts when reviewing permitting applications for hazardous waste sites and facilities that store hazardous materials.

Preparing for Extreme Weather Events and Population Displacement

Work with PHEP and emergency management agencies to include considerations for exposure to hazardous materials in emergency response and recovery plans.

Community Engagement and Education

Draft emergency notices (including in multiple language) about toxics contamination in advance of an emergency.

Collaborate with community-based organizations to inform residents near facilities that store hazardous materials or waste about potential risks of contamination following an extreme weather event and appropriate protective measures.

Look for opportunities to integrate mentions of climate change in materials and media messages for the public whenever relevant, to increase public awareness that climate change is a health issue. Opportunities include public health alerts, health advisory announcements, and educational materials and campaigns related to hazardous materials and waste.

Air Quality

See Section <u>4.4—Air Quality</u>

Assessment and Surveillance

Work with local air quality management agencies to increase monitoring of air quality with rising temperatures and during wildfires, and encourage use of community science to enhance air quality monitoring.

Intersectoral Collaboration

Collaborate with housing, maternal and child health, public health nursing, and fire agencies to integrate climaterelated indoor air quality concerns such as mold into home visits and inspections.

Preparing for Extreme Weather Events and Population Displacement

Collaborate with Public Health Emergency Preparedness to establish a plan for "cleaner air" shelters in case of wildfires and smoke. Include:

- Identification of facilities with tight-sealing windows and doors, and public access (newer public schools, fire stations), with a ventilation system that can significantly reduce intake of outdoor air; newer buildings tend to be more desirable.
- Ensure filters are upgraded prior to fire season.
- See the sample <u>cleaner air shelter checklist</u> from Oregon Health Authority.⁶²

Community Engagement and Education

Work with the local air quality management district or air quality control agencies to raise awareness about the connections between climate change, air quality, and health.

Look for opportunities to integrate mentions of climate change in materials and media messages for the public whenever relevant, to increase public awareness that climate change is a health issue. Opportunities include public health alerts, health advisory announcements, and educational materials and campaigns related to air quality.

6.4 Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention and Control

Chronic disease and injury prevention and control programs (CDIP) address a diverse array of health outcomes, behavioral risk factors, and social and environmental determinants of health, all of which are connected to climate change.

Key Messages

Why Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention Programs Should Care

- Climate change and chronic disease have shared systemic causes and shared solutions. Our transportation and land use, energy, food and agriculture, building and housing, and economic systems are major contributors to climate change and to the living conditions that drive chronic disease, injuries, and health inequities. Many upstream interventions to reduce chronic disease and injuries are the same as those required to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. See below and Section 5—Health Benefits.
- Climate change impacts temperature, air quality, food production, pollen production, and water access, which in turn makes it harder to prevent and control chronic illness. Rising temperatures increase the formation of ozone, making it more difficult to meet air quality standards that protect against cardiovascular and respiratory disease. Rising temperatures make outdoor exercise and active transportation more difficult, leading to lower levels of physical activity and greater dependence on GHGE emitting-vehicles. Climate impacts—such as drought and extreme storms—increase crop loss and drive up food prices that spur increased consumption of cheaper, energy intensive meat and processed food. Extreme weather events cause injuries and fatalities, and warming temperatures are associated with increased violence.
- Climate change exacerbates existing inequities in populations living with chronic illness. Low income communities and communities of color have a higher prevalence of chronic illness and disabilities because of the cumulative burden of toxics and air pollution exposure and lesser access to affordable healthy foods and physical activity opportunities. People with pre-existing chronic illness and disabilities are more susceptible to the health impacts of climate change.

What Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention Programs Can Do

- Enhance surveillance and mapping of demographic changes, chronic disease prevalence, and built environment to address changes in chronic diseases and injury risks and burdens associated with climate change.
- Collaborate with agencies in other sectors to promote GHGE reduction strategies with health benefits and to reduce risk of adverse health outcomes associated with climate change impacts for those with pre-existing chronic diseases.
- Work with Emergency Preparedness to include considerations for those with chronic illness and disabilities in emergency response and recovery plans for climate-related emergencies.
- Support community engagement and inform the public and policy makers about the connections between chronic disease and injury, climate change, and the benefits of climate action.
- Inform health care providers and patients about climate change impacts on chronic disease, how to protect against them, and the climate benefits of healthy eating and active transportation.

Shared Causes and Solutions: Climate Change and Chronic Disease

Transportation and Chronic Disease

See Section <u>5.1—Transportation</u>

Transportation impacts on climate change, chronic disease and injury

- The transportation sector accounts for almost 30% of the U.S. GHGE.¹
- Climate-related extreme weather events disrupt transportation systems.
- Transportation allows access to jobs, education, and essential services.
- Our current transportation system fosters physical *in*activity associated with obesity, diabetes, heart disease, stroke, osteoporosis, depression, and some cancers.
- Motor vehicle crashes are the leading cause of injury, disability, and death in the U.S. for 5–24-year-olds.^{2,3}
- Motor vehicles emit air pollutants that increase risk for heart disease, asthma and other respiratory disease, cancer, premature death, and affect lung and brain development of children.⁴
- Road infrastructure contributes to loss of farmland, diminishing the ease of creating local/regional sustainable food systems that enhance healthy eating.⁵

Transportation and health equity

- Low-income individuals and people of color are more likely to live near busy roadways and face disproportionate impact by pollutants from motor vehicles.^{6,7}
- Low-income people, people of color and children face greater risk of death and injury due to motor vehicle crashes. Pedestrians are killed at higher rates in poorer neighborhoods.^{8,9}
- Transportation is the second largest expense for American households, costing more than food, clothing, and health care.¹⁰
- Low-income families often have few low-cost transportation options, with the result that almost 30% of their income goes to transportation alone.¹¹

What can CDIP do?

Support transportation policies and programs with health and climate benefits.

- Active transportation increases physical activity. Modest shifts in travel mode from car to biking, walking, and public transit yield big reductions in chronic disease, cut GHGE, and improve health equity.
 - Implement Safe Routes to School, Complete Streets, and complete neighborhoods
 - Increase funding for transit and bicycle/pedestrian infrastructure
- Zero emission vehicles and hybrid low carbon vehicles reduce air pollution and climate pollution; ZEV policies need to include equitable access to ZEV for low-income communities, such as:
 - ZEV financial incentive programs for consumers
 - Increased infrastructure (e.g. charging stations)
- Low carbon fuel standards and fuel efficiency standards reduce air pollution and climate pollution.

Assess the health benefits of strategies to reduce transportation GHGE and inform the public and policy makers of those benefits.

• The Integrated Transport and Health Impacts Model (ITHIM) quantifies the health benefits and harms of regional transportation plans¹² (See Section <u>7.1—Surveillance</u>).

Energy and Chronic Disease

See Section <u>5.2—Energy</u>

Energy impacts on climate change, chronic disease and injury

- In 2016, electricity production contributed 28% of U.S. CO₂ emissions.¹³
- Energy systems provide for heating, lighting, and cooking.
- Natural gas extraction, storage, and transport are associated with methane emissions.
- Burning fossil fuels—especially coal—produces significant air pollution associated with heart disease, asthma, and chronic lung disease.
- Fossil fuel extraction, transportation, processing and storage are associated with significant health impacts.

Energy and health equity

- Coal power plants are disproportionately located in low-income and communities of color.¹⁴
- The greatest impacts of coal air pollution affect children, the elderly, low- income communities, people of color and communities downwind of power plants.
- For many low-income families, "fuel poverty" due to high energy costs means choosing between paying for energy to cook, heat, or cool homes, and buying food or medicine.¹⁵
- High energy costs may impede use of air conditioning during heat waves, increasing the risk of heat illness and deaths.¹⁶

What can CDIP do?

Support energy policies and programs with health and climate benefits.

- Energy efficiency reduces the need for energy production, decreases indoor air pollution, and reduces energy costs.^{17,18}
 - Strengthen building and appliance standards for energy efficiency.
 - Expand low-income energy retrofitting and weatherization programs.
- Renewable energy (from sun, wind, geothermal) generation releases about 1/20th the GHGE of coal over the full life-cycle.¹⁹
 - Strengthen targets and provide incentives for renewable energy use.
 - Establish goals to phase out new fossil fuel extraction and infrastructure and shift investments from fossil fuels to clean energy.
 - Regulate methane leakage from natural gas extraction, production, and distribution.
 - Provide for access to solar energy for low-income households and multi-unit housing.

Food and Agriculture and Chronic Disease

See Section <u>5.3—Agriculture</u>

Food and Agriculture systems impacts on climate change, chronic disease and injury

- In 2016, agriculture was responsible for 8.6% of total U.S. GHGE.²⁰ When fertilizer use, refrigeration, transportation, and land use changes, such as deforestation and soil depletion, are taken into account, food and agriculture systems account for about a third of all U.S. GHGE.²¹
 - o Agriculture—primarily livestock production—accounts for 52% and 84% of U.S. methane and nitrous oxide emissions respectively.²²
- Agriculture and food systems impact the cost and availability of nutritious and unhealthy foods, and contribute to antibiotic resistance, water contamination, and pesticide illness.
- Poor nutrition contributes to diabetes, cardiovascular disease, obesity, and cancer.²³
- Americans eat far more meat than is recommended, contributing to cardiovascular disease and cancer.²⁴

Food and Agriculture systems and health equity

- Climate impacts will further decrease the access and affordability of safe water and fresh produce for low-income families.²⁵
- Indigenous communities practice traditional hunting, subsistence farming and fishing, and are thus vulnerable to climate change impacts on local game, farming and aquatic habitats. Rising sea levels threaten fishing habitats for many indigenous coastal communities.²⁶
- Food insecurity is more common in people of color and those living in poverty. According to the USDA, 12.3% of U.S. households were food insecure in 2016: 22.5% of Black households, 18.5% of Hispanic households, 10.7% of other, non-Hispanic households, only 9.3% of White households.²⁷
- According to 2000 data, 13.5 million people in the U.S. have low access to a supermarket, 82% of whom live in urban areas.²⁸ In these areas, the impacts of climate change on food security and health are exacerbated by lack of access to healthy foods.

What can CDIP do?

Support food and agriculture policies and programs with climate and health benefits:

- Localized, sustainable and resilient food systems reduce the use of fossil fuels in food transport, processing, packaging, and storage, increase access to healthy foods, build social capital, neighborhood support systems, and improve mental health.²⁹
 - o Support urban and peri-urban agriculture, school and community gardens, farmer's markets, mobile produce vendors, and food hubs.³⁰
- Sustainable and agroecological agricultural practices conserve soil and water, sequester carbon, and reduce use of toxic chemicals.^{31,32,33,34,35,36}
- Strategies such as SNAP EBT at farmer's markets and zoning to allow mobile produce vendors make local, healthy food more available and affordable.^{37,38}
- Collaborate with Environmental Health, hospitals and food businesses to minimize food waste and increase surplus food donation to reduce methane emissions from landfills, conserve resources, and reduce food insecurity.³⁹
- Campaigns to reduce meat consumption support heart health, and reduce methane emissions and pollution from commercial animal feeding operations.⁴⁰

How Climate Change Impacts Chronic Disease and Injury

Climate Change Impacts on Asthma and Respiratory Disease

Worsening air quality exacerbates asthma, allergies, and other respiratory illnesses.

- Ozone: Ground level ozone formation increases with rising temperatures, leading to thousands of excess illnesses and deaths per year in coming decades, due to asthma exacerbation and greater sensitivity to allergens.^{41,42,43}
- Particulate matter (PM) and wildfire smoke: Climate change increases the frequency and intensity of wildfires. Wildfire smoke is laden with fine particulate matter (PM_{2.5}), spreads over long distances, and increases risk of premature deaths, ED visits, and hospitalizations, especially for cardiovascular and respiratory diseases, including asthma and bronchitis.^{44,45}
- Drought, increasing in frequency and severity due to climate change—dries out the soil and increases dust levels, causing respiratory irritation.
- Indoor mold growth after extreme precipitation and flood events may trigger asthma and infectious diseases such as Legionnaire's disease.⁴⁶

Population Spotlight: – People with disabilities are at increased risk¹²³

People with disabilities have high rates of illness, injuries, or death during extreme weather and heat events. Cognitive, hearing, physical, and mobility impairments may impede safe evacuation during extreme storms, flooding and heat waves.

- 14% of the people who remained in New Orleans during Hurricane Katrina had a physical disability.¹²⁴
- Emergency information and instructions are not always made accessible for those with disabilities that affect communication.¹²⁵
- Limited mobility can increase the risk of isolation, a risk factor for heat illness,¹³
- Cognitive impairment may limit the ability to recognize risk or seek assistance during an extreme heat event.
- Power outages can impair electrically powered medical equipment and elevators, preventing some people with disabilities from evacuating or leaving them stranded without necessary treatments.¹²⁶

Allergies are intensified as:

- Increasing temperatures and precipitation changes lead to earlier and longer pollen and allergy seasons.
- Ozone sensitizes the respiratory tract to allergens.⁴⁷
- Higher carbon dioxide levels increase pollen production and potency.⁴⁸

Thunderstorms are occurring more often during high pollen season, causing severe asthma epidemics.⁴⁹

Extreme heat increases death rates and acute morbidity in people with pre-existing respiratory disease.⁵⁰

Displacement and disruption in health care services due to climate-related disasters impedes asthma and COPD management.⁵¹

Climate Change, Asthma, and Equity

Due to the intersection of race, poverty and preexisting chronic illness, low-income individuals and people of color are disproportionately affected by health impacts of climate change.⁵²

- U.S. cities with the worst air quality have high densities of low-income communities and communities of color and are projected to have the greatest climate change-related ozone increases.^{53,54}
- People living in very low income neighborhoods are four times more likely to visit the emergency room or be hospitalized for asthma, relative to higher income areas.⁵⁵
- Asthma prevalence in African-Americans is 11.2% compared to 7.7% for Whites and African-Americans are three times more likely to visit the emergency room for asthma.⁵⁶

Climate Change Impacts on Diabetes

People with diabetes are at increased risk of heat illness.^{57,58}

- Diabetes complications such as damage to blood vessels and nerves can affect the ability of sweat glands to cool the body effectively.
- People with diabetes are more susceptible to dehydration; commonly used medications such as diuretics can also increase dehydration risks, which are exacerbated by heat exposure.
- Exposure to heat reduces the efficacy of insulin, and may require adjustments in insulin dosing.

Extreme weather events disrupt dietary management and access to medications; power outages cause loss of refrigeration for insulin.

Climate Change, Diabetes, and Equity

Due to the intersection of race, poverty and chronic illness, people of color and those with lower educational attainment are at higher risk of negative health impacts of climate change on diabetes.⁵⁹

 Diabetes prevalence is higher among American Indians/Alaska Natives (15.1%), non-Hispanic blacks (12.7%), and people of Hispanic ethnicity (12.1%) than among non-Hispanic whites (7.4%) and Asians (8.0%).⁶⁰

Population Spotlight: Homelessness and Heat Illness

"... the homeless population in the U.S. suffers from disproportionate levels of chronic disease, particularly cardiovascular disease, respiratory conditions, and mental illness, as well as alcohol and drug use that can make them even more vulnerable. Many also lack access to the facilities that are most helpful during heat waves, like water, food, shelter, and health care and other social services. More homeless people are likely to sleep outside when it's hot out, which can leave them more vulnerable to harassment, abuse, or theft of their belongings. And while the majority of the homeless population is under the age of 50, the dangers are even greater for elderly homeless individuals, who may be less mobile and particularly prone to pre-existing conditions."74

> – Deepa Sivarajan Earth Institute- Columbia University

• 12.6% of adults with less than a high school education had diagnosed diabetes versus 9.5% of those with a high school education and 7.2% of those with more than a high school education.⁶¹

Climate Change Impacts on Cardiovascular Disease (CVD)

People with CVD have increased risks associated with climate impacts:

- As core body temperature increases, the cardiovascular system is "over-loaded," increasing the risk of direct heat mortality.⁶²
- Higher ground-level ozone exposures due to heat and particulate matter and dust exposure, from wildfires and drought increase risk for heart attack and uncontrolled hypertension in people with CVD.⁶³
- Extreme weather events disrupt medication management and health care access, and cause significant acute stress.

People with CVD may be less able to regulate core body temperature in response to heat.⁶⁴

- Diminished heart function and arterial narrowing reduce capacity to increase skin blood flow
- Some medications (e.g. beta blockers, diuretics, anti-depressants, antihistamines) interfere with heat regulation. See <u>Medication and Heat- Pima County</u>.^{65,66}

Climate Change, CVD, and Equity

Due to the intersection of race, poverty and chronic illness, low-income individuals and people of color are at higher risk of negative health impacts of climate change on cardiovascular disease.⁶⁷

• African Americans have a higher prevalence of unrecognized CVD risk factors and a greater burden of myocardial infarction, heart failure, and stroke.⁶⁸

Climate Impacts on Mental Illness

Extreme weather events such as wildfires, drought, and floods disrupt medication management and increase the risk of post-traumatic stress disorder, depression, suicide, anxiety, substance abuse, and interpersonal violence.⁶⁹

Drought and extreme weather events not only impose physical damage but also damage the social fabric of communities. Even people who are not directly impacted may experience stress, anxiety, and fear about climate change and its impacts, based on news reports and through the experiences of family and friends.

Impact Spotlight: Climate Change and Violence

Psychological studies have shown that exposing individuals to high, uncomfortable temperatures increases aggressive thinking, perceived aggression in others, hostile feelings, and violent behavior.⁸¹ Violence can often be triggered or exacerbated by underlying poverty and resource shortages, making certain communities more vulnerable than others. In the U.S., studies have shown association between periods of extreme heat and increased rates of violent crimes.⁸² With rising temperatures due to climate change, there is an increased risk of extreme heat days and periods in many regions, increasing the likelihood of interpersonal violence.⁸³ One analysis found that a single standard-deviation increase in temperature elevates the risk of person-to-person violence by 2.4% and the risk of group-to-group violence by about 11%.⁸⁴

Economic burden associated with climate related disasters may increase the likelihood of stress-related mental health problems.

Heat is associated with an increased incidence of violence, aggression, suicide and higher rates of admission for those with a psychiatric condition.⁷⁰

Interactions between some psychotropic medications and heat increase the risk of adverse medication effects and/or heat illness.^{71,72}

Persons with mental illness may have triple the risk of death during a heat wave and. individuals with mental illness admitted to emergency departments for heat-related illness have a higher risk of death.⁷³

Climate Impacts on Injuries

Extreme weather events increase the risk of injury and death due to trauma or drowning.

- During the 2017–2018 Northern and Southern California wildfires and subsequent mudslides, thousands of home and businesses were destroyed or damaged and 44 people were killed.^{75,76,77}
- Risks for falls, car crashes, and electrocutions are increased during recovery and clean up.⁷⁸

Extreme heat may decrease mental performance, increasing occupational injury risk for those working at heights or operating heavy machinery.⁷⁹

Climate Change, Injuries, and Equity

• Utility workers, emergency workers and first responders, including healthcare and public safety workers, are at increased risk for injury during and after extreme weather. Workers may be out during a severe weather event, which

Climate Change Impacts on Mental Health

IMMEDIATE IMPACTS

Natoral disasters are sudden in their priset and include destructive storms, fitteds, wildfires, and extreme heat.

Natural disasters may cause posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), anxiety, depression, and stress. Self-harm, including substance abuse and suicidal ideation, may also occur.

READINESS: Seek education about what to expect and how to prepare for future climate events.

GRADUAL IMPACTS

Slowly progressing, long-term conditions associated with climate change include rising temperatures, elevated sea levels, and changing precipitation patterns.

> Chronic stress can result from the gradual impacts of climate change. For example infectious diseases, chronic diseases (asthma and allergies), nutritional deficiencies, and injuries can contribute to stress. MONITORING: Know your health, and determine whether you are stressed (signs include low energy, tension, and headaches). Seek treatment and/or support if needed.

INDIRECT IMPACTS

Climate change can affect the way we think about ourselves, each other, and the world.

After a climate event or resulting displacement, people may experience a diminished sense of self, difficulty relating to others, diminished social interaction, and solastalgia (the loss of a sense of place, solace, and security tied to one's physical environment). Community impacts include domestic abuse, child abuse, and violence (e.g., assault and civil conflict). Economic insecurity and physical damage are other potential effects.

members. This will help to withstand changes and encourage adaptation.

APHA, Climate for Health, ecoAmerica, American Psychological Association 2017

increases risk for death or injury from lightning strikes, flooding, high winds or other conditions.⁸⁰

• Individuals with limited mobility and/or social connections are at increased risk of injury, illness and death related to extreme weather events.

Climate Change Impacts on Physical Activity and Nutrition

Climate change impacts the opportunity for people and communities to engage in activities and behaviors that reduce chronic disease risk.

Physical Activity: Climate impacts may limit opportunities for safe physical activity.

- Heat: Increasing frequency and severity of extreme heat events may limit outdoor physical activity. Rising average temperatures increase harmful algal blooms (HAB) in recreational waters.
- Air Quality: In the world's most polluted cities, people with respiratory and CVD are at higher risk and are advised to limit outdoor activity when air pollution levels are high.⁸⁵

Climate change threatens to increase food insecurity and access to affordable healthy foods, essential for prevention and management of chronic disease^{86,87} (See Section <u>4.8—Food Security</u>).

- About 12% of U.S. households (15.6 million) were food insecure in 2016.⁸⁸
- Extreme heat, drought, and extreme weather events reduce crop yields and production of tree fruit and nuts, milk, and eggs; ocean acidification and drought exacerbate decline of fisheries.^{89,90}

What Local Health Departments Can Do

Across Programs

Assessment and Surveillance

See Section <u>7.1—Surveillance</u>

Include chronic disease, physical disability, and mental disability prevalence indicators in Climate, Health, and Equity Vulnerability Assessments.

Plan and implement syndromic surveillance to identify respiratory and CVD impacts associated with heat, wildfires and other extreme events.^{91,92}

Conduct a Community Assessment for Public Health Emergency Response (CASPER) to assess mental health and other impacts of drought and extreme events.^{93,94}

Use data to support healthy transportation access, active transportation, and outdoor recreation.

- Map parks, open space, trails, bike routes, bike paths, and pedestrian routes.
 - OpenDataPhilly provides access to datasets related to active transportation, green space and tree canopy.⁹⁵
 - Map bicycle and pedestrian crashes to support design change for safe biking and walking. See California's <u>Transportation Injury Mapping System</u>⁹⁶ and Hawaii State Health Department interactive map of bike and pedestrian crashes.⁹⁷
 - Houghton, MI: The Western Upper Peninsula Health Department worked with the local Bike Task Force to complete the <u>League of American Bicyclists' Bicycle Friendly Community Survey</u> which informs the city's Complete Streets policy and Bicycle Friendly City resolution.⁹⁸
 - Maricopa County, AZ used BioSense to identify nearly 600 cases of heat-related illness in near real-time, and plans to use this data to inform interventions for heat-related illness prevention.⁹⁹

- Analyze health impacts of various transportation planning scenarios using tools such as ITHIM.¹⁰⁰
 - The ITHIM-Sacramento equity analysis tool uses health, injury, and physical activity information to evaluate expected health outcomes for subpopulations (by race/ethnicity, income, and county) for various scenarios versus the adopted plan.¹⁰¹

Use data to support policies and zoning laws for healthy food access.

- Map local/regional food systems, assets, and food insecurity
 - Johns Hopkins Center for a Livable Future's <u>Maryland Food System Map</u>, Feeding America's <u>Map</u> <u>the Meal Gap</u>, <u>Local Food System Asset Mapping</u>, CDC's <u>Healthier Food Retail: Beginning the</u> <u>Assessment Process in Your State or Community</u>.^{102,103,104,105}



Maryland Food System Map mdfoodsystemmap.org

Intersectoral Collaboration

Collaborate with other agencies to increase opportunities for physical activity and healthy living.

- Inform agency partners about the magnitude and causes of chronic illness, and the significance of the health benefits that can be attained through GHGE reduction strategies that promote healthy eating and active living.¹⁰⁶
- Support funding, policies, and programs to reduce vehicle miles travelled, such as ambitious VMT reduction goals and supporting metrics, investments in pedestrian and bicycle infrastructure and transit, speed reduction, Safe Routes to School, reduced transit fares for youth, transit-oriented development and "Complete Communities" linked with anti-displacement measures¹⁰⁷ (See Section <u>5.1—Transportation</u>).

- Support funding, policies and programs for parks, green and open space, urban greening and tree canopy, and shading for transit stops, school grounds, and bike/walking paths (See Section <u>5.4—Urban</u> <u>Greening</u>).
 - The Washington DC Departments of Health and Parks and Recreation "Parks Prescription Program" provided local providers with resources for patients about neighborhood parks.¹⁰⁸
- Work with camps, schools and childcare centers to establish policies and protocols for safe outdoor activity during extreme heat and bad air days (See Section <u>6.1—Maternal Health</u>).
- Work with indoor, air-conditioned recreational facilities to provide access and reduced fees to low-income individuals.

Collaborate to increase access to healthy and affordable food and reduce meat consumption (See Section <u>5.3</u>—<u>Agriculture</u>).

- Support localized, sustainable and resilient food systems that reduce the use of fossil fuels in food transport, processing, packaging, and storage, increase access to healthy foods, build social capital, neighborhood support systems, and improve mental health.^{109,110}
 - Work with local food policy councils and planning and agricultural agencies and school districts to reduce zoning and legal barriers and promote urban and peri-urban agriculture, farm to school, school and community gardens, mobile produce vendors, and food hubs.¹¹¹
 - Support food procurement policies that preferentially source local and regionally grown foods in schools, hospitals, government agencies and businesses.¹¹²
- Support sustainable and agroecological agricultural practices that conserve soil and water, sequester carbon, and reduce use of toxic chemicals.¹¹³
- Support policies that make local, healthy food available to all, such as SNAP EBT at farmers markets, nutrition subscription programs, or mobile food vending in residential areas.^{114,115}
- Conduct campaigns in partnership with schools, businesses, agencies and communities to reduce consumption of meat ("Meatless Mondays") and other processed foods.¹¹⁶
 - Promote clean water access including investments in water stations for schools and communities.
- Work with Environmental Health, local food policy councils, businesses, schools, and hospitals to reduce food waste and enhance surplus food donation to nonprofit hunger relief organizations.
 - See this <u>guidance</u> on share tables in schools from Washington state.¹¹⁷

Collaborate with Air Quality Management Districts and Transportation to reduce air pollution, especially near vulnerable sites (schools, childcare centers) and in communities with high rates of asthma and CVD.

Engage in recovery planning with a rebuilding vision that favors active transportation, parks and green infrastructure, renewable energy, and planning public space for social cohesion.

Preparing for Extreme Weather Events and Population Displacement

Work with Public Health Emergency Preparedness to ensure plans for extreme heat and climate-related disasters include considerations for those with chronic diseases, including medication access during and post disaster.

• Work with PHEP and law enforcement to provide information about the risks of heat-related illness and mental health exacerbations among the homeless population during an extreme heat event

Community Engagement and Education

Collaborate with CBOs to train community youth and residents to assess healthy food and transportation access, and neighborhood green space to provide data in support of strategies that benefit climate and health.

- CX3 provides the data on healthy food availability and affordability that communities need to pursue healthy eating options.¹¹⁸
- Healthy Eating Active Living (HEAL) New Hampshire collaborated with Partnerships for Healthy Communities to develop a <u>Guide to Conducting Walkability and Bikeability Assessments in New</u> Hampshire Communities.¹¹⁹

Inform clients and encourage health care providers to advise patients about air quality, heat, and climate change, and strategies to reduce and manage asthma and CVD risk. Inform clients and providers about:

- The <u>impact of heat on CVD medications</u>, including adverse effects, effectiveness and risk for heat illness.¹²⁰
- Information on nearby cooling shelters in the event of extreme heat.
- The impacts of ozone and wildfire smoke on asthma and cardiovascular health.
 - Check the <u>Air Quality Index</u> for unsafe ozone and PM levels and adjust outdoor activity on bad air days for unsafe ozone and particulate levels.¹²¹
 - During wildfires, advise them to keep windows and doors closed, set air conditioners to recirculate and use HEPA air to decrease indoor air pollution.
 - Keep home and car windows closed on days with bad air related to wildfires, high pollen counts, and dusty drought conditions.

Integrate climate change into nutrition education and campaigns. See <u>San Luis Obispo OutsideIn SLO</u> <u>Curriculum</u>.¹²²

Ensure that all residents receive information by working with community organizations and cultural leaders throughout the development and distribution of outreach and education materials. Make the information culturally appropriate and provide information in all languages relevant in your community. In addition:

- Use low-literacy formats, multiples formats/channels/outlets such as radio, TV, social media, bus posters, community events, worship services.
- Address the needs of those with communication impairments.

For More Information

- PolicyLink Equitable Development Toolkit: Local Food Procurement¹²⁷
- Reconnecting America Are We There Yet? Creating Complete Communities for 21st Century America¹²⁸
- Active Living Research <u>Moving Toward Active Transportation: How Policies Can Encourage Walking and</u> <u>Bicycling¹²⁹</u>
- U.S. EPA Reducing Urban Heat Islands: Compendium of Strategies, Cool Pavements¹³⁰

Asthma and Respiratory Disease

Assessment and Surveillance

Implement asthma surveillance and monitor environmental contributors to asthma. See CDC's <u>National</u> <u>Environmental Public Health Tracking</u> tool and CSTE's climate change indicators.^{131,132}

Implement syndromic surveillance when wildfire smoke exposures are high.

Work with air quality agencies and community organizations to implement expanded air quality monitoring including through use of low-cost air sensors.¹³³

Intersectoral Collaboration

Support air quality management agencies' actions to reduce air pollution from on and off-road motor vehicles, freight, and stationary sources (See Section <u>4.4—Air Quality</u> and <u>5—Health Benefits</u>).

Work with planning, housing, public works, transportation, and building agencies to implement strategies to reduce near-roadway air pollution exposure, such as siting, speed reduction, vegetation, and filtration.¹³⁴

Work with home visiting programs to screen and refer clients for assistance with indoor air quality risks related to wildfires, drought, or extreme precipitation (leaky pipes, windows and doors, indoor mold) such as air conditioning or air filters.

Advise schools, camps, and childcare providers to adjust outdoor activities when air quality is bad and to be aware that ozone levels increase on hot days.

Preparing for Extreme Weather Events and Population Displacement

Work with PHEP and emergency management agencies to ensure that plans are in place for provision of asthma medications in any evacuation shelters, and for clean air shelters and distribution of N-95 respirators for serious wildfire smoke exposure; consider distribution of HEPA filters to households and facilities at highest risk.

Community Engagement and Education

Inform communities about the climate-asthma connection and strategies to reduce air and climate co-pollutants.

Support community science projects that use low-cost air quality monitors to broaden assessment and awareness of air quality.

• Utah Physicians for a Healthy Environment joined the global <u>Unmask My City</u> initiative that uses portable PM_{2.5} monitors equipped with LED lights that turn red when levels are high.¹³⁵

Integrate climate change in messages for the public in health advisories and educational materials. For example:

Allergens and Asthma

Original: Pollen comes from trees, flowers, grass, and weeds and can trigger asthma. High pollen counts in the spring and fall seasons are known to be asthma triggers for some children.¹³⁶

Modified: Pollen comes from trees, flowers, grass, and weeds and can trigger asthma. High pollen counts in the spring and fall seasons *are increasing due to climate change* and are known to be asthma triggers for some children.

Diabetes

Intersectoral Collaboration

Inform home visiting programs, schools, parent groups, camps, and childcare centers about the impacts of extreme heat on insulin and on heat illness risk in people with diabetes.

Prepare for Extreme Heat Events

Work with Emergency Preparedness and emergency management agencies to ensure proper storage capacity for insulin and protocols for providing insulin to people with diabetes in cooling centers and evacuation centers,

Community Engagement and Education

Inform clients and encourage health care providers to advise patients with diabetes on the increased risk of heat illness; how to adjust insulin dosage, hydration, and nutrition in response to extreme heat; and impact of heat on insulin during extreme heat.

Integrate climate change in routine messages and materials, for example:

Extreme Heat and Diabetes

Original: We often look forward to changes of season, but if you have diabetes, you need to be extra careful when temperatures climb dramatically. Extreme heat can affect your blood sugar control.¹³⁷

Modified: We often look forward to changes of season, but if you have diabetes, you need to be extra careful when temperatures climb dramatically. *Climate change is causing more frequent and severe extreme heat events*, which can affect your blood sugar control.



Source: Public Health- Seattle King County

Cardiovascular Disease

Intersectoral Collaboration

Collaborate across departments and with other agencies and community organizations to increase access to affordable healthy foods and decrease meat consumption.

 In Kent County, Michigan, the health department supported the local YMCA in creating a "Veggie Van" to provide urban neighborhoods in Grand Rapids with year-round, daily access to fruits and vegetables from local farmers, sold at reduced prices. The Veggie Van accepts EBT, SNAP, WIC, and Senior Project Fresh/ Market FRESH benefits.¹³⁸

Encourage local health care providers and pharmacies to establish healthy food prescription programs that refer people to community resources to support healthy eating, including reduced meat consumption.¹³⁹

Encourage institutions such as hospitals, schools, businesses, and government agencies to offer "Less Meat, Better Meat". Provide resources such as the Health Care Without Harm <u>procurement recommendations</u>.^{140,141}

Community Engagement and Education

Inform providers, clients, and communities about the increased cardiovascular risks associated with heat, wildfires, and air quality. Also, inform them about the cardiovascular health and climate benefits of reduced meat consumption.

Integrate climate change in messages in health alerts and educational materials. For example:

Air Quality and CVD

Original: It's National Air Quality Week. AQ is impacted by PM_{2.5}, which can impact the cardiovascular system. Visit <u>nmtracking.org</u> for data.¹⁴²

Modified: It's National Air Quality Week. AQ is impacted by PM_{2.5} and *higher ground-level ozone, which is increasing due to climate change*. Poor AQ can impact the cardiovascular system. Visit <u>nmtracking.org</u> for data.

Meat consumption in the U.S. has doubled over the last century, especially red meats. Diets heavy in red and processed meat have been linked to higher rates of heart disease, stroke, Type 2 diabetes, obesity, certain cancers, and earlier death.¹⁴³

Meat production, processing, distribution and retailing accounts for 9% of U.S. and 15% of global GHG.¹⁴⁴ Livestock—especially cattle—accounted for 30% of U.S. emissions related to agricultural production in 2016.¹⁴⁵ The process of raising livestock for meat production in the U.S. also has devastating environmental impacts. Communities surrounding concentrated animal feeding operations (CAFOs)—frequently low-income communities and communities of color—often have poor air quality with high levels of hydrogen sulfide and ammonia. Studies have shown increased rates of asthma, respiratory illness, depression, and anxiety in these communities.¹⁴⁶

A 2016 study found that reducing meat consumption and eating a more plant-based diet could:147

- Reduce global mortality from chronic disease by 6–10%.
- Reduce food-related greenhouse gas emissions by 29–70%.
- Save 1–31 trillion U.S. dollars by improving diets.

Mental Illness

Intersectoral Collaboration

Coordinate with local mental health agencies and providers to ensure adequate mental health screening, referrals and services during and after climate-related extreme events, including droughts.

Preparing for Extreme Weather Events and Population Displacement

Collaborate with Emergency Preparedness to ensure availability of mental health services in assistance centers and evacuation shelters, including access to psychotropic medications.

Community Engagement and Education

Inform clients about the impacts of extreme heat on some psychotropic medications: <u>Handout on Medications and Heat.</u>¹⁴⁸

Work with community-based organizations and other partners to support social cohesion. Social resources, social cohesion, and community trust are critical to response and recovery after disasters. Following Superstorm Sandy, poorer neighborhoods with abundant social resources proved to be more resilient than wealthy neighborhoods with low social resources.¹⁴⁹



Source: Public Health- Seattle King County

Injuries

Intersectoral Collaboration

Work with other agencies, employers, and labor unions to support policies and standards that protect workers in the face of a changing climate.

• Inform outdoor workers about the risks of heat illness and protective measures (water, shade, rest) to prevent it.^{150,151}

Work with planning and public Works to implement safe active transportation infrastructure and other programs to decrease the risk of bike and pedestrian injuries (e.g. reduced speed zones).

Preparing for Extreme Weather Events and Population Displacement

Collaborate with emergency responders, public safety workers, utility workers and others to reduce the risks of injury related to extreme weather events.

Community Engagement and Education

Integrate climate change in materials and messages including health alerts public health alerts, health advisory announcements, and educational materials and campaigns related to air quality.

Flooding

Original: Winter weather and flooding can cause power outages. Call your local power company to report outages.¹⁵²

Modified: Winter weather and flooding, *which are become more severe and frequent due to climate change*, can cause power outages. Call your local power company to report outages. If you use a generator, make sure to place it outside the home.

Philadelphia is a sprawling city with a diverse population (42% African American) of over 1.5 million people. Philadelphia city government developed its first climate action plan in 2007. The Philadelphia Department of Public Health (PDPH) participated in the greenhouse gas inventory, but only more recently has it addressed more explicitly the human health impacts of climate change climate change.

In early 2016, PDPH convened its first Climate Change and Health Advisory Group (CCHAG) with over 34 representatives from a diverse array of community-based organizations, health care systems, local and regional government agencies, and academic partners. CCHAG established a unique space for diverse stakeholders to learn from one another and prioritize collaborative action to address climate, health, and equity. Participants identified several priorities, including asthma, extreme heat, and flooding, and an overarching concern about climate impacts on Philadelphia's most vulnerable communities.

A CCHAG Asthma subcommittee compiled data and maps to identify zip codes with high asthma emergency room use. PDPH and CCHAG member Asociacion de Puertorriquenos en Marcha developed culturally competent materials for patients and service providers about the impact of climate change on asthma, and strategies to reduce asthma risks in a changing climate. Materials were disseminated by Drexel University, the Clean Air Council, St. Christopher's Hospital for Children, the National Nurse-Led Care Consortium, Temple's Health Homes program, the Philadelphia School District, and others. The CCHAG Asthma Subcommittee met with the Pennsylvania Horticultural Society and U.S. Forest Service to explore how urban greening programs could integrate considerations of the rising risks of allergy due to the impacts of climate change on pollen levels.

PHPP also launched an Extreme Heat Workgroup with the Office of Emergency Management to review the City's Excessive Heat Plan. In partnership with graduate students at a local university, PDPH developed a heat vulnerability index and maps of vulnerable neighborhoods. An update of the City's Excessive Heat Plan informed by projected increases in summer temperatures and more intense heat events of longer duration addresses the disproportionate impacts of heat on vulnerable residents with strategies such as activating cooling centers and spraygrounds that are accessible to neighborhoods where risk for adverse health outcomes is higher. Agencies agreed to redesign heat warnings so that all city agencies use the same language—"heat health warning" and "heat health emergency"—so that residents more clearly understand the level of risk. During heat health emergencies, the City requires that residential utility shutoffs are stopped, and may dispatch <u>mobile heat</u> <u>health teams to high-risk neighborhoods</u>.

The PHPP team also collaborated with the Franklin Institute to integrate discussions of heat health risks and vulnerabilities into an innovative demonstration of how typical climate effects and mitigation strategies impacts temperature in classic-style Philadelphia row houses.

Climate Urban Systems Partnership

The Climate Urban Systems Partnership

(CUSP) is a collaborative project funded by the National Science Foundation to explore novel approaches to community climate education in four cities. In Philadelphia, CUSP and PDPH worked with the Franklin Institute to conduct community workshops on climate change, extreme heat, and health in summer of 2017, using the row house demonstrations. Following Hurricanes Harvey, Irma, and Maria, PDPH worked with its partners to map flood-vulnerable areas and held community workshops to discuss flood vulnerability and resilience strategies. In 2018, CUSP will host additional community workshops focused on climate change, severe storms and flooding, and health.

Future Work and Lessons Learned

PDPH—in collaboration wit the Mayor's Office of Sustainability—will use the heat vulnerability maps to identify high-risk neighborhoods and work with community based organizations to prioritize and implement interventions to reduce urban heat, including cool roofs, green space, and better access to cooling centers and spraygrounds. PDPH will continue to work with the CCHAG and many diverse stakeholders who together have demonstrated the power of robust partnerships to advance efforts to improve community climate resilience.

For More Information

 <u>Growing Stronger: Toward a Climate</u> <u>Ready Philadelphia</u>

Key Action Steps:



- Identify key stakeholders and form a Climate Change and Health Advisory Group (CCHAG) with CBOs, local government agencies, health care providers, and academic partners, to prioritize strategies and solutions
- Support local CBOs to develop culturally appropriate materials on climate and health and conduct community workshops
- Partner with local academic institutions to assess and map climate vulnerability.

6.5 Public Health Emergency Preparedness

Every LHD engages in public health emergency preparedness, using an "all-hazards" approach that combines planning, exercises, training, and community education to prepare the LHD, first responders, the local health care system, and the community to prepare, respond, and recover effectively from public health emergencies ranging from infectious disease or radiation emergencies to terrorism/bioterrorism to earthquakes and extreme weather events.

As awareness has grown that community risk results from an interplay of the magnitude of an emergency event and the level of community vulnerability, many LHD PHEP have shifted from a focus on emergency response to a more holistic approach that emphasizes community preparedness, risk reduction, and community resilience. Climate change makes it more important than ever that PHEP programs embrace a broad and intersectoral approach that endeavors:

"...to prevent new and reduce existing disaster risk through the implementation of integrated and inclusive economic, structural, legal, social, health, cultural, educational, environmental, technological, political and institutional measures that prevent and reduce hazard exposure and vulnerability to disaster, increase preparedness for response and recovery, and thus strengthen resilience."¹

- Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction

Climate Change Poses New Challenges for Public Health Emergency Preparedness

Climate change is increasing the frequency and severity of extreme weather events.

Wildfires: Climate change causes higher temperatures, earlier snowmelt, and drier conditions that increase the frequency, intensity and duration of wildfires, as well as the length of wildfire season in the U.S.² Wildfire seasons are expected to be longer and stronger across all regions of the U.S. by 2050.³ More people and homes are at risk with increasing development of the wildland-urban interface.⁴



Fire Fighters and emergency personal rush to control fires in Brea CA. mikeledray / Shutterstock.com

Army Spc. Rafael Agudo, a UH-60 Black Hawk mechanic, washes a helicopter to prepare it for a disaster response mission. U.S. Air National Guard photo by Senior Airman Crystal Housman

Extreme precipitation: The number of extreme precipitation events is expected to increase by two to three times historical averages in every U.S. region by 2100, and these events are likely to increase in intensity by 6% to 7% for each degree Celsius of temperature increase.⁵

- In the U.S., the average 100-year floodplain is projected to increase 45 percent by the year 2100.⁶
- Climate change is expected to make "atmospheric rivers" wider and longer.⁷

Heat: As global temperatures rise due to climate change, extreme heat events are increasing in frequency, severity, and duration. Seventeen of the eighteen warmest years on record have occurred since 2001.⁸ In 2017, extreme heat events shattered records across the U.S. and every state had an annual average temperature that was warmer than usual.¹⁰ There has also been a dramatic increase in hot night-time temperatures in the US, reducing critical hours of relief during heat waves.¹⁰

Key Messages

Why Public Health Emergency Preparedness Should Care

- Climate change is increasing the frequency and severity of extreme weather events, including sequential emergencies, compounding emergencies, and slow-moving emergencies, all of which increase the need for comprehensive equity-oriented emergency planning, response, and recovery.
- Climate change exacerbates existing health, social, and economic inequities. Low-income communities and communities of color already bear disproportionate burdens of negative health impacts, and are less able to recover following a climate-related emergency.
- Public Health Emergency Preparedness programs are uniquely positioned to not only incorporate climate change impacts into emergency preparedness and response, but also advance community-driven climate resilience in preparedness recovery and rebuilding planning.

What Public Health Emergency Preparedness Can Do

- Enhance surveillance and mapping of demographic changes, disease prevalence, and vulnerable populations, infrastructure, and industry to improve disaster preparedness, response, and recovery in the face of climate change.
- Collaborate with other agencies, healthcare facilities and systems, and community-based organizations to increase health system and community resilience, while promoting GHGE reduction strategies with health and equity benefits.
- Prepare displacement, shelter, and recovery protocols specifically for vulnerable populations in cases of extreme weather events and disasters including children, elderly, people with disabilities, people with chronic diseases, people with compromised immune systems, migrant laborers, homeless people, and LGBTQ communities.

Climate change increases the likelihood of sequential emergencies.

- Greater variability in temperature and precipitation creates more contrast between drought and wet years, which can result in a significant increase in the severity and frequency of wildfires and mudslides.¹¹
- Increasing frequency of extreme weather events heightens the likelihood that a new severe event will occur before full recovery from a prior event, and fosters "evacuation fatigue" making people tire of taking full precautions with each event.¹²

Climate change increases the possibility of "compounding" emergencies. Prolonged and/or extreme summer heat exacerbates the impacts of drought, increases ozone levels and the risk of wildfire, which in turn further worsens air quality.

Climate change is contributing to slow-moving emergencies. "Slow-moving" or "slow-onset" emergencies creep up on communities; the perception that there is "still time" may contribute to insufficient early action.

"A slow-onset emergency is defined as one that does not emerge from a single, distinct event but one that emerges gradually over time, often based on a confluence of different events."¹³

Sea level rise: All U.S. coastlines outside of Alaska are expected to see higher sea level rise than the global average. Sea level rise in the U.S. will increase the frequency and extent of extreme coastal flooding and coastal erosion, threatening tens of thousands of homes.¹⁴

• Without significant mitigation efforts there is a 67 percent probability that the San Francisco Bay Area will experience sea level rise of 1.6 to 3.4 feet by 2100. New scientific evidence has highlighted the potential for extreme sea-level rise; ice losses from Antarctica have tripled since 2012 and are causing sea levels to rise faster today than at any time in the past 25 years.^{15,16}

As sea levels rise, saltwater intrusion into fresh water increases salinity of groundwater basins and well water. Higher salinity in drinking water has been associated with increased blood pressure and kidney disease; and, in Bangladesh, with higher risk of preeclampsia and gestational hypertension.^{17,18} High salinity in groundwater in agricultural areas reduces crop yields.

"Preparing for sea-level rise will be expensive, but the price will be far lower than the alternative of waiting and reacting to these impacts as they occur. Planning should include consideration of both sea-level rise and extreme events."¹⁹

Drought: The frequency, severity, and duration of droughts is increasing due to less total precipitation, higher temperatures that increase evaporation rates, a higher proportion of precipitation as rain instead of snow, and less snowpack with more and earlier spring runoff.^{20,21,22} The U.S. Southwest has already shifted to a much drier climate; the American West may experience a "mega-drought" lasting decades in the latter half of this century.²³ While the U.S. Dust Bowl in the 1930s lasted a decade, NASA analyses have found that future droughts throughout the U.S. may last at least 30 to 35 years, resulting in the driest periods of these regions in the last 1,000 years.^{24,25}

"This is the new normal. We're facing a new reality where fires threaten peoples' lives, their properties, their neighborhoods and cost billions and billions of dollars...There have been very long droughts in California and we are getting some of those returning very badly, and we're going to get them retuning more often. And then, with climate change, some scientists are saying California is literally burning up."²⁶

– California Governor Jerry Brown

Climate-Related Emergencies and Health Equity

Climate-related disasters hit the poor the hardest. Pre-disaster conditions in many communities are sub-optimal, and existing health and social inequities place some individuals and communities at greater risk of suffering health and other impacts from climate-related disasters. Climate change provides an opportunity for LHDs to pay more attention to disaster risk management and community resilience, so that all communities are prepared, resilient, and able to transform and thrive in the face of the impacts of climate change.

- In many low-income and historically disenfranchised communities aging and poorly maintained infrastructure increases the risk of flooding and other disasters.²⁷
- Low-income households are less likely to have disaster insurance, less able to recover from flooding and property loss associated with SLR, and have fewer resources to relocate.²⁸
- Undocumented immigrants are ineligible for FEMA assistance, but can apply for assistance on behalf of documented members of their household. However, as was evidenced in Sonoma County, during the 2017 wildfires, many 'mixed-status' families opted out of FEMA assistance due to fear that family information and status would be shared with immigration officials.²⁹
- Agricultural workers and communities are more vulnerable to the adverse economic impacts of drought including job loss and food and water insecurity.
- In some regions, beachfront neighborhoods have historically been restricted to white homeowners. In Miami there is concern that, as nuisance flooding due to SLR becomes more common, wealthier homeowners are moving to higher ground, potentially displacing lower income communities of color.³⁰

"Disaster risk reduction requires an all-of-society engagement and partnership. It also requires empowerment and inclusive, accessible and non-discriminatory participation, paying special attention to people disproportionately affected by disasters, especially the poorest. A gender, age, disability and cultural perspective should be integrated in all policies and practices, and women and youth leadership should be promoted. In this context, special attention should be paid to the improvement of organized voluntary work of citizens."³¹

– Sendai Framework

Recovery, rehabilitation, and reconstruction after a disaster provide opportunities to "Build Back Better," both through integrating disaster risk reduction considerations into rebuilding, and through using rebuilding to redress any long-standing inequities in community development and infrastructure.

Inclusive Rebuilding After Northern California Fires—Sonoma County, CA

In October 2017, wildfires raged across Sonoma County CA, displacing thousands, killing 44 people, destroying 5100 homes and demonstrating the challenges of responding to the disaster needs of immigrant populations. News reports suggest that county officials struggled to send evacuation alerts and disaster information in Spanish, placing Spanish-speaking families at greater risk and impacting their ability to effectively seek support during and after the fires.³²

The roughly 38,500 undocumented immigrants in Sonoma County faced particular challenges after the fires.³³ "Undocumented immigrants do not qualify for assistance from the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). Even when they or their children are eligible for disaster relief services, their lack of immigration status, limited English proficiency, and fear of immigration enforcement prevent them from seeking assistance. Their discomfort or lack of familiarity with law enforcement, county government, and mainstream aid organizations present additional barriers...[they] predominantly work in sectors that have been or will be hard hit, including service, hospitality, child and elder care, day labor, wine, and agriculture more broadly. Many lost wages in the weeks following the fires, and others worked for companies whose operations were affected at varying levels, from temporary disruption to complete loss."³⁴

The disaster highlighted the need for greater community engagement in emergency preparedness, response, and long-term recovery. <u>Sonoma County Rises / Sonoma County Se Levanta</u>, a community based coalition that sprang up after the fires, is intent on putting equity at the center of decision-making and bringing the voices of all members of the community into the recovery and rebuilding process.^{35,36} Whether that will be successful is still an open question.

An Equitable Path for Rebuilding—Galveston, TX

In September 2008, Hurricane Ike hit Galveston, Texas with 110mph winds and a 22-foot storm surge, damaging or destroying 70% of the buildings on the island-city.³⁷ Two neighborhoods facing the worst devastation were those with the highest poverty levels, low access to healthy foods, and high levels of pollution from neighboring industries.³⁸ To date, rebuilding these areas is proceeding slower than on other parts of the island, as money earmarked to rebuild public housing remains unspent and efforts to build back these neighborhoods are stalled.^{39,40} Of the 544 families displaced from public housing, only 101 had returned as of mid-2018.⁴¹ The stall in public housing construction dramatically impacted the demographic makeup of the island, as the communities of color who primarily inhabited these regions before the storm now have no homes to return to.⁴²

In 2014, a health impact assessment (HIA) was conducted to assess how Hurricane Ike recovery efforts might support health equity through public housing and neighborhood development.⁴³ The HIA recommended that health impacts be incorporated into the process for designing new scattered site housing and that specific needs (e.g. toxics exposures, transportation and schools proximity, crime prevention) be included.⁴⁴ The team also recommended more input from affected community members, through a coordinated multi-stakeholder initiative to address neighborhood needs.⁴⁵ Though yet to be fully funded, the recommendations provide guidance for equity-focused recovery and rebuilding following climate-related disasters.
Hurricanes Hit the Poor the Hardest—New Orleans, LA

A recent Brookings Institute report documents three key ways in which hurricanes hit the poor the hardest:

- Lower income people are more likely to live in neighborhoods or buildings with substandard infrastructure, more susceptible to storm shocks. Poor families were more concentrated in flood-prone parts of Houston before Hurricane Irma. Low-income and minority families often live closer to industrial facilities, placing them at higher risk of toxic leaks or spills from storm damage.⁴⁶
- Poorer families are less well insulated against economic shock associated with disasters. Only 17% of homeowners had flood insurance policies (held more commonly by wealthier households) in the areas most affected by Hurricane Harvey. Ten years after Hurricane Katrina, residents whose homes flooded during the storm had lower credit scores and rates of home ownership than other New Orleans residents.⁴⁷
- Greater affluence makes relocation to safer areas easier. Following severe disasters, county-level poverty rates increase and housing prices decline. Either wealthier residents are moving out and poor people are migrating in, or pre-disaster residents area transitioning into poverty after a severe weather event.

Conclusion: "Severe weather shocks exacerbate inequality."

What Local Health Departments Can Do

Assessment and Surveillance

A climate, health, and equity vulnerability assessment (CHEVA) is the foundation for integration of climate change into public health emergency preparedness (See Section <u>7.1—Surveillance</u>). In California, Senate Bill 379 (2015) requires local jurisdictions to address climate adaptation and resiliency strategies in their hazard mitigation plans or in the safety element of their general plan.⁴⁸

Collaborate with LHD epidemiology and assessment colleagues, local emergency management and planning agencies to develop climate vulnerability assessments.

- Identify high-risk populations, structures, and industries. Whether an extreme weather event becomes a public health emergency is largely dependent on the pre-existing conditions and resiliency of a community. Assessing vulnerability and resiliency prior to an emergency reduces the potential negative impacts.⁴⁹
 - Identify at-risk individuals (e.g. limited mobility, socially isolated) and residences (e.g. skilled nursing and assisted-living facilities) and develop proactive strategies to address their needs in an extreme event.
 - After Hurricane Irma knocked out power and air conditioning, eleven people died in a Florida nursing home.⁵⁰
 - Map the location of facilities that use and store toxic chemicals that may increase exposure risks in an extreme event.

- Use community-based participatory research to engage youth and community residents in selecting indicators, surveying residents, mapping community assets, and identifying solutions to risks identified in the CHEVA.
- Integrate CHEVA results into PHEP and local hazard mitigation plans.

Use the CDC's <u>CASPER Toolkit</u> to assess immediate and long-term impacts and on-going community needs following a disaster.⁵¹ The CASPER methodology can also be used in Community Health Assessments (See Section <u>7.1—Surveillance</u>).

Integrate Climate Vulnerability Information into PHEP Planning

Make sure contingency plans address all potential climate-related disasters, for example:

- Be prepared for shelter needs specific to various climate-related events.
 - Plan for "clean air" shelters for wildfires and smoke—facilities with tight-sealing windows and doors and ventilation systems that significantly reduce intake of outdoor air.^{52,53}
 - Identify shelters that are well out of potential flood zones
- Use information on urban heat islands and heat vulnerability to identify neighborhoods and facilities for targeted outreach in an extreme heat event and to locate accessible cooling centers.
 - See EPA's <u>Extreme Heat Incident Action Checklist</u> and this <u>Extreme Heat Toolkit</u> from Wisconsin Department of Health Services.^{54,55}
- Develop flood plans that use up-to-date projections on flood inundation zones; integrate information on facilities with hazardous materials and on sewage and drinking water infrastructure vulnerability.
- Be prepared for longer and more severe wildfire seasons
 - See Oregon's <u>Wildfire Response Protocol for Severe Smoke Episodes</u> for examples of partners, actions, and communications (See Section <u>4.3—Wildfires</u>).⁵⁶

Prepare displacement and shelter protocols specifically for vulnerable populations in cases of extreme weather events and wildfires including children, elderly, people with disabilities, people with chronic diseases, people with compromised immune systems, migrant laborers, homeless people, and LGBTQ communities.

Work with Infectious Disease to plan for appropriate immunizations for evacuees and displaced persons. See the CDC's recommendations on immunizations.⁶⁶

- Inform providers about infectious risks related to floods
- Inform Medical Reserve Corps of tetanus and HepB vaccines recommendations for disaster responders.⁶⁷
- Prepare for enhanced medication and vaccine cold chain protection as extreme events and heat can disrupt power and refrigeration.⁶⁸

Collaborate with LHD colleagues to provide surveillance for early detection of disaster-related infectious disease outbreaks associated with water or food contamination or increased vector activity due to climate-related extreme events.

LGBTQ Populations and Climate Emergencies

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Queer (LGBTQ) communities have unique needs and vulnerabilities during and following climate-related emergencies.⁵⁷

- LGBTQ young adults are more than 120 times more likely to report homelessness compared to their heterosexual and cisgender peers, putting them at greater risk for heat illness, injury and displacement during emergencies.⁵⁸
- LGBTQ seniors are more likely to be socially isolated than other seniors, increasing risk of illness or death in an emergency.⁵⁹
- LGBTQ couples and families may live in a state or be evacuated to a state that does not recognize same-sex marriage, second-parents or joint adoption, which may make it more difficult to access resources for families or be reunified with family members.⁶⁰
- Destruction of safe community spaces and displacement from individual homes and neighborhoods can place LGBTQ people at greater risk of harassment, including in shelters.⁶¹
- Emergency response protocols, evacuation procedures, and emergency shelter policies are generally designed for heterosexual and cisgender populations, which can "heighten the vulnerability of groups already facing discrimination and marginalization," and lead to lower use of shelters and other resources.⁶²
 - For example, strict "male" and "female" divisions in emergency housing and sanitary facilities can be problematic for LGBTQ people and may lead to denial of services, discrimination and violence.⁶³

Collaborate with hospitals, nursing homes, prisons, and other group living facilities to establish protocols for climate-related extreme events, including evacuation plans and power outages during heat waves.

• Plan for home recovery actions to remove mold and debris safely.

Communications and Education

Clear, timely, accessible, and culturally and linguistically appropriate communication and robust community engagement are core elements of public health emergency planning and response.

Collaborate with community based and neighborhood organizations to engage residents in all neighborhoods in emergency preparedness and planning, including training and exercises.⁶⁹

• Provide financial support for trainings and events in under-resourced communities; provide these in accessible locations for vulnerable groups. Offer transportation, food, childcare, and translation services to encourage participation.

Ensure that plans include a suite of communications tools for use in various climate-related emergencies, including Health Officer orders, alerts, evacuation orders, and information notices.

LGBTQ Populations and Climate Emergencies

What Local Health Departments Can Do

Public Health Emergency Preparedness programs and other emergency management agencies can implement simple strategies in improve physical and mental health outcomes for LBGTQ people during and after climate-related emergencies:

- Collaborate with LGBTQ community organizations and community members to ensure individuals and families have emergency preparedness plans in place.
 - Share the Family Equality Council's <u>Disaster Preparedness for Families with Parents Who</u> <u>are LGBT</u> with community groups and leaders, and care providers.⁶⁴
- Include LGBTQ community organizations and community members in emergency preparedness planning to ensure unique vulnerabilities and needs are included in emergency plans and policies
- Collaborate with LGBTQ community organizations and media organizations to ensure culturally appropriate emergency messages are distributed to the community
- Facilitate training for LHD staff and other emergency management agencies in culturally competent emergency response protocols for LGBTQ populations
 - Use and disseminate the Human Rights Campaign's <u>Working with the LGBT Community:</u> <u>A Cultural Competence Guide for Emergency Responders and Volunteers</u>.⁶⁵
- Collaborate with emergency management agencies, evacuation shelter coordinators and volunteers to create safe spaces for LGBTQ people, including housing and sanitation facilities.
- Work with Medical Reserve Cops and other service providers to ensure adequate services including mental health services—are available to LGBTQ populations.

Ensure communications plans include outreach, language barriers, legal status (immigration status, age, guardianship/vulnerable adults) and occupation.

- Establish an accessible information hotline for residents with multiple language options.
- Ensure that all orders are translated in advance into the languages used in your jurisdiction, and have plans in place for translators during emergency events.
 - During the Thomas Fire in Ventura County (CA) in December 2017, a Boil Water order was posted in English on December 5, while the advisory in Spanish was not posted until December 6.⁷⁰
- Collaborate with local CBO and/or advocacy organization that can access and communicate with vulnerable populations who may be uncomfortable seeking information or assistance from local government agencies

Work with other emergency management agencies and local news broadcasters to agree on common language for use in communicating levels of risk to the public.

• The Philadelphia Department of Public Health collaborated with agencies to establish an agreement on common language for extreme heat warning systems, in order to reduce confusion among the public and agency partners.

Communicate with impacted communities about the hazards that remain after the acute disaster (e.g. toxic ash in wildfire debris, water contamination after wildfire, mold risks following flooding).⁷¹

• Inform residents, workers, and businesses about appropriate personal protective equipment during cleanup.

Communicate and collaborate with first responder agencies to provide enhanced training and equipment in the face of emergency conditions that may be hotter, more severe, more extensive and more extreme due to climate change.

Collaborate with Health Care Providers and Systems

Work with your provider community to ensure awareness of climate-related risks and to encourage provider participation in surge capacity planning/training.

- Integrate climate projections into your assessment of medical surge capacity needs to ensure there are adequate personnel, pharmaceuticals, and medical support devices to accommodate more frequent and severe climate-related emergencies.
 - Ensure emergency plans include clinical triage systems and environmental health considerations.
 - Ensure there are adequate personnel, pharmaceuticals, and medical support devices to accommodate more frequent and severe climate-related emergencies.
 - Ensure power continuity to clinical facilities and settings with institutionalized or sensitive populations during outages
- Ensure a robust network of mental health/behavioral health service providers, including access to pharmaceuticals.
 - Work with mental health services providers before a disaster to ensure that they are fully integrated into Medical Reserve Corps and medical surge capacity planning, and ensure mental health services are available in shelters (and recovery assistance centers).
 - Seek out mental health services providers who can provide services in the languages spoken in your community.
 - Children and youth are more at risk for severe mental health consequences and trauma post climate-intensified extreme events. Planning should establish networks of pediatric support for trauma and mental health care.

Building Climate Resilience

As climate-related disasters become more frequent and more severe, the role of community climate resilience becomes ever more important so that local response capabilities are not overwhelmed. A resilient community:⁷²

- Is committed to the transformative change required to build a healthy, equitable, and sustainable community.
- Takes action to build individual and collective capacity to recognize problems and to respond proactively to and influence social, economic, and environmental change.
- Nurtures diversity, respects the experience and knowledge of all community members, and proactively engages all segments of a community in understanding and responding to change.
- Fosters social cohesion and collaboration across networks through bonding, bridging and linking.
- Builds community capitals including economic, social, built, political, and environmental capitals.
- Supports investment in physical infrastructures and services that meet the needs of all residents.
- Recognizes the value of environmental resources and works to protect, enhance, and maintain them.

Community Engagement and Community-Driven Resilience

Community-driven resilience refers to full engagement of community residents to:73

- create a vision of climate resilience based in community priorities;
- participate in assessment of climate vulnerability and assets, including selection of indicators
- prioritize problems
- select and implement solutions that incorporate community experience and knowledge

LHD PHEP programs can help to build resilience.

- Actively engage residents in a climate and health vulnerability assessment that incorporates climate risk and identifies populations most vulnerable in the face of climate-related emergencies.
- Build robust community engagement into public health emergency planning, including the most vulnerable and historically disenfranchised groups and neighborhoods.
- Integrate and support activities that build social cohesion within and across different segments of the community.
- Support the integration of health, equity, and sustainability into jurisdiction planning, investments, and post-disaster recovery and rebuilding.

Community Cohesion Saves Lives

Sociologist Eric Klinenberg finds that social cohesion protects people from natural disasters. During the 1995 Chicago heat wave, two adjacent, low economic, nearly demographically identical neighborhoods reported very different fatality rates, with Englewood at 33 per 100,000 residents and Auburn Gresham at 3 per 100,000 (one of the lowest in the city).

Why the difference? Klinenberg observed that Auburn Gresham has "sidewalks, stores, restaurants, and community organizations that bring people into contact with friends and neighbors." Whereas Englewood had lost over half of its population due to disinvestment and neglect over the previous 30 years.

After Superstorm Sandy, Klinenberg found that organizations with deep community ties were able to get assistance into neighborhoods even before government aid was fully mobilized. In boroughs with multiple strong networks, even when the networks came from different backgrounds, their intrinsic strength made them all able to join in and collaborate for recovery efforts.⁷⁴

Intersectoral Collaboration for Community Climate Resilience

"Our hospitals and clinics need to be resilient and fortified so they can anchor the community response during extreme weather events. They need to be the last buildings standing in a hurricane rather than one of the first ones to go down."⁷⁵

– Gary Cohen, Health Care Without Harm

As the frequency and severity of extreme events increases, it is ever more important to increase health care system resilience to allow uninterrupted provision of emergency medical services during and immediately following extreme events and mental health services.⁷⁶ LHDs can encourage public and private health services providers to proactively collaborate to assess regional health system vulnerability and resilience and to develop plans for assuring continued access to health services in the event of extreme events (See Section <u>6.6—Clinical Services</u>).

- Educate health care providers and health care systems managers about climate impacts and the need to be prepared for more frequent and severe climate-related emergencies.
- Inform nursing homes, schools, and clinics about roles and actions to prepare for and respond to climaterelated emergencies.
- Work with health care leaders to assess and improve health care system resilience (e.g. back up power and water, evacuation protocols)
- Encourage health care facilities to implement renewable and on-site energy systems and green buildings, and to locate new facilities in climate-safe and transit accessible locations.

See: NIEHS - <u>Primary Protection: Enhancing Health Care Resilience for a Changing Climate</u>⁷⁷ and WHO - <u>Operational Framework for Building Climate Resilient Health Systems</u>⁷⁸

Collaborate with public works, parks, and planning departments to implement heat island mitigation strategies, especially in heat vulnerable communities (See Sections <u>5.4—Urban Greening</u> and <u>5—Health Benefits</u>).

Collaborate with public works, planning, and sanitation agencies to develop strategies to reduce flood risk, especially in flood vulnerable communities and those with aging water and sewage infrastructure (e.g. use of green infrastructure to capture storm water, flood plain development restrictions, building codes that require elevation in areas at risk of flooding). Review and disseminate EPA's Flood Resilience Checklist to local CBOs and other partners (See Section <u>4.7—Storms and Flooding</u>).

Work with local water districts, water utilities, planning and environmental health to assess drought and salt water intrusion risks, identify communities most at risk, and develop strategies to reduce drought risk and to protect and conserve ground and surface water sources (e.g. water conservation and reuse, watershed management, connection of small or private systems to larger water systems, equitable water rates).



East Harlem COAD Leadership Team Members ioby.org

• Review and disseminate information from EPA's <u>Climate Ready Water Utilities Initiative</u> to local drinking water, wastewater, and storm water utilities (See Section <u>4.2—Drought</u>).

Before a disaster, collaborate with community partners and other agencies to develop a vision for a healthy, equitable, and sustainable community that can guide preparedness and recovery planning. After a disaster, work with other LHD programs, agencies, and community based organizations to establish a recovery and rebuilding plan based on that vision.

Public Health Emergency Preparedness and Climate Mitigation

Without significant and rapid reductions in GHGE, the risk is growing that the impacts of climate change will surpass our capacity to adapt and respond. Climate scientists forecast that temperatures in large parts of the Middle East will exceed the human body's physiological capacity to adapt, precluding rapid GHGE mitigations.⁷⁹ As GHG levels in the atmosphere continue to rise, so does the probability of surpassing "tipping points" that increase the risk of accelerated and unstoppable climate changes. Failure to act now to mitigate climate change thus risks impacts that will surpass our ability to adapt or respond and will place significant health, economic, and social burdens on society.⁸⁰

Local public health preparedness programs play a critical role in helping the public and policy makers understand that our ability to protect human life and well-being in the face of climate-related disasters is not limitless, and that the best way to prepare for public health emergencies is to prevent them from happening in the first place. Just as LHDs may use a measles outbreak to remind parents to vaccinate their children, it's important to remind communities that taking action to reduce greenhouse gas emissions is an important component of emergency preparedness.



Strengthening Community Networks: New Orleans Health Department

New Orleans (NOLA)—a city of 350,000—sits near the mouth of the Mississippi River and the edge of the Gulf of Mexico. In recent years, NOLA has seen clearly the worsening impacts of climate change, including Hurricane Katrina, extreme heat events, and increasing mosquito populations, but only recently has the New Orleans Health Department (NOHD) more proactively addressed the impacts of climate change on health.

NOHD used a CDC framework (BRACE) and consulted with local and state climatologists to understand climate change projections and associated health impacts, focusing on heat, vectors, and air quality. NOHD staff then compiled and mapped climate vulnerability and health risk to identify neighborhoods most vulnerable to the adverse health impacts of climate change. This provided the foundation for further engagement with NOHD staff (including a training on climate and health for over 75 staff), other City agencies and community based organizations interested in climate resilience and equity in NOLA.

NOHD partnered with the Gulf Coast Center for Law & Policy (GCCLP) to host three community meetings in neighborhoods identified by the climate and health vulnerability assessment as most vulnerable. The overall goal of the meetings was to build community capacity to take community-led action on climate change to improve health and equity. The meetings were structured to: 1) map participants' knowledge of GNOs' extreme weather response protocol; 2) communicate impacts of climate change on health; 3) identify community health service needs and prioritize community action steps that address the intersection of climate and health; 4) strengthen participants' ability for increased civic participation; and 5) collect and deliver community recommendations to address the impact of climate change on health in at-risk communities in New Orleans.

After the meetings, GCCLP shared recommendations with NOHD:

- Build trust, in light of residents' concerns about how well the City will protect them in a climate-related disaster—based on the Katrina experience.
- Invest in community cohesion by supporting neighborhood groups with physical, financial, and educational resources and strengthening community networks to equip communities to bounce back from extreme weather events.

The vulnerability assessment and community meetings informed the development of a draft NOHD Climate Adaptation Plan, and NOHD participation in drafting the New Orleans <u>Climate Action Plan</u>, which addresses climate mitigation strategies with health benefits, such as active transportation.⁸¹ The New Orleans Community Health Needs Assessment and the Community Health Improvement Plan also now include—under the goal to "Create social and physical environments that promote good health for all"—an objective to "reduce the impact of climate change on the health of New Orleans communities and vulnerable populations." "The climate and health vulnerability assessment and the community meetings really gave health a seat at the table and provided so many others with the information they needed to understand not just how climate change affects health but why people and health have to be at the center of climate resilience."

> - Sarah Babcock, NOHD Health Population and Planning Manager

Future Work and Lessons Learned

NOHD now plans to augment available data on heat illness and heat vulnerability through collaborating with a local CBO to collect temperature data from sensors placed in neighborhoods facing health inequities and built environments that foster urban heat islands. Additionally, NOHD will expand and update its heat outreach campaign, and continue in the role of front-line responder to climate-related disasters.

For More Information

 <u>Climate Changes Health Overview</u> – New Orleans Department of Health⁸²

Key Action Steps:



- Work with local and state agencies to compile climate and health data to develop a climate and health vulnerability assessment.
- Support community based organizations to inform communities about climate and health risks and provide input on community priorities to local government agencies. representative of the vulnerable populations identified in the CHEVA to identify the appropriate approach to engaging with that community.
 - Compensate CBO partners, provide meals, childcare, and compensate community members for their time and contributions.
- Collaborate with LHD partners to include climate change impacts into existing planning processes.



Stranded Ambulance in New York After Hurricane Sandy. Alex Perkins (CC by 2.0)



Gunderson Health System: Gundersen Lutheran Medical Center http://www.gundersenhealth.org/locations/la-crosse-campus/hospital/

6.6 Clinical Services and Health Care Systems

Local health departments (LHDs) connect people to clinical services and educate and coordinate with health care providers and health care systems. Many LHDs also provide clinical services and/or are organizationally located in larger agencies that operate health care systems.

Key Messages

LHDs are uniquely positioned to assess and address the needs of the most vulnerable individuals, inform clinicians about climate impacts on health and their roles in addressing climate and health, and support the development of climate-resilient health care systems.

- The significant impacts of climate change on health affect the need for clinical care and case management, particularly in people with chronic illness, children and the elderly, some workers, and those impacted by climate disasters.
- Health care sector is a significant contributor to greenhouse gas emissions.
- Extreme weather events can seriously disrupt hospitals and health care.
- Health care providers and health care systems can:
 - Inform patients about climate risks, incorporate knowledge of climate impacts into patient care, and make referrals for climate-related services.
 - Integrate climate change into non-profit hospital system Community Health Needs Assessments.
 - Serve as "climate and health champions" to educate community residents and decision makers about climate health impacts and support climate actions with health benefits.
 - Work to reduce the carbon footprint of health care facilities.
 - Help to ensure that people have access to health care services and that health care systems can function during and after climate disasters, including through participation in Medical Reserve Corps programs.

Health Provider Role in Climate Change, Health and Equity



Eat less meat Walk, bike, use transit Clean energy, energy efficiency



Patient education Care plans and protocols Home assessments



Community engagement & power Community presentations Local healthy communities planning



Green your clinic or hospital Grand rounds presentation Policy statement or resolution



Write an Op-ed or Letter to the Editor TV and radio interviews



Legislative visits Policy testimony

Support Integration of Climate Change into Patient Care

Health care providers have an important role in educating patients about the health impacts of climate change, and steps they can take to protect their health and fight climate change (See Section <u>4—Health Impacts</u>, and <u>A Physician's Guide on Climate Change, Health and Equity</u>).¹ LHDs can inform health care providers about climate risks and health impacts, provide materials for distribution to patients and other caregivers, and facilitate provider referrals to services that protect patients from climate-related illnesses.

Health care providers can help patients reduce the health risks of climate change:

- Integrate information about specific relevant climate risks into patient education and care management plans, for example: (See <u>Appendix 5—Clinical Considerations</u>)
 - Inform heat-sensitive patients (e.g. people with diabetes or those taking some psychotropic medications) of their increased risks of heat illness and how to prevent it, such as having working air conditioning in the home, knowing how to get to a cooling center, and staying hydrated.
 - Warn parents never to leave children in a car, even if the windows are 'cracked' or open, as temperatures quickly rise to unsafe levels in warm weather.
 - Advise patients with respiratory and heart disease to check the <u>Air Quality Index</u> for unsafe ozone and particulate levels, especially during heat waves, and to adjust outdoor activity on bad air days.²
 - Make sure patients—especially women of reproductive age—understand how to protect against mosquito-borne illnesses using insect repellent, clothing, and home window screens.
- Provide information on family emergency plans and local shelters and cooling centers.

- Connect low income patients to resources for financial and other support such as the <u>Low Income Home</u> <u>Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP)</u>, home weatherization, housing code enforcement, tree planting, and WIC and SNAP supplemental food programs.⁴
- Provide climate and health information in factsheets and posters for patient waiting rooms.³
- Ensure plans and processes are in place for appropriate immunizations for evacuees and displaced persons following a climate-related disaster (See Section <u>6.5—Preparedness</u>).

Climate and Health Champions

Health care providers are seeing the impacts of climate change on patients now. They can be powerful voices in helping the public and policy makers understand that climate change is a health issue and that climate action is urgent.^{5,6} LHDs can prepare these community leaders to serve as climate and health champions.

- Present on climate change and health at local hospital and clinic grand rounds and brown bag lunches; include exercises to build skills of providers to talk about climate change and reach out to local decision makers.
- Ask if you can have a table on climate change and health at a health system-sponsored community health fair.
- Help providers and health systems leaders to support local climate and health actions, e.g. inform elected officials about the benefits of bike and walk infrastructure for children's health or the need for reducing diesel pollution to reduce asthma.
 - Coauthor op-eds or letters to the editor, or connect them to opportunities to share their experiences with climate related illness on local radio or television or following extreme events.
 - See <u>Climate Advocacy Resources</u> for Health Professionals.⁷

Integrating Climate Change into Community Health Needs Assessments and Community Benefit Strategies

Community Health Needs Assessments

Under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, all non-profit health systems are required to complete a Community Health Needs Assessments (CHNA) regularly.⁸ CHNAs address financial and other barriers to health care, as well as "social, behavioral and environmental factors that address health in the community," and integrate climate change into planning for programs to address health needs. LHDs can encourage integration of climate change into CHNAs through providing information on the nature of regional climate projections and related health risks. LHDs can recommend indicators and provide data on climate vulnerability, climate risks, and community resilience (See Section 7.1—Surveillance). Additional data sources include: Community Commons and CDC's Climate and Health Data and Tools.^{9,10}

Community Benefit Strategies

Informed by CHNA, community benefits programs address community health priorities, many of which are exacerbated by climate change. Community benefit strategies with climate and health benefits provide win-wins and the greatest value. For example:

- Creating walking and biking paths to encourage recreational physical activity and active transportation helps reduce cardiovascular disease and obesity while lowering air pollution and fossil fuel use.
- Investing in energy efficiency retrofits for low-income homes can improve financial and energy security while improving indoor air quality and reducing exposure to asthma triggers.

See Section <u>5—Health Benefits</u> and Health Care Without Harm's <u>Leveraging Hospital Community Benefit</u> <u>Activities to Address Climate Change and Environmental Risks</u>.¹¹

Climate-Resilient Health Care

"Our hospitals and clinics need to be resilient and fortified so they can anchor the community response during extreme weather events. They need to be the last buildings standing in a hurricane rather than one of the first ones to go down."

Gary Cohen, Health Care Without Harm

Recent hurricanes demonstrated the impacts of extreme weather events on health care systems.

- An estimated 40%–70% of those affected by Hurricane Katrina had a chronic illness, for which medication management was a key challenge during the days and weeks after the event.¹²
- At least two major New York City hospitals had to be evacuated during Super Storm Sandy, and the storm caused loss of significant bed capacity for months. A year after Sandy, several hospitals were still struggling to return to normal.¹³
- Three days after Hurricane Maria, only 3 hospitals on Puerto Rico were functioning, and 40% were still running on generator power two months after the storm.¹⁴
 - Two months after the storm, almost half the island's population lived in health professional shortage areas, and less than 2% of the need for physicians was being met.¹⁵

As the frequency and severity of extreme events increases, it is imperative to increase health care system resilience to allow uninterrupted provision of emergency medical services following extreme events and mental health services¹⁶ LHDs can encourage and assist health care providers and health care systems to proactively collaborate to participate in Medical Reserve Corps, assess regional health system vulnerability and resilience, and develop plans for assuring continued access to health services in the era of climate change.

Medical Reserve Corps

The <u>Medical Reserve Corps (MRC) Program</u> coordinates the skills of practicing and retired health professionals to deliver services during a crisis, assist emergency response teams with patients, provide care directly to those with less serious injuries and other health-related issues, and assist with other ongoing public health needs. LHDs can support development and maintenance of an MRC including training on emergency response protocols.¹⁷

HEALTH CARE RESILIENCE: Following is a checklist for health care facilities resilience. ¹⁸
Where are health care services facilities located, and are they at risk of storm surge? Flooding? Wildfire?
Can new facilities be sited out of risk zones and still accessible to community?
Does the facility emergency response plan take climate change into account?
Are all staff trained on the emergency response plan?
Will transportation access be impacted by climate-related weather event? ¹⁹
Is there an evacuation plan and has it been exercised?
Are there institutional agreements and triage protocols in place for patient transfer during extreme events?
Could critical infrastructure (e.g. generators, electro-mechanical systems) in facilities at risk of flooding be relocated from lower floors and basements?
Is it possible to implement on-site renewable electricity generation or co-production of heat and energy to maintain power in the event of a grid outage?
Can trees and other green space be expanded to reduce flood risk?
Invest in LHD clinics and urge other facilities to invest in hazard management to prepare for extreme weather.

For More Information

- DHHS's Primary Protection: Enhancing Health Care Resilience for a Changing Climate²⁰
- WHO Operational Framework for Building Climate Resilient Health Systems²¹

Greening Health Care

In 2013, the U.S. health care sector was responsible for 10% of national greenhouse gas emissions and 9% of national criteria air pollutants emissions, primarily from hospitals.²² Health care facilities can implement many practices to reduce their carbon footprint while producing immediate short-term and long-term health benefits. LHDs can encourage local hospitals and health care systems to "go green," and connect them with resources to do so. See the <u>Healthcare Climate Council</u>.²³ Following is a summary greening ideas LHDs can provide to health facilities to promote their sustainability and resilience.

Energy

Health care operations managers can reduce carbon pollution from dirty fossil fuel-based energy through energy efficiency and decarbonization of facility energy supply.

"A 30% cut in healthcare electricity's carbon pollution by 2030 would reduce greenhouse gas emissions, preventing an estimated 4,130 premature deaths, 85,000 asthma attacks, 4 million respiratory symptom events, and 3,750 visit incidents and save about \$1.2 billion in medical costs."

Health Care Without Harm²⁴

Energy Efficiency²⁵

- Perform an energy audit and annually measure building energy use to prioritize energy use reduction efforts.
- Establish system-wide energy conservation programs and efficiency improvements, for example in mechanical systems; lighting upgrades; improved insulation; heating, cooling, and ventilation upgrades; and equipment purchases.
- Engage staff on energy conservation and efficiency practices, including custodial services staff.

Renewable Energy²⁶

- Consider installation of rooftop solar on facility roofs or parking lots, and/or procurement of energy from renewable energy suppliers.
- Use Power Purchasing agreements and purchase of Renewable Energy Certificates to increase utility production of clean energy.

Transportation²⁷

- Provide financial and other incentives to employees and clients to walk, bike, and take public transit, for example charging for daily parking, subsidized bike and transit commutes, bicycle parking and shower facilities on site, personalized commute planning, shuttle services.
 - Seattle Children's Hospital reduced workforce drive-alone commute trips from 73% in 1995 to 38% in 2015.²⁸
- Invest in electric vehicles for fleet upgrades.
- Collaborate with local transportation agencies to improve bike and pedestrian infrastructure and transit operations.²⁹

Waste Reduction³⁰

- Annually conduct a waste stream audit identifying the types and amounts of waste at your facility.
- Create a "Waste Management Plan" and implementation strategies to prioritize waste reduction, reuse, recycling, and composting.
- Work with suppliers to purchase office supplies and medical supplies that have a reduced environmental impact.

- Review procurement policies and support local, sustainable materials and foods.
- When applicable, dispose of waste locally to reduce transport related emissions.

Food

- Establish local and sustainable food purchasing policies for facility cafeterias, meeting and event catering, and on-site food retail.³¹
- Implement policies and programs to reduce purchase and consumption of meat, for example "<u>Meatless</u> <u>Mondays</u>."³²
- Promote healthy and sustainable food and beverage consumption through patient, staff, and visitor education.³³
- Reduce food waste, through changes in meal selection processes, composting of food waste, and edible food recovery programs in partnership with local food insecurity organizations.^{34,35}
- LHDs can encourage and facilitate collaboration of health systems with agricultural agencies, parks, planning, and local farmers and job training programs to:
 - Create on-site (including rooftop) community gardens and/or support gardens in other nearby locations.³⁶
 - Contract with local growers for food procurement.³⁷
 - Support and provide opportunities for training food service workers.³⁸

For More Information

- <u>Green Guide for Health Care</u>³⁹
- Environmental Impacts of the U.S. Health Care System and Effects on Public Health⁴⁰
- Health in the Green Economy: Co-benefits to Health of Climate Change Mitigation, Health Care Facilities⁴¹
- <u>Sustainable Healthcare Facilities</u>⁴²
- <u>Greening Health Care: How Hospitals Can Heal the Planet</u>⁴³
- PolicyLink Local Food Procurement Guide⁴⁴

Public Health Functions

7.1 Assessment and Surveillance for Climate Change and Health

Introduction

Assessment is a core function of public health and encompasses monitoring health status to identify community health problems and diagnosis and investigation of health problems and health hazards in the community. Local health departments are already engaged in disease surveillance, community health assessments, vital statistics, and program evaluation. The skills, data, and analysis used in these activities can be applied to assessment for climate change and health, which provides a foundation to:

- Inform the public and policy makers about climate-related health risks and outcomes.
- Determine the need for enhanced surveillance and environmental monitoring.
- Increase opportunities for realizing health benefits through greenhouse gas mitigation and adaptation strategies.
- Spur action to promote health equity and climate resilience.

To better integrate climate change into current surveillance and assessment activities, LHDs can:

- Conduct climate, health and equity vulnerability assessment.
- Enhance existing environmental monitoring.
- Enhance surveillance of climate-related health behaviors and health outcomes.
- Conduct health analyses and health impact assessments of climate-related policies and programs.

Climate, Health and Equity Vulnerability Assessment

"Climate vulnerability is the degree to which people or communities are at risk of experiencing the negative impacts of climate change."¹

A community health assessment (CHA) is a collaborative process that "involves systematic collection and analysis of data and information to provide a sound basis for decision-making and action.²" A climate, health and equity vulnerability assessment (CHEVA) identifies climate-related risks, their likely health impacts, and the people and places at higher risk. Coupled with knowledge of community resources to reduce risks and promote health, it provides the foundation for guiding LHD actions to protect and promote health in the era of climate change.

Awareness within your LHD of the broad scope and scale of climate changes projected for your jurisdiction will allow you to provide a more evidence-based assessment of potential climate-related health risks, how climate

change will exacerbate existing health problems, and appropriate interventions to reduce the health impacts of climate change.

CHEVA can be a stand-alone effort; but because climate change has such broad impacts on health and health equity, both the CHEVA and CHA will be strengthened if you integrate climate risks and vulnerabilities into your CHA process. Similarly, integration of climate change into Community Health Needs Assessments performed by not-for-profit hospitals provides another avenue for assessing the impacts of climate change on health and health equity. See: Leveraging Hospital Community Benefit Activities to Address Climate Chang and Environmental Risks.³

- The Alaska Department of Health and Human Services partnered with local Tribes, agencies, and organizations to assess potential health impacts from climate change. The assessment included climate predictions for Alaska based on the National Climate Assessment and described potential health impacts across mental health, injury, nutrition, infectious disease, chronic disease, environmental health, and health service capacity considerations.⁴
- The Macomb County Health Department (MI) used the MAPP (Mobilizing for Action through Planning and Partnerships) strategic planning framework to develop its <u>Community Health Assessment</u>, and identified climate change as one of the key "forces of change".⁵

Community Engagement in CHEVA

Climate and health vulnerability assessments are most valuable when they incorporate the perspectives and knowledge of community residents and are shared widely and seen as useful tools for informing community and policy decisions. Bringing community partners into the assessment process as early as possible will help to ensure that the information you produce will be disseminated and used.

Community residents and community-based organizations (CBOs) can share information about assets and needs in their communities, prior efforts to address problems, resources and challenges, and specific ideas for how to support and facilitate community efforts to promote health through climate mitigation, adaptation, and resilience. For more on community engagement see the <u>Health in All Policies Guide</u>.⁶

LHDs have invited and/or contracted with community partners to comment on an initial list of proposed indicators proposed, provide information on community assets and concerns that may not be reflected in available data, participate in data collection and interviews of community members, review the draft assessment, and present the assessment to residents in impacted communities as a tool for engaging in conversations about actions that can build preparedness capacity and climate resilience.

• Youth organizers in Richmond, California used community surveys, maps, and GIS applications to understand climate vulnerabilities and community risks and assets. The results helped spur youth-led proposals on job opportunities and policy changes for enhanced resilience.⁷

Steps in a Climate, Health and Equity Vulnerability Assessment

One common framework for assessing climate and health vulnerability combines geographically refined data on 1) current and future physical threats of climate change; 2) population vulnerabilities including social determinants of health; 3) "adaptive capacity" that reflects individual and community-based resources that could counteract the negative impacts of climate change; and 4) health impact projections.

The tables below list the common indicators used in CHEVA. Climate change and climate and health data sources are available through the CDC: <u>Climate and Health</u>.⁸

PUBLIC HEALTH FUNCTIONS

Current and Future Physical Threats of Climate Change

Understanding current and projected climate risks is the first step in developing a climate and health vulnerability assessment. What are the environmental impacts of climate change that are happening now and will be experienced? How will those vary across the jurisdiction, and over time? What difference will actions now make? Start by checking with planning and emergency management agencies to see if they have conducted an assessment of projected climate impacts in your jurisdiction. (See Table 7.1.1)

Table 7	7.1.1 INDICATORS OF CLIMATE THREATS	
Category	Indicator	Data Source
	Maximum temperature	
Temperature	Minimum temperature	
	Extreme heat days	
	Pollen loads	
Pollen	Ragweed presence	
	Annual average of area burned	
Wildfire	Percent of population currently living in high fire risk hazard zone	
	Palmer Drought Severity Index	3rd National
	NDMC's drought impact reporter	Climate Assessment, Human Health Chapter
Drought	Water scarcity (water supply < 1,000 m3/person)	
	Annual mean precipitation (inches)	
	Snow water equivalent	
Air Quality	Three-year annual mean concentration of particulate matter $(PM_{2.5})$	
	Three-year ozone concentration exceedance above state standard	
Sea Level Rise	Percent of population living in 100-year flood zone and 55 inches of sea level rise	
	Sea level rise scenarios	
Water Quality	Harmful algal blooms	

Understanding Climate Change Projections^{9,10}

You don't need to be a climate scientist or understand complex climate change models to use climate projections in your CHEVA. But here are a few useful things to know:

- Climate projections are not the same as weather forecasts. Climate change will not make yearto-year variability in climate go away. There may be a very cold winter one year, but decadeover-decade warming persists. Climate projections tell us how conditions are likely to change in the future, on average, over multiple decades.
- Climate change impact projections and greenhouse gas emissions scenarios are not the same thing. Emissions scenarios use projections of population, demographics, economic growth, energy supply and demand, land use, and technological developments as inputs to complex socio-economic models that estimate emissions of greenhouse gas emissions. These scenarios represent different possible futures, for example business-as-usual with continued high levels of emissions or low-emissions scenarios based on aggressive efforts to reduce GHGE.
- Climate scientists use emissions scenarios as input into very complex computer models that use basic laws of physics and chemistry and information about oceans, land surface, ice, and the atmosphere to produce climate projections. These projections forecast environmental changes associated with various levels of GHGE at different points in the future for every part of the earth.
- Planners often average across different climate projections to assess the most likely outcomes for a particular emissions scenario. But they do not average across the emissions scenarios, because those represent different futures based on what actions society may take to reduce GHGE. Understanding the different climate projections for high emissions versus low emissions scenarios can help LHDs understand the health implications of our choices about climate action, and can help the public and policy makers decide how much cost and effort should go into emissions reduction.
- Climate change is the result of all of the GHG in the atmosphere cumulatively over time. Because GHG persist in the atmosphere for long periods of time, the cumulative amount changes with each incremental addition of GHGE. It also takes time for GHG in the oceans, earth and atmosphere to equilibrate, so warming will continue even if GHGE stop.
- Climate projections differ significantly for different time periods in the future. Both nearer term and longer term projections are important for planning. The nature of interventions required to reduce the health impacts of climate change range from very short-term (warnings for extreme weather events) to multi-decadal (working with other sectors to achieve systems transformations in energy and transportation) and everything in between (planting trees to provide shade).

Population Vulnerability

Table 7.1.2 provides indicators associated with increased population vulnerability to climate-related adverse health outcomes, including demographic characteristics such as age, and socioeconomic determinants such as poverty, education, and race/ethnicity. While the indicators below are most often used to assess population

PUBLIC HEALTH FUNCTIONS

prevalence in a particular geographically defined area (e.g. census tract), it may also be useful to identify and map specific sensitive institutional populations such as schools, nursing homes, or prisons. In areas that are rapidly changing, for example due to gentrification or migration, consider updating these indicators more frequently.

Table 7.1.2INDICATORS OF
CLIMATE THREATSIndicatorDefinition

Indicator	Definition	Data Source
Children	Percent of population aged less than 5 years	
Elderly	Percent of population aged 65 years or older	
Poverty	Percent of population whose income in the past year was below poverty level	
Education	Percent of population aged $> = 25$ years with less than s high school education	
Race and Ethnicity	Percent of population of color	American
Outdoor Workers	Percent of population employed and aged > = 16 years working outdoors	Community Survey (2016)
Linguistic Isolation	Percent of households with no one aged > = 14 years speaking English	
Physical Disability	Percent of population living with physical disability	
Mental Disability	Percent of population living with mental disability	Uniform Crime Report
Health Insurance	Percent of population without health insurance	(2017)
Violent Crime Rate	Number of violent crimes per 1,000 residents	
Linguistic Isolation	Percent of households with no one aged > = 14 years speaking English	
Physical Disability	Percent of population living with physical disability	
Mental Disability	Percent of population living with mental disability	
Health Insurance	Percent of population without health insurance	
Violent Crime Rate	Number of violent crimes per 1,000 residents	

Table continued on next page

Chronic Disease:		
Asthma	Prevalence of current asthma	CDC 500 Cities
Cardiovascular Disease	Prevalence of coronary heart disease	CDC 500 Cities
Diabetes	Prevalence of diagnosed diabetes	CDC 500 Cities

Identifying Indicators and Assets for Adaptation and Resilience

Several indicators of adaptive capacity are recognized to lower climate risks (Table 7.1.3). These include avoidance of the threats by temporary evacuation or using technologies such as air conditioning to create a safe environment during heat waves. Adaptive capacity may also leverage social and political relationships so resources can be shared before, during, and after extreme events.

Table 7.1.3 INDICATORS OF ADAPTIVE CAPACITY

Indicator	Definition	Data Source
Impervious surfaces	Percent of urban impervious surfaces	National Land Cover Database (2011)
Air conditioning access	Percent of the population with access to residential air conditioning	RAS Data
Motor vehicle access	Percent of households with access to a vehicle	ACS
Transit access	Percent of the population residing ½ mile from a rail or bus stop with 15 minute frequency during peak commuter hours	MPOs
Tree canopy	Population-weighted percentage of the census tract area with tree canopy	National Land Cover Database (2011)
Social cohesion	Percentage of registered voters who voted in the most recent general election	UC Berkeley Statewide Database

Resiliency and Asset Mapping

Communities have resources that are not easily identified through existing data but that are important in withstanding climate stresses and building climate resilience (Table 7.1.4). Community surveys provide information about social cohesion, strongly associated with better outcomes after climate-related extreme events as well as other improved health outcomes. Community-based participatory asset mapping will identify people, structures, organizations, and other intangible factors that may confer community climate resilience. To learn more, see <u>UCLA's Center for Health Policy Research Asset Mapping Toolkit</u>.¹¹

Table 7.1.4 RESILIENCE INDICATORS		
Short Title	Indicator	Data Source
Social cohesion ¹²	Frequency of interaction with friends/family Available support networks Frequency in feelings of loneliness Inter-group bridging (e.g., cross-group socialization, integration of different groups) Trust (in neighbors, workplaces, government, social groups) Membership in voluntary associations, clubs, and religious institutions Presence of neighborhood associations Neighborhood and senior centers	Community surveys

Climate and Health Vulnerability Indices

Different indicators can be combined to create an index of climate vulnerability, either for a specific exposure such as heat, or for overall climate vulnerability. Index construction—such as choice of indicators and approach to weighting of indicators—requires careful consideration.

- The Climate and Health Program in the North Carolina Division of Public Health used a wildfire vulnerability index developed by the EPA to identify counties with high exposure and sensitivity to smoke health impacts.¹³
- The California Environmental Health Tracking Program mapped population climate vulnerability in Fresno and Los Angeles.¹⁴
- Denver Department of Environmental Health created a Heat Vulnerability Index and accompanying story map that shows heat vulnerability by census tract.¹⁵

Projected Health Outcomes Associated with Climate Change

An assessment of the burden of disease (mortality and morbidity) due to climate change asks how the number of deaths or other health outcomes would change if a future climate threat increased by a specific amount from the historical baseline. While LHDs can reasonably predict some of the ways and directions in which future health outcomes will change due to climate change, it is more challenging to develop quantitative projections of the magnitude of change in health outcomes that will accompany these impacts. These quantitative projections can inform public health adaptation and preparedness planning and may help communities and policy makers understand the longer term benefits of taking climate action now. Quantitative projection of health outcomes associated with future climate change requires:

- Data on current disease burden associated with a particular impact (e.g. baseline asthma hospitalizations).
- Estimates of the quantitative relationship between temperature, related weather metrics (e.g. humidity), and air pollution levels on mortality.
- Projections of changes in temperature, air pollution, etc. (and how those differ based on emissions scenarios).
- Projections of changes in future size and geographic distribution of sensitive populations.
- Assumptions about future use of adaptation strategies such as air conditioners or of strategies to reduce air pollution.

The CDC provides documents that address methodological issues in projecting future climate-related disease burden.^{16,17} In particular is the need to integrate demographic change, since changes in populations exposed to climate risks can be significant. Between 2000 and 2016, while temperatures increased about 1.1°F on average in the U.S., the number of Americans exposed to heat wave events annually increased by an average of approximately 14.5 million, and the number of elderly exposed increased significantly.¹⁸

Communicating the Results of CHEVA

Report, websites, and community meetings have all been used to communicate the results of a CHEVA to community residents, stakeholders, agency partners, and policy makers. Maps are a powerful way to display information and make it more relevant and usable.

• Use geographic analysis systems to create color-themed maps that demonstrate the intersection of specific climate impact projections (e.g. heat islands, flood zones), social and population vulnerability, and assets at the census tract level. Add information on specific sites (e.g. schools). The LHD Spotlight below addresses flood health vulnerability assessment; it is one of a series of assessments of specific climate-related risks. See the end of this section for maps from Denver, Minneapolis, Multnomah County (OR) and others.

Enhanced Monitoring and Surveillance

Climate change is altering disease and illness dynamics globally. Enhancing current monitoring and surveillance protocols can detect emerging risks, track impacts on health outcomes, and assess effectiveness of public health interventions.

Community Engagement in Monitoring and Surveillance

LHDs can work with communities and academic partners to conduct community-based participatory research (CBPR) to engage community residents, understand local health impacts of climate change and the contributors to it, and identify strategies to promote health and equity. CBPR is "a collaborative process that equitably involves all partners in the research process and recognizes the unique strengths that each brings. CBPR begins with a research topic of importance to the community with the aim of combining knowledge and action for social change to improve community health and eliminate health disparities."²¹

• Coast Salish Tribal Communities in Washington and Oregon partnered with local agencies and academic institutions to conduct CBPR projects in local Native American communities on health inequities and exacerbations due to climate change. Project researchers interviewed local leaders and community members and held workshops to inform a set of six Indigenous Health Indicators to address health equity and climate change impacts. These indicators included measures that are often not seen in traditional indicator sets: community connection, natural resources security, cultural use and practices, self-determination, and emotional stability.²²

Emerging community science programs also offer opportunities for enhanced surveillance and youth and community engagement. As climate change threatens to drive Chagas disease northward from South America, researchers in Texas established a project in which the public mailed "kissing bugs" for testing for *Trypanosoma cruzi*, the parasite that carries the disease, allowing assessment of vector distribution and infection prevalence.²³

Air quality monitoring provides another opportunity to engage communities in surveillance and assessment. A variety of portable and lower-cost monitoring devices are being developed to enhance air quality monitoring capabilities and provide information about air quality in locations without permanently stationed monitors. The U.S. EPA resources for community scientists to do their own air monitoring—<u>Citizen Science Opportunities for</u> <u>Monitoring Air Quality</u>.²⁴ In 2016, a Salt Lake City advocacy group participated in the global <u>Unmask My City</u> initiative. In a campaign to support air pollution control measures, volunteers used personal PM_{2.5} monitors with masks that changed color to show real-time air pollution measurements.²⁵

_____ LHD Spotlight: _____ San Francisco Department of Public Health¹⁹

The San Francisco Department of Public Health (SFDPH) conducted a flood health vulnerability assessment in order to focus resources on and design interventions for vulnerable populations (Table 7.1.5). SFDPH included indicators on socioeconomic and demographic, exposure to flooding, pre-existing health conditions, and housing quality. To obtain data, the department used results from the American Community Survey and from the local police and fire departments, San Francisco Public Utilities Commission, California Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development, and the 2015 San Francisco Homeless Count.

continued on next page

TABLE 7.1.5VULNERABILITY INDICATORS	
Vulnerability	Indicators ²⁰
Social and Demographic	Age: Percent of residents who identify as under 18 and over 65
	Percent of residents who do not identify as white
	Percent of residents below 200% of the federal poverty rate
	Percent of residents over 25 with at least a high school degree
	Percent of households with adults who do not speak English
Exposure	Percent of land in 100-year flood plain with 36 inches of sea level rise
	Percent of land projected to have over 6 inches of precipitation during a 100-year storm
	Minimum elevation
	Adult hospitalization rate due to diabetes
	Adult hospitalization rate due to asthma
Health	Adult hospitalization rate due to schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders
	Percent of residents who report a physical disability
	Homeless population, per 1000 residents
Housing	Annual housing violations, per 1000 residents
	Percent of residents who report living alone

LHD Spotlight continued

SFDPH overlaid available data, creating vulnerability indexes for each indicator set and a combined flood health vulnerability score by block group and neighborhood. The resulting maps defined areas that are most likely to experience flooding and areas that are most likely to experience its health impacts.



Environmental Monitoring

Share data with sister agencies to stay apprised of environmental changes associated with changes in disease risk:

- Changes in ocean or waterway temperature may enable growth of infectious agents.
- Changes in ambient temperature may put people at greater risk of heat illness.
- Buildout of impervious surfaces will increase risk of urban heat islands and heat illness.
- Community rain water collection could increase mosquito habitats without proper prevention.
- Bioengineered adaptation projects for storm water management and flood control may alter or create new vector habitat.

Water and food safety

As temperatures increase in the ocean and other bodies of water:

- Increase monitoring of water temperature in areas where seafood and shellfish are harvested, as *Vibrio* bacteria contamination can increase after periods of extreme heat.
- Increase frequency of monitoring for harmful algal blooms/toxins.
- Increase frequency of retail food inspections as higher ambient temperatures increase food safety risks.²⁶

Disease vectors

The frequency and location of monitoring for disease vectors should incorporate likely changes in the distribution and types of these species with climate change impacts.

- Ideal habitats for disease vectors are expected to expand in some regions, which will require monitoring in areas that were previously outside endemic zones for these species.
- New vector species are expected to move into areas where they were not previously found, so surveillance procedures will need to be altered (i.e. new types of traps and different monitoring times).
- Plan for enhanced surveillance during droughts and after flooding and storm surge events.
- Notify vector-borne disease agencies of mosquitoes tentatively identified as *Aedes aegypti* or *Aedes albopictus*; confirm identification.
- Use data on blighted properties, substandard properties without protections against mosquitos to understand neighborhoods in need of response and education.

Environmental hazards

- Improve air monitoring capacity in areas at known wildfire risk for better warning systems during an event.
- Prepare to monitor for toxics, for example in floodwater in areas at risk of flooding and located in proximity to facilities that store or use hazardous materials or in ash residue following wildfire.

Health equity

Communities change over time, for example with aging; gentrification and displacement may create more rapid change in the economic, race and ethnicity, social and health status, and access to services of neighborhoods. Finding ways to monitor change at the micro level is challenging but important in keeping vulnerability assessments current. Providing information about social and health inequalities in conjunction with environmental and health monitoring data provides context and assists in identifying preventable inequities and the need for targeted interventions.

Health outcomes

Climate change may already be influencing patterns of health outcomes that are reported in vital statistics and other surveillance programs.

• Epidemic curves are a basic tool to describe extreme heat events and other climate-related events of multi-day duration. These curves may be constructed, for example, using the daily number of deaths, hospital admissions, and/or emergency room visits for heat illness and the larger pool of heat-sensitive diagnoses such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and kidney disease during and after extreme heat events.³ Similar data can demonstrate health impacts (e.g. increases in asthma ED visits or hospitalizations) associated with wildfire smoke exposure. Analysis of ER visits during extreme weather events can also provide planning information for emergency services providers.

Data collection and analysis may be done in real time or post-event. Coupled with meteorological data, these data can generate dose-response relationships for longer-term analysis of climate health impacts.⁴ Local health departments have established protocols with community physicians, laboratories, and hospitals to exchange data from electronic medical records, and climate-related conditions like heat-illness may be added to these protocols.

- Syndromic surveillance systems provide health data in real time (i.e. a patient comes to a health facility with specific symptoms). These systems are used in heat surveillance programs to:^{28,29}
 - assess the severity of an ongoing heat event.
 - allow early detection in disease or injury frequency.
 - target messages to vulnerable communities.
 - justify additional response resources (more cooling center hours or water distribution sites)
 - prepare ER and clinic staff for visit surges.

Standardized search terms are available for heat and other conditions.^{30,31}

For More Information:

- National Notifiable Diseases Surveillance System³⁹
- National Syndromic Surveillance Program⁴⁰
- BioSense Platform⁴¹
- <u>Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System</u>⁴²

PUBLIC HEALTH FUNCTIONS

Rapid Epidemiologic assessment

CDC developed the <u>Community Assessment for Public Health Emergency Response</u> (CASPER) system to monitor for health outcomes in emergency and non-emergency settings using neighborhood cluster sampling and personal interviews or direct observation of residential areas.³⁴ In 2008, the Iowa Department of Public Health teamed with impacted county agencies to use the CASPER methodology to evaluate community needs following severe flooding in the region. Results demonstrated that many households had been displaced and that there were potential risks related to the presence of environmental hazards and disruption in medication access, highlighting the need for improved risk communication and ongoing surveillance during recovery efforts.³⁵ Other examples of LHD CASPERs include an evaluation of cooling center availability and access in Maricopa County, AZ and an assessment of the health impacts of the 2015 California drought in Tulare County.^{36,37}

Surveys

Surveys are an important tool to understand community experience and knowledge of climate-linked extreme events and to assess impacts. In 2014, Macomb County, Michigan experienced unprecedented damage due to historic levels of flooding in areas with little flooding experience. In 2017, the Macomb Health Department (MHD) surveyed impacted residents to ascertain perceptions of the flooding and its long-term physical and mental health impacts.

Intersectoral Collaboration and Health Impact Assessment

Many local health departments are actively engaged in Health in All Policies, strategies that integrate a health lens into policy-making across sectors (See Section <u>7.3—Collaboration</u>). Providing qualitative and quantitative assessments of the health benefits and/or adverse health consequences of climate action plans, programs and policies is an important strategy for promoting health and health equity.

- Representatives from the Springfield Department of Health and Human Services and the Williamsburg Board of Health collaborated with the Massachusetts Department of Public Health to conduct an HIA of local climate action plans, including assessment of approaches specific for vulnerable populations (i.e. cooling centers during extreme heat events for low-income communities without access to AC).⁴³
- The city of Davidson, NC conducted an HIA on the city's Davidson Walks & Rolls: Active Transportation Plan, including a social and health equity analysis to identify priority communities for pedestrian and bicycle improvements. The assessment found that 29% of the city's population lived in areas considered high priority for future active transport infrastructure due to high prevalence of low-income communities and existing chronic disease. The assessment also demonstrated that small increases in biking and walking would result in over \$1 million in benefits to the city due to health benefits associated with, in part, reductions in greenhouse gas and resulting climate impacts.⁴⁴

These assessments draw on a wide array of qualitative and quantitative techniques, can be scaled for rapid as well as resource-intensive and rigorous implementation, and have been used to examine many aspects of climate change and health. Community engagement and health equity analysis are key components of health impact assessments (HIAs). For more information on how to conduct an HIA and related community engagement, see Human Impact Partners <u>Health Impact Assessment Toolkit: A Handbook to Conducting HIA</u>.⁴⁵

Current Fossil Fuel Facilities and Projects

LHDs can provide assessments of the health impacts of facilities and projects that may contribute to climate change through supporting or expanding the fossil fuels infrastructure.

• In 2011, the Green River District Health Department in Kentucky completed an HIA on three proposed coal gasification plants to inform the community and policy makers on how benefits from job creation in the region compared to potential health impacts, including on low-income communities and other vulnerable populations.^{46,47}

——— LHD Spotlight: ——— Maricopa County Department of Public Health³²

In Arizona, Maricopa County Department of Public Health (MCDPH) obtained hospital data from the National Syndromic Surveillance Program BioSense Platform to implement a heat-related illness (HRI) syndromic surveillance system. Health facilities throughout the county transmitted data from patient records to the BioSense platform. To use this data, MCDPH standardized queries for HRI specifying MCDPH ICD codes and symptom terminology related to heat-illness diagnoses. They also identified "exclusion terms" to prevent non-heat-related cases from being misclassified. The system was validated by comparing emergency room visits identified by the query with the final diagnosis for each result. For more information, see the <u>Heat-Related Illness Syndrome Query: A Guidance</u> <u>Document for Implementing Heat-Related Illness Syndromic Surveillance in Public Health Practice</u>.³³

The Maricopa County Department of Public Health (MCDPH) is no stranger to extreme heat. In 2005, 35 individuals died over a 9-day period of extreme heat. In response to extended periods of extreme heat, the county set up cooling centers. In order to ensure that these centers were accessible to the most vulnerable populations, MCDPH partnered with the Arizona Department of Health Services and Arizona State University to evaluate community access to and perceptions of cooling centers by surveying facility visitors and managers and observing use during an extreme heat event.

There are 58 private and public cooling centers in Maricopa County. The evaluation found that many cooling centers were open only on weekdays, primarily in community centers, senior centers, and religious institutions without clear or visible signs notifying the public of the availability of a cooling center. The survey also found that 84% of visitors were unemployed, 33% had no permanent residence, and 11% of those who indicated a permanent residence had no air conditioning at their place of living.

Maricopa County subsequently developed a <u>Heat Relief Regional Network</u> to mitigate heat health risks. The Network maintains an updated list of operational cooling centers and their availability and services on a publicly available map, hosts trainings provided by MCDPH and the local National Weather Service, and identifies new cooling center sites.³⁸

• In 2016, a public health advisory panel in Oakland, California reviewed the potential health impacts from the proposed transport, storage and handling of coal through the city and in a former army base. The HIA demonstrated the significant increase in concentrations of fine particulate matter (PM_{2.5}) this transport and handling would have on surrounding neighborhoods that were already suffering adverse health outcomes from low air quality, poverty, and discrimination. It also highlighted the adverse health risks to Oakland residents resulting from burning the exported coal.⁴⁸ This HIA contributed to the decision of the city council to vote to ban shipment of coal from the city, a decision recently overturned in court.

Assessments of the Health Benefits and Harms from Climate Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies

Strategies to reduce carbon emissions may have health consequences beyond reducing pollutants that are generated when fossil fuels burn.

Three such strategies have large potential health co-benefits. First, substituting walking and cycling for short car trips facilitates physical activity, which is associated with reduction in mortality and morbidity due to cardiovascular disease, stroke, dementia, depression, and some cancers.^{49,50} Second, substituting plant-based protein for red meat in the diet reduces farm inputs based on fossil fuels (e.g., fertilizers, pesticides, tractor fuel) and methane emissions from ruminants and their waste products. Lower red meat consumption also reduces risk for cardiovascular disease and some cancers.^{51,52} A third strategy to achieve health benefits is from improving energy efficiency in residential buildings, particularly through weatherization and ventilation controls that reduce fine particulate pollution.⁵³

The Oregon Health Authority carried out an HIA in the transportation sector, using the Integrated Transport and Health Impacts Model (ITHIM). ITHIM quantifies the health benefits and harms of regional transportation plans, mobility goals of state and local transportation agencies, and health-based goals.^{54,55,56,57,58,59} This HIA demonstrated that replacing short car trips with walking, cycling and transit would reduce overall mortality and that this benefit is greater than that from air pollution reduction. However, these assessments also show the potential for increased pedestrian and cyclist deaths as walking and cycling increase until better infrastructure for these activities is built.⁶⁰

Knowledge of health benefits and harms can inform jurisdictional partners as they put forward their comprehensive plans, regional transportation and housing plans, and hazard mitigation plans.

Other Intersectoral Collaboration

Increased coordination and data sharing among public health, environmental, meteorological, water, agricultural, emergency responder, and other agencies can facilitate better understanding of the climate impacts, how they are expected to impact infectious disease transmission, and who in your community is most at risk.^{61,62}

For More Information

Resiliency and Asset Mapping

- U.S. Climate Resilience Toolkit <u>Assessing Health Vulnerability to Climate Change: A Guide for</u> <u>Health Departments and Social Vulnerability Index</u> and <u>Metadata Access Tool for Climate and Health</u> (<u>MATCH</u>)^{63,64,65}
- GlobalChange.Gov <u>Climate and Health Assessment</u>⁶⁶
- San Francisco Public Health Department San Francisco Heat Vulnerability Index⁶⁷
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention <u>Preparing for the Health Effects of Drought: A Resources</u> <u>Guide for Public Health Professionals⁶⁸</u>

Example Vulnerability Maps

- <u>San Francisco Flood Vulnerability Maps</u>⁶⁹
- <u>Denver Heat Vulnerability Maps</u>⁷⁰
- <u>Multnomah County Urban Heat Island Maps7</u>¹
- <u>Minneapolis Climate Change Vulnerability Maps</u>⁷²
- <u>Contra Costa Heat Vulnerability Maps</u>⁷³

Addressing Heat Vulnerability: Denver Department of Public Health and Environment

Denver Department of Public Health and Environment (DDPHE) plays an integral role in climate change activities in Denver city government. Equity and place are strong themes in Denver's climate action and adaptation plans and its community health needs assessment. DDPHEs *Health in All Policies* program developed a Neighborhood Equity Index based on socioeconomic factors, access to care, built environment, and mortality and morbidity data. In 2014, the City and County of Denver released its first climate adaptation plan identifying increased temperature and urban heat island effects, extreme weather events, and reduced snow pack as priority vulnerabilities. The plan proposed activities to reduce vulnerability and assigned responsibility to specific city departments.

In January 2016, DDPHE began the *Denver Neighborhood Climate and Health Vulnerability Project* (DNCHV), aiming to DDPHE build on its Health in All Policies approach to explicitly incorporate climate change into its work on the upstream determinants of health and engage with diverse partners to integrate climate, health, and equity across divisions and agencies. The goal of the project was to conduct geographically refined climate and health vulnerability assessments and connect them with established city neighborhood-level planning activities such as *Strong Neighborhoods* and *Denver Moves*.

Moving the conversation from climate science to climate and health

DDPHE contracted to develop a heat vulnerability tool in which thirteen variables were combined into a heat vulnerability index using factor analysis. The analysis is displayed on a story map that shows census tract vulnerability to extreme heat in the context of the interconnected socioeconomic, health and environmental conditions that can increase heat vulnerability. The program then engaged with other local agencies and community based organizations (CBOs) to disseminate the tool widely for use in planning and policy development.

In partnership with the Trust for Public Lands (TPL), DDPHE hosted a community forum to discuss how to build a resilient Denver in the face of climate change. The Forum brought together a diverse group of health agencies, CBOs, and academic partners to enable partnerships to assess current health vulnerabilities to climate change and coordinate and prioritize interventions in the most impacted areas. DDPHE then co-hosted a series of climate, health, and equity walks, collaborating with the local Walk2Connect program. The walks provided an opportunity for Denver residents to join health department staff and local experts for fun physical activity on walks that showcased *Denver and Its Water, Denver's Urban Forest*, the *Green Roofs Initiative*, and *Gardening in Denver's New Weather*.

In summer 2018, DDPHE examined ways to create relevant messaging that connects climate change to injury prevention and other community concerns. DDPHE partnered with the National Highway Transportation Safety Administration to integrate climate change messaging into heat illness prevention public service announcements (PSA), which will be posted in 40 buses during the month of July. DDPHE also created PSAs for outdoor workers in collaboration with the Parks and Recreation Department and for pet owners in collaboration with Animal Protection division.



Future Work and Lessons Learned

Building on the success of the extreme heat vulnerability map to inform city plans, such as the <u>Denveright Plans</u>, the <u>Ultra-</u> <u>Urban Green Infrastructure</u> <u>Guidelines</u>, and the <u>Neighborhood</u> <u>Plans</u>, DDPHE will continue to disseminate the vulnerability map to partner agencies and organizations to prepare for extreme heat in Denver. Despite the challenges of limited staff capacity, DDPHE continues to work



on systems and policy level changes to improve climate resilience and equity throughout Denver. Additionally, DDPHE plans to continue to identify existing messaging campaigns and seasonal health alerts to integrate simple climate change messaging.

Learn More

Department of Public Health and Environment - Heat Vulnerability

Key Action Steps:

- Build on existing *Health in All Policies* initiatives to integrate climate change and health and expand collaboration with new agency partners.
- Conduct a climate and health vulnerability assessment. Make accessible story maps based on the assessment to share with CBOs, policy makers, and other local agencies.
- Collaborate with local CBOs and other local organizations to host community meetings to share the CHEVA and discuss and prioritize community-driven climate resilience and adaptation strategies.

- Establish other avenues to continue community engagement around climate change, built environment, health, and equity (e.g., Walk2Connect).
- Continue meeting with other LHD program and jurisdictional agencies climate champions to support the *Health in All Policies* approach to climate change.
- Integrate climate change messaging into seasonal health messaging and established PSA

PUBLIC HEALTH FUNCTIONS

7.2 Community Engagement

"Building an equitable and just climate future will require that all our voices are heard, which also means that we should reject any efforts to diminish our political agency. We are, indeed, at a crossroads on how we will move forward to address one of the most challenging social and environmental problems in history. ... The activism being undertaken by women, Indigenous, communities of color, and youth from around the world are leading the way in addressing climate change in just and sustainable ways...Achieving climate equity is about respect, inclusion and collective action."

– Dr. Cecilia Martinez, Center for Earth, Energy and Democracy¹

A central tenet of patient-centered health care is "nothing about me without me."² The same principle applies in public health: community residents must be included in decisions that affect community health. Despite being disproportionately impacted by climate change, low income communities and communities of color have been, at worst, purposefully excluded from and, at best, under-represented in decision making that impacts their health and climate resilience. Climate justice and health equity require that the response to climate change is inclusive, transparent, and accountable.

Community engagement is a critical strategy to ensure that climate action optimizes health and equity cobenefits and avoids missed opportunities or unintended adverse consequences on disadvantaged communities. Community residents and community based organizations can share important information about assets and needs in their communities, nuanced history of neighborhood experience with heat, drought, and flooding, expert input about the likely acceptability and effectiveness of proposed strategies, and ideas for how government agencies can support and facilitate community efforts to build climate resilience and sustainability.

Community-Driven Climate Resilience Planning

- Improve infrastructure for community participation in decision making.
- Build authentic and equitable partnerships between local government and community-based organizations that bring expertise and capacity to build community leadership and facilitate the development and implementation of community- driven climate resilience solutions.
- Increase awareness of structural racism and other systemic issues contributing to disproportionate climate impacts.
- Create more comprehensive solution sets that address the root causes of climate vulnerability.
- Increase communication, coordination and collaboration across governmental agencies for effective disaster preparedness and for implementation of policy and systems changes needed to achieve climate resilience.

- National Association of Climate Resilience Planners³
There are many strategies for community engagement entailing a spectrum of involvement and control by the LHD and community, as shown in Figure 7.2.1 below. At all levels of the ladder, communication is critical in order to foster the trust and information-sharing necessary to develop solutions that work to meet community needs. Greater community participation is one measure of community climate resilience.

Figure 7.2.1: Ladder of Community Participation - Adapted from Contra Costa Health Services⁴

THE LADDER OF COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION		
1	HEALTH DEPARTMENT INITIATES AND DIRECTS ACTION Local health department takes the lead and directs the community to act.	
2	HEALTH DEPARTMENT INFORMS AND EDUCATES COMMUNITY Local health department shares information with the community.	
3	LIMITED COMMUNITY INPUT/CONSULTATION Local health department solicits specific, periodic community input.	
4	COMPREHENSIVE COMMUNITY CONSULTATION Local health department solicits ongoing, in-depth community input.	
5	BRIDGING Community members serve as conduits of information and feedback to and from the local health department.	
6	POWER-SHARING Community and local health departments define and solve problems together.	
7	COMMUNITY INITIATES AND DIRECTS ACTION Community makes decisions, acts, and shares information with the local health department.	

Conduct a scan to assess potential interest in climate change, health, and health equity. Look for current and new potential partners that address:

- Environmental justice, toxics, air pollution, water, farmland conservation, open space
- Healthy eating and active living, food justice, healthy food systems, transportation access and public transit
- Racial and gender justice, educational equity, economic justice
- Other community-based organizations in neighborhoods that have experienced climate impacts

PUBLIC HEALTH FUNCTIONS

Conduct outreach to local CBOs and community leaders to begin conversations regarding their interest and activities related to climate change, health, and equity.

- The Minneapolis and New Orleans Health Departments both mapped social and climate vulnerability and then identified community organizations in neighborhoods with higher levels of risk for climate-related health impacts. Formal agreements were made to compensate CBO staff for their time and knowledge in planning, recruiting for, and facilitating workshops held in the communities on climate change and health.
- The Seattle-King County Public Health Department surveyed and interviewed local community leaders to assess their interest in climate change and health and their perceptions and ideas about LHD involvement in addressing the health impacts of climate change. The results informed the *Blueprint for Addressing Climate Change and Health*, which will serve as a guide for LHD action on climate, health, and equity.

Meet potential CBO or community partners where they are: develop an understanding of their current priorities, concerns and challenges, membership and constituency, strengths and resources, and level of interest in climate change and health equity. Help to connect the dots between climate change and the issues various groups are currently addressing.

Recognize and acknowledge the inherent power dynamics between community members and government employees, and between people of color and White people and people with different educational and socioeconomic backgrounds. Provide space and processes—such as agreed on ground rules for meetings and opportunities for one-on-one conversations—to address those dynamics. Reflect on habits and patterns that perpetuate inequities and replace them with practices that support community empowerment.⁵

Share important information about how climate change impacts community health or the health benefits of actions to reduce GHGE. Listen respectfully to community residents who have much to share about their lived experience of climate change and health inequities, community strengths and assets, and how to improve community health in an equitable and sustainable manner.

Identify ways to build community capacity as you partner with CBOs.

- Share information and allocate resources transparently.
- Ask for input as you develop metrics or indicators for climate change and health, share data so that community partners can interpret it, and work with community partners to exhibit and communicate data in ways that are accessible and understandable to community residents.
 - In partnership with local community-based organization, Coalition of Communities of Color and the Portland State University Planning Department, the Multnomah County Health Department created a climate and health indicator tool built from input from community members.⁶
- Share decision-making with community partners
- Make sure that CBO partners and community members are aware of how their input and feedback will be used in LHD and other agency processes.
 - How will information from the community be used in a planning process or program implementation?

- Will the information be shared with other government partners?
- When they can expect to see the results of their participation.
- Establish fair and supportive mechanisms for participation when requesting CBO or community member participation in meetings or other partnership activities.
 - Compensate CBO staff and community members for time spent preparing for and participating in meetings, responding to surveys, providing feedback on reports, etc.
 - Provide food, childcare, and subsidized transportation.
 - Make sure to provide translation in relevant language at meetings, and to translate written materials for non-English speakers.
 - Address the needs of community members with communications impairments, e.g. disabilities such as blindness and deafness.
- Use collaborative Community-Based Participatory Research (CBPR) strategies to identify community challenges, use community knowledge, support community assets and develop community informed and relevant solutions (See Section <u>7.1—Surveillance</u>).

Environmental Justice Principles For Policy Implementation At Regulatory Agencies⁷

The California Environmental Justice Alliance and its members developed the following principles to assess whether agencies are effectively integrating environmental justice (EJ) into their policy development and implementation. While most LHD functions are not regulatory in nature, the principles apply to all government agencies.

- (1) Prioritize and value prevention, human health and improving quality of life: Impacts on health must be given full weight in decision-making, not overlooked in favor of business interests or cost effectiveness, as is often the case, and particular concern must be given to the health and well-being of residents in highly impacted neighborhoods.
- (2) Do no harm: Regulatory agencies must commit to actions that do not further harms in environmental justice communities. The most egregious decisions are those that actively exacerbate environmental health and justice inequalities.
- (3 Prioritize environmental justice communities: State regulatory agencies have a responsibility to address the historic legacy of pollution in low-income communities and communities of color. This goes beyond simply preventing future harms, but also providing redress for the impacts of long-standing, disproportionate burdens of pollution. There is an ethical, environmental and public health imperative to ensure environmental justice communities are prioritized for resources, programs, and receive special consideration within regulatory decision-making by state agencies.

PUBLIC HEALTH FUNCTIONS

Environmental Justice Principles continued

- (4) Meaningful community engagement: Residents in environmental justice communities must have the ability and opportunity to inform design and implementation for policies that impact their health and quality of life. Many agencies use a flawed "decide, announce, defend," process whereby an agency determines and releases documentation on a policy devoid of any community input, engages with environmental justice communities in public discussions after-the-fact, and ultimately moves forward with implementing their initial proposed policy without incorporating significant feedback from environmental justice communities. Other times, community organizations and members are engaged in dialogue but agencies do not alter any decisions even after hearing significant feedback. Environmental justice communities must be engaged early, often and in a meaningful way.
- (5) Responsiveness: Agencies must respond, and be willing to address, community concerns once they have been articulated rather than simply noting them in the public record. Without a clear commitment to responsiveness, community engagement efforts become a "check box" rather than a meaningful attempt to work with stakeholders in policy design and implementation.
- (6) Accountability: Agencies must be accountable for any and all actions, or lack of action, commitments made, and decision-making processes that result in or perpetuate harm to environmental justice communities, related to the agency's area of jurisdiction.
- (7) Transparency: Agencies must be clear in: (a) detailing the processes by which all decisions are made and regularly reviewing the processes to ensure accessibility by environmental justice communities, (b) disclosing all factors and stakeholders that inform and influence all decisions affecting all policies and projects, and (c) describing decisions made, in addition to upholding the principles of engagement and responsiveness outlined above.
- (8) Proactive partnerships: To be truly stellar on environmental justice issues, agencies need to work proactively and in partnership with environmental justice communities and organizations to develop innovative ways of addressing key environmental justice issues.

For More Information:

- Contra Costa County Health Services <u>Community Engagement in Public Health</u>⁸
- Urban Sustainability Directors Network Guide to Equitable Community Driven Climate Preparedness⁹
- Center for Community Engagement & Service Learning Community Organizing Handbook¹⁰
- International Association for Public Participation¹¹
- Institute for Local Government Inclusive Public Engagement¹²
- National Association of Climate Resilience Planners <u>Community-Driven Climate Resilience Planning: A</u> <u>Framework¹³</u>

Supporting Community Resilience: Minneapolis Health Department

The Minneapolis City Council first established goals for greenhouse gas emissions in 2012 (now updated to an 80% reduction by 2050). The 2013 <u>Minneapolis</u> <u>Climate Action Plan</u> (CAP) focused on energy efficiency, renewables, reducing vehicle miles traveled and developing active transport infrastructure, and reducing the overall waste stream. However, the City did not start to actively consider adaptation and resilience until 2016 when the Minneapolis Health Department (MHD) and the Office of Sustainability (OoS) partnered with the University of Minnesota School of Public Affairs to conduct a climate, health, and



equity vulnerability assessment. The goal of the assessment was to identify neighborhoods most vulnerable to climate-related heat and flooding, and work with local residents to develop community-driven strategies to increase resilience to climate-related changes and extreme events. Using indicators of social vulnerability as well as risk factors in the built and natural environments, the MHD/OoS team identified neighborhoods with underlying vulnerabilities that increase the risks due to climate impacts.

Bringing Science to People

The team then reached out to existing and new community partners in three vulnerable neighborhoods, and contracted with groups in each to work with City staff to organize a community climate and health workshop. Staff of the community based organizations (CBO) were compensated for their time spent working with MHD to plan, recruit for, and facilitate the community workshops, each of which included an overview of the health impacts of climate change, the specific climate, health, and social vulnerabilities of the neighborhood, a discussion of residents' experiences and ideas, and specific requests for LHD support and action.

CBO staff provided community connections, insight into issues of concern and community assets, and historical knowledge about prior events that impacted the neighborhoods. The success of the workshops was attributed in part to the willingness of the city team to share resources and decision-making with community residents. The workshops—and the process—increase both community capacity and social cohesion critical components of community climate resilience.

Building on the information from the CHEVA and the community engagement process, the MHD/OoS team contributed to the City's Comprehensive Plan to ensure that climate, health, and equity are prominently featured throughout and elevated as priorities across the City.



Future Work and Lessons Learned

The MHD/OoS team plans to provide continued financial and technical assistance to partner CBOs to organize additional community workshops focused on parental and family preparedness during extreme weather events. MDH is now participating in drafting and reviewing the City of Minneapolis Strategic Plan. For the first time, the plan will include information about the health impacts of climate change and the health and equity benefits of climate action, and an action step to increase community resilience through strategies that enhance social cohesion and build community capitals (See Section <u>6.5—Preparedness</u>).

Learn More

Minneapolis Health Department - Climate Change Resiliency

Key Action Steps:

- Conduct a climate and health vulnerability assessment including climate and social vulnerabilities (See Section <u>7.1—Surveillance</u>).
 - Reach out to other LHD programs/ divisions and other city and county agencies to compile data (e.g. asthma ED visits, air quality, heat indexes, tree cover).
- Partner with local community-based organizations to hold workshops to review the CHEVA and brainstorm community-based solutions.
 - Provide funding to CBO partners and use their expertise to shape the workshops and expand resident capacity and engagement.

- Use resident insights and recommendations to inform LHD action on climate, health, and equity.
- Engage in local, regional, and LHD planning processes (e.g. climate action plans, strategic plans, community health improvement plans) to integrate health into climate planning and climate change into health planning.

7.3 Intersectoral Collaboration

As public health practice has deepened its focus on the upstream social determinants of health, it has also shifted from a siloed approach to a more collaborative "Health in All Policies" (HiAP) approach. HiAP is rooted in the recognition that the policies of non-health agencies have profound impacts on health and that integrating health into decision making across sectors is required for policy, systems, and environmental change to create healthy living conditions and opportunities for health for all. It brings together expertise, tools, and decision makers for effective health policy advancement based on five key elements: 1) promote health, equity, and sustainability; 2) support intersectoral collaboration; 3) benefit multiple partners; 4) engage stakeholders; 5) create structural or procedural change.¹

To identify opportunities for intersectoral collaboration on climate change, health, and equity, ask:

- Which agencies are you already working with whom you can expand your collaboration to integrate climate-related work?
- What other agencies are currently addressing climate change efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and/or efforts to prepare for climate impacts and reduce the effects on the community?
- Are there interagency initiatives that address climate change or impacts, and opportunities for LHD participation?
- Is any agency engaged in strategic planning related to climate change, for which you could offer to provide a health and equity lens and data?

Figure 7.3.1: Spectrum of Collaboration - Adapted from the Policy Consensus Initiative & National Policy Consensus Center^{2,3,4}

COLLABORATION

Invites shared responsibility in decision-making and implementation.

ENGAGEMENT

Implies a more active partnership including opportunities for partners and stakeholders to propose solutions and choose priorities.

CONSULTATION

Provides for more specific information gathering for improved decisions, while explicitly reserving the decision-making prerogative.

INFORMATION EXCHANGE

Allows partners to guage reactions, gain insight into other viewpoints, and allay controversy or conflict due to misinformation.

PUBLIC HEALTH FUNCTIONS

Remember that building partnerships takes time. Be prepared to talk honestly with potential collaborators:

- What are their priorities, concerns, and constraints?
- Who are their partners and stakeholders?
- How do your interests and goals align?
- Why do you think it's important for the LHD to be involved?
- Does your partner have specific concerns about your involvement, or your perspective?
- What might the LHD bring to the table to help your new partner reach their objectives or strengthen a particular initiative or process?
- What specifically can you offer? (data, assistance with community engagement, information, contacts, staff resources)
- Is there something specific you want others to do? (integrate health data into their analysis, share resources)
- Are there specific opportunities for win-win climate action strategies with health and equity benefits (urban greening, local food systems, active transportation)?

Table 7.3.1 provides a few examples of potential opportunities for intersectoral collaboration for climate, health, and equity. Don't forget that robust community engagement and collaboration across programs and divisions within the LHD will strengthen your ability to partner effectively with agencies across the whole of government.

Table 7.3.1 INTERSECTORAL COLLABORATION FOR CLIMATE, HEALTH AND EQUITY				
Opportunities	Policies & Programs	Agencies (city/county/regional)		
Active Transportation	General and specific area plans Master walking and bike plans Safe Routes to Schools School siting Transit funding (route expansion, schedule expansion, operations, maintenance, reduced fares, youth transit passes, bus stop shading) Parks (location, amenities, funding, maintenance, programming) Trails development, maintenance Tree canopy and urban forestry (location, species)	Metropolitan planning and regional transportation organizations Planning, public works, transportation, parks, and forestry agencies School districts		

Table continued on next page

Opportunities	Policies & Programs	Agencies (city/county/regional)
Healthy & Sustainable Food Systems	Farmer's markets (new, expanded, EBT) Community and school gardens Urban and peri-urban agriculture Healthy food retail Healthy food vending Food waste reduction Edible food donation Gleaning Farm to fork (school, hospital, other institutions)	Environmental health Planning and zoning, business development, agriculture, public works, parks, and waste management agencies School districts Community hospitals
Heat Adaptation	Tree canopy Parks, streams, and water features Hours/amenities/location of public cooling shelters Alerts and warnings School sports policies Cool and green roofs Cool pavements Prevention of utility shutoffs Home weatherization AC provision	Planning, public works, emergency management, parks, forestry, libraries, aging, building, social services, and law enforcement agencies School districts Hospitals Utilities
Flooding	Parks Trees Permeable pavements Green infrastructure (e.g. bioswales) Evacuation	Waste and sanitation facilities Planning and zoning, transportation, water quality, public works, waste and sanitation, and emergency management agencies

For More Information

- National Association of Climate Resilience Planners <u>Community-Driven Climate Resilience Planning</u>: <u>A Framework</u>⁵
- APHA-CDPH-PHI: <u>Health in All Policies Guide</u>⁶

217

7.4 Organizational Capacity

Many local health departments recognize climate change as an important issue but are concerned that it's too complex to address without new and dedicated resources. But public health has a long history of taking on challenging emerging issues by building one step at a time on existing skills, resources, and relationships.

Building Organizational Capacity for Climate Change and Health Equity Efforts in LHDs

(adapted from NACCHO Local Health Departments Prepare for the Health Impacts of Climate Change¹)

- Assess current and future health impacts of climate and climate-related hazards in your jurisdiction.
- Develop a comprehensive plan to reduce and prevent health and equity impacts of climate change and increase climate resilience. Integrate local concerns and priorities, evidenced-based results and both mitigation and adaptation strategies.
- Increase cross-sector collaboration around climate change and health equity using a Health in All Policies approach.
- Engage in meaningful partnership with community residents, groups and organizations in climate change adaptation and mitigation efforts.

Getting Started: How ready is your LHD?

An informal assessment and scan may help to determine the level of interest, support, capacity, and resources for climate and health equity work, and to identify available information and potential partners. Many LHD staff have been surprised to learn how much climate-related activity is already occurring in their jurisdictions, and have built new partnerships based on shared interests in expanding climate work.

Climate and Health Equity Readiness and Capacity Assessment (adapted from the Oregon Health Authority^{2,3,4})

Internal

- Is departmental leadership committed to health equity and upstream public health?
 - o Are these commitments reflected in the department's strategic plan? Are there upcoming program or department-wide strategic planning processes or community health assessments?
 - o Has the department developed data and maps on health inequities?

continued on next page

Climate and Health Equity Readiness and Capacity Assessment continued

- Interest and support for climate and health work: Is there LHD leadership and senior management support for initiating work on climate and health equity? Are any staff currently interested in and knowledgeable about these topics?
 - o What resource might be available? e.g. local philanthropy interest?
 - o Is any funding available now or in the near future to support this work? Do any current funding streams allow integration of climate change and health equity, or could they?
 - o Can any interested staff devote some time each week to getting started?
- Collaboration: Are there mechanisms in the department that support learning and collaboration across programs? Is the department already engaged in Health in All Policies or other collaborative work with agencies in other sectors such as transportation, housing, agriculture, planning, parks, public works?

External

- Is there support for work on climate change in the jurisdiction broadly e.g. among executive and elected leadership?
 - o Are jurisdiction leaders/managers engaged in work on climate change?
 - o Has your jurisdiction had experience with climate-related events, e.g. wildfires, floods, droughts?
 - o Are there other agencies nearby who are planning and/or taking action on climate change?
 - o Are local elected officials speaking about climate change (or against climate action)?
- Are there local people/resources that can help staff learn about climate impacts in your jurisdiction? e.g. Resilience or Sustainability office? Planning department? local NGOs? local academics?
- Community partnerships: Is the department working with community-based organizations who are concerned about or working on climate change and health equity?
- o Are there potential new partners i.e NGOs, environmental justice organizations, academics, businesses concerned about climate change and health equity?
- Are you familiar with any State laws and funding requirements that mandate or provide incentives for local involvement in climate change?

Depending on the informal assessment, think about how to use even limited capacity and resources to get started. If there is very little support or resources available, identify a couple of interested staff and work together to provide opportunities for staff and leadership to learn about climate change and health. Bring in a local speaker to talk about climate change that relates to a department priority, and use that for initial discussion about what your LHD might do. With management support, suggest conducting a survey to assess staff capacity and interest, or ask to provide an overview on climate and health at some routine trainings or staff meetings.

Understanding the nature of current and projected climate impacts in your region is an important first step to connect the dots between climate change and current LHD work. Look for existing climate assessments, and seek out organizations and individuals with information and expertise about climate impacts in your region.

Be opportunistic: Look for opportunities to connect with others who are interested in climate work, or to bridge current LHD work to climate change. Because climate change exacerbates health inequities and disproportionately impacts disadvantaged communities, and because health inequities and climate change share systemic causes, current work to address chronic diseases, the built environment, social determinants of health, and health and racial equity provide logical building blocks for work on climate change and health equity.

- Are there LHD efforts underway to promote policy and systems changes that also reduce greenhouse gas emissions (e.g. active transportation)? Talk to partners and stakeholders about how these changes have health and climate benefits.
- Has your community experienced climate-related events, such as extreme heat events? If so, talk to those in your department who were involved in response and recovery, or to emergency management agencies, about whether climate change may make such events more frequent or more severe.
- What climate-change related activities are your sister agencies engaged in? Has your jurisdiction done a climate action or climate adaptation or resilience plan? Has your mayor or local governing body signed on to any of the groups of elected officials that are supporting climate action, such as the <u>C40 Compact of Mayors</u> or <u>We Are Still In</u> coalition? Who are their community partners and stakeholders?^{5,6}
- Is the LHD or local not-for-profit hospital starting a community health assessment process? Consideration of climate change impacts might be incorporated into that process, or included in the analysis of forces of change in the community. Macomb County Health Department collaborated with a stakeholder coalition to engage in the Mobilizing for Action through Planning and Partnerships (MAPP) process, subsequently incorporating the MAPP outputs indicating areas in which climate change and health could be addressed in the overall Macomb County Community Health Assessment.⁷
- Are any local health care systems engaged in reducing their hospital greenhouse gas emissions, reducing waste, procuring local and sustainable food, or preparing the health care system for extreme weather events?
- Which community-based organizations are engaged in activities directly related to climate change or in advocacy around healthy communities and/or health equity and social justice? Who in the LHD already works with them?
- Are there fossil fuels facilities or infrastructure in the jurisdiction and are there concerns about the health impacts of associated air pollution or water contamination? Has the LHD conducted an assessment of the health impacts?

Staff and Leadership Development

Few public health schools and health professional schools have yet integrated climate change into their curricula. This means that both LHD staff and leadership will need to deepen their understanding of climate change to build capacity to integrate climate change into LHD work.

Survey department leadership and staff to assess current perceptions of climate and health, and the role of LHD programs in addressing these issues. Develop staff and leadership training based on responses.

• Seattle—King County's Public Health Department developed key informant interview guides and survey instruments and interviewed department leadership and staff in Preparedness, Communications, Chronic Disease & Injury Prevention, and Environmental Health Services to assess current perceptions of the nexus between climate, health, and equity and the perceived role of public health. The interviews heightened awareness of the climate-health-equity nexus, and identified individuals interested in a Climate and Health Action Team.

Provide climate change, health, and equity trainings for leadership and staff and brainstorm potential entrypoints for climate change in existing programs. Find nearby academics, staff from other agencies, or community partners with relevant expertise. Use this Guide and internet resources to provide more information.

• Faculty and students from the University of California, Los Angeles School of Public Health facilitated trainings on climate change and health for the Los Angeles County Department of Public Health. Participants identified climate impacts that may affect their programs or clients. These trainings served as the foundation for launching of a Climate and Health Workgroup that fleshed out a "<u>Five Point Plan</u>" outlining how LADPH can integrate climate change into its work.⁸

Integrate climate, health, and equity information and trainings into routine staff trainings and new staff orientation to support sustained institutionalization of climate change into LHD activities. New Orleans Health Department hosted an all-staff meeting on climate change, health, and equity as well as a training for Louisiana Health Department's Environmental Tracking Advisory Board.

Provide information to staff about local and regional conferences on climate change.

Develop a peer learning exchange with other LHDs.

• Several Colorado Front Range LHDs meet informally to discuss climate, health and equity priorities and action steps.

Seek to hire individuals who have a background in climate change and health equity/environmental justice.

Greater familiarity and expertise on the impacts of climate change and climate action on health and health equity is important, but promoting health in the era of climate change requires much more. Building LHD skills and capacity in health and racial equity, intersectoral collaboration, community and stakeholder engagement, and effective communication is also vitally important (but beyond the scope of this Guide) See additional resources below.

Organizational Structure

There is no "best" way to structure a climate, health, and equity program within a LHD. Climate change impacts all aspects of public health, so it is important to integrate it across departmental programs over time. It is also important fort LHDs to build relationships with local agencies likely to work to reduce GHGE, using a Health in All Policies approach, and develop partnerships with community-based organizations.

Integration across the LHD, intersectoral collaboration, and stakeholder engagement will be more effective with a "back bone" staff—staff designated at least part-time to coordinate climate-related activities across programs, facilitate the building of staff capacity, and build partnerships with other agencies and community-based organizations. Where this back-bone staff is placed depends on factors including the nature and scope of initial efforts, availability of staff resources and interest, level of commitment by leadership, and current levels of involvement in intersectoral collaboration. Basic administrative support will foster greater success.

Effective LHD climate and health initiatives have been led by staff in Environmental Health, Policy and Planning, Emergency Preparedness, Chronic Disease, and Epidemiology programs. In the California Department of Public Health, the climate and health program is located within the Office of Health Equity. The greater the level of visibility and leadership support for the work of the back-bone staff, the more that staff and external partners will understand that the LHD sees climate change as an urgent issue.

Strategic Planning

"A strategic plan sets forth what an organization plans to achieve, how it will achieve it, and how it will know if it has achieved it. The strategic plan provides a guide for making decisions on allocating resources and on taking action to pursue strategies and priorities."⁹

- Public Health Accreditation Board

Integrate Climate Change into LHD Strategic Planning

Strategic planning offers an ideal opportunity to engage in discussion across the programs about how climate change connects to what you are already doing, and to think through what your LHD can do to address climate change comprehensively. Incorporating goals for climate and health work and designating a responsible party for developing an action plan to meet those goals is critical to support sustained climate action for health within your LHD.

• The Philadelphia Department of Public Health's Preparedness Program established a Climate Change and Health Advisory Group. They engaged numerous divisions in their meetings, including Disease Control, Environmental Health Services, Ambulatory Health Service, Chronic Disease Prevention, and Air Management. The advisory group demonstrated the climate and health connection to each LHD program and reached leadership, resulting in the institutionalization of climate change as an objective in the department's strategic plan.¹⁰

Develop a Strategic Plan for Climate Change and Health

Development of a strategic plan focused on climate change, health, and equity work within LHDs is a foundational step for sustained action at the local level. Collaborating with division/program leads and motivated staff, local partners, and CBOs to develop priorities into action steps within a strategic plan can take LHD work to the next level.

• Public Health-Seattle and King County's (PHSKC) Climate and Health Action Team developed a *Blueprint for Addressing Climate Change and Health* that reflects the values and priorities of PHSKC, partner agencies, and community partners. The Blueprint builds organizational capacity to address climate change and health with equity as an overarching consideration. It covers climate and health impacts in King County, core public health functions, and strategies to develop internal expertise and assess opportunities to build on current work.

Build and Blend Funding

There is yet no dedicated funding stream for climate change and health. LHDs need to be creative in finding resources. Many LHDs have found that even very small amounts of funding can jumpstart activity and mobilize resources among community partners.

Use existing funding streams to provide resources for climate change work.

- Build work on climate change into proposed Scope of Work for funding from state and federal programs.
 - Propose a climate and health vulnerability assessment as a component of PHEP planning and assessment work.
 - Propose community outreach to prevent heat illness in people with diabetes in a funding proposal for diabetes case management.
- Integrate climate change into routine and new communications.

Talk to local foundations, many of whom are funding academics, environmental organizations, and others to work on climate change.

• Apply for a grant in partnership with local community organizations.

Partner with other agencies that are working on climate change to integrate health funding into their grants or contracts.

Use students, interns, and faculty at local colleges and universities.

• Students from the University of Minnesota worked with the Minneapolis Department of Health and Office of Sustainability to develop a climate and health vulnerability assessment.

For More Information

- Human Impact Partner's Health Equity Guide: <u>Building Organizational Capacity Resources</u>¹¹
- Governing Alliance for Racial Equity: <u>Resources¹²</u>
- APHA-CDPH-PHI: <u>Health in All Policies Guide¹³</u>
- Contra Costa County Public Health: <u>Community Engagement in Public Health¹⁴</u>
- University of Kansas, Center for Community Health and Development: <u>Community Tool Box</u>¹⁵

PUBLIC HEALTH FUNCTIONS

A Blueprint for Equity and Justice: Seattle-King County Public Health

Public Health - Seattle-King County (PHSKC) has put the elimination of health inequities at the core of its mission. In 2015, after participating in the development of the King County Strategic Climate Action Plan, PHSKC staff formed a Climate Health Action Team (CHAT) to develop internal expertise on climate change and health, elevate the public health voice for climate action, and develop a strategic approach to PHSKC engagement on this critical issue. The team includes representatives from across the department, including Preparedness, Communications, Chronic Disease & Injury Prevention, and Environmental Health Services.

Building Capacity for Climate and Health

CHAT started with an assessment of internal and external perspectives on the role of public health in climate change. CHAT members conducted key informant interviews with 19 individuals on the Public Health Executive Team, as well as with leaders and staff of community-based organizations in disadvantaged communities. Several key themes emerged from these interviews plus two focus groups at community based gatherings and two surveys—one for PHSKC staff and the other for community stakeholders:

- **Knowledge:** While both PHSKC staff and community residents are aware of climate change and believe it is a health risk, they lack knowledge about specific impacts to health.
- **Priority:** Climate change is not seen as an urgent issue relative to other concerns.
- **Role:** PHSKC should take action and play a leadership role on climate change impacts on health. Action should be grounded in equity and in evidence, integrated into existing functions, and connected to community and to policy development.
- **Equity:** Work on climate and health must address equity and social justice, social determinants of health, at-risk populations, health in all policies, and increased preparedness and resiliency.
- **Collaboration:** Community representation and engagement are essential, including mechanisms to better participation in county decision making processes.



Source: Public Health Seattle-King County

Based on these themes, and with input from CBO partners Puget Sound Sage and Got Green, and from the County Climate Leadership Team, the CHAT team developed a PHSKC Blueprint for Addressing Climate Change and Health. The Blueprint discusses existing opportunities and gaps, outlines strategies to increase internal capacity, and identifies ways in which climate change can be integrated into existing public health programs and functions.



Additionally, CHAT recommended a series of climate and health trainings for PHSKC staff. The Climate Leadership Team requested that those trainings be made available to all county staff. Engagement of senior PHSKC leadership from the outset of the CHAT work has also helped to establish climate change as a priority within the executive team.

Complementary to CHAT's internal capacity building and community engagement efforts, they partnered with University of Washington to develop a comic zine series focused on extreme heat and heat coping strategies. The zine was designed to specifically reflect the cultural and ethnic diversity in the Chinatown-International District and Rainier Valley areas.

Future Work and Lessons Learned

Public health staff are now working with other agencies to determine the most relevant climate and health content for various county staff, and scheduling climate and health trainings across various agencies, to include issues such as storm water, food systems, air quality, extreme heat, and open space.

Learn More

• <u>Beating the Heat, for Your Health</u>

Key Action Steps:



- Establish a Climate and Health Action Team that includes representatives from as many LHD programs/divisions as possible. Include subject matter experts, CBOs, academic institutions, and other relevant stakeholders.
- Conduct interviews and/or survey LHD leadership and staff to assess current knowledge and perceptions about climate and health and LHD action on climate, health, and equity. Conduct interviews, surveys, and focus groups with CBOs, and stakeholders.
- Develop an internal and/or external guidance document for LHD climate action on health.
 Provide climate and health training for LHD staff and other local agency staff.
- Develop a series of public educational materials that are culturally linguistically appropriate and accessible.

7.5 Greening Local Health Departments

LHDs can implement many practices to lead by example and reduce their own carbon footprint, while contributing to improvements in community health. The National Academies of Science, Engineering and Medicine recommend that "every city should develop a cohesive sustainability plan," and many have already done so.¹ Find out what your jurisdiction and others in your region are already doing, and consult the many resources that are available on greening health care systems, businesses, schools, and government agencies that contain recommended practices that can be easily adopted and adapted for LHDs.

For example, in 2009 the Chattanooga Green Committee (TN) identified electricity production and transportation as the largest contributors of GHG in the region and established an ambitious goal to reduce GHG emissions by 20% by 2020 and 80% by 2050 compared to 1990 levels.² Initially the committee focused on increasing energy efficiency and renewable energy procurement, drawing upon nearby wind and solar farms; in 2012 the Chattanooga mayor issued an executive order mandating a 25% reduction in energy use by city departments and buildings by 2020. The committee, Mayor's Office, and other partners continue to advance their goals through green building initiatives, coupled with affordable housing and anti-displacement measures.³

Greening" your department reduces GHGE, creates a healthier work and community environment, and saves money through more responsible use of resources. Encourage all staff to be involved in green solutions to show that your department is leading by example to build a healthier and more sustainable community. Encourage all staff to be involved in green solutions and make climate change, health, equity more visible. This will show that your department leads by example and is building a healthier community.

Ten Reasons to Green Your Department

- Greening strategies reduce greenhouse gas emissions
- It promotes responsible use of resources
- Departments save money by lowering expenses
- It creates a healthier work environment
- It encourages teamwork by involving all staff in green solutions
- The climate change, health, and equity connections become more visible
- The department is seen as leading by example, because you will "walk the talk"
- It decreases air pollution, water consumption, and waste
- You can build a healthier community
- It helps to make sustainability a part of everyone's daily life

- Adapted from MyGreenDoctor.org⁴

Use "greening" as an opportunity to talk with colleagues, LHD leadership, and other agencies about climate change, its connection to health and equity, and why it's important for your jurisdiction to lead by example on climate action to improve and protect health.⁵

Establish a "Green Team"

The recommendations below are adapted from the Alameda County, California Green Ambassadors program.⁶

Some action steps require buy-in from senior leadership or other agencies, so it is helpful to seek leadership buyin from the start by talking about the many benefits of greening the LHD.

Cast a wide net when inviting people to join or lead a Green Team: Green Teams provide an opportunity for staff in all classifications and across programs to work together for meaningful improvement in your work place.

- Use staff meetings and trainings to talk about the Green Team and recruit volunteers to participate. Reach out to other departments and programs in your LHD and request a few minutes during their staff meetings as well.
- Ask managers to send out an announcement about the first several Green Team meetings and to endorse use of work time to participate.

Ask if jurisdiction efforts are already in place to reduce waste, improve energy efficiency, transition to renewable energy, reduce vehicle miles traveled, or implement local and sustainable procurement practices. What resources or recommendations are available from others in sister agencies?

• Find out who is responsible for decision making in these areas, either within your LHD or in another agency, and share information with them about the health benefits of greening.

Identify goals and priorities—it may be helpful to think about ways in which greening relates to LHD goals or to a climate action or sustainability plan.

- Alameda County encouraged employees to participate in a county Clean Commute Challenge that would also increase physical activity rates.
- Los Angeles County Department of Public Health staff are developing proposals to adjust routes for staff who drive a lot for inspections or home visits to reduce miles traveled

Invite members from Green Teams from other agencies, institutions or LHDs in other jurisdictions to attend your meetings and share ideas for action.

Greening Actions

The Tables below provide recommendations for actions to green your LHD related to energy, transportation, waste, and procurement, ranging from those that can be taken by individuals to others that will require more coordination, support and authorization from LHD and jurisdiction leadership.

Table 7.5.1ENERGY CONSERVATION, ENERGY EFFICIENCY,
AND CLEAN ENERGY (SEE SECTION 5.2—ENERGY)

- Train staff on energy conservation and efficiency practices
 - Turn off lights, computers, monitors, fax machines, copiers, and printers when not in use
- Work with operations and facilities managers to adopt and implement sustainable, healthy energy practices.
 - Reduce "plug" load in LHD offices by removing personal equipment such as desk lamps and space heaters or installing smart power strips⁷
 - Set thermostats to 74°F (23°C) in the summer and 68°F (20°C) in the winter, put reminder stickers on thermostats, and inspect weekly⁸
 - Audit and monitor building energy use⁹
 - Regularly replace air filters and clean cooling towers to maximize equipment performance.
 - Replace all fluorescent lighting with LED lights.
 - Implement energy efficiency and toxics reduction protocols for custodial and cleaning services¹⁰
 - Develop and implement a financing plan and schedule for energy retrofit projects^{11,12}
 - Use cool and green roofs on new roofs and repairs
 - Purchase energy efficient equipment
 - Incorporate natural ventilation and lighting in new or remodeled buildings
 - Use non-potable water for landscapes¹³
 - Procure renewable energy

Table 7.5.2SUSTAINABLE AND ACTIVE
TRANSPORTATION (SEE SECTION 5.1—TRANSPORTATION)

- Encourage and incentivize staff to use transit and active transportation to commute to work.
 - Provide discounted or pre-tax fare cards, showers and locked bicycle storage, and discounts on bike share.
- Support planning and financing of safe active transportation infrastructure (bike lanes, trails, sidewalks).
- Provide a shuttle service from public transit for employees, clients, and visitors to reach your facilities without driving.
- Expand opportunities for telecommuting and allow schedules (e.g. 4 day/10 hour) that reduce commuting.
- For workers who drive to inspection sites or home and provider visits, consider the use of vehicle routing and scheduling apps and scheduling trips so that first and last work assignments are closest to employees' homes, to reduce vehicle miles travelled.
- Limit parking availability, and offer preferred parking for vanpool/carpools
- Install EV charging stations in parking areas and offer preferred parking for electric vehicles.
- Invest in electric vehicles when making fleet upgrades; use low-carbon fuels until then.

Table 7.5.3 HEALTHY AND SUSTAINABLE FOOD (SEE SECTION 5.3—AGRICULTURE)

- Encourage staff to eat less meat by providing information about the health and climate impacts.
- Source vegetarian meals from local, sustainable, underrepresented community-based caterers for meetings and events.
 - Creating partnerships will local businesses and farmers for local will reduce transport-related emissions of the food you serve, reducing overall emissions from agriculture systems.
- If your department operates cafeterias or hospitals, implement purchasing/procurement guidelines for healthy foods and provide information to patients, clients, and visitors about healthy and sustainable food. See Health Care Without Harm's <u>Purchasing Considerations—A Supplement to Redefining Protein—Adjusting Diets to</u> <u>Protect Pubic Health and Conserve Resources</u>.
- Establish food waste prevention initiatives (e.g. trayless dining in cafeterias)
- Establish surplus food recovery or donation program in partnership with local non-profit hunger relief agencies.
- Establish composting or food/organics waste recycling program (e.g. partner with local farmer to divert food waste from the waste stream to compost or animal feed)

Waste Reduction, Procurement

Waste production leads to direct greenhouse gas emissions from incinerators and landfills, while also increasing emissions related to the extraction, transport, and processing of raw materials and to manufacture the products.¹⁵ (Tables 7.5.3 and 7.5.4)

PUBLIC HEALTH FUNCTIONS

- According to the EPA, if the amount of waste generated in the US was reduced to 1990 levels, greenhouse gas emissions would be lowered by 18 million metric tons of carbon equivalent¹⁶
- Government procurement has immense power to direct public funds to particular food and service providers within a local economy.¹⁷

Table 7.5.4 WASTE REDUCTION

- Use compostable or reusable dishware in office kitchens and for meetings and events.
- Eliminate the use of bottled water for meetings and events whenever possible.
 - Provide hydration stations in office buildings, clinics, and hospitals.
- Work with operations and facilities managers to adopt and implement waste reduction practices
 - Conduct a waste audit and create a "Waste Management Plan" and strategies to incentivize reuse, recycling, and composting, such as easily accessible bins for recycling and compostable waste.
 - Implement procurement policies that favor office and medical supplies with lower environmental impact, such as those made from 100% post-consumer products.

For More Information:

- National Association of Counties, Green Government Creating a Green County Team¹⁸
- New York State Department of Environmental Conservation <u>How to Boost Energy Efficient in Municipal</u> <u>Facilities/Operations</u>¹⁹
- International Council for Local Environmental Initiatives Virtual Library²⁰
- Institute for Local Government Sustainability Best Practices Framework²¹
- The City Fix Seven Ways to Encourage Sustainable Community in Your Workplace²²
- Health Care Without Harm Purchasing Considerations²³
- <u>Practice Greenhealth</u>²⁴
- <u>My Green Doctor²⁵</u>



Building Capacity: Los Angeles County Department of Public Health

The Los Angeles County Department of Public Health (LADPH) is the largest local health department in the nation, servicing over 10 million extremely diverse residents. LADPH appears to be unique among local health departments as it has employed a full-time staff member dedicated to coordinate the department's climate change and health efforts since 2014.

The first activities of the LADPH Climate and Health program focused on education and planning. In collaboration with the University of California Los Angeles Fielding School of Public Health, LADPH sponsored a sixteen week workshop series, open to all staff, that provided a comprehensive overview on climate and health, and offered staff an opportunity to brainstorm about how LADPH could expand its work on climate change and released a public-facing report on <u>Your Health and Climate Change</u>. The department also <u>developed a Five Point</u> <u>Plan to Reduce the Health Impacts of Climate Change</u>, which established 5 key priorities: 1) inform and engage the general public about the nature of climate change and the health co-benefits associated with taking action to reduce carbon emissions, 2) promote local planning, land use, transportation, water, and energy policies that reduce carbon emissions and support the design of healthy and sustainable communities, 3) provide guidance on climate preparedness to local government and community partners to reduce health risks and create more resilient communities, 4) build the capacity of departments staff and programs to monitor health impacts, integrate climate preparedness, and improve climate response, and 5) adopt best management practices to reduce carbon emission associate with department al facilitate and internal operations.

In 2015, LADPH sought to expand its climate change work through more intentional engagement of senior management and formation of a cross-department Climate and Health Workgroup. Staff met with 19 LADPH executive staff who were engaged in discussions on how their divisions and programs were addressing climate change, how they could enhance those activities, and who they would nominate for the workgroup In June 2016, a 22-member intradepartmental workgroup was established with representatives from the public information office, operations/facility management, chronic disease prevention and health promotion, environmental health and emergency preparedness, nursing, veterinary health, communicable disease control, health assessment and epidemiology, children's medical services, and women's health. Over the course of the next year, the workgroup identified 25 specific objectives based on the overarching Five Point Plan, guiding the work described below.

The Climate and Health Program also worked with an interagency group to address urban heat islands. LADPH has chaired a multi-agency intersectoral Healthy Design Work Group since 2012. That group created the LA Climate Committee—chaired by LADPH and comprised of Beaches and Harbors, Internal Services, Fire, Parks and Recreation, Public Works, and Regional Planning, specifically to develop an urban heat island reduction plan. <u>The Urban Heat Island Reduction Plan</u> outlines four strategic areas: 1) expand and maintain the urban forest, 2) promote cool roofs, 3) increase urban green space, and 4) promote cool and permeable pavements. Simultaneously, the Committee is also developing an outreach strategy to gain feedback and buy-in for the Plan from key stakeholders.

From 2017 to 2018 the Climate and Health Workgroup developed an Extreme Heat response Framework that outlines objectives and strategies that improve the department's preparedness and response for extreme heat, in order to help protect the public from the health impacts of extreme heat events. The strategies within the Framework reflect the importance of increasing accessibility to information and resources for vulnerable populations. For example, "Objective 1: Target Vulnerable Populations" includes strategies such as "1.2 Partner with organizations serving vulnerable persons to disseminate heat safety information and best practices." Other strategies address accessibility and distribution of cooling centers.



Though a partnership with the LA Department of Parks and Recreation's <u>Parks After Dark</u> program, set up booths at Parks After Dark resource fairs to engage with community members

about extreme heat and distribute information about extreme heat resources such as maps to nearby cooling centers. Complementary to this community engagement effort, LACDPH published <u>two articles</u> in the physician newsletter, Rx for Prevention, on climate change, health, and the role of providers.

Future Work and Lessons Learned

Based on the robust foundation of internal capacity building, the LACDPH plans to expand their reach to more robustly engaging with the County's Board of Supervisors. In Summer 2018, LACDPH plans to deliver customized climate change and health presentations to each Board office in order to convey the specific climate, health, and equity impacts for unique populations and constituents.

Additionally, LACDPH plans to continue to engage in the Parks After Dark program to enhance the community engagement process regarding extreme heat.

KEY ACTION STEPS:



- Develop a climate and health training or workshop for LHD staff to increase interest and capacity within the LHD.
 See <u>LADPH workshops</u> sessions.
- Seek input from LHD leadership and staff to assess current climate and health knowledge and identify potential entry points for climate and health work
 - health work Implement a climate and health work group with participation across LHD
- Develop a plan that includes actionable steps for each LHD program/division to implement in order to meet shared goals
- Collaborate with other county agencies to identify venues and events for public outreach regarding climate and health.

Learn More

programs.

- Los Angeles County Environmental Health Division Climate Change and Health
- Los Angeles County Climate and Health Workshops (LA Regional Collaborative for Climate Action and Sustainability)
- Los Angeles County CalBRACE Climate and Health Profile
- <u>California Department of Public Health's LACDPH Case Story</u>

Climate and Health Communications

"The main thing we can do about climate change right now is talk about it."1

- Bill Nye the Science Guy, 2016

Communicating about climate change and health requires the same public health communications skills that local health departments deploy every day in communicating about other complex public health issues. This section provides a brief discussion of crafting climate and health messages, some tips on climate and health communication, ideas about what LHDs can do to expand communication on climate and health, and sample language to integrate climate change into routine LHD messages.

The Role of Local Health Departments

Communicating accurate and timely public health information in a manner that can be interpreted appropriately and acted on by individuals, policy makers, and society is a core function of public health.² As trusted sources of health expertise, serving the most vulnerable and impacted communities, LHDs are uniquely positioned to help people understand that climate change is a serious and urgent health challenge and exacerbates health inequities, and that taking action on climate change benefits health. Local health departments have a professional responsibility to inform communities about the health risks of climate change and how to lessen them, and to foster and support climate action.³

Climate science *is* complex and there *are* many unknowns about our climate future. But you do not need to be an expert on climate science nor be able to forecast precise future impacts to talk about climate change and health. Most people in the U.S. already believe that climate change is happening.

"It turns out that the results of the fundamental material science of the environment are not sufficient to change enough brains."⁹

– George Lakoff

However, information alone is not sufficient to build the social and political will to vigorously tackle climate change. Prior public health success stories (think tobacco) demonstrate that social transformation requires a communication narrative that moves people to action and is linked to strategies for policy and systems change. Building will for climate action requires that more people connect climate change with their own lives

What Americans think about climate change

70% of Americans age 18–34 and 56% of Americans age 55 and older are worried about climate change and believe that global warming is happening, and more than 40% say they have personally experienced the effects of global warming.^{4,5,6} Over 95% of Americans, agree (78% strongly so) that we have a moral responsibility to be good stewards of nature.⁷ See the <u>Yale</u> <u>Climate Opinion Maps</u> to learn more.⁸

and values, see change as possible, and see paths to join with others to take and demand action.¹⁰ Effective communication is informed by impacted communities and serves to *support* advocacy and organizing to advance a robust agenda for change.

We're In This Together

"Yet if we ignore the dynamics of race and power, we are unlikely to devise climate solutions that benefit those who are most impacted or ensure solutions accessible to all. And if we do not hear, engage, and authentically include those most impacted, we will not benefit from the knowledge and ingenuity required to build climate resilience and move toward a just transition. *The tension between transactional/technical and transformative approaches to climate change solutions informs very different communications strategies.* Technical solutions alone will not achieve a society that is sustainable, equitable, and more harmonious with nature. That will require real democracy, full inclusion, and a social movement that addresses justice and climate change together."¹¹

– Makani Themba

People interpret information through the lens of their own values and cultural identities. A core value underlying today's public health practice is that health is a *collective* responsibility. It takes societal and governmental action to make the policy, systems, and environmental changes required to address health inequities and the social determinants of health.

Frames are "interpretive storylines that set a specific train of thought in motion, communicating why an issue might be a problem, who or what might be responsible for it, and what should be done about it".¹² In the United States, the starting point for most people—their default frame— is that individuals must solve problems for themselves without involvement from government. This "you're on your own" frame focuses on what individuals can do in their own lives and households, and minimizes the importance of collective action for policy and systems change.¹³

Public health communicators must start with a narrative of cooperation—"we're in this together"—that rallies people around a common cause, reframes the response to a problem from "What can *I* do?" to ""What can *we* do?" and helps people see how they can participate as *social* actors in defining problems and implementing solutions.¹⁴

Climate and Health Messages

There are many frames used in climate change communications, including environmental (glaciers and polar bears), economic, national security, preparedness, and health.^{16,17} Fortunately for LHDs, there is evidence suggesting that a health frame engenders support for climate action.¹⁸

Climate and health messages are constructed like other public health messages. No single message can incorporate all of the information about climate change or its many solutions, but it is helpful to include language that reminds people about the scientific consensus on climate change.^{19,20}

• **97% of scientists agree:** human caused climate change is happening



Public Health Messages¹⁵

- Establish or trigger an "environmental frame" that the places people live, work, and play affect their health.
- State values that allow people to connect your message with commonly held values such as fairness, opportunity, efficiency, and equality.
- State the problem and solution clearly so that the audience understands the need for unified societal action and specifically what you want them to do.

Environmental Trigger + Solution + Values = Public Health Message

Here's an example of a public health message that begins with an environmental trigger and uses the values of fairness and opportunity to promote more parks.

"Well-maintained parks provide people with safe places to play and be active. It's not right that children in some of our neighborhoods have plenty of nice parks and playgrounds nearby while others have none. That's why we are working with the Parks Agency to make sure there are sufficient funds to build new parks and playgrounds so that all children in our community have the opportunity for safe play and physical activity."

Climate and health messages:

- Establish or trigger an "environmental frame" to remind people that our health and well-being depend on clean air and water, healthy food, and a stable climate.
- State your values to allow people to connect your message with shared values such as fairness, opportunity, protection, preparedness, equality, responsibility, leaving the world a better place for our children.
- State the problem and solution clearly so that your audience understands the need for unified societal action, and specifically what you want them to do and when you want them to do it.
- Affirm that scientists agree that climate change is real, human caused, harmful, and solvable.

Environmental Trigger + Solution + Values + Scientists Agree = Climate and Health Message

Here are some examples of climate and health messages that use this message equation.

Fossil fuels, air pollution, and climate change

Everyone should have the opportunity for good health and a long life, but pollution from burning dirty fossil fuels for electricity is stripping whole communities of that opportunity. Pollution is dirtying the air, and scientists agree that burning fossil fuels is causing harmful climate change. At the health department, we have a responsibility to protect our children, seniors, and most vulnerable communities from the health effects of air pollution and climate change. It may seem daunting but in fact we can make headway by supporting the city council proposal to put solar panels on all city buildings. That will speed our transition to clean and renewable energy, reduce our reliance on dirty fossil fuels, and improve our community's health.

Diesel pollution, climate change, and asthma

Our job at the health department is to protect the health of everyone in our community, particularly those who already bear disproportionate health burdens. Children in the Longview neighborhood are exposed to diesel pollution from nearby roadways and it is making them sick. Our latest data show that Longview children have higher rates of asthma than children in other parts of the city, and that they are missing school due to asthma attacks. This isn't surprising since older diesel trucks spew out air chemicals that cause air pollution. 97% of climate scientists agree that climate change is already happening and climate change also makes air pollution worse. Fortunately we have something we can do right now, in our own backyard, that will help the planet and help the children in Longview. A new low-interest loan program to help truckers purchase new, clean engines could significantly lower diesel pollution exposure in that neighborhood and increase economic opportunity.

Trees, urban heat islands, and equity

97% of climate scientists agree that climate change is happening now, and we can see that here in Warm Springs where our summers are getting hotter. Our job in the health department is to protect people from extreme heat especially children and the elderly. Trees provide cooling shade and reduce the risk of heat illness. It's not fair that in some Warm Springs neighborhoods there are plenty of trees while others have almost none. We need your support so the health department and public works can work together to train youth to plant trees in tree-poor neighborhoods.

Climate change and meat consumption

We all have a responsibility to protect our children and their future. One easy way we can do that is by serving less meat to our kids. Eating too much meat increases the risk of heart disease. And meat production causes climate pollution. Scientists agree that climate change is happening and that it's going to get worse if we don't do something about it. We're asking the PTA to work with the Longview school district and us to start a Meatless Mondays program. Help our kids learn to eat healthy and fight climate change at the same time.

Climate change and safe routes for bicycling to school

Car pollution is now the biggest source of climate pollution in our state and 97% of scientists agree that climate pollution is causing climate change now. When children bike to school, there's no climate pollution and kids are more physically active. But in too many Los Carros neighborhoods, there's so much traffic that parents are afraid to let their kids bicycle. All of our kids should be able to safely bike to school so that they can be more physically active and we can reduce climate pollution. That's why the City Council put Measure X on the ballot to raise money for more protected bike lanes—it's a win for health and for the climate.

The Tobacco Industry and the Fossil Fuels Industry

Public health initiatives have faced aggressive attacks from powerful industries eager to protect profits in the face of public health efforts to promote health. Exhibit one is the multi-decade public health battle against the money, political power, and manipulation of Big Tobacco. The tobacco industry paid scientists to produce studies showing that smoking was not harmful and launched a well-funded public relations strategy to spread doubt about the increasing scientific evidence of tobacco's harms, attacking the credibility of science in general.¹ A 2006 ruling found three major tobacco companies guilty of racketeering and ordered them to issue corrective statements to the public on the health impacts of smoking.² More recently, the tobacco industry has targeted advertising at youth, low income, and communities of color, contributing to the persistent inequities in smoking-related deaths.³

"Doubt is our product, since it is the best means of competing with the 'body of fact' that exists in the minds of the general public"⁴

Brown and Williamson internal memo, 1969

There is strong evidence that for decades the fossil fuel industry also organized and financed a misinformation campaign to discredit the science of climate change and its impacts, undermine trust in the level of scientific agreement, equate climate science and climate action with a liberal political agenda, and cast doubt on the capacity to reduce fossil fuel use without exorbitant costs and at the expense of global development.^{5,6,7,8,9} A 2013 study described a complex web of organizations funded to cast doubt on climate science and to obscure the connection between this effort and the fossil fuel industry.¹⁰ As early as 1996, Mobil Oil made plans to account for sea level rise "due to global warming" in their offshore oil rig constructions while publically claiming that climate science was too uncertain to merit a response.^{11,12}

Like the tobacco industry before it, the fossil fuel industry is targeting youth and communities of color that are disproportionately impacted by climate change and by more direct impacts of fossil fuel combustion. *Fueling U.S. Forward* is a Koch-funded campaign aimed at black voters purporting that they benefit the most from cheap fossil fuels and have the most to lose if energy costs rise.¹³ The industry has spent tens of millions to fund curriculum and outreach materials that promote fossil fuels to K–12 students.^{14,15}

Tobacco industry denormalization played an important role in successful anti-smoking campaigns. A key turning point in California's landmark anti-tobacco campaign was the decision to directly challenge the tobacco industry.¹⁶ Denormalization rests on the "… fundamental and irreconcilable conflict between the tobacco industry's interests and public health policy interests."¹⁷ It helps to erode industry's power to thwart tobacco control and to enhance public support and political will to tackle the reforms needed to end the tobacco epidemic.¹⁸

California's anti-tobacco social marketing campaign successfully:19,20

- Redefined tobacco from an individual problem (smoking) to a public issue (tobacco) to make room for a shift toward collective solutions through policy and environmental change.
- Shifted from blaming the smoker to focus on the need for rules that hold the tobacco industry accountable for the death and disability it has caused.

Continued on next page

The Tobacco Industry and the Fossil Fuels Industry continued

- Denormalized the use of tobacco
- Exposed industry as the "vector of disease" and showed how the industry was harming people in the pursuit of profit. An honest portrayal of the tobacco industry played a critical role in building public support for anti-tobacco policies at all levels.

To date public health communications on climate and health have not adopted an industry denormalization approach that exposes how the fossil fuel industry has knowingly deceived the public and imposed potentially catastrophic health and climate harms. A broad climate and health social marketing campaign that builds on lessons from successful public health campaigns is much needed.

Climate Communication Tips²¹

Keep these points in mind as you craft your climate and health communications:²²

- Climate messages and communications strategies that integrate community knowledge, values, and beliefs can build a narrative of positive, transformational change and help to ensure that climate action builds toward a more just, equitable, and sustainable world. Talk to community residents about how they see the impacts and causes of climate change and what kinds of changes they want in their communities that will address their concerns *and* climate change.
- Communications serve to support strategy; the message is not an end in and of itself.
- Make it normal to support *societal* climate action instead of placing blame on the individual. Instead of saying "You need to reduce your carbon footprint", say "Communities across the state are taking steps to reduce carbon pollution and protect residents from the health harms of climate change."
- Ensure communications are culturally appropriate, available in multiple languages and low literacy formats.
- Use print and broadcast media, including ethnic, non-English, and very localized media; social media; telephone call-lines; print and broadcast marketing (bus ads, billboards); public forums and meetings. Pima County Health Department placed heat safety posters in local buses.²³



Source: Pima County Health Department

- Use multiple messengers: weather forecasters, health care providers, school teachers, local business owners and service providers, youth, and community leaders.
- Repeat the message often.

"The most effective communication strategies are based on simple messages, repeated often, across multiple communications platforms, by many trusted messengers."

– Ed Maibach, George Mason University Center for Climate Change Communication

- Be consistent in what you say to different audiences, even if you say it differently.
- Try to use plain English:
 - Don't say "greenhouse gas emissions" when you can say "carbon pollution."
 - Say "clean energy" or "solar and wind energy" instead of "renewable energy technology" or "decarbonizing our energy system"
 - Talk about "preparation" for climate change rather than "adaptation" to climate change
 - Use the <u>CDC "plain writing" guide²⁴</u>
- Use visuals that clearly convey the message
- Work with other agencies to harmonize messages
 - People may be confused about what to do when a health department alert cautions against outdoor activity on extreme heat days and air quality agencies ask people to "spare the air" by not driving on poor air quality days—often the same days!
 - "When it's really hot and air quality is poor, try to limit outdoor activity to early morning and evening, and use public transit instead of driving in mid-day."

• Work with other agencies to ensure common terminology and consistent messaging. For example, Philadelphia Department of Public Health recently convened all city departments that communicate or interact with the public about extreme heat and decided to use only two terms: "heat caution" and "heat health emergency."

Make climate change salient

Humans have evolved to prioritize immediately tangible threats over seemingly abstract risks.²⁵ Many people still see climate change as something that is distant in space and time—"not here, not now, not me," although that is changing as more communities experience devastating climate-related disasters.

- Show how climate change has already affected your jurisdiction. When people see climate change as a *local* issue, they are more likely to describe it as *personal* issue.^{26,27}
- Tell stories about people's personal experiences with the impacts of change. Use pictures, especially pictures of real people that have been affected by droughts, floods, wildfires, and storms.
- Extreme weather events create a "moment of proximity and heightened awareness" and an opportunity to start conversations about climate change and real climate solutions.²⁸

Convey urgency

Climate science and the accelerating pace of climate change demonstrates that each day of inaction increases the risks of catastrophic climate change, but any discussion of a climate emergency is currently missing from the mainstream public domain. To convey the urgency of robust climate action, provide analogies that can help people understand that action now will prevent future harms.

"Think about a chronic smoker. At age 20, he thinks he's invincible, that cancer won't happen to him. By 45, with early COPD, he's addicted and assumes quitting won't help him anyway. When he's got lung cancer at 65, it's too late. As a society, we're like the 45 year old—we're addicted to fossil fuels, we see the signs of harm, but we're still not taking the actions needed to prevent a very bad outcome. The difference is that the smoker imperils himself and those around him, while our societal failure to act imperils us all. We can take a different path toward a healthy future if we act swiftly." — Linda Rudolph, Center for Climate Change and Health

- Talk about climate change as an informed choice between better and worse outcomes: "... inaction is itself a choice in favor of severe climate change."²⁹
- Offer information about how the climate is already changing (See Section <u>3—Climate Change 101</u>).

Always follow the message about the urgency of climate action with the message that solutions are available and being pursued now.

Recognize complexity and uncertainty

Climate science *is* complex and there *are* many unknowns about our climate future. But you do not need to be an expert on climate science nor be able to forecast precise future impacts to talk about climate change and health. Rely on the scientific evidence and knowledge of experts, as all health professionals do when addressing any issue outside of their own specialty.

"The science linking human activities to climate change is analogous to the science linking smoking to lung and cardiovascular diseases. Physicians, cardiovascular scientists, public health experts and others all agree smoking causes cancer. And this consensus among the health community has convinced most Americans that the health risks from smoking are real. A similar consensus now exists among climate scientists, a consensus that maintains climate change is happening, and human activity is the cause."

American Academy for the Advancement of Science, "What We Know."30

- Reinforce what is known.
 - 97% of scientists agree that climate change is happening.³¹ "That's enough for me as a public health professional to focus on how we can help to keep people from being harmed by it."³²
 - Surveys show that physicians in many specialties are already seeing the impacts of climate change in their patients.^{33,34,35,36}
 - The health harms of climate change and health benefits of climate action are well documented (See Sections <u>3—Climate Change 101</u>, <u>4—Health Impacts</u>, and <u>5—Health Benefits</u>).
- Acknowledge but don't overstate uncertainty. Scientists are sure that climate change is happening, and that it is causing major impacts, but there are still uncertainties about how quickly impacts will occur or whether every storm or wildfire is due to climate change.³⁷
 - When speaking about a particular extreme event, lead with what is known about how climate change is affecting that type of event; add information, if available, about the attribution of similar events to climate change.³⁸
- Frame uncertainty as a reason to act.³⁹ "We need to hedge our bets rather than waiting so long to see exactly what happens that it will be too late—or far more costly—to deal with the impacts."
- Use health analogies to emphasize the importance of action despite some level of uncertainty regarding the specific climate impacts. "If you were given a cancer diagnosis and told that it is 'very likely' that it will progress without treatment, would you wait to see what happens?"

Offer hope

Many people are motivated to take action when they hear a doomsday message about climate change, and it's important to be honest about the magnitude of the problem.⁴⁰ But too much emphasis on climate impacts can leave some people feeling overwhelmed and powerless, leading to disengagement rather than action. It is essential to offer hope, the most consistent driver of intentions to engage, support policies, or change behavior.⁴¹ The best way to offer hope is to show that we can tackle climate change together, using available and effective solutions that offer important health benefits.

- Give people information that lets them reason their way to solutions: "When we burn fossil fuels it emits carbon dioxide into the air that traps heat like a blanket and disrupts the climate."⁴² "Cows produce methane—a potent climate pollutant. When we eat a lot of beef more cattle are raised."⁴³
- Show positive things real people in your community are doing to fight climate change, including <u>images</u> of solutions in action.⁴⁴

- Emphasize the health benefits of climate solutions to make climate action an obvious solution. Show how clean energy, active transportation, healthy food, and community greening are good for health (See Section <u>5—Health Benefits</u>).
- Remind people that we've tackled big problems before and we can do the same for climate change.
 - We reduced infant and maternal mortality by 90% and 99% respectively since the 1900s, due to a broad range of interventions including better hygiene and nutrition, antibiotics, greater access to health care, and advances in maternal and neonatal medicine. (Of course, much more remains to be done to address huge inequities in premature births and maternal mortality, demonstrating the need to integrate equity in our strategies to address a broad range of health issues, including climate change).
- Activate cooperative values and provide normalizing language that "people like us are concerned and taking action."⁴⁵
 - For example, rather than tell people to get out of their cars, talk about an opportunity to support a bike-sharing initiative that will provide affordable transport and reduce air and climate pollution.
- Offer climate solutions that address community health concerns. Seek ideas for community-driven climate solutions. There are many climate solutions. Some individuals or communities may get excited about trying to reduce food waste in school cafeterias, and others about promoting community solar—both reduce climate pollution and provide health benefits.
- Avoid the individual solutions trap. Individual behaviors in daily life are important, but community action and policy/systems change are required to address the root causes of climate change and health inequities.⁴⁶ Instead of talking about what individuals can do, talk about what "we" can do together.
 - If people ask about individual behavior, share ideas (e.g. eat less meat, walk and bike more) but mention too the collective actions (e.g. increasing access to affordable fruits and vegetables or safe places to bike) that will increase opportunities for health for everyone in the community.

Acknowledge complicity

Nearly everyone in industrialized nations enjoys convenience, mobility, and comfort—such as driving, flying, using energy to light, heat and cool our homes, and consuming goods—made possible by abundant fossil fuel energy. But now we know the great magnitude of the health and climate costs of our dependence on fossil fuels and industrial agriculture. Now that we have more feasible and affordable options that allow us to move on to less polluting, clean, safe, and sustainable renewable energy, transportation, and food systems, we have a responsibility to do so.

Interrupt the spiral of silence

People are social beings. The more they hear family, friends, and respected community leaders talking about an issue, the more they see that issue as worthy of attention. Conversely, even people who care about an issue may shy away from discussing it if they infrequently hear other people talking about it. Unfortunately, climate change is in just such a "spiral of silence".⁴⁷

While 60% of Americans say that climate change is important to them personally, fewer than 50% say they hear it discussed in the media at least once a month, only 20% say people they know talk about it once a month, and 70% say they rarely or never discuss it with family and friends.⁴⁸ Americans also routinely

overestimate the prevalence of climate skeptic views, and underestimate levels of support for renewable energy and other climate solutions.⁴⁹

One lesson from other public health challenges is that public health problems are hard to address without naming them and their causes, even if that means talking about "taboo" topics or confronting powerful interests. Effective STD and HIV/AIDS prevention requires talking about sex. Addressing health inequities requires talking about poverty and racism. Achieving the transformative systems changes required to effectively protect health and advance equity in the era of climate change requires naming climate change and its causes, while tailoring the message for the audience and context. LHDs have a professional responsibility to break the spiral of silence by informing communities about this urgent health threat and the actions needed to address it.

"We've been working on extreme heat for a few years, because it's clearly getting worse. But we never talked about climate change. About six months ago we started talking bringing together our partners for a community discussion on heat and other climate impacts. With the support of our Director, we even decided to put "climate change" right into the title for the forum. We were all worried that there would be backlash from more conservative community leaders. But none of them said a word. In fact we got a lot of really favorable responses from people who were glad that the subject was finally out in the open!"

Maricopa County (AZ) Health Department Program Manager

Do talk to conservatives

Climate change may have become a politically polarized issue, but that doesn't mean you shouldn't talk about climate and health to people in more conservative communities.⁵⁰ Very strong majorities in the U.S.—across party lines—believe their community should do more to address climate change and prepare for its impacts, including provide clean energy, expand public transportation and enhance walkability, reduce air and water pollution, and conserve energy.⁵¹ 80% of Americans—including 62% of Trump voters—agree that the U.S. should regulate and/ or tax carbon pollution.⁵²

- Highlighting scientific consensus may neutralize polarizing worldviews, so be especially clear that 97% of climate scientists agree that climate change is happening and is caused by human activities.⁵³
- Focus on local impacts: Conservatives are more likely to consider the need for action when they can see how climate change affects them personally.⁵⁴
- Appeal to values such as accountability, conservation of resources, responsibility, caring for our children.^{55,56}
- Emphasize solutions that have health benefits and are efficient and cost-effective.

"There is a tendency, particularly in government and politics, to avoid focusing on difficult problems until they balloon into crisis. We would be fools to wait for that to happen to our climate...When you run a company, you want to hand it off in better shape than you found it. In the same way, just as we shouldn't leave our children or grandchildren with mountains of national debt and unsustainable entitlement programs, we shouldn't leave them with the economic and environmental costs of
climate change. Republicans must not shrink from this issue. Risk management is a conservative principle, as is preserving our natural environment for future generations."⁵⁷ – Henry Paulson, Former (Republican) Secretary of the Treasury, 2014

Climate Change, Health, and Equity: The Essential Messages

- Climate change is happening now—97% of climate scientists agree.
- Climate change is caused by human activities.
- Climate change is harming our health and the health of our communities now.
- Some people and communities bear an unfair burden of these health harms, including low-income communities, communities of color, native and tribal communities, the very young and very old, and those with chronic illnesses.
- There is a real danger that those harms will be catastrophic unless we take action now. We can't afford to take that risk.
- Together we can do something about climate change: we already have solutions that are working and could be put into practice widely and cost-effectively now if we take and demand action.
- We can shift to clean renewable energy // make it easier to walk, bike and take public transit // increase access to healthy and local food // plant trees and green our communities // stop burning dirty fossil fuels that cause climate pollution // invest to prepare for and protect from the harms of climate change.
- These climate solutions bring substantial health benefits: clean air, soil and water; less asthma, heart disease, and obesity; more places to play and be active; less stress and improved mental health; and more resilient communities.
- People in every community deserve to have the opportunities and resources to be healthy in the era of climate change.
- There has been deliberate disregard for our health and the health of the planet. The fossil fuel companies have acted like the tobacco companies—intentionally misleading us about the harms of fossil fuels and climate change, and spending millions to oppose climate policy.
- The problem is urgent: climate change is a health emergency. We need to do more, and more rapidly.
- We all have the responsibility to take action for healthy people, healthy places, and a healthy planet.

In a nutshell

"It's real. It's us. It's bad. Scientists agree. There's hope."58

– Anthony Leiserowitz, Yale Project on Climate Change Communication

What Local Health Departments Can Do?

Local health departments have many opportunities to communicate to various audiences about climate change, health, and equity, including: (1) focused efforts to inform about climate change—health—equity connections; (2) collaboration with other agencies to integrate health into climate change communications; (3) integration of climate change into routine public health department messages.

"We envision a community where there is a universal understanding of climate change risks, its effects, and actions that can be taken to mitigate or adapt to the effects of climate change. This is facilitated by consistent and unified climate and health messaging across agencies and organizations." – Maricopa County Climate and Health Strategic Plan⁵⁹

- Develop strategies and design and disseminate materials and events to inform the community, public health and health care professionals, and policy makers about climate change, health and equity.
 - Prepare a report(s) on Climate Change, Health, and Equity in your jurisdiction to raise general awareness.
 - Los Angeles County published "<u>Your Health and Climate Change in Los Angeles County</u>" and "<u>Framework for Addressing Climate Change in Los Angeles County</u>" for the general public. For health care providers: <u>Climate Change and Health in LA County: Opportunities</u> <u>for Clinical Intervention</u>.^{60,61,62}
 - Convene a Climate, Health and Equity public workshop.
 - Salt Lake City and County Health Department holds an annual Climate and Health Symposium.
 - Maricopa County hosted Bridging Climate Change and Public Health summits, which led to a <u>Climate and Health Strategic Plan</u>.⁶³
 - Climate, health and equity vulnerability assessments (CHEVA) provide an excellent tool for initiating community conversations about climate change.
 - New Orleans Health Department partnered with Gulf Coast Center for Law and Policy to host community meetings to review a CHEVA, map the city's extreme weather response protocol, and identify community health needs.
 - Multnomah County Health Department partnered with Coalition of Communities of Color to conduct a CHEVA displayed as an <u>interactive map</u>, and to inform advocacy and guide county investments.⁶⁴
 - Minneapolis Health Department used a CHEVA to identify vulnerable communities, partner with community organizations for workshops on climate change and health.

- Collaborate on campaigns with businesses, schools, community partners, and other agencies to educate and act on climate solutions example.
 - Launch a <u>Turn it Off</u> campaign to reduce vehicle idling that produces air and climate pollution.⁶⁵
 - Encourage energy conservation and efficiency to reduce climate and air pollution and energy costs, through a <u>Switch Off</u> campaign.⁶⁶
- Coordinate with other agencies to integrate health messaging into their climate change materials.
 - Provide language on health impacts and solutions related to the climate work of other agencies.
 - Work with city/county Offices of Sustainability and planning agencies to integrate health into climate (mitigation and adaptation) action plans and sustainability or resilience plans.⁶⁷ The <u>ReFresh Milwaukee community sustainability plan</u> integrates language on climate change and health considerations.⁶⁸
 - Collaborate with planning to integrate climate and health messages <u>into General Plans</u>.^{69,70} The 2016 <u>King County Comprehensive Plan</u> includes multiple strategies and language on climate change and health.⁷¹
 - Incorporate climate change into local air quality agency Spare the Air alerts.
 - Coordinate with other agencies to make sure that your messages are not contradictory and confusing.
 - Philadelphia Department of Public Health convened all city departments that interact with the public about extreme heat, and standardized use of the terms *heat caution* and heat *health emergency* to describe health risks during an extreme heat event.
- Integrate climate and health messages into documents, educational materials, and health promotion information
 - Include climate change in the Community Health Assessment and Community Health Improvement Plans
 - Macomb County (MI) Health Department included climate change in the 2016 Forces of Change Assessment component of its <u>Community Health Assessment</u>.⁷²
 - New Orleans Health Department included an objective to reduce climate impacts on health in its 2015 <u>Community Health Improvement Plan</u>.⁷³
 - San Luis Obispo County Public Health Department partnered with the California Department of Public Health on the OutsideInSLO campaign in developing a series of informational materials: <u>Healthy and Climate Friendly Food</u> and <u>Healthy and Climate Friendly Travel</u>.^{74,75}
 - Minnesota Department of Health developed a <u>Health and Climate Film and Educational Materials</u> for <u>Middle School Teachers</u> to inform teachers and student about climate change and health and adaptation and mitigation strategies.⁷⁶



Source: Public Health Seattle-King County

- Public Health Seattle-King County developed a series of "zines" depicting diverse people and communities discussing their risk and response during extreme heat events.
- Work with health care providers to post and distribute climate change and health information for patients
 - Center for Climate Change and Health's <u>Climate and Health Posters</u>⁷⁷
 - University of California, San Francisco's <u>Climate and Health Posters</u>⁷⁸
 - Natural Resources Defense Council's Factsheets and Posters⁷⁹
 - CDC and APHA <u>Climate Effects on Health Fact Sheets</u>⁸⁰
- Be opportunistic: Integrate climate messages into routine and emergency LHD communications

Below are some examples of how commonly issued educational materials, alerts, and advisories can be simply modified with a climate message to tell people that climate change is happening now and affects our communities.

Extreme Heat

Heat Press Release

Original: High temperatures need to be taken very seriously. People should protect themselves and watch out for others who may be vulnerable to extreme temperatures, especially the elderly, people with existing health conditions and people who are isolated.⁸¹

Modified: High temperatures need to be taken very seriously, *especially since climate change is making our summers hotter*. People should protect themselves....

Health Department Twitter

Original: It is easy to get distracted. Look before you lock....⁸²

Modified: *Climate change is making extreme heat days more common.* Never leave baby alone in a hot car. Look before you lock.

Water Quality

Harmful Algal Bloom Press Release

Original: The Department of Health is warning citizens to stay out of the water and to keep their pets and children out as well. ... Harmful algal blooms occur when warm water and nutrients combine to make conditions favorable for blue-green algae growth.⁸³

Modified: Harmful algal blooms occur when warm water and nutrients combine to make conditions favorable for blue-green algae growth. *Climate change is causing warmer water temperature, making harmful algal blooms more frequent.*

Wildfires

LHD Website on Wildfire Safety

Original: Droughts and dry conditions throughout various times of the year increase the risk for wildfires. Careless use of fire in highly wooded areas can also dramatically increase the chance of a wildfire, which can then quickly spread across trees and dry brush and threaten homes and businesses that are in vicinity.⁸⁴

Modified: Droughts and dry conditions increase the risk for wildfires. *Climate change is making our summers hotter and dryer.*

Air Quality

Air Pollution

Original: The EPA reports air pollution levels using the Air Quality Index (AQI). AQI reports the level of ozone and other air pollutants. When the AQI is 101 or higher, it is dangerous for people with asthma. You may have to change your activities and medicines.⁸⁵

Modified: AQI reports the level of ozone and other air pollutants. *Warming due to climate change is increasing ozone levels.* When the AQI is 101 or higher, it is dangerous for people with asthma.

Allergens

Community Health Worker Pediatric Asthma Home Visiting Program

Original: Pollen comes from trees, flowers, grass, and weeds and can trigger asthma. High pollen counts in the spring and fall seasons are known to be asthma triggers for some children.⁸⁶

Modified: Pollen comes from trees, flowers, grass, and weeds and can trigger asthma. High pollen counts in the spring and fall *are increasing due to climate change* and can trigger asthma in children.

Sea Level Rise

Seawater Intrusion Pamphlet

Original: Some coastal wells in Washington are now unusable because of seawater intrusion. This is particularly true in coastal areas where high population growth has placed increased demands on groundwater supplies. Seawater intrusion can potentially render large portions of Washington's coastal aquifers unusable through degradation of water quality. Health issues are a concern in seawater-intruded areas, particularly for people on salt restricted diets.⁸⁷

Modified: Some coastal wells in Washington are now unusable because of seawater intrusion, *which is worsened by sea level rise due to climate change*. This is particularly true in coastal areas where high population growth has placed increased demands on groundwater supplies...

Storms and Flooding

Flood Advisory

Original: Heavy rain causes floodwaters to rise and pool on streets and throughout neighborhoods. In these situations, be aware of the following...⁸⁸

Modified: *Climate change is increasing the frequency of intense storms with heavy rainfall.* Heavy rain causes floodwaters to rise and pool on streets and throughout neighborhoods. In these situations, be aware of the following...

Nutrition and Food Security

Eat Local

Original: Local food is fresher and tastes better than food shipped long distances from other states or countries. Fresher food is more nutritious.⁸⁹

Modified: Local food is fresher, tastes better, *and causes less climate pollution* than food shipped long distances from other states or countries. Fresher food is more nutritious and *better for the environment*.

Eating Outdoors, Handling Food Safely

Original: Picnic and barbecue season offers lots of opportunities for outdoor fun with family and friends. But these warm weather events also present opportunities for foodborne bacteria to thrive. As food heats up in summer temperatures, bacteria multiply rapidly. To protect yourself, your family, and friends from foodborne illness during warm-weather months, safe food handling when eating outdoors is critical.⁹⁰

Modified: Picnic and barbecue season offers lots of opportunities for outdoor fun with family and friends. *But as climate change is making our summers even hotter*, these warm weather events also present opportunities for foodborne bacteria to thrive...

Food and Water Safety During Power Outages and Floods

Original: Emergencies can happen, especially with extreme weather conditions. When they do, the best strategy is to already have a plan in place. This includes knowing the proper food safety precautions to take before, during, and after a power outage—and being prepared to safely handle food and water in the event that flooding occurs.⁹¹

Modified: Emergencies can happen, especially with extreme weather conditions *that are becoming more frequent and severe due to climate change*. The best strategy is to have a plan in place. This includes knowing the proper food safety precautions....

Nutrition and Healthy Eating

Original: "It can be challenging to serve healthy meals when you're trying to save money. Consider serving budget-friendly meatless meals once or twice a week. Meatless meals are built around beans, lentils, vegetables and whole grains. These plant-based proteins tend to be less expensive and offer more health benefits than meat.⁹²

Modified: Consider serving budget-friendly meatless meals once or twice a week. Meatless meals are built around beans, lentils, vegetables and whole grains. These plant-based proteins are less expensive, offer more health benefits than meat, *and reduce climate pollution from animal agriculture*.

Physical Activity

Original: "Walking and cycling trips help make the air we breathe cleaner. Also, walkers and cyclists breathe less air pollution than people inside an idling or slow-moving car."

Modified: Walking and cycling trips help make the air we breathe cleaner **and slow climate change. Walking and cycling cause no harmful climate or air pollution!** Also, walkers and cyclists breathe less air pollution than people inside an idling or slow-moving car.

Vector-borne and communicable disease

News Update- Zika Virus

Original Zika Alert: The announcement of three recent Zika cases in Hidalgo County, including one that appears to have been transmitted locally by mosquitoes, demonstrates that Zika remains a threat in the Rio Grande Valley....

Residents of the Rio Grande Valley should remain on alert for Zika and take precautions even during the winter months because it often stays warm enough there for mosquito activity to continue through much of the winter...⁹³

Modified with Climate Messaging: Three recent Zika cases in Hidalgo County demonstrates that Zika remains a threat in the Rio Grande Valley... Residents should remain on alert for Zika and take precautions even during the winter months. *Climate change is making our winters milder*, so mosquito activity is even more likely to continue through the winter.

For More Information and Resources on Climate and Health Communications:

- Climate Advocacy Lab <u>Climate Chat: An Everyday Guide to the Science of Talking about Climate</u> <u>Change</u>⁹⁴
- <u>Climate Outreach</u>95
- Don't Even Think About It: Why Our Brains Are Wired To Ignore Climate Change⁹⁶
- Center for Climate Change Communication- Conveying the Human Implications of Climate Change⁹⁷
- <u>Toward Consensus on the Climate Communication Challenge</u>98
- <u>Climate Visuals</u>99
- <u>Communicating the Health Effects of Climate Change</u>¹⁰⁰
- Center for Climate Change and Health, Public Health Institute <u>Climate Change and Health</u> <u>Communications, Workshop Summary</u>¹⁰¹
- ecoAmerica Connecting on Climate: <u>A Guide to Effective Climate Change Communication</u>,¹⁰² <u>Let's Talk</u> <u>Health & Climate: Communication Guidance for Health Professionals</u>¹⁰³
- The Climate Reality Project <u>Communicating the Climate Health Connection¹⁰⁴</u>
- World Health Organization Strategic Communications Framework for effective communications¹⁰⁵



Climate change threatens the fundamentals that sustain life and health—fresh water, food, clean air, shelter, and security—and thus threatens the health and possibly the very survival of the communities that local health departments serve. To fulfill the very definition of public health—"what we, as a society, do collectively to assure the conditions for people to be healthy"—climate change must be integrated across all aspects of public health practice.¹

Climate change is happening now, is largely due to human activities, and is amenable to action to slow its pace and reduce its impacts. Climate change is a global phenomenon, but it is people and communities at the local level that experience its consequences. Climate change exacerbates local and global health inequities because some people and communities bear an unfair burden of these health harms, including low-income communities, communities of color, native and tribal communities, the very young and very old, and those with chronic illnesses.

The root causes and upstream drivers of climate change and health inequities are often the same: Our energy, transportation, land use, housing, planning, food and agriculture, and socioeconomic systems critically influence levels of climate pollution and community living conditions.

Our actions now will affect the magnitude of climate impacts and the extent to which communities thrive in the face of climate change and recover in the aftermath of climate-related disasters. Local public health departments have a professional and ethical responsibility to address this urgent threat, just as they have done in addressing other emergent threats to the health of the public.

LHDs are on the front lines and public health workers are seeing the impacts of climate change every day. They can help policymakers and the public understand the breadth of climate health impacts, and the urgent need for climate action.

Interventions to address climate change and health inequities range from upstream structural, policies, and systems changes to downstream treatment, rehabilitation, and disaster recovery efforts. Interventions along the entire spectrum are needed to protect and promote health in the era of climate change. However, upstream solutions have the greatest benefits, providing primary prevention and promoting healthy, equitable, sustainable, and resilient communities.² Public health leaders can show how transformative upstream changes can protect people and build healthy and equitable communities in the era of climate change.

Building political and economic power and voice of marginalized communities are essential components of climate resilience. Especially for historically disenfranchised low-income communities and communities of color, imbalances in political and economic power have allowed the perpetuation of unhealthy living conditions associated with health inequities and climate vulnerability. LHDs can support genuine participation of community members in decisions about how local governments respond to climate change to ensure that those most impacted by climate change and climate action have a voice in shaping their future.

LHDs have a proven track record of succeeding against powerful forces to protect health from complex threats, resting on a commitment to addressing cultural, economic, political, structural, and corporate forces that shape the environments that determine health. With similar commitment and effort, LHDs can play an essential role in addressing climate change and its impacts on health and health equity.

Climate change is a public health emergency. The time to act is now.

Appendix

Appendix 1: Development of Climate, Health, and Equity Framework

A number of well-established frameworks informed the development of the climate, health, and equity framework included in Section 2 of this Guide (see Figure 2.1.1). For a more complete version of this framework, see Figure A 1.4. In recent years, LHDs have recognized the need to address the social determinants of health in order to eliminate health inequities. The oft-cited social determinants "rainbow" (Figure A1.1) emphasizes the interactions among layers of health determinants: "individual lifestyles are embedded in social norms and networks, and in living and working conditions, which in turn are related to the wider socioeconomic and cultural environment."¹ Barton and Grant² expand on the social determinants rainbow (Whitehead and Dahlgren, 1991) to show how the natural environment and planetary ecosystems interface with other determinants of health. Climate change and other changes in the global ecosystem have significant impacts on the natural and built environments, and on economies, communities, and people. At the same time, individuals and communities experience the impacts of climate change in the context of their lived experience, current living conditions, assets and resources, and opportunities for health and well-being, all of which contribute to climate vulnerability and climate resilience, as described later in this section. The circle on the right in Figure A1.1 conveys the core message underlying this Guide: We cannot achieve healthy people and healthy places on an unhealthy planet, and fostering a healthy planet can do much to promote health and equity.¹

Figure A1.1: Social Determinants of Health "rainbow," Barton and Grant, 2006 developed from a concept by Whitehead and Dahlgren, 1991



¹ Climate change acts in concert with other significant disruptions to the Earth's natural systems, such as habitat and biodiversity loss, soil degradation, toxic chemical pollution, and unsustainable water use. Many of these global ecosystem changes— including climate change—result from exploitation and excessive consumption of natural resources, combined with population growth. The emerging discipline of "planetary health," explores the full range of ecosystem degradation on human health.

In Figure A1.2, the Bay Area Regional Health Inequities Initiative framework highlights that there are *structural mechanisms* that shape the physical, social, working, economic, and services environments in which we live, work, study, and play. Structural mechanisms are defined by the World Health Organization as "those that generate stratification and social class divisions in the society and that define individual socioeconomic position within hierarchies of power, prestige and access to resources...[and] are rooted in the key institutions and processes."³



Figure A1.2: The Bay Area Regional Health Inequities Initiative framework

Patz⁴ and others have published conceptual frameworks that depict the pathways through which climate change impacts health (Figure A1.3). For additional frameworks from the Lancet Commission and U.S. Global Change Research Program, see Appendix 2.







Figure A1.4: Climate Change and Health: A Framework for Action

See the live *Climate Change and Health: A Framework for Action* for more information.

Appendix 2: Additional Climate and Health Frameworks

Following are two climate and health frameworks. The first (Figure A2.1) is from the Lancet Commission. Figure A2.2 is a framework from the U.S. Global Change Research Program,.







Figure A2.2: U.S. Global Change Research Programs' climate and health model⁵

Appendix 3: Climate Impacts on Communities of Color

A3.1: African Americans, Climate Change, and Health

African Americans in the United States

As of 2016, there were over 42 million individuals who identify as African American in the United States, making up 13.3% of the population. This number grows to over 46 million (14.5% of the population) when those identifying as African American and another race are included.⁶ Washington D.C. and the Southern states of Mississippi, Georgia, and Louisiana have the highest percentage of individuals identifying as African American as part of their total populations.⁷ (Figure A3.1.1).

Figure A3.1.1: African American population in the United States



Social Determinants of Health and Health Equity

Present-day African American communities have lower income, less education, and poorer health status than non-Hispanic White communities overall, largely due to historical discriminatory practices in housing, education, employment, and healthcare.

Historical Influences

- **Slavery** As far back as the 1600s, slavery of African and African American people was a precursor to more recent discriminatory policies and current day inequities due to the social, political, and economic divide it caused between African American and White populations.⁸
- **Jim Crow Laws** In the late 1800s and early 1900s, Jim Crow laws enforced racial segregation and reserved the best educational, health, and social opportunities for Whites. This furthered resource and power divide between African Americans and White communities that endure to the present and impact health outcomes and healthcare access.⁹
- **Redlining** In the 1930s, banks would deny loans to people of color in well-maintained and higher income neighborhoods, leading to residential segregation that hindered African Americans and other people of color from home ownership.¹⁰ Present-day institutionalized racism towards African Americans still exists in subtle but similar mortgage lending policies and continues to perpetuate the social stratification of ethnic groups.

Key Social Determinants

Historical policies have led to present-day social and health inequities in African Americans that impact climate vulnerability and resilience:

- **Health care** African Americans are less likely than non-Hispanic Whites to receive appropriate medical treatment when needed, even if they have the same coverage and access to care. This means lower access to treatment for climate-related health impacts such as heat stroke, exacerbated asthma, and injuries from extreme weather events.¹¹
- **Neighborhoods** Residential segregation has led to a disproportionate amount of African Americans in neighborhoods with greater physical hazards, such as air pollution; social hazards, such as lack of food access; and fewer resources, such as green spaces.¹² Data also shows that a higher percentage of African Americans reside in areas with low tree canopy coverage and a high amount of heat-trapping surfaces. This decreases their access to shady areas in hot weather and increasing neighborhood temperature due to the urban heat island effect.¹³
- **Poverty** One out of five of African American families are in poverty, compared to one out of fifteen White families. These households have a smaller cushion against property damage or injuries caused by extreme weather events, and are more susceptible to extreme heat days due to lack of access to air conditioning.¹⁴
- Weathering The cumulative impact of discrimination, racial violence, and social and political marginalization by African Americans over time has demonstrated lasting health impacts over time, materializing in earlier health deterioration in comparison to comparable White communities. The stress experienced by an African American living through daily discrimination can lead to chronic stress, and morbidity and mortality outcomes typical of an older White individual.¹⁵

Key Climate Change and Health Issues for African American Communities

African Americans are disproportionately impacted by climate change due to factors including geographic distribution and socioeconomic inequities leading to inequities in living and working conditions, neighborhood characteristics, and health care access.

African Americans: Less Responsible for Climate Change, More Supportive of Climate Action.

"African Americans are thirteen percent of the U.S. population and on average emit nearly twenty percent less greenhouse gases than non-Hispanic Whites per capita. Though less responsible for climate change, African Americans are significantly more vulnerable to its effects than non-Hispanic Whites."

The Climate Gap"16

- 60% of African Americans ranked global warming among the most serious issues in the U.S. in 2015.
- 67% of African Americans say that action should be taken to counteract climate change.
- 83% supported the Clean Power Plan.¹⁷

Extreme Heat

See Section <u>4.1—Extreme Heat</u>

Heat-related deaths in African Americans occur at a rate 150 to 200% greater than that for non-Hispanic Whites.¹⁸

Extreme Heat and Climate Change

- Extreme heat results in excess death and illness through heat stroke, heat exhaustion, and exacerbations of chronic illness.¹⁹
- Heat increases ozone levels, exacerbating asthma, other respiratory disease and cardiovascular disease.²⁰
- Due to climate change, extreme heat events are increasing in frequency, severity, and duration.²¹

Why African American Communities are at Risk

- Neighborhood 43% of African Americans live in "urban heat islands," compared to 20% of Whites, and are therefore more likely to experience negative health outcomes associated with extreme heat.²² The urban heat island effect occurs when heat is retained in an area due to heat-retaining asphalt and concrete and lack of cool green space and trees. Lack of tree canopy coverage also decreases access to shady areas in hot weather.²³
- **Housing Quality** Because a higher proportion of African Americans are low-income, they have less access to heat-adaptive housing features such as insulation or air conditioning in their homes, further exposing them to extreme heat events. ²⁴
- **Pre-Existing Conditions** 46% of African Americans adults over 19 are diagnosed with cardiovascular disease.²⁵ Compared with non-Hispanic Whites African Americans have "1.3-times greater rate of non-fatal stroke, a 1.8-times greater rate of fatal stroke, a 1.5-times greater rate of death attributable to heart disease, and a 4.2-times greater rate of end stage kidney disease."²⁶ These disorders can all be exacerbated by extreme heat.²⁷

Air Quality

See Section <u>4.4—Air Quality</u>

Air Quality, Climate Change, and Health

- Climate change makes it more difficult to attain national air quality standards for ground-level ozone, a major component of smog, and is expected to cause increased exposure to particulate matter pollution in urban settings.²⁸
- Common sources of greenhouse gas emissions (i.e. from motor vehicles and energy production) also produce many different air toxics, which are harmful to health.²⁹
- Individuals with pre-existing chronic conditions, such as asthma, other respiratory disease, and cardiovascular disease, are at greater risk of disease exacerbations and complications due to air pollution.³⁰

Why African American Communities Are at Risk

- **Neighborhood** 71% percent of African Americans live in counties in violation of federal air pollution standards, compared to 58% of non-Hispanic Whites.³¹
- **Pre-Existing Conditions** African Americans have a 36% higher rate of asthma incidents than non-Hispanic Whites, and an African American is 3x more likely to die or visit the emergency room from asthma-related complication in comparison to a non-Hispanic White individual.³² Poor air quality exacerbates asthma.³³

Extreme Weather Events

See Section <u>4.7—Storms and Flooding</u>

Extreme Weather Events, Climate Change, and Health

- Climate change is expected to increase the strength and resulting destruction of storms due to increased water temperatures leading to more precipitation, flooding, greater storm surges, and strong storm systems and winds.³⁴
- Extreme weather causes interruptions in medical care and disrupts critical infrastructure including electricity, sanitation and water treatment, food refrigeration, health care, communications systems and transportation.^{35,36}
- Extreme storms can also impact indoor air quality through flooding damage and mold, spread of infectious and vector-borne disease, toxic exposures, and mental health outcomes and can lead to displacement.^{37,38,39}

Why African American Communities Are at Risk

- **Geography** The six states with the highest African American population—Mississippi, Louisiana, Georgia, Maryland, South Carolina, and Alabama—are also projected to be impacted by more Atlantic hurricanes and extreme storms.⁴⁰
- Homeownership and Insurance The homeownership rate for African Americans in 2015 was 33%, lower than the rate in 1960 and half the level for comparable non-Hispanic Whites.⁴¹ Renter status leaves families vulnerable following storm damage. Racial discrimination is also still extensively seen in homeowner insurance markets, leaving more African American families with less protection following extreme storms and related damage.⁴²

- **Poverty** One out of five of African American families are in poverty, compared to one out of fifteen White families. During an extreme weather event, these households have a smaller cushion against property damage or injuries, further complicated by lack of access to medical care and insurance.⁴³
- **Pre-Existing Conditions** African Americans have higher rates of chronic illnesses such as cardiovascular and respiratory disease. African Americans also had the highest incidence and death rates from cancer in 2012, and individuals from this community face higher levels of mental health and trauma outcomes.⁴⁴ Extreme storms can disrupt access to care and services for these illnesses, leaving African American communities vulnerable.

Climate Resilience and Social Cohesion

During the Chicago heat wave of 1995, low-income communities of color generally fared the worst outcomes. In fact, overall, excess mortality rates from this event were fifty percent higher for non-Hispanic African Americans than for non-Hispanic Whites.⁴⁵ However, there was an exception to this. Some low-income African American communities were among the least impacted in terms of heat-related deaths, an effect thought to be related to high levels of community interaction and organization. Communities with high levels of social cohesion decrease isolation among residents, improve health and quality of life, and ultimately increase resilience against extreme events.⁴⁶

Steps can be taken to foster resiliency throughout an extreme weather event, such as mapping vulnerable communities in advance and working with these communities to understand what strengths are present to plan and prepare for destructive weather.

A3.2: Latinos, Hispanics and Latinx and Climate Change, and Health

Latinos, Hispanics and Latinx, in the United States

"Latino" is an umbrella term used to identify a diverse collective of peoples from different countries, cultures, and backgrounds (Table A3.2.1). An estimated 56 million Latinos live in the United States, the majority of whom are second or third generation U.S. citizens.⁴⁷ This number expected to double to 119 million by 2060, being driven primarily by native births rather than immigration.^{48,49} Latino communities represent a rising share of the United States population, and Latino communities are dispersing further, beyond California, Florida, and Texas, and into more regions of the South and the Midwest (Figure A3.2.1).⁵⁰

Table A3.2.1	LATINO IMMIGRANTS COUNTRIES OF ORIGIN (2015) ⁵¹
Mexico	67.9%
Puerto Rico	10.1 %
El Salvador	4.0%
Dominican Republic	3.4%
Guatemala	2.6%
Cuba	3.9%
Other	8.0%

Figure A3.2.1: Number of Latinos residing in U.S. counties



Nearly all Latinos lived in half of the nation's more than 3,000 counties in 2014 The number of Latinos residing in counties with at least 1,000 Latinos

Social Determinants of Health and Health Equity

Present-day Latino communities have lower income, less education, and poorer health status than non-Hispanic White communities overall, largely due to historical discriminatory practices in housing, education, employment, and healthcare.

Historical Influences

- Immigration In 2015, 41.4% of foreign-born residents of the U.S. came from Central and Southern American countries.⁵² There are physical and mental health challenges related to immigrating, and these can be further exacerbated by related policies and discrimination in the destination country.⁵³ This is especially true for undocumented immigrants who face higher stress levels regarding their immigration status and safety.⁵⁴
- **"Healthy Immigrant"** Voluntary immigrants to the U.S. from non-western countries often demonstrate better than expected health and mortality outcomes—perhaps stemming from the difficulties of migration, barring less healthy individuals from being able to. This "paradox" can be used to overlook social inequities.⁵⁵
- Acculturation While evidence suggests that newly arrived immigrants are often healthier than comparable native-born persons, evidence also supports that immigrant health declines with time in the U.S.⁵⁶ This decline in health has been associated with changes in diet, work-related stressors, and stresses related to the immigration process and discrimination.⁵⁷

Key Social Determinants

Such historical policies have led to present-day social inequities in Latinos. Additional social determinants will be discussed in relation to specific climate impacts discussed below.

- **Health care** In 2014, 26.5% of individuals below the age of 65 who identified as Latino lacked health insurance, when compared to 10.4% of those in the same age group who identified as Non-Hispanic White.⁵⁸ The gap was higher for individuals over the age of 65 and those earning below the federal poverty line.⁵⁹
- **Poverty** In 2015, despite a 6.1% increase in household income for Latino families from 2014, the average household income for Latinos was close to 30% lower than that of Non-Hispanic Whites.⁶⁰ Close to one out of five of Latino families are in poverty, compared to one out of twelve Non-Hispanic White families.⁶¹ These households have a smaller cushion against property damage or injuries caused by extreme weather events, and are more susceptible to extreme heat days due to lack of access to air conditioning.

Key Health Inequities

• **Obesity** – 42.5% of adults who identified as Hispanic in 2014 were classified as obese, growing from 20% in 1990.⁶² The prevalence of obesity within Latino communities varies wildly based on gender and country and culture of origin. Disparities also exist between U.S.-born and foreign-born Latinos, as 47.1% of U.S.-born Latinos are obese, compared to 36.3% of foreign-born individuals.⁶³ Obesity increases the risk of different health issues, including CVD and stroke.⁶⁴

Key Climate Change and Health Issues for Latino Communities

More than 60% of Latino communities live in areas that are most impacted by extreme heat, air quality issues, and flooding, largely as a result of inequities in housing, occupation, socioeconomic status, and structural and historical factors.⁶⁵ At the same time, their carbon footprint is smaller—they drive and fly less, use public transit,

live in smaller homes, and purchase fewer items that have travelled thousands of miles.⁶⁶ Despite this quandary, Latinos do and will experience thousands of additional illnesses and deaths per year in the decades ahead due to climate change impacts.

Air Quality

See Section <u>4.4—Air Quality</u>

Air Quality, Climate Change, and Health

- Climate change makes it ever more difficult to attain national air quality standards for ground-level ozone, a major component of smog, and is expected to cause increased exposure to particulate matter pollution in urban settings.⁶⁷
- Common sources of greenhouse gas emissions (i.e. from motor vehicles and energy production) also produce many different air toxics, which are harmful to health.⁶⁸
- Individuals with pre-existing chronic conditions, such as asthma, other respiratory disease, and cardiovascular disease, are at greater risk of disease exacerbations and complications due to air pollution.⁶⁹

Why Latino Communities Are at Risk

- **Neighborhood** Nearly 1 in 2 Latinos live in counties frequently violating clean air and ozone standards, exacerbating air quality issues, and across the U.S., over 1.8 million Latinos live within a half-mile radius of oil and gas development.^{70,71}
 - In 2010, 28.3% of Latino individuals in the U.S. lived near a major highway, which is associated with higher rates of respiratory and cardiac health outcomes, higher cancer risk, and poorer pregnancy outcomes.⁷²
- **Pre-Existing Conditions** Latino children as a whole are twice as likely to die from asthma as non-Latino Whites.⁷³ Puerto Rican children, in the highest incidence of any ethnic group, are almost three times as likely to have asthma; compared to non-Hispanic Whites.
 - Latino children who live in areas with higher levels of air pollution have a heightened risk of developing Type 2 diabetes than Latino children living outside of these neighborhoods.⁷⁴

Extreme Heat

See Section <u>4.1—Extreme Heat</u>

Extreme Heat, Climate Change, and Health

- Extreme heat results in excess death and illness through heat stroke, heat exhaustion, and exacerbations of chronic illness.⁷⁵
- Heat increases ozone levels, exacerbating asthma, other respiratory disease and cardiovascular disease.⁷⁶
- Due to climate change, extreme heat events are increasing in frequency, severity, and duration.⁷⁷

Why Latino Communities Are at Risk

- Latinos are 21% more likely than non-Hispanic Whites to live in urban heat islands, or immediate geographic areas dominated by heat-retaining asphalt and concrete where cool, shade-producing green space and trees are lacking.⁷⁸
- More than 4.3 million Hispanics households lack air conditioning.⁷⁹

Sea Level Rise and Flooding

See Section <u>4.6—Sea Level Rise</u>

Sea Level Rise, Flooding, Climate Change, and Health

• Climate change is causing sea level rise around the world, as a result of melting glaciers and thermal expansion due to rising ocean temperatures.⁸⁷

Latino Workers and Extreme Heat

Latinos are more likely to work in outdoor occupations that expose workers to environmental health and climate change risks, including farming, construction, and transportation.⁸⁰ The majority of occupational heat-related deaths occur in these industries, and **Latinos have three times the risk of heat-related death on the job** than do non-Hispanics.⁸¹ The relative risk of heat-related death was 3.4 among Latino agricultural workers and 1.7 among Latino construction workers when compared to non-Hispanic Whites.⁸²

Across the U.S., Latinos make up nearly half of all farmworkers and their representation in California is 92%.⁸³ From 2003–2006, 71% of heat-related crop worker deaths in the U.S. occurred within the Mexican, Central or South American farmworker communities.⁸⁴ Results from an Oregon survey of farmworkers—97% of whom were foreign-born, primarily from Mexico—64% of respondents reported experiencing a symptom of heat-related illness during a hot day at work in the past week (i.e. heavy sweating, headache, etc.). 15.6% of participants reported being "very concerned" about the health effects of working in hot conditions but less likely to be "very comfortable" taking a break, which could lead to more heat-related illness.⁸⁵ There are approximately 120,000 children farm laborers across the country, making them an often-hidden subpopulation at risk for heat illness.⁸⁶

- Flooding and storm surges associated with sea level rise increase risks for drowning, injury and displacement, which can lead to additional mental health outcomes and trauma, developmental impacts on children, and difficulties with chronic disease management.^{88,89,90,91}
- Areas with waste facilities, landfills, smelters, ship yards, and military bases along the coast, rising sea level could also lead to the spread of toxic sediments and contamination of ground and surface waters.⁹²

Why Latino Communities Are at Risk

- **Neighborhood** Property values are a key factor in determining protections for sea-level rise and flood barriers. Latinos in hurricane-prone areas have median home values lower than those of non-Hispanic Whites. As a result, Latino neighborhoods do not receive the same protective infrastructure as wealthier neighborhoods.
 - Latino communities make up 40% of the population in the areas of Florida that are very likely—regardless of any climate action—to experience high tide flooding from sea level rise.
- **Disaster Aid** Undocumented Latino individuals are ineligible for federal disaster aid to help cope with extreme weather events and may not seek assistance or services following an extreme flooding event due to fears of deportation.^{93,94}

• **Housing Quality** – Latino populations living in substandard housing are at greater risk of flood-related exposures, like mold, worsening health conditions like asthma.⁹⁵

Food Systems

See Section <u>4.8—Food Security</u>

Food Security, Agriculture, and Climate Change

- Crop yields are reduced by extreme heat, drought, and extreme weather events, all of which are increasing in frequency and severity due to climate change.⁹⁶
- Increased atmospheric carbon dioxide results in a reduction in the levels of protein and micronutrients (e.g. calcium, zinc, iron) in important crops like barley, sorghum and soy.⁹⁷
- Extreme weather events can prevent transportation of food products, disrupting food supply chains, increasing prices, and increasing loss due to spoilage.⁹⁸
- As climate change increases, pressure will build for greater crop yields, and pesticide use is expected to increase with this building pressure.⁹⁹

Why Latino Communities Are at Risk

- **Occupation** In California, 92% of farmworkers are Latino and 73% of all farmworkers earn less than 200% of the Federal Poverty Level.¹⁰⁰
- **Food Security** 21% of Latinos are food insecure, compared to 10% of non-Hispanic Whites and 13% of Americans overall.¹⁰¹
 - In 2012, Latino households spent an average of 15.5% of their income on food, compared to 12.6% that non-Hispanic Whites spent from their incomes.¹⁰²
- **Pesticide Exposure** Latinos account for 70% of the population in the ten zip codes with the highest pesticide use in California.¹⁰³

Climate Action

Despite bearing less of the responsibility and more of the impact for climate change, Latinos are leading the nation on this issue. Not only do Latino communities overwhelmingly support action on climate change policies, in many cases, these communities take the lead within environmental justice movement.¹⁰⁴

- In the 2016 Presidential election, concern for environmental issues tripled among Latino voters compared to 2012. More than three-quarters (77%) of voters, including half of those who voted for President Trump, support the U.S. moving to 100% renewable energy by 2050.¹⁰⁵
- 82% of Latinos in the U.S. feel the U.S. should move away from fossil fuels and invest in renewable energy.¹⁰⁶
- 90% of Latinos in the U.S want climate action and reject the notion that climate action will hurt the economy or cost jobs. In fact, many believe that progressive environmental policies will be good for the country's economic state. In their own lives, many are willing to pay \$5 to \$10 more per month for renewable energy.¹⁰⁷

A3.3: Native Americans and Alaska Natives, Climate Change, and Health

Native Americans and Alaska Natives in the United States

There are approximately 5.2 million Native Americans and Alaska Natives in the U.S., a population divided between 566 federally recognized tribes. 1.1 million NA/ANs live on or near reservations, mostly in the Northwest, Southwest, Great Plains, and Alaska.¹⁰⁸ Despite historical decimation of tribes during the Colonial period in the U.S., in the past 10 years, the NA/AN population has increased by 27% since 2000, triple the rate of the total U.S. population.¹⁰⁹ Alaska, Oklahoma, and New Mexico have the highest proportion of Native Americans and Alaska Natives in their populations, and California, Oklahoma, and Arizona have the largest number of Native individuals living within their borders (Figure A3.3.1).¹¹⁰

Figure A3.3.1: Indigenous populations of Native Americans and Alaska Natives

Indigenous Populations Extend Beyond Reservation Lands

Social Determinants of Health and Health Equity

Historical Influences

- **Colonization, Genocide, and Disease:** Throughout the colonization of the United States by Europeans and U.S. history, Native communities have been the targets of violence, bioterrorism, and forced relocation. While it is believed that there were more than 5 million Native peoples in the U.S. before European settlement, there were only 200,000 by 1900.¹¹¹
- The Indian Removal Act of 1830: This act sought to displace NA/ANs from their tribal lands to resourcedeficient, isolated and infertile land to allow for European settlement across the country. This process resulted in numerous wars against resisting tribes, as well as the "Trail of Tears"—a forced relocation journey in which 3000–4000 Cherokee Nation members perished. Throughout U.S. history, tribes have been actively split into disparate communities and dispossessed of their land, culture, and resources, leaving them vulnerable to physical and mental health challenges.¹¹²
- **Residential Schools for Native American Children** In the late 19th and early 20th centuries, boarding schools were opened to assimilate Native Americans children to Western, European culture, which served the purpose of systemically erasing native culture, language, and traditions. Children were punished for speaking their native languages, and sometimes mocked by teachers for traditional practices—effectively making the children see their culture as inferior.¹¹³

Key Social Determinants

Such historical policies have led to present-day social and health inequities in Native American and Alaskan Native communities. These policies led to a shift from traditional lifestyles, and left long-term secondary impacts of persistent poverty, food and resource insecurity, homelessness, inadequate education, substandard health services, lack of access to electricity and running water, and a lack of modern communication methods— many reservations have no cell phone reception, and less than 10% of residents have internet access.¹¹⁴ A comparison of some social and economic disparities is seen in Table A3.3.1.

Table A3.3.1	SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC DISPARITIES BETWEEN NATIVE AMERICANS AND ALASKAN NATIVES AND THE GENERAL U.S. POPULATION (2015)	
Indicator (2015)	Single-race NA/ANs ¹¹⁵	General U.S. Population ¹¹⁶
Have less than high school diploma	20.9%	12.9%
Unemployment	12%	6.3%
Median household income	\$41,940	\$55,775
Private	44.8%	67.5%
Poverty	26.6%	13.5%

Table continued on next page

Health insurance		
None	20.7%	9.4%
Public	42.8%	34.7%
Private	44.8%	67.5%
Poverty	26.6%	13.5%

Health Inequities

- **Trauma** –The trauma faced from the loss of people, land, and culture has been passed on to subsequent generations via conversation, practices, and attitudes towards these events.¹¹⁷ The high rates of alcohol abuse in Native American and Alaskan Native communities is thought to be partially attributed to the low self-esteem, loss of cultural identity, and lack of positive role models that stem from this historical trauma.¹¹⁸
- **Chronic Illness** Death rates from chronic liver disease and cirrhosis, diabetes mellitus, unintentional injuries, and chronic lower respiratory disease are significantly higher for NA/ANs than the general U.S. population. NA/ANs' rate of death from diabetes is three times that of the general U.S. population. ¹¹⁹
- **Behavioral Health** High levels of alcohol and substance abuse, mental health disorders, suicide, violence, and behavior-related chronic diseases contribute to the lower life expectancy in comparison to the general U.S. population.¹²⁰

Key Climate Change and Health Issues for Native American and Alaskan Native Communities

As a result of discriminatory policies related to historical U.S. settlement NA/ANs often live in geographically isolated areas. They depend heavily on the environment to maintain cultural practices and ways of living and are thus stewards of the environment. Tribal communities' food security, water quality, and land are at risk due to climate change-related weather events, and these in turn have widespread health consequences.

Food Security

See Section <u>4.8—Food Security</u>

Food Security, Agriculture, and Climate Change

- Crop yields are reduced by extreme heat, drought, and extreme weather events, all of which are increasing in frequency and severity due to climate change.¹²¹
- Increased atmospheric carbon dioxide results in a reduction in the levels of protein and micronutrients (e.g. calcium, zinc, iron) in important crops like barley, sorghum and soy.¹²²
- Extreme weather events can prevent transportation of food products, disrupting food supply chains, increasing prices, and increasing loss due to spoilage.¹²³
- Warmer temperatures increase the growth of *Salmonella, Camphylobacter, Rotavirus*, and various *Vibrio*, and harmful algal blooms, increasing the risk of food contamination.¹²⁴

Why Native American and Alaskan Native Communities Are at Risk

- Local Food Resources
 - NA/ANs often rely on traditional foods and subsistence living fishing and farming, impacted significantly by drought, heat, extreme precipitation, and ocean acidification.
 - Arctic communities are already facing issues such as decreased thickness of sea ice, coastal erosion, and altered geographic ranges of some fish. The disruption to hunting and subsistence practices could force relocation.¹²⁵
 - In 40 to 80 years, a loss of more than half of the salmon and trout habitats is predicted throughout the United States due to increased ocean acidity caused by higher atmospheric CO, levels.¹²⁶
- **Toxins** Higher temperatures affect ocean water quality and can lead to increased mercury levels in fish. Mercury is a known neurotoxin disproportionality affecting pregnant women and children.¹²⁷
- Nutrition Loss of traditional foods leads to food shortages, increased food prices in isolated communities (up to 15 dollars for a gallon of milk) and contributes to a lack of proper nutrition.¹²⁸ Diagnosed diabetes rates from 6.0% among Alaska Natives to 24.1% among American Indians in southern Arizona.¹²⁹

Infectious Disease

See Section <u>6.6—Clinical Services</u>

Infectious Disease, Climate Change, and Health

- The frequency and intensity of extreme precipitation and flooding is increasing with climate change, and more than 50% of water-borne disease outbreaks in the U.S. are associated with extreme rainfall.^{130,131}
- Warmer water temperatures, in both ocean and freshwater sources, allow for greater proliferation of microorganisms such as *Vibrio* that cause gastrointestinal and more serious illness, including cholera.¹³²

Why Native American and Alaskan Native Communities Are at Risk

- Water Access Native American and Alaskan Native communities who reside in remote areas lack access to clean, potable drinking water at higher rates than other groups in the U.S.¹³³
- **Local Food Resources** Greater reliance on subsistence fishing and harvesting of coastal mollusks may put communities at greater risk of exposure to microorganisms that cause illness.
- **Existing Burden** The rate of diarrhea-associated hospitalizations for Native American and Alaskan Native children from 2000–2004 was nearly twice the rate among all U.S. infants, and the rate of diarrhea-associated outpatient visits among Native children was higher than for all U.S. children.¹³⁴

Extreme Weather Events

See Section <u>4.7—Storms and Flooding</u>

Extreme Weather Events, Climate Change, and Health

- Climate change is expected to increase the strength and resulting destruction of storms due to increased water temperatures leading to more precipitation, flooding, greater storm surges, and strong storm systems and winds.¹³⁵
- Extreme weather causes interruptions in medical care and disrupts critical infrastructure including electricity, sanitation and water treatment, food refrigeration, health care, communications systems and transportation.^{136,137}
- Extreme storms can also impact indoor air quality through flooding damage and mold, spread of infectious and vector-borne disease, toxic exposures, and mental health outcomes and can lead to displacement.^{138,139}

Why Native American and Alaskan Native Communities Are at Risk

- **Water Access** 20% of rural Alaskan homes lack access to piped water and a flush toilet, which can leave these populations without access to potable water and clean water to use for washing. ¹⁴⁰
- Infrastructure Researchers have estimated that climate change could add \$3.6–6.1 billion to future costs for Alaskan infrastructure repairs by 2030 Renter status leaves families vulnerable following storm damage.¹⁴¹
- **Poverty** In these coastal regions and similarly vulnerable tribal lands, the costs associated with increased damage due to climate change are expected to far outweigh any local government or organization's ability to pay for them, and the high rates of poverty in these communities will make it difficult for tribes to support themselves.¹⁴²
- **Pre-Existing Conditions** Extreme storms can disrupt access to care and services for these illnesses, leaving Native communities, especially those located in remote areas with already limited resources, vulnerable.¹⁴³

Drought and Wildfires

See Section <u>4.2—Drought</u>

Drought, Wildfires, Climate Change, and Health

- Rising temperatures will cause significant challenges to forest communities in the Southwest.¹⁴⁴
- An increased risk of forest fire as well as a loss of culturally significant native plants and animal species has already been observed.¹⁴⁵
- Due to climate change, megadroughts are expected Southwest and Central Plains, impacting drinking water availability.¹⁴⁶

Why Native American and Alaskan Native Communities Are at Risk

"Fire affects the plants, which affect the water, which affects the fish, which affect terrestrial plants and animals, all of which the Karuk rely on for cultural perpetuity."¹⁴⁷

- **Geography** Native American and Alaska Native populations living in and near forested regions are at increased risk of displacement, smoke-exposure, injury, and property loss from wildfires, especially if more populated areas are prioritized for fire management response.¹⁴⁸
- **Food Security** Native American and Alaskan native populations face high food prices for healthy foods, and a lack of proper nutrition: one in four Native American children ages 2 to 5 years old is obese, and a third of those ages 6–19.¹⁴⁹

Traditional Ecological Knowledge

NA/AN communities view the natural environment as a living entity to be honored and respected. This relationship has fostered the development of traditional ecological knowledge, or TEK, "an accumulating body of knowledge, practice, and belief...about the relationship of living beings (human and non-human) with one another and with the environment."¹⁵⁰ It is developed through centuries of direct contact and careful observations of animal and plant species, natural processes, and landscapes, and is passed down from generation to generation.

TEK is an essential component of adaptation efforts in NA/AN communities and can be leveraged to develop strategies specific to a geographical region. While many traditional practices are becoming more difficult to maintain, some communities have merged TEK with western-based approaches for increased resiliency. The Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe, Nevada's largest tribe, worked with scientists to develop key ecological indicators such as snow pack level, lake water temperature, and bird and fish counts to keep record of variations potentially linked to climate change.¹⁵¹ These records can be used in developing effective natural resource management.

In an effort to decrease disaster risk, the Navajo Reservation has also employed a joint approach with climate researchers and Navajo elders working together to record meteorological and hydrological changes.¹⁵² Thus, merging traditional practices and knowledge with modern advancements may be the key to developing effective adaptation strategies.

A3.4: Asian Americans, Climate Change, and Health

Asian Americans are the fastest growing racial group in the United States.¹⁵³ However, Asian Americans still represents a small proportion of the total U.S. population, so it is difficult to achieve a fully representative study of this diverse group. Little information is available on the potential for disproportionate health impacts from social or climate factors within these populations.¹⁵⁴

This brief highlights how social determinants of health and climate change could interact to exacerbate existing health outcomes in Asian Americans communities, and how climate solutions offer opportunities for health.

Asian Americans in the United States

While Asian Americans are the fastest growing racial group in the U.S., in total, this group, which comprises individuals from many different countries, makes up a small percentage of the total U.S. population. In 2011, over 18 million individuals in the U.S. identified as Asian American, making up 5.8% of the total population. 83% of these individuals identified as Chinese, Filipino, Indian, Vietnamese, Korean, and Japanese American (Table A3.4.1).¹⁵⁵

Social Determinants of Health and Health Equity

Asian Americans live with a history of discrimination and present-day inequities that may continue to grow as Asian American communities expand in the U.S.

Historical Influences

- **Immigration Restrictions** Until the Immigration Act of 1965, immigrants from Asian countries were restricted in the U.S. Because of these restrictions, a large proportion of the current U.S. Asian American population are first-generation (in 2011, 76% of Asian Americans were immigrants), which has in part lead to difficulties in sampling and representing these different groups in health.¹⁵⁶
- Japanese Internment Following the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor in 1941, over 120,000 Japanese Americans of all ages, mostly from the Western states of California, Oregon, Washington, and Arizona, were forced to live separated from society in camps.¹⁵⁷ Studies have found lasting impacts of traumatic stress, especially for younger individuals, and an increase in cardiovascular disease in interned adults.¹⁵⁸
- **20th Century Discrimination** Due to U.S. conflicts in Korea and Vietnam and the rise of communism in China in the 1940s, immigrants from these countries faced discrimination based on what was portrayed as "dangerous" connections they had to U.S. enemies.¹⁵⁹ The lasting impacts from this discrimination, and its continual impacts in the present, have led to poorer mental health outcomes and increased risk of cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and other chronic health problems in various Asian American groups.¹⁶⁰
- "Model Minority" Originating in a 1966 New York Times article recounting the success of Japanese Americans in overcoming discrimination and assimilating to U.S. culture, this term has since been used to describe multiple Asian American groups, pointing out their higher educational attainments and financial security in comparison to the general U.S. population.¹⁶¹ This label, while damaging to other minority groups who were painted as somehow less capable of achieving similar "successes," also diverts attention away from real health and economic inequities that Asian Americans face and applies pressure for Asian Americans to conform to mainstream culture.

Table A3.4.1	NUMBER OF ASIAN AMERICANS IN 2010		
All Asian Americans in 2010 Census—17,320,856 Including those <18 years old			
Chinese (Including 215,441 Taiwanese)	4,010,114		
Filipino	3,416,840		
Indian	3,183,063		
Vietnamese	1,737,433		
Korean	1,706,822		
Japanese	1,304,286		
Pakistani	409,163		
Cambodian	276,667		
Hmong	260,073		
Thai	237,583		
Laotian	232,130		
Bangladeshi	147,300		
Burmese	100,200		
Indonesian	95,270		
Nepalese	59,490		
Sri Lankan	45,381		
Malaysian	26,179		
Bhutanese	19,439		
Mongolian	18,344		
Okinawan	11,326		

278

CLIMATE CHANGE, HEALTH, AND EQUITY: A GUIDE FOR LOCAL HEALTH DEPARTMENTS

Key Social Determinants

- **Language** Some Asian American populations have low English proficiency rates, which can lead to difficulties in accessing and receiving effective care.
 - In 2010, 53% of Vietnamese American, 46% of Korean American, 46% of Chinese American, 46% of Taiwanese American, 24% of Japanese American, 22% of Filipino American and 22% of Asian Indian reported limited English proficiency¹⁶²
 - In 2014, 34% of Korean Americans, 29% of Vietnamese Americans, 19% of Asian Indians, and 18% of Filipino Americans, and 10% of Japanese Americans surveyed reported poor communication with their physician.¹⁶³
- **Education** Educational attainment varies widely throughout different Asian American groups, and educational access is a known determinant of health.
 - In 2007, one in three Vietnamese Americans and one in ten Korean Americans did not have a high school degree.¹⁶⁴
- **Insurance** Health care coverage varies widely among different Asian American populations.
 - 6% of Asian Americans are covered by employer-sponsored health insurance (compared to 26% of all Americans) (Table A3.4.2).¹⁶⁵

Table A3.4.2	PERCENTAGE OF UNINSURED ASIAN AMERICANS
Population	Percent Uninsured (2010) ¹⁶⁶
Korean Americans in Los Angeles	50%
Chinese Americans in Oakland	35%
Southeast Asians in San Diego	37%
Vietnamese Americans in San Francisco	15%
Asian Women in Southern California	21 %

Key Health Inequities

Many Asian American ethnic groups are not represented in current research due to their limited numbers in the U.S., diversity within sub-groups, wide geographic dispersion, and language barriers—all which present difficulties in understanding potential health inequities and vulnerabilities within Asian American communities.¹⁶⁷ Studies often assess all Asian American populations as one conglomerate group, overlooking potential inequities between these groups based on country of origin.¹⁶⁸

• Asian Americans are 4.5 times as likely to be infected with Hepatitis B and 10% more likely to be diagnosed with diabetes than Whites.¹⁶⁹

Key Climate Change and Health Issues for Asian American Communities

While no studies have assessed potential vulnerabilities in Asian American communities to climate change, there is emerging research on potential health impacts that burden Asian American populations in the U.S. These health outcomes are expected to worsen with climate change.

Asian American Environmentalists

Surveys from the California League of Conservation Voters found that 83% of Asian American Californian voters described themselves as environmentalists and 69% were extremely concerned about global warming.¹⁷⁰

Air Quality

See Section <u>4.4—Air Quality</u>

Air Quality, Climate Change, and Health

- Climate change makes it ever more difficult to attain national air quality standards for ground-level ozone, a major component of smog, and is expected to cause increased exposure to particulate matter pollution in urban settings.¹⁷¹
- Common sources of greenhouse gas emissions (i.e. from motor vehicles and energy production) also produce many different air toxics, which are harmful to health.¹⁷²
- Climate change may impact the residence time of air toxics in the air, while also their impacting dispersal and transport through the air.¹⁷³
- Individuals with pre-existing chronic conditions, such as asthma, other respiratory disease, and cardiovascular disease, are at greater risk of disease exacerbations and complications due to air pollution.¹⁷⁴

Why Asian American Communities Are at Risk

- **Existing Burden** Asian Americans eligible for Medicare have a higher estimated risk of death from PM2.5 exposure than the general population.¹⁷⁵
 - Chinese American and Korean American populations were found to have the highest mean cancer risk from hazardous air pollutant exposure among all racial groups in the U.S., which could increase with climate change air impacts.¹⁷⁶
 - Southeast and South Asian populations held the fourth and fifth highest cancer risk from hazardous air pollutants.¹⁷⁷
- Cancer is the leading cause of death across all Asian Americans groups in the United States, and two leading cancer types—lung and breast—are linked with hazardous air pollutants and other environmental exposures.¹⁷⁸
- Climate change impacts on air quality are expected to exacerbate cardiovascular disease, which is the leading cause of death in Asian Indians, Filipino and Japanese American men and Asian Indian women, and climate change's impacts on air pollution are expected to exacerbate the impacts of this chronic illness.¹⁷⁹

Extreme Heat

See Section <u>4.1—Extreme Heat</u>

Extreme Heat, Climate Change, and Health

- Extreme heat results in excess death and illness through heat stroke, heat exhaustion, and exacerbations of chronic illness.¹⁸⁰
- Heat increases ozone levels, exacerbating asthma, other respiratory disease and cardiovascular disease.¹⁸¹
- Due to climate change, extreme heat events are increasing in frequency, severity, and duration.¹⁸²

Why Asian American Communities Are at Risk

• **Neighborhood** – Asian Americans are 32% more likely than Whites to live in areas where heat-retaining hard surfaces cover more than half the ground, and more than half the population lacks access to cool shade-producing green space and tree canopy.¹⁸³

Figure A3.4.1: Asian population by county in the U.S. according to the 2010 census.



APPENDICES

Sea Level Rise and Flooding

See Section <u>4.6—Sea Level Rise</u>

Sea Level Rise, Climate Change, and Health

- Climate change is causing sea level rise around the world, as a result of melting glaciers and thermal expansion due to rising ocean temperatures.¹⁸⁴
- Flooding and storm surges associated with sea level rise increase risks for drowning, injury and displacement, which can lead to additional mental health outcomes and trauma, developmental impacts on children, and difficulties with chronic disease management.^{185,186,187,188}
- In areas with waste facilities, landfills, smelters, ship yards, and military bases along the coast, rising sea level could also lead to the spread of toxic sediments and contamination of ground and surface waters.¹⁸⁹

Why Asian American Communities Are at Risk

• **Geography** – Census data demonstrates that Asian American populations are highly concentrated in coastal regions, putting their communities, especially those that are low-income, at risk of displacement following rising sea levels.¹⁹⁰

A3.5: Native Hawaiians and Pacific Islanders, Climate Change, and Health

Native Hawaiians and Pacific Islanders in the United States

Native Hawaiians and Pacific Islanders in the U.S. refer to individuals who have origins in Hawaii, Guam, Samoa, or other Pacific Islands. According to the 2010 U.S. Census, there were over 1,225,000 Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islanders (NHPI) in the U.S., making up .4% of the population (Figure A3.5.1).¹⁹¹ This census data also showed that 29% of this population reside in Hawaii and 23% reside in California, the only states with over 100,000 Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islanders, though Iowa, Missouri, South Dakota, North Dakota, Nebraska, Kansas, Ohio, and Vermont experienced a growth greater than 50 percent in their NHPI populations between 2000 and 2010.¹⁹² 74% of these communities are made up of Native Hawaiians, Samoans, and Guamanians/Chamorros individuals, with the remaining 26% made up of Tongans, Fijians, Marshallese, and other Pacific Islanders.¹⁹³

Figure A3.5.1: Native Hawaiian and other Pacific Islanders by county (2010 census).



Social Determinants of Health and Health Equity

Historical Influences

- **Colonization** The U.S. formed relationships with Pacific Island nations to aid trade and military advances with Asian countries, causing economic shifts away from communal agricultural living to industrialization and urbanization. Cultural shifts also had vast mental and physical health impacts.¹⁹⁴
- Aggregated Data Historically, census and health data for Native Hawaiians and Pacific Islanders has been aggregated with Asian American data, distorting views of health within both groups. This is particularly dangerous for NHPI because aggregated data tends to overshadow real health needs in these communities and prevents informed and active responses.¹⁹⁵
- **Military Testing** U.S. military operations tested nuclear bombs on Pacific Islands, such as Micronesia, in the 1940s and 1950s, which exposed thousands of Pacific Islanders to related toxics and nuclear fallout.¹⁹⁶

Key Social Determinants

Such historical policies have led to present-day social and health inequities in Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander communities (Table A3.5.1 and Table A3.5.2).

INCOME, POVERTY STATUS, AND EDUCATION OF NATIVE HAWAIIANS AND PACIFIC ISLANDERS, 2011

2011 Demographic and Socioeconomic Profiles¹⁹⁷

	Per Capita Annual Income	% of Families Below Poverty Line	% of Adults who Attained a Bachelor's Degree or Higher
General U.S. Population	\$27,100	9.9	27.8
Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander	\$19,020	11.5	17.1
Fijian	\$21,456	5.3	12.4
Guamanian/Chamorro	\$20,054	9.6	18
Native Hawaiian	\$20,954	9.4	18
Samoan	\$15,567	13.6	12.6
Tongan	\$11,907	18.4	15
Other Pacific Islander	\$19,478	14.5	28.2

Table A3.5.2

2014 NATIVE HAWAIIAN AND PACIFIC ISLANDER NATIONAL HEALTH INTERVIEW SURVEY (NHIS)¹⁹⁸

Indicator	General U.S. Population (%)	Native Hawaiian (%)	All Pacific Islander (%)
Obese BMI	29.3	37.9	47.8
Hypertension	24.5	27.4	29.8
Heart Disease	10.9	11.3	10.1
Adults with Asthma	7.4	13.3	5.8
Children with Asthma	8.6	16.7	5.2
Adults with Diabetes	8.5	14.2	17.7

Health Inequities

Key Climate Change and Health Issues for Native Hawaiians and Pacific Islanders

Extreme Weather Events

See Section <u>4.7—Storms and Flooding</u>

Extreme Weather Events, Climate Change, and Health

- Climate change is expected to increase the strength and resulting destruction of storms due to increased water temperatures leading to more precipitation, flooding, greater storm surges, and strong storm systems and winds.¹⁹⁹
- Extreme weather causes interruptions in medical care and disrupts critical infrastructure including electricity, sanitation and water treatment, food refrigeration, health care, communications systems and transportation.^{200,201}
- Extreme storms can also impact indoor air quality through flooding damage and mold, spread of infectious and vector-borne disease, toxic exposures, and mental health outcomes and can lead to displacement.^{202,203}

Why Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander Communities Are at Risk

• **Geography** – Models predict that by 2100, Hawai'i and some Pacific islands will experience about 1ft– 2.5ft higher sea-level rise when compared to global average.²⁰⁴ More tropical cyclones developed in the Pacific between 1991 and 2010 than were recorded in the previous century.²⁰⁵ Communities who remain on these islands are at risk of physical and mental health outcomes from such disasters, as well as other long-term impacts of structural damage. Families and communities living in the Continental U.S. will also be impacted through the stress of experiencing these tragedies through familial suffering. Those who move will suffer the economic, social, and emotional losses associated with forced migration.

- Infrastructure Hawai'i already closes beaches annually due to polluted runoff from storm water containing sewage or chemicals from industrial facilities.²⁰⁶ This runoff is expected to increase, as storms grow stronger and more damaging.
- **Poverty** Some Pacific Islander and Native Hawaiian communities lack socioeconomic resources to respond to the damage and health impacts resulting from extreme storms. During an extreme weather event, these households have a smaller cushion against property damage or injuries, further complicated by lack of access to medical care and insurance. ²⁰⁷
- **Pre-Existing Conditions** Extreme storms can disrupt access to care and services for chronic and infectious illnesses, leaving these communities vulnerable considering the high prevalence of illnesses such as diabetes and asthma.²⁰⁸
- **Existing Burden** In 2001 and 2002, there was an outbreak of Dengue fever in Maui, during a period of warmer and wetter conditions, which are expected to increase with climate change.²⁰⁹ Hawai'i has historically had outbreaks of Leptospirosis, an infectious disease from waste-polluted surface waters, and research has demonstrated that infection rates increase during wetter periods.²¹⁰ Hawai'i and other Pacific Islands are known tourist attractions, which could present additional risk of travelers bringing new disease vectors onto the island.
- **Neighborhood** 84% of Native Hawaiian and Pacific Island neighborhoods in Los Angeles are located within one mile of a Superfund site, the highest of any racial group.²¹¹ These communities are at additional risk following flooding due to the likelihood of runoff toxics and pollution from these sites into their neighborhoods and drinking water sources.

Extreme Heat

See Section <u>4.1—Extreme Heat</u>

Extreme Heat, Climate Change, and Health

- Extreme heat results in excess death and illness through heat stroke, heat exhaustion, and exacerbations of chronic illness.²¹²
- Heat increases ozone levels, exacerbating asthma, other respiratory disease and cardiovascular disease. ²¹³
- Due to climate change, extreme heat events are increasing in frequency, severity, and duration.²¹⁴

Why Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander Communities Are at Risk

- **Geography** The average temperature in Honolulu has increased 4.4°F over the last century and research suggests it will continue to increase.²¹⁵
- **Existing Burden** The high prevalence of asthma, respiratory illness, and precursors to cardiovascular disease present additional vulnerabilities for these communities during extreme heat events.²¹⁶

Food Security

See Section <u>4.8—Food Security</u>

Food Security, Agriculture, and Climate Change

- Crop yields are reduced by extreme heat, drought, and extreme weather events, all of which are increasing in frequency and severity due to climate change.²¹⁷
- Increased atmospheric carbon dioxide results in a reduction in the levels of protein and micronutrients (e.g. calcium, zinc, iron) in important crops like barley, sorghum and soy.²¹⁸
- Extreme weather events can prevent transportation of food products, disrupting food supply chains, increasing prices, and increasing loss due to spoilage.²¹⁹
- Warmer temperatures increase the growth of *Salmonella, Camphylobacter, Rotavirus*, and various *Vibrio*, and harmful algal blooms, increasing the risk of food contamination.²²⁰

Why Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander Communities Are at Risk

- **Local Food Resources** For communities living on these islands, local food systems rely on seasonal rainfall, which could be impacted by climate change, further reducing these communities' access to local and healthy food sources.²²¹
- **Pre-Existing Conditions** Throughout the U.S. and Pacific Islands, the prevalence of obesity and diabetes is higher in Native Hawaiian and Pacific Island communities than the general public.²²² As climate change is expected to decrease nutritional value of foods while increasing wider food insecurity, the prevalence of these illnesses could increase in these communities, and individuals who have already been diagnosed will be even more vulnerable.

Air Quality

See Section <u>4.4—Air Quality</u>

Air Quality, Climate Change, and Health

- Climate change makes it ever more difficult to attain national air quality standards for ground-level ozone, a major component of smog, and is expected to cause increased exposure to particulate matter pollution in urban settings.²²³
- Common sources of greenhouse gas emissions (i.e. from motor vehicles and energy production) also produce many different air toxics, which are harmful to health.²²⁴
- Individuals with pre-existing chronic conditions, such as asthma, other respiratory disease, and cardiovascular disease, are at greater risk of disease exacerbations and complications due to air pollution.²²⁵

Why Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander Communities Are at Risk

- **Neighborhood** A higher proportion of Pacific Islanders in the U.S. live in counties with pollution exceeding the federal air quality standards when compared with Asians and other racial groups.²²⁶
- **Pre-Existing Conditions** Throughout the U.S. and Pacific Islands, the prevalence of asthma is higher in Native Hawaiian and Pacific Island communities than the general public.²²⁷ Worsening air quality due to climate change is expected to worsen such conditions and increase their prevalence.

APPENDICES

Climate Resilience

The impacts of climate change are a daily reality for Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander communities and projected impacts threaten the very existence of their lands and culture into the future. These impacts echo into NHPI communities in the U.S., as individuals fear for their families living on these islands while also facing their own vulnerabilities due to climate change. Despite these challenges, Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islanders have strengths that foster climate resilience.

- Cultural identity and family ties can build resiliency in Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander communities, building social cohesion and allowing communities to prepare together for impending threats. ²²⁸
- Regional culture of communication and collaboration among Pacific Islands allows for better adaptation planning, as larger and smaller islands can collaborate to use their different strengths to confront climate challenges.²²⁹

Appendix 4: Types of Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Table A4.1		GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS: SOURCES, LIFETIMES, GLOBAL WARMING POTENTIAL		
Name	% of U.S. GHG Emissions 2016	Sources	Lifetime in the Atmosphere	Global Warming Potential (GWP)
Carbon Dioxide (CO2)	81 %	Electricity production, transportation, numerous industrial processes.	37.9	1
Methane (CH4)	10%	Livestock manure, food decomposition; extraction, distribution, and use of natural gas.	27.4	25
Nitrous Oxide (N2O)	6%	Vehicles, power plant emissions.	11.3	298
Black carbon (soot, PM)	> 1 %	Diesel engines, wildfires, biomass in household cookstoves (developing countries).	13.3	3,200
Fluorinates gases: PFs, HFCs, NF3, SF6	3%	No natural sources. These are synthetic pollutants found in coolants, aerosols, pesticides, solvents, fire extinguishers. Also used in the transmission of electricity.	16.7	PFCs: 7,000-12,000 HFCs: 12,000-14,000 NF3: 17,200 SF6: 22,800

Appendix 5: Climate and Health Considerations for Clinical Care Providers

Table A5.1

RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING HEALTH RISKS, CLIMATE-RELEVANT PATIENT EDUCATION, AND CARE MANAGEMENT

People with Asthma (See Section <u>6.4—Chronic Disease</u>)		
Climate-health risk	Climate-relevant patient education	Care management and coordination
 Exacerbation of asthma symptoms and attacks related to: High ozone levels due to rising average temperatures and extreme heat Smoke exposure from wildfires Mold exposure after flood events and extreme precipitation Dust exposure with drought More pollen exposure with longer, stronger allergy seasons Reduced medication access and management with disruption and displacement after extreme weather events 	 Advise patients to check the Air Quality Index and adjust outdoor activity on bad air days. <u>http://airnow.gov/index.</u> <u>cfm?action = aqibasics.aqi</u> For patients who smoke (or whose family members smoke), encourage them to quit and provide cessation support. Educate patients to avoid climate-related asthma triggers: keep home and car windows closed on days with bad air from wildfire smoke, high pollen counts, dusty conditions; set home and car air conditioners to recirculate (close air intake); use HEPA air filters if available to decrease indoor air pollution. Educate patients about indoor mold exposure; provide information about how to get help with home clean-up after flooding. 	 Integrate reminders to check the Air Quality Index— especially on hot days—-into asthma management plans. Work with schools, camps, and childcare providers to integrate heat and ozone considerations into asthma management plans; advise them on adjusting outdoor activities when air quality is bad. Work with public health and home visiting agencies to screen and refer for asthma-related risks in the home, e.g. leaky pipes, windows and doors; flood risk; proximity to polluting sources; need for home weatherization, air conditioning or fans; and windows or doors that are not sealed.

People with Diabetes (See Section <u>6.4—Chronic Disease</u>)		
Climate-health risk	Climate-relevant patient education	Care management and coordination
• Increased risk of heat illness due to rising average temperatures and extreme heat events	• Educate patients about risks of heat illness and how to prevent it.	• Work with cooling centers and shelters to ensure proper storage capability for insulin.
• Insulin storage and disease management risks related to rising average temperatures and extreme heat events, and power outages or displacement following extreme weather events	 Educate patients about the impact of heat on insulin, proper storage of insulin and how to maintain adequate temperature control during extreme heat or evacuations. Educate and refer patients to the Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP) to facilitate assistance with energy costs. 	• Work with public health and home visiting agencies to assess insulin storage capacity at home and resources for proper hydration and to screen and refer for heat risks in the home, including shades, fans, air conditioning, and windows or doors that are not sealed.

People with Cardiovascular Disease (See Section <u>6.4—Chronic Disease</u>)		
Climate-health risk	Climate-relevant patient education	Care management and coordination
 Increased risk of heat illness due to rising average temperatures and extreme heat events. Increased risk of cardiovascular complications, including myocardial infarction and uncontrolled blood pressure, related to: higher temperatures and impacts of heat on cardiovascular medications ozone levels associated with higher temperatures smoke and dust exposure associated with wildfires and drought stress and/or medication management and access following extreme weather events 	 Educate patients about their risks of heat illness and how to prevent it Inform patients about the risks of some medications and heat. Some medications, including medications to treat hypertension, heart failure or other cardiovascular disease, increase the risk of heat illness, while others lose their potency or result in adverse side effects related to heat: https://www.polkcountyiowa.gov/media/189984/medication-handout.pdf Educate and refer patients to the Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP) to facilitate assistance with energy costs. Educate patients on the impacts of ozone and wildfire smoke on cardiovascular health. Advise them to check air quality levels during wildfires and to limit outdoor air exposure when air quality is poor. If patients are sheltering in place due to wildfire, advise them to keep windows and doors closed, set air conditioners to recirculate (close air intake) and use HEPA air filters if available to decrease indoor air pollution. 	 Work with public health and home visiting agencies to screen and refer for heat and air quality-related risks in the home, including shades, fans, air conditioning, and windows or doors that are not sealed.

Climate-health risk	Climate-relevant patient education	Care management and coordination
 Extreme weather events, including wildfire, drought, storms and floods: Increased risk of post- traumatic stress disorder, depression, suicide, anxiety, substance abuse and interpersonal violence following extreme weather. Increased risk of complications related to medication access and management due to displacement. Heat: Increased risk of violence, aggression, suicide and hospitalization for those with mental illness. Interactions between some psychotropic medications and heat increase the risk of adverse medication effects and/or heat illness. 	 Educate patients with mental illness about their risks of heat illness and how to prevent it Inform patients about the risks of some medications and heat. Some medications, including psychotropic medications, increase the risk of heat illness, while others lose their potency or result in adverse side effects related to heat: https://www.polkcountyiowa.gov/media/189984/medication-handout.pdf Talk to all your patients about climate change risks and associated mental health impacts, and refer them for mental health services, as well as social support services to mitigate stress related to the economic and social impacts of climate change, including e.g. LIHEAP home energy assistance. Educate and refer patients to the Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP) to facilitate assistance with energy costs. 	 Closely monitor patients during and after extreme heat and weather events, including drought, and assess for exacerbation of mental illness, heat illness or adverse medication effects. Coordinate with local mental health service agencies to provide outreach, screening and referral for services during and after climate-related weather events (heat, extreme weather, drought).

.

continued on next page

293

Elderly		
Climate-health risk	Climate-relevant patient education	Care management and coordination
 Increased risk of heat illness due to rising average temperatures and extreme heat events. Risk can be related to decreased thermoregulatory capacity, decreased mobility and/or decreased social connectivity. Greater susceptibility to dehydration in heat and drought. Increased susceptibility to air quality impacts such as ozone, smoke and dust exposure related to heat, wildfires and drought. Impacts include complications for asthma, COPD and other respiratory disease. Elderly patients with limited mobility and/or social connections are at increased risk of injury, illness and death related to extreme weather events. 	 Educate patients about their risks of heat illness and how to prevent it Inform patients about the risks of some medications and heat. Some medications increase the risk of heat illness, while others lose their potency or result in adverse side effects related to heat: https://www.polkcountyiowa.gov/media/189984/medication-handout.pdf Educate patients on how to avoid climate related triggers for respiratory disease: keep home and car windows closed on days with bad air related to wildfires, high pollen counts, dusty drought conditions; set home and car air conditioners to recirculate (close air intake) and use HEPA air filters if available to decrease indoor air pollution. Educate patients about indoor mold exposure; provide information about how to get help with home clean-up after flooding. 	 Monitor patients closely during periods of extreme heat or poor air quality, particularly those on heat-sensitive medications, those with limited mobility, cognitive impairment, or chronic illness such as diabetes, cardiovascular, renal, or respiratory disease. Coordinate with public health nurses to integrate climate and health considerations into geriatric and home assessments, including screening for air conditioning, ventilation, shade, and whether they have an emergency plan and make referrals accordingly. Coordinate with senior living and activity centers to develop heat and air quality protocols related to activity, nutrition, hydration, and medication management and safety checks with elderly patients.

Climate-health risk	Climate-relevant patient education	Care management and coordination
 Increased risk of heat illness due to rising temperatures and extreme heat events Increased risk of asthma and asthma exacerbation related to: Higher ozone levels associated with rising temperatures. Exposure to wildfire smoke. Exposure to dust associated with drought. Exposure to mold associated with storms, floods and increasing precipitation. Sensitivity to longer, stronger pollen seasons. Increased risk of infectious disease from food, water, air and vector borne pathogens. Increased risk of PTSD, anxiety, and learning and behavioral issues related to trauma and/ or displacement associated with extreme weather events. Increased risk of malnutrition related to climate-associated food insecurity. 	 Educate children and caregivers on climate risks and safety measures Heat: Never leave children alone in a hot car or home; keep children hydrated by pushing fluids, or increasing breastfeeding frequency; modify or limit outdoor play; seek shade or cooling centers; dress children in loose, light clothing and do not swaddle infants in heat. Air quality, including ozone, smoke, pollen, mold and dust: check the Air Quality Index (advise on interpretation and activity guidance); keep home and car windows and doors closed and recirculate air on bad air days or when traveling under wildfire or drought conditions; modify or limit outdoor play; assess and advise on any changes or modifications to asthma management plans for bad air days; signs of indoor mold and resources for mold remediation. 	 Ensure adequate vaccine storage and transport during heat events Monitor children with asthma closely during heat events and bad air days, assess and modify asthma management plans accordingly. Monitor children closely during extreme heat events. Assess access to clean water, nutrition support, air conditioning or cooling centers. Monitor children closely after extreme weather events and assess for symptoms of PTSD, learning or behavior difficulties. Coordinate with school, public health nurses and community health workers to provide mental health support and resources Coordinate with community health workers, public health nurse and schools, camps or childcare providers to create heat and air quality protocols, and to integrate heat and air quality considerations into asthma management plans.

ing Children (See Section		
Climate-health risk	Climate-relevant patient education	Care management and coordination
	 Infectious disease: provide information on water safety alerts (harmful algal blooms, waterborne pathogens) for recreational water sources or during storms and floods; dress appropriately and use insect repellent when playing near heavily wooded or brush areas; emphasize good sanitation and food safety practices. 	
	• Extreme events: advise families to create an emergency response plan, with special consideration for reunification; advise parents on signs and symptoms of PTSD, learning or behavior issues related to trauma from extreme events and provide resources for support.	
	 Nutrition: Advise and promote strong nutritional standards; provide resources for nutrition support (WIC, SNAP). 	
	• Educate and refer patients to the Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP) to facilitate assistance with energy	

Climate-health risk	Climate-relevant patient education	Care management and coordination
Heat and drought Increased risk of heat illness, dehydration, renal failure and infectious disease Increased risk of preterm birth, poor fetal growth, low birth weight, and infant mortality Air quality: wildfire smoke, higher ozone levels Increased risk of preterm birth, low birth weight Floods and storms Increased risk for waterborne disease Increased risk of anemia, eclampsia, spontaneous abortion, preterm birth, low birth weight Increased susceptibility to mold and environmental toxins.	 Advise patients about the risks of extreme heat for pregnancy and how to stay safe, including information on hydration, exertion, cooling centers, and social support. Educate and refer patients to the Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP) to facilitate assistance with energy costs. Advise patients to check the Air Quality Index (AQI) http://airnow.gov/index. cfm?action = aqibasics.aqi for unsafe ozone and particulate levels during hot days and in event of wildfires. Even if pregnant women live far from wildfire sites, smoke plumes can travel thousands of miles, so they should monitor air quality closely. Advise and assist patients to create an emergency response plan in case of need to evacuate, for example, in event of flood, wildfire, extreme weather or other emergent climate threat. For more information and guidance, visit the CDC site for emergency preparedness for pregnant women and infants. Advise patients on the risks of illness from food, water and vector borne pathogens and to take appropriate precautions 	 Closely monitor pregnant patients during extreme heat events, on bad air days, during or after extreme weather events and assess for relevant climate- health risks. Coordinate with WIC, Black Infant Health, and public health nurses to integrate climate and health considerations into pregnancy and home assessments, including screening for air conditioning, ventilation, shade, window screens, vector habitat near the home, and whether they have an emergency plan. Make referrals accordingly.

against illness:

regnant Women and Infants (See Section <u>6.1—Maternal Health</u>)		
Climate-health risk	Climate-relevant patient education	Care management and coordination
	 Prepare all food with safe, clean water. 	
	 Wear protective garments and insect repellent when outdoors near mosquito and tick habitats. Use screens on windows and doors at home to keep insects out. 	
	 Recognize the symptoms of Lyme disease and Dengue. 	
	 CDC Lyme Disease and pregnancy fact sheet: <u>http://</u> <u>www.cdc.gov/lyme/resources/</u> <u>toolkit/factsheets/10_508_</u> <u>lyme-disease_pregnantwoman_</u> <u>factsheet.pdf</u> 	
	 CDC Dengue and pregnancy factsheet: <u>http://www.cdc.</u> gov/dengue/resources/ educationMaterials_ pdfs/15_261427-A_Seda_508_ Update_Prevent_dengue_ during_pregnancy508.pdf 	
	• Zika virus	
	 Avoid travel to areas where there have been outbreaks of Zika virus: <u>http://wwwnc.cdc.</u> <u>gov/travel/page/zika-travel-</u> <u>information</u> 	
	 CDC Zika and pregnancy site for patients: <u>http://www.cdc.</u> <u>gov/zika/pregnancy/question-</u> <u>answers.html</u> 	
	 For physicians: Doctor's Visit Checklist for Pregnant Women who Traveled to an Area with Zika: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/</u> <u>zika/pdfs/docvisit-checklist-</u> <u>travelpreg.pdf</u> 	

Appendix 6: Personal Actions to Confront Climate Change



For More Information

- The Environmental Research Letter, "The climate mitigation gap: Education and government recommendations miss the most effective individual actions"²³
- Union of Concerned Scientist's <u>Ten Personal Solutions to Global Warming²³¹</u>
- NRDC's <u>How You Can Help Fight Climate Change</u>²³²

Citations

Introduction

- ¹ Murphy, F. & Smith, W. (2013). Ethics and servant leadership in public health practice. F.G. Murphy (Ed.). New York, NY: Springer
- ² Institute of Medicine. 1988. The Future of Public Health. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/1091.
- ³ Balbus J. et. al. for Environmental Defense Fund. 2008. Are We Ready? Preparing for the public health challenges of climate change. http://www.naccho.org/uploads/downloadable-resources/Are-we-ready_14_view.pdf

Health Equity and Climate Change

- ¹ CSDH (2008). Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final Report of the Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- ² Braveman P, Akin E, Orleans T, Proctor D, and Plough A. What Is Health Equity? And What Difference Does a Definition Make? Princeton, NJ: Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, 2017.
- ³ Rudolph, L, Gould, S, Berko, J. Climate Change, Health and Equity: Opportunities for Action. 2015. Public Health Institute, Oakland, CA.
- 4 Ibid
- ⁵ Solar O, Irwin A. A conceptual framework for action on the social determinants of health. Social Determinants of Health Discussion Paper 2 (Policy and Practice)
- 6 Ibid.
- ⁷ Rudolph, L., and S. Gould. 2014. Why we need climate, health, and equity in all policies. Commentary, Institute of Medicine, Washington, DC. www.iom.edu/climatehealthcommentary.
- ⁸ https://static1.squarespace.com/static/571d109b04426270152febe0/t/57a35ac5ebbd1ac03847eece/1470323398409/ YouthAmendedComplaintAgainstUS.pdf
- ⁹ <u>https://www.ourchildrenstrust.org/us/federal-lawsuit/</u>
- ¹⁰ <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/EN.ATM.CO2E.PC?end = 2014&start = 2006&view = chart&year_high_desc = true</u>
- ¹¹ https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/EN.ATM.CO2E.PC?end = 2014&start = 1960&view = chart&year_high_desc = true
- 12 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20947468
- ¹³ <u>http://pubs.iied.org/pdfs/17181IIED.pdf</u>
- ¹⁴ US Global Change Research Project. Vulnerability definition. Available at: IPCC (2014). <u>http://www.globalchange.gov/climate-change/glossary#top</u> IPCC (2014). Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Field C.B., Barros V.R., Dokken D.J., et al., (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- ¹⁵ Kais, S.M., &Islam, M.S. (2016). Community capitals as community resilience to climate change: conceptual connections. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 13(12), 1211-1228. Available at: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5201352/</u>
- ¹⁶ Nancy E. Adler, "Reaching for a Healthier Life: Facts on Socioeconomic Status and Health in the U.S." (The John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation Research Network on Socioeconomic Status and Health, 2007), <u>http://www.macses.ucsf.edu/downloads/reaching_for_a_healthier_life.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁷ Rachel Morello-Frosch et al., "The Climate Gap: Inequalities in How Climate Change Hurts Americans & How to Close the Gap," May 2009, http://dornsife.usc.edu/assets/sites/242/docs/ClimateGapReport_full_report_web.pdf.
- ¹⁸ Morello-Frosch et al.
- ¹⁹ J. Andrew Hoerner and Nia Robinson, "A Climate of Change: African Americans, Global Warming, and a Just Climate Policy for the U.S." (Oakland: The Environmental Justice and Climate Change Initiative, 2008), <u>http://urbanhabitat.org/files/climateofchange.pdf.</u>
- ²⁰ Hoerner and Robinson.
- ²¹ U.S. Global Change Research Program (2009-), The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment, 2016.
- ²² Morello-Frosch et al., "The Climate Gap: Inequalities in How Climate Change Hurts Americans & How to Close the Gap."
- ²³ U.S. Global Change Research Program (2009-), The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States.

CITATIONS

- ²⁴ U.S. Global Change Research Program (2009-).
- ²⁵ U.S. Global Change Research Program (2009-).
- ²⁶ Rosalyn J. Singleton et al., "Diarrhea-Associated Hospitalizations and Outpatient Visits Among American Indian and Alaska Native Children Younger Than Five Years of Age, 2000–2004:," *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 26, no. 11 (November 2007): 1006–13, <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/INF.0b013e3181256595</u>.
- ²⁷ Morello-Frosch et al., "The Climate Gap: Inequalities in How Climate Change Hurts Americans & How to Close the Gap."
- ²⁸ Adrianna Quintero et al., "US Latinos and Air Pollution: A Call to Action" (Natural Resources Defense Council, September 2011), http://webdev.csu.edu/cerc/researchreports/documents/U.S.LatinosandAirPollution-ACalltoAction2011.pdf.

- ³⁰ Tanya L. Alderete et al., "Longitudinal Associations Between Ambient Air Pollution with Insulin Sensitivity, Cell Function, and Adiposity in Los Angeles Latino Children," *Diabetes*, 2017, db161416.
- ³¹ Quintero et al., "US Latinos and Air Pollution: A Call to Action."
- ³² Morello-Frosch et al., "The Climate Gap: Inequalities in How Climate Change Hurts Americans & How to Close the Gap."
- ³³ Dolan Eversole and Alison Andrews, "Climate Change Impacts in Hawai'i: A Summary of Climate Change and Its Impacts to Hawai'i's Ecosystems and Communities" (University of Hawai'i Sea Grant College Program, n.d.), <u>http://seagrant.soest.hawaii.edu/sites/default/files/publications/</u> <u>smfinal-hawaiiclimatechange.pdf</u>.
- ³⁴ Brittany N. Morey, "Environmental Justice for Native Hawaiians and Pacific Islanders in Los Angeles County," *Environmental Justice* 7, no. 1 (February 2014): 9–17, <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/env.2014.0003</u>.
- ³⁵ National Center for Health Statistics (U.S.), ed., Health Conditions and Behaviors of Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander Persons in the United States, 2014: Data from the Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander National Health Interview Survey, DHHS Publication, no. 2017-1424 (Hyattsville, Maryland: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics, 2017).
- ³⁶ Island Press & The Kresge Foundation. (No Date). Bounce forward, urban resilience in the era of climate change. Island Press. Available at http://kresge.org/sites/default/files/Bounce-Forward-Urban-Resilience-in-Era-of-Climate-Change-2015.pdf
- ³⁸ Kais, S.M., &Islam, M.S. (2016). Community capitals as community resilience to climate change: conceptual connections. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 13(12), 1211-1228. Available at: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5201352/</u>
- ³⁹ Kais, S.M., &Islam, M.S. (2016). Community capitals as community resilience to climate change: conceptual connections. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 13(12), 1211-1228. Available at: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5201352/</u>
- ⁴⁰ <u>https://healthequityguide.org/</u>
- ⁴¹ "One New York: The Plan for a Strong and Just City" (NYC Mayor's Office of Sustainability and Mayor's Office of Recovery and Resiliency, 2018), https://onenyc.cityofnewyork.us/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/OneNYC-1.pdf.

Climate Change 101

- ¹ J. Cook, et al. (2013). Quantifying the consensus on anthropogenic global warming in the scientific literature, *Environmental Research Letters*, (8)2. DOI:10.1088/1748-9326/8/2/024024
- ² Uejio, C.K., Tamerius, J.D., Wertz, K. & Konchar, K.M. (2015). Primer on climate science. In G Luber & J Lemery (Eds.), Global Climate Change and Human Health (p. 5), San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- ³ Wuebbles, D.J., D.R. Easterling, K. Hayhoe, T. Knutson, R.E. Kopp, J.P. Kossin, K.E. Kunkel, A.N. LeGrande, C. Mears, W.V. Sweet, P.C. Taylor, R.S. Vose, and M.F. Wehner, 2017: Our globally changing climate. In: *Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I* [Wuebbles, D.J., D.W. Fahey, K.A. Hibbard, D.J. Dokken, B.C. Stewart, and T.K. Maycock (eds.)]. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, USA, pp. 35-72, doi: 10.7930/J08S4N35.

⁴ 2860-2868.

- ⁵ Rudolph, L & Harrison, C. A Physician's Guide to Climate Change, Health and Equity. 2016. Public Health Institute. Oakland, CA
- ⁶ NOAA, "Basics of the Carbon Cycle and the Greenhouse Effect," National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Earth System Research Laboratory, Global Monitoring Division, n.d., <u>https://www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/outreach/carbon_toolkit/basics.html</u>.
- 7 https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2018-01/documents/2018_complete_report.pdf

²⁹ Quintero et al.

⁸ World Meteorological Organization. (2017). Greenhouse gas concentrations surge to new record. Available at: <u>https://public.wmo.int/en/media/press-release/greenhouse-gas-concentrations-surge-new-record</u>

9 Ibid.

- ¹⁰ <u>http://climatemodels.uchicago.edu/geocarb/archer.2009.ann_rev_tail.pdf</u>
- ¹¹ NOAA, "Atmospheric CO2 at Mauna Loa Observatory," National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Earth System Research Laboratory, Global Monitoring Division, 2018, <u>https://www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/ccgg/trends/full.html</u>.
- ¹² EPA, "Overview of Greenhouse Gases," United States Environmental Protection Agency, April 11, 2018, <u>https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/overview-greenhouse-gases</u>.
- ¹³ EPA, "Understanding Global Warming Potentials," United States Environmental Protection Agency, February 14, 2017, <u>https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/understanding-global-warming-potentials</u>.
- ¹⁴ <u>https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/sources-greenhouse-gas-emissions</u>
- ¹⁵ https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/inventory-us-greenhouse-gas-emissions-and-sinks
- ¹⁶ Climate and Clean Air Coalition (2014). Time to act to reduce short-lived climate pollutants. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ccacoalition.org/en/</u>resources/time-act-brochure
- ¹⁷ NASA. (29 January 2018). The study of Earth as an integrated system. Global Climate Change: Vital Signs of the Planet. <u>https://climate.nasa.gov/nasa_science/science/</u>
- ¹⁸ <u>http://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1748-9326/9/8/084018/meta</u>
- ¹⁹ IPCC, 2014: Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer(eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, 151 pp
- ²⁰ Ibid. Rudolph, L, Gould, S, Berko, J. Climate Change, Health and Equity: Opportunities for Action. 2015. Public Health Institute, Oakland, CA.
- ²¹ https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2018-01/documents/2018_complete_report.pdf
- ²² U.S. Department of Transportation. Transportation and Climate Change Clearinghouse: Transportation's Role in Climate Change. Available at: http://climate.dot.gov/about/transportations-role/overview.html.
- ²³ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2013. Fast Facts: US Transportation Sector Greenhouse Gas Emissions 1990-2013. Available at: http://www3.epa.gov/otaq/climate/documents/420f13033a.pdf.
- ²⁴ US Environmental Protection Agency. 2015. Ch. 5: Agriculture. In: Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2013. Available at: http://epa.gov/climatechange/Downloads/ghgemissions/US-GHG-Inventory-2015-Chapter-5-Agriculture.pdf.
- ²⁵ Gilbert, N. 2012. One-third of our greenhouse gas emissions come from agriculture. Available at: <u>http://www.nature.com/news/one-third-of-our-greenhouse-gas-emissions-come-from-agriculture-1.11708</u>.
- ²⁶ http://www.who.int/news-room/detail/02-05-2018-9-out-of-10-people-worldwide-breathe-polluted-air-but-more-countries-are-taking-action
- ²⁷ https://www.bls.gov/iif/oshwc/osh/os/osar0006.pdf
- ²⁸ <u>https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/coals-war-on-wildlife-fs.pdf</u>
- ²⁹ https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2018-01/documents/2018_complete_report.pdf
- ³⁰ National Renewable Energy Laboratory. Unknown. Life Cycle Assessment Harmonization Results and Findings. Available at: http://www.nrel.gov/analysis/sustain_lca_results.html
- ³¹ Uejio, C.K., Tamerius, J.D., Wertz, K. & Konchar, K.M. (2015). Primer on climate science. In G Luber & J Lemery (Eds., *Global Climate Change and Human Health* (pp. 12-18), San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- ³² Hsiang, S., Kopp, R., Jina, A., Rising, J., Delgado, M., Mohan, S., Rasmussen, D.J. et al. (2017). Estimating economic damage from climate change in the United States. Science, (356)6345, 1362-1396.
- ³³ Knowlton, K., Rotikin-Ellman, M., Gaballe, L., Max, W., Solomon, G. (2011). Six climate change-related events in the United States accounted for about \$14 billion in lost lives and health costs. *Health Affairs*, 30(11). 2167-2176. Available at <u>https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/abs/10.1377/</u> <u>hlthaff.2011.0229</u>
- ³⁴ Smith, A. 8 January 2018. 2017 U.S. billion dollar weather and climate disasters: a historic year in context. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Available at: <u>https://www.climate.gov/news-features/blogs/beyond-data/2017-us-billion-dollar-weather-and-climate-disastershistoric-year</u>

- ³⁵ Andy Haines, "Health Co-Benefits of Climate Action," The Lancet Planetary Health 1, no. 1 (April 2017): e4–5, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(17)30003-7</u>.
- ³⁶ USGCRP, 2017: Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I[Wuebbles, D.J., D.W. Fahey, K.A. Hibbard, D.J. Dokken, B.C. Stewart, and T.K. Maycock (eds.)]. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, USA, 470 pp, doi: 10.7930/J0J964J6.
- ³⁷ USGCRP, "Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I" (Washington, DC, USA: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2017), https://science2017.globalchange.gov/downloads/CSSR2017_FullReport.pdf.
- ³⁸ USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment" (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2016), <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7930/J0R49NQX</u>.
- ³⁹ USGCRP, "Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I."

Extreme Heat

- ¹ CDC, "Climate Change and Extreme Heat Events" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Environmental Health, 2017), https://www.cdc.gov/climateandhealth/pubs/climatechangeandextremeheatevents.pdf.
- ² NASA. Climate change: how do we know? <u>https://climate.nasa.gov/evidence/</u>
- ³ NOAA, "National Climate Report Annual 2017," National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, January 12, 2018, <u>https://www.ncdc.noaa.</u> gov/sotc/national/201713.
- 4 {Citation}
- ⁵ Walsh, J., D. Wuebbles, K. Hayhoe, J. Kossin, K. Kunkel, G. Stephens, P. Thorne, R. Vose, M. Wehner, J. Willis, D. Anderson, S. Doney, R. Feely, P. Hennon, V. Kharin, T. Knutson, F. Landerer, T. Lenton, J. Kennedy, and R. Somerville, 2014: Ch. 2: Our Changing Climate. *Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment*, J. M. Melillo, Terese (T.C.) Richmond, and G. W. Yohe, Eds., U.S. Global Change Research Program, 19-67. doi:10.7930/J0KW5CXT.
- ⁶ USGCRP, "Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I."
- ⁷ Kenneth E. Kunkel, "Projected Temperature Change" (Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment, November 20, 2013), <u>http://nca2014.globalchange.gov/highlights/report-findings/future-climate/graphics/projected-temperature-change</u>.
- ⁸ EPA and CDC, "Climate Change and Extreme Heat: What You Can Do to Prepare" (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, October 2016), <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-10/documents/extreme-heat-guidebook.pdf</u>.
- ⁹ Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (November 14, 2012). QuickStats: Number of Heat-Related Deaths by Sex-National Vital Statistics System, United States, 199-2010. <u>Available at http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6136a6.htm</u>
- ¹⁰ Mora, C., Counsell, C.W., Bielecki, C.R., & Louis, L.V. (2017). Twenty-seven ways a heat wave can kill you. *Circulation:Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes*. Doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.117.004233</u>
- ¹¹ EPA and CDC, "Climate Change and Extreme Heat: What You Can Do to Prepare."
- ¹² J. Glaser et al., "Climate Change and the Emergent Epidemic of CKD from Heat Stress in Rural Communities: The Case for Heat Stress Nephropathy," *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 11, no. 8 (August 8, 2016): 1472–83, <u>https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.13841215</u>.
- ¹³ USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment."
- ¹⁴ Courtney Plante, Johnie J. Allen, and Craig A. Anderson, "Likely Effects of Rapid Climate Change on Violence and Conflict," *The Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Climate Science*, April 2017, https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228620.013.344; Matthew Ranson, "Crime, Weather, and Climate Change," *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 67, no. 3 (May 2014): 274–302, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2013.11.008</u>.
- ¹⁵ Polk County Health Department. <u>https://www.polkcountyiowa.gov/media/189984/medication-handout.pdf</u>
- ¹⁶ Health Canada, "Medications and Heat, Environmental Health Factsheet" (Manitoba Government, June 2012), <u>https://www.gov.mb.ca/health/</u>publichealth/factsheets/heat_medications.pdf.
- ¹⁷ Stefan Siebert and Frank Ewert, "Future Crop Production Threatened by Extreme Heat," *Environmental Research Letters* 9, no. 4 (April 1, 2014): 041001, https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/9/4/041001.
- ¹⁸ Tito Richard, Vasconcelos Heraldo L., and Feeley Kenneth J., "Global Climate Change Increases Risk of Crop Yield Losses and Food Insecurity in the Tropical Andes," *Global Change Biology* 24, no. 2 (October 21, 2017): e592–602, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13959</u>.

- ¹⁹ Bill M. Jesdale, Rachel Morello-Frosch, and Lara Cushing, "The Racial/Ethnic Distribution of Heat Risk-Related Land Cover in Relation to Residential Segregation," *Environmental Health Perspectives* 121, no. 7 (May 14, 2013): 811–17, <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1205919</u>.
- ²⁰ Jesdale, Morello-Frosch, and Cushing.
- ²¹ Julia Haskins, "Heat a Threat to Human Health in Rural Areas," *The Nation's Health* 48 (March 2018), <u>http://thenationshealth.aphapublications.</u> <u>org/content/48/1/E3.full</u>.
- ²² J Myers, "Heat-Related Deaths Among Crop Workers—United States, 1992–2006," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 57, no. 24 (June 20, 2008): 649–53.
- ²³ Fabiana B. Nerbass et al., "Occupational Heat Stress and Kidney Health: From Farms to Factories," *Kidney International Reports* 2, no. 6 (November 2017): 998–1008, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ekir.2017.08.012</u>.
- ²⁴ Carina J. Gronlund, "Racial and Socioeconomic Disparities in Heat-Related Health Effects and Their Mechanisms: A Review," *Current Epidemiology Reports* 1, no. 3 (September 1, 2014): 165–73, https://doi.org/10.1007/s40471-014-0014-4.
- ²⁵ S. Vandentorren et al., "August 2003 Heat Wave in France: Risk Factors for Death of Elderly People Living at Home," *European Journal of Public Health* 16, no. 6 (December 1, 2006): 583–91, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckl063</u>.
- ²⁶ USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment."
- ²⁷ M. S. O'Neill, "Disparities by Race in Heat-Related Mortality in Four US Cities: The Role of Air Conditioning Prevalence," *Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine* 82, no. 2 (May 11, 2005): 191–97, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jurban/jti043</u>.
- ²⁸ Aleka Seville et al., "California Heat & Health Project: A Decision Support Tool" (Four Twenty Seven, December 16, 2016), <u>http://427mt.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/427_CA_HeatHealth_DecisionTool_UserNeedsAssessment.pdf</u>.
- ²⁹ Stasia Widerynski et al., "The Use of Cooling Centers to Prevent Heat-Related Illness: Summary of Evidence and Strategies for Implementation" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/climateandhealth/docs/UseOfCoolingCenters.pdf</u>.
- ³⁰ Widerynski et al.
- ³¹ Widerynski et al.
- ³² Widerynski et al.
- ³³ Widerynski et al.
- ³⁵ City of Louisville, "Office of Sustainability Announces Cool Roof Rebate Program," LouisvilleKY.gov, March 7, 2017, <u>https://louisvilleky.gov/news/office-sustainability-announces-cool-roof-rebate-program</u>.
- ³⁶ City of Kansas City, Missouri, "Beat the Heat Hot Weather Wellness Tips," City of Kansas City, Missouri, 2017, http://kcmo.gov/heat/.
- ³⁷ Vikki Ortiz and Nereida Moreno, "Facing the Heat without Air Conditioning, by Circumstance or Choice," *Chicago Tribune*, July 22, 2016, http://www.chicagotribune.com/news/local/breaking/ct-chicago-heat-wave-air-conditioning-met-20160722-story.html.
- ³⁸ World Meteorological Organization and World Health Organization, "Heatwaves and Health: Guidance on Warning-System Development" (World Health Organization, 2015), <u>http://www.who.int/globalchange/publications/WMO_WHO_Heat_Health_Guidance_2015.pdf</u>.
- ³⁹ World Meteorological Organization and World Health Organization.
- ⁴⁰ "State Disconnection Policies," U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Low-Income Energy Assistance, n.d., <u>https://liheapch.acf.hhs.</u> gov/Disconnect/disconnect.htm.
- ⁴¹ LIHEAP, "State Low-Income Energy Assistance Snapshots," U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Low-Income Energy Assistance, 2018, https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ocs/programs/liheap.
- ⁴² Vjollca Berisha et al., "Assessing Adaptation Strategies for Extreme Heat: A Public Health Evaluation of Cooling Centers in Maricopa County, Arizona," *Weather, Climate, and Society* 9, no. 1 (2017): 71–80.
- ⁴³ World Meteorological Organization and World Health Organization, "Heatwaves and Health: Guidance on Warning-System Development" (World Health Organization, 2015), <u>http://www.who.int/globalchange/publications/WMO_WHO_Heat_Health_Guidance_2015.pdf</u>.
- ⁴⁵ CDC, "Tips for Beating Heat Illness," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Natural Disasters and Extreme Weather, June 19, 2017, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/disasters/extremeheat/heattips.html</u>.
- ⁴⁶ "Keep Your Medications Away From Summer Heat!" (Polk County Health Department, 2015), <u>https://www.polkcountyiowa.gov/media/189984/</u> medication-handout.pdf.

Drought

- ¹ National Drought Mitigation Center, "Glossary," University of Nebraska, National Drought Mitigation Center, 2003, <u>http://drought.unl.edu/</u> <u>DroughtforKids/Glossary.aspx#drought</u>.
- ² NASA, "NASA On Air: NASA Study Finds Carbon Emissions Could Dramatically Increase Risk Of U.S. Megadroughts (2/12/2015)," NASA, February 12, 2015, <u>https://svs.gsfc.nasa.gov/11773</u>.
- ³ NASA, "Megadroughts in U.S. West Projected to Be Worst of the Millennium," NASA, February 12, 2015, https://svs.gsfc.nasa.gov/4270.
- ⁴ NASA, "NASA On Air: NASA Study Finds Carbon Emissions Could Dramatically Increase Risk Of U.S. Megadroughts (2/12/2015)," February 12, 2015.
- ⁵ NASA, "Megadroughts in U.S. West Projected to Be Worst of the Millennium."
- ⁶ Noemi Mancosu et al., "Water Scarcity and Future Challenges for Food Production," Water 7, no. 12 (March 10, 2015): 975–92, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/w7030975</u>.
- ⁷ NASA, "NASA On Air: NASA Study Finds Carbon Emissions Could Dramatically Increase Risk Of U.S. Megadroughts (2/12/2015)," NASA, February 12, 2015, <u>https://svs.gsfc.nasa.gov/11773</u>.
- ⁸ Howitt, R., MacEwan, D., Medellín-Azuara, J., Lund, J., Sumner, D. (2015). Economic analysis of the 2015 drought for California agriculture. UC Davis Center for Watershed Sciences.
- ⁹ Holly Vins et al., "The Mental Health Outcomes of Drought: A Systematic Review and Causal Process Diagram," ed. Jan C Semenza, International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 12, no. 10 (October 2015): 13251–75, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph121013251</u>.
- ¹⁰ NASA. 2015. California drought causing Valley land to sink. Available at: http://www.jpl.nasa.gov/news/news.php?feature = 4693
- ¹¹ Julie Nico Martin, "Central Coast Groundwater: Seawater Intrusion and Other Issues" (California Water Foundation, August 4, 2014), https://www.water.ca.gov/LegacyFiles/waterplan/docs/cwpu2013/Final/vol4/groundwater/11Central_Coast_Groundwater_Seawater_Intrusion.pdf.
- ¹² Knowlton, K. (2015). Ozone, oppressive air masses, and degraded air quality. In G Luber & J Lemery (Eds.), *Global Climate Change and Human Health* (p. 148), San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- ¹³ Andrew C. Comrie, "Climate Factors Influencing Coccidioidomycosis Seasonality and Outbreaks," *Environmental Health Perspectives* 113, no. 6 (March 3, 2005): 688–92, <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.7786</u>.
- ¹⁴ "Preparing for the Health Effects of Drought: A Resource Guide for Public Health Professionals" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Environmental Health, 2018), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/hsb/cwh/docs/CDC_Drought_Resource_Guide-508.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁵ National Center for Environmental Health, "Health Implications of Drought: Diseases Transmitted by Insects and Animals," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, July 27, 2012, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/drought/animals.htm</u>.
- ¹⁶ http://www.pbs.org/wgbh/americanexperience/features/general-article/dustbowl-mass-exodus-plains/
- ¹⁷ Alvar Escriva-Bou et al., "Building Drought Resilience in California's Cities and Suburbs" (Public Policy Institute of California, June 2017), http://www.ppic.org/content/pubs/report/R_0617DMR.pdf.
- ¹⁸ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention et al., "When Every Drop Counts: Protecting Public Health During Drought Conditions, A Guide for Public Health Professionals" (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2010), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/ehs/docs/when_every_drop_counts.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁹ California State Water Resources Control Board, "Communities That Rely on a Contaminated Groundwater Source for Drinking Water" (California Environmental Protection Agency, Water Resources Control Board, January 2013), <u>https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/ab2222/docs/ab2222.pdf</u>.
- ²⁰ T.M. Bull Bennett et al., "Indigenous Peoples, Land, and Resources," Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment (U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2014), <u>http://nca2014.globalchange.gov/report/sectors/indigenous-peoples</u>.
- ²¹ U.S. Global Change Research Program (2009-), The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States.
- ²² Fabiana B. Nerbass et al., "Occupational Heat Stress and Kidney Health: From Farms to Factories," *Kidney International Reports* 2, no. 6 (November 2017): 998–1008, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ekir.2017.08.012</u>.
- ²³ Center for Disease Control and Prevention. 2016. Valley Fever (Coccidioidomycosis) Risk & Prevention. Available at <u>http://www.cdc.gov/fungal/</u> diseases/coccidioidomycosis/risk-prevention.html
- ²⁴ Trish Hernandez, Susan Gabbard, and Daniel Carroll, "Findings from the National Agricultural Workers Survey (NAWS) 2013-2014: A Demographic and Employment Profile of United States Farmworkers" (U.S. Department of Labor, December 2016), <u>https://www.doleta.gov/agworker/pdf/</u> <u>NAWS Research Report 12 Final 508 Compliant.pdf</u>.

- ²⁵ California Department of Public Health and Tulare County Health and Human Services Agency, "Community Assessment for Public Health Emergency Response (CASPER) Addressing the California Drought - Tulare County, CA" (California Department of Public Health, Tulare County Health and Human Services Agency, October 2015), <u>https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/ Tulare%20CASPER%20report.pdf</u>.
- ²⁶ California Department of Public Health. (March 2016). Community assessment for public health emergency response (CASPER) addressing the California drought-Tulare County, California, October 2015. Available at <u>http://hhsawebdocs.tchhsa.org/Questys.CMx.HHSAWebdocs/File.</u> <u>ashx?id = 3813&v = 1&x = pdf&r = HHSA_Webdocs</u>
- ²⁷ Zelezny, L., Fu, X., Harootunian, G., Drexler, D., Avalos, A., Chowdhury, N., ...Edmonson, C. (2015). Impact of the Drought in the San Joaquin Valley of California. Available at: <u>http://www.fresnostate.edu/academics/drought/</u>
- 28 Ibid.

29 Ibid

- ³⁰ California Department of Public Health. (March 2016). Community assessment for public health emergency response (CASPER) addressing the California drought-Tulare County, California, October 2015. <u>Available at http://hhsawebdocs.tchhsa.org/Questys.CMx.HHSAWebdocs/File.</u> <u>ashx?id = 3813&v = 1&x = pdf&r = HHSA_Webdocs</u>
- ³¹ California Department of Public Health and Tulare County Health and Human Services Agency, "Community Assessment for Public Health Emergency Response (CASPER) Addressing the California Drought - Tulare County, CA" (California Department of Public Health, Tulare County Health and Human Services Agency, October 2015), https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/CDPH%20Document%20Library/ Tulare %20CASPER%20report.pdf.
- ³² California Department of Public Health and Tulare County Health and Human Services Agency.
- ³³ "Preparing for the Health Effects of Drought: A Resource Guide for Public Health Professionals."
- ³⁴ California Department of Public Health and Tulare County Health and Human Services Agency, "Community Assessment for Public Health Emergency Response (CASPER) Addressing the California Drought – Tulare County, CA," October 2015.
- ³⁵ "Preparing for the Health Effects of Drought: A Resource Guide for Public Health Professionals."
- ³⁶ California Department of Public Health, "Public Water System Drought Emergency Funding Guidelines" (California Health and Human Services Agency, March 28, 2014), <u>https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/certlic/drinkingwater/documents/drought/PWSDE%20-%20</u> <u>Drought%20Emergency%20-%20Criteria(Guidelines)%203-28-14-final.pdf</u>.
- ³⁷ NACCHO, "How Local Health Departments Can Assist in Response to the California Drought" (National Association of County & City Health Officials, March 2014), <u>http://nacchopreparedness.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/factsheet_eh_drought_march2014.pdf</u>.

- ³⁹ "Preparing for the Health Effects of Drought: A Resource Guide for Public Health Professionals."
- ⁴⁰ New Mexico Department of Health, "Drought Factsheet" (New Mexico Department of Health, New Mexico Environment Department, 2002), <u>https://nmhealth.org/publication/view/help/288/</u>.
- ⁴¹ Tracy Barreau et al., "Physical, Mental, and Financial Impacts From Drought in Two California Counties, 2015," *American Journal of Public Health* 107, no. 5 (May 2017): 783–90, <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.303695</u>.
- ⁴² "Partner Toolkit," Save Our Water, 2018, <u>http://saveourwater.com/partner-tools/</u>.
- ⁴³ NACCHO, "How Local Health Departments Can Assist in Response to the California Drought."
- ⁴⁴ "Preparing for the Health Effects of Drought: A Resource Guide for Public Health Professionals."
- ⁴⁵ "Tests for Drinking Water from Private Wells" (Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, Bureau of Drinking Water and Groundwater, 2011), <u>https://dnr.wi.gov/files/PDF/pubs/DG/DG0023.pdf</u>.

Wildfires

- ¹ USGCRP, "Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I."
- ² Kathryn Hansen, "Climate Models Project Increase in U.S. Wildfire Risk," NASA (blog), December 4, 2012, <u>https://www.nasa.gov/topics/earth/features/climate-fire.html</u>.
- ³ Hansen.

³⁸ NACCHO.

- ⁴ USDA, "The 2010 Wildland-Urban Interface of the Conterminous United States" (US Department of Agriculture, US Forest Service, University of Wisconsin-Madison, 2015), <u>https://www.fs.fed.us/nrs/pubs/rmap/rmap_nrs8.pdf</u>.
- ⁵ Bentz, B & Klepzig, K. 2014. Bark beetles and climate change in the United States. US Forest Service topic paper. Available at https://www.fs.usda.gov/ccrc/topics/bark-beetles-and-climate-change-united-states
- ⁶ Sarah J. Hart, Tania Schoennagel, Thomas T. Veblen, Teresa B. Chapman, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences Apr 2015, 112 (14) 4375-4380; DOI:10.1073/pnas.1424037112
- ⁷ Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (2013). Indicators of Climate Change in California. Kadir, T., Mazur, L., Milanes, C., Randles, K (eds).
- ⁸ American Forest Foundation (n.d.) Wildfires and climate change. Available at https://www.forestfoundation.org/wildfires-and-climate-change
- ⁹ Shuqing Zhao et al., "Land Use and Carbon Dynamics in the Southeastern United States from 1992 to 2050," *Environmental Research Letters* 8, no. 4 (December 1, 2013): 044022, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/8/4/044022</u>.
- ¹⁰ EPA, "Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2014" (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, April 15, 2016), https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-04/documents/us-ghg-inventory-2016-main-text.pdf.
- ¹¹ NOAA, "Wildfires- Annual 2017," National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 2018, https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/sotc/fire/201713.
- ¹² Chris Mooney and Brady Dennis, "Extreme Hurricanes and Wildfires Made 2017 the Most Costly U.S. Disaster Year on Record," Washington Post, January 8, 2018, Energy and Environment edition, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/energy-environment/wp/2018/01/08/hurricanes-wildfires-made-2017-the-most-costly-u-s-disaster-year-on-record/?utm_term = .eb1a80e2a4c3.</u>
- ¹³ Karl Puckett, "2017 Fire Season No. 1; Produced Largest Fire in State's History," *Great Falls Tribune*, February 8, 2018, https://www.greatfallstribune.com/story/news/2018/02/08/2017-fire-season-no-1-produced-largest-fire-states-history/319952002/.
- ¹⁴ Matt Stevens, "Pacific Northwest Fires Smother Region in Smoke and Ash," *New York Times*, September 6, 2017, sec. U.S., <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2017/09/06/us/wildfires-oregon-washington.html</u>.
- ¹⁵ CAL FIRE, "Incident Information," Cal Fire, January 24, 2018, <u>http://cdfdata.fire.ca.gov/incidents/incidents_stats?year = 2017</u>.
- ¹⁶ CAL FIRE, "Top 20 Most Destructive California Wildfires" (Cal Fire, January 12, 2018), <u>http://www.fire.ca.gov/communications/downloads/</u><u>fact_sheets/Top20_Destruction.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁷ Vanessa Romo and Emily Sullivan, "California Mudslides Death Toll Rises To At Least 20, Residents Told To Evacuate," NPR, January 13, 2018, https://www.npr.org/sections/thetwo-way/2018/01/13/577842311/california-mudslides-death-toll-rises-to-18-residents-told-to-evacuate.
- 18 Ibid.
- ¹⁹ Bell, J.E., S.C. Herring, L. Jantarasami, C. Adrianopoli, K. Benedict, K. Conlon, V. Escobar, J. Hess, J. Luvall, C.P. Garcia-Pando, D. Quattrochi, J. Runkle, and C.J. Schreck, III, 2016: Ch. 4: Impacts of Extreme Events on Human Health. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 99–128.
- ²⁰ Gamble, J.L., J. Balbus, M. Berger, K. Bouye, V. Campbell, K. Chief, K. Conlon, A. Crimmins, B. Flanagan, C. Gonzalez-Maddux, E. Hallisey, S. Hutchins, L. Jantarasami, S. Khoury, M. Kiefer, J. Kolling, K. Lynn, A. Manangan, M. McDonald, R. Morello-Frosch, M.H. Redsteer, P. Sheffield, K. Thigpen Tart, J. Watson, K.P. Whyte, and A.F. Wolkin, 2016: Ch. 9: Populations of Concern. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 247–286. Available at https://health2016.globalchange.gov/populations-concern
- ²¹ Bell, J.E., S.C. Herring, L. Jantarasami, C. Adrianopoli, K. Benedict, K. Conlon, V. Escobar, J. Hess, J. Luvall, C.P. Garcia-Pando, D. Quattrochi, J. Runkle, and C.J. Schreck, III, 2016: Ch. 4: Impacts of Extreme Events on Human Health. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 99–128.
- ²² Beitler, J. (October 2006). Tracking Nature's Contribution to Pollution. NASA Earth Observatory. Available at http://earthobservatory.nasa.gov/ Features/ContributionPollution/
- ²³ Ana Rappold, "Community Health Vulnerability Index" (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, June 2017), <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2017-07/documents/community_health_vulnerability_index.pdf</u>.
- ²⁴ Bell, J.E., S.C. Herring, L. Jantarasami, C. Adrianopoli, K. Benedict, K. Conlon, V. Escobar, J. Hess, J. Luvall, C.P. Garcia-Pando, D. Quattrochi, J. Runkle, and C.J. Schreck, III, 2016: Ch. 4: Impacts of Extreme Events on Human Health. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 99–128.
- ²⁵ Ibid.
- ²⁶ Ibid.

²⁷ Ibid.

28 Ibid.

- ²⁹ Elaina Zachos, "Mudslides, Wildfires, and Drought—California's Deadly Weather Explained," *National Geographic*, January 10, 2018, https://news.nationalgeographic.com/2018/01/mudslides-california-wildfires-drought-extreme-weather-spd/.
- ³⁰ Department of Toxic Substances Control, Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, California Environmental Protection Agency, and California Department of Health Care Services, "Safe Cleanup of Fire Ash," n.d., <u>https://www.arb.ca.gov/carpa/toolkit/emerg-response/safecleanup-fire-ash.pdf</u>.
- ³¹ D. Adamis et al., "P-1035 Long-Term Psychological Effects of a Wildfire Disaster in Greece," *Abstracts of the 20th European Congress of Psychiatry* 27 (January 1, 2012): 1, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0924-9338(12)75202-1</u>.
- ³² Wigtil, Gabriel & Hammer, Roger & D. Kline, Jeffrey & Mockrin, Miranda & Stewart, Susan & Roper, Daniel & Radeloff, Volker. (2016). Places where wildfire potential and social vulnerability coincide in the coterminous United States. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*. 25. 10.1071/WF15109.
- ³³ Rowan Moore Gerety, "Wildfires Hit Northwest Tribal Lands Particularly Hard," NPR, September 16, 2015, sec. National, https://www.npr.org/2015/09/16/440770653/wildfires-hit-northwest-tribal-lands-particularly-hard.
- ³⁴ Sylvia N. Wilson and John P. Tiefenbacher, "The Barriers Impeding Precautionary Behaviours by Undocumented Immigrants in Emergencies: The Hurricane Ike Experience in Houston, Texas, USA," *Environmental Hazards* 11, no. 3 (September 1, 2012): 194–212, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1</u> 7477891.2011.649711.
- ³⁵ NIOSH, "Wildland Fire Fighting: Hot Tips to Stay Safe and Healthy" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 2013), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2013-158/pdfs/2013-158v2.pdf</u>.
- ³⁶ NIOSH.
- ³⁷ Melissa Etehad, "Amid Thomas Fire, Farmworkers Weather Risks in Oxnard's Strawberry Fields," *Los Angeles Times*, December 23, 2017, http://www.latimes.com/business/la-me-fire-farmworkers-20171223-story.html.
- ³⁹ Ana G. Rappold et al., "Community Vulnerability to Health Impacts of Wildland Fire Smoke Exposure," *Environmental Science & Technology* 51, no. 12 (June 20, 2017): 6674–82, <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b06200</u>.
- ⁴⁰ Katie Kirsch et al., "Longitudinal Community Assessment for Public Health Emergency Response to Wildfire, Mental and Physical Health Impacts, Bastrop County, Texas" (Texas A&M Health Science Center, 2016), <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/presentation/947d/</u> <u>dc53d31d46ee1b5eefb79d74e4e4f7aa6471.pdf</u>.
- ⁴¹ FEMA, "Wildfire Hazard Mitigation: Handbook for Public Facilities" (Federal Emergency Management Agency, October 2008), <u>https://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/20130726-1715-25045-9022/wildfire_haz_mitigation_handbook_for_public_facilities.txt</u>.

- ⁴³ U.S. Forest Service, "Fire Adapted Communities," U.S. Department of Agriculture, U.S. Forest Service, n.d., <u>https://www.fs.fed.us/managing-land/fire/fac.</u>
- ⁴⁴ Keith Riggs, "Wildfire Smoke Monitors Working to Reduce Health and Safety Impacts," U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2015, <u>https://www.usda.gov/media/blog/2015/09/18/wildfire-smoke-monitors-working-reduce-health-and-safety-impacts.</u>
- ⁴⁵ Nora Saks, "Montana Wildfires Provide A Wealth Of Data On Health Effects Of Smoke Exposure," NPR, February 24, 2018, sec. Public Health, https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2018/02/24/583950017/montana-wildfires-provide-a-wealth-of-data-on-health-effects-of-smokeexposure.
- ⁴⁶ Susan Lyon Stone, Wayne Cascio, and Pete Lahm, "Wildifre Smoke: A Guide for Public Health Officials" (US Environmental Protection Agency, US Forest Service, US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, California Air Resources Board, May 2016), <u>https://www3.epa.gov/airnow/ wildfire_may2016.pdf</u>.
- ⁴⁷ Saks, "Montana Wildfires Provide A Wealth Of Data On Health Effects Of Smoke Exposure."
- ⁴⁸ Sonoma County, "Fire: Health Concerns and Resources," Sonoma County, October 2017, <u>http://sonomacounty.ca.gov/EOC-and-PIO/Fires-October-2017/Health-Concerns-and-Resources/</u>.
- ⁴⁹ UndocuFund, "UndocuFund for Fire Relief in Sonoma County," UndocuFund, 2018, <u>http://undocufund.org/</u>.
- ⁵⁰ Sonoma County, "Fire: Health Concerns and Resources."
- ⁵¹ Sonoma County.

⁴² FEMA.

- ⁵² Great Falls City and County Health Department, "Wildfire Safety," Great Falls City and County Health Department (blog), June 30, 2015, http://www.cchdmt.org/2015/06/wildfire-safety/.
- 53 Stone, Cascio, and Lahm, "Wildifre Smoke: A Guide for Public Health Officials."
- ⁵⁴ James M. Seltzer, Mark Miller, and Diane L. Seltzer, "Fact Sheets for Health Professionals: Information on Health Risks of Wildfires for Children (Acute Phase), Guidance for Health Professionals," Pediatric Environmental Health Speciality Units, August 25, 2011, https://www.pehsu.net/ HealthProf Acute Risk of Wildfires.html; James M. Seltzer, Mark Miller, and Diane L. Seltzer, "Fact Sheets for Health Professionals: Information on Health Risks of Wildfires for Children (Aftermath), Guidance for Health Professionals," Pediatric Environmental Health Speciality Units, November 17, 2007, https://www.pehsu.net/HealthProf_Wildfires_Aftermath_.html.

Air Quality

- Fann, N., T. Brennan, P. Dolwick, J.L. Gamble, V. Ilacqua, L. Kolb, C.G. Nolte, T.L. Spero, and L. Ziska, 2016: Ch. 3: Air Quality Impacts. The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 69-98.
- ² Ibid.
- 3 US Global Change Research Project (2014). National Climate Assessment: Climate Change Impacts in the United States. Washington, D.C. http://nca2014.globalchange.gov
- 4 American Lung Association, "State of the Air 2018" (American Lung Association, 2018), http://www.lung.org/assets/documents/healthy-air/stateof-the-air/sota-2018-full.pdf.
- ⁵ CDC, "Public Health Issues: Respiratory Health," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, June 29, 2017, https://www.cdc.gov/air/air health.htm.
- ⁶ Ibid.
- CDC, "Reproductive and Birth Outcomes," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, November 8, 2017, https://ephtracking.cdc.gov/ showRbBirthOutcomeEnv.
- Stacy Simon, "World Health Organization: Outdoor Air Pollution Causes Cancer," American Cancer Society (blog), October 17, 2013, https://www.cancer.org/latest-news/world-health-organization-outdoor-air-pollution-causes-cancer.html.
- CDC, "Mold After a Disaster," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, October 11, 2017, https://www.cdc.gov/disasters/mold/index.html. 9
- ¹⁰ Morello-Frosch et al., "The Climate Gap: Inequalities in How Climate Change Hurts Americans & How to Close the Gap."
- ¹¹ JE Moorman, LJ Akinbami, and CM Bailey, "National Surveillance of Asthma: United States, 2001–2010" (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, November 2012), https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr_03/sr03_035.pdf.
- ¹² Quintero et al., "US Latinos and Air Pollution: A Call to Action."
- ¹³ Ouintero et al.
- ¹⁶ EPA, "Air Sensor Toolbox for Citizen Scientists, Researchers and Developers," U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, May 1, 2018, https://www.epa.gov/air-sensor-toolbox.
- ¹⁷ Bay Area Air Quality Management District, "Spare the Air, Cool the Climate: A Blueprint for Clean Air and Climate Protection in the Bay Area" (Bay Area Air Quality Management District, April 19, 2017).
- ¹⁸ Local Government Association, UK Department for Environment, Food, & Rural Affairs, and Public Health England, "Air Quality: A Briefing for Directors of Public Health" (Local Government Association, March 2017), https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/assets/63091defraairqualityguide9web.pdf.
- ¹⁹ EPA, "Best Practices for Reducing Near-Road Air Pollution Exposure at Schools," US EPA, January 10, 2018, https://www.epa.gov/schools/bestpractices-reducing-near-road-air-pollution-exposure-schools.
- 21 Allegheny County Health Department, "Air Quality," Allegheny County Health Department, n.d., http://www.achd.net/air/index.php.
- Damian Carrington, "Side Street Routes to Avoid City Pollution Can Cut Exposure by Half," The Guardian, June 14, 2017, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2017/jun/14/side-street-routes-avoid-city-pollution-cut-exposure-by-half.

Allergens

- ¹ Charles W. Schmidt, "Pollen Overload: Seasonal Allergies in a Changing Climate," *Environmental Health Perspectives* 124, no. 1 (April 1, 2016), https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.124-A70.
- ² EPA, "Ragweed Pollen Season" (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, August 2016), <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-08/documents/print_ragweed-2016.pdf</u>.
- ³ Lewis Ziska et al., "Recent Warming by Latitude Associated with Increased Length of Ragweed Pollen Season in Central North America," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 108, no. 10 (March 8, 2011): 4248, <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1014107108</u>.
- ⁴ Fann, N., T. Brennan, P. Dolwick, J.L. Gamble, V. Ilacqua, L. Kolb, C.G. Nolte, T.L. Spero, and L. Ziska, 2016: Ch. 3: Air Quality Impacts. *he Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 69–98.
- ⁵ Ibid
- ⁶ Lang-Yona Naama et al., "Changes in Atmospheric CO2 Influence the Allergenicity of Aspergillus Fumigatus," *Global Change Biology* 19, no. 8 (April 8, 2013): 2381–88, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12219</u>.
- ⁷ Kinney, P.L., Ito, K., Weinberger, K.R., Sheffield, P.E. (2015). Respiratory and allergic disorders. In B.S. Levy & J.A. Patz (Eds.), *Climate change and public health* (pp. 105-128), New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- ⁸ Ibid.
- ⁹ Päivi M. Salo et al., "Prevalence of Allergic Sensitization in the United States: Results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2005-2006," *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 134, no. 2 (August 2014): 350–59, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2013.12.1071.
- ¹⁰ Fann, N., T. Brennan, P. Dolwick, J.L. Gamble, V. Ilacqua, L. Kolb, C.G. Nolte, T.L. Spero, and L. Ziska, 2016: Ch. 3: Air Quality Impacts. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 69–98.
- ¹¹ U.S. EPA. A Review of the Impact of Climate Variability and Change on Aeroallergens and Their Associated Effects (Final Report). U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, Available at <u>https://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/risk/recordisplay.cfm;jsessionid = 13974F5D67FADE552079AEABE3B2742F.cfpub?deid = 190306&CFID = 72904308&CFTOKEN = 64421912</u>
- ¹² Gary Adamkiewicz et al., "Environmental Conditions in Low-Income Urban Housing: Clustering and Associations with Self-Reported Health," *American Journal of Public Health* 104, no. 9 (2014): 1650–1656.
- ¹³ Adamkiewicz et al.
- ¹⁴ Ganesa Wegienka et al., "Racial Differences in Allergic Sensitization: Recent Findings and Future Directions," Current Allergy and Asthma Reports 13, no. 3 (June 2013): 255–61, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11882-013-0343-2</u>.
- ¹⁵ Ben-Ishai, L. (2015). Wages lost, jobs at risk: the serious consequences of lack of paid leave. The Center for Law and Social Policy. Washington, D.C.
- ¹⁶ EPA, "Ragweed Pollen Season."
- ¹⁷ Rachael Rettner, "High Ozone and Pollen Levels Could Worsen Allergies," *Scientific American*, May 13, 2015, <u>https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/high-ozone-and-pollen-levels-could-worsen-allergies/</u>.
- ¹⁸ Vicky Gan, "The Complete Guide to Fighting Seasonal Allergies Where You Live," *City Lab*, April 13, 2015, <u>https://www.citylab.com/life/2015/04/</u> the-complete-guide-to-fighting-seasonal-allergies-where-you-live/389453/.
- ¹⁹ Vicky Gan, "The Complete Guide to Fighting Seasonal Allergies Where You Live," *City Lab*, April 13, 2015, <u>https://www.citylab.com/life/2015/04/</u> the-complete-guide-to-fighting-seasonal-allergies-where-you-live/389453/.
- ²⁰ Paloma Cariñanos and Manuel Casares-Porcel, "Urban Green Zones and Related Pollen Allergy: A Review. Some Guidelines for Designing Spaces with Low Allergy Impact," *Landscape and Urban Planning* 101, no. 3 (June 2011): 205–14, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2011.03.006</u>.
- ²¹ Gennaro D'Amato et al., "Climate Change, Migration, and Allergic Respiratory Diseases: An Update for the Allergist," *The World Allergy Organization Journal* 4, no. 7 (July 2011): 120–25, <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/WOX.0b013e3182260a57</u>.
- ²² Vicky Gan, "The Complete Guide to Fighting Seasonal Allergies Where You Live," *City Lab*, April 13, 2015, <u>https://www.citylab.com/life/2015/04/</u> the-complete-guide-to-fighting-seasonal-allergies-where-you-live/389453/.

²⁴ St. Louis County, Missouri, "Pollen and Mold Center," St. Louis County, Missouri Department of Public Health, 2018, <u>https://www.stlouisco.com/</u> <u>HealthandWellness/PollenandMoldCenter</u>.

²³ Schmidt, "Pollen Overload."

²⁵ Gan, "The Complete Guide to Fighting Seasonal Allergies Where You Live," April 13, 2015.

Sea Level Rise

- ¹ USGCRP, "Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I."
- ² USGCRP.
- ³ Cindy L. Parker, "Health Impacts of Sea-Level Rise," *Planning & Environmental Law* 66, no. 5 (May 14, 2014): 8–12, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1548</u> 0755.2014.916166.
- ⁴ Wong, P.P., I.J. Losada, J.-P. Gattuso, J. Hinkel, A. Khattabi, K.L. McInnes, Y. Saito, and A. Sallenger, 2014: Coastal systems and low-lying areas. In: Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Field, C.B., V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea, and L.L. White (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 361-409.
- ⁵ Abu Mohd Naser et al., "Drinking Water Salinity and Kidney Health in Southwest Coastal Bangladesh: Baseline Findings of a Community-Based Stepped-Wedge Randomised Trial," *The Lancet* 389 (2017): S15; Pauline F.D. Scheelbeek et al., "Drinking Water Salinity and Raised Blood Pressure: Evidence from a Cohort Study in Coastal Bangladesh," *Environmental Health Perspectives* 125, no. 5 (May 30, 2017), https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP659.
- ⁶ Aneire Ehmar Khan et al., "Salinity in Drinking Water and the Risk of (Pre)Eclampsia and Gestational Hypertension in Coastal Bangladesh: A Case-Control Study," ed. Pal Bela Szecsi, *PLoS ONE* 9, no. 9 (September 30, 2014): e108715, <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0108715</u>.
- ⁷ Naser et al., "Drinking Water Salinity and Kidney Health in Southwest Coastal Bangladesh"; Scheelbeek et al., "Drinking Water Salinity and Raised Blood Pressure."
- ⁸ Jim Johnson, "County Water Agency Officials Call for Rapid Response to Worsening Salinas Valley Seawater Intrusion," *Monterey Herald*, November 20, 2017, Water Management edition, <u>http://www.montereyherald.com/article/NF/20171120/NEWS/171129982</u>.
- ⁹ Kristin Palbicke Garces et al., "Health and Sea Level Rise: Impacts on South Florida" (Florida Institute for Health Innovation, April 2016), http://flhealthinnovation.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/Health-and-Sea-Level-Rise-Full-Report-2016.pdf.
- ¹⁰ San Francisco Bay Conservation and Development Commission, "Adapting to Rising Tides: Vulnerability and Risk Assessment Report," September 2012, <u>http://www.adaptingtorisingtides.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/ART_Project_VR_Report_all_sm.pdf</u>.
- ¹¹ Alex Fox, "Sea Level Rise May Swamp Many Coastal U.S. Sewage Plants," *Earth & Space Science News*, December 13, 2017, https://eos.org/articles/sea-level-rise-may-swamp-many-coastal-u-s-sewage-plants.
- ¹² Laura Wilson, "Will Septic Systems Fail to Protect Sensitive Ecosystems?," NOAA Sea Grant, August 27, 2013, <u>https://seagrant.noaa.gov/News/</u> <u>Article/ArtMID/1660/ArticleID/69/Will-Septic-Systems-Fail-to-Protect-Sensitive-Ecosystems</u>.
- ¹³ "Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment." (U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2014), <u>nca2014.globalchange.gov</u>.
- ¹⁴ Morello-Frosh, R., Pastor, M., Sadd, J., Shonkoff, S. (n.d.) *The climate gap: Inequalities in how climate change hurts Americans & how to close the gap.* Available at: University of California Program for Environmental and Regional Equity website: <u>https://dornsife.usc.edu/pere/climategap/</u>
- ¹⁵ Natalie Delgadillo, "The Realities of Sea-Level Rise in Miami's Low-Income Communities," *City Lab*, October 23, 2016, <u>https://www.citylab.com/environment/2016/10/sea-level-rise-is-affecting-miami-low-income-communities/505109/</u>.
- ¹⁶ Erika Bolstad, "High Ground Is Becoming Hot Property as Sea Level Rises," *Scientific American*, May 1, 2017, https://www.scientificamerican. com/article/high-ground-is-becoming-hot-property-as-sea-level-rises/?print = true.
- ¹⁷ Bennett et al., "Indigenous Peoples, Land, and Resources."
- ¹⁸ "Sea Level Rise Threatens Tens of Thousands of U.S. Historic Sites," Yale Environment 360, November 30, 2017, <u>https://e360.yale.edu/digest/sea-level-rise-threatens-tens-of-thousands-of-u-s-historic-sites</u>.
- ¹⁹ "The History," Isle de Jean Charles Lowland Center, 2016, <u>http://www.coastalresettlement.org/why-idjc.html</u>.
- ²⁰ Palbicke Garces et al., "Health and Sea Level Rise: Impacts on South Florida."
- ²¹ Palbicke Garces et al.
- ²² "Sea Level Rise Viewer," NOAA Office for Coastal Management, March 19, 2018, https://coast.noaa.gov/digitalcoast/tools/slr.
- ²³ FEMA, "FEMA Flood Map Service Center: Search By Address," FEMA, 2018, https://msc.fema.gov/portal/search.

- ²⁴ Michael Keller et al., "Outdated and Unreliable: FEMA's Faulty Flood Maps Put Homeowners at Risk," *Bloomberg*, October 6, 2017, https://www.bloomberg.com/graphics/2017-fema-faulty-flood-maps/.
- ²⁵ Palbicke Garces et al., "Health and Sea Level Rise: Impacts on South Florida."
- ²⁶ Johnson, "County Water Agency Officials Call for Rapid Response to Worsening Salinas Valley Seawater Intrusion."
- ²⁷ Washington State Department of Ecology, "Seawater Intrusion in Washington: What Does It Mean to Us?" (Washington State Department of Ecology, March 1, 2003), <u>https://fortress.wa.gov/ecy/publications/publications/0211018.pdf</u>.
- ²⁸ Tina Barisky, "A Public Engagement Toolkit for Sea Level Rise" (Sustainability Group, City of Vancouver, July 2015), <u>https://sustain.ubc.ca/sites/sustain.ubc.ca/files/GCS/2015%20Project%20Reports/A%20Public%20Engagement%20Toolkit%20for%20Sea%20Level%20Rise%20-%20GC%20 Scholars%202015.pdf.</u>
- ²⁹ "City of Folly Beach, South Carolina, Sea Level Rise Adaptation Report" (City of Folly Beach, 2017), <u>http://www.cityoffollybeach.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/Folly-Beach-Sea-Level-Rise-Adaptation-Report_FINAL.pdf</u>.
- ³⁰ San Francisco Department of Public Health, "San Francisco's Climate and Health Adaptation Framework 2017" (San Francisco Department of Public Health, 2017), <u>https://extxfer.sfdph.org/gis/ClimateHealth/Reports % 20and % 20Research/SFDPH_ClimateHealthAdaptFramework2017a.pdf</u>.

Storms and Flooding

- ¹ USGCRP, "Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I."
- ² USGCRP.
- ³ USGCRP.
- ⁴ Angeline G. Pendergrass et al., "Precipitation Variability Increases in a Warmer Climate," *Scientific Reports* 7, no. 1 (December 2017), https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-17966-y.
- ⁵ Nishant Kishore et al., "Mortality in Puerto Rico after Hurricane Maria," New England Journal of Medicine, May 29, 2018, <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/</u> NEJMsa1803972.
- ⁶ Josh Michaud and Jennifer Kates, "Public Health in Puerto Rico after Hurricane Maria," *The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation* (blog), November 17, 2017, <u>https://www.kff.org/other/issue-brief/public-health-in-puerto-rico-after-hurricane-maria/</u>.
- ⁷ Kishore et al., "Mortality in Puerto Rico after Hurricane Maria."
- ⁸ Bell, J.E., S.C. Herring, L. Jantarasami, C. Adrianopoli, K. Benedict, K. Conlon, V. Escobar, J. Hess, J. Luvall, C.P. Garcia-Pando, D. Quattrochi, J. Runkle, and C.J. Schreck, III, 2016: Ch. 4: Impacts of Extreme Events on Human Health. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 99–128.
- ⁹ Michaud and Kates, "Public Health in Puerto Rico after Hurricane Maria."
- ¹⁰ Frances Robles and Jess Bidgood, "Three Months After Maria, Roughly Half of Puerto Ricans Still Without Power," *New York Times*, December 29, 2017, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2017/12/29/us/puerto-rico-power-outage.html</u>; Michaud and Kates, "Public Health in Puerto Rico after Hurricane Maria."
- ¹¹ Michaud and Kates, "Public Health in Puerto Rico after Hurricane Maria."
- ¹² Michaud and Kates.
- ¹³ CDC, "Mold After a Disaster," October 11, 2017.
- ¹⁴ Washington State Department of Health. (2012). Infectious risks after floods. Available at <u>http://www.doh.wa.gov/portals/1/documents/5100/420-002-epitrends2012-11.pdf</u>
- ¹⁵ Nasci RS, Moore CG. (1998) Vector-borne Disease Surveillance and Natural Disasters. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 4(2). Available from <u>http://wwwnc.cdc.</u> gov/eid/article/4/2/98-0227
- ¹⁶ Sara Reardon, "Puerto Rico Struggles to Assess Hurricane's Health Effects," *Nature*, November 24, 2017, <u>https://www.nature.com/news/puerto-rico-struggles-to-assess-hurricane-s-health-effects-1.22973</u>.
- ¹⁷ Rebecca Renner, "The Deadliest Period of a Hurricane? After It's over.," *Washington Post*, September 12, 2017, Perspective edition, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/posteverything/wp/2017/09/12/the-deadliest-time-during-a-hurricane-after-its-over/?utm_term = .53e2408a7a8a.</u>
- ¹⁸ Jasmine C. Lee, Jennifer Medina, and Alicia Parlapiano, "Identifying the Causes of the California Mudslides," *New York Times*, January 16, 2018, https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2018/01/16/us/map-california-mudslides.html.

- ¹⁹ Amy L. Fairchild, James Colgrove, and Marian Moser Jones, "The Challenge Of Mandatory Evacuation: Providing For And Deciding For," *Health Affairs* 25, no. 4 (July 1, 2006): 958–67, https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.25.4.958.
- ²⁰ Baussan, D. (2015, August 18). When you can't go home: The Guld Coast 10 years after Katrina. Center for American Progress. Available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/green/report/2015/08/18/119511/when-you-cant-go-home/
- ²¹ Veronica Rocha and Paige St. John, "Evacuations Lifted for Communities below Oroville Dam," LA Times, February 14, 2017, <u>http://www.latimes.</u> com/local/california/la-live-updates-oroville-dam-evacuations-lifted-for-some-communities-1487108990-htmlstory.html.
- ²² Dodgen, D., D. Donato, N. Kelly, A. La Greca, J. Morganstein, J. Reser, J. Ruzek, S. Schweitzer, M.M. Shimamoto, K. Thigpen Tart, and R. Ursano, 2016: Ch. 8: Mental Health and Well-Being. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 217–246.
- ²³ Kessler, R.C., Galea, S., Gruber, M.J., Sampson, N.A., Ursano, R.J., Wessely, S. (200). Trends in menal illness and suicidality after Hurrican Katrina. *Mol Psychiatry*, 13(4), 374-384. Available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18180768?ordinalpos=1&itool=EntrezSystem2. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18180768?ordinalpos=1&itool=EntrezSystem2. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18180768?ordinalpos=1&itool=EntrezSystem2. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18180768?ordinalpos=1&itool=EntrezSystem2. Ptite:trezSystem2. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18180768?ordinalpos=1&itool=EntrezSystem2. Ptite:trezSystem2. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18180768?ordinalpos=1&itool=EntrezSystem2. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18180768? http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18180768? Ptite:trezSystem2. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18180768?
- ²⁴ Dodgen, D., D. Donato, N. Kelly, A. La Greca, J. Morganstein, J. Reser, J. Ruzek, S. Schweitzer, M.M. Shimamoto, K. Thigpen Tart, and R. Ursano, 2016: Ch. 8: Mental Health and Well-Being. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 217–246.
- ²⁵ Lowe, S.R. & Rhodes, J.E. (2013). Trajectories of psychological distress among low-income, female survivors of Hurricane Katrina. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 83(2), 398-412. Available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3999519/
- ²⁶ Morello-Frosh, R., Pastor, M., Sadd, J., Shonkoff, S. (n.d.) *The climate gap: Inequalities in how climate change hurts Americans & how to close the gap.* Available at: University of California Program for Environmental and Regional Equity website: <u>https://dornsife.usc.edu/pere/climategap/</u>
- ²⁷ Samantha Raphelson, "In Houston, Thousands Remain Displaced As Harvey Recovery Continues," NPR, December 28, 2017, https://www.npr.org/2017/12/28/574166438/in-houston-thousands-remain-displaced-as-harvey-recovery-continues.
- ²⁸ Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate change 2001: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2001.391-431
- ²⁹ Wilson and Tiefenbacher, "The Barriers Impeding Precautionary Behaviours by Undocumented Immigrants in Emergencies: The Hurricane Ike Experience in Houston, Texas, USA."
- ³⁰ American Heart Association News, "What Katrina Can Teach Us about Disrupted Cardiac Care after Hurricane Harvey," *American Heart Association News* (blog), September 1, 2017, <u>https://news.heart.org/what-katrina-can-teach-us-about-disrupted-cardiac-care-after-hurricane-harvey/</u>.
- ³¹ Arrieta, M.I., Foreman, R.D., Crook, E.D., & Icenogle, M.L., (2009). Providing continuity of care for chronic diseases in the aftermath of Katrina: from field experience to policy recommendations. *Disaster Med Public Health Prep*, 3(3): 174-182. Available at <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/</u> <u>articles/PMC3901308/</u>
- ³² EPA, "Climate Change and the Health of People with Disabilities" (US EPA, May 2016), <u>https://www.apha.org/~/media/files/pdf/topics/climate/epa_disabilities_health_climate_change.ashx</u>.
- 33 EPA.
- ³⁴ EPA.
- ³⁵ American Heart Association News, "What Katrina Can Teach Us about Disrupted Cardiac Care after Hurricane Harvey."
- ³⁶ Jean Rhodes et al., "The Impact of Hurricane Katrina on the Mental and Physical Health of Low-Income Parents in New Orleans.," *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 80, no. 2 (2010): 237–47, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-0025.2010.01027.x.
- ³⁷ Elizabeth Fussell, Narayan Sastry, and Mark VanLandingham, "Race, Socioeconomic Status, and Return Migration to New Orleans after Hurricane Katrina," *Population and Environment* 31, no. 1–3 (January 2010): 20–42, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11111-009-0092-2</u>.
- ³⁸ EPA, "Climate Change and the Health of People with Disabilities."
- ³⁹ Mallett Lea H. and Etzel Ruth A., "Flooding: What Is the Impact on Pregnancy and Child Health?," *Disasters* 0, no. 0 (October 23, 2017), https://doi.org/10.1111/disa.12256.
- ⁴⁰ UNDP, "Gender and Disaster Risk Reduction" (United Nations Development Programme, 2013), <u>http://www.undp.org/content/dam/undp/library/gender/Gender%20and%20Environment/PB3-AP-Gender-and-disaster-risk-reduction.pdf</u>.
- ⁴¹ Lisa Rygel, David O'sullivan, and Brent Yarnal, "A Method for Constructing a Social Vulnerability Index: An Application to Hurricane Storm Surges in a Developed Country," *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change* 11, no. 3 (May 2006): 741–64, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-006-0265-6</u>.

- ⁴² FEMA, "FEMA Flood Map Service Center: Search By Address."
- ⁴³ Ford Fessenden et al., "Water Damage From Hurricane Harvey Extended Far Beyond Flood Zones," *New York Times*, September 1, 2017, https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2017/09/01/us/houston-damaged-buildings-in-fema-flood-zones.html.
- ⁴⁴ San Francisco Department of Public Health, "San Francisco's Climate and Health Adaptation Framework 2017."
- ⁴⁵ San Francisco Department of Public Health.
- ⁴⁶ Jeanne S. Ringel et al., "Lessons Learned from the State and Local Public Health Response to Hurricane Katrina" (Gulf States Policy Institute and Rand Health, February 2007), <u>https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/working_papers/2007/RAND_WR473.pdf</u>.
- ⁴⁷ Fairchild, Colgrove, and Jones, "The Challenge Of Mandatory Evacuation: Providing For And Deciding For."
- ⁴⁸ CDC, "Landslides and Mudslides," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, January 12, 2018, https://www.cdc.gov/disasters/landslides.html.
- ⁴⁹ San Francisco Department of Public Health, "San Francisco's Climate and Health Adaptation Framework 2017."
- ⁵⁰ Stone, Cascio, and Lahm, "Wildifre Smoke: A Guide for Public Health Officials."
- ⁵¹ Sonoma County, "Fire: Health Concerns and Resources."
- ⁵² Robin Guenther and John Balbus, "Primary Protection: Enhancing Health Care Resilience for a Changing Climate" (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, December 2014), <u>https://toolkit.climate.gov/sites/default/files/SCRHCFI%20Best%20Practices%20Report%20final2%20</u> 2014%20Web.pdf.
- ⁵³ Myra A. Kleinpeter, "Disaster Preparedness for Dialysis Patients," *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 6, no. 10 (October 1, 2011): 2337–39, <u>https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.08690811</u>.
- ⁵⁴ Jocelyn Turner, "Health Officials Provide Flood Safety Tips Due to Coastal Flood Advisory" (Florida Department of Health in Duval County, October 9, 2015), <u>http://duval.floridahealth.gov/_files/_documents/10-9-15-flood-advisory.pdf</u>.
- ⁵⁵ FEMA, "Flood After Fire: The Increased Risk," FEMA, November 14, 2017, <u>https://www.fema.gov/news-release/2017/11/14/4344/flood-after-fire-increased-risk</u>.
- ⁵⁶ San Francisco Department of Public Health, "San Francisco's Climate and Health Adaptation Framework 2017."
- ⁵⁷ CDC, "Reentering Your Flooded Home," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, September 14, 2017, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/disasters/mold/</u> reenter.html.
- ⁵⁸ CDC, "Mold After a Disaster," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, October 11, 2017, https://www.cdc.gov/disasters/mold/index.html.

Nutrition and Food Security

- ¹ U.S. Global Change Research Program, "Glossary," U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2014, <u>https://www.globalchange.gov/climate-change/glossary#top</u>.
- ² Ziska, L., A. Crimmins, A. Alair, S. DeGrasse, J.F. Garofalo, A.S. Khan, I. Loladze, A.A. Pérez de León, A. Showler, J. Thurston, and I. Walls, 2016: Ch. 7: Food Safety, Nutrition, and Distribution. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 189–216.
- ³ Brown, M.E., J.M. Antle, P. Backlund, E.R. Carr, W.E. Easterling, M.K. Walsh, C. Ammann, W. Attavanich, C.B. Barrett, M.F.Bellemare, V. Dancheck, C. Funk, K. Grace, J.S.I. Ingram, H. Jiang, H. Maletta, T. Mata, A. Murray, M. Ngugi, D. Ojima, B.,O'Neill, and C. Tebaldi. 2015. Climate Change, Global Food Security, and the U.S. Food System. 146 pages. Available online at http://www.usda.gov/oce/climate_change/FoodSecurity2015Assessment.pdf.
- ⁴ Tapan Pathak et al., "Climate Change Trends and Impacts on California Agriculture: A Detailed Review," *Agronomy* 8, no. 3 (February 26, 2018): 25, https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy8030025.
- ⁵ David A Grantz and Anil Shrestha, "Ozone Reduces Crop Yields and Alters Competition with Weeds Such as Yellow Nutsedge," *California Agriculture* 59, no. 2 (April 1, 2005): 137–43.
- ⁶ Paul Vijay, V. Pandey, and Atar Singh, "Vulnerability of Trees and Fruit Crops to Climate Change.," in *Climate Change: Impacts and Adaptations in Crop Plants* (Tomorrow's Printer and Publishers, 2011), <u>https://doi.org/10.13140/rg.2.1.4816.5607</u>.
- ⁷ M. Melissa Rojas-Downing et al., "Climate Change and Livestock: Impacts, Adaptation, and Mitigation," *Climate Risk Management* 16 (2017): 145–63, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2017.02.001</u>.

- ⁸ USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment."
- ⁹ Ziska, L., A. Crimmins, A. Auclair, S. DeGrasse, J.F. Garofalo, A.S. Khan, I. Loladze, A.A. Pérez de León, A. Showler, J. Thurston, and I. Walls, 2016: Ch. 7: Food Safety, Nutrition, and Distribution. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 189–216.
- ¹⁰ USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment."
- ¹¹ Dangour, A., Green, R., Sutherland, J., Watson, L., & Wheeler, T.R. (2015). Health impacts related to food and nutrition security. In B.S. Levy & J.A. Patz (Eds.), *Climate change and public health* (pp. 173-194). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- ¹² S. Ahdoot, S. E. Pacheco, and THE COUNCIL ON ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH, "Global Climate Change and Children's Health," PEDIATRICS 136, no. 5 (November 1, 2015): e1468–84, <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2015-3233</u>.
- ¹³ EPA, "Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2016" (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, April 12, 2018), https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2018-01/documents/2018_complete_report.pdf.
- ¹⁴ Gilbert N. 2012. One-third of our greenhouse gas emissions come from agriculture. Available at <u>http://www.nature.com/news/one-third-of-our-greenhouse-gas-emissions-come-from-agriculture-1.11708</u>.
- ¹⁵ Natural Resources Defense Fund. 2007. Food miles: How far your food travels has serious consequences for your health and the climate. Available at https://food-hub.org/files/resources/Food%20Miles.pdf.
- ¹⁶ Yale School of Forestry & Environmental Studies, "Industrial Agriculture," Global Forest Atlas, Yale School of Forestry & Environmental Studies, November 14, 2015, <u>https://globalforestatlas.yale.edu/land-use/industrial-agriculture</u>.
- ¹⁷ Martin C. Heller and Gregory A. Keoleian, "Greenhouse Gas Emission Estimates of U.S. Dietary Choices and Food Loss: GHG Emissions of U.S. Dietary Choices and Food Loss," *Journal of Industrial Ecology* 19, no. 3 (June 2015): 391–401, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.12174</u>.
- ¹⁸ Savannah North et al., "Safe Surplus Food Donation Best Management Practices: Guidance for Environmental Health Departments" (Public Health Alliance of Southern California, Public Health Institute, Center for Climate Change and Health, California Conference of Directors of Environmental Health, January 2018), <u>https://www.ccdeh.com/resources/documents/training-1/2017-safe-surplus-food-donation-training/1711ccdeh-safe-surplus-food-donation-best-management-practices-guidance-for-environmental-health-departments/file.</u>
- ¹⁹ Emily Broad Leib et al., "Don't Waste, Donate: Enhancing Food Donations Through Federal Policy" (Harvard Food Law and Policy Clinic, NRDC, March 2017), <u>https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/dont-waste-donate-report.pdf</u>.
- ²⁰ EPA, "Turning Food Waste into Energy," 2016, <u>https://www3.epa.gov/region9/waste/features/foodtoenergy/</u>.
- ²¹ Linda Rudolph and Catherine Harrison, "A Physician's Guide to Climate Change, Health and Equity" (Center for Climate Change and Health, Public Health Institute, 2016), <u>http://climatehealthconnect.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/FullGuideTEMP.pdf</u>.
- ²² Food Security Status of U.S. Households in 2014. Available at: <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-us/key-statistics-graphics.aspx</u>
- ²³ Craig Gundersen and James P. Ziliak, "Food Insecurity And Health Outcomes," *Health Affairs* 34, no. 11 (November 1, 2015): 1830–39, https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0645.
- ²⁴ CDC, "Obesity and Overweight," CDC National Center for Health Statistics, May 3, 2017, https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/obesity-overweight.htm.
- ²⁵ CDC, "Heart Disease Facts," CDC, November 28, 2017, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/heartdisease/facts.htm</u>.
- ²⁶ CDC, "New CDC Report: More than 100 Million Americans Have Diabetes or Prediabetes," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, July 18, 2017, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2017/p0718-diabetes-report.html</u>.
- ²⁷ Center for a Livable Future, Johns Hopkins, "Health & Environmental Implications of U.S. Meat Consumption & Production," Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health Center for a Livable Future, 2013, <u>https://www.jhsph.edu/research/centers-and-institutes/johns-hopkins-center-for-a-livable-future/projects/meatless_monday/resources/meat_consumption.html</u>.
- ²⁸ Seligman, H.K., Laraia, B.A., and Kushel, M.B. (2010). Food insecurity is associated with chronic disease among low-income NHANES participants. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 140(2), 304-310.
- ²⁹ Michele Ver Ploeg and Ryan Williams, "Mapping Food Deserts in the United States," United States Department of Agriculture (blog), December 1, 2011, <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/amber-waves/2011/december/data-feature-mapping-food-deserts-in-the-us/</u>.
- ³⁰ USDA, "Key Statistics & Graphics," US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service, October 4, 2017, <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-us/key-statistics-graphics.aspx</u>.
- ³¹ Hernandez, Gabbard, and Carroll, "Findings from the National Agricultural Workers Survey (NAWS) 2013–2014: A Demographic and Employment Profile of United States Farmworkers."
- ³² Gamble, J.L., J. Balbus, M. Berger, K. Bouye, V. Campbell, K. Chief, K. Conlon, A. Crimmins, B. Flanagan, C. Gonzalez-Maddux, E. Hallisey, S. Hutchins, L. Jantarasami, S. Khoury, M. Kiefer, J. Kolling, K. Lynn, A. Manangan, M. McDonald, R. Morello-Frosch, M.H. Redsteer, P. Sheffield, K. Thigpen Tart, J. Watson, K.P. Whyte, and A.F. Wolkin, 2016: Ch. 9: Populations of Concern. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 247–286. Food Security Status of U.S. Households in 2014. Available at: http://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-us/key-statistics-graphics.aspx
- ³³ Eliot Barford, "Crop Pests Advancing with Global Warming," Nature, September 1, 2013, <u>https://www.nature.com/news/crop-pests-advancing-with-global-warming-1.13644</u>.
- ³⁴ Fabiana B. Nerbass et al., "Occupational Heat Stress and Kidney Health: From Farms to Factories," *Kidney International Reports* 2, no. 6 (November 2017): 998–1008, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ekir.2017.08.012</u>.
- ³⁵ U.S. Global Change Research Program (2009-), The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States.
- ³⁶ "Office of Farm to Fork Strategic Plan" (CDFA, Division of Inspection Services, 2015), http://cafarmtofork.com/F2F%20Strategic%20Plan.pdf.
- ³⁷ Savannah North et al., "Safe Surplus Food Donation Best Management Practices: Guidance for Environmental Health Departments" (Public Health Alliance of Southern California, Public Health Institute, Center for Climate Change and Health, California Conference of Directors of Environmental Health, January 2018), <u>https://www.ccdeh.com/resources/documents/training-1/2017-safe-surplus-food-donation-training/1711ccdeh-safe-surplus-food-donation-best-management-practices-guidance-for-environmental-health-departments/file.</u>
- ³⁸ Savannah North et al., "Safe Surplus Food Donation Toolkit: Guidance for Food Facilities" (Public Health Alliance of Southern California, Public Health Institute, Center for Climate Change and Health, California Conference of Directors of Environmental Health, January 2018), http://phasocal.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Safe-Surplus-Food-Donation-Toolkit Version-2 Jan-2018.pdf.
- ³⁹ "Save the Food," Natural Resources Defense Council, 2018, <u>https://www.nrdc.org/content/save-food</u>.

Transportation

- ¹ George Luber and Jay Lemery, eds., Global Climate Change and Human Health: From Science to Practice (San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2015).
- ² EPA, "Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2016" (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, April 12, 2018), https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2018-01/documents/2018_complete_report.pdf.
- ³ EPA.
- ⁴ EPA.
- ⁵ CDC, "Physical Inactivity," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Gateway to Health Communication & Social Marketing Practice, September 15, 2017, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthcommunication/toolstemplates/entertainmented/tips/PhysicalInactivity.html</u>.
- ⁶ R. D. Brook, "Air Pollution and Cardiovascular Disease: A Statement for Healthcare Professionals From the Expert Panel on Population and Prevention Science of the American Heart Association," *Circulation* 109, no. 21 (June 1, 2004): 2655–71, <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/01.</u> <u>CIR.0000128587.30041.C8</u>.
- ⁷ CDC, "Key Injury and Violence Data," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Injury Prevention and Control, 2016, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/injury/wisqars/overview/key_data.html</u>.
- ⁸ Nick Paumgarten, "There and Back Again," *The New Yorker*, April 16, 2007, <u>https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2007/04/16/there-and-back-again</u>.
- ⁹ EPA, "Reduce Urban Heat Island Effect," United States Environmental Protection Agency, December 12, 2017, <u>https://www.epa.gov/green-infrastructure/reduce-urban-heat-island-effect</u>.
- ¹⁰ Mike Maciag, "America's Poor Neighborhoods Plagued by Pedestrian Deaths" (Washington, D.C.: Governing, 2014), <u>http://media.navigatored.</u> <u>com/documents/Governing_Pedestrian_Fatalities_Report.pdf</u>.
- ¹¹ CDC, "Key Injury and Violence Data."
- ¹² Maciag, "America's Poor Neighborhoods Plagued by Pedestrian Deaths."
- ¹³ CDC, "Key Injury and Violence Data."
- ¹⁴ Tami Luhby, "It's Expensive to Be Poor," CNN Money, April 24, 2015, <u>http://money.cnn.com/2015/04/23/news/economy/poor-spending/index.html</u>.
- ¹⁵ Smart Growth America. Unknown. Complete Streets and High Gas Prices. Available at: <u>http://www.smartgrowthamerica.org/complete-streets/</u> <u>complete-streets-fundamentals/factsheets/gas-prices</u>

- ¹⁶ U.S. Department of Transportation, "Traffic Safety Facts" (U.S. Department of Transportation, National Highway Safety Administration, October 2017), <u>https://crashstats.nhtsa.dot.gov/Api/Public/ViewPublication/812376</u>.
- ¹⁷ U.S. Department of Transportation, "Complete Streets," U.S. Department of Transportation, October 26, 2015, <u>https://www.transportation.gov/mission/health/complete-streets</u>.
- ¹⁸ "Safe Routes to School National Partnership," Safe Routes to School National Partnership, 2018, https://www.saferoutespartnership.org/.
- ¹⁹ Los Angeles Department of Public Health, "The Potential Costs and Benefits of Providing Free Public Transportation Passes to Students in Los Angeles County." (Los Angeles County Department of Public Health, 2013), <u>http://publichealth.lacounty.gov/plan/docs/HIA/12.16.2013Brief.pdf</u>.
- ²⁰ Charge Ahead. 2016. FAQ. Available at: <u>http://www.chargeahead.org/faq/#h3-1</u>
- ²¹ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2010. EPA Analysis of the Transportation Sector: Greenhouse Gas and Oil Reduction Scenarios. Available at: https://www3.epa.gov/otaq/climate/GHGtransportation-analysis03-18-2010.pdf
- ²² Coral Davenport, "E.P.A. Takes a Major Step to Roll Back Clean Car Rules," *New York Times*, May 31, 2018, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2018/05/31/climate/epa-car-pollution-rollback.html</u>.
- ²³ CDC, "DNPAO State Program Highlights: Active Transport to School" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Division of Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Obesity, 2007), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/downloads/ActiveTransporttoSchool.pdf</u>.
- ²⁴ Jim Sallis, "Auditing the Pedestrian Environment: A Brief Tool for Practitioners & Community Members," Active Living Research: Move! (blog), September 2, 2015, <u>https://activelivingresearch.org/blog/2015/09/auditing-pedestrian-environment-brief-tool-practitioners-community-members</u>.
- ²⁵ CDC, "HIA Stories from the Field: Clackamas County Oregon Health Authority," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, May 27, 2015, https://www.cdc.gov/healthyplaces/stories/clackamas_county.htm.
- ²⁶ Neil Maizlish et al., "Health Cobenefits and Transportation-Related Reductions in Greenhouse Gas Emissions in the San Francisco Bay Area," *American Journal of Public Health* 103, no. 4 (April 2013): 703–9, <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2012.300939</u>.
- ²⁷ Dennis Stefani and Asish Mohapatra, "Public Health Implications of Traffic Density and Vehicle Idling on Air Quality" (Environmental Health, Calgary Health Region, July 2003), <u>http://oee.nrcan.gc.ca/transportation/idling/material/reports-research/idling-health-effects.cfm</u>.
- ²⁸ Jianling Li, Colleen Casey, and Lou K. Brewer, "Exploring Opportunities for Engaging Public Health Organizations in Transportation Planning," *Public Works Management & Policy* 20, no. 3 (February 4, 2015): 201–25, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1087724X14559520</u>.
- ²⁹ Christine Godward Green and Elizabeth G Klein, "Promoting Active Transportation as a Partnership Between Urban Planning and Public Health: The Columbus Healthy Places Program," *Public Health Reports* 126, no. Suppl 1 (2011): 41–49.
- ³⁰ City of Alexandria, Virginia, "Vision Zero," City of Alexandria, Virginia, April 23, 2018, <u>https://www.alexandriava.gov/VisionZero</u>.
- ³¹ National Recreation and Park Association, "Parks Build Healthy Communities: Success Stories" (National Recreation and Park Association, n.d.), https://www.nrpa.org/contentassets/f768428a39aa4035ae55b2aaff372617/healthy-communities-success-stories.pdf.
- ³² Causa Justa :: Just Cause, "Development without Displacement: Resisting Gentrification in the Bay Area" (Causa Justa :: Just Cause, 2014), http://www.acphd.org/media/341554/development-without-displacement.pdf.
- ³³ Seattle Office of Sustainability. 2014. Removing Barriers to Electric Vehicle Adoption by Increasing Access to Charging Infrastructure. Available at: http://www.seattle.gov/Documents/Departments/OSE/FINAL%20REPORT_Removing%20Barriers%20to%20EV%20Adoption_TO%20POST.pdf
- ³⁴ "Active Living & Active Transportation," Spokane Regional Health District, 2018, <u>https://srhd.org/programs-and-services/active-living-active-transportation</u>.
- ³⁵ CDC, "DNPAO State Program Highlights: Active Transport to School."
- ³⁶ http://www.policylink.org/find-resources/library/healthy-equitable-transportation-policy-recommendations-and-research
- ³⁷ http://www.changelabsolutions.org/publications/getting-involved-transportation-planning
- ³⁸ https://www.apha.org/~/media/files/pdf/factsheets/at_the_intersection_public_health_and_transportation.ashx
- ³⁹ <u>https://www.apha.org/topics-and-issues/transportation</u>
- ⁴⁰ <u>https://www.transportation.gov/transportation-health-tool</u>
- ⁴¹ https://www.apha.org/topics-and-issues/transportation/active-transportation
- ⁴² <u>http://usclimateandhealthalliance.org/uscha-state-policy-initiative/transportation/</u>

Energy

- ¹ EPA, "Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990–2016."
- ² U.S. Department of Energy, "Fossil," U.S. Department of Energy, n.d., <u>https://www.energy.gov/science-innovation/energy-sources/fossil</u>.
- ³ U.S. Energy Information Administration, "What Is U.S. Electricity Generation by Energy Source?," U.S. Energy Information Administration, March 7, 2018, <u>https://www.eia.gov/tools/fags/fag.php?id = 427&t = 3</u>.
- ⁴ Jay Apt, "The Other Reason to Shift Away from Coal: Air Pollution That Kills Thousands Every Year," *Scientific American*, June 7, 2017, https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/the-other-reason-to-shift-away-from-coal-air-pollution-that-kills-thousands-every-year/.
- ⁵ U.S. Energy Information Administration, "How Much of U.S. Carbon Dioxide Emissions Are Associated with Electricity Generation?," U.S. Energy Information Administration, March 10, 2017, <u>https://www.eia.gov/tools/faqs/faq.php?id = 77&t = 11</u>.
- ⁶ U.S. Energy Information Administration, "What Is U.S. Electricity Generation by Energy Source?"
- ⁷ EPA, "Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2014" (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, April 15, 2016), https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-04/documents/us-ghg-inventory-2016-main-text.pdf.
- ⁸ EPA.
- 9 EPA.
- ¹⁰ EPA.
- ¹¹ <u>https://keck.usc.edu/usc-researchers-to-study-long-term-health-effects-of-porter-ranch-gas-leak/</u>
- ¹² U.S. Department of Energy, "Fossil."
- ¹³ A. R. Brandt et al., "Methane Leaks from North American Natural Gas Systems," Science 343, no. 6172 (February 14, 2014): 733–35, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1247045.
- ¹⁴ Anthony J McMichael et al., "Food, Livestock Production, Energy, Climate Change, and Health," *The Lancet* 370, no. 9594 (October 6, 2007): 1253–63, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61256-2</u>.
- ¹⁵ Andrew Greenspon, "Natural Gas Pipeline Leaks and Emissions," March 18, 2015, <u>http://hejc.environment.harvard.edu/files/hejc/files/hejc_natural gas leaks.pdf?m = 1454104074</u>.
- ¹⁶ <u>http://publichealth.lacounty.gov/eh/docs/AlisoCanyon.pdf</u>
- ¹⁷ Ryan Wiser et al., "A Retrospective Analysis of the Benefits and Impacts of US Renewable Portfolio Standards," *Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, National Renewable Energy Laboratory*, 2016, <u>http://climate-xchange.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Renewable-Energy-Standards-Study.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁸ Yale School of Forestry & Environmental Studies, "Mining & Extraction," Global Forest Atlas, n.d., <u>https://globalforestatlas.yale.edu/land-use/mining-extraction</u>.
- ¹⁹ Union of Concerned Scientists, "Tropical Deforestation and Global Warming," Union of Concerned Scientists, 2017, <u>https://www.ucsusa.org/global-warming/solutions/stop-deforestation/tropical-deforestation-and-1.html#.WoYaRJM-faZ</u>.
- ²⁰ Christophe McGlade and Paul Ekins, "The Geographical Distribution of Fossil Fuels Unused When Limiting Global Warming to 2°C," Nature 517 (January 7, 2015): 187.
- ²¹ Thomas Gibon et al., "Health Benefits, Ecological Threats of Low-Carbon Electricity," *Environmental Research Letters* 12, no. 3 (March 1, 2017): 034023, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aa6047</u>.
- ²² Wiser et al., "A Retrospective Analysis of the Benefits and Impacts of US Renewable Portfolio Standards."
- ²³ Jennifer S. Harkness, Barry Sulkin, and Avner Vengosh, "Evidence for Coal Ash Ponds Leaking in the Southeastern United States," *Environmental Science & Technology* 50, no. 12 (June 21, 2016): 6583–92, <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b01727</u>.
- ²⁴ Ben Nandy, "Coal Mine in Violation for Contributing to Three Mudslides in Lincoln County, WV," WOWK, April 30, 2015, <u>http://www.wowktv.com/archives/coal-mine-in-violation-for-contributing-to-three-mudslides-in-lincoln-county-wv/865368239</u>.
- ²⁵ "Coal Mine Dust Exposures and Associated Health Outcomes: A Review of Information Published Since 1995," Current Intelligence Bulletin (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, April 2011), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2011-172/pdfs/2011-172.pdf</u>.
- ²⁶ Blackley DJ et al., "Progressive Massive Fibrosis in Coal Miners from 3 Clinics in Virginia," JAMA 319, no. 5 (February 6, 2018): 500–501, https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.18444.

- ²⁷ Akshaya Jha, "Even When It's Sitting in Storage, Coal Threatens Human Health," *The Conversation*, September 13, 2017, <u>http://theconversation.com/even-when-its-sitting-in-storage-coal-threatens-human-health-80865</u>.
- ²⁸ George Thurston and Morton Lippmann, "Ambient Particulate Matter Air Pollution and Cardiopulmonary Diseases," Seminars in Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 36, no. 03 (May 29, 2015): 422–32, https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0035-1549455.
- ²⁹ TF Bateson and J Schwartz, "Children's Response to Air Pollutants," Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health 71, no. 3 (2008): 238–43.
- ³⁰ Leonardo Trasande and George D. Thurston, "The Role of Air Pollution in Asthma and Other Pediatric Morbidities," Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 115, no. 4 (April 2005): 689–99, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2005.01.056</u>.
- ³¹ C. Arden Pope III, "Lung Cancer, Cardiopulmonary Mortality, and Long-Term Exposure to Fine Particulate Air Pollution," *JAMA* 287, no. 9 (March 6, 2002): 1132, <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.287.9.1132</u>.
- ³² Apt, "The Other Reason to Shift Away from Coal: Air Pollution That Kills Thousands Every Year."
- ³³ Sierra Club. Unknown. Toxic Mercury. Available at: <u>http://content.sierraclub.org/coal/burning-toxic-mercury</u>
- ³⁴ Luber and Lemery, *Global Climate Change and Human Health: From Science to Practice.*
- ³⁵ Wisconsin Department of Health Services, "Methane" (Wisconsin Department of Health Services, March 12, 2018), <u>https://www.dhs.wisconsin.</u> gov/chemical/methane.htm.
- ³⁶ <u>http://www.biologicaldiversity.org/campaigns/americas_dangerous_pipelines/</u>
- ³⁷ Ann Brody Guy, "CA's Underground Gas-Storage Facilities Pose Numerous Health Threats, Report Finds," *PSE Healthy Energy* (blog), January 18, 2018, https://www.psehealthyenergy.org/news/news-from-pse/health-hazards-from-underground-gas-storage-are-large-scale-and-also-routine-report-finds/.
- ³⁸ Alisa L. Rich and Helen T. Orimoloye, "Elevated Atmospheric Levels of Benzene and Benzene-Related Compounds from Unconventional Shale Extraction and Processing: Human Health Concern for Residential Communities," *Environmental Health Insights* 10 (January 2016): EHI.S33314, <u>https://doi.org/10.4137/EHI.S33314</u>.
- ³⁹ EPA, "EPA's Actions to Reduce Methane Emissions from the Oil and Natural Gas Industry: Final Rules and Draft Information Collection Request" (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, September 2016), <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-09/documents/nsps-overview-fs.pdf</u>.
- ⁴⁰ Howarth, D. 2015. Methane emissions and climatic warming risk from hydraulic fracturing and shale gas development: implications for policy. Energy and Emission Control Technologies. Vol 3.pp 45–54.
- ⁴¹ NIEHS, "Hydraulic Fracturing & Health," National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, May 4, 2018, <u>https://www.niehs.nih.gov/health/topics/agents/fracking/index.cfm</u>.
- ⁴² Howarth, D. 2015. Methane emissions and climatic warming risk from hydraulic fracturing and shale gas development: implications for policy. Energy and Emission Control Technologies. Vol 3.pp 45–54.
- ⁴² APHA, "The Environmental and Occupational Health Impacts of High-Volume Hydraulic Fracturing of Unconventional Gas Reserves," Policy Statement (American Public Health Association, October 30, 2012).
- ⁴³ Michael Mishak, "Oil Worker's Death Renews Debate on Safety of Extraction Method," Los Angeles Times, April 14, 2012, <u>http://articles.latimes.com/2012/apr/14/local/la-me-oil-death-20120412</u>.
- ⁴⁴ Concerned Health Professionals of NY, "The Compendium of Scientific, Medical, and Media Findings Demonstrating Risks and Harms of Fracking" (Concerned Health Professionals of NY, Physicians for Social Responsibility, March 2018), <u>http://concernedhealthny.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Fracking_Science_Compendium_5FINAL.pdf</u>.
- ⁴⁵ Center for Biological Diversity, "Oil Stain: How Dirty Crude Undercuts California's Climate Progress" (Center for Biological Diversity, November 2017).
- ⁴⁶ Janet Currie, Michael Greenstone, and Katherine Meckel, "Hydraulic Fracturing and Infant Health: New Evidence from Pennsylvania," Science Advances 3, no. 12 (December 2017): e1603021, https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1603021.
- ⁴⁷ "The Localized Health Impacts of Fossil Fuels: From Extraction to Combustion, Fossil Fuel Operations Put Human Health at Serious Risk" (Climate Nexus, 2017), <u>https://climatenexus.org/climate-issues/health/the-localized-health-impacts-of-fossil-fuels/</u>.
- ⁴⁸ Lesley Fleischman and Marcus Franklin, "Fumes Across the Fence-Line: The Health Impacts of Air Pollution from Oil & Gas Facilities on African American Communities" (National Association for the Advancement of Colored People, Clean Air Task Force, November 2017), <u>www.naacp.org/</u> <u>climate-justice-resources/fumes-across-the-fence-line</u>.
- ⁴⁹ National Cancer Institute, "Accidents at Nuclear Power Plants and Cancer Risk," National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute, 2011, <u>https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/causes-prevention/risk/radiation/nuclear-accidents-fact-sheet#q2</u>.

- ⁵⁰ National Research Council, Health Risks from Exposure to Low Levels of Ionizing Radiation: BEIR VII Phase 2 (Washington, D.C.: National Research Council of the National Academies, 2006), <u>http://nap.edu/11340</u>.
- ⁵¹ Laura Buckley, Linda Rudolph, and Neil Maizlish, "Public Health Research Roadmap on Emerging Electricity Systems," n.d., <u>http://www.energy.</u> ca.gov/2017publications/CEC-500-2017-035/CEC-500-2017-035.pdf.
- ⁵² Edgar G. Hertwich, Jacqueline Aloisi de Larderel, and Sangwon Suh, "Green Energy Choices: The Benefits, Risks, and Trade-Offs of Low-Carbon Technologies for Electricity Production" (United Nations Environmental Programme, 2016), <u>http://www.unep.org/resourcepanel/Portals/50244/</u> publications/Summary_for_Policy_Makers_GHG_Lpdf.
- ⁵³ Wiser et al., "A Retrospective Analysis of the Benefits and Impacts of US Renewable Portfolio Standards."
- ⁵⁴ Dustin Mulvaney, "Opening the Black Box of Solar Energy Technologies: Exploring Tensions Between Innovation and Environmental Justice," Science as Culture 22, no. 2 (June 2013): 230–37, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09505431.2013.786995</u>.
- ⁵⁵ Vasilis M. Fthenakis, Hyung Chul Kim, and Erik Alsema, "Emissions from Photovoltaic Life Cycles," *Environmental Science & Technology* 42, no. 6 (March 2008): 2168–74, <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/es071763q</u>.
- ⁵⁶ Jeffrey M. Ellenbogen et al., "Wind Turbine Health Impact Study: Report of Independent Expert Panel," January 2012, <u>http://www.mass.gov/eea/</u> <u>docs/dep/energy/wind/turbine-impact-study.pdf</u>.
- ⁵⁷ Annette Rohr et al., "Potential Occupational Exposures and Health Risks Associated with Biomass-Based Power Generation," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 12, no. 7 (July 22, 2015): 8542–8605, https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120708542.
- ⁵⁸ Robert B. Williams et al., "Evaluating the Air Quality, Climate & Economic Impacts of Biogas Management Technologies" (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, September 2016).
- ⁵⁹ Rohr et al., "Potential Occupational Exposures and Health Risks Associated with Biomass-Based Power Generation."
- ⁶⁰ L.R. Anspaugh and J.L. Hahn, "Human Health Implications of Geothermal Energy" (Health implications of the new energy technologies, Park City, Utah, 1979), <u>https://www.osti.gov/geothermal/servlets/purl/5946550</u>.
- ⁶¹ Anspaugh and Hahn.
- ⁶² D. Larcher and J-M. Tarascon, "Towards Greener and More Sustainable Batteries for Electrical Energy Storage," *Nature Chemistry* 7, no. 1 (November 17, 2014): 19–29, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nchem.2085</u>.
- ⁶³ Betony Jones, Peter Philips, and Carol Zabin, "The Link Between Good Jobs and a Low Carbon Future: Evidence from California's Renewables Portfolio Standard, 2002–2015" (DONALD VIAL CENTER ON EMPLOYMENT IN THE GREEN ECONOMY Center for Labor Research and Education University of California, Berkeley, July 2016), <u>http://laborcenter.berkeley.edu/pdf/2016/Link-Between-Good-Jobs-and-a-Low-Carbon-Future.pdf</u>.
- ⁶⁴ Mary Finley-Brook and Erica Holloman, "Empowering Energy Justice," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 13, no. 9 (September 21, 2016): 926, https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13090926.
- ⁶⁵ Brett Israel, "Coal Plants Smother Communities of Color," *Scientific American*, November 16, 2012, <u>https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/coal-plants-smother-communities-of-color/</u>.
- ⁶⁶ Diane Toomey, "Coal Pollution and the Fight For Environmental Justice," *Yale Environment 360*, June 19, 2013, <u>https://e360.yale.edu/features/</u> naacp_jacqueline_patterson_coal_pollution_and_fight_for_environmental_justice.
- ⁶⁷ Fleischman and Franklin, "Fumes Across the Fence-Line: The Health Impacts of Air Pollution from Oil & Gas Facilities on African American Communities."
- 68 Energy UK, "Fuel Poverty," Energy UK, 2013, https://www.energy-uk.org.uk/policy/fuel-poverty.html.
- ⁶⁹ WHO, "Household Air Pollution and Health," World Health Organization, February 15, 2018, <u>http://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/household-air-pollution-and-health</u>.
- 70 WHO.
- ⁷¹ U.S. Energy Information Administration, "Air Conditioning in Nearly 100 Million Homes," U.S. Energy Information Administration, 2011, https://www.eia.gov/consumption/residential/reports/2009/air-conditioning.php.
- 72 https://www.ituc-csi.org/just-transition-centre
- 73 http://www.labor4sustainability.org/post/a-just-transition/
- ⁷⁴ http://www.ibew.org/media-center/Articles/15Daily/1504/150413_Chicago

- ⁷⁵ NREL, "Life Cycle Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Electricity Generation" (National Renewable Energy Laboratory, 2013), <u>https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy13osti/57187.pdf</u>.
- ⁷⁶ IRENA, "Renewable Power Generation Costs in 2017" (International Renewable Energy Agency, 2018), <u>https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/</u> IRENA/Agency/Publication/2018/Jan/IRENA_2017_Power_Costs_2018.pdf.
- ⁷⁷ Philipp Beiter, Michael Elchinger, and Tian Tian, "2016 Renewable Energy Data Book" (U.S. Department of Energy Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy, 2018), <u>https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy18osti/70231.pdf</u>.
- ⁷⁸ Beiter, Elchinger, and Tian.
- ⁷⁹ Christopher D. Maidment et al., "The Impact of Household Energy Efficiency Measures on Health: A Meta-Analysis," *Energy Policy* 65 (February 1, 2014): 583–93, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.10.054</u>.
- ⁸⁰ William J. Fisk, "Health and Productivity Gains from Better Indoor Environments and Their Relationship with Building Energy Efficiency," Annual Review of Energy and the Environment 25, no. 1 (November 2000): 537–66, https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.energy.25.1.537.
- ⁸¹ Sadia Cox et al., "Bridging Climate Change Resilience and Mitigation in the Electricity Sector Through Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency: Emerging Climate Change and Development Topics for Energy Sector Transformation" (National Renewable Energy Laboratory, U.S. Agency for International Development, November 2017), <u>https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy18osti/67040.pdf</u>.
- ⁸² U.S. Department of Energy, "How Much Can You REALLY Save with Energy Efficient Improvements?," U.S. Department of Energy, October 7, 2016, <u>https://www.energy.gov/energysaver/articles/how-much-can-you-really-save-energy-efficient-improvements</u>.
- ⁸³ Environmental Defense Fund, "Low-Income Energy Efficiency: A Pathway to Clean, Affordable Energy for All" (Environmental Defense Fund, February 2018), <u>https://www.edf.org/sites/default/files/documents/liee_national_summary.pdf</u>.
- ⁸⁴ LIHEAP, "State Low-Income Energy Assistance Snapshots," U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Low-Income Energy Assistance, 2018, https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ocs/programs/liheap.
- ⁸⁵ U.S. Department of Energy, "Weatherization Assistance Program for Low-Income Persons," Benefits.gov, 2018, <u>https://www.benefits.gov/benefits/benefit-details/580</u>.
- ⁸⁶ "A Public Health Review of High Volume Hydraulic Fracturing for Shale Gas Development" (New York Department of Health, December 2014), <u>https://www.health.ny.gov/press/reports/docs/high_volume_hydraulic_fracturing.pdf</u>.
- ⁸⁷ Alex Molina and John W. Vick, "Health Impact Assessment: An Introduction and Guide for Implementation in Louisville" (University of Louisville City Solutions Center, 2011), <u>http://udstudio.org/v4/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/hia_handbook_web.pdf</u>.
- ⁸⁸ Elizabeth Walker and Deborah Payne, "Health Impact Assessment of Coal and Clean Energy Options in Kentucky" (Kentucky Environmental Foundation, 2012), <u>http://www.kyenvironmentalfoundation.org/uploads/1/8/5/9/18595042/kef_health_impact_assessment_energy_report_web.pdf</u>.
- ⁸⁹ Seth Shonkoff, "The Public Health Dimensions of Oil and Gas Development in California," April 21, 2017.
- ⁹⁰ Margaret Round et al., "Assessing the Health Impacts and Benefits of Regional Climate Action Plan Strategies in Western Massachusetts: A Collaborative Assessment by the Massachusetts Department of Public Health, the Pioneer Valley Planning Commission, and the Municipalities of Springfield and Williamsburg" (Massachusetts Department of Public Health, March 1, 2017), <u>http://www.pewtrusts.org/~/media/assets/externalsites/health-impact-project/final-climate-change-hia-report-040417.pdf?la = en.</u>
- ⁹¹ U.S. Department of Energy. 2015. Green Power Markets: Community Choice Aggregation. Available at <u>http://apps3.eere.energy.gov/greenpower/</u> markets/community_choice.shtml.
- ⁹² Anisa Heming, "What Is a Green School?," The Center for Green Schools, July 30, 2017, https://www.centerforgreenschools.org/what-green-school.
- ⁹³ "Green Schools Alliance," Green Schools Alliance, 2018, https://www.greenschoolsalliance.org/home.
- ⁹⁴ U.S. Department of Energy, "State & Local Government," U.S. Department of Energy, 2018, <u>https://www.energy.gov/energy-economy/state-local-government</u>.
- 95 ICLEI, "Resource Efficiency & Renewables," ICLEI Local Governments for Sustainability, 2018, http://icleiusa.org/programs/energy/.
- ⁹⁶ Health Care Without Harm, "2020 Health Care Climate Challenge," Health Care Without Harm, 2016, <u>https://noharm-global.org/issues/</u>global/2020-health-care-climate-challenge.
- ⁹⁷ Jill Breysse et al., "Effect of Weatherization Combined With Community Health Worker In-Home Education on Asthma Control," American Journal of Public Health 104, no. 1 (January 2014): e57–64, <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301402</u>.
- ⁹⁸ Wade Crowfoot and Andrew Byrnes, "Making Green Work: Best Practices in Green-Collar Job Training" (Ella Baker Center for Human Rights, n.d.), <u>http://www.ellabakercenter.org/sites/default/files/downloads/making-green-work.pdf</u>.

- ⁹⁹ "Contra Costa Community Awareness and Emergency Response," Contra Costa Community Awareness and Emergency Response, 2018, <u>http://www.cococaer.org/about.html</u>.
- ¹⁰⁰ <u>https://www.princeton.edu/~mauzeral/papers/Energy%20ARPH%2013.pdf</u>
- ¹⁰¹ http://climate-xchange.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Renewable-Energy-Standards-Study.pdf
- 102 https://www.energy.gov/science-innovation/energy-efficiency
- ¹⁰³ <u>http://usclimateandhealthalliance.org/uscha-state-policy-initiative/renewable-energy/</u>
- ¹⁰⁴ <u>http://usclimateandhealthalliance.org/uscha-state-policy-initiative/energy-efficiency/</u>

Agriculture

- ¹ Gilbert, N. 2012. One-third of our greenhouse gas emissions come from agriculture. Available at: http://www.nature.com/news/one-third-of-our-greenhouse-gas-emissions-come-from-agriculture-1.11708.
- ² Wells, HF & Buzby, JC. 2005. U.S. Food Consumption Up 16 Percent Since 1970. Available at: <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/amber-waves/2005-november/us-food-consumption-up-16-percent-since-1970.aspx#.VkNn8sqSJP4.</u>
- ³ McMichael, AJ et al. 2007. Food, livestock production, energy, climate change, and health. Available at: http://www.thelancet.com/journals/ lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736%2807%2961256-2/abstract.
- ⁴ U.S. Global Change Research Program. 2015. Climate Change Global Food Security and the U.S. Food System. Available at: <u>http://www.usda.gov/oce/climate_change/FoodSecurity2015Assessment.pdf</u>
- ⁵ U.S. Department of Agriculture. 2010. Local Food Systems: Concepts, Impacts, and Issues. Available at: <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/media/122868/</u> err97_1_.pdf
- ⁶ Harvard Medical School. 2012. Cutting Red Meat for a Longer Life. Available at: <u>http://www.health.harvard.edu/staying-healthy/cutting-red-meat-for-a-longer-life</u>
- ⁷ U.C. Davis Agricultural Sustainability Institute. Unknown. What is sustainable agriculture? Available at: <u>http://asi.ucdavis.edu/programs/sarep/</u> about/what-is-sustainable-agriculture
- ⁸ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Unknown. Reducing Wasted Food at Home. Available at: <u>https://www.epa.gov/recycle/reducing-wasted-food-home</u>
- ⁹ U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2015. Conditions that Increase Risk for Heart Disease. <u>Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/heartdisease/conditions.htm</u>
- ¹⁰ U.S. Centers for Disease Control. 2015. Chronic Disease Overview: Chronic Diseases: The Leading Cause of Death and Disability in the United States. Available at: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/overview/</u>
- ¹¹ EPA, "Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990–2016."
- ¹² U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2013. Antibiotic Resistance Threats in the United States, 2013. Available at: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/</u> <u>drugresistance/threat-report-2013/pdf/ar-threats-2013-508.pdf#page = 6</u>
- ¹³ Das, R. 2001. Pesticide-related Illness among Migrant Farm Workers in the United States. Available at: <u>https://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/ohsep/</u> <u>Documents/migrantfarmworkers.pdf</u>
- ¹⁴ Union of Concerned Scientists. Unknown. Industrial Agriculture. Available at: <u>http://www.ucsusa.org/our-work/food-agriculture/our-failing-food-system/industrial-agriculture#.VxfddWMgyqE</u>
- ¹⁵ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Unknown. Agriculture and Food Supply. Available at: <u>https://www3.epa.gov/climatechange/impacts/</u> <u>agriculture.html</u>
- ¹⁶ EPA, "Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990–2016."
- ¹⁷ Gilbert, N. 2012. One-third of our greenhouse gas emissions come from agriculture. Available at: <u>http://www.nature.com/news/one-third-of-our-greenhouse-gas-emissions-come-from-agriculture-1.11708</u>.
- ¹⁸ Horrigan L et al. 2002. How Sustainable Agriculture Can Address the Environmental and Human Health Harms of Industrial Agriculture. Available at: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1240832/</u>.
- ¹⁹ Treehugger. 2012. Is Buying Local Food the Best Way to go on a Carbon Diet? Available at: <u>http://www.treehugger.com/green-food/buying-local-food-best-way-go-carbon-diet.html</u>

- ²⁰ EPA, "Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2016."
- ²¹ National Resource Defense Council. 2012. Wasted; How America is Losing Up to 40 Percent of its Food from Farm to Fork to Landfill. Available at: http://www.nrdc.org/food/files/wasted-food-IP.pdf
- ²² Fiala N. 2006. Economic and Environmental Impact of Meat Consumption. Available at: <u>http://www.imbs.uci.edu/files/docs/2006/grad_conf/06-Fiala-Pa0er.pdf</u>.
- ²³ Fiala N. 2006. Economic and Environmental Impact of Meat Consumption. Available at: <u>http://www.imbs.uci.edu/files/docs/2006/grad_conf/06-Fiala-Pa0er.pdf</u>
- ²⁴ Eshel G MP. 2006. Diet, Energy and Global Warming. Available at: <u>http://pge.uchicago.edu/workshop/documents/martin1.pdf</u>
- ²⁵ Tapan Pathak et al., "Climate Change Trends and Impacts on California Agriculture: A Detailed Review," Agronomy 8, no. 3 (February 26, 2018): 25, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy8030025</u>.
- ²⁶ David A Grantz and Anil Shrestha, "Ozone Reduces Crop Yields and Alters Competition with Weeds Such as Yellow Nutsedge," *California Agriculture* 59, no. 2 (April 1, 2005): 137–43.
- ²⁷ Paul Vijay, V. Pandey, and Atar Singh, "Vulnerability of Trees and Fruit Crops to Climate Change.," in *Climate Change: Impacts and Adaptations in Crop Plants* (Tomorrow's Printer and Publishers, 2011), https://doi.org/10.13140/rg.2.1.4816.5607.
- ²⁸ M. Melissa Rojas-Downing et al., "Climate Change and Livestock: Impacts, Adaptation, and Mitigation," *Climate Risk Management* 16 (2017): 145–63, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2017.02.001</u>.
- ²⁹ USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment" (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2016), <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7930/J0R49NOX</u>.
- ³⁰ Ziska, L., A. Crimmins, A. Auclair, S. DeGrasse, J.F. Garofalo, A.S. Khan, I. Loladze, A.A. Pérez de León, A. Showler, J. Thurston, and I. Walls, 2016: Ch. 7: Food Safety, Nutrition, and Distribution. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 189–216.
- ³¹ USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment."
- ³² Dangour, A., Green, R., Sutherland, J., Watson, L., & Wheeler, T.R. (2015). Health impacts related to food and nutrition security. In B.S. Levy & J.A. Patz (Eds.), *Climate change and public health* (pp. 173-194). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- ³³ S. Ahdoot, S. E. Pacheco, and THE COUNCIL ON ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH, "Global Climate Change and Children's Health," *PEDIATRICS* 136, no. 5 (November 1, 2015): e1468–84, <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2015-3233</u>.
- ³⁴ U.S. Centers for Disease Control. 2015. Chronic Disease Overview: Chronic Diseases: The Leading Cause of Death and Disability in the United States. Available at: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/overview/</u>.
- ³⁵ U.S. Centers for Disease Control . 2014. Children eating more fruit, but fruit and vegetable intake still too low. Available at: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2014/p0805-fruits-vegetables.html</u>
- ³⁶ U.S. Centers for Disease Control. 2015. Adults Meeting Fruit and Vegetable Intake Recommendations United States, 2013. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6426a1.htm
- ³⁷ CDC, "Only 1 in 10 Adults Get Enough Fruits or Vegetables," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Injury Prevention and Control, November 16, 2017, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2017/p1116-fruit-vegetable-consumption.html</u>.
- ³⁸ Roni A. Neff et al., "Food Systems and Public Health Disparities," *Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition* 4, no. 3–4 (November 30, 2009): 282–314, https://doi.org/10.1080/19320240903337041.
- ³⁹ Wells, HF & Buzby, JC. 2005. U.S. Food Consumption Up 16 Percent Since 1970. Available at: <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/amber-waves/2005-november/us-food-consumption-up-16-percent-since-1970.aspx#.VkNn8sqSJP4.</u>
- ⁴⁰ McMichael, AJ et al. 2007. Food, livestock production, energy, climate change, and health. Available at: <u>http://www.thelancet.com/journals/</u><u>lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736%2807%2961256-2/abstract</u>.
- ⁴¹ U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2013. Antibiotic Resistance Threats in the United States, 2013. Available at: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/</u> <u>drugresistance/threat-report-2013/pdf/ar-threats-2013-508.pdf#page = 6</u>
- ⁴² Das, R. 2001. Pesticide-related Illness among Migrant Farm Workers in the United States. Available at: <u>https://www.cdph.ca.gov/programs/ohsep/</u> <u>Documents/migrantfarmworkers.pdf</u>
- ⁴³ Union of Concerned Scientists. Unknown. Industrial Agriculture. Available at: <u>http://www.ucsusa.org/our-work/food-agriculture/our-failing-food-system/industrial-agriculture#.VxfddWMgyqE</u>

- ⁴⁴ U.S. Geological Service. 2016. Nitrogen and Water. Available at: <u>http://water.usgs.gov/edu/nitrogen.html</u>
- ⁴⁵ California Department of Public Health. 2000. Health Concerns Related to Nitrate and Nitrite in Private Well Water. Available at: <u>http://www.atsdr.</u> cdc.gov/HAC/pha/reports/pacificgaselectric_04222003ca/pdf/apph.pdf
- ⁴⁶ "Nitrate Project," California Water Boards, July 26, 2017, https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water_issues/programs/nitrate_project/.
- ⁴⁷ Cohen M. 2007. Environmental toxins and health: the health impact of pesticides. Australian Family Medicine. 36(12). Available at: <u>http://search.informit.com.au/documentSummary;dn = 355467860496836;res = IELHEA</u>.
- ⁴⁸ Josef Schmidhuber and Francesco N. Tubiello, "Global Food Security under Climate Change," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104, no. 50 (December 11, 2007): 19703, <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0701976104</u>.
- ⁴⁹ Center for a Livable Future, Johns Hopkins, "Health & Environmental Implications of U.S. Meat Consumption & Production," Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health Center for a Livable Future, 2013, <u>https://www.jhsph.edu/research/centers-and-institutes/johns-hopkins-center-for-a-livable-future/projects/meatless_monday/resources/meat_consumption.html</u>.
- ⁵⁰ Center for a Livable Future, Johns Hopkins.
- ⁵¹ Lisa Friedman, Kendra Pierre-Louis, and Somini Sengupta, "The Meat Question, by the Numbers," *New York Times*, July 25, 2018, https://www.nytimes.com/2018/01/25/climate/cows-global-warming.html.
- ⁵² Martin C Heller et al., "Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Energy Use Associated with Production of Individual Self-Selected US Diets," *Environmental Research Letters* 13, no. 4 (April 1, 2018): 044004, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aab0ac</u>.
- ⁵³ Kelley J. Donham et al., "Community Health and Socioeconomic Issues Surrounding Concentrated Animal Feeding Operations," *Environmental Health Perspectives* 115, no. 2 (November 14, 2006): 317–20, https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8836.
- ⁵⁴ JoAnn Burkholder et al., "Impacts of Waste from Concentrated Animal Feeding Operations on Water Quality," *Environmental Health Perspectives* 115, no. 2 (November 14, 2006): 308–12, <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8839</u>.
- ⁵⁵ P Walker and et al., "Public Health Implications of Meat Production and Consumption," 2005, <u>http://www.jhsph.edu/research/centers-and-institutes/johns-hopkins-center-for-a-livable-future/_pdf/research/clf_reports/PHN_meat_consumption.pdf</u>.
- ⁵⁶ CDC, "Antibiotic Use in Food-Producing Animals.: Tracking and Reducing the Public Health Impact," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2014, <u>http://www.cdc.gov/narms/animals.html</u>.
- ⁵⁷ MJ Gilchrist and et al, "The Potential Role of Concentrated Animal Feeding Operations in Infectious Disease Epidemics and Antibiotic Resistance," 2007, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1817683/.
- ⁵⁸ Susanne Stoll-Kleemann and Uta Johanna Schmidt, "Reducing Meat Consumption in Developed and Transition Countries to Counter Climate Change and Biodiversity Loss: A Review of Influence Factors," *Regional Environmental Change* 17, no. 5 (June 2017): 1261–77, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-016-1057-5</u>.
- ⁵⁹ "Milking Taxpayers," The Economist, February 12, 2015, <u>https://www.economist.com/united-states/2015/02/12/milking-taxpayers</u>.
- ⁶⁰ Marco Springmann et al., "Analysis and Valuation of the Health and Climate Change Cobenefits of Dietary Change," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 113, no. 15 (2016): 4146–4151.
- ⁶¹ Natasha Dodge, "Effect of Climate Change and Food Insecurity on Low-Income Households," American Journal of Public Health 103, no. 1 (January 2013): e4–e4, <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2012.301083</u>.
- ⁶² H.K. Seligman, B.A. Laraia, and M.B. Kushel, "Food Insecurity Is Associated with Chronic Disease among Low-Income NHANES Participants," *The Journal of Nutrition* 140, no. 2 (2010): 304–10.
- ⁶³ Dodge, "Effect of Climate Change and Food Insecurity on Low-Income Households."
- ⁶⁴ USDA, "Key Statistics & Graphics," US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service, October 4, 2017, <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-us/key-statistics-graphics.aspx</u>.
- ⁶⁵ Michelle Lam et al., "Identification of Barriers to the Prevention and Treatment of Heat-Related Illness in Latino Farmworkers Using Activity-Oriented, Participatory Rural Appraisal Focus Group Methods," *BMC Public Health* 13, no. 1 (December 2013), <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-1004</u>.
- ⁶⁶ Trish Hernandez, Susan Gabbard, and Daniel Carroll, "Findings from the National Agricultural Workers Survey (NAWS) 2013-2014: A Demographic and Employment Profile of United States Farmworkers" (U.S. Department of Labor, December 2016), <u>https://www.doleta.gov/agworker/pdf/</u> <u>NAWS_Research_Report_12_Final_508_Compliant.pdf</u>.

- ⁶⁷ Gamble, J.L., J. Balbus, M. Berger, K. Bouye, V. Campbell, K. Chief, K. Conlon, A. Crimmins, B. Flanagan, C. Gonzalez-Maddux, E. Hallisey, S. Hutchins, L. Jantarasami, S. Khoury, M. Kiefer, J. Kolling, K. Lynn, A. Manangan, M. McDonald, R. Morello-Frosch, M.H. Redsteer, P. Sheffield, K. Thigpen Tart, J. Watson, K.P. Whyte, and A.F. Wolkin, 2016: Ch. 9: Populations of Concern. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 247–286. Food Security Status of U.S. Households in 2014. Available at: http://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-us/key-statistics-graphics.aspx
- ⁶⁸ Paustian, AJ et al. 2006. Agriculture's Role in Greenhouse Gas Mitigation. Available at: <u>http://www.c2es.org/publications/agriculture-role-greenhouse-gas-mitigation</u>
- ⁶⁹ Smith, MD, et al. Greenhouse gas mitigation in agriculture. Available at: <u>http://rstb.royalsocietypublishing.org/content/363/1492/789</u>
- ⁷⁰ Glantz, MH et al. 2009. Coping with a Changing Climate: considerations for adaptation and mitigation in agriculture. Available at: http://www.fao.org/docrep/012/i1315e/i1315e.pdf.
- ⁷¹ Smith P et al. 2007. Ch. 8: Agriculture. Available at: <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/publications_and_data/ar4/wg3/en/ch8.html</u>.
- ⁷² Judith Scwartz, "Soil as Carbon Storehouse: New Weapon in Climate Fight?," Yale Environment 360, March 4, 2014, <u>https://e360.yale.edu/</u> features/soil as carbon storehouse new weapon in climate fight.
- ⁷³ U.S. Global Change Research Program. 2015. Climate Change Global Food Security and the U.S. Food System. Available at: <u>http://www.usda.gov/oce/climate_change/FoodSecurity2015Assessment.pdf</u>
- ⁷⁴ Joyce, A. 2012. Reducing the environmental impact of dietary choice: perspectives from a behavioural and social change approach. Available at: http://www.hindawi.com/journals/jeph/2012/978672/.
- ⁷⁵ Friel S et al. 2009. Public health benefits of strategies to reduce greenhouse-gas emissions: food and agriculture. Available at: <u>http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736%2809%2961753-0/abstract</u>.
- ⁷⁶ Aston, LM et al. 2012. Impact of a reduced red and processed meat dietary pattern on disease risks and greenhouse gas emissions in the UK: a modelling study. Available at: <u>http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/2/5/e001072.full</u>.
- ⁷⁷ Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. 2016. Dietary Guidelines 2015-2020. Available at: <u>http://health.gov/dietaryguidelines/2015/</u>guidelines/executive-summary/
- ⁷⁸ Horrigan, L et al. 2002. How Sustainable Agriculture Can Address the Environmental and Human Health Harms of Industrial Agriculture. Available at: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1240832/</u>
- ⁷⁹ Hinrichs C. 2000. Embeddedness and local food systems: notes on two types of direct agricultural markets. Available at: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.</u> <u>com/science/article/pii/S0743016799000637</u>
- ⁸⁰ Los Angeles Food Policy Council, "Good Food For All Agenda" (Los Angeles Food Policy Council, 2017), <u>http://goodfoodla.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/LAFPC-Agenda-Single-FINAL.pdf</u>.
- ⁸¹ "Communities of Excellence in Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Obesity Prevention (CX3)," SNAP-Ed Toolkit: Obesity Prevention Interventions and Evaluation Framework, March 14, 2018, <u>https://snapedtoolkit.org/interventions/programs/cx3/</u>.
- ⁸² "Map the Meal Gap," Feeding America, 2016, <u>http://map.feedingamerica.org/</u>.
- ⁸³ "Local Food System Asset Mapping," University of North Carolina Asheville, n.d., <u>https://nemac.unca.edu/local-food-system-asset-mapping.</u>
- ⁸⁴ CDC, "Healthier Food Retail: Beginning the Assessment Process in Your State or Community" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2014), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/downloads/hfrassessment.pdf.</u>
- ⁸⁵ "Northern Colorado Regional Food System Assessment," Northern Colorado Regional Food System Assessment, 2011, <u>https://apps.larimer.org/foodassessment/</u>.
- ⁸⁶ National Recreation and Park Association, "Parks Build Healthy Communities: Success Stories."
- ⁸⁷ Land Use Law Center. 2012. Overcoming Barriers to Cultivating Urban Agriculture. Available at: <u>http://law.pace.edu/sites/default/files/LULC/</u> <u>Conference_2013/Overcoming%20Barriers%20to%20Cultivating%20Urban%20Agriculture%20-%20Full.pdf</u>
- ⁸⁸ California Climate and Agricultural Network. 2015. Climate Solutions in California Agriculture. Available at: <u>http://calclimateag.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Climate-Benefits-of-Agriculture-2015.pdf</u>
- ⁸⁹ California Climate and Agricultural Network. 2013. Water Stewardship Fact Sheet. Available at: <u>http://calclimateag.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/Water-Stewardship-Fact-Sheet.pdf</u>
- ⁹⁰ California Climate and Agricultural Network. 2013. Soil Building Fact Sheet. Available at: <u>http://calclimateag.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/</u> <u>Soil-Building-Fact-Sheet.pdf</u>

- ⁹¹ California Department of Food and Agriculture: 2016. Healthy Soils Initiative: Available at: https://www.cdfa.ca.gov/oefi/healthysoils/
- ⁹² Let's Move. Unknown. Chapter 4. Access to Healthy, Affordable Food. Available at: <u>http://www.letsmove.gov/sites/letsmove.gov/files/TFCO_Access to Healthy Affordable Food.pdf</u>
- ⁹³ Kent County Health Connect, "Healthy Eating and REACH," Kent County Health Connect, n.d., <u>http://www.kentcountyhealthconnect.org/About-Us/Healthy-Eating</u>.
- ⁹⁴ Anna P. Goddu et al., "Food Rx: A Community–University Partnership to Prescribe Healthy Eating on the South Side of Chicago," *Journal of Prevention & Intervention in the Community* 43, no. 2 (April 3, 2015): 148–62, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10852352.2014.973251</u>.
- 95 Fine Farm to Institution New England. Unknown. Setting the Table for Success. Available at: http://www.farmtoinstitution.org/food-service-toolkit
- ⁹⁶ Elaine Russell, "Better Bites Program Offers Kentucky Employees Healthier Meal Options" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Division of Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Obesity, n.d.), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/dnpao/state-local-programs/pdf/program-highlights/FSG-KY.pdf</u>.
- ⁹⁷ USDA, "Let's Glean" (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2015), https://www.usda.gov/sites/default/files/documents/usda_gleaning_toolkit.pdf.
- ⁹⁸ Stanford School of Public Policy. 2014. Increasing Restaurant Food Donations: A Strategy for Food Waste Diversion. Available at: <u>https://conserve.</u> restaurant.org/Downloads/PDFs/Reduce-waste-and-recycle/2014_Duke_Report_Donation.aspx
- 99 http://www.meatlessmonday.com/
- ¹⁰⁰ CDC, "Rethink Your Drink," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, September 23, 2015, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/healthy_eating/drinks.html</u>.
- ¹⁰¹ Alethea Harper et al., "Food Policy Councils: Lessons Learned" (Food First, Community Food Security Coalition, 2009), <u>https://foodfirst.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/DR21-Food-Policy-Councils-Lessons-Learned-.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁰² "Cleveland Cuyahoga County Food Policy Coalition (CCCFPC)," UNC Center for Health Promotion, 2013, <u>http://centertrt.org/?p=intervention&id=1143</u>.
- ¹⁰³ CDPH, "Communities of Excellence in Nutrition, Physical Activity and Obesity Prevention (CX3)," California Department of Public Health, Education and Obesity Prevention Branch, May 9, 2018, <u>https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DCDIC/NEOPB/Pages/CommunitiesofExcellence3.aspx</u>.
- ¹⁰⁴ "OutsideIn SLO," Healthy Eating Active Living San Luis Obispo County, n.d., http://www.healslo.com/outsidein-slo/.
- ¹⁰⁵ <u>https://www3.epa.gov/climatechange/impacts/agriculture.html</u>
- ¹⁰⁶ http://www.washington-apa.org/assets/docs/2015/Ten_Big_Ideas/18_ag%20food%20resource%20guide.pdf
- ¹⁰⁷ http://goodfoodla.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/LAFPC-Agenda-Single-FINAL.pdf

Urban Greening and Green Infrastructure

- ¹ Kenward, A et al. 2014. Summer in the City: Hot and Getting Hotter. Available at: <u>http://assets.climatecentral.org/pdfs/UrbanHeatIsland.pdf</u>.
- ² CalEPA, "Urban Heat Island Index for California," California Environmental Protection Agency, 2015, <u>https://calepa.ca.gov/climate/urban-heat-island-index-for-california/</u>.
- ³ Wilbanks, T & Fernandez, S. 2012. Climate Change and Infrastructure, Urban Systems, and Vulnerabilities. Available at: <u>http://www.esd.ornl.gov/</u> <u>eess/Infrastructure.pdf</u>.
- ⁴ <u>https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007%2F978-3-319-56091-5_11</u>
- ⁵ EPA, "Stormwater to Street Trees: Engineering Urban Forests for Stormwater Management" (United States Environmental Protection Agency, September 2013), <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-11/documents/stormwater2streettrees.pdf</u>.
- 6 EPA.
- 7 EPA.
- 8 EPA, "Reduce Urban Heat Island Effect."
- ⁹ Science for Environment Policy. 2012. The Multifunctionality of Green Infrastructure. Available at: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/ecosystems/docs/Green Infrastructure.pdf</u>
- ¹⁰ Landscape Institute. 2015. Cities, green infrastructure and health. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/</u> attachment_data/file/444322/future-cities-green-infrastructure-health.pdf

- ¹¹ American Planning Association. Unknown. Green Infrastructure. Available at: <u>https://www.planning.org/research/postdisaster/briefingpapers/</u> <u>greeninfrastructure.htm</u>
- ¹² Wong E, et. al.,. 2008. Trees and Vegetation in Reducing Urban Heat Islands: Compendium of Strategies. Available at: <u>http://www2.epa.gov/sites/</u> production/files/2014-08/documents/treesandvegcompendium_ch2.pdf.
- ¹³ Groth P, Miller, R., Nadkarni, N., et.al. 2008. Quantifying the Greenhouse Gas Benefits of Urban Parks. Available at: <u>https://www.tpl.org/</u> <u>quantifying-greenhouse-gas-benefits-urban-parks</u>.
- ¹⁴ Foster J, Lowe A, Winkelman S. 2011. The Value of Green Infrastructure for Urban Climate Adaptation. Available at: <u>http://ccap.org/assets/The-Value-of-Green-Infrastructure-for-Urban-Climate-Adaptation_CCAP-Feb-2011.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁵ Alisha Goldstein, Rain Garden, October 27, 2014, October 27, 2014, http://www.epa.gov/smartgrowth/green-infrastructure.html.
- ¹⁶ Sergio Panei Pitrau, *Alcantarilla Buenos Aires*, August 30, 2011, August 30, 2011, <u>https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/1/1e/</u> <u>Alcantarilla - Buenos Aires.JPG</u>.
- ¹⁷ Wong E, et. al.,. 2008. Green Roofs in Reducing Urban Heat Islands: Compendium of Strategies. Available at <u>http://www2.epa.gov/sites/</u> production/files/2014-06/documents/greenroofscompendium.pdf.
- ¹⁸ Wong E, et. al.,. 2008. Trees and Vegetation in Reducing Urban Heat Islands: Compendium of Strategies. Available at: <u>http://www2.epa.gov/sites/</u> production/files/2014-08/documents/treesandvegcompendium_ch2.pdf.
- ¹⁹ Wong E, et. al.,. 2008. Trees and Vegetation in Reducing Urban Heat Islands: Compendium of Strategies. Available at <u>http://www2.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2014-08/documents/treesandvegcompendium_ch2.pdf</u>.
- ²⁰ Chen D. 2012. Green Infrastructure in Mitigating Extreme Summer Heat. Available at <u>https://www.mq.edu.au/___data/assets/pdf_file/0017/63521/</u> <u>Chen_CF20workshop202012.pdf</u>.
- ²¹ Wong E, et. al.,. 2008. Green Roofs in Reducing Urban Heat Islands: Compendium of Strategies. Available at <u>http://www2.epa.gov/sites/</u> production/files/2014-06/documents/greenroofscompendium.pdf.
- ²² U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2015. Heat Island Effect. Available at: <u>http://www2.epa.gov/heat-islands</u>.
- ²³ Haq S. 2011. Urban Green Spaces and an Integrative Approach to Sustainable Environment. Available at: <u>http://www.scirp.org/journal/</u> <u>PaperInformation.aspx?paperID = 5881</u>.
- ²⁴ US Environmental Protection Agency. 2012. Indoor Air Quality Tools for Schools. Available at: <u>http://www2.epa.gov/sites/production/</u> <u>files/2014-08/documents/iaqtfs_factsheet.pdf</u>.
- ²⁵ Institute of Medicine. 2011. Climate Change, the Indoor Environment, and Health. Available at: <u>http://www.nap.edu/catalog/13115/climate-change-the-indoor-environment-and-health</u>.
- ²⁶ Wong E, et. al.,. 2008. Trees and Vegetation in Reducing Urban Heat Islands: Compendium of Strategies. Available at: <u>http://www2.epa.gov/sites/</u> production/files/2014-08/documents/treesandvegcompendium_ch2.pdf.
- 27 https://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML1004/ML100490735.pdf
- ²⁸ EPA, "Heat Island Impacts," United States Environmental Protection Agency, June 20, 2017, https://www.epa.gov/heat-islands/heat-island-impacts.
- ²⁹ Chen D. 2012. Green Infrastructure in Mitigating Extreme Summer Heat. Available at: <u>https://www.mq.edu.au/___data/assets/pdf_file/0017/63521/</u> <u>Chen_CF20workshop202012.pdf</u>.
- ³⁰ Chen D. 2012. Green Infrastructure in Mitigating Extreme Summer Heat. Available at: <u>https://www.mq.edu.au/___data/assets/pdf_file/0017/63521/</u> <u>Chen_CF20workshop202012.pdf</u>.
- ³¹ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2015. Heat Island Effect. Available at: <u>http://www2.epa.gov/heat-islands</u>.
- ³² Luber, G & McGeehim, M. 2008. Climate Change and Extreme Heat Events. Available at <u>http://www.ajpmonline.org/article/S0749-3797 % 2808 % 2900686-7/abstract</u>.
- ³³ Chen D. 2012. Green Infrastructure in Mitigating Extreme Summer Heat. Available at: <u>https://www.mq.edu.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0017/63521/</u> <u>Chen_CF20workshop202012.pdf</u>.
- ³⁴ Ariane L. Bedimo-Rung, Andrew J. Mowen, and Deborah A. Cohen, "The Significance of Parks to Physical Activity and Public Health," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 28, no. 2 (February 1, 2005): 159–68, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2004.10.024</u>.
- ³⁵ CDC, "Community Gardens," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, June 3, 2010, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthyplaces/healthtopics/</u> healthyfood/community.htm.

- ³⁶ Lottrup L, Grahn P, Sigsdotter UK. 2013. Workplace greenery and perceived level of stress: Benefits of access to a green outdoor environment at the workplace. Available at: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169204612002642</u>.
- ³⁷ Li HN et al. 2010. Can surrounding greenery reduce noise annoyance at home? Available at: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/</u> S0048969710006303.
- ³⁸ Samara T & Tsitsoni T. 2011. The effects of vegetation on reducing traffic noise from a city ring road. Available at: <u>http://www.ingentaconnect.</u> <u>com/content/ince/ncej/2011/00000059/00000001/art00008?crawler = true</u>.
- ³⁹ Kuo, FE & Sullivan, WC. 2001. Environment and Crime in the Inner City: Does Vegetation Reduce Crime? Available at: <u>http://eab.sagepub.com/</u> <u>content/33/3/343.short</u>.
- ⁴⁰ Jesdale, BM. 2013. The Racial/ Ethnic Distribution of Heat Risk-Related Land Cover in Relation to Residential Segregation. Available at: <u>http://ehp.niehs.nih.gov/1205919/</u>
- ⁴¹ Cohen, DA et al. 2007. Contribution of Public Parks to Physical Activity. Available at: <u>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1805017/</u>
- ⁴² Lee ACK, Maheswaran R. 2011. The health benefits of urban green spaces: a review of the evidence. Available at: <u>http://jpubhealth.oxfordjournals.org/content/33/2/212.long</u>
- ⁴³ Haq, S. 2011. Urban Green Spaces and an Integrative Approach to Sustainable Environment. Available at: <u>http://www.scirp.org/journal/</u> <u>PaperInformation.aspx?paperID = 5881</u>
- ⁴⁴ Wolch JR, Byrne J, Newell JP. 2014. Urban green space, public health, and environmental justice: The challenge of making cities 'just green enough'. Available at: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169204614000310</u>.
- ⁴⁵ "Healthy Parks, Schools, and Communities: Green Access and Equity for Orange County" (The City Project, 2011), <u>http://www.mapjustice.org/images/OrangeCountyENGLISH.pdf</u>.
- ⁴⁶ "About I-Tree," i-Tree: Tools for Assessing and Managing Forests & Community Trees, n.d., <u>https://www.itreetools.org/about.php</u>.
- ⁴⁷ "Healthy Parks, Schools, and Communities: Green Access and Equity for Orange County."
- ⁴⁸ Los Angeles County Department of Public Health, "Parks and Public Health in Los Angeles County: A Cities and Communities Report" (Los Angeles County Department of Public Health, May 2016), <u>http://publichealth.lacounty.gov/chronic/docs/Parks%20Report%202016-rev_051816.pdf</u>.
- ⁴⁹ CDC, "Parks and Trails Health Impact Assessment Toolkit," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, November 27, 2013, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthyplaces/parks_trails/</u>.
- ⁵⁰ <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877343515000433</u>
- ⁵¹ National Recreation and Park Association, "Parks Build Healthy Communities: Success Stories."
- ⁵² LACDPH, "Parks After Dark: Preventing Violence While Promoting Healthy, Active Living" (Los Angeles County Department of Public Health, Injury and Violence Prevention Program, August 2014), <u>http://publichealth.lacounty.gov/docs/parksafterdark.pdfc</u>.
- ⁵³ EPA, "Learn About Green Streets," United States Environmental Protection Agency, December 11, 2017, <u>https://www.epa.gov/G3/learn-about-green-streets</u>.
- 54 National Recreation and Park Association, "Parks Build Healthy Communities: Success Stories."
- ⁵⁵ National Recreation and Park Association.
- ⁵⁶ "Park Rx," Park Rx, 2016, <u>http://parkrx.org/</u>.
- ⁵⁷ National Recreation and Park Association, "Parks Build Healthy Communities: Success Stories."
- ⁵⁸ Viniece Jennings et al., "Urban Green Space and the Pursuit of Health Equity in Parts of the United States," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 14, no. 11 (November 22, 2017): 1432, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14111432</u>.
- ⁵⁹ National Recreation and Park Association, "Parks Build Healthy Communities: Success Stories."
- ⁶⁰ <u>https://www.epa.gov/green-infrastructure/reduce-urban-heat-island-effect</u>
- ^{al} https://www.tpl.org/sites/default/files/cloud.tpl.org/pubs/benefits_greenhouse_gases_and_parks_whitepaper.pdf
- ⁶² http://ccap.org/assets/The-Value-of-Green-Infrastructure-for-UrbanClimate-Adaptation_CCAP-Feb-2011.pdf
- ⁶³ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthyplaces/healthtopics/parks_trails_workbook.htm</u>
- ⁶⁴ <u>https://changelabsolutions.org/publications/community-gardens-public-health</u>

Unintended Harms

- ¹ Lara J. Cushing et al., "A Preliminary Environmental Equity Assessment of California's Cap-and-Trade Program" (USC Dornsife, University of California, Berkeley School of Public Health, Occidental College, September 2016), <u>https://dornsife.usc.edu/assets/sites/242/docs/Climate_Equity_Brief_CA_Cap_and_Trade_Sept2016_FINAL2.pdf</u>.
- ² http://www.ienearth.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Carbon-Pricing-Final-Print-Final-HiRez.pdf
- ³ Paul Thompson, "The Agricultural Ethics of Biofuels: The Food vs. Fuel Debate," Agriculture 2, no. 4 (November 6, 2012): 339–58, https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture2040339.
- ⁴ <u>https://www.epa.gov/heat-islands</u>
- ⁵ EPA, "Climate Adaptation and Saltwater Intrusion," United States Environmental Protection Agency, September 29, 2016, <u>https://www.epa.gov/</u> <u>arc-x/climate-adaptation-and-saltwater-intrusion</u>.
- ⁶ <u>https://water.usgs.gov/edu/earthgwlandsubside.html</u>
- ⁷ Zuk, M, et al. 2015. Gentrification, Displacement and the Role of Public Investment: A Literature Review. Available at <u>http://iurd.berkeley.edu/</u><u>uploads/Displacement_Lit_Review_Final.pdf</u>
- ⁸ WHO, "Make Walking Safe: A Brief Overview of Pedestrian Safety Around the World" (World Health Organization, 2013), <u>http://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/publications/road_traffic/make_walking_safe.pdf</u>.
- ⁹ Adrian Davis, "Claiming the Health Dividend: A Summary and Discussion of Value for Money Estimates from Studies of Investment in Walking and Cycling" (UK Department of Transport, November 2014), <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/</u> <u>attachment_data/file/371096/claiming_the_health_dividend.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁰ Tatiana Schlossberg, "How Bad Is Your Air-Conditioner for the Planet?," New York Times, August 9, 2016, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2016/08/10/</u> science/air-conditioner-global-warming.html.
- ¹¹ Cushing et al., "A Preliminary Environmental Equity Assessment of California's Cap-and-Trade Program."
- ¹² Maxwell J. Richardson, Paul English, and Linda Rudolph, "A Health Impact Assessment of California's Proposed Cap-and-Trade Regulations," *American Journal of Public Health* 102, no. 9 (June 28, 2012): e52–58, <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2011.300527</u>.
- ¹³ Causa Justa :: Just Cause, "Development without Displacement: Resisting Gentrification in the Bay Area."
- ¹⁴ "Urban Habitat: Community Climate Action Engagement Project" (Urban Habitat, 2010), <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-03/</u> <u>documents/urban-habitat-finaldr.pdf</u>.

Maternal, Child, Adolescent and Family Health

- ¹ "Climate Change and Children's Health," American Academy of Pediatrics, 2015, <u>https://www.aap.org/en-us/advocacy-and-policy/aap-health-initiatives/climate-change/Pages/Climate-Change-and-Childrens-Health.aspx</u>.
- ² Janet L. Gamble et al., "Ch. 9: Populations of Concern," in *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment* (Washington, DC: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2016), 247–286, <u>https://doi.org/10.7930/J0O81B0T</u>.
- ³ J. Balbus and C. Malina, "Identifying Vulnerable Subpopulations for Climate Change Health Effects in the United States," *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 51 (2009), <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1097/JOM.0b013e318193e12e</u>.
- ⁴ Gamble et al., "Ch. 9: Populations of Concern."
- ⁵ Gamble et al., "Ch. 9: Populations of Concern."
- ⁶ R. Basu and B. D. Ostro, "A Multicounty Analysis Identifying the Populations Vulnerable to Mortality Associated with High Ambient Temperature in California," *American Journal of Epidemiology* 168, no. 6 (September 2008), <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwn170</u>.
- ⁷ R. S. Kovats and S. Hajat, "Heat Stress and Public Health: A Critical Review," Annual Review of Public Health 29 (2008), <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.29.020907.090843</u>.
- ⁸ Janice J. Kim, "Ambient Air Pollution: Health Hazards to Children," *Pediatrics* 114, no. 6 (December 2004), <u>http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/</u> <u>content/114/6/1699#xref-fn-1-1</u>.
- ⁹ C. P. Gerba, J. B. Rose, and C. N. Haas, "Sensitive Populations: Who Is at Greatest Risk?," *International Journal of Food Microbiology* 30 (1996), https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8856378.

- ¹⁰ T. J. Ochoa and T. G. Cleary, "Epidemiology and Spectrum of Disease of Escherichia Coli O157," *Current Opinion in Infectious Disease* 16, no. 3 (2003), https://doi.org/10.1097/01.qco.0000073777.11390.f2.
- ¹¹ Katherine M. Shea, "Global Climate Change and Children's Health," *Pediatrics* 120, no. 5 (November 2007), <u>http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/</u> <u>content/120/5/1149#xref-fn-2-1</u>.
- ¹² Supinda Bunyavanich et al., "The Impact of Climate Change on Child Health," *Ambulatory Pediatrics* 3, no. 1 (2003), https://doi.org/10.1367/1539-4409(2003)003 < 0044:TIOCCO > 2.0.CO;2.
- ¹³ J.W. Roberts et al., "Monitoring and Reducing Exposure of Infants to Pollutants in House Dust," *Review of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 201 (2009), <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-0032-6_1</u>.
- ¹⁴ S. Hajat et al., "The Human Health Consequences of Flooding in Europe: A Review," *Extreme Weather Events and Public Health Responses*, 2005, https://doi.org/DOI https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-28862-7_18.
- ¹⁵ Institute of Medicine, "Healthy, Resilient, and Sustainable Communities After Disasters: Strategies, Opportunities, and Planning for Recovery" (Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2015), <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/18996</u>.
- ¹⁶ Carolyn Kousky, "Impacts of Natural Disasters on Children," Future of Children 26, no. 1 (2016), https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1101425.pdf.
- ¹⁷ Gamble et al., "Ch. 9: Populations of Concern."
- ¹⁸ Samantha Ahdoot and Susan Pacheco, "Global Climate Change and Children's Health" (American Academy of Pediatrics, 2015), <u>http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/pediatrics/early/2015/10/21/peds.2015-3233.full.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁹ Marcus C. Sarofim et al., "Ch. 2: Temperature-Related Death and Illness," in *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States:* A Scientific Assessment (Washington, DC: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2016), 43–68, https://doi.org/10.7930/J0MG7MDX.
- ²⁰ Jesse E. Bell et al., "Ch. 4: Impacts of Extreme Events on Human Health," in *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment* (Washington, DC: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2016), 99–128, <u>https://doi.org/10.7930/J0BZ63ZV</u>.
- ²¹ Juli Trtanj et al., "Ch. 6: Climate Impacts on Water-Related Illness," in *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment* (Washington, DC: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2016), 157–188, https://doi.org/10.7930/J03F4MH4.
- ²² J.D. Thacher et al., "Mold and Dampness Exposure and Allergic Outcomes from Birth to Adolescence: Data from the BAMSE Cohort," *Allergy* 72, no. 6 (December 2016), <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/all.13102</u>.
- ²³ Gamble et al., "Ch. 9: Populations of Concern."
- ²⁴ Environmental Protection Agency, "Promoting Good Prenatal Health: Air Pollution and Pregnancy" (Environmental Protection Agency, January 2010), <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2014-05/documents/ochp_prenatal_fs_7_10.pdf</u>.
- ²⁵ Marshall Burke, Solomon M. Hsiang, and Edward Miguel, "Climate and Conflict" (The National Bureau of Economic Research, October 2014), http://www.nber.org/papers/w20598.
- ²⁶ Ping-Hsin Chen et al., "Birth Outcomes in Relation to Intimate Partner Violence," Journal of the National Medical Association 109, no. 4 (2017): 238–45, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnma.2017.06.017</u>.
- ²⁷ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Zika and Pregnancy," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, n.d., <u>http://www.cdc.gov/zika/</u> pregnancy/question-answers.html.
- ²⁸ CDC, "Proactivity and Partnerships: New Orleans Prepares for Zika," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, August 5, 2016, https://www.cdc.gov/about/24-7/cdcresponders-zika/nola.html.
- ²⁹ Ahdoot and Pacheco, "Global Climate Change and Children's Health."
- ³⁰ Neal Fann et al., "Ch. 3: Air Quality Impacts," in The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment (Washington, DC: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2016), 69–98, <u>https://doi.org/10.7930/J0GQ6VP6</u>.
- ³¹ U.S. Global Change Research Program (USGCRP), "Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment," 2014, http://nca2014.globalchange.gov/.
- ³² Kathrin Reinmuth-Selzle et al., "Air Pollution and Climate Change Effects on Allergies in the Anthropocene: Abundance, Interaction, and Modification of Allergens and Adjuvants," *Environmental Science & Technology* 51, no. 8 (April 18, 2017): 4119–41, <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b04908</u>.
- ³³ "Reported Cases of Lyme Disease by Year, United States, 1996-2016" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, November 2017), https://www.cdc.gov/lyme/stats/graphs.html.

- ³⁴ Kids Count Data Center, "Children Living in Households That Were Food Insecure at Some Point during the Year" (The Annie E. Casey Foundation, 2015), <u>https://datacenter.kidscount.org/data/tables/5201-children-living-in-households-that-were-food-insecure-at-some-point-during-the-year?loc = 1&loct = 2&loct = 2&detailed/2/2-52/true/573,869,36,868,867/any/11674,11675.</u>
- ³⁵ Lewis Ziska et al., "Ch. 7: Food Safety, Nutrition, and Distribution," in *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment* (Washington, DC: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2016), 189–216, <u>https://doi.org/10.7930/J0ZP4417</u>.
- ³⁶ "Agency: Largest Child-Recovery Effort Complete," *The Associated Press*, March 21, 2006, <u>http://www.nbcnews.com/id/11948439/ns/us_news-katrina_the_long_road_back/t/agency-largest-child-recovery-effort-complete/#.WxBSJIMvzaY</u>.
- ³⁷ Kousky, "Impacts of Natural Disasters on Children."
- ³⁸ T. Leventhal and J. Brooks-Gunn, "Diversity in Developmental Trajectories Across Adolescence: Neighborhood Influences," in *Handbook of Adolescent Psychology*, ed. R.M. Lerner and L. Steinberg (John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2013), <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/</u> <u>doi/10.1002/9780471726746.ch15</u>.
- ³⁹ T.P. Mulye et al., "Trends in Adolescent and Young Adult Health in the United States," *Journal of Adolescent Health* 45, no. 1 (2009), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.03.013.
- ⁴⁰ Ahdoot and Pacheco, "Global Climate Change and Children's Health."
- ⁴¹ Raissa Sorgho et al., "Nutrition and Climate: Investigating the Relationship between Climate Variables and Childhood Malnutrition through Agriculture, an Exploratory Study in Burkina Faso," *Public Health Reviews* 37, no. 16 (2016), <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40985-016-0031-6</u>.
- ⁴² Revati K. Phalkey et al., "Systematic Review of Current Efforts to Quantify the Impacts of Climate Change on Undernutrition," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112, no. 33 (July 27, 2015), <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1409769112</u>.
- ⁴³ Samuel S. Myers et al., "Increasing CO2 Threatens Human Nutrition," Nature 510 (June 2014), https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13179.
- ⁴⁴ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Diarrhea: Common Illness, Global Killer," Global Water, Sanitation, & Hygiene (WASH), n.d., https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/global/diarrhea-burden.html.
- ⁴⁵ Alex Kirby, "Drier Climate May Spread Diarrhea," *Scientific American*, March 28, 2013, <u>https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/drier-climate-may-spread-diarrhea/</u>.
- ⁴⁶ Benjamin Sovacool, "Electricity and Education: The Benefits, Barriers, and Recommendations for Achieving the Electrification of Primary and Secondary Schools" (United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, December 2014), <u>https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/ content/documents/1608Electricity%20and%20Education.pdf</u>.
- ⁴⁷ WHO, "Household Air Pollution and Health," World Health Organization, May 8, 2018, <u>http://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/household-air-pollution-and-health.</u>
- 48 WHO.
- ⁴⁹ United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, "Sustainable Development Goal 7," Sustainable Development Knowledge Platform, 2018, 7, <u>https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/sdg7</u>.
- ⁵⁰ International Planned Parenthood Federation, "IPPF Calls for Prioritization of Sexual and Reproductive Health within Climate Change Adaptation," December 2018, https://www.ippf.org/news/announcements/ippf-calls-prioritization-sexual-and-reproductive-health-within-climate-change
- ⁵¹ The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) and The American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, "Climate Change and Women's Health" (The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, n.d.), https://www.acog.org/-/media/Position-Statements/Climate-Change-and-Womens-Health.pdf?dmc = 1&ts = 20160718T1910165723.
- ⁵² National Recreation and Park Association.
- ⁵³ LIHEAP, "State Low-Income Energy Assistance Snapshots," U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Low-Income Energy Assistance, 2018, https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ocs/programs/liheap.
- ⁵⁴ <u>https://www.greenschoolsalliance.org/resources/category/1</u>
- 55 https://www.iseechange.org/
- ⁵⁶ Terry Grobe et al., "A Green Career Pathways Framework: Postsecondary and Employment Success for Low-Income, Disconnected Youth" (Washington, DC: The Corps Network, June 2011), <u>https://jfforg-prod-prime.s3.amazonaws.com/media/documents/JFF-AGreenCareerPathwaysFramework.pdf</u>.
- ⁵⁷ Brandon Smith, "Heat Exhaustion Training for Coaches Required by New Law," *Education & Health* (Indiana Public Radio, April 3, 2018), https://indianapublicradio.org/news/2018/04/heat-exhaustion-training-for-coaches-required-by-new-law/.

- 58 http://www.saferoutesinfo.org
- ⁵⁹ <u>http://www.bikeleague.org/content/find-take-class</u>
- ⁶⁰ <u>http://bikeleague.org/content/bicycle-commuter-benefit</u>
- ⁶¹ <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-01/documents/webinar_20150505.pdf</u>
- ⁶² United States Department of Agriculture, "Community Food Systems," Food and Nutrition Service, June 2018, <u>https://www.fns.usda.gov/farmtoschool/farm-school-resources</u>.
- ⁶³ California Farm to School Network, "School Gardens," California Farm to School Network, n.d., <u>http://www.cafarmtoschool.org/schoolgardens/</u>.
- ⁶⁴ Meatless Monday, "Meatless Monday: Grades K-12 School Cafeteria Foodservice Implementation Guide," n.d., <u>http://www.meatlessmonday.com/images/photos/2017/07/meatless-monday-guide-food-service-K-12.pdf</u>.
- 65 http://www.stopwaste.org/
- ⁶⁶ <u>http://www.savethefood.com/?utm_source = medium&utm_medium = danagunders&utm_campaign = savefood</u>
- ⁶⁷ <u>https://www.greenschoolsalliance.org/home</u>
- ⁶⁸ <u>http://www.greenschools.net/</u>
- ⁶⁹ <u>http://www.sustainablejerseyschools.com/</u>
- ⁷⁰ <u>https://nciph.sph.unc.edu/RHAD/</u>
- ⁷¹ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/emergency/training-course/index.html</u>
- ⁷² <u>https://www.gov.je/Environment/Ecoactive/Campaigns/Pages/TurnItOff.aspx</u>
- 73 http://www.cityswitch.net.au/Portals/0/CitySwitch Toolkits/RunningSwitchOffCampaign_v2d.pdf
- ⁷⁴ <u>http://www.meatlessmonday.com</u>
- ⁷⁵ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/healthy_eating/drinks.html</u>
- ⁷⁶ <u>http://budburst.org/</u>
- ⁷⁷ <u>http://airnow.gov/index.cfm?action = aqibasics.aqi</u>
- ⁷⁸ https://www.cdc.gov/features/disaster-planning-parents/index.html
- ⁷⁹ https://www.aap.org/en-us/advocacy-and-policy/aap-health-initiatives/Children-and-Disasters/Pages/default.aspx
- ⁸⁰ <u>www.ready.gov</u>
- ⁸¹ <u>https://www.ready.gov/es</u>
- ⁸² <u>https://www.cdc.gov/features/befoodsafe/index.html</u>
- ⁸³ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/lyme/index.html</u>
- ⁸⁴ <u>http://wwwnc.cdc.gov/travel/page/zika-travel-information</u>
- ⁸⁵ G.S. Birkhead et al., "Youth Development Is a Public Health Approach," *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice* 12 (November 2006), https://journals.lww.com/jphmp/Fulltext/2006/11001/Youth_Development_Is_a_Public_Health_Approach.l.aspx.
- ⁸⁶ L.E. Gavin, R.F. Catalano, and C.M. Markham, "Positive Youth Development as a Strategy to Promote Adolescent Sexual and Reproductive Health," *Journal of Adolescent Health* 46, no. 3 (2010), <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2009.12.017</u>.
- ⁸⁷ <u>http://sustainus.org</u>
- ⁸⁸ <u>https://www.uncclearn.org/sites/default/files/inventory/unfccc287.pdf</u>
- ⁸⁹ <u>http://www.imatteryouth.org</u>
- ⁹⁰ <u>https://www.ourchildrenstrust.org</u>
- ⁹¹ <u>http://climatehealthconnect.org/resources/posters/</u>
- ⁹² "OutsideIn SLO," Healthy Eating Active Living San Luis Obispo County, n.d., http://www.healslo.com/outsidein-slo/.

- ⁹³ Mecklenberg Health Department, "Mecklenberg Health Department- Eat Local," 2018, <u>https://www.mecknc.gov/HealthDepartment/MCFA/Pages/</u> <u>EatLocal.aspx</u>.
- ⁹⁴ Mecklenberg County Health Department, "Mecklenberg County Health Department- Community Gardens," 2018, <u>https://www.mecknc.gov/</u> HealthDepartment/MCFA/Pages/CommunityGardens.aspx.
- ⁹⁵ Houston Health Department, "Houston Health Department Twitter," May 23, 2018, <u>https://twitter.com/HoustonHealth?ref</u> src = twsrc% 5Egoogle% 7Ctwcamp% 5Eserp% 7Ctwgr% 5Eauthor.
- ⁹⁶ Monterey County Health Department, "Monterey County Health Department Twitter," May 30, 2018, <u>https://twitter.com/search?q = monterey%20</u> <u>county%20health%20department&src = typd</u>.
- ⁹⁷ National Health Service, "Dehydration," n.d., https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/dehydration/.
- ⁹⁸ Pima County Health Department, "Pima County Health Department Twitter," May 8, 2018, <u>https://twitter.com/pchd?ref_src = twsrc%5Egoogle%7Ctwcamp%5Eserp%7Ctwgr%5Eauthor</u>.

Infectious and Communicable Disease Control

- ¹ C. Jessica E. Metcalf et al., "Identifying Climate Drivers of Infectious Disease Dynamics: Recent Advances and Challenges Ahead," *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 284, no. 1860 (August 16, 2017): 20170901, <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2017.0901</u>.
- ² S. Paz, "Climate Change Impacts on West Nile Virus Transmission in a Global Context," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 370, no. 1665 (February 16, 2015): 20130561–20130561, https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0561.
- ³ Ronald Rosenberg et al., "Vital Signs: Trends in Reported Vectorborne Disease Cases United States and Territories, 2004-2016," *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 67, no. 17 (n.d.), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/67/wr/mm6717e1.htm?s_cid = mm6717e1</u>.
- ⁴ Ranjan Ramasamy and Sinnathamby N. Surendran, "Possible Impact of Rising Sea Levels on Vector-Borne Infectious Diseases," *BMC Infectious Diseases* 11, no. 1 (2011): 18.
- ⁵ Vicki Kramer, "Impact of Climate Change on Vector-Borne Diseases" (Vector-Borne Disease Section Division of Communicable Disease Control California Department of Public Health, 2016), <u>https://oehha.ca.gov/media/13human_kramer.pdf</u>.
- ⁶ J.B. Rose and F. Wu, "Waterborne and Foodborne Diseases," in *Climate Change and Public Health*, ed. B.S. Levy and J.A. Patz (New York, NY: Oxford University Press, 2015), 157–72.
- ⁷ Iain R. Lake, "Food-Borne Disease and Climate Change in the United Kingdom," *Environmental Health* 16, no. S1 (November 2017), <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-017-0327-0</u>.
- ⁸ Foodsafety.gov, "Summer and Vacations," n.d., https://www.foodsafety.gov/keep/events/summervacations/index.html.
- ⁹ M.C. Tirado et al., "Climate Change and Food Safety: A Review," *Climate Change and Food Science* 43, no. 7 (August 1, 2010): 1745–65, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2010.07.003.
- ¹⁰ Marc J. Cohen et al., "Impact of Climate Change and Bioenergy on Nutrition" (The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2008), http://www.fao.org/3/a-ai799e.pdf.
- ¹¹ Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, "Expert Meeting on Climate-Related Transboundary Pests and Diseases Including Relevant Aquatic Species: Options for Decision Makers.," 2008, <u>http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/user_upload/foodclimate/presentations/diseases/</u> <u>OptionsEM3.pdf</u>.
- ¹² Alistair B.A. Boxall et al., "Impacts of Climate Change on Indirect Human Exposure to Pathogens and Chemicals from Agriculture," *Environmental Health Perspectives* 117, no. 4 (April 2009): 508–14, <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.0800084</u>.
- ¹³ Elisabet Lindgren, Kristie L. Ebi, and Mikael Johannesson, "Climate Change and Communicable Diseases in the EU Member States: Handbook for National Vulnerability, Impact and Adaptation Assessments" (European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 2010), <u>https://ecdc.europa.eu/</u> <u>sites/portal/files/media/en/publications/Publications/1003_TED_handbook_climatechange.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁴ Rose and Wu, "Waterborne and Foodborne Diseases."
- ¹⁵ NIEHS, "Waterborne Diseases," National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, July 20, 2017, <u>https://www.niehs.nih.gov/research/programs/</u> geh/climatechange/health_impacts/waterborne_diseases/index.cfm.
- ¹⁶ Carol Potera, "After the Fall: Gastroinstestinal Illness Following Downpours," *Environ Health Perspectives* 123, no. 9 (September 2015), https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.123-A243.
- ¹⁷ Sonia Shah, "Climate's Strong Fingerprint In Global Cholera Outbreaks," *Yale Environment 360*, February 17, 2011, https://e360.yale.edu/features/ climates_strong_fingerprint_in_global_cholera_outbreaks.

- ¹⁸ EPA, "Harmful Algal Blooms," U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, April 7, 2017, <u>https://www.epa.gov/nutrientpollution/harmful-algal-blooms</u>.
- ¹⁹ EPA, "Climate Change and Harmful Algal Blooms," U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, March 9, 2017, <u>https://www.epa.gov/nutrientpollution/climate-change-and-harmful-algal-blooms</u>.
- ²⁰ NOAA, "West Coast Harmful Algal Bloom" (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, May 2, 2016), <u>http://oceanservice.noaa.gov/news/sep15/westcoast-habs.html</u>.
- ²¹ Tonya DelSontro, Jake J. Beaulieu, and John A. Downing, "Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Lakes and Impoundments: Upscaling in the Face of Global Climate Change," *Limnology and Oceanography Letters* 3, no. 3 (June 2018), <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/lol2.10073</u>.
- ²² David J. Smith, Dale W. Griffin, and Daniel A. Jaffe, "The High Life: Transport of Microbes in the Atmosphere," *Eos, Transactions American Geophysical Union* 92, no. 30 (2011): 249–250.
- ²³ American Lung Association, "Bacteria and Viruses," American Lung Association, December 7, 2017, <u>http://www.lung.org/our-initiatives/healthy-air/indoor/indoor-air-pollutants/bacteria-and-viruses.html?referrer = https://www.google.com/.</u>
- ²⁴ GS Cooksey et al., "Notes from the Field: Increase in Coccidioidomycosis California, 2016," *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 66, no. 31 (August 11, 2017): 833–34, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6631a4</u>.
- ²⁵ L. Zelezny et al., "Impact of the Drought in the San Joaquin Valley of California," 2015, <u>http://www.fresnostate.edu/academics/drought/</u>.
- ²⁶ Emily Biehl, "Valley Fever Numbers on the Rise in Arizona," *Tuscon News Now*, April 11, 2018, <u>http://www.tucsonnewsnow.com/story/37931744/</u> valley-fever-numbers-on-the-rise-in-arizona-this-year.
- ²⁷ OSHA, "Agricultural Operations: Hazards & Controls," U.S. Department of Labor, Occupational Safety and Health Administration, 2017, https://www.osha.gov/dsg/topics/agriculturaloperations/hazards_controls.html.
- ²⁸ Shannon L. LaDeau et al., "Higher Mosquito Production in Low-Income Neighborhoods of Baltimore and Washington, DC: Understanding Ecological Drivers and Mosquito-Borne Disease Risk in Temperate Cities," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 10, no. 4 (2013), https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10041505.
- ²⁹ Rebecca Kessler, "Stormwater Strategies: Cities Prepare Aging Infrastructure for Climate Change," *Environmental Health Perspectives* 119, no. 12 (December 2011): a514–19, <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.119-a514</u>.
- ³⁰ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Valley Fever (Coccidioidomycosis) Risk & Prevention," 2017, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/fungal/diseases/</u> coccidioidomycosis/risk-prevention.html.
- ³¹ T.M. Bull Bennett et al., "Indigenous Peoples, Land, and Resources," Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment (U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2014), <u>http://nca2014.globalchange.gov/report/sectors/indigenous-peoples</u>.
- ³² Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on the Consequences of Uninsurance, "Care Without Coverage: Too Little, Too Late," *National Academies Press*, 2002, <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK220636/</u>.
- ³³ USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment" (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2016), <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7930/J0R49NQX</u>.
- ³⁴ John T. Watson, Michelle Gayer, and Maire A. Connolly, "Epidemics after Natural Disasters," *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 13, no. 1 (2007): 1.
- ³⁵ Kristie L. Ebi et al., "Adaptation to the Infectious Disease Impacts of Climate Change," *Climatic Change* 118, no. 2 (May 2013): 355–65, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-012-0648-5.
- ³⁶ Ebi et al.
- ³⁷ Jan Semenza, "Prototype Early Warning Systems for Vector-Borne Diseases in Europe," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 12, no. 6 (June 2, 2015): 6333–51, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120606333</u>.
- ³⁸ J. Shumake-Guillemot and L. Fernandez-Montoya, "Climate Services for Health: Improving Public Health Decision-Making in a New Climate" (World Health Organization and World Meteorological Organization, 2016), <u>http://acwupload.s3.amazonaws.com/Public/WHO-WMO/WHO-WMO/Climate Services 1.pdf</u>.
- ³⁹ Watson, Gayer, and Connolly, "Epidemics after Natural Disasters."
- ⁴⁰ Najmeh Jafari et al., "Prevention of Communicable Diseases after Disaster: A Review," Journal of Research in Medical Sciences : The Official Journal of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences 16, no. 7 (July 2011): 956–62.
- ⁴¹ Watson, Gayer, and Connolly, "Epidemics after Natural Disasters."
- ⁴² WHO, "Flooding and Communicable Diseases Fact Sheet," 2004, <u>http://www.who.int/hac/techguidance/ems/flood_cds/en/</u>.

- ⁴³ https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/global/sanitation/sanitation-emergency-response.html
- ⁴⁴ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/disasters/disease/vaccrecdisplaced.html</u>
- ⁴⁵ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/disasters/disease/responderimmun.html</u>
- ⁴⁶ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/disasters/poweroutage/vaccinestorage.html</u>
- ⁴⁷ PLOS, "Using Public Surveillance to Study Insect Vectors of Chagas Disease in Texas," *Science Daily*, accessed June 28, 2018, <u>www.sciencedaily</u>, <u>com/releases/2015/12/151210144709.htm</u>.
- ⁴⁸ <u>http://www.seator.org</u>
- ⁴⁹ <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v = FHQqKWxF1Tg</u>
- ⁵⁰ https://healthreach.nlm.nih.gov/patient-material-results?keywords = heat&btnsearch = Search&author = &language = &format = &user = &recor ds = 10
- ⁵¹ Kristie L. Ebi et al., "Adaptation to the Infectious Disease Impacts of Climate Change," *Climatic Change* 118, no. 2 (May 2013): 355–65, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-012-0648-5.
- ⁵² California Department of Public Health, "Guidance for Surveillance of and Response to Invasive Aedes Mosquitoes and Dengue, Chikungunya, and Zika in California" (California Department of Public Health, February 2017), <u>https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20</u> <u>Document%20Library/InvasiveAedesSurveillanceandResponseinCA2017.pdf</u>.
- ⁵³ Eric Bosco, "Battling Blight: Four Ways Cities Are Using Data to Address Vacant Properties" (Data-Smart City Solutions, August 21, 2017), <u>https://</u> datasmart.ash.harvard.edu/news/article/battling-blight-four-ways-cities-are-using-data-to-address-vacant-properties.
- ⁵⁴ https://www.azdhs.gov/documents/preparedness/epidemiology-disease-control/extreme-weather/pubs/projections-climate-impacts-vectorborne.pdf
- ⁵⁵ California Department of Public Health, "Guidance for Surveillance of and Response to Invasive Aedes Mosquitoes and Dengue, Chikungunya, and Zika in California."
- ⁵⁶ Joey Flechas, "Miami Beach Workers Sweep City for Zika Mosquito Breeding Grounds," *Miami Herald*, August 19, 2016, <u>http://www.miamiherald.com/news/health-care/article96637632.html</u>.
- ⁵⁷ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "Being Prepared for Climate Change: A Workbook for Developing Risk-Based Adaptation Plans" (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, August 2014), <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2014-09/documents/being_prepared_workbook_508.pdf</u>.
- ⁵⁸ California Department of Public Health, "Guidance for Surveillance of and Response to Invasive Aedes Mosquitoes and Dengue, Chikungunya, and Zika in California," February 2017.
- ⁵⁹ Eryn Brown, "Sentinel Chickens' Form a Front Line of Defense against West Nile," LA Times, August 17, 2014, <u>http://www.latimes.com/science/la-me-sentinel-chickens-20140818-story.html</u>.
- ⁶⁰ CDC, "Surveillance and Control of Aedes Aegypti and Aedes Albopictus in the United States" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, September 2017), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/chikungunya/pdfs/surveillance-and-control-of-aedes-aegypti-and-aedes-albopictus-us.pdf</u>.
- ⁶¹ Adam Austin, One-on-One Call for Learning Collaborative Project with Adam Austin, Tulsa, Phone, October 2016.
- ⁶² "News Update Zika Virus: Cases Show Zika Concern Persists in South Texas," Texas Department of State Health Services, December 7, 2017, <u>http://www.dshs.texas.gov/news/updates/Zika-20171207.aspx</u>.
- ⁶³ Foodsafety.gov, "Summer and Vacations."
- ⁶⁴ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "Being Prepared for Climate Change: A Workbook for Developing Risk-Based Adaptation Plans."
- ⁶⁵ Ebi et al., "Adaptation to the Infectious Disease Impacts of Climate Change," May 2013.
- ⁶⁶ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "Being Prepared for Climate Change: A Workbook for Developing Risk-Based Adaptation Plans."
- ⁶⁷ "Harmful Algal Blooms" (Idaho Department of Health & Welfare, 2013), <u>http://www.swdh.org/PDF/Blue-green-algae-brochure.pdf</u>.
- ⁶⁸ https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CEH/DRSEM/Pages/EMB/Shellfish/Marine-Biotoxin-Monitoring-Program.aspx
- ⁶⁹ California Department of Public Health, Occupational Health Branch, "Tailgate Training: Preventing Work-Related Valley Fever in Wildland Firefighters" (California Department of Public Health, July 2013), <u>https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/OHB/HESIS/CDPH%20</u> <u>Document%20Library/TailgateCocci.pdf</u>.

- ⁷⁰ Department of Industrial Relations, "Protection from Valley Fever," California Department of Industrial Relations, November 2017, <u>http://www.dir.ca.gov/dosh/valley-fever-home.html</u>.
- ⁷¹ https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/OHB/HESIS/CDPH%20Document%20Library/CocciFact.pdf
- ⁷² https://agcenter.ucdavis.edu/sites/g/files/dgvnsk261/files/inline-files/Fiebre%20del%20valle%20-%20handout%204%206%202016%20SPA.pdf
- 73 http://www.cdc.gov/fungal/diseases/coccidioidomycosis/
- ⁷⁴ <u>http://www.cdc.gov/westnile/index.html</u>
- ⁷⁵ <u>http://www.cdc.gov/dengue/</u>
- ⁷⁶ <u>http://www.cdc.gov/lyme/</u>
- 77 https://www.cdc.gov/zika/

Environmental Health

- ¹ Robert Cox, "Environmental Justice, Climate Justice, and the Green Jobs Movement," in *Environmental Communication and the Public Sphere*, Third (Sage, 2013), <u>https://www.sagepub.com/sites/default/files/upm-binaries/47779_ch_9.pdf</u>.
- ² Cox.
- ³ Margaret Wilder et al., "Southwest Climate Gap: Poverty and Environmental Justice in the US Southwest," *Local Environment* 21, no. 11 (November 1, 2016): 1332–53, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13549839.2015.1116063</u>.
- ⁴ Daniel J. Jacob and Darrell A. Winner, "Effect of Climate Change on Air Quality," *Atmospheric Environment Fifty Years of Endeavour* 43, no. 1 (January 1, 2009): 51–63, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.09.051</u>.
- ⁵ Rachel Morello-Frosch et al., "The Climate Gap: Inequalities in How Climate Change Hurts Americans & How to Close the Gap" (Program for Environmental and Regional Equity (PERE), May 2009), <u>http://dornsife.usc.edu/pere/climategap/</u>.
- ⁶ National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, "Foodborne Diseases and Nutrition: Climate and Human Health," National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, July 20, 2017, <u>https://www.niehs.nih.gov/research/programs/geh/climatechange/health_impacts/foodborne_diseases/index.cfm</u>.
- ⁷ Rachel Nuwer, "As Temperatures Rise, Malaria Will Invade Higher Elevations," *Smithsonian Magazine*, March 6, 2014, https://www.smithsonianmag.com/science-nature/temperatures-rise-malaria-will-invade-higher-elevations-180949996/.
- ⁸ Xiaoxu Wu et al., "Impact of Climate Change on Human Infectious Diseases: Empirical Evidence and Human Adaptation," *Environment International* 86 (January 2016): 14–23, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2015.09.007.
- ⁹ USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment" (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2016), <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7930/J0R49NQX</u>.
- ¹⁰ AJ Monaghan et al., "Climate Change Influences on the Annual Onset of Lyme Disease in the United States," *Tick Borne Disease* 6, no. 5 (2015), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ttbdis.2015.05.005.
- ¹¹ S. Paz, "Climate Change Impacts on West Nile Virus Transmission in a Global Context," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 370, no. 1665 (February 16, 2015): 20130561–20130561, <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0561</u>.
- ¹² Paz.
- ¹³ Isis M. Arsnoe et al., "Different Populations of Blacklegged Tick Nymphs Exhibit Differences in Questing Behavior That Have Implications for Human Lyme Disease Risk," ed. Ulrike Gertrud Munderloh, *PLOS ONE* 10, no. 5 (May 21, 2015): e0127450, <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0127450</u>.
- ¹⁴ Dale Kasler and Ryan Sabalow, "How Climate Change Could Threaten the Water Supply for Millions of Californians," *The Sacramento Bee*, June 30, 2017.
- ¹⁵ Tom G Farr, Cathleen Jones, and Zhen Liu, "Subsidence in the Central Valley, California" (California Institute of Technology, 2015), https://www.water.ca.gov/LegacyFiles/groundwater/docs/NASA_REPORT.pdf.
- ¹⁶ USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment."

¹⁷ USGCRP.

¹⁸ Maura Allaire, Haowei Wu, and Upmanu Lall, "National Trends in Drinking Water Quality Violations," Proceedings of the National Academy of

Sciences 115, no. 9 (February 27, 2018): 2078, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1719805115.

- ¹⁹ Allaire, Wu, and Lall.
- ²⁰ Allaire, Wu, and Lall.
- ²¹ California State Water Resources Control Board, "Communities That Rely on a Contaminated Groundwater Source for Drinking Water" (California Environmental Protection Agency, Water Resources Control Board, January 2013), <u>https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/ab2222/docs/ab2222.pdf</u>.
- ²² "The Impact of Climate Change on Pest Populations and Public Health" (Chartered Institute of Environmental Health, May 2012), https://www.urbanpestsbook.com/download/impact-climate-change-pest-populations-public-health/.
- ²³ Troy Griggs et al., "More Than 40 Sites Released Hazardous Pollutants Because of Hurricane Harvey," *The New York Times*, September 8, 2017, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2017/09/08/us/houston-hurricane-harvey-hazardous-chemicals.html</u>.
- ²⁴ Michael Biesecker and Frank Bajak, "Evidence of Spills at Toxic Site in Texas during Floods after Harvey," *The Chicago Tribune*, September 18, 2017, <u>http://www.chicagotribune.com/news/nationworld/ct-houston-harvey-superfund-site-spills-20170918-story.html</u>.
- ²⁵ A. Hrybyk, A. Rolfes, and M. Toyoji, "Common Ground II: Why Cooperation to Reduce Accidents at Louisiana Refineries Is Needed Now" (New Orleans, LA: Louisiana Bucket Brigade, 2011), <u>https://kresge.org/library/common-ground-ii-why-cooperation-reduce-accidents-louisiana-refineries-needed-now</u>.
- ²⁶ Steven Mufson, "ExxonMobil Refineries Are Damaged in Hurricane Harvey, Releasing Hazardous Pollutants," *The Washington Post*, August 29, 2017, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/energy-environment/wp/2017/08/29/exxonmobil-refineries-damaged-in-hurricane-harvey-releasing-hazardous-pollutants/?noredirect = on&utm_term = .25f9df7c1d66.</u>
- ²⁷ American Lung Association, "State of the Air 2018" (American Lung Association, 2018), <u>http://www.lung.org/assets/documents/healthy-air/state-of-the-air/sota-2018-full.pdf</u>.
- ²⁸ American Lung Association, "Ozone Pollution," American Lung Association, 2017, <u>http://www.lung.org/our-initiatives/healthy-air/sota/key-findings/ozone-pollution.html</u>.
- ²⁹ USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment."
- ³⁰ U.S. Global Change Research Program (USGCRP), "Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment," 2014, http://nca2014.globalchange.gov/.
- ³¹ <u>https://re.grc.nasa.gov/citizen-scientists-track-algal-blooms/</u>
- ³² <u>http://kissingbug.tamu.edu</u>
- ³³ <u>http://unmaskmycity.org</u>
- ³⁴ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/foodnet/index.html</u>
- ³⁵ https://www.ccdeh.com/resources/documents/training-1/2017-safe-surplus-food-donation-training/1711-ccdeh-safe-surplus-food-donation-bestmanagement-practices-guidance-for-environmental-health-departments/file
- ³⁶ https://www.ccdeh.com/resources/documents/training-1/2017-safe-surplus-food-donation-training/1710-ccdeh-safe-surplus-food-donation-toolkit/file
- ³⁷ <u>https://community-wealth.org/strategies/panel/urban-ag/models.html</u>
- ³⁸ https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/food-safety-education/teach-others/fsis-educational-campaigns/be-food-safe
- ³⁹ <u>https://www.savethefood.com/</u>
- ⁴⁰ Kristie L. Ebi et al., "Adaptation to the Infectious Disease Impacts of Climate Change," *Climatic Change* 118, no. 2 (May 2013): 355–65, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-012-0648-5.
- ⁴¹ Jan Semenza, "Prototype Early Warning Systems for Vector-Borne Diseases in Europe," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 12, no. 6 (June 2, 2015): 6333–51, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120606333</u>.
- ⁴² California Department of Public Health, "Guidance for Surveillance of and Response to Invasive Aedes Mosquitoes and Dengue, Chikungunya, and Zika in California" (California Department of Public Health, February 2017), <u>https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CID/DCDC/CDPH%20</u> <u>Document%20Library/InvasiveAedesSurveillanceandResponseinCA2017.pdf</u>.
- ⁴³ Eric Bosco, "Battling Blight: Four Ways Cities Are Using Data to Address Vacant Properties" (Data-Smart City Solutions, August 21, 2017), https://datasmart.ash.harvard.edu/news/article/battling-blight-four-ways-cities-are-using-data-to-address-vacant-properties.
- ⁴⁴ San Mateo County Mosquito & Vector Control District, "Citizen Science Tick Collection Event Allows Public to Participate in Tick-Borne Disease Research," January 2015, <u>https://www.smcmvcd.org/press-release/citizen-science-tick-collection-event-allows-public-participate-tick-borne-disease</u>.

- ⁴⁵ Association for Professionals in Infection Control and Epidemiology, "Mosquitos, West Nile Virus, and You," 2011, <u>https://apic.org/For-Consumers/Monthly-alerts-for-consumers/Article?id = mosquitoes-west-nile-virus-and-you.</u>
- ⁴⁶ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, "Guide for the Control of Molluscan Shellfish," 2015, <u>https://www.fda.gov/Food/GuidanceRegulation/FederalStateFoodPrograms/ucm2006754.htm</u>.
- ⁴⁷ David Gorn, "Nation's Largest Water Recycling Plant Expanding in Orange County," *The California Report* (KQED News, December 2016), <u>https://www.kqed.org/news/11218554/nations-largest-water-recycling-plant-expanding-in-orange-county.</u>
- ⁴⁸ <u>https://srcity.org/2801/Water-Quality-Advisory</u>
- ⁴⁹ <u>http://cyanotracker.uga.edu</u>
- ⁵⁰ <u>https://ejcw.org/index.php/2018/04/21/re-imagining-morrison-creek-in-south-sacramento/</u>
- ⁵¹ <u>https://waterkeeper.org/waterkeepers/</u>
- 52 https://ejcw.org
- 53 http://www.blackmesawatercoalition.org/no-coal-and-environmental-justice-program/
- ⁵⁴ Virginia Department of Health, "Example Harmful Algal Bloom Press Release" (Virginia Department of Health, n.d.), <u>http://www.vdh.virginia.gov/content/uploads/sites/12/2017/03/VDH_Example-Harmful-Algal-Bloom-Press-Release_2017.pdf</u>.
- ⁵⁵ Oregon Metro, "Metro Staff Report for Landfill and Waste-to-Energy Health Impact Assessment," July 2017, <u>https://www.oregonmetro.gov/sites/</u> <u>default/files/2017/07/07/07/MetroStaffReportforHIA20170706.pdf</u>.
- ⁵⁶ <u>https://dug.org/compost/</u>
- ⁵⁷ Climate Action Reserve, "Effect of New Waste Diversion Mandates on Reserve Projects (City of Seattle & State of California)," 2015.
- 58 Climate Action Reserve.
- ⁵⁹ "Using Composting Toilets and Greywater Systems in Massachusetts" (Commonwealth of Massachusetts Executive Office of Environmental Affairs Department of Environmental Protection, April 2005), <u>https://www.mass.gov/files/documents/2016/08/qm/comptoi.pdf</u>.
- ⁶⁰ <u>http://www.connectourfuture.org/tools/community-based-housing-strategies/</u>
- ⁶¹ FEMA, "Mold Can Be A Danger After Flooding," 2010, <u>https://www.fema.gov/news-release/2010/09/22/mold-can-be-danger-after-flooding</u>.
- ⁶² <u>http://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/PREPAREDNESS/PREPARE/Documents/IdentificationOfCleanAirShelters.pdf</u>

Chronic Disease

- ¹ EPA, "Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2016" (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, April 12, 2018), https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2018-01/documents/2018_complete_report.pdf.
- ² National Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2016. Injury Prevention & Control: Data & Statistics. Available at: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/injury/wisqars/overview/key_data.html</u>
- ³ U.S. Department of Transportation. 2013. Traffic Safety Facts 2013. Available at: <u>http://www-nrd.nhtsa.dot.gov/Pubs/812139.pdf</u>
- ⁴ Brook et al. 2004. Air Pollution and Cardiovascular Disease. Available at: <u>http://circ.ahajournals.org/content/109/21/2655.long</u>
- ⁵ Rudolph, L, Gould, S, Berko, J. Climate Change, Health and Equity: Opportunities for Action. 2015. Public Health Institute, Oakland, CA.
- ⁶ Mike Maciag, "America's Poor Neighborhoods Plagued by Pedestrian Deaths" (Washington, D.C.: Governing, 2014), <u>http://media.navigatored.</u> <u>com/documents/Governing_Pedestrian_Fatalities_Report.pdf</u>.
- ⁷ CDC, "Key Injury and Violence Data," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Injury Prevention and Control, 2016, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/injury/wisqars/overview/key_data.html</u>.
- ⁸ Maciag, "America's Poor Neighborhoods Plagued by Pedestrian Deaths."
- ⁹ CDC, "Key Injury and Violence Data."
- ¹⁰ U.S. Department of Transportation, "Housing and Transportation Affordability," U.S. Department of Transportation, February 2, 2016, https://www.transportation.gov/mission/health/housing-and-transportation-affordability.
- ¹¹ Tami Luhby, "It's Expensive to Be Poor," CNN Money, April 24, 2015, <u>http://money.cnn.com/2015/04/23/news/economy/poor-spending/index.html</u>.

- ¹² London J, Karner A, Rowangould D. Development and Application of an Integrated Health Impacts Assessment Tool for Assessing the Health Impacts of Transportation Plans in Sacramento County. Davis, CA: University of California, Davis; 2017
- ¹³ EPA, "Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2016."
- ¹⁴ Brett Israel, "Coal Plants Smother Communities of Color," *Scientific American*, November 16, 2012, <u>https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/coal-plants-smother-communities-of-color/</u>.
- ¹⁵ Energy UK, "Fuel Poverty," Energy UK, 2013, <u>https://www.energy-uk.org.uk/policy/fuel-poverty.html</u>.
- ¹⁶ U.S. Energy Information Administration, "Air Conditioning in Nearly 100 Million Homes," U.S. Energy Information Administration, 2011, https:// www.eia.gov/consumption/residential/reports/2009/air-conditioning.php.
- ¹⁷ American Council for Energy-Efficient Economy. Unknown. Energy Efficiency and Health. Available at: <u>http://aceee.org/sites/default/files/ee-health-1008.pdf</u>
- ¹⁸ International Energy Agency. 2015. Energy Efficiency Market Report 2015. Available at: <u>https://www.iea.org/publications/freepublications/</u> <u>publication/MediumTermEnergyefficiencyMarketReport2015.pdf</u>
- ¹⁹ National Renewable Energy Laboratory. Unknown. Life Cycle Assessment Harmonization Results and Findings. Available at: <u>http://www.nrel.gov/analysis/sustain_lca_results.html</u>
- ²⁰ EPA, "Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2016."
- ²¹ Gilbert, N. 2012. One-third of our greenhouse gas emissions come from agriculture. Available at: <u>http://www.nature.com/news/one-third-of-our-greenhouse-gas-emissions-come-from-agriculture-1.11708</u>.
- ²² US Environmental Protection Agency. 2015. Ch. 5: Agriculture. In: Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2013. Available at: http://epa.gov/climatechange/Downloads/ghgemissions/US-GHG-Inventory-2015-Chapter-5-Agriculture.pdf.
- ²³ U.S. Centers for Disease Control. 2015. Chronic Disease Overview: Chronic Diseases: The Leading Cause of Death and Disability in the United States. Available at: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/overview/</u>.
- ²⁴ Center for a Livable Future, Johns Hopkins, "Health & Environmental Implications of U.S. Meat Consumption & Production," Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health Center for a Livable Future, 2013, <u>https://www.jhsph.edu/research/centers-and-institutes/johns-hopkins-center-for-a-livable-future/projects/meatless_monday/resources/meat_consumption.html</u>.
- ²⁵ Natasha Dodge, "Effect of Climate Change and Food Insecurity on Low-Income Households," American Journal of Public Health 103, no. 1 (January 2013): e4–e4, <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2012.301083</u>.
- ²⁶ Gamble, J.L., J. Balbus, M. Berger, K. Bouye, V. Campbell, K. Chief, K. Conlon, A. Crimmins, B. Flanagan, C. Gonzalez-Maddux, E. Hallisey, S. Hutchins, L. Jantarasami, S. Khoury, M. Kiefer, J. Kolling, K. Lynn, A. Manangan, M. McDonald, R. Morello-Frosch, M.H. Redsteer, P. Sheffield, K. Thigpen Tart, J. Watson, K.P. Whyte, and A.F. Wolkin, 2016: Ch. 9: Populations of Concern. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 247–286. Food Security Status of U.S. Households in 2014. Available at: http://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-us/key-statistics-graphics.aspx
- ²⁷ USDA, "Key Statistics & Graphics," US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service, October 4, 2017, <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-us/key-statistics-graphics.aspx</u>.
- ²⁸ Michele Ver Ploeg and Ryan Williams, "Mapping Food Deserts in the United States," United States Department of Agriculture (blog), December 1, 2011, <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/amber-waves/2011/december/data-feature-mapping-food-deserts-in-the-us/</u>.
- ²⁹ C. Clare Hinrichs, "Embeddedness and Local Food Systems: Notes on Two Types of Direct Agricultural Market," *Journal of Rural Studies* 16, no. 3 (July 2000), <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0743-0167(99)00063-7</u>.
- ³⁰ Madeline Fletcher, Jennifer Rushlow, and Jennifer Schwartz Berky, "Overcoming Barriers to Cultivating Urban Agriculture," *Real Estate Law* Journal 41 (2012), <u>https://law.pace.edu/sites/default/files/LULC/Conference_2013/Overcoming%20Barriers%20to%20Cultivating%20Urban%20</u> <u>Agriculture%20-%20Full.pdf</u>.
- ³¹ C.L. Walthall et al., "Climate Change and Agriculture in the United States: Effects and Adaptation" (U.S. Department of Agriculture, February 2013), <u>https://www.usda.gov/oce/climate_change/effects_2012/CC%20and%20Agriculture%20Report%20(02-04-2013)b.pdf</u>.
- ³² Keith Paustian et al., "Agriculture's Role in Greenhouse Gas Mitigation," AGRIS, 2006, <u>http://agris.fao.org/agris-search/search.</u> do?recordID = GB2013203398.
- ³³ Pete Smith et al., "Greenhouse Gas Mitigation in Agriculture," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 363, no. 1492 (2008), https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2007.2184.

- ³⁴ Mickey Glantz, Rene Gommes, and Selvaraju Ramasamy, *Coping with a Changing Climate: Considerations for Adaptation and Mitigation in Agriculture*, 2009.
- ³⁵ P. Smith et al., "Agriculture," in *Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* (Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, 2007).
- ³⁶ Sieglinde Snapp and Barry Pound, Agricultural Systems: Agroecology and Rural Innovation for Development, 2nd ed. (Elsevier Inc., 2017).
- ³⁷ Let's Move. Unknown. Chapter 4. Access to Healthy, Affordable Food. Available at: <u>http://www.letsmove.gov/sites/letsmove.gov/files/TFCO</u> Access to Healthy Affordable Food.pdf
- ³⁸ County Health Rankings. Nutrition Prescriptions. Available at: <u>http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/policies/nutrition-prescriptions</u>
- ³⁹ Ceren Hiç et al., "Food Surplus and Its Climate Burdens," *Environmental Science & Technology* 50, no. 8 (April 19, 2016): 4269–77, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b05088.
- ⁴⁰ L. Kiff, A. Wilkes, and T. Tennigkeit, "The Technical Mitigation Potential of Demand-Side Measures in the Agri-Food Sector: A Preliminary Assessment of Available Measures" (Copenhagen: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security, 2016), www.ccafs.cgiar.org.
- 41 Ibid.
- ⁴² Fann, N., T. Brennan, P. Dolwick, J.L. Gamble, V. Ilacqua, L. Kolb, C.G. Nolte, T.L. Spero, and L. Ziska, 2016: Ch. 3: Air Quality Impacts. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 69–98.
- ⁴³ Kinney, P.L., Ito, K., Weinberger, K.R., Sheffield, P.E. (2015). Respiratory and allergic disorders. In B.S. Levy & J.A. Patz (Eds.), *Climate change and public health* (pp. 105-128), New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- ⁴⁴ US Global Change Research Project (2014). National Climate Assessment: Climate Change Impacts in the United States. Washington, D.C. http://nca2014.globalchange.gov
- ⁴⁵ Gamble, J.L., J. Balbus, M. Berger, K. Bouye, V. Campbell, K. Chief, K. Conlon, A. Crimmins, B. Flanagan, C. Gonzalez-Maddux, E. Hallisey, S. Hutchins, L. Jantarasami, S. Khoury, M. Kiefer, J. Kolling, K. Lynn, A. Manangan, M. McDonald, R. Morello-Frosch, M.H. Redsteer, P. Sheffield, K. Thigpen Tart, J. Watson, K.P. Whyte, and A.F. Wolkin, 2016: Ch. 9: Populations of Concern. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 247–286. Available at https://health2016.globalchange.gov/populations-concern
- ⁴⁶ <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2870637/</u>
- ⁴⁷ Kinney, P.L., Ito, K., Weinberger, K.R., Sheffield, P.E. (2015). Respiratory and allergic disorders. In B.S. Levy & J.A. Patz (Eds.), *Climate change and public health* (pp. 105-128), New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- ⁴⁸ Fann, N., T. Brennan, P. Dolwick, J.L. Gamble, V. Ilacqua, L. Kolb, C.G. Nolte, T.L. Spero, and L. Ziska, 2016: Ch. 3: Air Quality Impacts. The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 69–98.
- ⁴⁹ <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4687168/</u>
- ⁵⁰ Gennaro D'Amato et al., "Effects on Asthma and Respiratory Allergy of Climate Change and Air Pollution," *Multidisciplinary Respiratory Medicine* 10, no. 39 (2015), <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40248-015-0036-x</u>.
- ⁵¹ Edith Chen and Gregory E Miller, "Stress and Inflammation in Exacerbations of Asthma," *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity* 21, no. 8 (November 2007): 993–99, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2007.03.009</u>.
- ⁵² Janet L. Gamble et al., "Ch. 9: Populations of Concern," in *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment* (Washington, DC: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2016), 247–286, <u>https://doi.org/10.7930/J0Q81B0T</u>.
- ⁵³ Rachel Morello-Frosch et al., "The Climate Gap: Inequalities in How Climate Change Hurts Americans & How to Close the Gap," May 2009, http://dornsife.usc.edu/assets/sites/242/docs/ClimateGapReport_full_report_web.pdf.
- 54 American Lung Association, "State of the Air 2018."
- ⁵⁵ Morello-Frosch et al., "The Climate Gap: Inequalities in How Climate Change Hurts Americans & How to Close the Gap," May 2009.
- ⁵⁶ JE Moorman, LJ Akinbami, and CM Bailey, "National Surveillance of Asthma: United States, 2001–2010" (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, November 2012), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr_03/sr03_035.pdf</u>.
- ⁵⁷ Schwartz J. Who is sensitive to extremes of temperature? A case-only analysis. *Epidemiology*. 2005;16:67–72.

58 https://www.cdc.gov/features/diabetesheattravel/index.html

- ⁵⁹ Gamble et al., "Ch. 9: Populations of Concern."
- ⁶⁰ CDC, "National Diabetes Statistics Report, 2017" (US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pdfs/data/statistics/national-diabetes-statistics-report.pdf.</u>

61 CDC.

- ⁶² Ken Parsons, Human Thermal Environments: The Effects of Hot, Moderate, and Cold Environments on Human Health, Comfort, and Performance, Third (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 2003).
- ⁶³ Robert D. Brook et al., "Particulate Matter Air Pollution and Cardiovascular Disease," *Circulation* 121, no. 21 (June 1, 2010), <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.0b013e3181dbece1</u>.
- ⁶⁴ https://www.health.harvard.edu/blog/heat-is-hard-on-the-heart-simple-precautions-can-ease-the-strain-201107223180
- ⁶⁵ <u>https://webcms.pima.gov/health/education_and_outreach/beat_the_heat/</u>
- ⁶⁶ Health Canada, "Medications and Heat, Environmental Health Factsheet" (Manitoba Government, June 2012), <u>https://www.gov.mb.ca/health/publichealth/factsheets/heat_medications.pdf</u>.
- ⁶⁷ Gamble et al., "Ch. 9: Populations of Concern."
- ⁶⁸ Garth Graham, "Disparities in Cardiovascular Disease Risk in the United States," *Current Cardiology Reviews* 11, no. 3 (August 2015), https://doi.org/10.2174/1573403X11666141122220003.
- ⁶⁹ American Psychiatric Association, "How Climate-Related Natural Disasters Affect Mental Health," 2017, <u>https://www.psychiatry.org/patients-families/climate-change-and-mental-health-connections/affects-on-mental-health.</u>
- ⁷⁰ Dodgen, D., D. Donato, N. Kelly, A. La Greca, J. Morganstein, J. Reser, J. Ruzek, S. Schweitzer, M.M. Shimamoto, K. Thigpen Tart, and R. Ursano, 2016: Ch. 8: Mental Health and Well-Being. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 217–246.
- ⁷¹ Nicole Charder and James Knoll, "Heatstroke and Psychiatric Patients," *Psychiatric Times* 31, no. 7 (2014), <u>http://www.psychiatrictimes.com/</u>psychopharmacology/heatstroke-and-psychiatric-patients.
- ⁷² Health Canada, "Medications and Heat, Environmental Health Factsheet."
- ⁷³ Dodgen, D., D. Donato, N. Kelly, A. La Greca, J. Morganstein, J. Reser, J. Ruzek, S. Schweitzer, M.M. Shimamoto, K. Thigpen Tart, and R. Ursano, 2016: Ch. 8: Mental Health and Well-Being. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 217–246.
- ⁷⁴ Deepa Sivarajan, "Homelessness and Heat: What Could Rising Temperatures Bring?" (Earth Institute Columbia University, 2016), <u>http://climatesociety.ei.columbia.edu/2016/09/02/homelessness-and-heat-what-could-rising-temperatures-bring/</u>.
- ⁷⁵ Holly Yan, "The Wildfires in California Just Keep Shattering Records This Year," CNN, December 26, 2017, https://www.cnn.com/2017/12/26/ us/2017-california-wildfire-records-trnd/index.html; CAL FIRE, "Top 20 Most Destructive California Wildfires" (Cal Fire, January 12, 2018), http://www.fire.ca.gov/communications/downloads/fact_sheets/Top20_Destruction.pdf.
- ⁷⁶ CAL FIRE, "Incident Information: Thomas Fire," Cal Fire, January 12, 2018, http://www.fire.ca.gov/current_incidents/incidentdetails/Index/1922.
- ⁷⁷ Vanessa Romo and Emily Sullivan, "California Mudslides Death Toll Rises To At Least 20, Residents Told To Evacuate," *NPR*, January 13, 2018, <u>https://www.npr.org/sections/thetwo-way/2018/01/13/577842311/california-mudslides-death-toll-rises-to-18-residents-told-to-evacuate</u>.
- ⁷⁸ Rebecca Renner, "The Deadliest Period of a Hurricane? After It's over.," Washington Post, September 12, 2017, Perspective edition, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/posteverything/wp/2017/09/12/the-deadliest-time-during-a-hurricane-after-its-over/?utm_term = .53e2408a7a8a.</u>
- 79 Gamble et al., "Ch. 9: Populations of Concern."
- ⁸⁰ Gamble, J.L., J. Balbus, M. Berger, K. Bouye, V. Campbell, K. Chief, K. Conlon, A. Crimmins, B. Flanagan, C. Gonzalez-Maddux, E. Hallisey, S. Hutchins, L. Jantarasami, S. Khoury, M. Kiefer, J. Kolling, K. Lynn, A. Manangan, M. McDonald, R. Morello-Frosch, M.H. Redsteer, P. Sheffield, K. Thigpen Tart, J. Watson, K.P. Whyte, and A.F. Wolkin, 2016: Ch. 9: Populations of Concern. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 247–286. Available at https://health2016.globalchange.gov/populations-concern
- ⁸¹ Courtney Plante, Johnie J. Allen, and Craig A. Anderson, "Likely Effects of Rapid Climate Change on Violence and Conflict," *The Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Climate Science*, April 2017, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228620.013.344</u>.
- ⁸² Plante, Allen, and Anderson; Matthew Ranson, "Crime, Weather, and Climate Change," Journal of Environmental Economics and Management 67,

no. 3 (May 2014): 274-302, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2013.11.008.

- ⁸³ J.P. Forgas, A.W. Kruglanski, and K.D. Williams, *The Psychology of Social Conflict and Aggression*, Sydney Symposium of Social Psychology (Taylor & Francis, 2011), <u>https://books.google.com/books?id = T1p6AgAAQBAJ</u>.
- ⁸⁴ Marshall Burke, Solomon M. Hsiang, and Edward Miguel, "Climate and Conflict," *Annual Review of Economics* 7, no. 1 (August 2015): 577–617, https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-economics-080614-115430.
- ⁸⁵ Boehmer, T. 2014. Physical Activity and Air Pollution Exposure. Available at: <u>https://www3.epa.gov/airnow/2014conference/Plenary/Monday/Boehmer_NAQC_2014_final2.pdf</u>
- ⁸⁶ Ziska, L., A. Crimmins, A. Auclair, S. DeGrasse, J.F. Garofalo, A.S. Khan, I. Loladze, A.A. Pérez de León, A. Showler, J. Thurston, and I. Walls, 2016: Ch. 7: Food Safety, Nutrition, and Distribution. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 189–216.
- ⁸⁷ Brown, M.E., J.M. Antle, P. Backlund, E.R. Carr, W.E. Easterling, M.K. Walsh, C. Ammann, W. Attavanich, C.B. Barrett, M.F. Bellemare, V. Dancheck, C. Funk, K. Grace, J.S.I. Ingram, H. Jiang, H. Maletta, T. Mata, A. Murray, M. Ngugi, D. Ojima, B.,O'Neill, and C. Tebaldi. 2015. *Climate Change, Global Food Security, and the U.S. Food System.* 146 pages. Available online at http://www.usda.gov/oce/climate_change/FoodSecurity2015Assessment.pdf.
- ⁸⁸ Food security status of U.S. Households in 2016. Available at: <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-us/key-statistics-graphics.aspx#foodsecure</u>
- ⁸⁹ Lewis Ziska et al., "Ch. 7: Food Safety, Nutrition, and Distribution," in *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment* (Washington, DC: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2016), 189–216, <u>https://doi.org/10.7930/J0ZP4417</u>.
- ⁹⁰ M. E. Brown et al., "Climate Change, Global Food Security, and the U.S. Food System" (USDA, 2015), <u>http://www.usda.gov/oce/climate_change/FoodSecurity2015Assessment/FullAssessment.pdf</u>.
- ⁹¹ J. Davidson, W. McClung, and S. V. Cantrill, "Syndromic Surveillance: An Applied Tool for Monitoring Health Effects of Colorado Wildfires, Summer 2002" (Denver Public Health and Emergency Department, 2002), <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3456522/</u> pdf/11524_2006_Article_BF02416913.pdf.
- ⁹² Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Monitoring Health Effects of Wildfires Using the BioSense System—San Diego County, California, October 2007," *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 2008, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm5727a2.htm</u>.
- ⁹³ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "CASPERs in Oregon," Community Assessment for Public Health Emergency Response (CASPER), 2017, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/hsb/disaster/casper/states/or.htm</u>.
- ⁹⁴ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "CASPERs in California," Community Assessment for Public Health Emergency Response (CASPER), 2017, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/hsb/disaster/casper/states/ca.htm</u>.
- ⁹⁵ <u>https://www.opendataphilly.org/group/parks-recreation-group</u>
- ⁹⁶ <u>https://tims.berkeley.edu/</u>
- ⁹⁷ http://histategis.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id = 2ad9abc4cf064a9dabbf46763eddf8b5
- ⁹⁸ APHA and Safe Routes to School, "Promoting Active Transportation: An Opportunity for Public Health" (American Public Health Association, n.d.).
- ⁹⁹ Jessica R. White et al., "Evaluation of a Novel Syndromic Surveillance Query for Heat-Related Illness Using Hospital Data From Maricopa County, Arizona, 2015," *Public Health Reports* 132, no. 1_suppl (July 2017): 31S-39S, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354917706517</u>.
- ¹⁰⁰ Neil Maizlish et al., "Health Cobenefits and Transportation-Related Reductions in Greenhouse Gas Emissions in the San Francisco Bay Area," *American Journal of Public Health* 103, no. 4 (April 2013): 703–9, <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2012.300939</u>.
- ¹⁰¹ Alex Karner et al., "Development and Application of an Integrated Health Impacts Assessment Tool for the Sacramento Region: A Research Report from the National Center for Sustainable Transportation" (National Center for Sustainable Transportation, UC Davis Institute of Transportation Studies, October 2017), <u>https://ncst.ucdavis.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/NCST-TO-033.3-London ITHIM Final-Report_OCT-2017.pdf</u>.

- ¹⁰³ "Map the Meal Gap," Feeding America, 2016, <u>http://map.feedingamerica.org/</u>.
- ¹⁰⁴ "Local Food System Asset Mapping," University of North Carolina Asheville, n.d., <u>https://nemac.unca.edu/local-food-system-asset-mapping</u>.
- ¹⁰⁵ CDC, "Healthier Food Retail: Beginning the Assessment Process in Your State or Community" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2014), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/downloads/hfrassessment.pdf</u>.

¹⁰² http://mdfoodsystemmap.org

¹⁰⁶ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/downloads/PA_2011_WEB.pdf</u>

- ¹⁰⁸ National Recreation and Park Association, "Parks Build Healthy Communities: Success Stories" (National Recreation and Park Association, n.d.), <u>https://www.nrpa.org/contentassets/f768428a39aa4035ae55b2aaff372617/healthy-communities-success-stories.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁰⁹ Hinrichs, "Embeddedness and Local Food Systems: Notes on Two Types of Direct Agricultural Market."
- ¹¹⁰ Fletcher, Rushlow, and Berky, "Overcoming Barriers to Cultivating Urban Agriculture."
- ¹¹¹ Land Use Law Center. 2012. Overcoming Barriers to Cultivating Urban Agriculture. Available at: <u>http://law.pace.edu/sites/default/files/LULC/</u> Conference_2013/Overcoming%20Barriers%20to%20Cultivating%20Urban%20Agriculture%20-%20Full.pdf
- ¹¹² Fine Farm to Institution New England. Unknown. Setting the Table for Success. Available at: <u>http://www.farmtoinstitution.org/food-service-toolkit</u>
- ¹¹³ Walthall et al., "Climate Change and Agriculture in the United States: Effects and Adaptation."
- ¹¹⁴ Let's Move. Unknown. Chapter 4. Access to Healthy, Affordable Food. Available at: <u>http://www.letsmove.gov/sites/letsmove.gov/files/TFCO_Access to Healthy Affordable Food.pdf</u>
- ¹¹⁵ County Health Rankings. Nutrition Prescriptions. Available at: <u>http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/policies/nutrition-prescriptions</u>
- 116 http://www.meatlessmonday.com
- ¹¹⁷ EPA, "Washington School Food Share Program Toolkit" (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, March 2017), <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/</u> production/files/2017-07/documents/washingtonschoolfoodshare5087717_a.pdf.
- ¹¹⁸ https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DCDIC/NEOPB/Pages/CommunitiesofExcellence3.aspx
- ¹¹⁹ https://www.healnh.org/images/pdffiles/ActiveTransportation/workshop2/Walk-Bike-Assessment2014.pdf
- 120 https://www.polkcountyiowa.gov/media/189984/medication-handout.pdf
- 121 http://airnow.gov/index.cfm?action = aqibasics.aqi
- 122 http://www.healslo.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/OutsideIn-SLO-WIC-Material-Compilation.pdf
- ¹²³ EPA, "Climate Change and the Health of People with Disabilities" (US EPA, May 2016), <u>https://www.apha.org/~/media/files/pdf/topics/climate/epa_disabilities_health_climate_change.ashx</u>.
- ¹²⁴ Eleanor Goldberg, "Why So Many People Don't 'Just Leave' When A Major Hurricane Hits," *Huffington Post*, September 7, 2017, https://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/why-people-dont-leave-hurricanes_us_59b04a2ce4b0dfaafcf50619.
- 125 EPA, "Climate Change and the Health of People with Disabilities."

126 EPA.

- 127 https://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/edtk_local-food-procurement.pdf
- ¹²⁸ http://reconnectingamerica.org/resource-center/browse-research/2012-2/are-we-there-yet-creating-complete-communities-for-21st-century-america/
- 129 https://activelivingresearch.org/sites/default/files/ALR_Review_ActiveTransport_January2016.pdf
- 130 https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2014-08/documents/coolpavescompendium_ch5.pdf
- ¹³¹ https://ephtracking.cdc.gov/showAirData.action
- ¹³² Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists, "Environmental Health Indicators: Climate Change," Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists, n.d., <u>https://www.cste.org/page/EHIndicatorsClimate</u>.
- ¹³³ EPA, "Air Sensor Toolbox for Citizen Scientists, Researchers and Developers," U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, May 1, 2018, https://www.epa.gov/air-sensor-toolbox.
- ¹³⁴ California Air Resources Board, "Strategies to Reduce Air Pollution Exposure Near High-Volume Roadways," California Air Resources Board, 2017, <u>https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/resources/fact-sheets/strategies-reduce-air-pollution-exposure-near-high-volume-roadways</u>.
- ¹³⁵ Global Climate and Health Alliance. Salt Lake City: Health Air, Healthy Climate. Salt Lake City, UT: Global Climate and Health Alliance 2017. http://unmaskmycity.org/project/salt-lake-city/
- ¹³⁶ Massachusetts Department of Public Health, "Community Health Worker Pediatric Asthma Home Visiting Program: Program Summary," 2017,

¹⁰⁷ https://www.climateplan.org/resources

https://www.mass.gov/files/documents/2018/02/02/asthma-chw-hv-program-summary.pdf.

- ¹³⁷ Cleveland Clinic, "How to Manage Your Diabetes in Extreme Summer Heat," May 29, 2015, <u>https://health.clevelandclinic.org/how-to-manage-your-diabetes-in-extreme-summer-heat/</u>.
- ¹³⁸ Kent County Health Connect, "Healthy Eating and REACH," Kent County Health Connect, n.d., <u>http://www.kentcountyhealthconnect.org/About-Us/Healthy-Eating</u>.
- ¹³⁹ Anna P. Goddu et al., "Food Rx: A Community–University Partnership to Prescribe Healthy Eating on the South Side of Chicago," *Journal of Prevention & Intervention in the Community* 43, no. 2 (April 3, 2015): 148–62, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10852352.2014.973251</u>.
- ¹⁴⁰ <u>https://noharm-uscanada.org/content/us-canada/less-meat-better-meat</u>
- ¹⁴¹ Health Care Without Harm, "Purchasing Considerations A Supplement To: Redefining Protein Adjusting Diets to Protect Public Health and Conserve Resources" (Health Care Without Harm, n.d.), <u>https://noharm-uscanada.org/sites/default/files/documents-files/4681/Redefining%20</u> <u>Protein%20Purchasing%20Considerations_4-11-17.pdf</u>.

¹⁴² New Mexico Department of Health, "New Mexico Department of Health Twitter," May 1, 2018, https://twitter.com/nmdoh.

- ¹⁴³ Center for a Livable Future, Johns Hopkins, "Health & Environmental Implications of U.S. Meat Consumption & Production."
- ¹⁴⁴ Center for a Livable Future, Johns Hopkins.
- ¹⁴⁵ EPA, "Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990–2016."
- ¹⁴⁶ Kelley J. Donham et al., "Community Health and Socioeconomic Issues Surrounding Concentrated Animal Feeding Operations," *Environmental Health Perspectives* 115, no. 2 (November 14, 2006): 317–20, <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8836</u>.
- ¹⁴⁷ Marco Springmann et al., "Analysis and Valuation of the Health and Climate Change Cobenefits of Dietary Change," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 113, no. 15 (2016): 4146–4151.
- 148 https://www.polkcountyiowa.gov/media/189984/medication-handout.pdf
- 149 AP-NORC Center for Public Affairs Research, "Two Years after Superstorm Sandy: Resilience in Twelve Neighborhoods," 2014
- ¹⁵⁰ Occupational Safety and Health Administration, "Occupational Heat Exposure," United States Department of Labor, n.d., <u>https://www.osha.gov/</u> <u>SLTC/heatstress/</u>.
- ¹⁵¹ Brenda Jacklitsch, Kristin Musolin, and Jung-Hyun Kim, "Criteria for a Recommended Standard: Occupational Exposure to Heat and Hot Environments" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 2016), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2016-106/pdfs/2016-106.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁵² Oregon Health Authority, "Risk Communication Toolkit for Flooding," October 2014, <u>http://www.oregon.gov/oha/ph/Preparedness/Partners/</u> <u>Documents/Risk%20Comm%20Toolkit%20For%20Flooding_Oct2014_V3.pdf</u>.

Preparedness

- ¹ "Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030" (United Nations, 2015), <u>https://www.preventionweb.net/files/43291</u> <u>sendaiframeworkfordrren.pdf</u>.
- ² Moser, S., Ekstrom, J., & Franco, G. (2012). Our changing climate 2012: vulnerability and adaptation to the increasing risks of climate change in California. California Climate Change Center
- ³ Kathryn Hansen, "Climate Models Project Increase in U.S. Wildfire Risk," *NASA* (blog), December 4, 2012, <u>https://www.nasa.gov/topics/earth/features/climate-fire.html</u>.
- ⁴ USDA, "The 2010 Wildland-Urban Interface of the Conterminous United States" (US Department of Agriculture, US Forest Service, University of Wisconsin-Madison, 2015), <u>https://www.fs.fed.us/nrs/pubs/rmap/rmap_nrs8.pdf</u>.
- ⁵ USGCRP, "Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I" (Washington, DC, USA: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2017), <u>https://science2017.globalchange.gov/downloads/CSSR2017_FullReport.pdf</u>.
- ⁶ EPA, "Managing Flood Risk," US EPA, September 14, 2016, <u>https://www.epa.gov/green-infrastructure/manage-flood-risk</u>.
- ⁷ Esprit Smith, "Climate Change May Lead to Bigger Atmospheric Rivers," NASA Global Climate Change, 2018, <u>https://climate.nasa.gov/news/2740/climate-change-may-lead-to-bigger-atmospheric-rivers/</u>.
- ⁸ NASA. Climate change: how do we know? <u>https://cliamte.nasa.gov/evidence/</u>

- ⁹ NOAA, "National Climate Report Annual 2017," National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, January 12, 2018, <u>https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/sotc/national/201713</u>.
- ¹⁰ J Walsh et al., "Ch. 2: Our Changing Climate," in Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment, 2014, https://nca2014.globalchange.gov/report/our-changing-climate/introduction.
- ¹¹ Henry Fountain, "In a Warming California, a Future of More Fire," *The New York Times*, December 7, 2017, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2017/12/07/climate/california-fires-warming.html</u>.

¹² Fountain.

- ¹³ "OCHA and Slow-Onset Emergencies" (OCHA Policy Development and Studies Branch, April 2011), <u>https://www.unocha.org/sites/unocha/files/OCHA%20and%20Slow%20Onset%20Emergencies.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁴ Anne C. Mulkern, "Sea Level Rise Will Threaten Thousands of California Homes," *Scientific American*, June 18, 2018, https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/sea-level-rise-will-threaten-thousands-of-california-homes/.
- ¹⁵ G. Griggs et al., "Rising Seas in California: An Update on Sea-Level Rise Science" (California Ocean Protection Council Science Advisory Team Working Group, April 2017), <u>http://www.opc.ca.gov/webmaster/ftp/pdf/docs/rising-seas-in-california-an-update-on-sea-level-rise-science.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁶ NASA, "Ramp-up in Antarctic Ice Loss Speeds Sea Level Rise," Sea Level Change: Observations from Space, June 13, 2018, <u>https://sealevel.nasa.gov/news/129/ramp-up-in-antarctic-ice-loss-speeds-sea-level-rise</u>.
- ¹⁷ Abu Mohd Naser et al., "Drinking Water Salinity and Kidney Health in Southwest Coastal Bangladesh: Baseline Findings of a Community-Based Stepped-Wedge Randomised Trial," *The Lancet* 389 (2017): S15.
- ¹⁸ Aneire Ehmar Khan et al., "Salinity in Drinking Water and the Risk of (Pre)Eclampsia and Gestational Hypertension in Coastal Bangladesh: A Case-Control Study," ed. Pal Bela Szecsi, *PLoS ONE* 9, no. 9 (September 30, 2014): e108715, <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0108715</u>.
- ¹⁹ Richard S. Gordon, "Sea-Level Rise: A Slow-Moving Emergency" (California State Assembly Select Committee Sea Level Rise and the California Economy, August 2014), <u>https://lafco.smcgov.org/sites/lafco.smcgov.org/files/documents/files/Select%20Committee%20Sea-Level%20Rise%20</u> <u>Report.pdf</u>.
- ²⁰ Ivana Cvijanovic et al., "Future Loss of Arctic Sea-Ice Cover Could Drive a Substantial Decrease in California's Rainfall," *Nature Communications* 8, no. 1 (December 2017), <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-01907-4</u>.
- ²¹ California Natural Resources Agency, "Safeguarding California Plan: 2018 Update, California's Climate Adaptation Strategy" (California Natural Resources Agency, January 2018), <u>http://resources.ca.gov/docs/climate/safeguarding/update2018/safeguarding-california-plan-2018-update.pdf</u>.
- ²² California Natural Resources Agency.
- ²³ Prein, A., Holland, G., Rasmussen, R., Clark, M., & Tye, M. (2016). Running dry: the U.S. Southwest's drift to a drier climate state. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 23(3): 1272-1279. Available at http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/2015GL066727/full
- ²⁴ NASA, "NASA On Air: NASA Study Finds Carbon Emissions Could Dramatically Increase Risk Of U.S. Megadroughts (2/12/2015)," NASA, February 12, 2015, <u>https://svs.gsfc.nasa.gov/11773</u>.
- ²⁵ NASA, "Megadroughts in U.S. West Projected to Be Worst of the Millennium," NASA, February 12, 2015, https://svs.gsfc.nasa.gov/4270.
- ²⁶ https://www.dailynews.com/2017/12/09/governor-jerry-brown-to-meet-fire-victims-in-ventura-today/
- ²⁷ https://www.washingtonpost.com/outlook/who-suffers-when-disasters-strike-the-poorest-and-most-vulnerable/2017/09/01/0efab8a2-8e65-11e7-84c0-02cc069f2c37_story.html
- ²⁸ Morello-Frosch et al., "The Climate Gap: Inequalities in How Climate Change Hurts Americans & How to Close the Gap," May 2009.
- ²⁹ https://www.pri.org/stories/2017-12-04/after-california-wildfires-community-leaders-are-trying-rebuild-homes-and-trust
- ³⁰ Erika Spanger-Siegfried et al., "When Rising Seas Hit Home: Hard Choices Ahead for Hundreds of US Coastal Communities" (Union of Concerned Scientists, July 2017).
- ³¹ "Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015-2030."
- ³² Jackie Botts and Dylan Freedman, "After the California Wildfires, Community Leaders Are Trying to Rebuild Homes and Trust in Government Agencies," *Public Radio International*, December 4, 2017.
- ³³ Sarah Katz, "Sonoma County Remaining Uninsured Study" (Sonoma County Department of Health Service, January 2017), <u>http://www.sonoma-county.org/health/publications/pdf/sonoma-county-remaining-uninsured-study-summary.pdf</u>.

- ³⁴ UndocuFund, "Frequently Asked Question," UndocuFund for Fire Relief in Sonoma County, 2017, http://undocufund.org/faq/.
- ³⁵ Botts and Freedman, "After the California Wildfires, Community Leaders Are Trying to Rebuild Homes and Trust in Government Agencies."

- ³⁷ A Nolen et al., "Galveston Hurricane & Healthy Neighborhood Scenarios: Workbook on Community Health, Neighborhood Resiliency, & Disasters" (Galveston, TX: University of Texas Medical Branch, Center to Eliminate Health Disparities, 2010), <u>http://www.cidrap.umn.edu/sites/default/files/</u> public/php/26978/Galveston%20Hurricane%20and%20Healthy%20Neighborhood%20Scenarios%20Workbook_0.pdf.
- ³⁸ Nolen et al.
- ³⁹ Nolen et al.
- ⁴⁰ Edgar Walters, "'It's Our Form of Apartheid': How Galveston Stalled Public Housing Reconstruction in the 10 Years after Ike," *The Texas Tribune*, April 16, 2018, <u>https://www.texastribune.org/2018/04/16/galveston-public-affordable-housing-hurricane-ike/</u>.
- 41 Walters.
- 42 Walters.
- ⁴³ A Nolen et al., "Improving Health through Housing and Neighborhood Development in Galveston, Texas: Use of Health Impact Assessment to Develop Planning Tools and Coordinated Community Action" (Galveston, TX: University of Texas Medical Branch, Center to Eliminate Health Disparities, 2014), <u>http://www.pewtrusts.org/ ~/media/assets/external-sites/health-impact-project/utmb-2014-improving-health-through-housingand-neighborhood-development-in-galveston_execsummary.pdf?la = en.</u>
- ⁴⁴ Nolen et al.
- 45 Nolen et al., "Galveston Hurricane & Healthy Neighborhood Scenarios: Workbook on Community Health, Neighborhood Resiliency, & Disasters."
- ⁴⁶ Susan A. Perlin, David Wong, and Ken Sexton, "Residential Proximity to Industrial Sources of Air Pollution: Interrelationships among Race, Poverty, and Age," *Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association* 51, no. 3 (March 1, 2001): 406–21, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10473289.2001.</u> <u>10464271</u>.
- ⁴⁷ Zachary Bleemer and Wilbert van der Klaauw, "Disaster (Over-)Insurance: The Long-Term Financial and Socioeconomic Consequences of Hurricane Katrina" (Federal Reserve Bank of New York, February 2017), <u>https://www.newyorkfed.org/medialibrary/media/research/staff_reports/</u> <u>sr807.pdf?la = en</u>.
- ⁴⁸ Michael McCormick, "Land Use: General Plan: Safety Element," Pub. L. No. 379 (2015), <u>https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.</u> <u>xhtml?bill_id = 201520160SB379</u>.
- ⁴⁹ <u>https://www.rand.org/pubs/working_papers/WR543.html</u>
- ⁵⁰ Michael Nedelman, "Eleventh Death Confirmed after Florida Nursing Home Left without A/C" (CNN, September 22, 2017), <u>https://www.cnn.</u> com/2017/09/20/health/florida-nursing-home-ninth-death/index.html.
- ⁵¹ https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/hsb/disaster/CASPER_elearning/CASPER_Toolkit Version 2.0_FINAL_CLEARED.pdf
- ⁵² Oregon Health Authority, "Oregon Wildfire Response Protocol for Severe Smoke Episodes" (Oregon Health Authority, 2018), <u>http://www.oregon.gov/deq/FilterDocs/WFresponse.pdf</u>.
- ⁵³ Public Health Division, "Identification of Cleaner Air Shelters/Spaces for Protection from Wildfire Smoke" (Oregon Health Authority, September 8, 2017), <u>http://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/PREPAREDNESS/PREPARE/Documents/IdentificationOfCleanAirShelters.pdf</u>.
- ⁵⁴ https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPDF.cgi/P100MQHC.PDF?Dockey = P100MQHC.PDF
- ⁵⁵ <u>https://www.dhs.wisconsin.gov/publications/p0/p00632.pdf</u>
- ⁵⁶ <u>http://www.oregon.gov/deq/FilterDocs/WFresponse.pdf</u>
- ⁵⁷ National LBGT Health Education Center, "Emergency Preparedness and Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual & Transgender (LGBT) People: What Health Centers Need to Know" (The Fenway Institute, n.d.), <u>https://www.lgbthealtheducation.org/wp-content/uploads/Emergency-Preparedness-for-LGBT-People-Final.pdf</u>.
- ⁵⁸ M. H. Morton, A. Dworsky, and G. M. Samuels, "Missed Opportunities: Youth Homelessness in America. National Estimates" (Chapin Hall at the University of Chicago, 2017), <u>http://voicesofyouthcount.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/ChapinHall_VoYC_NationalReport_Final.pdf</u>.
- ⁵⁹ National LBGT Health Education Center, "Emergency Preparedness and Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual & Transgender (LGBT) People: What Health Centers Need to Know."
- ⁶⁰ Family Equality Council, "Disaster Preparedness for Families with Parents Who Are LGBT," Family Equality Council, n.d.,

³⁶ <u>https://sonomacountyrises.org/#/</u>

https://www.familyequality.org/get_informed/advocacy/know_your_rights/disaster_prepareness/.

- ⁶¹ Andrew Gorman-Murray, Scott Mckinnon, and Dale Dominey-Howes, "Queer Domicide: LGBT Displacement and Home Loss in Natural Disaster Impact, Response, and Recovery," *Home Cultures* 11, no. 2 (July 2014), <u>https://doi.org/10.2752/175174214X13891916944751</u>.
- ⁶² Gorman-Murray, Mckinnon, and Dominey-Howes.
- ⁶³ Gorman-Murray, Mckinnon, and Dominey-Howes.
- ⁶⁴ Family Equality Council, "Disaster Preparedness for Families with Parents Who Are LGBT."
- ⁶⁵ "Working with the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender Community: A Cultural Competence Guide for Emergency Responders and Volunteers" (Human Rights Campaign, n.d.), <u>https://assets2.hrc.org/files/assets/resources/EmergencyResponders - LGBT Competency.pdf?</u> <u>ga = 2.22735288.2069012471.1529708927-344055508.1529337978</u>.
- ⁶⁶ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/disasters/disease/vaccrecdisplaced.html</u>
- 67 https://www.cdc.gov/disasters/disease/responderimmun.html
- ⁶⁸ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/disasters/poweroutage/vaccinestorage.html</u>
- ⁶⁹ <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29084119</u>
- ⁷⁰ CAL FIRE, "Incident Information: Thomas Fire," Cal Fire, January 12, 2018, http://www.fire.ca.gov/current_incidents/incidentdetails/Index/1922.
- ⁷¹ http://www.pressdemocrat.com/news/8144221-181/city-fountaingrove-water-system-needs
- ⁷² Kais, S.M., &Islam, M.S. (2016). Community capitals as community resilience to climate change: conceptual connections. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 13(12), 1211-1228. Available at: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5201352/</u>
- ⁷³ Rosa Gonzalez, "Community-Driven Climate Resilience Planning: A Framework" (National Association of Climate Resilience Planners, May 2017), https://kresge.org/sites/default/files/library/community_drive_resilience_planning_from_movement_strategy_center.pdf.
- ⁷⁴ https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2013/01/07/adaptation-2
- ⁷⁵ https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/strategic-planning/healthcare-leaders-dr-jeff-thompson-and-gary-cohen-champions-of-fighting-climatechange.html
- ⁷⁶ American Heart Association News, "What Katrina Can Teach Us about Disrupted Cardiac Care after Hurricane Harvey," American Heart Association News (blog), September 1, 2017, <u>https://news.heart.org/what-katrina-can-teach-us-about-disrupted-cardiac-care-after-hurricane-harvey/</u>.
- ⁷⁷ https://toolkit.climate.gov/sites/default/files/SCRHCFI%20Best%20Practices%20Report%20final2%202014%20Web.pdf
- ⁷⁸ http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/189951/9789241565073_eng.pdf?sequence = 1
- ⁷⁹ Baher Kamal, "Middle East, Uninhabitable?," Wall Street International, March 2017, <u>https://wsimag.com/economy-and-politics/24280-middle-east-uninhabitable</u>.
- ⁸⁰ Timothy M. Lenton, "Early Warning of Climate Tipping Points," Nature Climate Change, June 2011, https://doi.org/10.1038/NCLIMATE1143.
- ⁸¹ https://www.nola.gov/nola/media/Climate-Action/Climate-Action-for-a-Resilient-New-Orleans.pdf
- ⁸² https://www.nola.gov/health-department/climate-changes-health-/climate-changes-health-overview/

Clinical Services and Health Care Systems

- ¹ http://climatehealthconnect.org/resources/physicians-guide-climate-change-health-equity/
- ² http://airnow.gov/index.cfm?action = aqibasics.aqi
- ³ <u>http://climatehealthconnect.org/resources/posters/</u>
- ⁴ LIHEAP, "State Low-Income Energy Assistance Snapshots," U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Low-Income Energy Assistance, 2018, https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ocs/programs/liheap.
- ⁵ Riffkin R. (2014) Americans Rate Nurses Highest on Honesty, Ethical Standards. Gallup (18/12/2014). Available online at: <u>http://www.gallup.</u> com/poll/180260/americans-rate-nurses-highest-honestyethical-standards.aspx
- ⁶ Roser-Renouf C et al. (2014). Global Warming's Six Americas' in October 2014: perceptions of the health consequences of global warming and update on key beliefs. Yale University and George Mason University. New Haven, CT: Yale Project on Climate Change Communication. Available online at: <u>http://climatecommunication.yale.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2015/03/Six-Americas-October-2014.pdf</u>

⁷ <u>http://usclimateandhealthalliance.org/uscha-state-policy-initiative/</u>

- ⁸ Additional Requirements for Charitable Hospitals; Community Health Needs Assessments for Charitable Hospitals; Requirements of a Section 4959 Excise Tax Return and Time for Filing the Return; Final Rule, 79 Fed. Reg. 78954, 78956 (Dec. 31, 2014) (to be codified at 26 C.F.R. pts. 1, 53, and 602), *a*vailable at <u>http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2014-12-31/pdf/2014-30525.pdf</u>
- ⁹ "What Is Community Commons," Community Commons, 2018, https://www.communitycommons.org/.
- ¹⁰ CDC, "Climate and Health," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, April 30, 2015, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/climateandhealth/tools.htm</u>.
- ¹¹ https://noharm-uscanada.org/sites/default/files/documents-files/4031/Leveraging%20Hospital%20Community%20Benefits%20to%20 Address%20Climate%20Change.pdf
- ¹² Arrieta, M.I., Foreman, R.D., Crook, E.D., & Icenogle, M.L., (2009). Providing continuity of care for chronic diseases in the aftermath of Katrina: from field experience to policy recommendations. *Disaster Med Public Health Prep*, 3(3): 174-182. Available at <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3901308/</u>
- ¹³ https://www.fiercehealthcare.com/healthcare/hurricane-sandy-one-year-later-hospitals-recover-prepare
- ¹⁴ Josh Michaud and Jennifer Kates, "Public Health in Puerto Rico after Hurricane Maria," *The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation* (blog), November 17, 2017, <u>https://www.kff.org/other/issue-brief/public-health-in-puerto-rico-after-hurricane-maria/</u>.
- ¹⁵ Michaud and Kates.
- ¹⁶ American Heart Association News, "What Katrina Can Teach Us about Disrupted Cardiac Care after Hurricane Harvey," American Heart Association News (blog), September 1, 2017, <u>https://news.heart.org/what-katrina-can-teach-us-about-disrupted-cardiac-care-after-hurricane-harvey/</u>.
- ¹⁷ "Medical Reserve Corps," Ready.gov, 2018, https://www.ready.gov/medical-reserve-corps.
- ¹⁸ Health Care Without Harm, "Safe Haven in the Storm" (Health Care Without Harm, January 2018), <u>https://noharm-uscanada.org/sites/default/</u> <u>files/documents-files/5146/Safe_haven.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁹ Health Care Without Harm.
- ²⁰ https://toolkit.climate.gov/sites/default/files/SCRHCFI%20Best%20Practices%20Report%20final2%202014%20Web.pdf
- ²¹ http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/189951/9789241565073_eng.pdf?sequence = 1
- ²² Matthew J. Eckelman and Jodi Sherman, "Environmental Impacts of the U.S. Health Care System and Effects on Public Health," ed. Shama Ahmad, PLOS ONE 11, no. 6 (June 9, 2016): e0157014, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157014.
- ²³ <u>https://climatecouncil.noharm.org</u>
- ²⁴ "Climate Action Playbook: Reference Page" (Health Care Without Harm, 2018), https://noharm-uscanada.org/sites/default/files/Climate%20 Action%20Playbook%20-%20References.pdf.
- ²⁵ Institute for Local Government, "Sustainability Best Practices Framework" (Institute for Local Government, 2013), <u>http://www.ca-ilg.org/sites/</u> main/files/file-attachments/sustainability_best_practices_framework_7.0_june_2013_final.pdf.
- ²⁶ "Renewable Energy," Practice Greenhealth, 2018, https://practicegreenhealth.org/topics/energy-water-and-climate/energy/renewable-energy.
- ²⁷ "Health Care Climate Council," Health Care Climate Council, October 2017, https://climatecouncil.noharm.org.
- ²⁸ "Health Care Climate Council."
- ²⁹ "Walk & Wheel Colorado: Increasing Walking & Biking in Colorado Through Local Government Action" (Kaiser Permanente, August 2013), https://share.kaiserpermanente.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/KP-Walk-and-Wheel-Colorado-Local-Government-RFP-2013_Website.pdf.
- ³⁰ "Tips for Waste Reduction," Health Care Without Harm, n.d., <u>https://noharm-uscanada.org/issues/us-canada/tips-waste-reduction</u>.
- ³¹ Elizabeth Sachs and Gail Feenstra, "Emerging Local Food Purchasing Initiatives in Northern California Hospitals: Executive Summary" (UC Sustainable Agriculture Research & Education Program Agricultural Sustainability Institute UC Davis, n.d.), <u>http://asi.ucdavis.edu/programs/</u>sarep/publications/food-and-society/farmtohospitalinitiativesexecutivesummary.pdf.
- ³² <u>http://www.meatlessmonday.com/</u>
- ³³ DeAnn Cromp et al., "Kaiser Permanente's Farmers' Market Program: Description, Impact, and Lessons Learned," *Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development* 2, no. 2 (July 12, 2017), <u>https://foodsystemsjournal.org/index.php/fsj/article/view/80</u>.
- ³⁴ Savannah North et al., "Safe Surplus Food Donation Best Management Practices: Guidance for Environmental Health Departments" (Public

Health Alliance of Southern California, Public Health Institute, Center for Climate Change and Health, California Conference of Directors of Environmental Health, January 2018), <u>https://www.ccdeh.com/resources/documents/training-1/2017-safe-surplus-food-donation-training/1711-ccdeh-safe-surplus-food-donation-best-management-practices-guidance-for-environmental-health-departments/file.</u>

- ³⁵ Savannah North et al., "Safe Surplus Food Donation Toolkit: Guidance for Food Facilities" (Public Health Alliance of Southern California, Public Health Institute, Center for Climate Change and Health, California Conference of Directors of Environmental Health, January 2018), http://phasocal.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/Safe-Surplus-Food-Donation-Toolkit_Version-2_Jan-2018.pdf.
- ³⁶ Daniel R George et al., "A Growing Opportunity: Community Gardens Affiliated with US Hospitals and Academic Health Centers," *Preventive Medicine Reports* 2 (2015): 35–39, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2014.12.003</u>.
- ³⁷ Sachs and Feenstra, "Emerging Local Food Purchasing Initiatives in Northern California Hospitals: Executive Summary."
- ³⁸ Nicholas Freudenberg and Emma Tsui, "Training New Community Health, Food Service, And Environmental Protection Workers Could Boost Health, Jobs, And Growth," *Health Affairs* 30, no. 11 (November 1, 2011): 2098–2106, <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2011.0820</u>.
- ³⁹ <u>http://www.gghc.org/tools.2.2overview.php</u>
- ⁴⁰ <u>http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id = 10.1371/journal.pone.0157014</u>
- ⁴¹ <u>http://www.who.int/hia/hgebrief_health.pdf?ua = 1</u>
- ⁴² <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK54143/</u>
- ⁴³ <u>https://share.kaiserpermanente.org/article/excerpts-from-greening-health-care-how-hospitals-can-heal-the-planet/</u>
- ⁴⁴ <u>http://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/edtk_local-food-procurement.pdf</u>
- ⁴⁵ USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment" (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2016), <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7930/J0R49NQX</u>.
- ⁴⁶ S. Ahdoot, S. E. Pacheco, and THE COUNCIL ON ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH, "Global Climate Change and Children's Health," PEDIATRICS 136, no. 5 (November 1, 2015): e1468–84, <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2015-3233</u>.
- ⁴⁷ Marian F. MacDorman and T.J. Mathews, "Understanding Racial and Ethnic Disparities in U.S. Infant Mortality Rates" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2011), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db74.pdf</u>.
- ⁴⁸ Association of State and Territorial Health Officers, "Issue Brief: Disparities and Inequities in Maternal and Infant Health Outcomes," 2012, <u>http://www.astho.org/Programs/Health-Equity/Maternal-and-Infant-Disparities-Issue-Brief/</u>.
- ⁴⁹ Association of State and Territorial Health Officers.
- ⁵⁰ Association of State and Territorial Health Officers.
- ⁵¹ G. Flores, "Racial and Ethnic Disparities in the Health and Health Care of Children," *Pediatrics* 125, no. 4 (2010), <u>http://pediatrics.aappublications.</u> <u>org/content/pediatrics/125/4/e979.full.pdf</u>.
- ⁵² U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "Children's Environmental Health Disparities: Black and African American Children and Asthma" (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2014), <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2014-05/documents/hd_aa_asthma.pdf</u>.
- ⁵³ Sharon Saydah et al., "Disparities in Diabetes Deaths Among Children and Adolescents United States, 2000–2014," *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly* Rep 66 (2017), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/66/wr/mm6619a4.htm</u>.
- ⁵⁴ Office of Minority Health, "Asthma and Hispanic Americans" (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2006), <u>https://minorityhealth.hhs.</u> gov/omh/browse.aspx?lvl = 4&lvlid = 60.
- ⁵⁵ Rachel Morello-Frosch et al., "The Climate Gap: Inequalities in How Climate Change Hurts Americans & How to Close the Gap" (Program for Environmental and Regional Equity (PERE), May 2009), <u>http://dornsife.usc.edu/pere/climategap/</u>.
- ⁵⁶ T.L. Alderete et al., "Longitudinal Associations Between Ambient Air Pollution with Insulin Sensitivity, β-Cell Function, and Adiposity in Los Angeles Latino Children," *Diabetes 66*, no. 7 (2017), <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/db16-1416</u>.
- ⁵⁷ Bill M. Jesdale, Rachel Morello-Frosch, and Lara Cushing, "The Racial/Ethnic Distribution of Heat Risk-Related Land Cover in Relation to Residential Segregation," *Environmental Health Perspectives* 121, no. 7 (May 14, 2013): 811–17, https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1205919.
- ⁵⁸ Carina J. Gronlund, "Racial and Socioeconomic Disparities in Heat-Related Health Effects and Their Mechanisms: A Review," *Current Epidemiology Reports* 1, no. 3 (September 1, 2014): 165–73, https://doi.org/10.1007/s40471-014-0014-4.
- ⁵⁹ National Center for Farmworker Health, "Child Labor in Agriculture" (National Center for Farmworker Health, 2018), <u>http://www.ncfh.org/uploads/3/8/6/8/38685499/fs-child labor2018.pdf</u>.

- ⁶⁰ Trish Hernandez, Susan Gabbard, and Daniel Carroll, "Findings from the National Agricultural Workers Survey (NAWS) 2013–2014: A Demographic and Employment Profile of United States Farmworkers" (U.S. Department of Labor, December 2016), <u>https://www.doleta.gov/agworker/pdf/NAWS_Research_Report_12_Final_508_Compliant.pdf</u>.
- ⁶¹ Janet L. Gamble et al., "Ch. 9: Populations of Concern," in *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment* (Washington, DC: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2016), 247–286, https://doi.org/10.7930/J0Q81B0T.
- ⁶² Alvar Escriva-Bou et al., "Building Drought Resilience in California's Cities and Suburbs" (Public Policy Institute of California, June 2017), http://www.ppic.org/content/pubs/report/R_0617DMR.pdf.
- ⁶³ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention et al., "When Every Drop Counts: Protecting Public Health During Drought Conditions, A Guide for Public Health Professionals" (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2010), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/ehs/docs/when_every_drop_counts.pdf</u>.
- ⁶⁴ California State Water Resources Control Board, "Communities That Rely on a Contaminated Groundwater Source for Drinking Water" (California Environmental Protection Agency, Water Resources Control Board, January 2013), <u>https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/gama/ab2222/docs/ab2222.pdf</u>.
- ⁶⁵ U.S. Global Change Research Program (USGCRP), "Global Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Second National Climate Assessment," 2009, <u>http://www.globalchange.gov/browse/reports/global-climate-change-impacts-united-states</u>.
- 66 Morello-Frosch et al., "The Climate Gap: Inequalities in How Climate Change Hurts Americans & How to Close the Gap."
- ⁶⁷ Sylvia N. Wilson and John P. Tiefenbacher, "The Barriers Impeding Precautionary Behaviours by Undocumented Immigrants in Emergencies: The Hurricane Ike Experience in Houston, Texas, USA," *Environmental Hazards* 11, no. 3 (September 1, 2012): 194–212, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17477</u> <u>891.2011.649711</u>.
- ⁶⁸ American Heart Association News, "What Katrina Can Teach Us about Disrupted Cardiac Care after Hurricane Harvey," American Heart Association News (blog), September 1, 2017, <u>https://news.heart.org/what-katrina-can-teach-us-about-disrupted-cardiac-care-after-hurricane-harvey/</u>.
- ⁶⁹ Martha I Arrieta et al., "Providing Continuity of Care for Chronic Diseases in the Aftermath of Katrina: From Field Experience to Policy Recommendations," *Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness* 3, no. 3 (October 2009): 174–82, <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/</u> DMP.0b013e3181b66ae4.
- ⁷⁰ EPA, "Climate Change and the Health of People with Disabilities" (US EPA, May 2016), <u>https://www.apha.org/~/media/files/pdf/topics/climate/epa disabilities health climate change.ashx</u>.
- ⁷¹ Gary Adamkiewicz et al., "Environmental Conditions in Low-Income Urban Housing: Clustering and Associations with Self-Reported Health," *American Journal of Public Health* 104, no. 9 (2014): 1650–1656.
- ⁷² Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), "Human Health: Impacts, Adaptation, and Co-Benefits," 2014, <u>http://ipcc-wg2.gov/AR5/images/uploads/WGIIAR5-Chap11_FINAL.pdf</u>.
- ⁷³ Gamble et al., "Ch. 9: Populations of Concern."
- ⁷⁴ Erwin de Leon and Joseph Schilling, "Urban Blight and Public Health: Addressing the Impact of Substandard Housing, Abandoned Buildings, and Vacant Lots" (Urban Institute, April 2017), <u>https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/89491/2017.04.03_urban_blight_and_public_health_vprn_report_finalized.pdf</u>.
- ⁷⁵ USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment."
- ⁷⁶ Rosalyn J. Singleton et al., "Diarrhea-Associated Hospitalizations and Outpatient Visits Among American Indian and Alaska Native Children Younger Than Five Years of Age, 2000–2004:," *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 26, no. 11 (November 2007): 1006–13, <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/INF.0b013e3181256595</u>.
- ⁷⁷ Ahdoot, Pacheco, and THE COUNCIL ON ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH, "Global Climate Change and Children's Health."
- ⁷⁸ Gamble et al., "Ch. 9: Populations of Concern."
- ⁷⁹ Adrianna Quintero et al., "US Latinos and Air Pollution: A Call to Action" (Natural Resources Defense Council, September 2011), http://webdev.csu.edu/cerc/researchreports/documents/U.S.LatinosandAirPollution-ACalltoAction2011.pdf.
- ⁸⁰ Diane Toomey, "Coal Pollution and the Fight For Environmental Justice," Yale Environment 360, June 19, 2013, <u>https://e360.yale.edu/features/</u> naacp_jacqueline_patterson_coal_pollution_and_fight_for_environmental_justice.
- ⁸¹ Donna Owens, "African-Americans Face More Pollution-Related Health Hazards, New Report Shows," *NBC News*, November 14, 2017, https://www.nbcnews.com/news/nbcblk/african-americans-face-more-pollution-related-health-hazards-new-report-n820806.
- ⁸² Gabriel Wigtil et al., "Places Where Wildfire Potential and Social Vulnerability Coincide in the Coterminous United States," *International Journal of Wildland Fire* 25, no. 8 (2016): 896–908.

- ⁸³ Rowan Moore Gerety, "Wildfires Hit Northwest Tribal Lands Particularly Hard," NPR, September 16, 2015, sec. National, <u>https://www.npr.org/2015/09/16/440770653/wildfires-hit-northwest-tribal-lands-particularly-hard</u>.
- ⁸⁴ Ahdoot, Pacheco, and THE COUNCIL ON ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH, "Global Climate Change and Children's Health."
- ⁸⁵ Gamble et al., "Ch. 9: Populations of Concern."
- ⁸⁶ USDA, "Key Statistics & Graphics," US Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service, October 4, 2017, <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-us/key-statistics-graphics.aspx</u>.
- ⁸⁷ Gamble et al., "Ch. 9: Populations of Concern."
- 88 Ahdoot, Pacheco, and THE COUNCIL ON ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH, "Global Climate Change and Children's Health."
- ⁸⁹ Jean Rhodes et al., "The Impact of Hurricane Katrina on the Mental and Physical Health of Low-Income Parents in New Orleans.," American Journal of Orthopsychiatry 80, no. 2 (2010): 237–47, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-0025.2010.01027.x.
- ⁹⁰ Elizabeth Fussell, Narayan Sastry, and Mark VanLandingham, "Race, Socioeconomic Status, and Return Migration to New Orleans after Hurricane Katrina," *Population and Environment* 31, no. 1–3 (January 2010): 20–42, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11111-009-0092-2</u>.

Assessment and Surveillance

- ¹ IPCC (2014). Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Field C.B., Barros V.R., Dokken D.J., et al., (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- ² <u>http://www.phaboard.org/wp-content/uploads/PHABSM_WEB_LR1.pdf</u>
- ³ https://noharm-uscanada.org/sites/default/files/documents-files/4031/Leveraging%20Hospital%20Community%20Benefits%20to%20 Address%20Climate%20Change_0.pdf
- ⁴ Sarah Yoder, "Assessment of the Potential Health Impacts of Climate Change in Alaska" (State of Alaska Epidemiology Bulletin: Recommendations and Reports, January 8, 2018), <u>http://www.epi.alaska.gov/bulletins/docs/rr2018_01.pdf</u>.
- ⁵ http://cha.macombgov.org/sites/default/files/content/government/cha/pdfs/CommunityHealthAssessment16.pdf
- ⁶ L. Rudolph et al., "Health in All Policies: A Guide for State and Local Governments" (Washington, DC and Oakland, CA: American Public Health Association and Public Health Institute, 2013), <u>http://www.phi.org/resources/?resource = hiapguide</u>.
- ⁷ Rosa Gonzalez, "Community-Driven Climate Resilience Planning: A Framework" (National Association of Climate Resilience Planners, May 2017), https://kresge.org/sites/default/files/library/community_drive_resilience_planning_from_movement_strategy_center.pdf.
- ⁸ CDC, "Data and Tools," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Climate and Health, April 30, 2015, <u>https://www.cdc.gov/climateandhealth/</u> tools.htm.
- ⁹ Katherine Davis Reich, "Guidance on Using Climate Projections," Cal-Adapt, 2017, http://cal-adapt.org/resources/using-climate-projections/.
- ¹⁰ Paul J. Schramm et al., "Climate Models and the Use of Climate Projections: A Brief Overview for Health Departments" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, n.d.), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/climateandhealth/pubs/Climate Models and Use of Climate Projections.pdf</u>.
- ¹¹ <u>http://healthpolicy.ucla.edu/programs/health-data/trainings/Documents/tw_cba20.pdf</u>
- ¹² Kenneth Prewitt, Christopher D. Mackie, Hermann Habermann, eds. *Civic Engagement and Social Cohesion: Measuring Dimensions of Social Capital to Inform Policy*. Washington, DC: Committee on National Statistics, Division of Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education, National Research Council; 2014.
- ¹³ EPA, "Science in Action: Community Health Vulnerability Index" (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development, July 2017), <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2017-07/documents/community_health_vulnerability_index.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁴ "Community Vulnerabilities to Climate Change," California Environmental Health Tracking Program, 2012, <u>http://cehtp.org/page/climate_change/community_vulnerabilities_to_climate_change</u>.
- ¹⁵ "Heat Vulnerability," City of Denver, 2017, <u>https://www.denvergov.org/content/denvergov/en/environmental-health/community-health/</u><u>HeatVulnerability.html</u>.
- ¹⁶ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/climateandhealth/pubs/projectingclimaterelateddiseaseburden1_508.pdf</u>
- ¹⁷ https://www.cdc.gov/climateandhealth/pubs/projectingdiseaseburden_casestudyrespiratoryhealth2_508.pdf
- ¹⁸ http://www.lancetcountdown.org/media/1327/2017-lancet-countdown-us-policy-brief.pdf
- ¹⁹ San Francisco Department of Public Health, "San Francisco's Climate and Health Adaptation Framework 2017" (San Francisco Department of Public Health, 2017), <u>https://extxfer.sfdph.org/gis/ClimateHealth/Reports%20and%20Research/SFDPH_ClimateHealthAdaptFramework2017a.pdf</u>.
- ²⁰ San Francisco Department of Public Health.
- ²¹ Minkler M, Garcia A, Rubin V, Wallerstein N. *Community-Based Participatory Research: A Strategy for Building Healthy Communities and Promoting Health through Policy Change*. Oakland, CA: PolicyLink; 2012.<u>http://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/CBPR.pdf</u>
- ²² Cynthia McOliver et al., "Community-Based Research as a Mechanism to Reduce Environmental Health Disparities in American Indian and Alaska Native Communities," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 12, no. 4 (April 13, 2015): 4076–4100, https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120404076.
- ²³ Rachel Curtis-Robles et al., "Combining Public Health Education and Disease Ecology Research: Using Citizen Science to Assess Chagas Disease Entomological Risk in Texas," *PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases* 9, no. 12 (December 10, 2015): e0004235, <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0004235</u>.
- ²⁴ https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2017-07/documents/citizenscience_airmonitoring_factsheet_updated_sept2016_0.pdf
- ²⁵ Global Climate and Health Alliance. Salt Lake City: Health Air, Healthy Climate. Salt Lake City, UT: Global Climate and Health Alliance 2017. http://unmaskmycity.org/project/salt-lake-city/
- ²⁶ Kovats R, Edwards S, Hajat S, Armstrong B, Ebi K, Menne B, et al. The effect of temperature on food poisoning: a time-series analysis of salmonellosis in ten European countries. *Epidemiol Infect*. 2004;132:443–453.
- ²⁷ Austin A. Personal Communication. Tulsa, OK: Tulsa County Health; 2016.
- ²⁸ Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists Heat Syndrome Workgroup, "Heat-Related Illness Syndrome Query: A Guidance Document for Implementing Heat-Related Illness Syndromic Surveillance in Public Health Practice" (Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists, September 2016), <u>https://www.maricopa.gov/DocumentCenter/View/22116/Guidance-Document-for-Implementing-Heat-Related-Illness-Syndromic-Surveillance</u>.
- ²⁹ Vjollca Berisha et al., "Assessing Adaptation Strategies for Extreme Heat: A Public Health Evaluation of Cooling Centers in Maricopa County, Arizona," Weather, Climate, and Society 9, no. 1 (2017): 71–80.
- ³⁰ Paula W. Yoon, Amy I. Ising, and Julia E. Gunn, "Using Syndromic Surveillance for All-Hazards Public Health Surveillance: Successes, Challenges, and the Future," *Public Health Reports* 132, no. 1_suppl (July 2017): 3S-6S, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354917708995</u>.
- ³¹ Acute Communicable Disease Control Program, "Emergency Department Syndromic Surveillance and Population-Based Health Monitoring in Los Angeles County," *Special Studies Report*, 2006, <u>http://publichealth.lacounty.gov/acd/docs/ADSS/ADSSed2006.pdf</u>.
- ³² White J, Berisha V, Lane K, Ménager H, Gettel A, Braun CR, et al. Evaluation of a novel syndromic surveillance query for heat-related illness using hospital data from Maricopa County, Arizona. *Public Health Rep.* 2015;132(suppl 1):31S–39S.
- ³³ https://www.maricopa.gov/DocumentCenter/View/22116/Guidance-Document-for-Implementing-Heat-Related-Illness-Syndromic-Surveillance
- ³⁴ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/hsb/disaster/casper/</u>
- ³⁵ Patricia Quinlisk et al., *Results of Rapid Needs Assessments in Rural and Urban Iowa Following Large-Scale Flooding Events in 2008*, vol. 5, 2011, https://doi.org/10.1001/dmp.2011.82.
- ³⁶ Berisha et al., "Assessing Adaptation Strategies for Extreme Heat."
- ³⁷ California Department of Health Services, Tulare County Health and Human Services Agency. *Community Assessment for Public Health Emergency Response (CASPER) Addressing the California Drought Tulare County, California, October 2015.* Richmond, CA: California Department of Public Health. <u>https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/CCDPHP/DEODC/CDPH% 20Document% 20Library/Tulare% 20CASPER% 20report.pdf</u>
- ³⁸ <u>http://azmag.gov/Programs/Homelessness/Heat-Relief-Regional-Network</u>
- ³⁹ <u>https://wwwn.cdc.gov/nndss/</u>
- ⁴⁰ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nssp/</u>
- ⁴¹ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nssp/biosense/index.html</u>
- ⁴² <u>https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/index.html</u>
- ⁴³ Margaret Round et al., "Assessing the Health Impacts and Benefits of Regional Climate Action Plan Strategies in Western Massachusetts: A Collaborative Assessment by the Massachusetts Department of Public Health, the Pioneer Valley Planning Commission, and the Municipalities of Springfield and Williamsburg" (Massachusetts Department of Public Health, March 1, 2017), <u>http://www.pewtrusts.org/~/media/assets/externalsites/health-impact-project/final-climate-change-hia-report-040417.pdf?la = en.</u>

- ⁴⁴ "Davidson Walks & Rolls: Active Transportation Plan, Appendix A: Davidson Rapid HIA" (Davidson Design for Life, 2013), http://www.townofdavidson.org/DocumentCenter/View/6691/AppxA_RapidHIA_LowRes.
- ⁴⁵ https://humanimpact.org/hipprojects/a-health-impact-assessment-toolkit-a-handbook-to-conducting-hia/
- ⁴⁶ Alex Molina and John W. Vick, "Health Impact Assessment: An Introduction and Guide for Implementation in Louisville" (University of Louisville City Solutions Center, 2011), <u>http://udstudio.org/v4/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/hia_handbook_web.pdf</u>.
- ⁴⁷ Elizabeth Walker and Deborah Payne, "Health Impact Assessment of Coal and Clean Energy Options in Kentucky" (Kentucky Environmental Foundation, 2012), <u>http://www.kyenvironmentalfoundation.org/uploads/1/8/5/9/18595042/kef_health_impact_assessment_energy_report_web.pdf.</u>
- ⁴⁸ Charles M. Crane et al., "An Assessment of the Health and Safety Implications of Coal Transport through Oakland" (Oakland, CA: Human Impact Partners, June 14, 2016), <u>https://humanimpact.org/wp-content/uploads/Assessment_Health_Safety_Coal_Oakland.pdf</u>.
- ⁴⁹ Woodcock J, Edwards P, Tonne C, Armstrong BG, Ashiru O, Banister D, et al. Public health benefits of strategies to reduce greenhouse-gas emissions: urban land transport. *Lancet*. 2009;374:1930-1943.
- ⁵⁰ Mueller N, David Rojas-Rueda D, Cole-Hunter T, de Nazelle A, Dons E, Gerike R, et al. Health impact assessment of active transportation: A systematic review. *Preventive Medicine*. 2015;76:103-114.
- ⁵¹ Friel S, Dangour A, Garnett T, Lock L, Chalabi Z, Roberts I, et al. Public health benefits of strategies to reduce greenhouse-gas emissions: Food and agriculture. *Lancet*. 2009;374:2016–2025.
- ⁵² Larsson SC, Orsini N. Red meat and processed meat consumption and all-cause mortality: a meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol. 2014;179:282-289.
- ⁵³ Wilkinson P, Smith K, Davies M, Adair H, Armstrong B, Barrett M, et al. Public health benefits of strategies to reduce greenhouse-gas emissions: household energy. *Lancet*. 2009;374 1917–1929.
- ⁵⁴ London J, Karner A, Rowangould D. Development and Application of an Integrated Health Impacts Assessment Tool for Assessing the Health Impacts of Transportation Plans in Sacramento County. Davis, CA: University of California, Davis; 2017.
- ⁵⁵ Maizlish N, Linesch N, Woodcock J. Health and greenhouse gas mitigation benefits of ambitious expansion of cycling, walking, and transit in California. *J Transp Health*. 2017; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jth.2017.04.11.
- ⁵⁶ Nicholas W, Vidyanti I, Caesar E, Maizlish N. *Implementing the City of LA's Mobility Plan 2035: Public Health Implications, Health Impact Assessment.*: Center for Health Impact Evaluation, Los Angeles County Department of Public Health; 2018.
- ⁵⁷ Maizlish N. Increasing Walking, Cycling, And Transit: Improving Californians' Health, Saving Costs, And Reducing Greenhouse Gases. Berkeley, CA: Report prepared for the Office of Health Equity, California Department of Public Health 2017. <u>https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/OHE/</u> CDPH%20Document%20Library/Maizlish-2016-Increasing-Walking-Cycling-Transit-Technical-Report-rev8-17-ADA.pdf
- ⁵⁸ Maizlish N, Linesch N, Woodcock J. Health and greenhouse gas mitigation benefits of ambitious expansion of cycling, walking, and transit in California. J Transp Health. 2017; <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jth.2017.04.11</u>.
- ⁵⁹ Maizlish N, Woodcock J, Co S, Ostro B, Fairley D, Fanai A. Health cobenefits and transportation-related reductions in greenhouse gas emissions in the San Francisco Bay Area. Am J Public Health. 2013;103:703-709.
- ⁶⁰ Nicole Iroz-Elardo et al., "Climate Smart Strategy: Health Impact Assessment" (Portland, OR: Oregon Health Authority, September 2014), http://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/HEALTHYENVIRONMENTS/TRACKINGASSESSMENT/HEALTHIMPACTASSESSMENT/Documents/OHA-PHD_ CSS%20HIA_Final.pdf.
- ⁶¹ Moulton A, Schramm P. Climate change and public health surveillance: Toward a comprehensive strategy. *J Public Health Manag Pract.* 2017;23:618-626.
- ⁶² Frumkin H, Hess J, Luber G, Malilay J, McGeehin M. Climate change: The public health response. Am J Public health. 2008;98:435-445.
- ⁶³ https://toolkit.climate.gov/tool/assessing-health-vulnerability-climate-change-guide-health-departments
- 64 https://toolkit.climate.gov/tool/social-vulnerability-index
- ⁶⁵ <u>https://toolkit.climate.gov/tool/metadata-access-tool-climate-and-health-match</u>
- ⁶⁶ https://health2016.globalchange.gov/populations-concern/content/measures-vulnerability-and-mapping
- ⁶⁷ https://sfgov.maps.arcgis.com/home/item.html?id = 49b24eda433143808a9e4fd29ba417bd
- ⁶⁸ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/hsb/cwh/docs/CDC_Drought_Resource_Guide-508.pdf</u>
- ⁶⁹ https://extxfer.sfdph.org/gis/Flooding/SFDPH_FloodHealthVulnerability2016.pdf
- ⁷⁰ https://www.denvergov.org/content/denvergov/en/environmental-health/community-health/HeatVulnerability.html

CLIMATE CHANGE, HEALTH, AND EQUITY: A GUIDE FOR LOCAL HEALTH DEPARTMENTS

- ⁷¹ <u>https://multco.us/health/public-health-practice/climate-and-health</u>
- ⁷² http://www.ci.minneapolis.mn.us/www/groups/public/@citycoordinator/documents/webcontent/wcmsp-179991.pdf
- 73 https://cchealth.org/health-data/pdf/2015-climate-change.pdf

Community Engagement

- ¹ <u>https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/blog/2016/08/12/finding-equitable-solutions-climate-change-0</u>
- ² David Gorski, "Dr. Donald Berwick and 'Patient-Centered' Medicine: Letting the Woo into the New Health Care Law?," *Science-Based Medicine*, July 12, 2010, <u>https://sciencebasedmedicine.org/dr-donald-berwick-and-patient-centered-medicine-letting-the-woo-into-the-new-health-care-law/</u>.
- ³ Rosa Gonzalez, "Community-Driven Climate Resilience Planning: A Framework" (National Association of Climate Resilience Planners, May 2017), https://kresge.org/sites/default/files/library/community_drive_resilience_planning_from_movement_strategy_center.pdf.
- ⁴ M.A. Morgan and J. Lifshay, "Community Engagement in Public Health" (Martinez, CA: Contra Costa Health Services, March 2006).
- ⁵ Gonzalez, "Community-Driven Climate Resilience Planning: A Framework," May 2017.
- ⁶ "Climate Vulnerability," Multnomah County, June 6, 2017, <u>http://multco.maps.arcgis.com/apps/MapJournal/index.</u> <u>html?appid = f6536b4fc7d946918975da4cc0005578</u>.
- ⁷ California Environmental Justice Alliance, "Environmental Justice Agency Assessment 2016" (California Environmental Justice Alliance, 2016), https://caleja.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/CEJA_AgencyAssessment_2016_FINAL.pdf.
- ⁸ <u>https://cchealth.org/public-health/pdf/community_engagement_in_ph.pdf</u>
- ⁹ https://www.usdn.org/uploads/cms/documents/usdn_guide_to_equitable_community-driven_climate_preparedness-_high_res.pdf
- ¹⁰ https://www.du.edu/ccesl/media/documents/ccesl_handbook_third_edition_print_protected.pdf
- ¹¹ <u>https://www.iap2.org/default.aspx</u>
- 12 http://www.ca-ilg.org/inclusive-public-engagement
- ¹³ Gonzalez, "Community-Driven Climate Resilience Planning: A Framework," May 2017.

Intersectoral Collaboration

- ¹ Rudolph et al., "Health in All Policies: A Guide for State and Local Governments."
- ² Rudolph et al.
- ³ C. Carlson, "Understanding the Spectrum of Collaborative Governance Practices," in *A Practical Guide to Collaborative Governance* (Policy Consensus Initiatives & National Policy Consensus Center, n.d.), <u>http://www.policyconsensus.org/publications/practicalguide/collaborative spectrum.pdf</u>.
- ⁴ International Association for Public Participation, "IAP2 Spectrum of Public Participation," 2007, <u>http://www.iap2.org/associations/4748/files/spectrum.pdf</u>.
- ⁵ <u>https://kresge.org/sites/default/files/library/community_drive_resilience_planning_from_movement_strategy_center.pdf</u>
- ⁶ http://www.phi.org/uploads/files/Health in All Policies-A Guide for State and Local Governments.pdf

Organizational Capacity

- ¹ Anita Desikan, "NACCHO Report: Local Health Departments Prepare for the Health Impacts of Climate Change" (National Association of County & City Health Officials, 2017), <u>http://essentialelements.naccho.org/archives/8287</u>.
- ² Oregon Health Authority. Assess Organizational Capacity. Oregon Climate and Health Program. Available at: <u>http://www.oregon.gov/oha/ph/</u> HealthyEnvironments/climatechange/Toolkit/Documents/1-Build-Capacity/Assess-Organizational-Capacity.pdf
- ³ Benita E. Cohen et al., "A Conceptual Framework of Organizational Capacity for Public Health Equity Action (OC-PHEA)," *Can J Public Health* 104, no. 3 (March 6, 2013): 262, <u>https://doi.org/10.17269/cjph.104.3735</u>.
- ⁴ N. Hanusaik et al., "Association between Organizational Capacity and Involvement in Chronic Disease Prevention Programming among Canadian

Public Health Organizations," Health Education Research 30, no. 2 (April 1, 2015): 206–22, https://doi.org/10.1093/her/cyu062.

- ⁵ <u>http://www.c40.org/programmes/compact-of-mayors</u>
- ⁶ <u>https://www.wearestillin.com/</u>
- ⁷ http://cha.macombgov.org/sites/default/files/content/government/cha/pdfs/CommunityHealthAssessment16.pdf
- ⁸ <u>https://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/ab32publichealth/meetings/100814/rhoades.pdf</u>
- ⁹ Public Health Accreditation Board, "Standards & Measures," (December 2013), <u>http://www.phaboard.org/wp-content/uploads/PHABSM_WEB_LR1.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁰ Philadelphia Department of Public Health, "Strategic Plan 2018-2021" (Philadelphia Department of Public Health, December 2017), <u>https://www.phila.gov/health/pdfs/commissioner/StrategicPlan%202018-2021.pdf</u>.
- ¹¹ <u>https://healthequityguide.org/strategic-practices/build-organizational-capacity/</u>
- 12 https://www.racialequityalliance.org
- ¹³ http://www.phi.org/uploads/files/Health in All Policies-A Guide for State and Local Governments.pdf
- ¹⁴ <u>https://cchealth.org/public-health/pdf/community_engagement_in_ph.pdf</u>
- ¹⁵ <u>https://ctb.ku.edu/en/creating-and-maintaining-partnerships</u>

Greening

- ¹ The National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, "Front Matter," in *Pathways to Urban Sustainability: Challenges and Opportunities for the United States* (Washington, D.C.: The National Academies Press, 2016), <u>https://www.nap.edu/read/23551/chapter/1#ii</u>.
- ² K. Hundt et al., "The Chattanooga Climate Action Plan" (Chattanooga, TN: Chattanooga Green Committee, 2009), <u>http://www.chcrpa.org/</u> <u>Divisions and Functions/Design Studio/Projects/Climate Action Plan/Final CAP adopted.pdf</u>.
- ³ The National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, "City Profiles," in *Pathways to Urban Sustainability: Challenges and Opportunities for the United States* (Washington, D.C.: The National Academies Press, 2016), <u>https://www.nap.edu/read/23551/chapter/1#ii</u>.
- ⁴ Todd Sack, "Meeting-by-Meeting Guide," My Green Doctor, 2018, <u>https://www.mygreendoctor.org/meeting-by-meeting-guide/</u>.
- ⁵ Green Business Network, "Green Office Guide," Green Business Network at Green America, March 17, 2015, <u>https://www.greenamerica.org/blognews/green-office-guide</u>.
- ⁶ Alameda County Sustainability, "Our Green Ambassadors," Alameda County Sustainability, 2013, <u>https://www.acgov.org/sustain/what/</u> greenworkplace/greenamb.htm.
- ⁷ Institute for Local Government, "Sustainability Best Practices Framework" (Institute for Local Government, 2013), <u>http://www.ca-ilg.org/sites/</u> main/files/file-attachments/sustainability_best_practices_framework_7.0_june_2013_final.pdf.
- ⁸ Sack, "Meeting-by-Meeting Guide."
- ⁹ Institute for Local Government, "Sustainability Best Practices Framework."
- ¹⁰ Institute for Local Government.
- ¹¹ Institute for Local Government.
- ¹² Institute for Local Government.
- ¹³ Practice Greenhealth, "Renewable Energy," Practice Greenhealth, July 13, 2011, <u>https://practicegreenhealth.org/topics/energy-water-and-climate/energy/renewable-energy</u>.
- ¹⁴ California Air Resources Board, "Methane (CH4)," California Air Resources Board, June 6, 2017, <u>https://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/inventory/</u> <u>background/ch4.htm</u>.
- ¹⁵ US EPA, "Climate Change and Waste Reducing Waste Can Make a Difference," n.d., <u>https://archive.epa.gov/epawaste/nonhaz/municipal/web/</u> <u>pdf/climfold.pdf</u>.

¹⁶ EPA.

¹⁷ PolicyLink, "Equitable Development Toolkit: Local Food Procurement" (PolicyLink, March 2015), <u>http://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/</u> edtk_local-food-procurement.pdf.

- ¹⁸ "Creating a Green County Team" (National Association of Counties, n.d.), <u>http://www.naco.org/sites/default/files/documents/CSM</u> <u>Factsheet%20-%20Creating%20a%20Green%20Team.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁹ New York State, "How to Boost Energy Efficiency in Municipal Facilities/Operations," New York State, n.d., <u>https://www.dec.ny.gov/</u> <u>energy/64322.html</u>.
- ²⁰ ICLEI, "Elib," ICLEI Virtual Library, 2018, <u>http://e-lib.iclei.org./</u>.
- ²¹ <u>http://www.ca-ilg.org/climate-action-sustainability-best-practices-framework</u>
- ²² <u>http://thecityfix.com/blog/seven-ways-encourage-sustainable-transport-workplace-employers-active-bike-commute-health-alyssa-fischer/</u>
- ²³ https://noharm-uscanada.org/sites/default/files/documents-files/4681/Redefining%20Protein%20Purchasing%20Considerations_4-11-17.pdf
- ²⁴ https://practicegreenhealth.org/
- ²⁵ <u>https://www.mygreendoctor.org/</u>

Communications

- ¹ Bill Nye, Bill Nye: Want to Combat Climate Change? Talk about It., Big Think, 2016, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v = N7jXDrTm-ns.
- ² Enrique Regidor et al., "The Role of the Public Health Official in Communicating Public Health Information," American Journal of Public Health 97 (2007), https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1854984/pdf/0970093.pdf.
- ³ Cheryl C. Macpherson and Matthew Wynia, "Should Health Professionals Speak Up to Reduce the Health Risks of Climate Change?," *American Medical Association Journal of Ethics* 19, no. 12 (December 2017): 1202–10, https://doi.org/10.1001/journalofethics.2017.19.12.msoc1-1712.
- ⁴ Anthony Leiserowitz et al., "Climate Change in the American Mind: March 2018" (New Haven, CT: Yale University and George Mason University, March 2018), <u>http://climatecommunication.yale.edu/publications/climate-change-american-mind-march-2018/</u>.
- 5 Leiserowitz et al.
- ⁶ "Global Warming Age Gap: Younger Americans Most Worried" (Gallup, May 11, 2018), <u>http://news.gallup.com/poll/234314/</u> global-warming-age-gap-younger-americans-worried.aspx?g_source = link_NEWSV9&g_medium = TOPIC&g_campaign = item_&g_ content = Global% 2520Warming% 2520Age% 2520Gap% 3a% 2520Younger% 2520Americans% 2520Most% 2520Worried.
- ⁷ ecoAmerica, "American Climate Perspectives" (ecoAmerica, August 2017), <u>http://ecoamerica.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/ecoamerica-american-climate-perspectives-august-2017-impacts.pdf</u>.
- ⁸ http://climatecommunication.yale.edu/visualizations-data/ycom-us-2016/?est = happening&type = value&geo = county
- ⁹ George Lakoff, "Why It Matters How We Frame the Environment," *Environmental Communication* 4, no. 1 (2010), https://doi.org/10.1080/17524030903529749.
- ¹⁰ For more info on public narrative and collective action see <u>http://marshallganz.usmblogs.com/files/2012/08/Public-Narrative-Collective-Action-and-Power.pdf</u>
- ¹¹ Kathy Dervin and Linda Rudolph, "Workshop Summary: Climate Change and Health Communications" (Center for Climate Change and Health, October 2015), <u>http://usclimateandhealthalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/ClimateChangeHealthCommunication2016.pdf</u>.
- ¹² Matthew C. Nisbet, "Communicating Climate Change: Why Frames Matter for Public Engagement," *Environment*, April 2009, http://www.environmentmagazine.org/Archives/Back%20Issues/March-April%202009/Nisbet-full.html.
- ¹³ Berkeley Media Studies Group, "What Surrounds Us Shapes Us: Making the Case for Environmental Change," 2009, <u>http://www.bmsg.org/</u> resources/publications/what-surrounds-us-shapes-us-making-the-case-for-environmental-change.
- ¹⁴ Jared Bernstein, All Together Now: Common Sense for a Fair Economy (San Francisco: Berrett-Koehler Publishers, Inc., 2006).
- ¹⁵ Berkeley Media Studies Group, "What Surrounds Us Shapes Us: Making the Case for Environmental Change."
- ¹⁶ Andrew C. Revkin, "Yelling 'Fire' on a Hot Planet," The New York Times, April 23, 2006,
- ¹⁷ Cara Pike, Climate Change and Health Communications Workshop- Center for Climate Change and Health, 2015.
- ¹⁸ Teresa A. Myers et al., "A Public Health Frame Arouses Hopeful Emotions about Climate Change," *Climatic Change* 113, no. 3–4 (2012): 1105–12, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-012-0513-6.

- ¹⁹ Anthony A. Leiserowitz, "Climate Change in the Public Mind," (November 2014), <u>https://www.youtube.com/</u> watch?list = PLRUZo4Q2yFsUM5bAE9fPGNvwfpC7sSLQt&v = KJUNyb4RoA8.
- ²⁰ Sander van der Linden et al., "The Scientific Consensus on Climate Change as a Gateway Belief: Experimental Evidence," *PLoS ONE* 10, no. 2 (2015), <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118489</u>.
- ²¹ Sheldon Whitehouse, "The Fossil-Fuel Industry's Campaign to Mislead the American People," *Washington Post*, May 29, 2015, https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/the-fossil-fuel-industrys-campaign-to-mislead-the-american-people/2015/05/29/04a2c448-0574-11e5-8bda-c7b4e9a8f7ac_story.html?noredirect = on&utm_term = .91ced2c35916.
- ²² Sapna Maheshwari, "Why Tobacco Companies Are Paying to Tell You Smoking Kills," *New York Times*, November 24, 2017, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2017/11/24/business/media/tobacco-companies-ads.html</u>.
- ²³ "Tobacco Is a Social Justice Issue: Racial and Ethnic Minorities," *Truth Initiative*, February 3, 2017, <u>https://truthinitiative.org/news/tobacco-social-justice-issue-racial-and-ethnic-minorities</u>.
- ²⁴ Kathy Mulvey and Seth Shulman, "The Climate Deception Dossiers: Internal Fossil Fuel Industry Memos Reveal Decades of Disinformation" (Union of Concerned Scientists, July 2015), <u>https://www.ucsusa.org/sites/default/files/attach/2015/07/The-Climate-Deception-Dossiers.pdf.</u>
- ²⁵ Naomi Oreskes and Erik M. Conway, Merchants of Doubt: How a Handful of Scientists Obscured the Truth on Issues from Tobacco Smoke to Global Warming (New York: Bloomsbury, 2010).
- ²⁶ Robert J. Brulle, "Institutionalizing Delay: Foundation Funding and the Creation of U.S. Climate Change Counter-Movement Organizations," *Climatic Change* 122, no. 4 (February 1, 2014): 681–94, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-013-1018-7</u>.
- ²⁷ Jeffrey Kluger, "Why the Government Is Right to Investigate Oil Industry Ads," *Time*, April 26, 2016, <u>http://time.com/4307669/oil-industry-ads-investigation/</u>.
- ²⁸ van der Linden et al., "The Scientific Consensus on Climate Change as a Gateway Belief: Experimental Evidence."
- ²⁹ Shannon Hall, "Exxon Knew about Climate Change Almost 40 Years Ago," *Scientific American*, October 26, 2015, <u>https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/exxon-knew-about-climate-change-almost-40-years-ago/</u>.
- ³⁰ Brulle, "Institutionalizing Delay: Foundation Funding and the Creation of U.S. Climate Change Counter-Movement Organizations."
- ³¹ Kluger, "Why the Government Is Right to Investigate Oil Industry Ads."
- ³² Geoffrey Supran and Naomi Oreskes, "Assessing ExxonMobil's Climate Change Communications (1977-2014)," *Environmental Research Letters* 12 (August 23, 2017), http://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1748-9326/aa815f/pdf.
- ³³ Hiroko Tabuchi, "Sensing Gains Ahead Under Trump, the Kochs Court Minorities," *The New York Times*, January 5, 2017, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2017/01/05/business/energy-environment/koch-brothers-fossil-fuels-minorities.html</u>.
- ³⁴ Jie Jenny Zou, "Pipeline to the Classroom: How Big Oil Promotes Fossil Fuels to America's Children," *The Guardian*, June 25, 2017, https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2017/jun/15/big-oil-classrooms-pipeline-oklahoma-education.
- ³⁵ Joe Wertz, "Reading, Writing And Fracking? What the Oil Industry Teaches Oklahoma Students," *Morning Edition* (National Public Radio, July 11, 2017), <u>https://www.npr.org/2017/07/11/535653913/heres-what-the-oil-industry-is-teaching-oklahomas-students</u>.
- ³⁶ April Roeseler and David Burns, "The Quarter That Changed the World," *Tobacco Control* 19, no. 1 (2010), <u>http://tobaccocontrol.bmj.com/</u> <u>content/19/Suppl 1/i3</u>.
- ³⁷ Ruth E. Malone, Quinn Grundy, and Lisa A. Bero, "Tobacco Industry Denormalisation as a Tobacco Control Intervention: A Review," *Tobacco Control* 21, no. 2 (March 2012), <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2011-050200</u>.
- ³⁸ Malone, Grundy, and Bero.
- ³⁹ van der Linden et al., "The Scientific Consensus on Climate Change as a Gateway Belief: Experimental Evidence."
- ⁴⁰ Dervin and Rudolph, "Workshop Summary: Climate Change and Health Communications."
- ⁴¹ Climate Advocacy Lab, "Climate Chat" (Climate Advocacy Lab, n.d.), https://climateadvocacylab.org/tools/climate-chat.
- ⁴² Patrick L. Remington, *Communicating Public Health Information Effectively: A Guide for Practitioners*, ed. David E. Nelson, Claudia Parvanta, and Ross C. Brownson (American Public Health Association, 2002).
- ⁴³ Pima County Health Department, The Heat Is On, 2016, 2016, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167215607842</u>.
- 44 https://www.cdc.gov/other/plainwriting.html
- ⁴⁵ Climate Advocacy Lab, "Climate Chat."

- ⁴⁶ N. W. Smith and H. Joffe, "Climate Change in the British Press: The Role of the Visual," *Journal of Risk Research* 12, no. 5 (2009), <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13669870802586512</u>.
- ⁴⁷ Sophie Nicholson-Cole, "Representing Climate Change Futures: A Critique on the Use of Images for Visual Communication," *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems*, 2005, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compenvurbsys.2004.05.002</u>.
- ⁴⁸ George Marshall, Don't Even Think About It: Why Our Brains Are Wired to Ignore Climate Change (Bloomsbury Books, 2014), http://www.climateconviction.org/index.html.

- ⁵⁰ American Association for the Advancement of Science, "What We Know," 2014, <u>http://whatweknow.aaas.org/about-the-initiative/</u>.
- ⁵¹ John Cook et al., "Consensus on Consensus: A Synthesis of Consensus Estimates on Human-Caused Global Warming," *Environmental Research Letters* 11, no. 4 (April 13, 2016), <u>http://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1748-9326/11/4/048002</u>.
- ⁵² Anthony Leiserowitz et al., "Trump Voters & Global Warming" (Yale University and George Mason University, 2017), http://climatechangecommunication.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Trump-Voters-and-Global-Warming.pdf.
- ⁵³ Sander van der Linden, Anthony Leiserowitz, and Edward Maibach, "Gateway Illusion or Cultural Cognition Confusion?," *Journal of Science Communication* 16, no. 5 (2017), <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3094256</u>.
- ⁵⁴ P. S. Hart and E. C. Nisbet, "Boomerang Effects in Science Communication: How Motivated Reasoning and Identity Cues Amplify Opinion Polarization About Climate Mitigation Policies," *Communication Research* 39, no. 6 (2012), <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650211416646</u>.
- ⁵⁵ Marshall, Don't Even Think About It: Why Our Brains Are Wired to Ignore Climate Change.
- ⁵⁶ Matthew Feinberg and Robb Willer, "From Gulf to Bridge: When Do Moral Arguments Facilitate Political Influence?" 41, no. 12 (2015), https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167215607842.
- ⁵⁷ Henry M. Paulson Jr., "The Coming Climate Crash," *The New York Times*, June 21, 2014, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2014/06/22/opinion/sunday/lessons-for-climate-change-in-the-2008-recession.html</u>.
- ⁵⁸ "Sounding the Call to Action: How to Move People to Take Action on Climate Change," Climate Chat, n.d., <u>http://www.theclimatechat.org/</u> <u>sounding-a-call-to-action/</u>.
- ⁵⁹ https://www.maricopa.gov/DocumentCenter/View/38688/Climate-and-Health-Strategic-Plan-2016-2021-PDF
- ⁶⁰ <u>http://publichealth.lacounty.gov/eh/docs/climatechange/YourHealthandClimateChange.pdf</u>
- ⁶¹ <u>http://publichealth.lacounty.gov/eh/docs/climatechange/FrameworkforAddressingClimateChange.pdf</u>
- ⁶² <u>http://rx.ph.lacounty.gov/RxClimate1117</u>
- ⁶³ https://www.maricopa.gov/DocumentCenter/View/38688/Climate-and-Health-Strategic-Plan-2016-2021-PDF
- ⁶⁴ "Climate Vulnerability," Multnomah County, June 6, 2017, <u>http://multco.maps.arcgis.com/apps/MapJournal/index.</u> <u>html?appid = f6536b4fc7d946918975da4cc0005578</u>.
- 65 http://iturnitoff.com/#/savings
- ⁶⁶ <u>https://www.resourceefficientscotland.com/guide/switch-off-campaign</u>
- ⁶⁷ California Department of Public Health, "Climate Action for Health: Integrating Public Health into Climate Action Planning," February 2012, https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Programs/OHE/CDPH%20Document%20Library/CCHEP-General/CDPH-2012-Climate-Action-for-Health_accessible.pdf.
- ⁶⁸ <u>http://city.milwaukee.gov/ReFreshMKE_PlanFinal_Web.pdf</u>
- ⁶⁹ https://www.changelabsolutions.org/sites/default/files/Healthy_General_Plans_Toolkit_Updated_20120517_0.pdf
- ⁷⁰ Governor's Office of Planning and Research, "Healthy Communities: Designing Healthy, Equitable, Resilient, and Economically Vibrant Places," 2017, <u>http://opr.ca.gov/docs/OPR_C6_final.pdf</u>.
- ⁷¹ https://www.kingcounty.gov/~/media/depts/executive/performance-strategy-budget/regional-planning/Comp%20Plan/2017_ KingCountyComprehensivePlan.ashx?la = en
- ⁷² Macomb County Health Department, "2016 Macomb County Community Health Assessment" (Michigan, December 2016), <u>http://cha.macombgov.org/sites/default/files/content/government/cha/pdfs/CommunityHealthAssessment16.pdf</u>.

⁴⁹ Marshall.

- ⁷³ Charlotte M. Parent and Alicia Barthe-Prevost, "New Orleans Community Health Improvement Plan" (New Orleans, LA, May 2015), http://www.nola.gov/getattachment/Health/Data-and-Publications/New-Orleans_Community-Health-Improvement-Plan_May-2015-(1).pdf/.
- ⁷⁴ San Luis Obispo County Public Health, "Healthy and Climate Friendly Food," August 26, 2014, <u>http://www.healslo.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/FINAL_ClimateFriendlyTravel_08-26-2014.pdf</u>.
- ⁷⁵ San Luis Obispo County Public Health, "Healthy and Climate Friendly Travel," August 26, 2018, <u>http://www.healslo.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/FINAL_ClimateFriendlyTravel_08-26-2014.pdf</u>.
- ⁷⁶ Minnesota Department of Health, "Health and Climate Video," Minnesota Department of Health, 2014, <u>http://www.health.state.mn.us/divs/</u> <u>climatechange/climatevideo.html#teacher</u>.
- ⁷⁷ http://climatehealthconnect.org/resources/posters/
- ⁷⁸ <u>http://sustainability.ucsf.edu/get_involved_stay_informed/climate_changes_health_posters</u>
- 79 https://www.savethefood.com/share-it
- ⁸⁰ <u>https://www.cdc.gov/climateandhealth/effects/default.htm</u>
- ⁸¹ <u>https://www.cdph.ca.gov/Pages/KarenSmithWelcome.aspx</u>
- ⁸² Monterey County Health Department, "Monterey County Health Department Twitter," May 30, 2018, <u>https://twitter.com/search?q=monterey%20</u> <u>county%20health%20department&src=typd</u>.
- ⁸³ Virginia Department of Health, "Example Harmful Algal Bloom Press Release" (Virginia Department of Health, n.d.), <u>http://www.vdh.virginia.</u> gov/content/uploads/sites/12/2017/03/VDH_Example-Harmful-Algal-Bloom-Press-Release_2017.pdf.
- ⁸⁴ Great Falls City and County Health Department, "Wildfire Safety," *Great Falls City and County Health Department* (blog), June 30, 2015, http://www.cchdmt.org/2015/06/wildfire-safety/.
- ⁸⁵ Asthma and Allergy Foundation of America, "Air Pollution," n.d., <u>http://www.aafa.org/page/air-pollution-smog-asthma.aspx</u>.
- ⁸⁶ Massachusetts Department of Public Health, "Community Health Worker Pediatric Asthma Home Visiting Program: Program Summary," 2017, <u>https://www.mass.gov/files/documents/2018/02/02/asthma-chw-hv-program-summary.pdf</u>.
- ⁸⁷ Washington State Department of Ecology, "Seawater Intrusion in Washington: What Does It Mean to Us?" (Washington State Department of Ecology, March 1, 2003), <u>https://fortress.wa.gov/ecy/publications/publications/0211018.pdf</u>.
- ⁸⁸ Jocelyn Turner, "Health Officials Provide Flood Safety Tips Due to Coastal Flood Advisory" (Florida Department of Health in Duval County, October 9, 2015), <u>http://duval.floridahealth.gov/_files/_documents/10-9-15-flood-advisory.pdf</u>.
- ⁸⁹ Mecklenberg Health Department, "Mecklenberg Health Department- Eat Local," 2018, <u>https://www.mecknc.gov/HealthDepartment/MCFA/Pages/EatLocal.aspx</u>.
- ⁹⁰ U.S. Food & Drug Administration, "Eating Outdoors, Handling Food Safely," n.d., <u>https://www.fda.gov/food/resourcesforyou/Consumers/ucm109899.htm</u>.
- ⁹¹ U.S. Food & Drug Administration, "Food and Water Safety During Power Outages and Floods," n.d., <u>https://www.fda.gov/Food/ResourcesForYou/</u> <u>Consumers/ucm076881.htm</u>.
- ⁹² Mayo Clinic, "Nutrition and Healthy Eating," July 26, 2017, <u>https://www.mayoclinic.org/healthy-lifestyle/nutrition-and-healthy-eating/in-depth/meatless-meals/art-20048193</u>.
- 93 http://www.dshs.texas.gov/news/updates/Zika-20171207.aspx
- ⁹⁴ https://climateadvocacylab.org/tools/climate-chat
- ⁹⁵ <u>https://climateoutreach.org/</u>
- ⁹⁶ <u>http://www.climateconviction.org/</u>
- ⁹⁷ https://www.climatechangecommunication.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/Climate-Communication-Primer-for-Public-Health-Professionals-1.pdf.
- 98 https://climateaccess.org/system/files/TowardConsensusOnCComms.pdf
- 99 https://www.climatevisuals.org
- ¹⁰⁰ <u>https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2482315</u>
- ¹⁰¹ http://usclimateandhealthalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/ClimateChangeHealthCommunication2016.pdf

¹⁰² <u>http://ecoamerica.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/connecting-on-climate.pdf</u>

- ¹⁰³ <u>http://ecoamerica.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/3_letstalk_health_and_climate.pdf</u>
- ¹⁰⁴ https://www.climaterealityproject.org/video/communicating-climate-health-connection-climate-health-meeting

¹⁰⁵ <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/communication-framework.pdf</u>

Conclusion

- ¹ Institute of Medicine. 1988. The Future of Public Health. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/1091</u>.
- ² Rudolph, L., and S. Gould. 2014. Why we need climate, health, and equity in all policies. Commentary, Institute of Medicine, Washington, DC. http://www.iom.edu/climatehealthcommentary.

Appendices

- ¹ Dahlgren, G &Whitehead, M. (2006) Levelling up part2: a discussion paper on European strategies for tackling social inequities in health. World Health Organization. Available at <u>http://www.who.int/social_determinants/resources/leveling_up_part2.pdf</u>
- ² Barton, H. & Grant, M. 2006. A health map for the local human habitat. *Perspectives in Public Health*, 126(6), 252-253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1466424006070466</u>
- ³ Solar O, Irwin A. A conceptual framework for action on the social determinants of health. Social Determinants of Health Discussion Paper 2 (Policy and Practice)
- ⁴ Haines A, Patz JA. Health effects of climate change. JAMA 2004;291(1):99–103. doi:10.1001/jama.291.1.99.
- ⁶ US Census Bureau, "United States Quick Facts," United States Census Bureau, 2016, <u>https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/US/</u> <u>PST045216</u>.
- 7 US Census Bureau.
- ⁸ Amy Roeder, "Understanding Slavery's Legacy in Health and Medicine," Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, May 8, 2017, <u>https://www.hsph.harvard.edu/news/features/understanding-slavery-legacy-in-health-medicine/</u>.
- ⁹ D. B. Smith, "Racial And Ethnic Health Disparities And The Unfinished Civil Rights Agenda," *Health Affairs* 24, no. 2 (March 1, 2005): 317–24, https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.24.2.317.
- ¹⁰ Alexis C. Madrigal, "The Racist Housing Policy That Made Your Neighborhood," *The Atlantic*, May 22, 2014, <u>https://www.theatlantic.com/business/archive/2014/05/the-racist-housing-policy-that-made-your-neighborhood/371439/.</u>
- ¹¹ Nancy E. Adler, "Reaching for a Healthier Life: Facts on Socioeconomic Status and Health in the U.S." (The John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation Research Network on Socioeconomic Status and Health, 2007), <u>http://www.macses.ucsf.edu/downloads/reaching_for_a_healthier_life.pdf</u>.
- 12 Adler.
- ¹³ Rachel Morello-Frosch et al., "The Climate Gap: Inequalities in How Climate Change Hurts Americans & How to Close the Gap," May 2009, <u>http://dornsife.usc.edu/assets/sites/242/docs/ClimateGapReport_full_report_web.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁴ J. Andrew Hoerner and Nia Robinson, "A Climate of Change: African Americans, Global Warming, and a Just Climate Policy for the U.S." (Oakland: The Environmental Justice and Climate Change Initiative, 2008), <u>http://urbanhabitat.org/files/climateofchange.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁵ Arline T. Geronimus et al., "'Weathering' and Age Patterns of Allostatic Load Scores Among Blacks and Whites in the United States," American Journal of Public Health, Research and Practice, 96, no. 5 (May 2006): 826–33.
- ¹⁶ Morello-Frosch et al., "The Climate Gap: Inequalities in How Climate Change Hurts Americans & How to Close the Gap."
- ¹⁷ David Metz, Miranda Everitt, and Barbara Hairston, "Findings from a National Survey of African Americans on Energy Issues" (Natural Resources Defense Council, October 12, 2015), <u>https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/ene_15110401a.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁸ Morello-Frosch et al.
- ¹⁹ Mora, C., Counsell, C.W., Bielecki, C.R., & Louis, L.V. (2017). Twenty-seven ways a heat wave can kill you. *Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes*. Doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.117.004233</u>
- ²⁰ Leah Burrows, "The Complex Relationship between Heat and Ozone," *The Harvard Gazette*, April 21, 2016, <u>https://news.harvard.edu/gazette/story/2016/04/the-complex-relationship-between-heat-and-ozone/</u>.

- ²¹ Kenneth E. Kunkel, "Projected Temperature Change" (Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment, November 20, 2013), <u>http://nca2014.globalchange.gov/highlights/report-findings/future-climate/graphics/projected-temperature-change</u>.
- ²² Hoerner and Robinson, "A Climate of Change: African Americans, Global Warming, and a Just Climate Policy for the U.S."
- ²³ Chen D. 2012. Green Infrastructure in Mitigating Extreme Summer Heat. Available at <u>https://www.mq.edu.au/___data/assets/pdf_file/0017/63521/</u> <u>Chen_CF20workshop202012.pdf</u>.
- ²⁴ Hoerner and Robinson, "A Climate of Change: African Americans, Global Warming, and a Just Climate Policy for the U.S."
- ²⁵ Allan S. Noonan, Hector Eduardo Velasco-Mondragon, and Fernando A. Wagner, "Improving the Health of African Americans in the USA: An Overdue Opportunity for Social Justice," *Public Health Reviews* 37, no. 1 (December 2016), <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40985-016-0025-4</u>.
- ²⁶ A. S. Go et al., "Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics--2014 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association," *Circulation* 129, no. 3 (January 21, 2014): e28–292, <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.0000441139.02102.80</u>.
- ²⁷ J. Glaser et al., "Climate Change and the Emergent Epidemic of CKD from Heat Stress in Rural Communities: The Case for Heat Stress Nephropathy," *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 11, no. 8 (August 8, 2016): 1472–83, <u>https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.13841215</u>.
- ²⁸ Fann, N., T. Brennan, P. Dolwick, J.L. Gamble, V. Ilacqua, L. Kolb, C.G. Nolte, T.L. Spero, and L. Ziska, 2016: Ch. 3: Air Quality Impacts. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 69–98.
- ²⁹ Håkan Pleijel, Sweden, and Statens Naturvårdsverk, *Air Pollution and Climate Change: Two Sides of the Same Coin?* (Stockholm: Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2009).
- ³⁰ CDC, "Public Health Issues: Respiratory Health," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, June 29, 2017, https://www.cdc.gov/air/air_health.htm.
- ³¹ Hoerner and Robinson, "A Climate of Change: African Americans, Global Warming, and a Just Climate Policy for the U.S."
- ³² Hoerner and Robinson.
- 33 CDC, "Public Health Issues: Respiratory Health."
- ³⁴ R. K. Pachauri, Leo Mayer, and Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, eds., *Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report* (Geneva, Switzerland: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2015).
- ³⁵ Bell, J.E., S.C. Herring, L. Jantarasami, C. Adrianopoli, K. Benedict, K. Conlon, V. Escobar, J. Hess, J. Luvall, C.P. Garcia-Pando, D. Quattrochi, J. Runkle, and C.J. Schreck, III, 2016: Ch. 4: Impacts of Extreme Events on Human Health. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 99–128.
- ³⁶ Josh Michaud and Jennifer Kates, "Public Health in Puerto Rico after Hurricane Maria," *The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation* (blog), November 17, 2017, <u>https://www.kff.org/other/issue-brief/public-health-in-puerto-rico-after-hurricane-maria/</u>.
- ³⁷ CDC, "Mold After a Disaster," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, October 11, 2017, https://www.cdc.gov/disasters/mold/index.html.
- ³⁸ Washington State Department of Health. (2012). Infectious risks after floods. Available at <u>http://www.doh.wa.gov/portals/1/documents/5100/420-002-epitrends2012-11.pdf</u>
- ³⁹ Sara Reardon, "Puerto Rico Struggles to Assess Hurricane's Health Effects," *Nature*, November 24, 2017, <u>https://www.nature.com/news/puerto-rico-struggles-to-assess-hurricane-s-health-effects-1.22973</u>.
- ⁴⁰ Hoerner and Robinson, "A Climate of Change: African Americans, Global Warming, and a Just Climate Policy for the U.S."
- ⁴¹ Laurie Goodman, Jun Zhu, and Rolf Pendall, "Are Gains in Black Homeownership History?," Urban Wire: Housing and Housing Finance (Urban Institute, February 14, 2017), <u>https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/are-gains-black-homeownership-history</u>.
- ⁴² Gregory D. Squires and Jan Chadwick, "Linguistic Profiling: A Continuing Tradition of Discrimination in the Home Insurance Industry?," Urban Affairs Review 41, no. 3 (January 2006): 400–415, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1078087405281064</u>.
- ⁴³ Hoerner and Robinson, "A Climate of Change: African Americans, Global Warming, and a Just Climate Policy for the U.S."
- ⁴⁴ Noonan, Velasco-Mondragon, and Wagner, "Improving the Health of African Americans in the USA."
- ⁴⁵ Hoerner and Robinson, "A Climate of Change: African Americans, Global Warming, and a Just Climate Policy for the U.S."
- ⁴⁶ Danielle Baussan, "Social Cohesion: The Secret Weapon in the Fight for Equitable Climate Resilience," Center for American Progress, May 11, 2015, https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/green/reports/2015/05/11/112873/social-cohesion-the-secret-weapon-in-the-fight-for-equitableclimate-resilience/.

- ⁴⁷ Renee Stepler and Anna Brown, "Statistical Portrait of Hispanics in the United States," Pew Research Center Hispanic Trends, April 19, 2016, http://www.pewhispanic.org/2016/04/19/statistical-portrait-of-hispanics-in-the-united-states-key-charts/.
- ⁴⁸ US Census Bureau, "Facts for Features: Hispanic Heritage Month 2016," Government Agency Website, United States Census Bureau, October 12, 2016, <u>https://www.census.gov/newsroom/facts-for-features/2016/cb16-ff16.html</u>.
- ⁴⁹ Stepler and Brown, "Statistical Portrait of Hispanics in the United States."
- ⁵⁰ Stepler and Brown.
- ⁵¹ Eduardo Velasco-Mondragon et al., "Hispanic Health in the USA: A Scoping Review of the Literature," *Public Health Reviews* 37, no. 1 (December 2016), <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40985-016-0043-2</u>.
- ⁵² Gustavo López and Jynnah Radford, "Statistical Portrait of the Foreign-Born Population in the United States," Pew Research Center Hispanic Trends, May 3, 2017, <u>http://www.pewhispanic.org/2017/05/03/statistical-portrait-of-the-foreign-born-population-in-the-united-states-2015/</u>.
- ⁵³ Omar Martinez et al., "Evaluating the Impact of Immigration Policies on Health Status Among Undocumented Immigrants: A Systematic Review," Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health 17, no. 3 (June 2015): 947–70, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-013-9968-4</u>.
- ⁵⁴ Martinez et al.
- ⁵⁵ Velasco-Mondragon et al., "Hispanic Health in the USA."
- ⁵⁶ Robert Kaestner et al., "Stress, Allostatic Load, and Health of Mexican Immigrants," *Social Science Quarterly* 90, no. 5 (December 2009): 1089–1111, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6237.2009.00648.x</u>.
- ⁵⁷ Sabrina Tavernise, "The Health Toll of Immigration," *New York Times*, May 18, 2013, sec. Health, <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2013/05/19/health/</u> the-health-toll-of-immigration.html?mcubz = 3.
- ⁵⁸ Velasco-Mondragon et al., "Hispanic Health in the USA."
- ⁵⁹ Velasco-Mondragon et al.
- ⁶⁰ Jens Manuel Krogstad and Antonio Flores, "Latinos Made Economic Strides in 2015 after Years of Few Gains," Pew Research Center, November 21, 2016, <u>http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2016/11/21/latinos-made-economic-strides-in-2015-after-years-of-no-gains/</u>.
- ⁶¹ Jessica L. Semega, Kayla R. Fontenot, and Meliisa A. Kollar, "Income and Poverty in the United States: 2016" (U.S. Cenus Bureau, September 2017), <u>https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2017/demo/P60-259.pdf</u>.
- ⁶² Cynthia L. Ogden et al., *Prevalence of Obesity among Adults and Youth: United States, 2011–2014* (US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics, 2015), <u>http://www.acutept.org/resource/resmgr/Critical_EdgEmail/0216-prevalence-of-obesity.pdf</u>.
- ⁶³ Velasco-Mondragon et al., "Hispanic Health in the USA."
- ⁶⁴ Paul Poirier et al., "Obesity and Cardiovascular Disease: Pathophysiology, Evaluation, and Effect of Weight Loss," *Circulation* 113, no. 6 (February 14, 2006): 898, <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.171016</u>.
- ⁶⁵ Adrianna Quintero and Juanita Constible, "Nuestro Futuro: Climate Change and U.S. Latinos" (Natural Resources Defense Council, October 13, 2016), <u>https://www.nrdc.org/resources/nuestro-futuro-climate-change-and-us-latinos</u>.
- ⁶⁶ Quintero and Constible.
- ⁶⁷ Fann, N., T. Brennan, P. Dolwick, J.L. Gamble, V. Ilacqua, L. Kolb, C.G. Nolte, T.L. Spero, and L. Ziska, 2016: Ch. 3: Air Quality Impacts. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 69–98.
- ⁶⁸ Pleijel, Sweden, and Statens Naturvårdsverk, Air Pollution and Climate Change.
- 69 CDC, "Public Health Issues: Respiratory Health."
- ⁷⁰ Adrianna Quintero et al., "US Latinos and Air Pollution: A Call to Action" (Natural Resources Defense Council, September 2011), http://webdev.csu.edu/cerc/researchreports/documents/U.S.LatinosandAirPollution-ACalltoAction2011.pdf.
- ⁷¹ Quintero et al.
- ⁷² Velasco-Mondragon et al., "Hispanic Health in the USA."
- 73 Quintero et al., "US Latinos and Air Pollution: A Call to Action."

- - ⁷⁴ Tanya L. Alderete et al., "Longitudinal Associations Between Ambient Air Pollution with Insulin Sensitivity, -Cell Function, and Adiposity in Los Angeles Latino Children," *Diabetes*, 2017, db161416.
 - ⁷⁵ Mora, C., Counsell, C.W., Bielecki, C.R., & Louis, L.V. (2017). Twenty-seven ways a heat wave can kill you. *Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes*. Doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.117.004233</u>
- ⁷⁶ Burrows, "The Complex Relationship between Heat and Ozone."
- 77 Kunkel, "Projected Temperature Change."
- ⁷⁸ Bill M. Jesdale, Rachel Morello-Frosch, and Lara Cushing, "The Racial/Ethnic Distribution of Heat Risk-Related Land Cover in Relation to Residential Segregation," *Environmental Health Perspectives* 121, no. 7 (May 14, 2013): 811–17, <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1205919</u>.
- ⁷⁹ Quintero and Constible, "Nuestro Futuro: Climate Change and U.S. Latinos."
- ⁸⁰ Stepler and Brown, "Statistical Portrait of Hispanics in the United States."
- ⁸¹ Quintero and Constible, "Nuestro Futuro: Climate Change and U.S. Latinos."
- 82 Velasco-Mondragon et al., "Hispanic Health in the USA."
- ⁸³ California Research Bureau, "Farmworkers in California: A Brief Introduction" (California Research Bureau, October 2013), <u>http://www.library.</u> ca.gov/crb/13/S-13-017.pdf.
- ⁸⁴ CDC, "Heat-Related Deaths Among Crop Workers --- United States, 1992--2006," Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, June 20, 2008), <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm5724a1.htm</u>.
- ⁸⁵ Jeffrey Bethel and Renee Harger, "Heat-Related Illness among Oregon Farmworkers," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 11, no. 9 (September 5, 2014): 9273–85, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110909273</u>.
- ⁸⁶ S. Ahdoot, S. E. Pacheco, and THE COUNCIL ON ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH, "Global Climate Change and Children's Health," *PEDIATRICS* 136, no. 5 (November 1, 2015): e1468–84, <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2015-3233</u>.
- ⁸⁷ USGCRP, "Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I" (Washington, DC, USA: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2017), <u>https://science2017.globalchange.gov/downloads/CSSR2017_FullReport.pdf</u>.
- ⁸⁸ Cindy L. Parker, "Health Impacts of Sea-Level Rise," *Planning & Environmental Law* 66, no. 5 (May 14, 2014): 8–12, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1548</u> 0755.2014.916166.
- ⁸⁹ Wong, P.P., I.J. Losada, J.-P. Gattuso, J. Hinkel, A. Khattabi, K.L. McInnes, Y. Saito, and A. Sallenger, 2014: Coastal systems and low-lying areas. In: Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Field, C.B., V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea, and L.L. White (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 361-409.
- ⁹⁰ Shilu Tong, "Flooding-Related Displacement and Mental Health," The Lancet Planetary Health 1, no. 4 (2017): e124-e125.
- ⁹¹ James Asugeni et al., "Mental Health Issues from Rising Sea Level in a Remote Coastal Region of the Solomon Islands: Current and Future," *Australasian Psychiatry* 23, no. 6_suppl (2015): 22–25.
- ⁹² Nate Seltenrich, "Climate Change Will Unleash Buried Toxics," *East Bay Express*, July 11, 2012, News & Opinion edition, https://www.eastbayexpress.com/oakland/climate-change-will-unleash-buried-toxics/Content?oid = 3283672.
- 93 UndocuFund, "UndocuFund for Fire Relief in Sonoma County," UndocuFund, 2018, http://undocufund.org/.
- ⁹⁴ "Immigrant Eligibility for Disaster Assistance," National Immigration Law Center, June 2007, <u>https://www.nilc.org/issues/economic-support/</u> <u>immigrant-eligibility-disaster-assistance/</u>.
- ⁹⁵ Ray López et al., "Reducing Childhood Asthma Triggers in Public Housing: Implementation and Outcomes from an East Harlem Community Health Worker Program," *Environmental Justice* 8, no. 5 (October 2015): 185–91, <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/env.2015.0017</u>.
- ⁹⁶ Tapan Pathak et al., "Climate Change Trends and Impacts on California Agriculture: A Detailed Review," *Agronomy* 8, no. 3 (February 26, 2018): 25, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy8030025</u>.
- ⁹⁷ Ziska, L., A. Crimmins, A. Auclair, S. DeGrasse, J.F. Garofalo, A.S. Khan, I. Loladze, A.A. Pérez de León, A. Showler, J. Thurston, and I. Walls, 2016: Ch. 7: Food Safety, Nutrition, and Distribution. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 189–216.
- ⁹⁸ USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment" (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2016), <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7930/J0R49NQX</u>.

- ⁹⁹ Ilse Delcour, Pieter Spanoghe, and Mieke Uyttendaele, "Literature Review: Impact of Climate Change on Pesticide Use," *Food Research International* 68 (February 2015): 7–15, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2014.09.030.
- ¹⁰⁰ California Research Bureau, "Farmworkers in California: A Brief Introduction."
- ¹⁰¹ Yuliana Salinas, "More Than One In Five Latinos Is Food Insecure," *Huffington Post*, December 1, 2016, <u>http://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/</u><u>more-than-one-in-five-latinos-is-food-insecure_us_583fa357e4b04587de5de75d</u>.
- ¹⁰² National Council of La Raza, "2015 Profiles of Latino Health: A Closer Look at Child Nutrition" (National Council of La Raza, September 2, 2015), <u>http://publications.nclr.org/handle/123456789/1407</u>.
- ²⁰³ Kristina Johnson, "California's Latinos Hardest Hit by Agricultural Pesticides," Food and Environment Reporting Network, April 6, 2015, <u>https://thefern.org/blog_posts/californias-latinos-hardest-hit-by-agricultural-pesticides/</u>.
- ¹⁰⁴ Quintero and Constible, "Nuestro Futuro: Climate Change and U.S. Latinos."
- ¹⁰⁵ Andrew Myers and Lauren Spangler, "Key Findings: National Survey Of 2016 Latino Voters" (Myers Research & Strategic Services, November 21, 2016), <u>http://www.sierraclub.org/sc.org/polls/2016Latinos</u>.
- ¹⁰⁶ Myers and Spangler.
- ¹⁰⁷ Quintero and Constible, "Nuestro Futuro: Climate Change and U.S. Latinos."
- ¹⁰⁸ T.M. Bull Bennett et al., "Indigenous Peoples, Land, and Resources," Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment (U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2014), <u>http://nca2014.globalchange.gov/report/sectors/indigenous-peoples</u>.
- ¹⁰⁹ Tina Norris, Paula L. Vines, and Elizabeth M. Hoeffel, "The American Indian and Alaska Native Population: 2010," 2010 Census Briefs (U.S. Cenus Bureau, January 2012), <u>https://www.census.gov/prod/cen2010/briefs/c2010br-10.pdf</u>.
- ¹¹⁰ Norris, Vines, and Hoeffel.
- ¹¹¹ Mindy Thompson Fullilove, Linda Rudolph, and Donald Warne, "Slow Violence, Health Inequity and the Future Well Being of Communities" (July 21, 2016), <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v = MWd1_R73TXk</u>.
- ¹¹² Thompson Fullilove, Rudolph, and Warne.
- ¹¹³ Thompson Fullilove, Rudolph, and Warne.
- ¹¹⁴ U.S. Global Change Research Program (2009-), *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*, 2016.
- ¹¹⁵ US Census Bureau, "American Fact Finder: 2015 American Community Survey 1-Year Estimates," United States Census Bureau, 2015, https://factfinder.census.gov/faces/tableservices/jsf/pages/productview.xhtml?src = bkmk.
- ¹¹⁶ US Census Bureau.
- ¹¹⁷ William E. Hartmann and Joseph P. Gone, "Psychological-Mindedness and American Indian Historical Trauma: Interviews with Service Providers from a Great Plains Reservation," *American Journal of Community Psychology* 57, no. 1–2 (March 2016): 229–42, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12036</u>.
- ¹¹⁸ Nathaniel Cobb, David Espey, and Jessica King, "Health Behaviors and Risk Factors among American Indians and Alaska Natives, 2000–2010," *Journal Information* 104, no. S3 (2014), <u>https://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/full/10.2105/AJPH.2014.301879</u>.
- ¹¹⁹ Indian Health Service, "Disparities," Indian Health Service, April 2017, <u>https://www.ihs.gov/newsroom/factsheets/disparities/</u>.
- 120 Indian Health Service.
- ¹²¹ Pathak et al., "Climate Change Trends and Impacts on California Agriculture."
- ¹²² Ziska, L., A. Crimmins, A. Auclair, S. DeGrasse, J.F. Garofalo, A.S. Khan, I. Loladze, A.A. Pérez de León, A. Showler, J. Thurston, and I. Walls, 2016: Ch. 7: Food Safety, Nutrition, and Distribution. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 189–216.
- ¹²³ USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment."

124 USGCRP.

- ¹²⁵ U.S. Global Change Research Program (2009-), The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States.
- ¹²⁶ U.S. Global Change Research Program (2009-).

- ¹²⁷ Shawn Booth and Dirk Zeller, "Mercury, Food Webs, and Marine Mammals: Implications of Diet and Climate Change for Human Health," *Environmental Health Perspectives* 113, no. 5 (February 2, 2005): 521–26, <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.7603</u>.
- ¹²⁸ Ed Struzik, "Food Insecurity: Arctic Heat Is Threatening Indigenous Life," March 17, 2016, <u>http://e360.yale.edu/features/arctic heat threatens indigenous life climate change</u>.
- ¹²⁹ Dawn Satterfield, "Health Promotion and Diabetes Prevention in American Indian and Alaska Native Communities—Traditional Foods Project, 2008–2014," *MMWR Supplements* 65 (2016), <u>https://francais.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/65/su/su6501a3.htm?s_cid=su6501a3_w</u>.
- ¹³⁰ USGCRP, "Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I."
- ¹³¹ Washington State Department of Health. (2012). Infectious risks after floods. Available at <u>http://www.doh.wa.gov/portals/1/documents/5100/420-002-epitrends2012-11.pdf</u>
- ¹³² USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment."
- ¹³³ U.S. Global Change Research Program (2009-), The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States.
- ¹³⁴ Rosalyn J. Singleton et al., "Diarrhea-Associated Hospitalizations and Outpatient Visits Among American Indian and Alaska Native Children Younger Than Five Years of Age, 2000–2004:," *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 26, no. 11 (November 2007): 1006–13, <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/INF.0b013e3181256595</u>.
- ¹³⁵ Pachauri, Mayer, and Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Climate Change 2014.
- ¹³⁶ Bell, J.E., S.C. Herring, L. Jantarasami, C. Adrianopoli, K. Benedict, K. Conlon, V. Escobar, J. Hess, J. Luvall, C.P. Garcia-Pando, D. Quattrochi, J. Runkle, and C.J. Schreck, III, 2016: Ch. 4: Impacts of Extreme Events on Human Health. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 99–128.
- 137 Michaud and Kates, "Public Health in Puerto Rico after Hurricane Maria."
- 138 CDC, "Mold After a Disaster."
- ¹³⁹ Washington State Department of Health. (2012). Infectious risks after floods. Available at <u>http://www.doh.wa.gov/portals/1/documents/5100/420-002-epitrends2012-11.pdf</u>
- ¹⁴⁰ T. K. Thomas et al., "Impact of Providing In-Home Water Service on the Rates of Infectious Diseases: Results from Four Communities in Western Alaska," *Journal of Water and Health* 14, no. 1 (February 1, 2016): 132–41, <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2015.110</u>.
- ¹⁴¹ P Larsen et al., "Estimating Future Costs for Alaska Public Infrastructure at Risk from Climate Change," *Global Environmental Change* 18, no. 3 (August 2008): 442–57, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2008.03.005</u>.
- ¹⁴² USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment."
- ¹⁴³ USGCRP.
- ¹⁴⁴ Bentz, B & Klepzig, K. 2014. Bark beetles and climate change in the United States. US Forest Service topic paper. Available at <u>https://www.fs.usda.gov/ccrc/topics/bark-beetles-and-climate-change-united-states</u>
- ¹⁴⁵ Vincent Corrao et al., "Wildfire on Indian Forests: A Trust Crisis" (Intertribal Timber Council (, 2016), <u>file:///Users/loxfordbuck/Downloads/</u> <u>ITC % 20Wildfire % 20on % 20Indian % 20Forest % 20Final % 20Report % 20May % 202016.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁴⁶ NASA, "NASA On Air: NASA Study Finds Carbon Emissions Could Dramatically Increase Risk Of U.S. Megadroughts (2/12/2015)," NASA, February 12, 2015, <u>https://svs.gsfc.nasa.gov/11773</u>.
- ¹⁴⁷ The Karuk Tribe, "Fire and Climate Change," Karuk Climate Change Projects, 2016, <u>https://karuktribeclimatechangeprojects.wordpress.com/fire-and-climate-change/</u>.
- ¹⁴⁸ Rowan Moore Gerety, "Wildfires Hit Northwest Tribal Lands Particularly Hard," NPR, September 16, 2015, sec. National, <u>https://www.npr.org/2015/09/16/440770653/wildfires-hit-northwest-tribal-lands-particularly-hard</u>.
- ¹⁴⁹ "Obesity Rates & Trends Overview," The State of Obesity: Better Policies for a Healthier America, 2008, <u>https://stateofobesity.org/obesity-rates-trends-overview/</u>.
- ¹⁵⁰ Sarah Rinkevich, Kim Greenwood, and Crystal Leonetti, "Traditional Ecological Knowledge for Application by Service Scientists" (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Native American Program, February 2011), <u>https://www.fws.gov/nativeamerican/pdf/tek-fact-sheet.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁵¹ "Pathways to Adaptation for the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe," The University of Arizona, Institute of the Environment, February 23, 2015, <u>http://www.environment.arizona.edu/news/pathways-adaptation-pyramid-lake-paiute-tribe</u>.
- ¹⁵² USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment."

- ¹⁵³ Pew Research Center, "The Rise of Asian Americans," Pew Research Center Social & Demographic Trends, 2012, <u>http://www.pewsocialtrends.org/</u> <u>asianamericans-graphics/</u>.
- ¹⁵⁴ George Gao, "The Challenges of Polling Asian Americans," Pew Research Center, May 11, 2016, <u>http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2016/05/11/the-challenges-of-polling-asian-americans/</u>.
- 155 Pew Research Center, "The Rise of Asian Americans."
- ¹⁵⁶ Gee and Ford, "STRUCTURAL RACISM AND HEALTH INEQUITIES."
- ¹⁵⁷ T.A. Frail, "The Injustice of Japanese-American Internment Camps Resonates Strongly to This Day," *Smithsonian Magazine*, January 2017, http://www.smithsonianmag.com/history/injustice-japanese-americans-internment-camps-resonates-strongly-180961422/.
- ¹⁵⁸ Gwendolyn M. Jensen, <u>The Experience of Injustice: Health Consequences of the Japanese American Internment</u>, 1997.
- ¹⁵⁹ Rosalind S. Chou and Joe R. Feagin, *Myth of the Model Minority: Asian Americans Facing Racism*, Second Edition (Taylor and Francis, 2015).
- ¹⁶⁰ G. C. Gee et al., "Racial Discrimination and Health Among Asian Americans: Evidence, Assessment, and Directions for Future Research," *Epidemiologic Reviews* 31, no. 1 (November 1, 2009): 130–51, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/epirev/mxp009</u>.
- ¹⁶¹ William W. Maddux et al., "When Being a Model Minority Is Good...and Bad: Realistic Threat Explains Negativity Toward Asian Americans," *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 34, no. 1 (January 2008): 74–89, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167207309195</u>.
- ¹⁶² AAPCHO, "Limited English Proficiency (LEP) of Asian Americans, Native Hawaiians, and Other Pacific Islanders (AA&NHOPIs)" (Assn of Asian Pacific Community Health Organizations, 2014), <u>http://www.aapcho.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/AANHOPI-LEP-Fact-Sheet_2014_final.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁶³ R. J. Blendon et al., "Disparities In Health: Perspectives Of A Multi-Ethnic, Multi-Racial America," *Health Affairs* 26, no. 5 (September 1, 2007): 1437–47, <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.26.5.1437</u>.
- ¹⁶⁴ Blendon et al.
- ¹⁶⁵ Wooksoo Kim and Robert H. Keefe, "Barriers to Healthcare Among Asian Americans," Social Work in Public Health 25, no. 3–4 (April 28, 2010): 286–95, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19371910903240704</u>.
- ¹⁶⁶ Kim and Keefe.
- ¹⁶⁷ Kim and Keefe.
- ¹⁶⁸ Kathy Ko, Tackling Asian American Health Disparities, interview by Allison Keyes, May 24, 2010, <u>http://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.</u> <u>php?storyId = 127091480</u>.
- ¹⁶⁹ Kathy Ko Chin, "Trump Presidency Risks Health Of Asian Americans, Native Hawaiians And Pacific Islanders," *Huffington Post* (blog), November 25, 2016, <u>http://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/trump-presidency-risks-he_b_13231314.html</u>.
- ¹⁷⁰ California League of Conservation Voters, "Asian American Environmentalists: An Untapped Power for Change in California" (California League of Conservation Voters Education Fund, 2012), <u>https://apen4ej.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/California-league-of-conservation-voters-Asian-American-environmentalists-.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁷¹ Fann, N., T. Brennan, P. Dolwick, J.L. Gamble, V. Ilacqua, L. Kolb, C.G. Nolte, T.L. Spero, and L. Ziska, 2016: Ch. 3: Air Quality Impacts. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 69–98.
- ¹⁷² Pleijel, Sweden, and Statens Naturvårdsverk, Air Pollution and Climate Change.
- ¹⁷³ Pleijel, Sweden, and Statens Naturvårdsverk.
- 174 CDC, "Public Health Issues: Respiratory Health."
- ¹⁷⁵ Qian Di et al., "Air Pollution and Mortality in the Medicare Population," New England Journal of Medicine 376, no. 26 (June 29, 2017): 2513–22, https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1702747.
- ¹⁷⁶ Sara E. Grineski, Timothy W. Collins, and Danielle X. Morales, "Asian Americans and Disproportionate Exposure to Carcinogenic Hazardous Air Pollutants: A National Study," *Social Science & Medicine* 185 (July 2017): 71–80, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.05.042</u>.
- 177 Grineski, Collins, and Morales.
- ¹⁷⁸ Katherine G. Hastings et al., "Leading Causes of Death among Asian American Subgroups (2003–2011)," ed. Vishnu Chaturvedi, *PLOS ONE* 10, no. 4 (April 27, 2015): e0124341, <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0124341</u>.
- 179 Hastings et al.

- ¹⁸⁰ Mora, C., Counsell, C.W., Bielecki, C.R., & Louis, L.V. (2017). Twenty-seven ways a heat wave can kill you. *Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes*. Doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.117.004233</u>
- ¹⁸¹ Burrows, "The Complex Relationship between Heat and Ozone."
- 182 Kunkel, "Projected Temperature Change."
- 183 Jesdale, Morello-Frosch, and Cushing, "The Racial/Ethnic Distribution of Heat Risk-Related Land Cover in Relation to Residential Segregation."
- ¹⁸⁴ USGCRP, "Climate Science Special Report: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume I."
- ¹⁸⁵ Parker, "Health Impacts of Sea-Level Rise."
- ¹⁸⁶ Wong, P.P., I.J. Losada, J.-P. Gattuso, J. Hinkel, A. Khattabi, K.L. McInnes, Y. Saito, and A. Sallenger, 2014: Coastal systems and low-lying areas. In: Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Field, C.B., V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea, and L.L. White (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 361–409.
- 187 Tong, "Flooding-Related Displacement and Mental Health."
- ¹⁸⁸ Asugeni et al., "Mental Health Issues from Rising Sea Level in a Remote Coastal Region of the Solomon Islands."
- 189 Seltenrich, "Climate Change Will Unleash Buried Toxics."
- ¹⁹⁰ U.S. Census Bureau, "FFF: Asian-American and Pacific Islander Heritage Month: May 2017," U.S. Census Bureau, March 14, 2017, https://www.census.gov/newsroom/facts-for-features/2017/cb17-ff07.html.
- ¹⁹¹ Lindsay Hixson, Bradford B. Hepler, and Myong Ouk Kim, "The Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander Population: 2010," 2010 Census Briefs (U.S. Cenus Bureau, May 2012), <u>https://www.census.gov/prod/cen2010/briefs/c2010br-12.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁹² Lindsay Hixson, Bradford B. Hepler, and Myong Ouk Kim, "The Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander Population: 2010," 2010 Census Briefs (U.S. Cenus Bureau, May 2012), <u>https://www.census.gov/prod/cen2010/briefs/c2010br-12.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁹³ Lindsay Hixson, Bradford B. Hepler, and Myong Ouk Kim, "The Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander Population: 2010," 2010 Census Briefs (U.S. Cenus Bureau, May 2012), <u>https://www.census.gov/prod/cen2010/briefs/c2010br-12.pdf</u>.
- ¹⁹⁴ Stephen Stafford, "Caught between 'the Rock' and a Hard Place: The Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander Struggle for Identity in Public Health," *American Journal of Public Health* 100, no. 5 (2010): 784–789.
- 195 Stafford.
- ¹⁹⁶ Brittany N. Morey, "Environmental Justice for Native Hawaiians and Pacific Islanders in Los Angeles County," *Environmental Justice* 7, no. 1 (February 2014): 9–17, <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/env.2014.0003</u>.
- ¹⁹⁷ Won Kim Cook, Corina Chung, and Winston Tseng, "Demographic and Socioeconomic Profiles of Asian Americans, Native Hawaiians, and Pacific Islanders in the United States" (Asian & Pacific Islander American Health Forum (APIAHF), July 2011), <u>http://www.apiahf.org/sites/default/files/</u> Demographic Socioeconomic Profiles AANHPI.pdf.
- ¹⁹⁸ National Center for Health Statistics (U.S.), ed., Health Conditions and Behaviors of Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander Persons in the United States, 2014: Data from the Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander National Health Interview Survey, DHHS Publication, no. 2017-1424 (Hyattsville, Maryland: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics, 2017).
- ¹⁹⁹ Pachauri, Mayer, and Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Climate Change 2014.
- ²⁰⁰ Bell, J.E., S.C. Herring, L. Jantarasami, C. Adrianopoli, K. Benedict, K. Conlon, V. Escobar, J. Hess, J. Luvall, C.P. Garcia-Pando, D. Quattrochi, J. Runkle, and C.J. Schreck, III, 2016: Ch. 4: Impacts of Extreme Events on Human Health. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 99–128.
- ²⁰¹ Michaud and Kates, "Public Health in Puerto Rico after Hurricane Maria."
- ²⁰² CDC, "Mold After a Disaster."
- ²⁰³ Washington State Department of Health. (2012). Infectious risks after floods. Available at <u>http://www.doh.wa.gov/portals/1/documents/5100/420-002-epitrends2012-11.pdf</u>
- ²⁰⁴ Dolan Eversole and Alison Andrews, "Climate Change Impacts in Hawai'i: A Summary of Climate Change and Its Impacts to Hawai'i's Ecosystems and Communities" (University of Hawai'i Sea Grant College Program, n.d.), <u>http://seagrant.soest.hawaii.edu/sites/default/files/publications/</u> <u>smfinal-hawaiiclimatechange.pdf</u>.

²⁰⁵ Eversole and Andrews.

²⁰⁶ Eversole and Andrews.

- ²⁰⁷ Hoerner and Robinson, "A Climate of Change: African Americans, Global Warming, and a Just Climate Policy for the U.S."
- ²⁰⁸ National Center for Health Statistics (U.S.), *Health Conditions and Behaviors of Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander Persons in the United States*, 2014.
- ²⁰⁹ Eversole and Andrews, "Climate Change Impacts in Hawai'i: A Summary of Climate Change and Its Impacts to Hawai'i's Ecosystems and Communities."

²¹⁰ Eversole and Andrews.

- ²¹¹ Morey, "Environmental Justice for Native Hawaiians and Pacific Islanders in Los Angeles County."
- ²¹² Mora, C., Counsell, C.W., Bielecki, C.R., & Louis, L.V. (2017). Twenty-seven ways a heat wave can kill you. *Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes*. Doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.117.004233</u>
- ²¹³ Burrows, "The Complex Relationship between Heat and Ozone."
- ²¹⁴ Kunkel, "Projected Temperature Change."
- 215 Sarah Gordon, "Heat Illness in Hawai 'I," Hawai'i Journal of Medicine & Public Health 73, no. 11 Suppl 2 (2014): 33.
- ²¹⁶ National Center for Health Statistics (U.S.), *Health Conditions and Behaviors of Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander Persons in the United States*, 2014.
- ²¹⁷ Pathak et al., "Climate Change Trends and Impacts on California Agriculture."
- ²¹⁸ Ziska, L., A. Crimmins, A. Auclair, S. DeGrasse, J.F. Garofalo, A.S. Khan, I. Loladze, A.A. Pérez de León, A. Showler, J. Thurston, and I. Walls, 2016: Ch. 7: Food Safety, Nutrition, and Distribution. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 189–216.
- ²¹⁹ USGCRP, "The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment."
- 220 USGCRP.
- ²²¹ Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, "Climate Change and Food Security in Pacific Island Countries" (Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2008), <u>http://www.fao.org/climatechange/17003-02529d2a5afee62cce0e70d2d38e1e273.pdf</u>.
- ²²² National Center for Health Statistics (U.S.), *Health Conditions and Behaviors of Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander Persons in the United States*, 2014.
- ²²³ Fann, N., T. Brennan, P. Dolwick, J.L. Gamble, V. Ilacqua, L. Kolb, C.G. Nolte, T.L. Spero, and L. Ziska, 2016: Ch. 3: Air Quality Impacts. *The Impacts of Climate Change on Human Health in the United States: A Scientific Assessment*. U.S. Global Change Research Program, Washington, DC, 69–98.
- ²²⁴ Pleijel, Sweden, and Statens Naturvårdsverk, Air Pollution and Climate Change.
- 225 CDC, "Public Health Issues: Respiratory Health."
- ²²⁶ Morey, "Environmental Justice for Native Hawaiians and Pacific Islanders in Los Angeles County."
- ²²⁷ National Center for Health Statistics (U.S.), *Health Conditions and Behaviors of Native Hawaiian and Pacific Islander Persons in the United States*, 2014.
- ²²⁸ David MKI Liu and Christian K. Alameda, "Social Determinants of Health for Native Hawaiian Children and Adolescents," *Hawaii Medical Journal* 70, no. 11 Suppl 2 (2011): 9.
- ²²⁹ U.S. Climate Resilience Toolkit, "U.S. Climate Resilience Toolkit: Communities and Culture," U.S. Climate Resilience Toolkit, 2016, https://toolkit.climate.gov/regions/hawai%E2%80%98i-and-pacific-islands/communities-and-cultures.
- ²³⁰ Seth Wynes and Kimberly A Nicholas, "The Climate Mitigation Gap: Education and Government Recommendations Miss the Most Effective Individual Actions," *Environmental Research Letters* 12, no. 7 (July 1, 2017): 074024, https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aa7541.
- ²³¹ "Ten Personal Solutions to Global Warming," Union of Concerned Scientists, October 17, 2013, <u>https://www.ucsusa.org/global-warming/what-you-can-do/ten-personal-solutions-to.html#.WxWqbFOUtE4</u>.
- ²³² NRDC, "How You Can Help Fight Climate Change," Natural Resources Defense Council, October 30, 2017, <u>https://www.nrdc.org/stories/how-you-can-help-fight-climate-change</u>.



CLIMATE CHANGE, HEALTH, AND EQUITY: A GUIDE FOR LOCAL HEALTH DEPARTMENTS